# MAST CELLS IN ITCH, PAIN AND NEURO-INFLAMMATION

EDITED BY: Rashid Giniatullin, Kalpna Gupta and Theoharis Constantin Theoharides PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience







#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-347-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-347-0

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

# MAST CELLS IN ITCH, PAIN AND NEURO-INFLAMMATION

Topic Editors: **Rashid Giniatullin**, University of Eastern Finland, Finland **Kalpna Gupta**, University of Minnesota Twin Cities, United States **Theoharis Constantin Theoharides**, Tufts University School of Medicine, United States

**Citation:** Giniatullin, R., Gupta, K., Theoharides, T. C., eds. (2020). Mast Cells in Itch, Pain and Neuro-inflammation. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-347-0

# Table of Contents

- **05** *Editorial: Mast Cells in Itch, Pain and Neuro-Inflammation* Rashid Giniatullin, Kalpna Gupta and Theoharis Theoharides
- 08 Activation of P2X7 Receptors in Peritoneal and Meningeal Mast Cells Detected by Uptake of Organic Dyes: Possible Purinergic Triggers of Neuroinflammation in Meninges

Dilyara Nurkhametova, Igor Kudryavtsev, Valeriia Guselnikova, Maria Serebryakova, Raisa R. Giniatullina, Sara Wojciechowski, Fatma Tore, Albert Rizvanov, Jari Koistinaho, Tarja Malm and Rashid Giniatullin

20 Mast Cells Induce Blood Brain Barrier Damage in SCD by Causing Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress in the Endothelium

Huy Tran, Aditya Mittal, Varun Sagi, Kathryn Luk, Aithanh Nguyen, Mihir Gupta, Julia Nguyen, Yann Lamarre, Jianxun Lei, Alonso Guedes and Kalpna Gupta

32 Mast Cells in Stress, Pain, Blood-Brain Barrier, Neuroinflammation and Alzheimer's Disease

Duraisamy Kempuraj, Shireen Mentor, Ramasamy Thangavel, Mohammad E. Ahmed, Govindhasamy Pushpavathi Selvakumar, Sudhanshu P. Raikwar, Iuliia Dubova, Smita Zaheer, Shankar S. Iyer and Asgar Zaheer

# 43 Mast Cell Neural Interactions in Health and Disease

Aditya Mittal, Varun Sagi, Mihir Gupta and Kalpna Gupta

49 PACAP-38 and PACAP(6–38) Degranulate Rat Meningeal Mast Cells via the Orphan MrgB<sub>3</sub>-Receptor

Sara Hougaard Pedersen, Sanne Hage la Cour, Kirstine Calloe, Frank Hauser, Jes Olesen, Dan Arne Klaerke and Inger Jansen-Olesen

60 Thyroid Hormone, Thyroid Hormone Metabolites and Mast Cells: A Less Explored Issue

Elisa Landucci, Annunziatina Laurino, Lorenzo Cinci, Manuela Gencarelli and Laura Raimondi

67 Meningeal Mast Cells as Key Effectors of Stroke Pathology

Ahmet Arac, Michele A. Grimbaldeston, Stephen J. Galli, Tonya M. Bliss and Gary K. Steinberg

- 77 Shared Fate of Meningeal Mast Cells and Sensory Neurons in Migraine Duygu Koyuncu Irmak, Erkan Kilinc and Fatma Tore
- 87 Mast Cells in Neurodegenerative Disease Michael K. Jones, Archana Nair and Mihir Gupta
- 96 Stabilization of Brain Mast Cells Alleviates LPS-Induced Neuroinflammation by Inhibiting Microglia Activation

Hongquan Dong, Yiming Wang, Xiaojun Zhang, Xiang Zhang, Yanning Qian, Haixia Ding and Shu Zhang

111 Brain Histamine Modulates the Antidepressant-Like Effect of the 3-lodothyroacetic Acid (TA1)

Annunziatina Laurino, Elisa Landucci, Lorenzo Cinci, Manuela Gencarelli, Gaetano De Siena, Lorenza Bellusci, Grazia Chiellini and Laura Raimondi 123 Meningeal Mast Cells Contribute to ATP-Induced Nociceptive Firing in Trigeminal Nerve Terminals: Direct and Indirect Purinergic Mechanisms Triggering Migraine Pain

Ksenia Koroleva, Oleg Gafurov, Valeriia Guselnikova, Dilyara Nurkhametova, Raisa Giniatullina, Guzel Sitdikova, Olli S. Mattila, Perttu J. Lindsberg, Tarja Maarit Malm and Rashid Giniatullin

- 130 Secretion of Mast Cell Inflammatory Mediators is Enhanced by CADM1-Dependent Adhesion to Sensory Neurons Rania Magadmi, Judit Meszaros, Zoheir A. Damanhouri and Elizabeth P. Seward
- 147 Mast Cell/Proteinase Activated Receptor 2 (PAR2) Mediated Interactions in the Pathogenesis of Discogenic Back Pain Justin Richards, Shirley Tang, Gilian Gunsch, Pavel Sul, Matthew Wiet, David C. Flanigan, Safdar N. Khan, Sarah Moore, Benjamin Walter and Devina Purmessur
- Mast Cells in Gut and Brain and Their Potential Role as an Emerging Therapeutic Target for Neural Diseases
  Giovanna Traina
- **174** *Mast Cells, Neuroinflammation and Pain in Fibromyalgia Syndrome* Theoharis C. Theoharides, Irene Tsilioni and Mona Bawazeer
- 182 Mast Cells and Sensory Nerves Contribute to Neurogenic Inflammation and Pruritus in Chronic Skin Inflammation

Hanna Siiskonen and Ilkka Harvima





# Editorial: Mast Cells in Itch, Pain and Neuro-Inflammation

#### Rashid Giniatullin<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Kalpna Gupta<sup>3\*</sup> and Theoharis Theoharides<sup>4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> AIV Institute, University of Eastern Finland Kuopio, Kuopio, Finland, <sup>2</sup> Laboratory of Neurobiology, Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia, <sup>3</sup> Hematology/Oncology Department of Medicine, University of California, Irvine, Irvine, CA, United States, <sup>4</sup> Department of Immunology, Tufts University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, United States

Keywords: mast cells, pain, itch, neuroinflammation, neuro-immune synapse

**Editorial on the Research Topic** 

#### Mast Cells in Itch, Pain and Neuro-Inflammation

The present e-book contains a collection of articles on the emerging role of mast cells in various immunological, neurological, and cerebrovascular diseases. The growing interest to this cell type is based on the accumulating findings that mast cells are the key players in the so called "*neuro-immune synapse*" underlying pathologic processes both in the periphery and the central nervous system (CNS). This concept suggests that in addition to providing immune surveillance and triggering the inflammatory response, mast cells can also provide a fast-bidirectional crosstalk with neurons (**Figure 1**).

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited and reviewed by:

Enrico Cherubini, European Brain Research Institute, Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

Rashid Giniatullin Rashid.giniatullin@uef.fi Kalpna Gupta kalpnag@uci.edu Theoharis Theoharides Theoharis.Theoharides@tufts.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Neurophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience

Received: 28 October 2019 Accepted: 07 November 2019 Published: 03 December 2019

#### Citation:

Giniatullin R, Gupta K and Theoharides T (2019) Editorial: Mast Cells in Itch, Pain and Neuro-Inflammation. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:521. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00521 It has been known for a long time that mast cells are ubiquitously present in many tissues, located close or even in direct contact with blood vessels and nerve fibers. The tissues where mast cells are most abundant are body surfaces exposed to the environment, such as skin, lungs, and gut. However, mast cells have a significant presence in the meninges and certain brain regions, especially the diencephalon, under normal and/or pathological conditions. The latter fact is of special interest, as these brain mast cells could be increased or stimulated in certain neurological diseases. Mast cells have been increasingly reported as important contributors to pain conditions such as fibromyalgia, headache, itch, sickle cell disease and brain disorders, stroke, traumatic brain injury, and various neurodegenerative disorders. However, mast cells display tremendous heterogeneity in their location, structure, content of active molecules, responsiveness to the surrounding environment and function. Hence, the mast cell phenotype cannot be generalized and varies in different pathophysiological conditions, including nociception and neurodegenerative disorders. Mast cells may also have a disease modifying effects including the pathobiology of pain, the time-course and the outcome of neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson disease as well as stroke and traumatic brain injury.

This premise requires establishing the disease-specific role of mast cells. Many of these interesting novel lines of research are presented in the current collection.

The present e-book consists of 17 articles including one brief research report, one hypothesis and theory article, seven original research articles, five reviews, and three mini-reviews.

Although the idea of the *neuro-immune synapse* is presented in direct or indirect manner in most of the papers, some of them are specifically devoted to this concept. Thus, Mittal et al. present the concept of *neuro-immune synapse* and the critical role of mast cells in neuroinflammation. In particular, they discuss the novel aspect of mast cell interaction with the nervous system through extracellular vesicles, tunneling nanotubes, and extracellular traps that may contribute to various pathological brain conditions.

The paper by Magadmi et al. is devoted to the organization of the neuro-immune synapse and suggests the contribution of the CADM1-dependent mechanism for adhesion of the key partners involved in the *neuro-immune synapse*.



Siiskonen and Harvima present the concept of the *neuro-immune synapse* for skin disorders. They reviewed the role of crosstalk between mast cells with sensory nerves as the contributors to neurogenic inflammation and pruritus in chronic skin inflammation.

The most widely accepted role of mast cells is the promotion of pain states. Theoharides et al. proposed that thalamic mast cells contribute to inflammation and pain in fibromyalgia by releasing multiple pro-inflammatory molecules which could either stimulate thalamic nociceptive neurons directly or activate microglia in the diencephalon. They also suggest stabilization of mast cells as the novel approach in treating this painful state.

Richards et al. demonstrate the discogenic back pain and mast cell/Proteinase Activated Receptor 2-mediated interactions in this disorder.

In this collection, the role of meningeal mast cells as the triggers of migraine pain and local inflammation, originally proposed by the co-Editor of this e-book, T. Theoharidis, is presented in several papers. The group of Jansen-Olesen, in the original study, explored the role of the newly emerged migraine mediator PACAP as the trigger of degranulation of meningeal mast cells via the atypical orphan MRGB3-receptor (Pedersen et al.).

The experimental study for Koroleva et al. shows, by using mice deficient in mast cells, that the putative migraine mediator extracellular ATP strongly activates nociceptive firing in meningeal trigeminal afferents via degranulation of resident mast cells and release of serotonin together with the direct excitatory action on the nerve terminals via purinergic receptors.

Irmak et al. review the role of meningeal mast cells in migraine pathology by further developing the concept of couplings between the sensory nerve fibers and meningeal mast cells. They highlight the bidirectional signaling between these key partners of the *neuro-immune synapse* and shared fate of them in generation of the persistent pain state specific for migraine.

The study by Nurkhametova et al. demonstrates the important contribution of P2X7 receptors to ATP-driven activation of meningeal mast cells, suggesting these purinergic mechanisms as potential triggers of neuroinflammation and pain sensitization in migraine.

Traina presents an interesting view on the contribution of intestinal microbiota to mood and behavioral disorders via microbiota–gut–brain axis.

Several papers analyze the role of mast cells in brain disorders and suggest the beneficial role of their stabilization as a promising therapeutic approach. Thus, the study by Dong et al. shows that the stabilization of brain mast cells alleviated neuroinflammation by inhibiting microglia activation.

The paper by Jones and Gupta provides the general overview of the field of mast cells in neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration with the focus on development and progression of four prominent neurodegenerative diseases: Alzheimer's Disease, Parkinson's Disease, Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis, and Huntington's Disease.

Laurino et al. shows that 3-iodothyroacetic acid degranulate hypothalamic mast cells to provide the antidepressant effect in the brain circuits via histamine signaling.

Arac et al. in the "Hypothesis and Theory" article, which is based on their recent original study, further develop the idea that meningeal mast cells are the key effectors in stroke pathology.

Landucci et al. present an interesting hypothesis that thyroid function may affect mast cell function, consequently, and they suggest that mast cell degranulation in the brain may impact thyroid function.

Several papers highlight the phenomenon and explore the underlaying mechanisms of mast cell-induced modulation of the blood-brain barrier permeability. Thus, Kempuraj et al. focuses on the pathogenic stress as the initial trigger in development of neurodegenerative diseases. Specially, they propose the important role of the stress associated corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) in activation of mast cells ultimately leading to neuroinflammation.

Tran et al. provide novel mechanistic insights into mast cellinduced blood-brain barrier damage in cerebrovascular diseases via endoplasmic reticulum stress in the endothelium.

In summary, this e-book presents the current state of knowledge about the involvement of mast cells in pain, itch, neuroinflammation, and associated neurological disorders. This collection identifies treatable targets for the development of novel pharmacologic agents and approaches for the treatment of pain and neuro-inflammatory disorders.

# **AUTHOR'S NOTE**

The editorial is devoted to the memory of our colleague Stephen Skaper who passed away in 2018 soon after start of this project. Dr. Skaper's contribution to the field of mast cells will continue to guide the field, and his contribution to the editorial efforts of this issue are highly appreciated.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

KG has research grants from Grifols and 1910 Genetics and is a Consultant for Novartis and Tautona group.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Giniatullin, Gupta and Theoharides. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Activation of P2X7 Receptors in Peritoneal and Meningeal Mast Cells Detected by Uptake of Organic Dyes: Possible Purinergic Triggers of Neuroinflammation in Meninges

Dilyara Nurkhametova<sup>1,2†</sup>, Igor Kudryavtsev<sup>3,4†</sup>, Valeriia Guselnikova<sup>2,5</sup>, Maria Serebryakova<sup>3</sup>, Raisa R. Giniatullina<sup>2</sup>, Sara Wojciechowski<sup>2</sup>, Fatma Tore<sup>6</sup>, Albert Rizvanov<sup>7</sup>, Jari Koistinaho<sup>2,8</sup>, Tarja Malm<sup>2 \*‡</sup> and Rashid Giniatullin<sup>1,2 \*‡</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Laboratory of Neurobiology, Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia, <sup>2</sup>A.I.Virtanen Institute for Molecular Sciences, University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland, <sup>3</sup>Department of Immunology, Institute of Experimental Medicine, St. Petersburg, Russia, <sup>4</sup>Department of Fundamental Medicine, Far Eastern Federal University, Vladivostok, Russia, <sup>5</sup>Department of General and Special Morphology, Institute of Experimental Medicine, St. Petersburg, Russia, <sup>6</sup>School of Medicine, Biruni University, Istanbul, Turkey, <sup>7</sup>Department of Exploratory Research, Scientific and Educational Center of Pharmaceutics, Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia, <sup>8</sup>Neuroscience Center, Helsinki Institute of Life Science, University of Helsinki, Finland

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Stefania Ceruti, University of Milan, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Elisabetta Coppi, Università degli Studi di Firenze, Italy Shangdong Liang, Nanchang University, China Tae-Cheon Kang, Hallym University, South Korea

#### \*Correspondence:

Tarja Malm Tarja.Malm@uef.fi Rashid Giniatullin Rashid.Giniatullin@uef.fi

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work <sup>‡</sup>These authors shared last authorship

Received: 10 October 2018 Accepted: 28 January 2019 Published: 13 February 2019

#### Citation:

Nurkhametova D, Kudryavtsev I, Guselnikova V, Serebryakova M, Giniatullina RR, Wojciechowski S, Tore F, Rizvanov A, Koistinaho J, Malm T and Giniatullin R (2019) Activation of P2X7 Receptors in Peritoneal and Meningeal Mast Cells Detected by Uptake of Organic Dyes: Possible Purinergic Triggers of Neuroinflammation in Meninges. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:45. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00045 Extracellular ATP activates inflammasome and triggers the release of multiple cytokines in various immune cells, a process primarily mediated by P2X7 receptors. However, the expression and functional properties of P2X7 receptors in native mast cells in tissues such as meninges where migraine pain originates from have not been explored. Here we report a novel model of murine cultured meningeal mast cells and using these, as well as easily accessible peritoneal mast cells, studied the mechanisms of ATP-mediated mast cell activation. We show that ATP induced a time and dose-dependent activation of peritoneal mast cells as analyzed by the uptake of organic dye YO-PRO1 as well as 4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI). Both YO-PRO1 and DAPI uptake in mast cells was mediated by the P2X7 subtype of ATP receptors as demonstrated by the inhibitory effect of P2X7 antagonist A839977. Consistent with this, significant YO-PRO1 uptake was promoted by the P2X7 agonist 2',3'-O-(benzoyl-4-benzoyl)-ATP (BzATP). Extracellular ATP-induced degranulation of native and cultured meningeal mast cells was shown with Toluidine Blue staining. Taken together, these data demonstrate the important contribution of P2X7 receptors to ATP-driven activation of mast cells, suggesting these purinergic mechanisms as potential triggers of neuroinflammation and pain sensitization in migraine.

Keywords: mast cells, ATP, P2X7 receptor, degranulation, neuroinflammation, migraine

# INTRODUCTION

Mast cells are well-known players in allergic responses and essential contributors to inflammation in various tissues (Galli and Tsai, 2012). When activated, mast cells release multiple substances such as biogenic amines, histamine and serotonin, enzymes  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase, chymase and tryptase, and a number of pro-inflammatory cytokines and growth factors (Wernersson and Pejler, 2014). The particular profile of these secreted agents determines the type of inflammatory responses in

surrounding tissues. Notably, mast cells are tissue resident and their morphology and functional role are tissue-dependent according to the local microenvironment and triggering stimuli (Galli et al., 2011). Therefore, the data obtained from one population of mast cells cannot be simply extrapolated to another type of mast cells.

Recently, much attention has been paid to the role of meningeal mast cells as the triggering actor in migraine attack. It has been suggested that degranulation of mast cells located in meningeal tissues contributes to pain signaling in migraine (Levy, 2009, 2012; Kilinc et al., 2017). However, the main missing piece of information in this hypothesis concerns the nature of the endogenous trigger for degranulation of mast cells in meninges *in situ*.

A purinergic hypothesis of migraine, originally proposed by Burnstock (1981), was complimented by a more recent hypothesis suggesting the role of ATP-gated P2X3 receptors in generation of migraine pain (Giniatullin et al., 2008; Yegutkin et al., 2016; Zakharov et al., 2016). However, given the presence of multiple types of ATP receptors in meningeal tissues, the full spectrum of ATP driven mechanisms in migraine remains incomplete. For instance, it is well established that extracellular ATP activates ligand-gated P2X7 receptors present in the majority of immune cells thus leading to a release of multiple pro-inflammatory cytokines and activation of inflammasome (Sperlágh and Illes, 2014; Franceschini et al., 2015; Burnstock, 2016; Karmakar et al., 2016). Consistent with this, P2X7 receptor knockout animals have a blunted inflammatory response and failed to develop certain types of pain (Chessell et al., 2005). In contrast to other types of immune cells, the role of P2X7 receptors in mast cells is little explored. Nevertheless, there is evidence for the role of ATP-mediated mast cell dependent inflammation through P2X7 receptors in the intestine (Kurashima et al., 2012). P2X7 receptors are also characterized in human LAD2 mast cells, derived from a patient with mast cell leukemia (Wareham and Seward, 2016). However, there is still lack of information regarding the role of P2X7 receptors in activation of meningeal mast cells, which are potential players in migraine.

In this study, we developed a new model of cultured meningeal mast cells, and using a combination of various techniques, including time-lapse flow cytometry measurements, we show that mast cells obtained from the peritoneal cavity and from meninges, express ATP-gated P2X7 receptors and are permeable to organic molecules. ATP mediated degranulation of meningeal mast cells may be responsible for the activation of trigeminal nerve fibers and local neuroinflammation in the trigeminovascular system associated with migraine attack.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# Animals

Experiments were performed on 10-12 week-old male C57BL mice obtained from the Animal Facilities of the University of Eastern Finland (UEF). The animal treatment procedures were approved by the Committee for the Welfare of Laboratory Animals of the University of Eastern Finland and the

Provincial Government of Kuopio. All experiments were conducted in accordance with the guidelines of the European Community Council (Directives 86/609/EEC). All efforts were made to minimize the number of animals used and their suffering.

# Isolation and Identification of Mast Cells

To obtain meningeal mast cells, we adapted the method of dural immune cell isolation described by McIlvried et al. (2015). Animals under deep Avertin (tribromoethanol) anesthesia were perfused through the ascending aorta with phosphate buffer saline (PBS), pH 7.2. After decapitation, the head was cut along the sagittal suture and the brain was gently removed from hemispheres leaving intact meninges. For meningeal mast cell isolation, hemiskulls were gently scraped with pestles into PBS. The obtained cell suspension was transferred to ice-cold PBS supplied with 2% of heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) and centrifuged at 300 g for 5 min at 4°C. The pellet was resuspended in PBS, filtered through 70  $\mu$ m pre-separation filters (Miltenyi Biotec, Germany) and used for mast cell identification.

Peritoneal mast cells were isolated as described previously by Jensen et al. (2006) with slight modifications to improve cell viability and minimize baseline mast cell activation: lavage procedure was performed using ice-cold PBS with 2% FBS and all following steps were conducted at 4°C. The obtained pellet was resuspended in PBS and filtered through 50  $\mu$ m filters (Sysmex CellTrics<sup>®</sup>, Germany).

For flow cytometry characterization, peritoneal or meningeal cells were stained with anti-mouse FccRI conjugated with Alexa Fluor<sup>®</sup> 647 (clone MAR-1, BioLegend, USA), and CD117 conjugated with tandem dye APC/Cy7 (clone 2B8, Biolegend) antibodies for 15 min at room temperature, washed with PBS with 2% FBS (300 g for 5 min) and resuspended in 300  $\mu$ l of fresh PBS. Cell viability was determined using SYTO 16 Green Fluorescent Nucleic Acid Stain (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

The data were acquired using BD FACSAria<sup>TM</sup> III cell sorter (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA) equipped with 488 and 633 nm lasers. SYTO 16 is excited by the 488 nm laser and detected through 530/30 filter. Phenotyping marker fluorochromes are excited by the 633 nm laser and detected through 660/20 and 780/60 filters for Alexa Fluor<sup>®</sup> 647 and APC/Cy7, respectively. Compensation for the spillover of fluorochromes into other channels was made using single stained cells.

# Culturing of Peritoneal and Meningeal Mast Cells

Unfractionated peritoneal cells or cells obtained by hemiskull scraping were centrifuged at 300 g for 5 min at 4°C. The pellet was re-suspended in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% antibiotics (penicillin/streptomycin), 2 mM L-glutamine, 50  $\mu$ M B-mercaptoethanol, 10 ng/ml murine recombinant stem cell factor (SCF; PeproTech, NJ, USA), and 10 ng/ml murine recombinant interleukin (IL)-3 (PeproTech, NJ, USA). After 2–3 weeks of culture, more than 98% of cells were identified as

mast cells by Toluidine Blue staining. Cells were kept in culture for up to 5 weeks.

# **Toluidine Blue Staining of Meningeal Mast** Cells

Whole mount meninges on hemiskulls were pre-treated with or without 1 mM ATP in artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF) containing (in mM): NaCl 115, KCl 3, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 2, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1, NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 25 and glucose 11; bubbled with 95% O<sub>2</sub>/ 5% CO<sub>2</sub>) for 10 min at room temperature. Then samples were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde at 4°C overnight. After rinsing with PBS, meninges were carefully dissected from the skull, and put on a glass coated with poly-L-lysine (Polysine® Thermo-Scientific, USA). Staining with Toluidine Blue (pH 2.0) was performed according to the standard protocol we described previously (Levy et al., 2007; Kilinc et al., 2017). Images were captured using Olympus AX-TFSM microscope (Olympus, Japan). The number of granulated and degranulated mast cells in each meninges (n = 5) was counted in five random areas containing the main branches of the middle meningeal artery by an observer blinded to treatment groups. Mast cells were classified as degranulated if they were pale, poorly stained, had distorted cytoplasmic boundaries, and surrounding positively stained granules (Shelukhina et al., 2017).

# Stimulation of Peritoneal and Meningeal Mast Cells With ATP

To study P2X7 receptor activation in freshly isolated peritoneal and meningeal mast cells, the cells were treated with different concentrations of ATP and 2',3'-O-(benzoyl-4-benzoyl)-ATP (BzATP; both from Sigma-Aldrich, Germany). Notably, BzATP is more potent than ATP as an agonist at P2X7 receptors whereas it is equally or less potent than ATP at other P2X receptors (North and Surprenant, 2000).

ATP-induced mast cell activation was evaluated using the fluorescent dye YO-PRO1 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) which enters the cells through the dilated P2X7 receptor ion channel (Michel et al., 1999; Browne and North, 2013; Browne et al., 2013). ATP at final concentrations 100  $\mu$ M, 1 mM or 5 mM or BzATP to a final concentration of 100  $\mu$ M were added and samples were incubated for 20 min in the dark at room temperature, followed by addition of 1  $\mu$ M of YO-PRO1. After incubation, 200  $\mu$ l of fresh PBS was added.

Samples were run on a BD FACSAria III cell sorter (BD Bioscience). YO-PRO1 is excited by the 488 nm laser and detected through 530/30 filter. The data were shown as a percentage of YO-PRO1 positive cells in each sample as previously reported (Karmakar et al., 2016).

Cultured mast cells, before stimulation, were washed once with Dulbecco's PBS, and then centrifuged at 300 g for 5 min at 4°C, and the pellet was resuspended in 1 ml of PBS. A cell suspension (5 × 10<sup>5</sup> cells/ml) was plated onto 24-well plates (100  $\mu$ l per well). Meningeal cell-derived mast cells (MDMCs) were stimulated with ATP at final concentration 1 mM for 5 min at room temperature. Peritoneum-derived mast cells were stimulated with ATP (100  $\mu$ M, 1 or 5 mM) or BzATP (100  $\mu$ M) at room temperature. For inhibitory experiments, peritoneumderived mast cells were pre-treated with P2X7 antagonist A839977 (10  $\mu$ M) for 5 min followed by 1 mM ATP stimulation. Application of PBS was used as the control. After incubation, mast cells were transferred onto glass microscope slides, dried at 37°C, and stained with Toluidine Blue. The number of intact and degranulated mast cells was counted randomly and blindly in five fields on each slide. Mast cells were defined as stated above (Shelukhina et al., 2017).

# **Time-Lapse Analysis of DAPI Fluorescence**

It has been recently shown that P2X7 receptors are also permeable to the DNA dye 4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; Bukhari et al., 2016). We used flow cytometry to determine the time-course of DAPI uptake (excitation/emission 405/450 nm) by mast cells. Peritoneal mast cells were identified based on FceRI and CD117 expression as described above. Samples were analyzed using the Cytoflex flow cytometer equipped with 405, 488, and 638 nm lasers (Beckman Coulter Inc., CA, USA). A peristaltic pump in this device allowed the addition of the agonist ATP during on-line acquisition of data. ATP at final concentrations 100  $\mu M$  or 1 mM was added at 20 s after the beginning of the recording. Up to 25,000 peritoneal mast cells per sample were acquired during 120 s. All flow cytometric data were analyzed using CytExpert Software v 1.3 or Kaluza Software v 1.5 (Beckman Coulter Inc., CA, USA). DAPI (1 µg/ml) incorporation was measured by using median fluorescence intensity (MFI) of single cells after ATP application or control. The data from independent experiments were tested for normality of distribution by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test (n > 50) at each time point.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Data were analyzed using Statistica 8 Software (Quest Software Inc., Aliso Viejo, CA, USA), Origin (Origin labs, MS, USA) and GraphPad Prism 4 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA). Statistical analysis was performed using nonparametric Mann-Whitney U test, Student *t*-test or one-way ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test when appropriate. Differences with p values of less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. The data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

# RESULTS

# **Identification of Mast Cells**

In order to distinguish a population of murine mast cells from other cell types localized in meninges or in the peritoneal cavity, the cell surface expression of FccRI and CD117 was determined. FccRI is a mast cell membrane receptor specific for IgE, which is a potent inducer of mast cell activation and degranulation (Rivera and Gilfillan, 2006) whereas CD117 (also named c-kit) is a receptor for the SCF important for mast cell migration, survival and proliferation (Yamazaki et al., 2015). **Figure 1** shows



the gating strategy of our protocol to obtain the final fraction of mast cells. Thus, there are light scatter dot plots for isolated cells based on forward scatter (FSC-A) related to light refraction and cell size and side scatter (SSC-A) reflecting cell granularity (**Figure 1A**). The selected region from the light scatter plot, which eliminates debris, was set to remove doublet cell aggregates (**Figures 1B,C**). Cells were further divided into subpopulations based on expression of FceRI and CD117 (**Figures 1D,E**) to isolate the fraction of "mast cells." Cells with double positive expression of both FceRI and CD117 were identified as mast cells. This approach allowed us to identify a pure fraction of mast cells, which were further tested with the purinergic agonists.

# ATP-gated P2X7 Receptor Mediates Peritoneal Mouse Mast Cell Degranulation

First, to optimize our technical approach, we evaluated the ability of ATP to activate ATP-gated P2X7 receptors in easily accessible peritoneal mouse mast cells by using YO-PRO1 which is able to penetrate the cell membrane during the activation of P2X7 receptors (Browne et al., 2013). As expected, unstimulated mast cells failed to take up YO-PRO1, as only  $8.2 \pm 1.3\%$  (n = 11) of the cells contained YO-PRO1 (**Figure 2A**). Application of 1 mM ATP for 15 min increased the uptake up to  $37.9 \pm 9.2\%$  (n = 8, p < 0.01; **Figure 2B**). P2X7 specific antagonist A839977 (Honore et al., 2009) prevented the ATP

induced increase in YO-PRO1 signal (8.7  $\pm$  0.6%, n = 4; **Figure 2C**) whereas application of P2X7 agonist BzATP (Bianchi et al., 1999) effectively enhanced the YO-PRO1 loading of the cells by 32.2  $\pm$  10.9% (n = 5, p < 0.05; **Figure 2D**). Next, we demonstrated the dose-dependent action of ATP on YO-PRO1 uptake (**Figure 2E**). Stimulation of mast cells with increasing concentrations of ATP led to increased YO-PRO1 uptake. Pre-treatment with P2X7 antagonist A839977 (5  $\mu$ M) prevented the ATP-induced YO-PRO1 incorporation (**Figure 2E**).

Next, we reconstructed a time-course for ATP-induced responses of P2X7 allowing us to characterize the early events in the activation of P2X7 receptors. Application of 100  $\mu$ M ATP on murine peritoneal mast cells induced a slight increase in DAPI fluorescence by 120 s (**Figures 3A,D,E**) whereas in samples treated with 1 mM ATP, a robust enhancement of DAPI fluorescence was observed during the 120 s recording time (**Figures 3B,D,E**). Specific P2X7 receptor antagonists prevented the stimulatory effect of 1 mM ATP on DAPI fluorescence (**Figures 3C-E**).

In addition to the flow cytometry approach, we confirmed the ATP action on cultured peritoneal mast cells by morphological analysis (**Figure 4**). In control conditions, most mast cells were intact, and exhibited dense, compact, unbroken cytoplasmic boundaries and did not have many surrounding granules (**Figure 4A**). Application of 1 mM ATP (**Figure 4B**) or 100  $\mu$ M BZATP (**Figure 4C**) increased the number of mast cells with



(one-way ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test).

blurred contours and numerous granules around the cells which is indicative of degranulation. Notably, even 100  $\mu$ M ATP significantly increased mast cell degranulation (by 37.1 ± 1.5%, n = 4, p = 0.0013). However, a much higher level of degranulation was observed with 1 mM and 5 mM ATP. Consistent with this the P2X7 agonist BzATP (100  $\mu$ M) effectively degranulated most mast cells. Pre-treatment with the P2X7 antagonist A839977 (10  $\mu$ M) suppressed the ATP-induced degranulation (**Figure 4D**). Thus, consistent with flow cytometry data, two agonists (ATP and BzATP) induced significant degranulation of peritoneal mast cells mediated by the P2X7 receptors.

# Long-Term Culturing Enriched Mature Meningeal Mast Cells

In order to evaluate P2X7-receptor activation on a more relevant model of mast cells, we developed a method to culture mouse meningeal mast cells. Freshly isolated meningeal cells were identified in Toluidine Blue stained slides by their rounded shape and average size of 12  $\mu$ m (**Figure 5A**). The granules of meningeal mast cells were always stained metachromatically in violet by Toluidine Blue. All other meningeal cells, their nuclei and the nuclei of mast cells were stained orthochromatically in blue (**Figure 5A**). During 1 month of observations, the cultures were significantly enriched by mast cells (**Figures 5A–D**). After 1 week in culture, all cells showed similar morphological features: a rounded shape with an average size of 7.95  $\pm$  1.1  $\mu m$  and poorly visualized granules in the cytoplasm. The cytoplasm was stained in tones from light blue to blue in the presence of Toluidine Blue (Figure 5B). After 2 weeks of cultivation, the cultured cells retained a round shape and had an average size of 7.33  $\pm$  0.96  $\mu m$ . After two and three weeks, granules were seen within the cytoplasm of these cells (Figure 5C, red arrows). After 3 weeks of cultivation, cells exhibited a rounded shape and the cytoplasm was filled with metachromatically (violet) stained granules (Figure 5D). Mature mast cells obtained from the culture were heterogeneous in size (average cell size was 7.3  $\pm$  0.97  $\mu m$ ) and density of metachromatic granules. The MDMCs maintained such morphology up to 3 months of culture.

Murine mast cells were identified from other cell types localized in meninges or in the peritoneal cavity based on their cell surface expression of FcɛRI and CD117 (**Figures 5E–H**). **Figure 1** shows the gating strategy to identify a pure fraction of mast cells. Less than 1% of the freshly isolated cells from meningeal tissues were FcɛRI+CD117+ positive. By the end of the first week of culturing the percentage of FcɛRI+CD117+ cells increased up to 27%, reaching over 95% by the second week in culture (**Figures 5E–H**). The percentage of viable FcɛRI+CD117+ mast cells remained over 95% up to fifth week of culture. The culture viability remained between 81% and 100% for the first



intensity] obtained from murine peritoneal mast cells stimulated with 100  $\mu$ M and 1 mM ATP, 1 mM ATP in the presence of 150 nM P2X7 antagonist A839977 (dot-plots **A**, **B** and **C**, respectively). The X-axis represents the time (seconds) from the beginning of sample acquisition, ATP was added at 20 s; the Y-axis represents the relative fluorescence of DAPI (notice log scale). (**D**) Pooled DAPI fluorescence intensity data for murine peritoneal mast cells (*n* = 3) stimulated with 100  $\mu$ M and 1 mM ATP, and 1 mM ATP + 150 nM P2X7 antagonist A839977, respectively. (**E**) Histograms showing DAPI fluorescence at three different time points before and after application of 100  $\mu$ M ATP (white), 1 mM ATP (black) alone or 1 mM ATP in the presence of 150 nM P2X7 antagonist A839977 (gray). Mean  $\pm$  SEM, *n* = 3, \**p* = 0.049 (paired sample Student *t*-test).

1–4 weeks and decreased to 62.4% during the fifth week in culture (data not shown).

# P2X7 Receptors Are Expressed in Meningeal Mouse Mast Cells

Next, in order to investigate the tissue specific properties of mast cells in the dura mater, where they are likely to be involved in triggering of migraine attack (Levy, 2009; Kilinc et al., 2017), we explored P2X7 receptor activation in meningeal mast cells. Mouse meningeal mast cells were identified based on labeling with CD117 and FccRI (**Figure 6A**) and further separated from debris based on their light scatter characteristics (FCS-A vs. SSC-A, **Figure 6B**). The final population contained at least 95% of viable meningeal mast cells (**Figure 6C**) which were tested for ATP-induced P2X7 activation. In control conditions, in a population of freshly purified cells obtained from meninges,

the percentage of YO-PRO1 uptake was low, approximately 14.4  $\pm$  1.9% (**Figure 6D**). Incubation with 1 mM ATP significantly enhanced the uptake of the dye (**Figure 6D**). Similar to the peritoneal cells, the treatment with the P2X7 antagonist A839977 (5  $\mu$ M) prevented the ATP induced YO-PRO1 uptake (**Figure 6D**).

To explore if the purinergic challenge has a functional impact on the release of active components from granules we tested the degranulation ability of 1 mM ATP on mouse meningeal mast cells in whole mount meningeal tissues as identified by Toluidine Blue staining (Levy et al., 2007; Kilinc et al., 2017). In naïve isolated meninges most mast cells were intact (**Figure 7A**), whereas ATP triggered degranulation of multiple mast cells localized near the meningeal artery (**Figure 7B**). **Figure 7C** shows pooled data obtained from five mice, indicating the ability of ATP to induce significant



degranulation of mast cells in the dura mater. These findings were further confirmed in cultured meningeal mast cells by morphological analysis. In control conditions most mast cells were intact (**Figure 7D**), and the application of 1 mM ATP significantly increased the number of degranulated mast cells (**Figures 7E,F**).

# DISCUSSION

Here, we show for the first time that rodent mast cells derived from meninges can be grown, matured and enriched in long-term culture. The ability of mast cell granules to show metachromasia, that is, to display a color different from that of the applied dye, is a key feature of mature mast cells. In mammalian mast cells, the distinctive property of metachromasia is accounted for the presence of heparin, a sulfur-rich glycosaminoglycan, in mast cell secretory granules (Härmä and Suomalainen, 1951). Based on these data, blue (orthochromatic) staining of mast cell granules, which was observed after 1 week of cultivation, may indicate immaturity. The appearance of violet (metachromatic) granules in the cell cytoplasm after 2 weeks of cultivation is evidence of active maturation. The presence of metachromatic granules in almost all cells after 3 weeks of cultivation indicates the functional maturity of the mast cells at this time point.

The high-affinity IgE receptor (Fc $\epsilon$ RI) and CD117 (c-Kit) we used for flow cytometry are classical mast cell markers. Both mast cell progenitors and mature mast cells express these cell surface markers (Dahlin et al., 2015). This explains the high percentage of double positive cells already after 2 weeks of cultivation when only a few cells were identified to contain metachromatic stained granules in the presence of Toluidine Blue. Comparing the obtained flow cytometry data with the Toluidine Blue staining data, it can be concluded that the MDMCs have reached maturity after 3 weeks of cultivation. At this time point, more than 95% of the living cells in culture express Fc $\epsilon$ RI and CD117 and contain metachromatically violet stained (mature) granules in the cytoplasm. Based on these results, we recommend the use of MDMC culture 3–5 weeks after the start of cultivation.

By using these and the easily accessible peritoneal mast cells, we characterized the role of ATP-gated P2X7 receptors associated with the uptake of organic dyes. The ability of ATP to degranulate meningeal mast cells suggests that this extracellular purinergic messenger could act as an endogenous trigger of neuroinflammation in various neurological disorders, including meningitis and migraine. ATP-gated P2X7 receptors are important triggers of neuroinflammation in different tissues. The activation of P2X7 receptors in mast cells is associated with release of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-18, IL-18 (Ferrari et al., 2006) and IL-6 (Shieh et al., 2014) which are essential contributors to neuropathic and inflammatory pain (Chessell et al., 2005; Sperlágh and Illes, 2014). The role of the NLRP3 inflammasome and release of IL-1ß have been shown also in pneumococcal meningitis (Zwijnenburg et al., 2003) suggesting the involvement of P2X7 receptors in this pathology. However, recent testing with P2X antagonists did not reveal a significant change in the time-course of the disease which the authors explained by down-regulation of ATP receptors expression and decreased concentration of endogenous ATP (Zierhut et al., 2017). Unlike bacterial meningitis, in aseptic form of this disorder, so called drug-induced aseptic meningitis, headache is the leading symptom (Holle and Obermann, 2015), thus closely linking trigeminal pain and meningeal neuroinflammation.

P2X7 receptors are expressed in the majority of immune cells (Junger, 2011; Burnstock and Boeynaems, 2014). For instance, they have been found in macrophages (Moore and MacKenzie, 2007), monocytes (Humphreys and Dubyak, 1998; Grahames et al., 1999), neutrophils (Chen et al., 2004; Christenson et al., 2008), and different subtypes of T cells (Frascoli et al., 2012; Rissiek et al., 2015). However, P2X7 receptors are less studied in mast cells, which are often implicated in allergic reactions and in neuroinflammation. Nevertheless, one study



kept in culture for 1 week, (C) 2 weeks (red arrows showing the presence of both blue and violet granules in the cytoplasm of mast cells), and (D) 3 weeks. (E-H) Cultured mast cells were identified by their surface expression of Fc $\epsilon$ RI and CD117. The percentage of Fc $\epsilon$ RI+CD117+ cells increased upon time in culture. (E) freshly isolated cells, (F) cells after 1 week in culture, (G) cells after 2 weeks in culture, (H) cells after 3 weeks in culture.

reported that P2X7 receptors in mast cells play a role in gut inflammation (Kurashima et al., 2012). Another recent very detailed study, using a calcium imaging technique, demonstrated the functional expression of different P2X receptors, including P2X7 subtype, in human LAD2 mast cells (Wareham and Seward, 2016). The advantage of our study is that we focused on techniques, which allowed us to test the function of P2X7 receptors that is critical for initiation of neuroinflammation and compared two different populations of native mast cells.

Activation of P2X7 receptors in different cells is often followed by uptake of relatively large organic molecules such as the fluorescent dye YO-PRO1, which normally does not penetrate the cell membrane (Michel et al., 1999; Jindrichova et al., 2015; Bukhari et al., 2016). It is still a matter of debate whether these dyes penetrate the dilated ion channel of P2X7 receptor or enter through other P2X7 receptor associated proteins (Rassendren et al., 1997; Jiang et al., 2005; Pelegrin and Surprenant, 2006). Recent studies, however, showed that the P2X7 receptor permeability to organic cations such as YO-PRO1 is the intrinsic property of the ion channel itself determined by the long COOH-terminal tail reviewed recently by Di Virgilio et al. (2018). Thus, our data with the measurement of the fluorescence of YO-PRO1 and DAPI reflect, actually, the function of the ion channel of the P2X7 receptor opened by BzATP or ATP.

In the current project, using flow cytometry, we found that stimulation of mast cells with ATP led to P2X7 receptor mediated influx of YO-PRO1 in murine peritoneal and meningeal mast cells. This uptake was inhibited by the P2X7 antagonist A839977 suggesting either direct or indirect involvement of P2X7 receptors. A similar effect was observed using the P2X7 agonist BzATP and with relatively high concentrations of ATP. Taken together, these findings indicate a key role for P2X7 receptor in the activation of mast cells.

One novelty of our study was to use a flow cytometry technique to assess the permeability of mast cell membrane for the dye DAPI in real time after stimulation with 1 mM ATP. We found that stimulation with ATP caused DAPI influx into murine peritoneal mast cells in tens of seconds, and this effect was completely prevented by the P2X7 antagonist A839977. These data indicated the key role of P2X7 receptors in activation of mast cells.

It has been reported that human P2X7 receptor has essentially a higher affinity for several agonists than the mouse equivalent (Chessell et al., 1998). This suggests that the processes, which we observed in mouse cells, could be better presented in human tissues. Moreover, in humans, there are differences in dye uptake properties of the P2X7 receptor due to high polymorphism typical for this receptor type. Interestingly, this single nucleotide polymorphism can be linked (or probably even determine) lower pain sensitivity (Sorge et al., 2012). The latter observation, essential for personified pain medicine, highlights the need for further investigation of native P2X7 receptors in individual patients in order to evaluate the risk of pain state formation.

Mast cells are best known for their ability to release a plethora of various active substances. The early phase of mast cell activation leads to a release of pre-formed pro-inflammatory mediators from secretory granules followed by synthesis of lipid messengers, cytokines and chemokines (Boyce, 2005; Lorentz et al., 2012; Wernersson and Pejler, 2014). Classical mediators such as histamine and serotonin are released by different mechanisms such as degranulation (Dvorak, 1992; Moon et al., 2014) and constitutive or regulated exocytosis (Lacy and Stow, 2011; Lorentz et al., 2012; Moon et al., 2014). Degranulation of



**FIGURE 6** 1 YO-PROT uptake in meningeal mast cells in response to ATP. (A) Flow cytometric gating strategy used to identify mouse meningeal mast cells is first based on CD117 and Fc<sub>8</sub>RI labeling. (B) Next elimination of debris by gating of mast cells based on light scattering properties FSC and SSC. (C) Viable meningeal mast cells are gated on the viability dye SYTO 16 Green Fluorescent Nucleic Acid Stain. (D) Stimulation with ATP led to increase of YO-PRO1 positive cells (n = 8) whereas pre-treatment with the P2X7 antagonist A839977 inhibited incorporation of YO-PRO1 (n = 5). Mean  $\pm$  SEM, (n = 10 in control), \*p = 0.016 (Mann-Whitney U test).

mast cells may be provoked by various stimuli such as antigens, monomeric IgE, neuropeptides (substance P, CGRP) and viruses involving different receptors and various signaling mechanisms (Moon et al., 2014). Among a number of stimuli, ATP emerged recently as an important trigger of mast cell activation (Wareham and Seward, 2016). These authors showed P2X7 mediated mast cell activation and degranulation in LAD2 mast cells by assessing calcium fluxes and  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase release (Wareham and Seward, 2016). In our study, we demonstrated not only that ATP activates native P2X7 receptors in meningeal mast cells but also showed that the application of ATP induces the release of granules from these cells.

According to common view, migraine pain is initiated by sensitized trigeminal nerve terminals in meninges within the so-called trigeminovascular system (Moskowitz, 1993; Levy, 2012; Zakharov et al., 2015). Meninges are occupied by a plethora of mast cells, which are localized at "strategic loci" close to main meningeal vessels and nerve fibers suggesting a functional interaction (Levy, 2009; Kilinc et al., 2017). Although we do not have direct evidence that mast cells degranulation causes activation of trigeminal nerve endings, there are data which provide evidence that activation of mast cells plays a triggering role in the underlying sensitization process (Levy et al., 2007; Kilinc et al., 2017). In a previous study, we developed the purinergic hypothesis of migraine originally proposed by Burnstock (1981), by showing that extracellular ATP activates primary afferents in meninges (Yegutkin et al., 2016). One open issue still remains: what is the source of extracellular



ATP in migraine? There are plenty of potential sources to release ATP in the nervous system including astrocytes, neurons, platelets, and endothelial cells (Pangrśič et al., 2007; Burnstock and Ralevic, 2014). In meninges, the main sources of ATP could be vessels, nerves and mast cells themselves. ATP-driven degranulation of mast cells is likely happening in migraine with aura since the cortical spreading depression is itself an inducer of meningeal mast cells degranulation and opening of pannexin1 channels (Karatas et al., 2013), which are permeable to ATP (Dahl, 2015). Notably, there is a positive feedback loop providing ATP-induced ATP release via pannexins (Dahl, 2015). This loop can amplify the initial signal to provide a level of extracellular ATP high enough to activate P2X7 receptors. A recent study indicated that the complex of P2X7 receptors and pannexins determines not only neuroinflammation but also the development of the cortical spreading depolarization, which is a key process underlying migraine aura (Chen et al., 2017).

We propose that the released extracellular ATP acts through the P2X7 subtype of purinergic receptors thus leading to both mast cells' activation and degranulation. The main actor after degranulation of meningeal mast cells appears to be serotonin robustly exciting nerve terminals *via* ligand gated 5-HT3 receptors (Kilinc et al., 2017), whereas ATP can also act directly on nerve terminals *via* P2X3 receptors (Yegutkin et al., 2016; Zakharov et al., 2016). Taken together, these mechanisms contribute both to meningeal neuroinflammation and lasting pain formation in migraine. In conclusion, we show the leading role of ATP-gated P2X7 receptors in activation and degranulation of mast cells that naturally reside in two different body compartments. Given the emerging appreciation of the role of mast cells in neuroinflammation, the present data could help to identify new therapeutic strategies to alleviate peripheral and central neurological disorders, including migraine.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

DN, RRG and VG contributed to the data collection, analysis, interpretation and the manuscript writing. MS contributed to the data collection and analysis. SW contributed to the data collection and the manuscript editing. FT, AR and JK supervised the study. IK contributed to the study design, data collection, analysis, interpretation and the manuscript writing. TM and RG contributed to the study design and supervision, manuscript writing and final editing.

# FUNDING

This project was supported by the Finnish Academy (grant 277442). AR and RG were supported by the Program of Competitive Growth of Kazan Federal University and the subsidy (6.2313.2017/4.6) allocated to Kazan Federal University for the state assignment in the sphere of scientific activities. TM was supported by Academy of Finland (grant 298071). DN and VG were supported by the EDUFI program.

# REFERENCES

- Bianchi, B. R., Lynch, K. J., Touma, E., Niforatos, W., Burgard, E. C., Alexander, K. M., et al. (1999). Pharmacological characterization of recombinant human and rat P2X receptor subtypes. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 376, 127–138. doi: 10.1016/s0014-2999(99)00350-7
- Boyce, J. A. (2005). Eicosanoid mediators of mast cells: receptors, regulation of synthesis, and pathobiologic implications. *Chem. Immunol. Allergy* 87, 59–79. doi: 10.1159/000087571
- Browne, L. E., Compan, V., Bragg, L., and North, R. A. (2013). P2X7 receptor rhannels allow direct permeation of nanometer-sized dyes. J. Neurosci. 33, 14801–14808. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2235-12.2013
- Browne, L. E., and North, R. A. (2013). P2X receptor intermediate activation states have altered nucleotide selectivity. J. Neurosci. 33, 14801–14808. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2022-13.2013
- Bukhari, M., Burm, H., and Samways, D. S. (2016). Ion channel-mediated uptake of cationic vital dyes into live cells: a potential source of error when assessing cell viability. *Cell Biol. Toxicol.* 32, 363–371. doi: 10.1007/s10565-016-9344-y
- Burnstock, G. (1981). Pathophysiology of migraine: a new hypothesis. *Lancet* 317, 1397–1399. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(81)92572-1
- Burnstock, G. (2016). P2X ion channel receptors and inflammation. Purinergic Signal. 12, 59–67. doi: 10.1007/s11302-015-9493-0
- Burnstock, G., and Boeynaems, J. M. (2014). Purinergic signalling and immune cells. Purinergic Signal. 10, 529–564. doi: 10.1007/s11302-014-9427-2
- Burnstock, G., and Ralevic, V. (2014). Purinergic signaling and blood vessels in health and disease. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 66, 102–192. doi: 10.1124/pr.113.008029
- Chen, S. P., Qin, T., Seidel, J. L., Zheng, Y., Eikermann, M., Ferrari, M. D., et al. (2017). Inhibition of the P2X7-PANX1 complex suppresses spreading depolarization and neuroinflammation. *Brain* 140, 1643–1656. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx085
- Chen, Y., Shukla, A., Namiki, S., Insel, P. A., and Junger, W. G. (2004). A putative osmoreceptor system that controls neutrophil function through the release of ATP, its conversion to adenosine and activation of A2 adenosine and P2 receptors. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 76, 245–253. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0204066
- Chessell, I. P., Hatcher, J. P., Bountra, C., Michel, A. D., Hughes, J. P., Green, P., et al. (2005). Disruption of P2X7 purinoceptor gene abolishes chronic inflammatory and neuropathic pain. *Pain* 114, 386–396. doi: 10.1016/j.pain. 2005.01.002
- Chessell, I. P., Simon, J., Hibell, A. D., Michel, A. D., Barnard, E. A., and Humphrey, P. P. (1998). Cloning and functional characterisation of the mouse P2X7 receptor. *FEBS Lett.* 439, 26–30. doi: 10.1016/s0014-5793(98)01332-5
- Christenson, K., Björkman, L., Tängemo, C., and Bylund, J. (2008). Serum amyloid A inhibits apoptosis of human neutrophils via a P2X7-sensitive pathway independent of formyl peptide receptor-like 1. J. Leukoc. Biol. 83, 139–148. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0507276
- Dahl, G. (2015). ATP release through pannexon channels. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 370:20140191. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2014.0191
- Dahlin, J. S., Ding, Z., and Hallgren, J. (2015). Distinguishing mast cell progenitors from mature mast cells in mice. *Stem Cells Dev.* 24, 1703–1711. doi: 10.1089/scd.2014.0553
- Di Virgilio, F., Schmalzing, G., and Markwardt, F. (2018). The elusive P2X7 macropore. *Trends Cell Biol.* 28, 392–404. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2018.01.005
- Dvorak, A. M. (1992). Basophils and mast cells: piecemeal degranulation in situ and ex vivo: a possible mechanism for cytokine-induced function in disease. *Immunol. Ser.* 57, 169–271.
- Ferrari, D., Pizzirani, C., Adinolfi, E., Lemoli, R. M., Curti, A., Idzko, M., et al. (2006). The P2X7 receptor: a key player in IL-1 processing and release. *J. Immunol.* 176, 3877–3883. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.7.3877
- Franceschini, A., Capece, M., Chiozzi, P., Falzoni, S., Sanz, J. M., Sarti, A. C., et al. (2015). The P2X7 receptor directly interacts with the NLRP3 inflammasome scaffold protein. *FASEB J.* 29, 2450–2461. doi: 10.1096/fj.14-2 68714
- Frascoli, M., Marcandalli, J., Schenk, U., and Grassi, F. (2012). Purinergic P2X7 receptor drives T cell lineage choice and shapes peripheral γδ cells. J. Immunol. 189, 174–180. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101582
- Galli, S. J., Borregaard, N., and Wynn, T. A. (2011). Phenotypic and functional plasticity of cells of innate immunity: macrophages, mast cells and neutrophils. *Nat. Immunol.* 12, 1035–1044. doi: 10.1038/ni.2109

- Galli, S. J., and Tsai, M. (2012). IgE and mast cells in allergic disease. *Nat. Med.* 18, 693–704. doi: 10.1038/nm.2755
- Giniatullin, R., Nistri, A., and Fabbretti, E. (2008). Molecular mechanisms of sensitization of pain-transducing P2X3 receptors by the migraine mediators CGRP and NGF. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 37, 83–90. doi: 10.1007/s12035-008-8020-5
- Grahames, C. B., Michel, A. D., Chessell, I. P., and Humphrey, P. P. (1999). Pharmacological characterization of ATP- and LPS-induced IL-1β release in human monocytes. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 127, 1915–1921. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp. 0702732
- Härmä, R., and Suomalainen, P. (1951). Heparinocytes and hibernation in the hedgehog. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 24, 90–95. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.1951. tb00829.x
- Holle, D., and Obermann, M. (2015). Headache in drug-induced aseptic meningitis. Curr. Pain Headache Rep. 19:29. doi: 10.1007/s11916-015-0505-0
- Honore, P., Donnelly-Roberts, D., Namovic, M., Zhong, C., Wade, C., Chandran, P., et al. (2009). The antihyperalgesic activity of a selective P2X7 receptor antagonist, A-839977, is lost in IL-1αβ knockout mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 204, 77–81. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2009.05.018
- Humphreys, B. D., and Dubyak, G. R. (1998). Modulation of P2X7 nucleotide receptor expression by pro- and anti-inflammatory stimuli in THP-1 monocytes. J. Leukoc. Biol. 64, 265–273. doi: 10.1002/jlb.64.2.265
- Jensen, B., Swindle, E., Iwaki, S., and Gilfillan, A. (2006). Generation, isolation, and maintenance of rodent mast cells and mast cell lines. *Curr. Protoc. Immunol.* 3:3.23. doi: 10.1002/0471142735.im0323s74
- Jiang, L. H., Rassendren, F., Mackenzie, A., Zhang, Y. H., Surprenant, A., and North, R. A. (2005). N-methyl- D-glucamine and propidium dyes utilize different permeation pathways at rat P2X<sub>7</sub> receptors. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 289, C1295–C1302. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00253.2005
- Jindrichova, M., Bhattacharya, A., Rupert, M., Skopek, P., Obsil, T., and Zemkova, H. (2015). Functional characterization of mutants in the transmembrane domains of the rat P2X7 receptor that regulate pore conductivity and agonist sensitivity. J. Neurochem. 133, 815–827. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13078
- Junger, W. G. (2011). Immune cell regulation by autocrine purinergic signaling. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 11, 201–212. doi: 10.1038/nri2938
- Karatas, H., Erdener, S. E., Gursoy-Ozdemir, Y., Lule, S., Eren-Koçak, E., Sen, Z. D., et al. (2013). Spreading depression triggers headache by activating neuronal Panx1 channels. *Science* 339, 1092–1095. doi: 10.1126/science. 1231897
- Karmakar, M., Katsnelson, M. A., Dubyak, G. R., and Pearlman, E. (2016). Neutrophil P2X7 receptors mediate NLRP3 inflammasomedependent IL-1β secretion in response to ATP. Nat. Commun. 7:10555. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10555
- Kilinc, E., Guerrero-Toro, C., Zakharov, A., Vitale, C., Gubert-Olive, M., Koroleva, K., et al. (2017). Serotonergic mechanisms of trigeminal meningeal nociception: implications for migraine pain. *Neuropharmacology* 166, 160–173. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2016.12.024
- Kurashima, Y., Amiya, T., Nochi, T., Fujisawa, K., Haraguch, T., Iba, H., et al. (2012). Extracellular ATP mediates mast cell-dependent intestinal inflammation through P2X7 purinoceptors. *Nat. Commun.* 3, 1034–1046. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2023
- Lacy, P., and Stow, J. L. (2011). Cytokine release from innate immune cells: association with diverse membrane trafficking pathways. *Blood* 118, 9–18. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-08-265892
- Levy, D. (2009). Migraine pain, meningeal inflammation, and mast cells. *Curr. Pain Headache Rep.* 13, 237–240. doi: 10.1007/s11916-009-0040-y
- Levy, D. (2012). Endogenous mechanisms underlying the activation and sensitization of meningeal nociceptors: the role of immuno-vascular interactions and cortical spreading depression. *Curr. Pain Headache Rep.* 16, 270–277. doi: 10.1007/s11916-012-0255-1
- Levy, D., Burstein, R., Kainz, V., Jakubowski, M., and Strassman, A. M. (2007). Mast cell degranulation activates a pain pathway underlying migraine headache. *Pain* 130, 166–176. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2007.03.012
- Lorentz, A., Baumann, A., Vitte, J., and Blank, U. (2012). The SNARE machinery in mast cell secretion. *Front. Immunol.* 3:143. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00143
- McIlvried, L. A., Borghesi, L. A., and Gold, M. S. (2015). Sex-, stress-, and sympathetic post-ganglionic neuron-dependent changes in the expression of

pro- and anti-inflammatory mediators in rat dural immune cells. *Headache* 7, 943–957. doi: 10.1111/head.12596

- Michel, A. D., Chessell, I. P., and Humphrey, P. P. (1999). Ionic effects on human recombinant P2X7 receptor function. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs. Arch. Pharmacol.* 359, 102–109. doi: 10.1007/pl00005328
- Moon, T. C., Befus, A. D., and Kulka, M. (2014). Mast cell mediators: their differential release and the secretory pathways involved. *Front. Immunol.* 5:569. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00569
- Moore, S. F., and MacKenzie, A. B. (2007). Murine macrophage P2X7 receptors support rapid prothrombotic responses. *Cell. Signal.* 19, 855–866. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2006.10.010
- Moskowitz, M. A. (1993). Neurogenic inflammation in the pathophysiology and treatment of migraine. *Neurology* 43, S16–S20.
- North, R. A., and Surprenant, A. (2000). Pharmacology of cloned P2X receptors. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 40, 563–580. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pharmtox. 40.1.563
- Pangršič, T., Potokar, M., Stenovec, M., Kreft, M., Fabbretti, E., Nistri, A., et al. (2007). Exocytotic release of ATP from cultured astrocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 28749–28758. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m700290200
- Pelegrin, P., and Surprenant, A. (2006). Pannexin-1 mediates large pore formation and interleukin-1β release by the ATP-gated P2X7 receptor. *EMBO J.* 25, 5071–5082. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601378
- Rassendren, F., Buell, G. N., Virginio, C., Collo, G., North, R. A., and Surprenant, A. (1997). The permeabilizing ATP receptor, P2X7. Cloning and expression of a human cDNA. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272, 5482–5486. doi: 10.1074/jbc. 272.9.5482
- Rissiek, B., Haag, F., Boyer, O., Koch-Nolte, F., and Adriouch, S. (2015). P2X7 on mouse T cells: one channel, many functions. *Front. Immunol.* 6:204. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00204
- Rivera, J., and Gilfillan, A. M. (2006). Molecular regulation of mast cell activation. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 117, 1214–1225. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2006. 04.027
- Shelukhina, I., Mikhailov, N., Abushik, P., Nurullin, L., Nikolsky, E. E., and Giniatullin, R. (2017). Cholinergic nociceptive mechanisms in rat meninges and trigeminal ganglia: potential implications for migraine pain. *Front. Neurol.* 8:163. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00163
- Shieh, C. H., Heinrich, A., Serchov, T., van Calker, D., and Biber, K. (2014). P2X7dependent, but differentially regulated release of IL-6, CCL2, and TNF-α in cultured mouse microglia. *Glia* 62, 592–607. doi: 10.1002/glia.22628
- Sorge, R. E., Trang, T., Dorfman, R., Smith, S. B., Beggs, S., Ritchie, J., et al. (2012). Genetically determined P2X7 receptor pore formation regulates variability in chronic pain sensitivity. *Nat. Med.* 18, 595–599. doi: 10.1038/ nm.2710

- Sperlágh, B., and Illes, P. (2014). P2X7 receptor: an emerging target in central nervous system diseases. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 35, 537–547. doi: 10.1016/j. tips.2014.08.002
- Wareham, K. J., and Seward, E. P. (2016). P2X7 receptors induce degranulation in human mast cells. *Purinergic Signal*. 12, 235–246. doi: 10.1007/s11302-016-9497-4
- Wernersson, S., and Pejler, G. (2014). Mast cell secretory granules: armed for battle. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 14, 478–494. doi: 10.1038/nri3690
- Yamazaki, S., Nakano, N., Honjo, A., Hara, M., Maeda, K., Nishiyama, C., et al. (2015). The transcription factor Ehf is involved in TGF-β-induced suppression of FcεRI and c-kit expression and FcεRI-mediated activation in mast cells. *J. Immunol.* 195, 3427–3435. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402856
- Yegutkin, G. G., Guerrero-Toro, C., Kilinc, E., Koroleva, K., Ishchenko, Y., Abushik, P., et al. (2016). Nucleotide homeostasis and purinergic nociceptive signaling in rat meninges in migraine-like conditions. *Purinergic Signal*. 12, 561–574. doi: 10.1007/s11302-016-9521-8
- Zakharov, A., Koroleva, K., and Giniatullin, R. (2016). Clustering analysis for sorting ATP-induced nociceptive firing in rat meninges. *BioNanoScience* 6, 508–512. doi: 10.1007/s12668-016-0276-z
- Zakharov, A., Vitale, C., Kilinc, E., Koroleva, K., Fayuk, D., Shelukhina, I., et al. (2015). Hunting for origins of migraine pain: cluster analysis of spontaneous and capsaicin-induced firing in meningeal trigeminal nerve fibers. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9:287. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00287
- Zierhut, M., Dyckhoff, S., Masouris, I., Klein, M., Hammerschmidt, S., Pfister, H. W., et al. (2017). Role of purinergic signaling in experimental pneumococcal meningitis. *Sci. Rep.* 7:44625. doi: 10.1038/srep44625
- Zwijnenburg, P. J., van der Poll, T., Florquin, S., Roord, J. J., and Van Furth, A. M. (2003). IL-1 receptor type 1 gene-deficient mice demonstrate an impaired host defense against pneumococcal meningitis. *J. Immunol.* 170, 4724–4730. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.9.4724

**Conflict of Interest Statement**: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Nurkhametova, Kudryavtsev, Guselnikova, Serebryakova, Giniatullina, Wojciechowski, Tore, Rizvanov, Koistinaho, Malm and Giniatullin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Mast Cells Induce Blood Brain Barrier Damage in SCD by Causing Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress in the Endothelium

Huy Tran<sup>1†</sup>, Aditya Mittal<sup>1†</sup>, Varun Sagi<sup>1</sup>, Kathryn Luk<sup>1</sup>, Aithanh Nguyen<sup>1</sup>, Mihir Gupta<sup>2</sup>, Julia Nguyen<sup>1</sup>, Yann Lamarre<sup>1</sup>, Jianxun Lei<sup>1</sup>, Alonso Guedes<sup>3</sup> and Kalpna Gupta<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Vascular Biology Center, Division of Hematology, Oncology and Transplantation, Department of Medicine, Medical School, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, United States, <sup>2</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States, <sup>3</sup>Anesthesia and Pain Medicine, Veterinary Clinical Science Department, College of Veterinary Medicine, University of Minnesota Twin Cities, St. Paul, MN, United States

Endothelial dysfunction underlies the pathobiology of cerebrovascular disease. Mast cells are located in close proximity to the vasculature, and vasoactive mediators released upon their activation can promote endothelial activation leading to blood brain barrier (BBB) dysfunction. We examined the mechanism of mast cell-induced endothelial activation via endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress mediated P-selectin expression in a transgenic mouse model of sickle cell disease (SCD), which shows BBB dysfunction. We used mouse brain endothelial cells (mBECs) and mast cells-derived from skin of control and sickle mice to examine the mechanisms involved. Compared to control mouse mast cell conditioned medium (MCCM), mBECs incubated with sickle mouse MCCM showed increased, structural disorganization and swelling of the ER and Golgi, aggregation of ribosomes, ER stress marker proteins, accumulation of galactose-1-phosphate uridyl transferase, mitochondrial dysfunction, reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, P-selectin expression and mBEC permeability. These effects of sickle-MCCM on mBEC were inhibited by Salubrinal, a reducer of ER stress. Histamine levels in the plasma, skin releasate and in mast cells of sickle mice were higher compared to control mice. Compared to control BBB permeability was increased in sickle mice. Treatment of mice with imatinib, Salubrinal, or P-selectin blocking antibody reduced BBB permeability in sickle mice. Mast cells induce endothelial dysfunction via ER stress-mediated P-selectin expression. Mast cell activation contributes to ER stress mediated endothelial P-selectin expression leading to increased endothelial permeability and impairment of BBB. Targeting mast cells and/or ER stress has the potential to ameliorate endothelial dysfunction in SCD and other pathobiologies.

# Keywords: blood brain barrier, endoplasmic reticulum stress, endothelial cell, mast cell, P-selectin, sickle cell disease

# OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Francesco Moccia, University of Pavia, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Sharon DeMorrow, University of Texas at Austin, United States Germano Guerra, University of Molise, Italy

> \*Correspondence: Kalpna Gupta gupta014@umn.edu

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

Received: 09 October 2018 Accepted: 05 February 2019 Published: 19 February 2019

#### Citation:

Tran H, Mittal A, Sagi V, Luk K, Nguyen A, Gupta M, Nguyen J, Lamarre Y, Lei J, Guedes A and Gupta K (2019) Mast Cells Induce Blood Brain Barrier Damage in SCD by Causing Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress in the Endothelium. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:56. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00056

**Abbreviations:** ATF4, activating transcription factor 4; BBB, blood brain barrier; CHOP, C/EBP homologous protein; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; GalT, galactose-1-phosphate uridylyltransferase; GRP78, glucose regulated protein 78; HMGB1, high mobility group 1B protein; mBECs, mouse brain endothelial cells; MCCM, mast cell conditioned medium; NOX4, NADPH oxidase 4; phos-eIF2α, phosphorylated eukaryotic initiation factor 2α; phos-PERK, phosphorylated protein kinase-R-like ER kinase; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SCD, sickle cell disease; SP, substance P; sXBP1, spliced X-box binding protein; VOC, vaso-occlusive crisis.

#### Mast Cells Induce Endothelial Dysfunction

# INTRODUCTION

Neurovascular networks and blood brain barrier (BBB) play a critical role in cerebrovascular dysfunction underlying many pathobiological conditions including cognitive impairment and stroke (Zhang J. H. et al., 2012; Zhao et al., 2015; Raja et al., 2018). One of the genetically inherited conditions with high childhood mortality due to stroke and cognitive impairment is sickle cell disease (SCD; Gold et al., 2008). SCD is a genetic disorder arising from a substitution of valine for glutamic acid at position six on the  $\beta$ -globin gene (Ingram, 1956). A unique hallmark of SCD is vaso-occlusive crisis (VOC) during which sickle red blood cells (RBCs) cluster and occlude blood vessels leading to impaired oxygen supply to the organs, causing end organ damage and acute pain (Platt et al., 1994; Frenette and Atweh, 2007; Tran et al., 2017). Vascular dysfunction is a common feature of several comorbidities of SCD including lung injury, impaired BBB permeability and stroke (Hebbel et al., 2004; Manci et al., 2006; Jordan and Debaun, 2018). Endothelial activation plays a key role in the pathobiology of SCD replete with inflammation and oxidative stress (Hebbel et al., 2004). One known feature of endothelial activation in SCD is the overexpression of cell adhesion molecules (CAMs), which also contributes to VOC (Embury et al., 2004; Manwani and Frenette, 2013).

Amongst the CAMs, P-selectin expressed on endothelial cell (EC) membranes plays a critical role in microvascular blood flow and VOC in SCD (Embury et al., 2004; Kutlar and Embury, 2014). Anti-P-selectin antibody, Crizanlizumab reduced VOC in patients with SCD (Ataga et al., 2017). However, mechanisms causing endothelial P-selectin expression and endothelial activation in SCD remain poorly understood.

Mast cells have been shown to increase E- and P-selectin expression on the endothelium (Kubes and Granger, 1996). Mast cells, the tissue-resident granulocytes, release vasoactive, inflammatory, and neuromodulatory mediators including histamine, proteases, cytokines, and neuropeptides such as substance P (SP) upon activation (Aich et al., 2015). Histamine, a mediator released by mast cells, upregulates endothelial P-selectin in vitro and ex vivo, and participates in regulating P-selectin-mediated extravasation of immune cells (Jones et al., 1993). Mast cells are located in close proximity to the vasculature, and can cause endothelial activation, plasma extravasation, vasodilatation, and vascular dysfunction (Gupta and Harvima, 2018). We have previously observed that mast cell activation in HbSS-BERK mice contributes to neurogenic inflammation, resulting in increased vascular permeability (Vincent et al., 2013). HbSS-BERK mice express human a and  $\beta$ S globin chains with >99% human sickle hemoglobin, but no murine  $\alpha$  or  $\beta$  globins (Paszty et al., 1997). Similar to patients with sickle cell anemia, HbSS-BERK mice demonstrate hemolysis, extensive organ damage, shortened life span and pain (Kohli et al., 2010; Cain et al., 2012). Increased permeability in the BBB has been observed in HbSS-BERK mice (Manci et al., 2006). Moreover, IL1 $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$  and SP are significantly increased in transgenic humanized sickle mice and patients with SCD compared to non-sickle controls (Michaels et al., 1998; Hebbel et al., 2004; Vincent et al., 2013; Brandow et al., 2016; Campbell et al., 2016; Douglas, 2016; Wang et al., 2016; Solovey et al., 2017). Recent elegant studies have demonstrated that SP and IL33 stimulate TNF $\alpha$  and IL1 $\beta$  release from mast cells (Taracanova et al., 2017, 2018). Mast cells have been observed in brain parenchyma in some pathological conditions (Gupta and Harvima, 2018). It is therefore likely that mast cell activation may contribute to increased BBB permeability in SCD.

One of the known triggers of endothelial dysfunction, inflammation, and oxidative stress is endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress (Lenna et al., 2014). We hypothesized that in a sickle microenvironment, mediators derived from activated mast cells contribute to endothelial dysfunction and impaired BBB by stimulating ER stress. Disturbance of the equilibrium between ER protein load and folding capacity can lead to the accumulation of misfolded proteins (Lenna et al., 2014). This accumulation of misfolded proteins activates one of the ER-stress sensors, protein kinase RNA-like ER kinase (PERK), which subsequently phosphorylates the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 alpha (eIF2α) and attenuates global protein synthesis. The translation of activating transcription factor-4 (ATF-4), however, is increased in response to  $eIF2\alpha$ phosphorylation. In chronic ER stress, PERK-ATF4 pathway promotes the transcription of C/EBP homologous protein (CHOP), resulting in increased inflammatory cytokines and reactive oxygen species (ROS; Scheuner and Kaufman, 2008; Lenna et al., 2014). We therefore examined the ability of mast cells to stimulate ER-stress mediated endothelial P-selectin expression leading to impaired BBB permeability in transgenic sickle mice. We have shown earlier that mast cells are activated in the skin of sickle mice, and continue to actively degranulate following isolation in vitro (Vincent et al., 2013). Here, we demonstrate that mast cell activation in sickle mice stimulates P-selectin expression, increases endothelial permeability and compromises BBB permeability by inducing ER stress.

We used normal mouse brain ECs (mBEC) and transgenic BERK mice expressing either human sickle hemoglobin (called HbSS-BERK or *sickle* mice henceforth) or normal human hemoglobin A (called HbAA-BERK or *control* mice henceforth) to obtain cutaneous mast cells and examine BBB permeability.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Mice

Transgenic HbSS-BERK mice feature homozygous knockout of both  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  murine globins and possess transgenes for human  $\alpha$  and  $\beta^S$  (hemoglobin S). Control HbAA-BERK mice are also knockout for both  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  murine globins but carry normal human  $\alpha$  and  $\beta^A$  globins (hemoglobin A). Heterozygous HbAS-BERK mice are homozygous for normal human  $\alpha$  globin, and heterozygous for human sickle  $\beta^S$  globin and human normal  $\beta^A$  globin. HbSS-BERK mice are characterized with similar pathology to human SCD, including hemolysis, reticulocytosis, anemia, extensive organ damage, reduced life span and pain (Paszty et al., 1997; Kohli et al., 2010).

It is challenging to use HbSS-BERK female mice for breeding. Therefore, HbSS-BERK male mice are mated with heterozygous HbAS females. Both sickle parents and offspring are maintained on the Sickle Diet (59M3, TestDiet, St Louis, MO, USA) up to 4-5 weeks of age and eventually changed to the regular Rodent Diet (Harlan Laboratories, Hayward, CA, USA). Litters were weaned 3 weeks after birth. Mice were housed in our AAALACapproved, pathogen-free, climate-controlled (12 h light-to-dark cycle at 23°C) facility at the University of Minnesota. Mice were genotyped to verify the knockout of mouse globins and presence of human globins (Transnetyx, Cordova, TN, USA), and phenotyped by isoelectric focusing for the presence of HbS and/or HbA as described by us (Sagi et al., 2018). All procedures followed approved protocols from the University of Minnesota's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) and complied with the statutes of the Animal Welfare Act and the guidelines of the Public Health Service as stated in the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. Cannabinoid-based therapy and approaches to quantify pain in sickle cell disease; IACUC Protocol # 1306-30698A, approval date: June 24, 2013; renewed as IACUC Protocol # 1603-33542A, approval date: May 24, 2016; annual continuing review: May 10, 2018.

# Reagents

Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640 Medium (RPMI; 72400047), Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM; 11995065), fetal bovine serum (FBS; 10438026), and cell culture supplements were from Life Technologies (Grand Island, NY). Salubrinal (SML0951), collagenase Type II (6885), hyaluronidase (H3506), protease (P8811), deoxyribonuclease I (DN25), Percoll (P1644), recombinant mouse stem cell factor (S9915) and general chemicals were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA).

# **Growth and Treatment Media**

Complete mast cell growth medium (RPMI with 10% FBS, 1.2 mg/mL sodium bicarbonate, 2 mM L-glutamine, 25 mM HEPES, and 10 ng/mL recombinant mouse stem cell factor) was used to incubate sickle and control mast cells as described (Vincent et al., 2013). After 24 h of incubation, sickle and control mast cell conditioned medium (MCCM) were collected. Complete mast cell growth medium was incubated in parallel without mast cells to obtain unconditioned medium.

# Mast Cells

As described earlier mast cells were isolated from freshly collected shaved dorsal skin (1–2 g dissected into 1-cm<sup>3</sup> pieces) of sickle and control mice, washed twice with RPMI and digested with 15 ml collagenase Type II (0.2 mg/mL), hyaluronidase (0.1 mg/mL), and 0.2 mg/mL protease (0.2 mg/mL) in RPMI at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 1 h with end-over-end mixing (Vincent et al., 2013). After sedimentation by gravity, the supernatant was collected and placed on ice. The tissue pellet was suspended in 15 ml of the same enzyme solution, followed by incubation at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 30 min with mixing; then 10 ml of RPMI with 0.015 mg/ml DNase was added to the tissue/enzyme solution and the incubation continued for an additional 30 min with mixing. Again, the

supernatant was collected and placed on ice; the remaining tissue was rinsed with 5 ml RPMI. The combined supernatants were passed through a 70  $\mu$ m filter and concentrated by centrifugation for 10 min at 200× g at 4°C. The cell pellet was resuspended in 1 ml RPMI medium with 0.015 mg/ml DNase and layered on 5 ml of 70% isotonic Percoll followed by centrifugation for 20 min at 500× g at 4°C. Mast cells in the pellet were suspended in complete mast cell growth medium. Purity of mast cells was validated with toluidine blue and staining for c-kit (CD117, sc-1493; RRID:AB\_631031, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA) and FccR1 (sc-68943; RRID:AB\_2103020, Santa Cruz Biotechnology; Metcalfe, 2001; Vincent et al., 2013). After 5 days, mast cells were sub-cultured, and MCCM was collected after 24 h of incubation.

# **Endothelial Cells**

mBECs, a kind gift from Dr Robert Auerbach (University of Madison, WI, USA) were cultured in EC medium (DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, sodium pyruvate, 0.02 mg/ml heparin, and 0.1% growth factor (EG-5, Vec Technologies, Rensselaer, NY, USA). Cells were characterized as endothelial on the basis of cobblestone morphology, uptake of acetylated LDL (BT-902, Biomedical Technologies, Inc, Stoughton, MA, USA) and the presence of VEGFR2/KDR (Clone JH121; MS-350-P0; RRID:AB\_61321, Neomarkers-Thermo Fisher, Fremont, CA, USA; Gupta et al., 1997; Chen et al., 2006).

# Treatment of Endothelial Cells With Mast Cell Conditioned Medium and/or Salubrinal

Immortalized mBECs were treated with MCCM from HbSS-BERK-mast cells and HbAA-BERK-mast cells, or unconditioned medium diluted 1:1 with EC medium with 1% FBS without growth factors and incubated for 24 h, in the absence/presence of 5  $\mu$ M Salubrinal (Boyce et al., 2005), an inhibitor of eIF-2 $\alpha$ , which prevents downstream protein synthesis, and therefore lessens the burden on the ER, as applicable.

# Transmission Electron Microscopy for Endothelial Cells

Unconditioned medium or sickle or control MCCM-treated mBECs cultured on cover slips (Thermanox, Nunc 174950, Thermo Fisher, Waltham, MA, USA) was fixed in a solution of 3% paraformaldehyde, 1.5% glutaraldehyde, and 2.5% sucrose in 0.1 M sodium cacodylate buffer with 5 mM calcium chloride and 5 mM magnesium chloride (pH 7.4) for 1 h at room temperature, rinsed three times in 0.1 M sodium cacodylate buffer for 5 min each, and then placed in 1% osmium tetroxide in 0.1 M sodium cacodylate buffer overnight at 4°C. The following day cells were rinsed with ultrapure water three times for 5 min each, and post-stained in 1% aqueous uranyl acetate for 1-2 h. Subsequently, the coverslips were rinsed in ultrapure water, dehydrated in a graded series of ethanol solutions up to 100% ethanol, and embedded in Embed 812 resin (14120, Electron Microscopy Sciences, Hatfield, PA, USA). Ultrathin sections (65 nm) were stained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate, and then examined at 75 K, with a JEOL 1200EX II electron microscope (Peabody, MA, USA).

# Immunofluorescence Microscopy of Endothelial Cells

Unconditioned medium or sickle or control MCCM-treated mBECs cultured in eight well chamber slides (ibidi USA, Madison, WI, USA) were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde, permeabilized with 0.05% Triton X-100, for 10 min, washed with PBS containing 0.01% Tween-20 (PBS-Tw) and blocked by incubation in 3% normal donkey serum/PBS-Tw. The mBECs were incubated for 1 h at room temperature with primary antibodies diluted in 3% normal donkey serum/PBS-Tw. The following antibodies were used: ER-specific rabbit anti-galactose-1-phosphate uridylyltransferase antibody (GalT, 1:100; ab178406, Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA), Golgi-specific rabbit anti-Giantin antibody (1:100; ab24586; RRID:AB\_448163, Abcam), goat anti-P-selectin (1:100; AF737; RRID:AB\_2285644, R&D, Minneapolis, MN, USA). Slides were washed and then incubated for 1 h at room temperature with species-specific donkey secondary antibodies conjugated with Cy2 and Cy3 (1:200; Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA, USA) diluted in 3% normal donkey serum/PBS-Tw to visualize the immunoreactive proteins. Samples were mounted with Vectashield (H-1000, Vector Labs, Burlingame, CA, USA) and fluorescence images were captured using Olympus IX 70 inverted microscope (Olympus Corporation, Center Valley, PA, USA).

# **Mitochondrial Membrane Potential**

Unconditioned medium or sickle or control MCCM-treated mBECs were stained with 5,5',6,6'-tetrachloro-1,1',3,3'-tetraethylbenzimi- dazolylcarbocyanine iodide (JC-1, MitoProbe M34152, Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Measurement of red fluorescence (excitation/emission at 535 nm/595 nm) and green fluorescence (excitation/emission at 485 nm/535 nm) was performed using images captured with Olympus IX 70 inverted microscope (Olympus Corporation). Fluorescence was quantitated according to the total of fluorescence pixels divided by the total area, and analyzed with Photoshop (Adobe, San Jose, CA, USA). The ratio of red to green fluorescence was calculated and this ratio increases as mitochondrial membrane potential increases (Kimura and Murakami, 2014).

# **Reactive Oxygen Species Assay**

ROS formation was detected using a cell permeable fluorescent compound, 2',7'-dichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCFDA) according to the manufacturer's instruction (ab113851, Abcam). In brief, mBECs were seeded on a 96 well plate (clear bottom/black microplates, Nunc 165305, Thermo Fisher) and grown to 80%–85% confluence. After treatment with unconditioned medium or MCCM, the mBECs were washed twice with assay buffer and stained with 20  $\mu$ M of DCFDA in assay buffer for 45 min at 37°C. Following staining with DCFDA, the cells were washed twice with PBS and the fluorescence was read immediately at 485 nm excitation and 535 nm emission on a fluorescent plate reader (Synergy HT, Biotek, Winooski, VT, USA) with Gen5<sup>TM</sup> 1.0 software (Biotek). Changes in ROS were determined as fold change in fluorescence as compared to vehicle treated control. All analyses and calibrations were performed at least in triplicate (Ye et al., 2015).

# Western Blotting

Unconditioned medium or MCCM-treated mBECs in 6-well plates were lysed with 25 mM HEPES, 300 mM NaCl, 1.5 mM MgCl, 0.2 mM EDTA, 0.1% Triton X-100, 5 mM DTT, pH 7.6 with protease inhibitors. Whole cell lysates (15-40 µg of protein) were resolved by 3%-15% SDS-PAGE and transferred to a polyvinylidene difluoride membrane (Immobilon-P, IPVH00010, Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA). The membrane was blocked and then probed with primary antibodies overnight at 4°C. The antibodies used were antibodies against phospho-eIF2a (Ser51; 9721; RRID:AB 330951), PERK (3192; RRID:AB\_2095847), phospho-PERK (Thr980; 3179; RRID:AB\_2095853; all from Cell Signaling Technology, Beverly, MA, USA); eIF2α (sc-11386; RRID:AB\_640075), glucose regulated protein 78 (GRP78; sc-13968; RRID:AB\_2119991), NADPH oxidase 4 (NOX4; sc-30141; RRID:AB\_2151703), spliced X-box binding protein (sXBP1; sc-7160; RRID:AB\_794171; all from Santa Cruz Biotechnology); CHOP (MA1-250; RRID:AB\_2292611, Pierce-Thermo Fisher); ATF4 (ARP37017\_p050; RRID:AB\_593104, Aviva Systems Biology, San Diego, CA, USA), and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH; G9545; RRID:AB\_796208, Sigma-Aldrich). After incubation with an alkaline phosphatase-conjugated donkey secondary antibody (sc-2083, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) for 60 min at room temperature the membranes were washed and the immunoreactive proteins were detected with the ECF Western blotting system (RPN5785, GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Piscataway, NJ, USA). Chemifluorescence signals were acquired using a Storm 860 PhosphorImager (Molecular Dynamics, Sunnyvale, CA, USA). Chemifluorescence of each lane was quantified by densitometry in arbitrary units using ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health).

# **Determination of Endothelial Permeability**

The mBECs were cultured on 0.2% gelatin treated Transwell inserts (Corning 3384) in 96 well plates (Corning 3382). At 80%-85% confluence the cells were made quiescent by incubation with EC medium with 1% FBS and no growth factor for 18-20 h. Quiescent mBECs were incubated with 100  $\mu$ l of 5 µM Salubrinal or vehicle control for 30 min in phenol red free EC medium (phenol red free DMEM, 21063029, Life Technologies) with 1% FBS in the luminal (upper) chamber. The pretreatment was replaced with 100 µl solution of unconditioned medium or MCCM diluted 1:1 with phenol red free EC medium with 1% FBS which also contained the inhibitor or vehicle and incubation was continued up to 8 h. Then, the Transwell inserts were washed briefly with PBS containing Ca<sup>2+</sup>/Mg<sup>2+</sup>. Next 100 µl Evans blue (0.6 mg/ml) bound to 0.4% BSA in PBS with  $Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+}$  was added to the upper chamber and 200  $\mu l$ PBS with Ca<sup>2+</sup>/Mg<sup>2+</sup> was added to the lower chamber. After 30 min of incubation, the absorbance of the lower chamber was determined at 620 nm with a microplate reader (Synergy HT, Biotek; Friedl et al., 2002; Garcia et al., 2011).



**FIGURE 1** Mast cells from sickle mice induce endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress in endothelial cells (ECs). Mouse brain ECs (mBECs) were treated for 24 h with mast cell conditioned medium (MCCM) from cultures of mast cells isolated from the skin of sickle or control mice. mBECs were pre-treated with Salubrinal (5  $\mu$ M) or vehicle for 30 min before addition of the MCCM, where applicable. **(A)** Transmission electron microscopic images of ER (yellow arrows), Golgi (green arrows), and ribosomes (red arrows) in mBECs. Left column, Magnification ×75,000; scale bar = 500 nm. Right column shows 200× magnification of the inset in the left column; scale bar = 0.25 nm. Each image represents five separate and reproducible experiments. **(B)** Sickle and control MCCM stimulate an increase in ER stress markers. Western blot analysis of phos-protein kinase-R-like ER kinase (PERK), glucose regulated protein-78 (GRP-78), NADPH oxidase 4 (NOX4), spliced X-box binding protein (sXBP1), activating transcription factor 4 (ATF4), phos-eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 alpha (elF2 $\alpha$ ), elF2 $\alpha$ , C/EBP homologous protein (CHOP) and protein-loading control GAPDH. Each band is a representative of three endependent and reproducible experiments. Each bar is the mean ± SEM of percentage of band density of indicated protein to that of GAPDH from three separate experiments. \*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01. **(C)** Sickle MCCM-induced accumulation of proteins in mBEC is abrogated by Salubrinal. mBEC stained for the ER marker, Galactose-1-phosphate uridylyltransferase (GaIT; red) and nuclei (DAPI, blue). Each image represents images from five separate and reproducible experiments. Scale bar = 10  $\mu$ m; magnification 150×. **(D)** Loss of Golgi organization is attenuated by Salubrinal in mBEC treated with sickle MCCM. Representative images of Golgi (Giantin; green) and nuclei (DAPI, blue). Magnification 150× and scale bar = 10  $\mu$ m. Each image represents reproducible images from five separate experiments. Sal, Salubrinal.

# Treatment of Mice With Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Inhibitor, Salubrinal

Salubrinal was reconstituted in DMSO to make the stock solution of 20 mg/ml which was subsequently diluted in saline (0.9% NaCl) to prepare injection solution of 100  $\mu$ g/ml. The mice were intraperitoneally injected with 1 mg/kg Salubrinal.

# **Treatment of Mice With Imatinib**

Mice were treated daily for 5 days with 100 mg/kg body weight imatinib mesylate (Gleevec, NDC 0078-0401034; Novartis) *via* gavage.

# Treatment of Mice With P-selectin Blocking Antibody

Mice were treated with 1 mg/kg body weight P-selectin blocking antibody (RB40.32, BD Biosciences) for 3 days *via* intravenous injection.

# Determination of Blood Brain Barrier Permeability

After respective treatments, mice were injected with 16.7 mg/kg FITC-Dextran 10 kDa (FD10S, Sigma-Aldrich) 1 h before euthanasia (Egawa et al., 2013). Brains were collected, homogenized in 50 mM Tris-Cl (pH = 7.6; 1  $\mu$ l/mg

brain) and centrifuged at 16,000 g for 30 min at 4°C. Fifty microliter of supernatant was transferred to a 96 well black polystyrene assay plate (Corning 3915) for analysis. A series of standards containing 0.005, 0.02, 0.1, 0.5, 2.5, 5 and 10  $\mu$ g/ml FITC-Dextran 10 kDa in 50% Tris-HCl/50% absolute methanol were used. The concentration of FITC was determined by spectrofluorometry with an excitation of 485 nm (20 nm bandwidth) and an emission wavelength of 528 nm (20 nm bandwidth).

#### **Histamine Analysis**

Skin punch biopsies (4 mm) were collected from the dorsal skin of mice immediately after euthanasia. Biopsies were incubated in DMEM plus antibiotics with 2 mM L-glutamine and 10 mM HEPES (Thermo Fisher) for 24 h at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator. The conditioned media was snap-frozen and stored at -80°C until analyzed.

Whole blood was collected by cardiac puncture into EDTA tubes (T-MQK, Terumo Medical Corp., Somerset, NJ, USA). Plasma was separated by centrifugation of whole blood at 1,200 *g* and 4°C for 10 min. Equal volumes of plasma and methanol were added to a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube, mixed, and incubated on ice for 3 min. Supernatant was collected after the mixture was centrifuged at 5,000 *g* for 5 min. The extract was then dried in a centrifugal concentrator for 2–3 h at room temperature and reconstituted with assay buffer prior to analysis.

The processed sample was analyzed using the Histamine ELISA kit (ENZ-KIT140-0001, Enzo LifeScience). Assay results



**FIGURE 2** Mast cell induced endothelial ER stress is accompanied by mitochondrial dysfunction, reactive oxygen species (HOS) production, and increased permeability. mBECs were treated for 24 h with MCCM from cultures of mast cells isolated from the skin of sickle or control mice. mBECs were pre-treated with Salubrinal (5  $\mu$ M) or vehicle for 30 min before addition of MCCM, where applicable. (A) Sickle MCCM significantly decreased mitochondrial membrane potential detected by JC-1. An increased green to red fluorescence ratio is indicative of decreased membrane potential. \*p < 0.05. (B) Sickle MCCM significantly increases the production of ROS, which is ameliorated by pre-treatment with Salubrinal. ROS in mBEC is shown as fluorescence units of oxidized 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein. (C) Sickle MCCM significantly increases the endothelial permeability, which is ameliorated by pre-treatment with Salubrinal. Evans blue leakage through mBEC monolayer following incubation with control or sickle MCCM, measured at 650 nm is shown. \*p < 0.05, \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001.



FIGURE 3 | Histamine levels in plasma, skin secretagogue, and mast cells of sickle mice are higher than control mice. Histamine concentration in (A) plasma (n = 6). (B) Skin releasate/secretagogue (n = 3). (C) Cutaneous mast cells in culture (n = 6). \*p < 0.05. All specimens were from  $\sim 3.5$ -month-old female mice. AA, HbAA-BERK control mice and SS, HbSS-BERK sickle mice.

were collected and calculated using the Synergy HT plate reader and  $Gen5^{TM}$  1.0 data analysis software (BioTek).

### **Statistical Analysis**

All data were analyzed using Prism software (v 6.0a, GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). A two-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Bonferroni's correction was used to compare the responses among treatments. A *p*-value of < 0.05 was considered significant. All data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

# RESULTS

# Mast Cells From Sickle Mice Induce Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress in Endothelial Cells

Normal mBECs were incubated with MCCM from mast cell cultures derived from sickle and control mice. In parallel, mBECs were also incubated with unconditioned mast cell culture medium incubated without mast cells. Transmission electron microscopy of mBECs incubated with unconditioned medium showed the normal presentation of the ER (yellow arrowheads) and Golgi (green arrowheads) with well-organized stacks of cisternae and few sparsely scattered ribosomes (red arrowheads; **Figure 1A**). MCCM from control mice induced partial disruption and swelling of ER and Golgi cisternae with prominent dark granular ribosomes (**Figure 1A**). mBECs treated with sickle-MCCM exhibited pronounced swelling and structural disorganization of Golgi and ER, accompanied by aggregation of dense clusters of ribosomes around the ER and throughout the cytoplasm (**Figure 1A**). Extensive ribosomal aggregates indicate accumulation of misfolded proteins due to malfunctioning of the ER and Golgi (Hiramatsu et al., 2015; Oakes and Papa, 2015). Therefore, these observations suggest that mast cell released mediators stimulate ER stress in mBECs which was higher with MCCM from sickle mouse mast cells compared to that of control mice.

Complementary to transmission electron microscopy, Western blotting demonstrated significantly enhanced expression of ER stress markers, phos-PERK, GRP78, NOX4, sXBP1, ATF4, phos-eIF2α, and CHOP in mBECs incubated with sickle MCCM, compared to those incubated in control MCCM or unconditioned MCCM (Figure 1B). We also observed accumulation of galactose-1-phosphate uridylyltransferase (GalT; red) in mBECs treated with sickle MCCM, but not in those treated with control MCCM or unconditioned medium (Figure 1C). GalT accumulation in the ER, instead of being secreted and distributed throughout the cell, is indicative of accumulation of unfolded proteins under ER stress. Similarly, complete loss of structural integrity of Golgi (Giantin; green) was observed in mBECs treated with sickle MCCM, but not in those treated with control MCCM or unconditioned medium (Figure 1D). Salubrinal has been shown to increase levels of phos-eIF2a, which prevents downstream protein



extracellular P-selectin granules (yellow arrow; **B**). Quantification of P-selectin expression on mBEC. mBECs treated with unconditioned medium, n = 14, black; mBECs treated with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, maroon; mBECs treated with HbSS MCCM, n = 16, blue; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with unconditioned medium, n = 15, white; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCCM, n = 12, orange; mBECs pre-treated with Salubrinal followed by treatment with HbAA MCC

synthesis, by blocking dephosphorylation after ER stress induced phosphorylation (Boyce et al., 2005; Lewerenz and Maher, 2009). We performed a functional assay to examine the impact of Salubrinal on unfolded protein accumulation. Salubrinal abrogated the accumulation of GalT and reduced the changes in Golgi (**Figures 1C,D**). Therefore, sickle MCCM contributes to ER stress in mBECs by inducing structural changes in the ER-Golgi complex *via* functionally activating unfolded protein response pathways. These processes are attenuated by reducing ER stress with Salubrinal.

# Mast Cells Contribute to Endothelial Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Oxidative Stress

ER stress is also accompanied by increased oxidative stress due to mitochondrial dysfunction and dysregulated antioxidant homeostasis (Lenna et al., 2014). Correspondingly, we observed decreased mitochondrial potential (Figure 2A; p = 0.0347) and increased ROS (Figure 2B; p = 0.0135) in mBECs treated with sickle MCCM as compared to those treated with unconditioned medium. Salubrinal inhibited ROS production in mBECs induced by sickle MCCM (Figure 2B; p < 0.0001). This result supports previous findings where Salubrinal promotes homeostasis by decreasing ROS production, ER stress, and mitochondrial dysfunction (Dou et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2012). Salubrinal acts by preventing dephosphorylation of eIF2a and sustaining PERK-ATF4 signaling during ER stress (Boyce et al., 2005; Tsaytler et al., 2011). The mBEC monolayer treated with sickle MCCM in vitro demonstrated increased Evans blue leakage relative to those treated with control MCCM (p < 0.0001) or unconditioned medium (p < 0.0001), indicative of increased endothelial permeability (Figure 2C), likely caused by the action of vasoactive substances such as SP and/or histamine or other substances released from mast cells.

# Mast Cell Activation Contributes to Increased Histamine in Sickle Mice

Histamine is one of the potent inflammatory mediators released from mast cells. Mast cell histamine release is considered to be one of the major cellular mechanisms underlying histamineinduced barrier dysfunction (Kumar et al., 2009). Besides systemic inflammation, histamine is known for its critical role in neurogenic inflammation and transmission of pain throughout the nervous system (Rosa and Fantozzi, 2013). We compared control and sickle plasma, skin secretagogue, and mast cell histamine levels. We found a significant increase in histamine levels in sickle mice in the plasma (**Figure 3A**; p = 0.0119), skin secretagogue (**Figure 3B**; p = 0.0156) and mast cells (**Figure 3C**; p = 0.0368) isolated from the skin when compared to control mice.

# Sickle Mast Cell Mediators Induce P-selectin Expression on Endothelial Cells

P-selectin is known to be upregulated by mast cell activation (Torres et al., 2002), and contributes significantly to the recruitment and rolling of leukocytes and neutrophils (Jones et al., 1993; Mayadas et al., 1993), and participates in the

attachment of sickle RBCs to the endothelium (Matsui et al., 2001). mBECs incubated with control and sickle MCCM exhibited about 3- and 6-fold fold increase, respectively, in P-selectin expression compared to unconditioned culture medium (Figures 4A,B; p < 0.0001 and p < 0.0001, respectively). P-selectin expression induced by sickle-MCCM appeared to be associated with cell membrane as well as dense intracellular granules (Figure 4A). In contrast P-selectin expression induced by control-MCCM appeared to be confined as dense red intracellular staining. Pre-incubation of mBECs with Salubrinal significantly inhibited sickle MCCM-induced P-selectin expression on the cell membrane of mBECs and intracellularly (**Figure 4B**; p < 0.0001) to the level induced by control MCCM. In contrast, Salubrinal did not inhibit control MCCM-induced P-selectin expression on mBECs. It is therefore likely that mast cells from sickle mice release substances that promote translocation of P-selectin to endothelial surface which is mediated by ER stress.

# Blood Brain Barrier Permeability in Sickle Mice Is Attenuated by Reducing Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress or Blockade of P-selectin or Inhibiting Mast Cells

We next examined the effects of Salubrinal (to reduce ER stress), imatinib (to inhibit mast cell activation), and P-selectin



**FIGURE 5** | Salubrinal, imatinib, and P-selectin blocking antibody reduce blood brain barrier (BBB) permeability in sickle mice. Mice were treated with either a single dose of 1 mg/kg body weight Salubrinal for 48 h, 100 mg/kg body weight imatinib for 5 days, or 1 mg/kg body weight P-selectin blocking antibody for 3 days. After each of the respective treatments, mice were injected with 16.7 mg/kg FITC-Dextran 10 kDa through the tail vein 1 h prior to euthanasia at the end of the study. FITC-dextran leakage in the brain is shown. Control mice treated with vehicle, *n* = 8, white; sickle mice treated with vehicle, *n* = 6, black; control mice treated with Salubrinal, *n* = 4, brown; sickle mice treated with Salubrinal, *n* = 4, green; sickle mice treated with imatinib, *n* = 4, green; sickle mice treated with imatinib, *n* = 4, or eated with P-selectin blocking antibody, *n* = 4, red; sickle mice treated with P-selectin blocking antibody, *n* = 4, red; sickle mice treated with P-selectin blocking antibody, *n* = 4, red; sickle mice treated with P-selectin blocking antibody, *n* = 4, red; sickle mice treated with P-selectin blocking antibody, *n* = 4, red; sickle mice treated with P-selectin blocking antibody, *n* = 4, red; sickle mice treated with P-selectin blocking antibody, *n* = 4, red; sickle mice treated with P-selectin blocking antibody, *n* = 4, red; sickle mice treated with P-selectin blocking antibody, *n* = 4, red; sickle mice treated with P-selectin blocking antibody, *n* = 4, red; sickle mice treated with P-selectin blocking antibody, *n* = 4, red; sickle mice treated with vehicle. Fermale sickle (SS) or control (AA) mice at ~3.5 months of age were used.

blocking antibody on BBB permeability in mice by examining the leakage of FITC-dextran. Sickle mice showed significantly increased extravasation of FITC-dextran compared to control mice (**Figure 5**; p < 0.0001). After 48 h of treatment with Salubrinal, a reduction in BBB permeability was observed in sickle mice when compared to the vehicle group (**Figure 5**; p = 0.017). A similar decrease was observed in sickle mice treated with imatinib for 5 days (**Figure 5**; p = 0.0008) and P-selectin blocking antibody for 3 days (**Figure 5**; p < 0.0001).

# DISCUSSION

Our data demonstrate that mast cells contribute to upregulation of endothelial P-selectin expression *via* an ER stress mediated mechanism, which leads to increased endothelial permeability and impairment of the BBB in sickle mice. For the first time we show the novel role of mast cells on endothelial activation which could have implications in multiple consequences of SCD including VOC and stroke. Mast cells are constitutively activated in sickle mice (Vincent et al., 2013). Our observations therefore evince the significance and the pivotal role of mast cells in SCD pathobiology (**Figure 6**).

P-selectin is a CAM known to initiate and mediate the binding of leukocytes to anchor and roll on vessel walls (Mcever et al., 1995). In sickle mice, EC surface P-selectin facilitates the adhesion of sickle RBCs to the vessel wall leading to vascular occlusion (Embury et al., 2004). Absence and/or blockade of cell surface P-selectin leads to reduced adhesion of leukocytes



FIGURE 6 | Mast cell activation in sickle cell disease (SCD) leads to ER stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and associated oxidative stress, leading to increased endothelial permeability. Mediators released from activated mast cells in sickle mice stimulate ER stress in endothelium. These factors may directly act on the ER or increase ROS production and mitochondrial dysfunction leading to the activation of chaperone proteins involved in ER homeostasis maintenance, resulting in the unfolded protein response and accumulation of unfolded proteins in the ER. This further augments mitochondrial dysfunction and subsequent oxidative stress, resulting in inflammation, leading to a vicious cycle of inflammation, oxidative stress and mast cell activation. Prolonged ER stress may result in apoptosis. ATF6, activating transcription factor 6; CHOP, C/EBP homologous protein; GRP-78, glucose regulated protein-78; IRE1, inositol-requiring enzyme 1; mBECs, mouse brain microvascular endothelial cells; NO, nitric oxide; NOX, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase: P-eIF2a: phosphorylated eukaryotic initiation factor 2α; PERK, protein kinase-R-like ER kinase; ROS, reactive oxygen species; sXBP1, spliced X-box binding protein.

and sickle RBCs to the endothelium, and has an inhibitory effect on vaso-occlusion in sickle mice (Turhan et al., 2002; Embury et al., 2004; Gutsaeva et al., 2011). We noted that ECs express and maintain strong P-selectin expression on the cell surface of mBECs when incubated with MCCM from mast cells derived from sickle mice but not from MCCM from control mice mast cells. Histamine, which is a prominent mast-cell derived mediator, has been demonstrated to stimulate P-selectin expression on the endothelium, which is accompanied by increased adhesion of neutrophils to vessel walls (Sun et al., 2012). Histamine has also been shown to rapidly disrupt cell-cell and cell-extracellular matrix interaction, which affects the stability of endothelium-basal connective tissue (Moy et al., 2000). Plasma, skin releasate, and mast cell histamine levels were significantly higher in sickle mice when compared to control mice. Therefore, in SCD, histamine and other mast cell-derived mediators lead to functional overexpression of P-selectin on ECs, exaggerating the immune response, leading to inflammation and a more adherent lumen. ROS have been shown to upregulate adhesion molecules by increasing the transport of molecules such as P-selectin to the cell surface and the circulation (Lum and Roebuck, 2001). High mobility group 1B protein (HMGB1) has also been implicated in increasing the expression of P-selectin via ER stress (Luo et al., 2013). HMGB1 has been known to activate Toll-like receptor 4, inducing organ injury and pain in SCD (Xu et al., 2014). Mast cells have been shown to release HMGB1 after injury (Cai et al., 2011). Therefore, mast cells and their mediators increase production of P-selectins by increasing ROS and provoking ER stress as observed in this study. Thus, mast cells play a cardinal role in functional endothelial P-selectin expression in SCD. Mast cells release several mediators including cytokines, proteases, and neuropeptides such as SP upon activation (Vincent et al., 2013; Aich et al., 2015). Thus, it may be challenging to target each mediator individually, and an upstream approach inhibiting the activity of mast cells may be more appropriate. Inhibitors of mast cells as well as P-selectin have been tested clinically leading to reduced VOC in SCD without known adverse events (Kutlar et al., 2012; Kutlar and Embury, 2014; Ataga et al., 2017).

ER stress contributes to both vascular and neural pathobiology of SCD. ER stress is activated by p38 mitogenactivated protein kinases (p38MAPK) and may even suppress endothelial nitric oxide synthase, thus depleting nitric oxide (Galan et al., 2014; Santos et al., 2014). Reduced nitric oxide bioavailability is a critical feature of sickle pathobiology (Rees and Gibson, 2012). Our laboratory observed increased p38MAPK phosphorylation in the whole tissue lysates of spinal cords of HbSS-BERK mice correlative to central sensitization of spinal dorsal horn neurons, which contribute to chronic pain (Cataldo et al., 2015). Elegant studies on diabetic mice show the contribution of ER stress to neuropathic pain and inhibition with soluble epoxide hydrolase inhibitors (Inceoglu et al., 2015). ER stress contributes to hypoxia/reperfusioninduced brain damage in growing rats, which is ameliorated by Salubrinal (Cai et al., 2014). Mast cell-mediated ER stress leading to endothelial dysfunction, observed herein, may also

underlie many vascular dysfunction associated complications including acute lung injury and stroke-critical co-morbidities in SCD. Mast cell activation has been shown to contribute to stroke (Arac et al., 2014) and acute lung injury in preclinical studies (Zhao et al., 2014). Silent infarcts and overt strokes are common in children with SCD (Gold et al., 2008; Rees et al., 2010). However, the mechanistic understanding of cerebral vascular dysfunction in SCD remains an enigma (Hillery and Panepinto, 2004). Our results demonstrate a fundamental mechanism of mast cell-orchestrated endothelial dysfunction via ER stress. Therefore, ER stress may represent a therapeutic target to ameliorate vascular dysfunction using novel pharmacologics such as Salubrinal, in addition to mast cell stabilization. Salubrinal may also have beneficial off-target effects because it has been shown to promote bone healing in rat femurs (Zhang P. et al., 2012) and increase fetal hemoglobin expression in primary human erythroid cells (Hahn and Lowrey, 2014).

Both internal and external ROS contribute to loss of EC—cell interactions (van Wetering et al., 2002), altered BBB integrity and disruption of tight junctions (Schreibelt et al., 2007; Lehner et al., 2011). In sickle mice, ROS is increased in the spinal cords and underlies the ischemia reperfusion injury (Osarogiagbon et al., 2000; Valverde et al., 2016). BBB permeability is also compromised in sickle mice (Manci et al., 2006). Our observation of increased ROS in ECs treated with sickle mast cell secretagogue and mast cell activation in sickle mice (Vincent et al., 2013) suggests that mast cell activation could compromise the BBB and allow further entry of inflammatory substances into the brain. Our findings of increased BBB permeability and mast cell-induced ER stress provide another perspective of SCD pathobiology and therapy.

In conclusion, these observations on the involvement of mast cell-induced endothelial ER stress have wide-ranging translational potential in developing therapies to co-treat organ

### REFERENCES

- Aich, A., Afrin, L. B., and Gupta, K. (2015). Mast cell-mediated mechanisms of nociception. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 16, 29069–29092. doi: 10.3390/ijms161226151
- Arac, A., Grimbaldeston, M. A., Nepomuceno, A. R., Olayiwola, O., Pereira, M. P., Nishiyama, Y., et al. (2014). Evidence that meningeal mast cells can worsen stroke pathology in mice. *Am. J. Pathol.* 184, 2493–2504. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath. 2014.06.003
- Ataga, K. I., Kutlar, A., Kanter, J., Liles, D., Cancado, R., Friedrisch, J., et al. (2017). Crizanlizumab for the prevention of pain crises in sickle cell disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 376, 429–439. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1611770
- Boyce, M., Bryant, K. F., Jousse, C., Long, K., Harding, H. P., Scheuner, D., et al. (2005). A selective inhibitor of eIF2α dephosphorylation protects cells from ER stress. *Science* 307, 935–939. doi: 10.1126/science.1101902
- Brandow, A. M., Wandersee, N. J., Dasgupta, M., Hoffmann, R. G., Hillery, C. A., Stucky, C. L., et al. (2016). Substance P is increased in patients with sickle cell disease and associated with haemolysis and hydroxycarbamide use. *Br. J. Haematol.* 175, 237–245. doi: 10.1111/bjh.14300
- Cai, C., Cao, Z., Loughran, P. A., Kim, S., Darwiche, S., Korff, S., et al. (2011). Mast cells play a critical role in the systemic inflammatory response and end-organ injury resulting from trauma. J. Am. Coll. Surg. 213, 604–615. doi: 10.1016/j. jamcollsurg.2011.08.009
- Cai, X. H., Li, X. C., Jin, S. W., Liang, D. S., Wen, Z. W., Cao, H. C., et al. (2014). Endoplasmic reticulum stress plays critical role in brain damage after chronic

damage and pain in SCD and cerebrovascular dysfunction in other conditions.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

HT performed experiments and wrote the manuscript. AM performed experiments, analyzed and interpreted the data, and prepared figures. VS wrote the manuscript, analyzed and interpreted the data, and prepared figures. KL, AN, JN, YL and JL performed experiments. MG developed experimental plan, analyzed the data and edited the manuscript. AG advised on ER stress, interpreted the data and edited the manuscript. KG conceived, designed, planned, and supervised the entire study, analyzed and interpreted data, and edited the manuscript.

### **FUNDING**

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health (NIH) RO1 Grants HL68802 and 103773 and UO1 HL117664 and Institute for Engineering in Medicine grants to KG. The laser scanning confocal microscopy was performed using the equipment maintained by the University Imaging Center at the University of Minnesota. Transmission electron microscopy was carried out in the Characterization Facility, University of Minnesota, which receives partial support from NSF through the MRSEC program. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Ritu Jha and Susan Thompson for breeding, genotyping, and phenotyping mice, and Thu Duong for assistance in mitochondrial potential assay, and Barb Benson for editorial assistance.

intermittent hypoxia in growing rats. *Exp. Neurol.* 257, 148–156. doi: 10.1016/j. expneurol.2014.04.029

- Cain, D. M., Vang, D., Simone, D. A., Hebbel, R. P., and Gupta, K. (2012). Mouse models for studying pain in sickle disease: effects of strain, age and acuteness. *Br. J. Haematol.* 156, 535–544. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2011.08977.x
- Campbell, C. M., Carroll, C. P., Kiley, K., Han, D., Haywood, C. Jr., Lanzkron, S., et al. (2016). Quantitative sensory testing and pain-evoked cytokine reactivity: comparison of patients with sickle cell disease to healthy matched controls. *Pain* 157, 949–956. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.0000000000000473
- Cataldo, G., Rajput, S., Gupta, K., and Simone, D. A. (2015). Sensitization of nociceptive spinal neurons contributes to pain in a transgenic model of sickle cell disease. *Pain* 156, 722–730. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000000104
- Chen, C., Farooqui, M., and Gupta, K. (2006). Morphine stimulates vascular endothelial growth factor-like signaling in mouse retinal endothelial cells. *Curr. Neurovasc. Res.* 3, 171–180. doi: 10.2174/156720206778018767
- Dou, G., Sreekumar, P. G., Spee, C., He, S., Ryan, S. J., Kannan, R., et al. (2012). Deficiency of alphaB crystallin augments ER stress-induced apoptosis by enhancing mitochondrial dysfunction. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 53, 1111–1122. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2012.06.042
- Douglas, S. D. (2016). Substance P and sickle cell disease-a marker for pain and novel therapeutic approaches. Br. J. Haematol. 175, 187–188. doi: 10.1111/bjh. 14299
- Egawa, G., Nakamizo, S., Natsuaki, Y., Doi, H., Miyachi, Y., and Kabashima, K. (2013). Intravital analysis of vascular permeability in

mice using two-photon microscopy. Sci. Rep. 3:1932. doi: 10.1038/srep 01932

- Embury, S. H., Matsui, N. M., Ramanujam, S., Mayadas, T. N., Noguchi, C. T., Diwan, B. A., et al. (2004). The contribution of endothelial cell P-selectin to the microvascular flow of mouse sickle erythrocytes *in vivo. Blood* 104, 3378–3385. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-02-0713
- Frenette, P. S., and Atweh, G. F. (2007). Sickle cell disease: old discoveries, new concepts and future promise. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 850–858. doi: 10.1172/jci 30920
- Friedl, J., Puhlmann, M., Bartlett, D. L., Libutti, S. K., Turner, E. N., Gnant, M. F. X., et al. (2002). Induction of permeability across endothelial cell monolayers by tumor necrosis factor (TNF) occurs via a tissue factor-dependent mechanism: relationship between the procoagulant and permeability effects of TNF. Blood 100, 1334–1339.
- Galan, M., Kassan, M., Kadowitz, P. J., Trebak, M., Belmadani, S., and Matrougui, K. (2014). Mechanism of endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced vascular endothelial dysfunction. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1843, 1063–1075. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2014.02.009
- Garcia, A. N., Vogel, S. M., Komarova, Y. A., and Malik, A. B. (2011). Permeability of endothelial barrier: cell culture and *in vivo* models. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 763, 333–354. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-191-8\_23
- Gold, J. I., Johnson, C. B., Treadwell, M. J., Hans, N., and Vichinsky, E. (2008). Detection and assessment of stroke in patients with sickle cell disease: neuropsychological functioning and magnetic resonance imaging. *Pediatr. Hematol. Oncol.* 25, 409–421. doi: 10.1080/08880010802107497
- Gupta, K., and Harvima, I. T. (2018). Mast cell-neural interactions contribute to pain and itch. *Immunol. Rev.* 282, 168–187. doi: 10.1111/imr.12622
- Gupta, K., Ramakrishnan, S., Browne, P. V., Solovey, A., and Hebbel, R. P. (1997). A novel technique for culture of human dermal microvascular endothelial cells under either serum-free or serum-supplemented conditions: isolation by panning and stimulation with vascular endothelial growth factor. *Exp. Cell Res.* 230, 244–251. doi: 10.1006/excr.1996.3421
- Gutsaeva, D. R., Parkerson, J. B., Yerigenahally, S. D., Kurz, J. C., Schaub, R. G., Ikuta, T., et al. (2011). Inhibition of cell adhesion by anti-P-selectin aptamer: a new potential therapeutic agent for sickle cell disease. *Blood* 117, 727–735. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-05-285718
- Hahn, C. K., and Lowrey, C. H. (2014). Induction of fetal hemoglobin through enhanced translation efficiency of gamma-globin mRNA. *Blood* 124, 2730–2734. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-03-564302
- Hebbel, R. P., Osarogiagbon, R., and Kaul, D. (2004). The endothelial biology of sickle cell disease: Inflammation and a chronic vasculopathy. *Microcirculation* 11, 129–151. doi: 10.1080/mic.11.2.129.151
- Hillery, C. A., and Panepinto, J. A. (2004). Pathophysiology of stroke in sickle cell disease. *Microcirculation* 11, 195–208. doi: 10.1080/107396804902 78600
- Hiramatsu, N., Chiang, W. C., Kurt, T. D., Sigurdson, C. J., and Lin, J. H. (2015). Multiple mechanisms of unfolded protein response-induced cell death. Am. J. Pathol. 185, 1800–1808. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.03.009
- Inceoglu, B., Bettaieb, A., Trindade Da Silva, C. A., Lee, K. S. S., Haj, F. G., and Hammock, B. D. (2015). Endoplasmic reticulum stress in the peripheral nervous system is a significant driver of neuropathic pain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U S A 112, 9082–9087. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1510137112
- Ingram, V. M. (1956). A specific chemical difference between the globins of normal human and sickle-cell anaemia haemoglobin. *Nature* 178, 792–794. doi: 10.1038/178792a0
- Jones, D. A., Abbassi, O., Mcintire, L. V., Mcever, R. P., and Smith, C. W. (1993). P-selectin mediates neutrophil rolling on histamine-stimulated endothelial cells. *Biophys. J.* 65, 1560–1569. doi: 10.1016/s0006-3495(93)81195-0
- Jordan, L. C., and Debaun, M. R. (2018). Cerebral hemodynamic assessment and neuroimaging across the lifespan in sickle cell disease. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 38, 1438–1448. doi: 10.1177/0271678x17701763
- Kimura, T., and Murakami, F. (2014). Evidence that dendritic mitochondria negatively regulate dendritic branching in pyramidal neurons in the neocortex. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 6938–6951. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5095-13.2014
- Kohli, D. R., Li, Y., Khasabov, S. G., Gupta, P., Kehl, L. J., Ericson, M. E., et al. (2010). Pain-related behaviors and neurochemical alterations in mice expressing sickle hemoglobin: modulation by cannabinoids. *Blood* 116, 456–465. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-260372

- Kubes, P., and Granger, D. N. (1996). Leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions evoked by mast cells. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 32, 699–708. doi: 10.1016/s0008-6363(96)00118-6
- Kumar, P., Shen, Q., Pivetti, C. D., Lee, E. S., Wu, M. H., and Yuan, S. Y. (2009). Molecular mechanisms of endothelial hyperpermeability: implications in inflammation. *Expert Rev. Mol. Med.* 11:e19. doi: 10.1017/S1462399409001112
- Kutlar, A., and Embury, S. H. (2014). Cellular adhesion and the endothelium: Pselectin. *Hematol. Oncol. Clin. North Am.* 28, 323–339. doi: 10.1016/j.hoc.2013. 11.007
- Kutlar, A., Ataga, K. I., Mcmahon, L., Howard, J., Galacteros, F., Hagar, W., et al. (2012). A potent oral P-selectin blocking agent improves microcirculatory blood flow and a marker of endothelial cell injury in patients with sickle cell disease. Am. J. Hematol. 87, 536–539. doi: 10.1002/ajh.23147
- Lehner, C., Gehwolf, R., Tempfer, H., Krizbai, I., Hennig, B., Bauer, H. C., et al. (2011). Oxidative stress and blood-brain barrier dysfunction under particular consideration of matrix metalloproteinases. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 15, 1305–1323. doi: 10.1089/ars.2011.3923
- Lenna, S., Han, R., and Trojanowska, M. (2014). Endoplasmic reticulum stress and endothelial dysfunction. *IUBMB Life* 66, 530–537. doi: 10.1002/iub.1292
- Lewerenz, J., and Maher, P. (2009). Basal levels of eIF2α phosphorylation determine cellular antioxidant status by regulating ATF4 and xCT expression. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 1106–1115. doi: 10.1074/JBC.M807325200
- Lum, H., and Roebuck, K. A. (2001). Oxidant stress and endothelial cell dysfunction. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 280, C719–C741. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell. 2001.280.4.c719
- Luo, Y., Li, S. J., Yang, J., Qiu, Y. Z., and Chen, F. P. (2013). HMGB1 induces an inflammatory response in endothelial cells via the RAGE-dependent endoplasmic reticulum stress pathway. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 438, 732–738. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.07.098
- Manci, E. A., Hillery, C. A., Bodian, C. A., Zhang, Z. G., Lutty, G. A., and Coller, B. S. (2006). Pathology of Berkeley sickle cell mice: similarities and differences with human sickle cell disease. *Blood* 107, 1651–1658. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-07-2839
- Manwani, D., and Frenette, P. (2013). Vaso-occlusion in sickle cell disease: pathophysiology and novel targeted therapies. *Blood* 122, 3892–3898. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-05-498311
- Matsui, N. M., Borsig, L., Rosen, S. D., Yaghmai, M., Varki, A., and Embury, S. H. (2001). P-selectin mediates the adhesion of sickle erythrocytes to the endothelium. *Blood* 98, 1955–1962. doi: 10.1182/blood.v98.6.1955
- Mayadas, T. N., Johnson, R. C., Rayburn, H., Hynes, R. O., and Wagner, D. D. (1993). Leukocyte rolling and extravasation are severely compromised in P selectin-deficient mice. *Cell* 74, 541–554. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(93)80055-j
- Mcever, R. P., Moore, K. L., and Cummings, R. D. (1995). Leukocyte trafficking mediated by selectin-carbohydrate interactions. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 11025–11028. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.19.11025
- Metcalfe, D.D. (2001). Isolation of tissue mast cells. *Curr. Protoc. Immunol.* Chapter 7:Unit 7.25. doi: 10.1002/0471142735.im0725s90
- Michaels, L. A., Ohene-Frempong, K., Zhao, H., and Douglas, S. D. (1998). Serum levels of substance P are elevated in patients with sickle cell disease and increase further during vaso-occlusive crisis. *Blood* 92, 3148–3151.
- Moy, A. B., Winter, M., Kamath, A., Blackwell, K., Reyes, G., Giaever, I., et al. (2000). Histamine alters endothelial barrier function at cell-cell and cell-matrix sites. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung. Cell Mol. Physiol.* 278, L888–L898. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.2000.278.5.1888
- Oakes, S. A., and Papa, F. R. (2015). The role of endoplasmic reticulum stress in human pathology. Annu. Rev. Pathol. 10, 173–194. doi: 10.1146/annurevpathol-012513-104649
- Osarogiagbon, U. R., Choong, S., Belcher, J. D., Vercellotti, G. M., Paller, M. S., and Hebbel, R. P. (2000). Reperfusion injury pathophysiology in sickle transgenic mice. *Blood* 96, 314–320.
- Paszty, C., Brion, C. M., Manci, E., Witkowska, H. E., Stevens, M. E., Mohandas, N., et al. (1997). Transgenic knockout mice with exclusively human sickle hemoglobin and sickle cell disease. *Science* 278, 876–878. doi: 10.1126/science.278.5339.876
- Platt, O. S., Brambilla, D. J., Rosse, W. F., Milner, P. F., Castro, O., Steinberg, M. H., et al. (1994). Mortality in sickle cell disease. Life expectancy and risk factors for early death. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 330, 1639–1644. doi: 10.1056/nejm199406093302303

- Raja, R., Rosenberg, G. A., and Caprihan, A. (2018). MRI measurements of Blood-Brain Barrier function in dementia: A review of recent studies. *Neuropharmacology* 134, 259–271. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.10.034
- Rees, D. C., and Gibson, J. S. (2012). Biomarkers in sickle cell disease. Br. J. Haematol. 156, 433-445. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2011.08961.x
- Rees, D. C., Williams, T. N., and Gladwin, M. T. (2010). Sickle-cell disease. *Lancet* 376, 2018–2031. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61029-X
- Rosa, A. C., and Fantozzi, R. (2013). The role of histamine in neurogenic inflammation. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 170, 38–45. doi: 10.1111/bph.12266
- Sagi, V., Song-Naba, W. L., Benson, B. A., Joshi, S. S., and Gupta, K. (2018). Mouse models of pain in sickle cell dsease. *Curr. Protoc. Neurosci.* 85:e54. doi: 10.1002/cpns.54
- Santos, C. X., Nabeebaccus, A. A., Shah, A. M., Camargo, L. L., Filho, S. V., and Lopes, L. R. (2014). Endoplasmic reticulum stress and Nox-mediated reactive oxygen species signaling in the peripheral vasculature: potential role in hypertension. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 20, 121–134. doi: 10.1089/ars.2013.5262
- Scheuner, D., and Kaufman, R. J. (2008). The unfolded protein response: a pathway that links insulin demand with beta-cell failure and diabetes. *Endocr. Rev.* 29, 317–333. doi: 10.1210/er.2007-0039
- Schreibelt, G., Kooij, G., Reijerkerk, A., Van Doorn, R., Gringhuis, S. I., Van Der Pol, S., et al. (2007). Reactive oxygen species alter brain endothelial tight junction dynamics via RhoA, PI3 kinase and PKB signaling. FASEB J. 21, 3666–3676. doi: 10.1096/fj.07-8329com
- Solovey, A., Somani, A., Belcher, J. D., Milbauer, L., Vincent, L., Pawlinski, R., et al. (2017). A monocyte-TNF-endothelial activation axis in sickle transgenic mice: therapeutic benefit from TNF blockade. *Am. J. Hematol.* 92, 1119–1130. doi: 10.1002/ajh.24856
- Sun, W. Y., Abeynaike, L. D., Escarbe, S., Smith, C. D., Pitson, S. M., Hickey, M. J., et al. (2012). Rapid histamine-induced neutrophil recruitment is sphingosine kinase-1 dependent. *Am. J. Pathol.* 180, 1740–1750. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011. 12.024
- Taracanova, A., Alevizos, M., Karagkouni, A., Weng, Z., Norwitz, E., Conti, P., et al. (2017). SP and IL-33 together markedly enhance TNF synthesis and secretion from human mast cells mediated by the interaction of their receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 114, E4002–E4009. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1524845114
- Taracanova, A., Tsilioni, I., Conti, P., Norwitz, E. R., Leeman, S. E., and Theoharides, T. C. (2018). Substance P and IL-33 administered together stimulate a marked secretion of IL-1beta from human mast cells, inhibited by methoxyluteolin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 115, E9381–E9390. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1810133115
- Torres, R., De Castellarnau, C., Ferrer, L. L., Puigdemont, A., Santamaria, L. F., and De Mora, F. (2002). Mast cells induce upregulation of P-selectin and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 on carotid endothelial cells in a new *in vitro* model of mast cell to endothelial cell communication. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 80, 170–177. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1711.2002.01069.x
- Tran, H., Gupta, M., and Gupta, K. (2017). Targeting novel mechanisms of pain in sickle cell disease. *Blood* 130, 2377–2385. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-05-782003
- Tsaytler, P., Harding, H. P., Ron, D., and Bertolotti, A. (2011). Selective inhibition of a regulatory subunit of protein phosphatase 1 restores proteostasis. *Science* 332, 91–94. doi: 10.1126/science.1201396
- Turhan, A., Weiss, L. A., Mohandas, N., Coller, B. S., and Frenette, P. S. (2002). Primary role for adherent leukocytes in sickle cell vascular occlusion: a new paradigm. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 99, 3047–3051. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 052522799
- Valverde, Y., Benson, B., Gupta, M., and Gupta, K. (2016). Spinal glial activation and oxidative stress are alleviated by treatment with curcumin or coenzyme Q in sickle mice. *Haematologica* 100, e44–e47. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2015. 137489

- van Wetering, S., Van Buul, J. D., Quik, S., Mul, F. P., Anthony, E. C., Ten Klooster, J. P., et al. (2002). Reactive oxygen species mediate Rac-induced loss of cell-cell adhesion in primary human endothelial cells. *J. Cell Sci.* 115, 1837–1846.
- Vincent, L., Vang, D., Nguyen, J., Gupta, M., Luk, K., Ericson, M. E., et al. (2013). Mast cell activation contributes to sickle cell pathobiology and pain in mice. *Blood* 122, 1853–1862. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-04-4 98105
- Wang, Y., Lei, J., Gupta, M., Peng, F., Lam, S., Jha, R., et al. (2016). Electroacupuncture in conscious free-moving mice reduces pain by ameliorating peripheral and central nociceptive mechanisms. *Sci. Rep.* 6:34493. doi: 10.1038/srep34493
- Wu, L. L., Russell, D. L., Norman, R. J., and Robker, R. L. (2012). Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress in cumulus-oocyte complexes impairs pentraxin-3 secretion, mitochondrial membrane potential (DeltaPsi m) and embryo development. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 26, 562–573. doi: 10.1210/me. 2011-1362
- Xu, H., Wandersee, N. J., Guo, Y., Jones, D. W., Holzhauer, S. L., Hanson, M. S., et al. (2014). Sickle cell disease increases high mobility group box 1: a novel mechanism of inflammation. *Blood* 124, 3978–3981. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-04-560813
- Ye, B. H., Lee, S. J., Choi, Y. W., Park, S. Y., and Kim, C. D. (2015). Preventive effect of gomisin J from Schisandra chinensis on angiotensin II-induced hypertension via an increased nitric oxide bioavailability. *Hypertens. Res.* 38, 169–177. doi: 10.1038/hr.2014.162
- Zhang, J. H., Badaut, J., Tang, J., Obenaus, A., Hartman, R., and Pearce, W. J. (2012). The vascular neural network—a new paradigm in stroke pathophysiology. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 8, 711–716. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol. 2012.210
- Zhang, P., Hamamura, K., Jiang, C., Zhao, L., and Yokota, H. (2012). Salubrinal promotes healing of surgical wounds in rat femurs. *J. Bone Miner. Metab.* 30, 568–579. doi: 10.1007/s00774-012-0359-z
- Zhao, W., Gan, X., Su, G., Wanling, G., Li, S., Hei, Z., et al. (2014). The interaction between oxidative stress and mast cell activation plays a role in acute lung injuries induced by intestinal ischemia-reperfusion. *J. Surg. Res.* 187, 542–552. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2013.10.033
- Zhao, Z., Nelson, A. R., Betsholtz, C., and Zlokovic, B. V. (2015). Establishment and dysfunction of the blood-brain barrier. *Cell* 163, 1064–1078. doi: 10.1016/j. cell.2015.10.067
- Zhu, S., Wang, Y., Jin, J., Guan, C., Li, M., Xi, C., et al. (2012). Endoplasmic reticulum stress mediates aristolochic acid I-induced apoptosis in human renal proximal tubular epithelial cells. *Toxicol. In Vitro* 26, 663–671. doi: 10.1016/j. tiv.2012.03.005

**Conflict of Interest Statement**: KG is a Consultant for Tau Tona Group, Fera, Glycomimetics and Novartis but it does not conflict with the present work.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Tran, Mittal, Sagi, Luk, Nguyen, Gupta, Nguyen, Lamarre, Lei, Guedes and Gupta. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Mast Cells in Stress, Pain, Blood-Brain Barrier, Neuroinflammation and Alzheimer's Disease

Duraisamy Kempuraj<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Shireen Mentor<sup>2</sup>, Ramasamy Thangavel<sup>1,2</sup>, Mohammad E. Ahmed<sup>1,2</sup>, Govindhasamy Pushpavathi Selvakumar<sup>1,2</sup>, Sudhanshu P. Raikwar<sup>1,2</sup>, Iuliia Dubova<sup>1,2</sup>, Smita Zaheer<sup>2</sup>, Shankar S. Iyer<sup>1,2</sup> and Asgar Zaheer<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Harry S. Truman Memorial Veterans' Hospital (VA), U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, Columbia, MO, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Neurology and the Center for Translational Neuroscience, School of Medicine, University of Missouri, Columbia, MO, United States

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Kalpna Gupta, University of Minnesota, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Pio Conti, Università degli Studi G. d'Annunzio Chieti e Pescara, Italy Mihir Gupta, University of California, San Diego, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Duraisamy Kempuraj duraisamyk@health.missouri.edu Orcid.org/0000-0003-1148-8681 Asgar Zaheer Zaheera@health.missouri.edu Orcid.org/0000-0003-3344-0371

Received: 14 January 2019 Accepted: 04 February 2019 Published: 19 February 2019

#### Citation:

Kempuraj D, Mentor S, Thangavel R, Ahmed ME, Selvakumar GP, Raikwar SP, Dubova I, Zaheer S, Iyer SS and Zaheer A (2019) Mast Cells in Stress, Pain, Blood-Brain Barrier, Neuroinflammation and Alzheimer's Disease. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:54. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00054 Mast cell activation plays an important role in stress-mediated disease pathogenesis. Chronic stress cause or exacerbate aging and age-dependent neurodegenerative diseases. The severity of inflammatory diseases is worsened by the stress. Mast cell activation-dependent inflammatory mediators augment stress associated pain and neuroinflammation. Stress is the second most common trigger of headache due to mast cell activation. Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive irreversible neurodegenerative disease that affects more women than men and woman's increased susceptibility to chronic stress could increase the risk for AD. Modern life-related stress, social stress, isolation stress, restraint stress, early life stress are associated with an increased level of neurotoxic beta amyloid (AB) peptide. Stress increases cognitive dysfunction, generates amyloid precursor protein (APP), hyperphosphorylated tau, neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs), and amyloid plaques (APs) in the brain. Stress-induced Aß persists for years and generates APs even several years after the stress exposure. Stress activates hypothalamic-pituitary adrenal (HPA) axis and releases corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) from hypothalamus and in peripheral system, which increases the formation of  $A_{\beta}$ , tau hyperphosphorylation, and blood-brain barrier (BBB) disruption in the brain. Mast cells are implicated in nociception and pain. Mast cells are the source and target of CRH and other neuropeptides that mediate neuroinflammation. Microglia express receptor for CRH that mediate neurodegeneration in AD. However, the exact mechanisms of how stress-mediated mast cell activation contribute to the pathogenesis of AD remains elusive. This mini-review highlights the possible role of stress and mast cell activation in neuroinflammation, BBB, and tight junction disruption and AD pathogenesis.

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease, amyloid plaques, chronic stress, corticotropin releasing hormone, mast cells, neurodegenerative disease, neuroinflammation

# INTRODUCTION

Stress is our body's normal physiological response to any adverse changes in our environment to deal and overcome these challenges (Bisht et al., 2018). Chronic diseases can disrupt the quality of normal life and day-to-day life activities that can lead to psychological stress. Stress induces the onset and progression of pain, cognitive disorder, and psychiatric disorders. Stress induces disease(s) and the disease (s) in turn can exacerbate the stress severity in a vicious cycle (Justice, 2018). Chronic stress due to continuous wars, military service, chronic diseases, dementia, neurotrauma, poor sleep habits, immobilization, isolation, noise, high workload, unstable job, annoying work environment, difficult spouse; acute stress due to chronic diseases, modern life conditions, immobilization, isolation, noise, physical, visual, emotional, social, environmental, temperatures (hot and cold), odors, certain foods, new challenges, competitions, presentation at work, and intermittent fasting can induce several unwanted changes in the central nervous system (CNS). These changes include cognitive disorders, neuroinflammation, altered secretion of growth factors, high proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines secretion, increased oxidative stress, blood-brain barrier (BBB) disruption, ultrastructural and molecular changes in tight junctions, neurovascular unit (NVU), gliovascular unit (GVU), changes in the brain volume, and neuroinflammation (Kempuraj et al., 2017a; Lurie, 2018). Stress can also induce the changes in the peripheral system, the CNS immune components, and affect immune cells such as mast cells.

Blood-brain barrier disruption is associated with the entry of proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, immune and inflammatory cells in to the brain, neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration (Patel and Frey, 2015; Kempuraj et al., 2017b). Stress and immune system interact bidirectionally and enhance stress response even in the CNS (Holzer et al., 2017). Mast cell activation induces glial cells activation, neuroinflammation, stress response, and pain signals (Theoharides et al., 2012; Kempuraj et al., 2017b; Skaper, 2017; Skaper et al., 2017; Gupta and Harvima, 2018; Theoharides and Kavalioti, 2018). Stress conditions inhibit immune response, but can worsen inflammatory conditions including neuroinflammation (Esposito et al., 2001a; Karagkouni et al., 2013). In fact, most of the CNS disorders show disruption of BBB and tight junction proteins. Mast cells and neurons are closely associated both anatomically and functionally throughout the body including the CNS (Forsythe, 2019). The number, distribution and the activation status of mast cells in the brain is not constant, but varies due to environment, behavioral changes and physiological state (Forsythe, 2019). Neuroinflammation induces NVU and GVU dysfunctions in many neuroinflammatory diseases (Li et al., 2017). Increased levels of inflammatory cytokines, chemokines and microglial activation contribute to the activation of pain mechanisms (Lurie, 2018). The initial stress and pain responses protect the body, however, chronic stress and chronic pain can induce many health problems. In this mini-review, we highlight the recent knowledge on the possible role of stress,

and mast cell activation in neuroinflammation, BBB and tight junction disruption, onset, progression and severity of Alzheimer's disease (AD).

# MAST CELLS, PAIN, AND NEUROINFLAMMATION

Mast cells are implicated in neuroprotection, pain, neuroinflammation and neurodegenerative diseases by releasing several preformed and preactivated inflammatory mediators, as well as release of newly synthesized cytokines, chemokines, and neurotoxic molecules (Gordon and Galli, 1990; Kempuraj et al., 2017b; Conti et al., 2018; Kempuraj et al., 2018a,b,c; Ocak et al., 2018; Skaper et al., 2018). IL-1 family cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-33 can activate mast cells and are implicated in inflammation including neuroinflammation but IL-37 is anti-inflammatory cytokine that can be used to treat inflammatory conditions (Tettamanti et al., 2018; Varvara et al., 2018). Neuroinflammation further leads to the release of additional inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, prostaglandins, activation of nociceptors, acute and chronic pain, headache, BBB dysfunction, neuronal excitability, and glial and neuronal damage in the CNS (Skaper et al., 2012, 2017; Skaper, 2016). Patients with neurodegenerative diseases such as AD, and Parkinson's disease (PD), Huntington's disease (HD) show painful symptoms, but the origin of pain is variable in these patients (de Tommaso et al., 2017; Matsuda et al., 2018).

About 38-75% of AD patients and 40-86% of PD patients also show painful symptoms in addition to other clinical disorders (de Tommaso et al., 2016). The International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) describe, "pain is an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage or described in terms of such damage" (de Tommaso et al., 2016). The origin of pain in neurodegenerative diseases is multifactorial involving either nociceptive or neuropathic and sometimes both. The prevalence of dementia and pain increases with aging (Defrin et al., 2015). However, severe dementia and AD dementia patients are unable to report the full extent and the severity of pain, and therefore pain symptoms are not properly treated in these patients. About 50% of community dwelling patients and about 45-83% of dementia patients living in nursing homes suffer from pain due to various causes including infections. It is not clear if the drugs such as L-dopa or riluzole used in the patients are effective in significant pain suppression (de Tommaso et al., 2017). Therefore, pain management needs careful evaluation in these neurodegenerative patients (de Tommaso et al., 2017).

Mast cells may either directly influence nociceptive neurons or through glial cells, based upon the location of mast cells, and pain pathways in the brain (Caraffa et al., 2018; Gupta and Harvima, 2018). Mast cell-derived TNF is known to sensitize meningeal nociceptors and induce neuroinflammation (Caraffa et al., 2018). Because of the presence of vicious positivefeedback mechanism of mast cells and glial cells activation with inflammatory mediators' release, even a small number



of mast cells can induce significant neuroinflammation in the brain. In fact, about 50% of histamine and 25% of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) are from the mast cells in the rat brain that can cause nociception and pain signals in the brain (Hendriksen et al., 2017; Gupta and Harvima, 2018). Mast cell activation leads to the release of many neuropeptides and inflammatory mediators including histamine, tryptase, and prostaglandins that can act on nociceptor on sensory neurons for the pain sensation (Schwartz, 1990; Levy et al., 2012; Aich et al., 2015; Kempuraj et al., 2017b). Neurons in turn release various neuropeptides, neuroinflammatory and analgesic mediators that can activate mast cells in a vicious cycle. This continuous process leads to an increased vascular permeability, chronic pain, itch, inflammation, and neuroinflammation (Gupta and Harvima, 2018; Figure 1). Mast cells are present at the nerve terminals in the periphery, meninges, and vasculature in the brain (Gupta and Harvima, 2018). Mast cells-associated histamine, tryptase, nerve growth factor (NGF), sphingosine-1 phosphate (S1P) are involved in the pain sensation. Mast cellreleased histamine acts on nerve endings through histamine 1 receptor (H1R), H2R, H3R, and H4R. Therefore, antihistaminergic drugs show significant reduction in the pain

sensation in the humans. Nociceptive C and A-delta nerve fibers respond to histamine in the peripheral system and in the CNS, and transmit nociceptive signals to the thalamus and then to the cortical and subcortical areas including amygdala and striatum regions. Neuronal calcitonin gene related peptide (CGRP) induces mast cells to release histamine. Mast cell proteinase tryptase acts on nerve endings through proteaseactivated receptor-2 (PAR-2) and increases the release of substance P and CGRP, which in turn induce mast cell activation and release inflammatory mediators (Figure 1). Thus, increased mast cell activation is associated with high levels of tryptase associated with severe pain (Gupta and Harvima, 2018). Increased mast cell activation also increases tryptase levels in the blood. Mast cells synthesize and secrete NGF that can act again on mast cells as well as nerve endings through its receptor tropomyosin receptor kinase A (TrkA) and further release histamine and NGF from mast cells. NGF level has been shown to be increased in various inflammatory and painful conditions that are associated with increased mast cell activation. Mast cells also release S1P that can act on mast cells through S1P1 and S1P2 receptors and induce mast cell activation and degranulation (Gupta and Harvima, 2018). These mechanisms induce pain, mast cells recruitment to the site of inflammation, and chemokine release. Both NGF and S1P receptor antagonists are shown to be useful in reducing the severity of pain in inflammatory disorders. All these findings show that mast cells are involved in pain sensation including headache associated with neuroinflammation.

# STRESS, PAIN, AND NEUROINFLAMMATION

Chronic diseases can disrupt normal life and day-today life activities that may lead to psychological stress. Psychological stress, diet, hormonal fluctuations, and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) can induce inflammation including sterile inflammation, oxidative stress, pain, and neuroinflammation (Ferdousi and Finn, 2018; Garfin et al., 2018; Ramachandran, 2018; Rometsch-Ogioun El Sount et al., 2018). Increased BBB permeability causes edema, increased S100B expression, and neuroinflammation (Koh and Lee, 2014). Activated mast cells cause both neuronal response and vascular response, as they are close to BBB structure and neurons. Stress-induced mast cell activation in dural vasculature plays an important role in the acute and chronic headaches (Kandere-Grzybowska et al., 2003; Shelukhina et al., 2017). Psychological stress conditions activate neurons to release CGRP, substance P, and neurokinins that activate mast cells and release many inflammatory mediators. These inflammatory mediators activate nociceptors and pain mechanisms (Forsythe, 2019). Recent reports indicate that stress induces inflammation in many diseases such as allergic diseases, eczema, fibromyalgia, mast cell activation syndrome, irritable bowel syndrome, chronic fatigue syndrome, and autism, and that the intranasal administration of natural flavonoid compounds such as tetramethoxyluteolin, and luteolin with Ashwaganda could inhibit inflammation, neuroinflammation and the severity of neurodegenerative diseases (Theoharides and Kavalioti, 2018; Theoharides and Tsilioni, 2018). Further, this report also suggests that interaction of mast cells and microglia in the hypothalamus could induce stress-mediated neuroinflammation (Theoharides and Kavalioti, 2018). Other natural plant products such as thymoguinone is known to improve cognitive disorders and neuroprotective effects in cerebral small vessel disease and can protect from stress effects (Guan et al., 2018).

Chronic stress and chronic pain conditions are considered as two sides of the same coin due to the similarities between them, though they are actually different (Abdallah and Geha, 2017). Hypothalamus, hippocampus, amygdala and pre-frontal cortex (limbic system) are important in learning process. These regions process incoming nociceptive pain signals as well as the signals from stress, and make signals for the specific decision making. Limbic system and hypothalamicpituitary adrenal (HPA) axis are interconnected and regulate stress response of the body. Both chronic stress and chronic pain affect these regions and impair the functions. Factors such as low income, poverty, uncompleted education and unsuccessful occupation account for the socioeconomic stressmediated adverse behavior, depression, substance use, crime, and obesity (Abdallah and Geha, 2017). Both chronic stress and pain can reduce the hippocampal volume and the stress is a risk factor for developing pain in the human (Chen et al., 2010; Mutso et al., 2012; Abdallah and Geha, 2017). Dark microglia, a newly identified microglia phenotype has been associated with stress and AD (Bisht et al., 2018). These dark microglia are structurally different from ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule 1 (Iba1) expressed microglia, and they are increased at the site of microglial alteration and activation such as around amyloid plaques (APs), dystrophic neurons, triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2), in stress, aging, and AD (Heneka et al., 2013; Zheng et al., 2017). Chronic stress can induce BBB disruption and increase neuroinflammation that can induce and worsen AD pathogenesis. BBB dysfunction causes decreased beta amyloid (AB) entry from brain to blood circulation. AD induces ultrastructural changes in the endothelial cells, tight junction proteins, pericytes and astrocytes, increase oxidative stress, neuroinflammation, and enhance AB level by increasing  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ -secretase activities. These changes continue as positive-feedback loop and cause dementia and cognitive disorders (Cai et al., 2011, 2018). Several acute stress conditions are associated with severe headache. Migraine headaches and neuroinflammation are worsened by stress conditions (Ramachandran, 2018). Migraine is also known to induce BBB permeability (Dreier et al., 2005). Previous study has shown that acute immobilization stress induces the activation of dura mast cells in C57BL/6 mice, but not in neurokinin-1 receptor deficient (NK-1R KO) mice. Moreover, stress-induced vascular permeability was reduced in mast cell deficient mice (Kandere-Grzybowska et al., 2003). These studies show that mast cells are important in stress-mediated adverse effects in the CNS.

Corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH)/corticotrophin releasing factor (CRF) is expressed in neocortex, basal ganglia, amygdala and hippocampus in the CNS (Zhang et al., 2018). CRH released from the brain and peripheral system can activate mast cells to release neuroinflammatory mediators that can induce BBB permeability, neuroglial activation and neuroinflammation (Esposito et al., 2002; Theoharides and Konstantinidou, 2007; Figure 2). Mast cells express functional CRH-receptor1 (CRH-R1) and CRH-R2 receptors for CRH (Cao et al., 2005; Papadopoulou et al., 2005; Kritas et al., 2014). Mast cells can synthesize and release CRH that can activate mast cells and glial cells to release inflammatory mediators (Kempuraj et al., 2004; Yang et al., 2005). CRH-associated CRHR activation leads to neuronal death through protein kinase A (PKA), PKC, Ca<sup>++</sup> and nuclear factor-kappa B (NFkB) pathways in the neuroglia in the CNS disorders (Chen et al., 2014; Kritas et al., 2014). Stress-mediated CRH induces spine loss and inhibit synapse formation and inhibiting the dural secretion of chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 5 (CCL5) from glia (Zhang et al., 2018). CRH can directly affect brain endothelial cells and BBB permeability


severity. APP, amyloid precursor protein; AØ, beta amyloid; BBB, blood-brain barrier; GLU1-1, glucose transporter-1; IL, interleukin; NFTs, GVU, gliovascular unit; neurofibrillary tangles; NT, neurotensin; NVU, neurovascular unit; ZO, zonula occluden; ICAM-1, intercellular adhesion molecule-1; VCAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1.

(Esposito et al., 2003). These reports indicate that stress can induce neuroinflammatory pathways.

#### STRESS ASSOCIATED CHANGES IN THE BBB, NEUROVASCULAR UNIT, GLIOVASCULAR UNIT, TIGHT JUNCTION, AND ADHERENS JUNCTION

About 600 km length of capillaries and micro vessels supply blood to the brain that consists of about 100 billion neurons. BBB is a special semi-permeable barrier that prevents, restricts and selectively allows the movement of cells and substances from the peripheral blood to the brain and brain to the blood (Stamatovic et al., 2016). BBB mainly maintains and protects healthy microenvironment in the brain, in addition to bloodcerebrospinal fluid barrier (BCSFB) and arachnoid barrier. Studies have shown the effects of acute and chronic stress on BBB dysfunctions, but the studies on specific molecular and ultrastructural changes at the tight junction proteins and adherens junction are insufficient, and thus not clearly understood (Santha et al., 2015). Oxygen, carbon dioxide, glucose, and amino acids can pass through BBB, but not any foreign objects, microorganism and toxins. BBB and tight junction proteins that exist between the vascular endothelial cells regulate the passage of large, negatively charged molecules through paracellular diffusion method, but the transcellular transportation across the endothelial cells is regulated by many transporter proteins, by endocytosis, and diffusion methods (Kealy et al., 2018).

Blood-brain barrier consists of non-fenestrated special type of endothelial cells, astrocytes, pericytes, innate immune cells, and basement membrane. BBB with neurons and astrocytes constitute NVU and GVU, respectively. Both neuroinflammation and stress conditions can affect NVU and GVU in the brain. The adjacent endothelial cells contact each other through tight junction that consists of occludin, claudin-1, claudin-3, claudin 5, claudin-12; zonula occludens (ZO) ZO-1, ZO-2, ZO-3; junctional adhesion molecule-A (JAM-A), JAM-B and JAM-C; adherens junction, and gap junction. Claudin-5 is the predominant type among claudins (Lochhead et al., 2017). BBB also includes adherens junction and gap junctions. Adherens junction consists of transmembrane proteins such as cadherens (Ve-cadherens, E-cadherens) and catenins ( $\alpha$  catenin,  $\beta$ -catenin).

Gap junction consists of many connexins such as connexin 37, connexin 40, and connexin 43. Additionally, endothelial cellselective adhesion molecule (ESAM), partitioning defective-3 (Par-3), and Par-6 are other junction proteins similar to the JAMs (Stamatovic et al., 2016; Lochhead et al., 2017). Tight junction complexes such as claudins and occludins are connected intracellularly to the actin filaments. Both tight junction and adherens junction play different roles in BBB functions. Tight junction provides barrier functions and the adherens junction connects adjacent endothelial cells, promotes maturation of these cells, and provides plasticity to the endothelial cells. The junctional proteins can move and loose network connectivity in BBB dysfunctions in neurological and neuroinflammatory disorders. However, specific changes and relocation of junctional proteins in neurological disorders including AD and in stress is not yet clearly explored.

This emerging new field of research on BBB junctional complexes could provide useful information to understand the mechanism of neurological disorders such as in stress, stroke, dementia, and AD, and to develop disease specific and efficient therapeutic options. Pericytes are considered as the gatekeepers of the BBB and play role in angiogenesis and BBB integrity (Presta et al., 2018). Tight junctions prevent the flow of solutes through paracellular route. Substances such as glucose move across BBB through transcellular route by glucose transporter-1 (GLUT-1). GLUT-1 is highly expressed in the endothelial cells in the brain (DeStefano et al., 2018). Chronic social stress can cause BBB dysfunction associated with the loss of tight junction proteins such as claudin 5, and the entry of immune and inflammatory cells and cytokines from the peripheral system to the brain parenchyma (Menard et al., 2017).

Stress primarily affects hippocampus and frontal cortex in the brain. Study has shown that restraint stress significantly decreased claudin-5 and occludin in the hippocampus and frontal cortex in rats, at different periods of stress exposure (Santha et al., 2015). The same study also reported that restraint stress increased GLUT-1 and decreased astrocytic glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) immunofluorescence in the frontal cortex. No neuronal changes were observed after immobilization stress, as determined by NeuN staining. Immobilization stress induces structural alterations of BBB endothelial cells. These endothelial cells show protrusions and detachment from the basement membrane (Santha et al., 2015). Immobilization stress increases the number of open junctions and damaged tight junctions, increases the thickness of the basal membrane, and edema of astrocytes in the hippocampus (Santha et al., 2015). Stress and aging contribute to the cognitive decline and hippocampal neurogenesis (Grilli, 2017).

Innate immune cells including granulocytes, macrophages, microglia and mast cells are important in the regulation of barrier functions of the BBB (Presta et al., 2018). Astrocytes, pericytes, and microglia release cytokines and chemokines that influence immune cells adhesion to the endothelial cells and migrate into the brain. However, the exact details of interactions and functions of these cells, and the ultrastructural and molecular mechanisms involved are not yet clearly understood. Acute stress can activate mast cells and increase the permeability of BBB (Kempuraj et al., 2017a). However, deficiency of mast cells or inhibition of mast cell activation by mast cell stabilizer disodium cromoglycate (Cromolyn) show reduced BBB permeability indicating mast cells play an important role in stress-induced BBB disruption (Esposito et al., 2001a,b). Activated mast cells release TNF-α that can downregulate the expression of the tight junction proteins such as occludin, claudin-5, ZO-1 and adherens junction VEcadherin (Rochfort and Cummins, 2015). Other studies show that inhibition of TNF-α protects *in vitro* model of BBB that consists of endothelial cells and astrocytes, indicating the role of TNF-a in the BBB and tight junction dysfunctions (Abdullah et al., 2015; Rochfort and Cummins, 2015). A recent study show decreased expression of occludin and claudin 5 in the brain endothelial cells in vitro when incubated with mast cell tryptase (Zhou et al., 2018). Stress conditions alter BBB endothelial cells, tight junction proteins as well as the astrocytic end feet in neurodegenerative diseases including PD (Dodiya et al., 2018). Stress activates HPA axis through CRH and increases the release of glucocorticoids that inhibit immune response in the body (Esposito et al., 2001a). BBB dysfunction has been reported in many psychiatric disorders (Kealy et al., 2018). Mind and body practice such as yoga, exercise, nutritional supplement from plant products can reduce the level of pro-inflammatory mediators and improve the severity of pain, depression, anxiety, and cognition (Gu et al., 2018; Lurie, 2018). Stress is known to accelerate the onset and clinical severity of the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) in mice in which mast cells are activated (Chandler et al., 2002; Brown and Hatfield, 2012). From the above reports, it is clear that stress affects BBB, NVU, and GVU in the brain.

#### STRESS AND ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

AD is an irreversible neurodegenerative disease characterized by the presence of extracellular APs, intracellular neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) and hyperphosphorylated tau, neuronal loss, loss of synapses, NVU and GVU changes, and oxidative stress in the specific brain regions. About 5.7 million AD patients are currently living in the United States. AD is the sixth leading cause of death, and AD and AD dementia will cost \$277 billion in the United States in 2018 (Alzheimer's association, Chicago, IL, United States). Several chronic inflammatory conditions are associated with AD. There is no disease specific treatment option for AD, as the disease mechanism, risk factors, and the comorbid conditions are not yet clearly understood. Neuroinflammation, activation of glia, elevation of neuroinflammatory molecules and neuronal death are implicated in Alzheimer's disease (Zaheer et al., 2008, 2011; Ahmed et al., 2017; Raikwar et al., 2018; Thangavel et al., 2018). Although the deposition of extracellular APs and intracellular formation of NFTs are traditionally considered as hallmarks of AD pathology over a long period, extensive recent findings indicate that several other factors including excessive neuroimmune and neuroinflammatory components significantly contribute to the pathogenesis of AD (Liberman et al., 2018; Saito and Saido, 2018). Therefore, the current drugs that target A $\beta$  and NFTs did not show disease modifying beneficial effects, though they

improve cognitive dysfunctions to some extent in AD patients (Fish et al., 2018). Newer approaches that target neuroimmune and neuroinflammatory components along with NVU and GVU are currently very active to treat neurodegenerative diseases including AD.

Chronic stress is one of the risk factors associated with dementia and AD pathogenesis (Rothman and Mattson, 2010; Bisht et al., 2018). It has been reported that mild and moderate stress conditions increase the level of amyloid precursor protein (APP), generation of Aß peptide, intracellular NFTs, intracellular hyperphosphorylated tau, loss of synaptic plasticity, and extracellular APs that are associated with AD pathogenesis in the animals (Rothman and Mattson, 2010; Bisht et al., 2018; Justice, 2018; Figure 2). Chronic mild stress in APP<sub>swe</sub>/PS1<sub>de9</sub> mice show depressive behaviors, reduced sociability, excessive  $A\beta$ level, glial cell activation and neuroinflammation in the brain (Gao et al., 2018). Another recent study showed that chronic noise stress altered gut microbiota, cognitive impairment, Aß deposition in young senescence-accelerated mouse prone 8 (SAMP8) (Cui et al., 2018). Stress can exacerbate cognitive dysfunction and affect the functions of the hippocampus in the brain. Increased levels of  $A\beta$  is reported, even after 1 h of restraint stress. Further, stressful conditions such as modern life stress, chronic isolation stress, chronic social stress, chronic immobilization stress, and stress at early age show increased level of APs in the animals, indicating that these stressors are clearly associated with the pathogenesis of AD (Justice, 2018). Increased phosphorylation of tau and NFTs formation in many stress conditions lead to the damage of neurons and neuronal loss in AD and dementia (Sierra-Fonseca and Gosselink, 2018). The level of cortisol (corticosterone in rodents) is increased in stress conditions as well as in patients with dementia and cognitive impairment, indicating the relationship of stress and AD (Justice, 2018). One long term study, for over 50 years, with thirteen thousand patients reported that late-life depression increases the risk of dementia and AD (Barnes et al., 2012). Prolonged glucocorticoid levels in chronic stress can induce Aß and tau deposition in AD pathogenesis in humans (Dong and Csernansky, 2009). Chronic stress also activates microglia that contribute to AD pathogenesis (Satoh et al., 2017). Gender and brain region-specific effects of stress has been reported previously (Devi et al., 2010; Bisht et al., 2018). Chronic restraint stress or repeated social defeat stress affects the release of neurotrophins and decreases the level of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) that are important in neuronal growth, prevention of synaptic loss and maintenance of neuronal plasticity (Roth et al., 2011; Chiba et al., 2012). Pre-clinical stages in AD patients show reduced levels of pro-BDNF and BDNF (Peng et al., 2005). BBB dysfunction can activate  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  secretase and generate and increase AB level in AD (Cai et al., 2018). AB transport through BBB is regulated by low density lipoprotein-1 (LRP-1) and receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) expressed on the surface of the endothelial cells (Fei et al., 2018). Loss of pericytes and astrocyte abnormalities increases Aß level in AD brains. Neurodegenerative diseases including AD show structural alterations in the tight junction proteins. Increased levels of RAGE associated A<sup>β</sup> toxicity induce damage to tight

junctions in AD. BBB tight junction proteins ZO-1, occludin, claudin-1, claudin-3, claudin-5, claudin-12 and claudin-19 are implicated in AD pathogenesis. Occludin expression is increased in dementia and AD. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and apolipoproteinE4 (ApoE4) affect tight junction integrity in AD. Loss of tight junction integrity leads to increased permeability, edema, micro hemorrhage, and neuronal death (Yang et al., 2018). However, molecular and ultrastructural changes in BBB and tight junction proteins in AD is not yet clearly studied. Additionally, these changes in stress associated AD pathogenesis is much more complicated and currently not clearly understood. Moreover, studies also report that there is no association between AB and BBB dysfunctions. AB increases the expression of vascular adhesion molecules that are associated with the recruitment of inflammatory cells into the brain in AD. Increased hyperphosphorylation of tau generates NFTs that promote neuroinflammation, neuronal damage and BBB dysfunctions in AD. Childhood stress is associated with the development of dementia, cognitive impairment and neurodegeneration in late life in men (Donley et al., 2018). Further, a recent report indicate that early life stress is associated with late-onset-AD dementia (Lemche, 2018). However, it is not clear how the childhood stress continues to influence the body to develop neurological disorders in the late life. It is interesting to know if this effect is gender based or any population specific.

It has been shown that stress also increases cognitive dysfunctions in animals. Though several reports from animal studies support the concept that stress induces and worsens neuroinflammatory conditions including neurodegenerative diseases, the exact mechanism and the direct evidence are not yet clearly demonstrated, especially in the human diseases. This is because the exact mechanism of stress and AD pathogenesis is not yet clearly understood. Moreover, there are also significant differences in the stress response in the humans. Additionally, transgenic AD animal models show abnormal and aggressive behaviors with different degrees/severity of stress effects (Justice, 2018). Thus, animal models are not very suitable models to assess the stress effects that are much different in humans. It is very difficult to compare the results obtained from animal models of stress with the human patients due to these differences. Recently, it has been suggested that stress hormone CRH can be manipulated to reduce the risk of AD pathogenesis (Justice, 2018). Physical activities are associated with decreased risk of developing many chronic diseases in the aged. A recent study demonstrated that physical activity can reduce the chronic effects of restraint stress and the severity of AD in the animal model of AD (Yuede et al., 2018). There are several hypotheses and mechanisms proposed to explain how stress can accelerate AD pathogenesis. A $\beta$  can activate neurons in the HPA axis that can induce stress effects and AD pathogenesis through cortisol. Mast cell activation-mediated inflammatory mediators play an important role in neuroinflammation (Kempuraj et al., 2016, 2017b; Hendriksen et al., 2017). Activation of neuroglia, inflammatory mediator release and neuroinflammation induce cognitive disorders, neurodegeneration and AD (Dansokho and Heneka, 2017; Swanson et al., 2018). We and others have previously reported that acute and chronic stress conditions can

activate mast cells and that the increased mast cell activation can induce the onset and progression of neurodegenerative diseases including AD through the activation of neuroglia and increased BBB permeability (Shaik-Dasthagirisaheb and Conti, 2016; Kempuraj et al., 2017a). In fact, mast cell inhibitor drug Masitinib used as an adjunct therapy for mild to moderate AD in clinical trial has been shown to improve cognitive functions (Piette et al., 2011).

# CONCLUSION AND POTENTIAL FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

Mast cells are associated with inflammation and pain. Stress conditions can activate mast cells and augment neuroinflammation through the activation of glial cells and neurons. Stress can induce HPA activation and mast cell activation that lead to neuroinflammation, BBB disruption and tight junction damage in the brain. Stress can induce the generation of APP, hyperphosphorylation of tau, NFTs, A $\beta$  peptide, APs, oxidative stress, cognitive dysfunction, synaptic loss, neuronal loss, inflammatory mediator expression, and

#### REFERENCES

- Abdallah, C. G., and Geha, P. (2017). Chronic pain and chronic stress: two sides of the same coin? *Chronic Stress* 1. doi: 10.1177/2470547017704763
- Abdullah, Z., Rakkar, K., Bath, P. M., and Bayraktutan, U. (2015). Inhibition of TNF-alpha protects in vitro brain barrier from ischaemic damage. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 69, 65–79. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2015.11.003
- Ahmed, M. E., Iyer, S., Thangavel, R., Kempuraj, D., Selvakumar, G. P., Raikwar, S. P., et al. (2017). Co-localization of glia maturation factor with NLRP3 inflammasome and autophagosome markers in human Alzheimer's disease brain. J. Alzheimers Dis. 60, 1143–1160. doi: 10.3233/JAD-170634
- Aich, A., Afrin, L. B., and Gupta, K. (2015). Mast cell-mediated mechanisms of nociception. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 16, 29069–29092. doi: 10.3390/ijms161226151
- Barnes, D. E., Yaffe, K., Byers, A. L., Mccormick, M., Schaefer, C., and Whitmer, R. A. (2012). Midlife vs late-life depressive symptoms and risk of dementia: differential effects for Alzheimer disease and vascular dementia. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 69, 493–498. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.1481
- Bisht, K., Sharma, K., and Tremblay, M. E. (2018). Chronic stress as a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease: roles of microglia-mediated synaptic remodeling, inflammation, and oxidative stress. *Neurobiol. Stress* 9, 9–21. doi: 10.1016/j. ynstr.2018.05.003
- Brown, M. A., and Hatfield, J. K. (2012). Mast cells are important modifiers of autoimmune disease: with so much evidence, why is there still controversy? *Front. Immunol.* 3:147. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00147
- Cai, Z., Qiao, P. F., Wan, C. Q., Cai, M., Zhou, N. K., and Li, Q. (2018). Role of blood-brain barrier in Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers Dis. 63, 1223–1234. doi: 10.3233/JAD-180098
- Cai, Z., Zhao, B., and Ratka, A. (2011). Oxidative stress and beta-amyloid protein in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuromolecular Med.* 13, 223–250. doi: 10.1007/s12017-011-8155-9
- Cao, J., Papadopoulou, N., Kempuraj, D., Boucher, W. S., Sugimoto, K., Cetrulo, C. L., et al. (2005). Human mast cells express corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) receptors and CRH leads to selective secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor. J. Immunol. 174, 7665–7675. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.12.7665
- Caraffa, A., Conti, C., D Ovidio, C., Gallenga, C. E., Tettamanti, L., Mastrangelo, F., et al. (2018). New concepts in neuroinflammation: mast cells pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine mediators. *J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents* 32, 449–454.

dementia in AD pathogenesis. Though several studies have shown the association of stress with BBB dysfunction, and tight junction protein alterations, the exact ultrastructural and molecular changes in these structures are not yet clearly known. Therefore, no effective therapeutic options are currently available to treat these conditions. Elaborate and sustained studies are needed to better understand these changes in stress associated AD pathogenesis in humans.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DK wrote and edited the manuscript. AZ critically edited the manuscript and acquired the funding. SM, RT, MA, GS, SPR, ID, SZ, and SI edited the manuscript.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by Veterans Affairs Merit Award I01BX002477, Veterans Affairs Research Career Scientist Award, and National Institutes of Health Grant # AG048205 to AZ.

- Chandler, N., Jacobson, S., Esposito, P., Connolly, R., and Theoharides, T. C. (2002). Acute stress shortens the time to onset of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in SJL/J mice. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 16, 757–763. doi: 10. 1016/S0889-1591(02)00028-4
- Chen, M. C., Hamilton, J. P., and Gotlib, I. H. (2010). Decreased hippocampal volume in healthy girls at risk of depression. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 67, 270–276. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.202
- Chen, S. J., Yang, J. F., Kong, F. P., Ren, J. L., Hao, K., Li, M., et al. (2014). Overactivation of corticotropin-releasing factor receptor type 1 and aquaporin-4 by hypoxia induces cerebral edema. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 13199–13204. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1404493111
- Chiba, S., Numakawa, T., Ninomiya, M., Richards, M. C., Wakabayashi, C., and Kunugi, H. (2012). Chronic restraint stress causes anxiety- and depression-like behaviors, downregulates glucocorticoid receptor expression, and attenuates glutamate release induced by brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the prefrontal cortex. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 39, 112–119. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.05.018
- Conti, P., D'ovidio, C., Conti, C., Gallenga, C. E., Lauritano, D., Caraffa, A., et al. (2018). Progression in migraine: role of mast cells and pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 844, 87–94. doi: 10.1016/j. ejphar.2018.12.004
- Cui, B., Su, D., Li, W., She, X., Zhang, M., Wang, R., et al. (2018). Effects of chronic noise exposure on the microbiome-gut-brain axis in senescence-accelerated prone mice: implications for Alzheimer's disease. *J. Neuroinflammation* 15:190. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1223-4
- Dansokho, C., and Heneka, M. T. (2017). Neuroinflammatory responses in Alzheimer's disease. J. Neural Transm. 125, 771–779. doi: 10.1007/s00702-017-1831-7
- de Tommaso, M., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Defrin, R., Kunz, M., Pickering, G., and Valeriani, M. (2016). Pain in neurodegenerative disease: current knowledge and future perspectives. *Behav. Neurol.* 2016:7576292. doi: 10.1155/2016/7576292
- de Tommaso, M., Kunz, M., and Valeriani, M. (2017). Therapeutic approach to pain in neurodegenerative diseases: current evidence and perspectives. *Expert Rev. Neurother.* 17, 143–153. doi: 10.1080/14737175.2016.1210512
- Defrin, R., Amanzio, M., De Tommaso, M., Dimova, V., Filipovic, S., Finn, D. P., et al. (2015). Experimental pain processing in individuals with cognitive impairment: current state of the science. *Pain* 156, 1396–1408. doi: 10.1097/j. pain.000000000000195

- DeStefano, J. G., Jamieson, J. J., Linville, R. M., and Searson, P. C. (2018). Benchmarking in vitro tissue-engineered blood-brain barrier models. *Fluids Barriers CNS* 15:32. doi: 10.1186/s12987-018-0117-2
- Devi, L., Alldred, M. J., Ginsberg, S. D., and Ohno, M. (2010). Sex- and brain region-specific acceleration of beta-amyloidogenesis following behavioral stress in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Brain* 3:34. doi: 10.1186/1756-6606-3-34
- Dodiya, H. B., Forsyth, C. B., Voigt, R. M., Engen, P. A., Patel, J., Shaikh, M., et al. (2018). Chronic stress-induced gut dysfunction exacerbates Parkinson's disease phenotype and pathology in a rotenone-induced mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2018.12.012 [Epub ahead of print].
- Dong, H., and Csernansky, J. G. (2009). Effects of stress and stress hormones on amyloid-beta protein and plaque deposition. J. Alzheimers Dis. 18, 459–469. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2009-1152
- Donley, G. A. R., Lonnroos, E., Tuomainen, T. P., and Kauhanen, J. (2018). Association of childhood stress with late-life dementia and Alzheimer's disease: the KIHD study. *Eur. J. Public Health* 28, 1069–1073. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ cky134
- Dreier, J. P., Jurkat-Rott, K., Petzold, G. C., Tomkins, O., Klingebiel, R., Kopp, U. A., et al. (2005). Opening of the blood-brain barrier preceding cortical edema in a severe attack of FHM type II. *Neurology* 64, 2145–2147. doi: 10.1212/01. WNL.0000176298.63840.99
- Esposito, P., Basu, S., Letourneau, R., Jacobson, S., and Theoharides, T. C. (2003). Corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) can directly affect brain microvessel endothelial cells. *Brain Res.* 968, 192–198. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(03)02237-6
- Esposito, P., Chandler, N., Kandere, K., Basu, S., Jacobson, S., Connolly, R., et al. (2002). Corticotropin-releasing hormone and brain mast cells regulate bloodbrain-barrier permeability induced by acute stress. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 303, 1061–1066. doi: 10.1124/jpet.102.038497
- Esposito, P., Gheorghe, D., Kandere, K., Pang, X., Connolly, R., Jacobson, S., et al. (2001a). Acute stress increases permeability of the blood-brain-barrier through activation of brain mast cells. *Brain Res.* 888, 117–127. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(00)03026-2
- Esposito, P., Jacobson, S., Connolly, R., Gheorghe, D., and Theoharides, T. C. (2001b). Non-invasive assessment of blood-brain barrier (BBB) permeability using a gamma camera to detect 99technetium-gluceptate extravasation in rat brain. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Protoc.* 8, 143–149.
- Fei, H. X., Zhang, Y. B., Liu, T., Zhang, X. J., and Wu, S. L. (2018). Neuroprotective effect of formononetin in ameliorating learning and memory impairment in mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 82, 57–64. doi: 10.1080/09168451.2017.1399788
- Ferdousi, M., and Finn, D. P. (2018). Stress-induced modulation of pain: role of the endogenous opioid system. *Prog. Brain Res.* 239, 121–177. doi: 10.1016/bs.pbr. 2018.07.002
- Fish, P. V., Steadman, D., Bayle, E. D., and Whiting, P. (2018). New approaches for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 29, 125–133. doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2018.11.034
- Forsythe, P. (2019). Mast cells in neuroimmune interactions. Trends Neurosci. 42, 43–55. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2018.09.006
- Gao, J. Y., Chen, Y., Su, D. Y., Marshall, C., and Xiao, M. (2018). Depressiveand anxiety-like phenotypes in young adult APPSwe/PS1dE9 transgenic mice with insensitivity to chronic mild stress. *Behav. Brain Res.* 353, 114–123. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2018.07.007
- Garfin, D. R., Thompson, R. R., and Holman, E. A. (2018). Acute stress and subsequent health outcomes: a systematic review. J. Psychosom. Res. 112, 107– 113. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2018.05.017
- Gordon, J. R., and Galli, S. J. (1990). Mast cells as a source of both preformed and immunologically inducible TNF-alpha/cachectin. *Nature* 346, 274–276. doi: 10.1038/346274a0
- Grilli, M. (2017). Chronic pain and adult hippocampal neurogenesis: translational implications from preclinical studies. J. Pain Res. 10, 2281–2286. doi: 10.2147/ JPR.S146399
- Gu, Q., Hou, J. C., and Fang, X. M. (2018). Mindfulness meditation for primary headache pain: a meta-analysis. *Chin. Med. J.* 131, 829–838. doi: 10.4103/0366-6999.228242
- Guan, D., Li, Y., Peng, X., Zhao, H., Mao, Y., and Cui, Y. (2018). Thymoquinone protects against cerebral small vessel disease: role of antioxidant and antiinflammatory activities. J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents 32, 225–231.

- Gupta, K., and Harvima, I. T. (2018). Mast cell-neural interactions contribute to pain and itch. *Immunol. Rev.* 282, 168–187. doi: 10.1111/imr.12622
- Hendriksen, E., Van Bergeijk, D., Oosting, R. S., and Redegeld, F. A. (2017). Mast cells in neuroinflammation and brain disorders. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 79, 119–133. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.05.001
- Heneka, M. T., Kummer, M. P., Stutz, A., Delekate, A., Schwartz, S., Vieira-Saecker, A., et al. (2013). NLRP3 is activated in Alzheimer's disease and contributes to pathology in APP/PS1 mice. *Nature* 493, 674–678. doi: 10.1038/ nature11729
- Holzer, P., Farzi, A., Hassan, A. M., Zenz, G., Jacan, A., and Reichmann, F. (2017).
  Visceral inflammation and immune activation stress the brain. *Front. Immunol.* 8:1613. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01613
- Justice, N. J. (2018). The relationship between stress and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Stress* 8, 127–133. doi: 10.1016/j.ynstr.2018.04.002
- Kandere-Grzybowska, K., Gheorghe, D., Priller, J., Esposito, P., Huang, M., Gerard, N., et al. (2003). Stress-induced dura vascular permeability does not develop in mast cell-deficient and neurokinin-1 receptor knockout mice. *Brain Res.* 980, 213–220. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(03)02975-5
- Karagkouni, A., Alevizos, M., and Theoharides, T. C. (2013). Effect of stress on brain inflammation and multiple sclerosis. *Autoimmun. Rev.* 12, 947–953. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2013.02.006
- Kealy, J., Greene, C., and Campbell, M. (2018). Blood-brain barrier regulation in psychiatric disorders. *Neurosci. Lett.* doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2018.06.033 [Epub ahead of print].
- Kempuraj, D., Papadopoulou, N. G., Lytinas, M., Huang, M., Kandere-Grzybowska, K., Madhappan, B., et al. (2004). Corticotropin-releasing hormone and its structurally related urocortin are synthesized and secreted by human mast cells. *Endocrinology* 145, 43–48. doi: 10.1210/en.2003-0805
- Kempuraj, D., Selvakumar, G. P., Thangavel, R., Ahmed, M. E., Zaheer, S., Kumar, K. K., et al. (2018a). Glia maturation factor and mast cell-dependent expression of inflammatory mediators and proteinase activated receptor-2 in neuroinflammation. J. Alzheimers Dis. 66, 1117–1129. doi: 10.3233/JAD-180786
- Kempuraj, D., Selvakumar, G. P., Zaheer, S., Thangavel, R., Ahmed, M. E., Raikwar, S., et al. (2018b). Cross-talk between glia, neurons and mast cells in neuroinflammation associated with Parkinson's disease. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 13, 100–112. doi: 10.1007/s11481-017-9766-1
- Kempuraj, D., Thangavel, R., Selvakumar, G. P., Ahmed, M. E., Zaheer, S., Raikwar, S. P., et al. (2018c). Mast cell proteases activate astrocytes and glia-neurons and release interleukin-33 by activating p38 and ERK1/2 MAPKs and NF-kappaB. *Mol. Neurobiol.* doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1177-7 [Epub ahead of print].
- Kempuraj, D., Selvakumar, G. P., Thangavel, R., Ahmed, M. E., Zaheer, S., Raikwar, S. P., et al. (2017a). Mast cell activation in brain injury, stress, and posttraumatic stress disorder and Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis. *Front. Neurosci.* 11:703. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00703
- Kempuraj, D., Thangavel, R., Selvakumar, G. P., Zaheer, S., Ahmed, M. E., Raikwar, S. P., et al. (2017b). Brain and peripheral atypical inflammatory mediators potentiate neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 11:216. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2017.00216
- Kempuraj, D., Thangavel, R., Natteru, P. A., Selvakumar, G. P., Saeed, D., Zahoor, H., et al. (2016). Neuroinflammation induces neurodegeneration. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Spine* 1:1003.
- Koh, S. X., and Lee, J. K. (2014). S100B as a marker for brain damage and bloodbrain barrier disruption following exercise. *Sports Med.* 44, 369–385. doi: 10. 1007/s40279-013-0119-9
- Kritas, S. K., Saggini, A., Cerulli, G., Caraffa, A., Antinolfi, P., Pantalone, A., et al. (2014). Corticotropin-releasing hormone, microglia and mental disorders. *Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol.* 27, 163–167. doi: 10.1177/039463201402700203
- Lemche, E. (2018). Early life stress and epigenetics in late-onset Alzheimer's dementia: a systematic review. Curr. Genomics 19, 522–602. doi: 10.2174/ 1389202919666171229145156
- Levy, D., Kainz, V., Burstein, R., and Strassman, A. M. (2012). Mast cell degranulation distinctly activates trigemino-cervical and lumbosacral pain pathways and elicits widespread tactile pain hypersensitivity. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 26, 311–317. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2011.09.016
- Li, N., Zhang, X., Dong, H., Hu, Y., and Qian, Y. (2017). Bidirectional relationship of mast cells-neurovascular unit communication in neuroinflammation and its involvement in POCD. *Behav. Brain Res.* 322, 60–69. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2017. 01.006

- Liberman, A. C., Trias, E., Da Silva Chagas, L., Trindade, P., Dos Santos, Pereira, M., et al. (2018). Neuroimmune and inflammatory signals in complex disorders of the central nervous system. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 25, 246–270. doi: 10.1159/000494761 [Epub ahead of print].
- Lochhead, J. J., Ronaldson, P. T., and Davis, T. P. (2017). Hypoxic stress and inflammatory pain disrupt blood-brain barrier tight junctions: implications for drug delivery to the central nervous system. *AAPS J.* 19, 910–920. doi: 10.1208/s12248-017-0076-6
- Lurie, D. I. (2018). An integrative approach to neuroinflammation in psychiatric disorders and neuropathic pain. J. Exp. Neurosci. 12:1179069518793639. doi: 10.1177/1179069518793639
- Matsuda, M., Huh, Y., and Ji, R. R. (2018). Roles of inflammation, neurogenic inflammation, and neuroinflammation in pain. J. Anesth. doi: 10.1007/s00540-018-2579-4 [Epub ahead of print].
- Menard, C., Pfau, M. L., Hodes, G. E., Kana, V., Wang, V. X., Bouchard, S., et al. (2017). Social stress induces neurovascular pathology promoting depression. *Nat. Neurosci.* 20, 1752–1760. doi: 10.1038/s41593-017-0010-3
- Mutso, A. A., Radzicki, D., Baliki, M. N., Huang, L., Banisadr, G., Centeno, M. V., et al. (2012). Abnormalities in hippocampal functioning with persistent pain. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 5747–5756. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0587-12.2012
- Ocak, U., Ocak, P. E., Wang, A., Zhang, J. H., Boling, W., Wu, P., et al. (2018). Targeting mast cell as a neuroprotective strategy. *Brain Inj.* doi: 10.1080/ 02699052.2018.1556807 [Epub ahead of print].
- Papadopoulou, N. G., Oleson, L., Kempuraj, D., Donelan, J., Cetrulo, C. L., and Theoharides, T. C. (2005). Regulation of corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor-2 expression in human cord blood-derived cultured mast cells. *J. Mol. Endocrinol.* 35, R1–R8. doi: 10.1677/jme.1.01833
- Patel, J. P., and Frey, B. N. (2015). Disruption in the blood-brain barrier: the missing link between brain and body inflammation in bipolar disorder? *Neural Plast* 2015:708306. doi: 10.1155/2015/708306
- Peng, S., Wuu, J., Mufson, E. J., and Fahnestock, M. (2005). Precursor form of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and mature brain-derived neurotrophic factor are decreased in the pre-clinical stages of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. 93, 1412–1421. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2005.03135.x
- Piette, F., Belmin, J., Vincent, H., Schmidt, N., Pariel, S., Verny, M., et al. (2011). Masitinib as an adjunct therapy for mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's disease: a randomised, placebo-controlled phase 2 trial. *Alzheimers Res. Ther.* 3:16. doi: 10.1186/alzrt75
- Presta, I., Vismara, M., Novellino, F., Donato, A., Zaffino, P., Scali, E., et al. (2018). Innate immunity cells and the neurovascular unit. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:E3856. doi: 10.3390/ijms19123856
- Raikwar, S. P., Thangavel, R., Dubova, I., Selvakumar, G. P., Ahmed, M. E., Kempuraj, D., et al. (2018). Targeted gene editing of glia maturation factor in microglia: a novel Alzheimer's disease therapeutic target. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 56, 378–393. doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1068-y
- Ramachandran, R. (2018). Neurogenic inflammation and its role in migraine. Semin. Immunopathol. 40, 301–314. doi: 10.1007/s00281-018-0676-y
- Rochfort, K. D., and Cummins, P. M. (2015). The blood-brain barrier endothelium: a target for pro-inflammatory cytokines. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 43, 702–706. doi: 10.1042/BST20140319
- Rometsch-Ogioun El Sount, C., Windthorst, P., Denkinger, J., Ziser, K., Nikendei, C., Kindermann, D., et al. (2018). Chronic pain in refugees with posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD): a systematic review on patients' characteristics and specific interventions. *J. Psychosom. Res.* doi: 10.1016/j. jpsychores.2018.07.014 [Epub ahead of print].
- Roth, T. L., Zoladz, P. R., Sweatt, J. D., and Diamond, D. M. (2011). Epigenetic modification of hippocampal Bdnf DNA in adult rats in an animal model of post-traumatic stress disorder. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 45, 919–926. doi: 10.1016/j. jpsychires.2011.01.013
- Rothman, S. M., and Mattson, M. P. (2010). Adverse stress, hippocampal networks, and Alzheimer's disease. *Neuromolecular Med.* 12, 56–70. doi: 10.1007/s12017-009-8107-9
- Saito, T., and Saido, T. C. (2018). Neuroinflammation in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. Clin. Exp. Neuroimmunol. 9, 211–218. doi: 10.1111/cen3. 12475
- Santha, P., Veszelka, S., Hoyk, Z., Meszaros, M., Walter, F. R., Toth, A. E., et al. (2015). Restraint stress-induced morphological changes at the blood-brain barrier in adult rats. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 8:88. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2015.00088

- Satoh, J. I., Kino, Y., Yanaizu, M., Tosaki, Y., Sakai, K., Ishida, T., et al. (2017). Microglia express ABI3 in the brains of Alzheimer's disease and Nasu-Hakola disease. *Intractable Rare Dis. Res.* 6, 262–268. doi: 10.5582/irdr.2017.01073
- Schwartz, L. B. (1990). Tryptase, a mediator of human mast cells. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 86, 594–598. doi: 10.1016/S0091-6749(05)80222-2
- Shaik-Dasthagirisaheb, Y. B., and Conti, P. (2016). The role of mast cells in Alzheimer's disease. Adv. Clin. Exp. Med. 25, 781–787. doi: 10.17219/acem/ 61914
- Shelukhina, I., Mikhailov, N., Abushik, P., Nurullin, L., Nikolsky, E. E., and Giniatullin, R. (2017). Cholinergic nociceptive mechanisms in rat meninges and trigeminal ganglia: potential implications for migraine pain. *Front. Neurol.* 8:163. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00163
- Sierra-Fonseca, J. A., and Gosselink, K. L. (2018). Tauopathy and neurodegeneration: a role for stress. *Neurobiol. Stress* 9, 105–112. doi: 10.1016/j.ynstr.2018.08.009
- Skaper, S. D. (2016). Mast cell glia dialogue in chronic pain and neuropathic pain: blood-brain barrier implications. CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets 15, 1072–1078. doi: 10.2174/1871527315666160829105533
- Skaper, S. D. (2017). Nerve growth factor: a neuroimmune crosstalk mediator for all seasons. *Immunology* 151, 1–15. doi: 10.1111/imm.12717
- Skaper, S. D., Facci, L., Zusso, M., and Giusti, P. (2017). Neuroinflammation, mast cells, and glia: dangerous liaisons. *Neuroscientist* 23, 478–498. doi: 10.1177/ 1073858416687249
- Skaper, S. D., Facci, L., Zusso, M., and Giusti, P. (2018). An inflammation-centric view of neurological disease: beyond the neuron. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 12:72. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2018.00072
- Skaper, S. D., Giusti, P., and Facci, L. (2012). Microglia and mast cells: two tracks on the road to neuroinflammation. *FASEB J.* 26, 3103–3117. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-197194
- Stamatovic, S. M., Johnson, A. M., Keep, R. F., and Andjelkovic, A. V. (2016). Junctional proteins of the blood-brain barrier: new insights into function and dysfunction. *Tissue Barriers* 4:e1154641. doi: 10.1080/21688370.2016.1154641
- Swanson, A., Wolf, T., Sitzmann, A., and Willette, A. A. (2018). Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease: pleiotropic roles for cytokines and neuronal pentraxins. *Behav. Brain Res.* 347, 49–56. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2018.02.015
- Tettamanti, L., Kritas, S. K., Gallenga, C. E., D'ovidio, C., Mastrangelo, F., Ronconi, G., et al. (2018). IL-33 mediates allergy through mast cell activation: potential inhibitory effect of certain cytokines. *J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents* 32, 1061–1065.
- Thangavel, R., Bhagavan, S. M., Ramaswamy, S. B., Surpur, S., Govindarajan, R., Kempuraj, D., et al. (2018). Co-expression of glia maturation factor and apolipoprotein E4 in Alzheimer's disease brain. J. Alzheimers Dis. 61, 553–560. doi: 10.3233/JAD-170777
- Theoharides, T. C., Alysandratos, K. D., Angelidou, A., Delivanis, D. A., Sismanopoulos, N., Zhang, B., et al. (2012). Mast cells and inflammation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1822, 21–33. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2010.12.014
- Theoharides, T. C., and Kavalioti, M. (2018). Stress, inflammation and natural treatments. J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents 32, 1345–1347.
- Theoharides, T. C., and Konstantinidou, A. D. (2007). Corticotropin-releasing hormone and the blood-brain-barrier. *Front. Biosci.* 12, 1615–1628. doi: 10. 2741/2174
- Theoharides, T. C., and Tsilioni, I. (2018). Tetramethoxyluteolin for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* 18, 1872–1882. doi: 10.2174/1568026617666181119154247
- Varvara, G., Tettamanti, L., Gallenga, C. E., Caraffa, A., D'ovidio, C., Mastrangelo, F., et al. (2018). Stimulated mast cells release inflammatory cytokines: potential suppression and therapeutical aspects. J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents 32, 1355–1360.
- Yang, C., Hawkins, K. E., Dore, S., and Candelario-Jalil, E. (2018). Neuroinflammatory mechanisms of blood-brain barrier damage in ischemic stroke. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 316, C135–C153. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00136.2018
- Yang, Y., Hahm, E., Kim, Y., Kang, J., Lee, W., Han, I., et al. (2005). Regulation of IL-18 expression by CRH in mouse microglial cells. *Immunol. Lett.* 98, 291–296. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2004.12.003
- Yuede, C. M., Timson, B. F., Hettinger, J. C., Yuede, K. M., Edwards, H. M., Lawson, J. E., et al. (2018). Interactions between stress and physical activity on

Alzheimer's disease pathology. Neurobiol. Stress 8, 158–171. doi: 10.1016/j.ynstr. 2018.02.004

- Zaheer, A., Zaheer, S., Thangavel, R., Wu, Y., Sahu, S. K., and Yang, B. (2008). Glia maturation factor modulates beta-amyloid-induced glial activation, inflammatory cytokine/chemokine production and neuronal damage. *Brain Res.* 1208, 192–203. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2008.02.093
- Zaheer, S., Thangavel, R., Sahu, S. K., and Zaheer, A. (2011). Augmented expression of glia maturation factor in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience* 194, 227–233. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.07.069
- Zhang, Y., Zheng, Y., Xu, Y., Sheng, H., and Ni, X. (2018). Corticotropin-releasing hormone suppresses synapse formation in the hippocampus of male rats via inhibition of CXCL5 secretion by glia. *Endocrinology* 159, 622–638. doi: 10. 1210/en.2017-00336
- Zheng, H., Jia, L., Liu, C. C., Rong, Z., Zhong, L., Yang, L., et al. (2017). TREM2 promotes microglial survival by activating Wnt/beta-catenin pathway. *J. Neurosci.* 37, 1772–1784. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2459-16.2017

Zhou, Q., Wang, Y. W., Ni, P. F., Chen, Y. N., Dong, H. Q., and Qian, Y. N. (2018). Effect of tryptase on mouse brain microvascular endothelial cells via proteaseactivated receptor 2. *J. Neuroinflammation* 15:248. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1287-1

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Kempuraj, Mentor, Thangavel, Ahmed, Selvakumar, Raikwar, Dubova, Zaheer, Iyer and Zaheer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





### Mast Cell Neural Interactions in Health and Disease

Aditya Mittal<sup>1</sup>, Varun Sagi<sup>1</sup>, Mihir Gupta<sup>2</sup> and Kalpna Gupta<sup>1</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Vascular Biology Center, Division of Hematology, Oncology and Transplantation, Department of Medicine, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, United States, <sup>2</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States

Mast cells (MCs) are located in the periphery as well as the central nervous system (CNS). Known for sterile inflammation, MCs play a critical role in neuroinflammation, which is facilitated by their close proximity to nerve fibers in the periphery and meninges of the spinal cord and the brain. Multifaceted activation of MCs releasing neuropeptides, cytokines and other mediators has direct effects on the neural system as well as neurovascular interactions. Emerging studies have identified the release of extracellular traps, a phenomenon traditionally meant to ensnare invading pathogens, as a cause of MC-induced neural injury. In this review article, we will discuss mechanisms of MC interaction with the nervous system through degranulation, *de novo* synthesis, extracellular vesicles (EVs), tunneling nanotubes, and extracellular traps with implications across a variety of pathological conditions.

Keywords: blood brain barrier, mast cell, endothelial cell, pain, inflammation, nervous system

#### INTRODUCTION

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Francesco Moccia, University of Pavia, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Elsa Fabbretti, University of Trieste, Italy Kempuraj Duraisamy, University of Missouri, United States

> \***Correspondence:** Kalpna Gupta gupta014@umn.edu

Received: 18 January 2019 Accepted: 06 March 2019 Published: 20 March 2019

#### Citation:

Mittal A, Sagi V, Gupta M and Gupta K (2019) Mast Cell Neural Interactions in Health and Disease. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:110. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00110 Mast cells (MCs) are proinflammatory cells that are the first responders of the immune system (Galli et al., 2005; Gupta and Harvima, 2018). MCs localize in proximity to afferent fibers innervating the periphery, visceral organs and meninges. MC proximity to the external environment makes them prime candidates for a rapid response against external stimuli and internal microenvironment. In addition to their function against the external environment, MCs are also sensitive to the endogenous environment and may thereby contribute to multiple pathobiologies, including pain, itch, and disorders of the nervous system (Mattila et al., 2011; Xanthos et al., 2011; Arac et al., 2014; Kempuraj et al., 2017; Gupta and Harvima, 2018). It is suggested that MCs contribute to pathology through interaction with the vasculature and the central nervous system (CNS). Upon activation, MCs quickly release substances from preformed granules including proteoglycans, proteases, leukotrienes, biogenic amines, and cytokines (Vukman et al., 2017). In addition to degranulation, MCs have a delayed response leading to the release of cytokines, neuropeptides, and chemokines by *de novo* synthesis. Noxious (toxic or injurious) substances released include but are not limited to histamine (Sjoerdsma et al., 1957),

Abbreviations: Ags, exogenously encountered antigens; BBB, blood brain barrier; c-kit, receptor tyrosine kinase kit; CNS, central nervous system; DRG, dorsal root ganglion; EV, extracellular vesicle; Fc $\epsilon$ R1, receptors with high affinity for IgE; IgE, immunoglobulin E; IL, interleukin; MC, mast cell; MCET, mast cell extracellular trap; MS, multiple sclerosis; NK1, neurokinin 1; PAD, peptidylarginine deiminase; PBK/Akt, protein kinase B; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SCF, stem cell factor; SCD, sickle cell disease; SK2, small conductance Ca<sup>2+</sup>-activated K<sup>+</sup>; TLR, toll-like receptor; TNF $\alpha$ , tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$ ; TNT, tunneling nanotubules; TRPA1, transient receptor potential ankyrin 1.

Mast Cell Neural Interactions

tryptase (Glenner and Cohen, 1960), chymase (Benditt and Arase, 1959), tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ; Gordon and Galli, 1990), and interleukin (IL-6), IL1 $\beta$  (Bradding et al., 1993; Nakamura et al., 2012), monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (Vincent et al., 2013), nerve growth factor (Leon et al., 1994), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (Yuan et al., 2010), gonadotropin-releasing hormone (Khalil et al., 2003) and substance P (SP; Vincent et al., 2013; Taracanova et al., 2018). In this review article, we will examine the different ways in which MC activation interacts with the nervous system and their pathological implications.

### LOCALIZATION OF MAST CELLS

MCs are specifically located in the dura mater/meninges of the spinal cord and brain (Khalil et al., 2007). Within the CNS, MCs are located on the abluminal side of the blood brain barrier (BBB) in apposition to astrocytes and neurons (Manning et al., 1994; Florenzano and Bentivoglio, 2000; Silverman et al., 2000). Increased BBB permeability can lead to MCs crossing into the CNS (Silverman et al., 2000). In addition, MCs can cross through the blood-spinal cord barrier (Dong et al., 2014). MCs are found in close proximity to sensory nerve endings, and their degranulation can modulate the excitability of nociceptors. In the spinal cord, white matter separates the dura from the lumbar dorsal horn allowing MC mediators to reach the superficial laminae, which is a key relay station that modulates synaptic transmission and nociception (Xanthos et al., 2011). It has been found that MCs can induce persistent nociception and long-term potentiation at spinal C-fiber synapses (Xanthos et al., 2011). This is mediated through SP release, which mediates pain sensation through unmyelinated C fibers (Tore and Tuncel, 2009). In most tissues, MCs and nerves have a gap of 20 nm allowing MCs to immediately act on peripheral nerves following degranulation. A correlation has been shown between MC proximity to nerve fibers and complex regional pain syndrome (Morellini et al., 2018). MCs also co-localize with astrocytes and may modulate the behavior of astrocytes to release more mediators through the release of histamine from MCs (Skaper and Facci, 2012).

# MAST CELL ACTIVATION AND THE NERVOUS SYSTEM

#### Mast Cell Degranulation

Degranulation occurs within minutes of activation and results in the rapid release of substances from pre-formed granules. Degranulation begins with the activation of receptors with high affinity for IgE ( $Fc\epsilon R1$ ) and rearrangement of F-actin and microtubule formation.  $Fc\epsilon R1$  activates Fyn/Gab2/RhoA tyrosine kinases and leads to microtubule polymerization and the shuttling of secretory granules to the plasma membrane (**Figure 1**; Nishida et al., 2005). Tyrosine kinases Lyn and Syk of the activated Fc $\epsilon R1$  cause calcium mobilization, vesicle fusion, and exocytosis of the granule through the protein kinase B (PBK)/Akt pathway and upregulation of peptidylarginine deiminase-4 (PAD-4) activation (**Figure 1**; Doyle et al., 2013; Aich et al., 2015). A variant of degranulation called transgranulation is associated with neuropathic pain (Keith et al., 1995; Wilhelm et al., 2005). Transgranulation occurs when MCs are in direct contact with other cells and thereby transfer the granules into nearby cells through exocytosis of the MCs and intake by the recipient cell. The effect is furthered through MC cytoplasmic extensions similar to pseudopodia that increase the range a MC can act through transgranulation (Barbara et al., 2004; Wilhelm et al., 2005). Because MCs are located closely to vasculature and nerve fibers, transgranulation can have a disruptive effect on those cells contributing to vascular dysfunction and neuropathic pain, respectively.

In the bladder, bidirectional communication between nerves and MCs using lamellipodia that enclosed fibers within a cell have been observed (Keith et al., 1995). Retrograde transport of MC mediators has also been shown in dorsal root ganglia (DRG; Murphy et al., 1999). In this study, a nerve injected with a MC degranulation product increased the expression of IL-6 mRNA in sensory neurons, and blockade of retrograde axonal transport attenuated the induction of IL-6 mRNA in primary sensory neurons.

#### De novo Synthesis

As a late response, MCs release cytokines and chemokines that are synthesized *de novo*. The mechanism for activation is thus complex and involves multiple receptors. Immunoglobulin E (IgE) receptors are involved in mediating response in cooperation with the toll-like receptor (TLR). TLRs also recruit CD14 or CD48 for the effect of TLR ligands (Marshall, 2004).

IgE independent receptors also regulate MC *de novo* synthesis. This involves the receptor tyrosine kinase kit (*c-kit*), which is a receptor tyrosine kinase for stem cell factor (SCF; Mitsui et al., 1993). SCF promotes the development of more MCs. The large number of cytokines, chemokines, and neuropeptides released from MCs along with their proximity to axonal processes may be a large contributor to neuropathy and inflammation.

### **Extracellular Vesicles**

Extracellular vesicle (EV) release is common to many different cells. EVs may be formed in endosomes and released through exocytosis. MC exosomes are known to interact with sensory nerves through the release of SP (Azimi et al., 2017). In turn, SP interacts with Mas-related G protein-coupled receptors (Mrgprs) to activate DRG neurons in mice (Azimi et al., 2017). Neurokinin 1 (NK1) receptors and Mrgprs were activated in mice and then pain behaviors were measured *in vivo* and DRG activation was measured in culture leading to the conclusion that SP activates DRG in culture through Mrgprs not NK-1 receptors (Azimi et al., 2017).

Because of their small size, EVs can travel long distances and influence synaptic transmission in the CNS. EVs may also participate in reuptake by local neurons as EVs can be localized as MC granules (Groot Kormelink et al., 2016). Groot Kormelink et al. (2016) found that upon activation of MCs a CD63-positive subset of EVs is released. Upon phospholipid and proteome



analysis of these EVs, it was found that the EVs contain MC-specific mediators (Groot Kormelink et al., 2016).

MC-released EVs can influence dendritic cell maturation *via* immunomodulatory exogenously encountered antigens (Ags; Skokos et al., 2003). Ags induce phenotypic changes in dendritic cell maturation by up-regulating MHC class II, CD80, CD86, and CD40 molecules. These molecules stimulate T lymphocytes and induce Ag-specific immune responses which could impact the function of dendritic cells.

MicroRNAs contained in EVs may also participate in neuropathy. MiRNA-let-7b causes rapid excitation in DRG neurons *via* TLR7 and transient receptor potential ankyrin 1 (TRPA1; Park et al., 2014). MiRNA-let-7b causes rapid inward currents and exciting the DRG neurons and inducing pain *via* TLR7 and TRPA1 (Park et al., 2014).

#### **Tunneling Nanotubules**

MC form tunneling nanotubules (TNTs), which are F-actin structures that form in response to reticulation. TNTs are similar to pseudopodia described earlier, except they are not adherent, and can span distances longer than pseudopodia. MC-microglia interactions have been found to be involved in brain inflammation (Skaper and Facci, 2012). MCs cultured in medium containing MC activators were found to rapidly form TNTs to transport mitochondrial and secretory granule particles to other MCs and glioblastoma, implicating TNTs in MC-microglia interactions (Weng et al., 2016).

#### Mast Cell Extracellular Traps

Extracellular trap formation is a process to ensnare external organisms for self-defense. This process involves citrullination of histone proteins, resulting in disassembly of DNA and ejection of web-like contents (Jorch and Kubes, 2017).

MC extracellular trap (MCET) formation is dependent on reactive oxygen species (ROS) formation and engagement of TLR4 (**Figure 1**; Stoiber et al., 2015). In addition to DNA, MCETs also contain fibers with tryptase. MCETs have been suggested to contain chemokines and cytokines necessary for an inflammatory response, which could lead to tissue damage, inflammation, and neuronal activation (Schauer et al., 2014; Möllerherm et al., 2016). IL-17 and IL-8 have been shown to be released by MCETs. MCs are the majority of IL-17-containing cells in control and psoriatic skin (Lin et al., 2011). Interestingly, MCETs showed bright costaining for IL-17. MCs and neutrophils have been reported to release IL-17, which contributes to the pathology of psoriasis.

# NEUROVASCULAR INTERACTIONS AND PATHOLOGICAL OUTCOMES

It is well documented that MC mediators contribute to endothelial dysfunction in the vasculature (Kunder et al., 2011). Excess of MC mediators can cause an increase in BBB permeability. It is known that activation of MCs locally increases BBB permeability (Zhuang et al., 1996). Zhuang et al. (1996) found that upon MC degranulation by C48/80 treatment, BBB permeability was increased.

MCs operate in a feed-forward mechanism. Inflammation caused by MCs can further activate the MCs in an autocrine manner. Mediators released by MCs such as IL33 and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ) have been known to activate MCs (Taracanova et al., 2017). SP along with IL33 causes MCs to increase secretion and gene expression of IL-1 $\beta$  (Taracanova et al., 2018). These responses were mediated by SP and IL-33 receptors, NK1 and small conductance Ca<sup>2+</sup>-activated K<sup>+</sup> (SK2), respectively on MCs. Receptors were inhibited by methoxyluteolin inhibiting IL33 decreased IL-1 $\beta$  release (Taracanova et al., 2017).

MCs have been found to increase vascular permeability in the skin of mice with sickle cell disease (SCD; Vincent et al., 2013). Treatment of mice with a MC inhibitor cromolyn or imatinib or cannabinoids reduced vascular permeability in these mice (Vincent et al., 2016). These observations led to the suggestion that MC activation leads to the release of SP which activates protease-activated receptor 2 on the peripheral nerve endings, which in turn release more neuropeptides including SP leading to vascular dilatation and increased permeability. Thus MC activation leads to neurogenic inflammation involving neurovascular interactions.

Increased vascular permeability has been found in the CNS where MC degranulation compromises the BBB and allows further entry of inflammatory substances into the brain (Zhuang et al., 1996). Acute stress has pro-inflammatory effects that are mediated through the activation of MCs *via* corticotropinreleasing hormone (Esposito et al., 2001). Additionally, external and internal ROS formation contributes to changes in endothelial cell-cell interactions (van Wetering et al., 2002), BBB integrity (Lehner et al., 2011), and the disruption of tight junctions (Schreibelt et al., 2007). Increase in BBB permeability is associated with higher levels of neuroinflammation and brain dysfunction. Additionally, BBB disruption may further changes by systemic inflammation (Dénes et al., 2011; Knowland et al.,

#### REFERENCES

- Aich, A., Afrin, L., Gupta, K., Aich, A., Afrin, L. B., and Gupta, K. (2015). Mast cell-mediated mechanisms of nociception. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 16, 29069–29092. doi: 10.3390/ijms161226151
- Arac, A., Grimbaldeston, M. A., Nepomuceno, A. R. B., Olayiwola, O., Pereira, M. P., Nishiyama, Y., et al. (2014). Evidence that meningeal mast cells can worsen stroke pathology in mice. *Am. J. Pathol.* 184, 2493–2504. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.06.003
- Azimi, E., Reddy, V. B., Pereira, P. J. S., Talbot, S., Woolf, C. J., and Lerner, E. A. (2017). Substance P activates Mas-related G protein-coupled receptors to induce itch. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 140, 447–453.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016. 12.980
- Barbara, G., Stanghellini, V., De Giorgio, R., Cremon, C., Cottrell, G. S., Santini, D., et al. (2004). Activated mast cells in proximity to colonic nerves correlate with abdominal pain in irritable bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 126, 693–702. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2003.11.055
- Benditt, E. P., and Arase, M. (1959). An enzyme in mast cells with properties like chymotrypsin. J. Exp. Med. 110, 451–460. doi: 10.1084/jem.110.3.451
- Bradding, P., Feather, I. H., Wilson, S., Bardin, P. G., Heusser, C. H., Holgate, S. T., et al. (1993). Immunolocalization of cytokines in the nasal mucosa of normal and perennial rhinitic subjects. The mast cell as a source of IL-4,

2014). Dénes et al. (2011) found that systemic inflammation compromises survivability after stroke which also augments BBB damage. Activation of meningeal MCs has been shown to worsen stroke pathology in mice (Arac et al., 2014). Therefore, activation of MCs in the periphery, as well as CNS, has implications in altering the neural activity and function directly and/or *via* neurovascular interactions.

#### CONCLUSION

MCs contribute to neural and vascular injury directly as well as induce neurovascular interactions. The complex milieu of multiple mediators released from MCs *via* diverse mechanisms alters the microenvironment leading to a hypersensitized system. Recent advances in MC-CNS interactions demonstrate that MC-induced hypersensitivity also contributes to the CNS disorders and pain. Thus, targeting of MCs provides a potentially treatable target for the disorders of the CNS and pain.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AM wrote the manuscript and prepared for submission. VS edited the manuscript. MG wrote and edited the manuscript. KG conceived, designed, and supervised the manuscript writing and editing and prepared the figure.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health (NIH) UO1 HL117664 to KG.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are thankful to Huy Tran and Julia Nguyen for fruitful discussion and constructive criticism of the Review. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

IL-5 and IL-6 in human allergic mucosal inflammation. J. Immunol. 151, 3853-3865.

- Dénes, Á., Ferenczi, S., and Kovács, K. J. (2011). Systemic inflammatory challenges compromise survival after experimental stroke via augmenting brain inflammation, blood- brain barrier damage and brain oedema independently of infarct size. J. Neuroinflammation 8:164. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8-164
- Dong, H., Zhang, X., and Qian, Y. (2014). Mast cells and neuroinflammation. Med. Sci. Monit. Basic Res. 20, 200–206. doi: 10.12659/MSMBR. 893093
- Doyle, H., Yang, M.-L., Raycroft, M. T., Gee, R. J., and Mamula, M. (2013). Autoantigens: novel forms and presentation to the immune system. *Autoimmunity* 47, 220–233. doi: 10.3109/08916934.2013.850495
- Esposito, P., Gheorghe, D., Kandere, K., Pang, X., Connolly, R., Jacobson, S., et al. (2001). Acute stress increases permeability of the blood-brain-barrier through activation of brain mast cells. *Brain Res.* 888, 117–127. doi: 10.1016/s0006-8993(00)03026-2
- Florenzano, F., and Bentivoglio, M. (2000). Degranulation, density and distribution of mast cells in the rat thalamus: a light and electron microscopic study in basal conditions and after intracerebroventricular administration of nerve growth factor. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 424, 651–669. doi: 10.1002/1096-9861(20000904)424:4%3C651::AID-CNE7%3E3.0.CO;2-G

- Galli, S. J., Nakae, S., and Tsai, M. (2005). Mast cells in the development of adaptive immune responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 6, 135–142. doi: 10.1038/ni1158
- Glenner, G. G., and Cohen, L. A. (1960). Histochemical demonstration of a species-specific trypsin-like enzyme in mast cells. *Nature* 185, 846–847. doi: 10.1038/185846a0
- Gordon, J. R., and Galli, S. J. (1990). Mast cells as a source of both preformed and immunologically inducible TNF- $\alpha$ /cachectin. *Nature* 346, 274–276. doi: 10.1038/346274a0
- Groot Kormelink, T., Arkesteijn, G. J. A., van de Lest, C. H., Geerts, W. J., Goerdayal, S. S., Altelaar, M. A. F., et al. (2016). Mast cell degranulation is accompanied by the release of a selective subset of extracellular vesicles that contain mast cell-specific proteases. *J. Immunol.* 197, 3382–3392. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600614
- Gupta, K., and Harvima, I. T. (2018). Mast cell-neural interactions contribute to pain and itch. *Immunol. Rev.* 282, 168–187. doi: 10.1111/imr.12622
- Jorch, S. K., and Kubes, P. (2017). An emerging role for neutrophil extracellular traps in noninfectious disease. Nat. Med. 23, 279–287. doi: 10.1038/nm.4294
- Keith, I. M., Jin, J., and Saban, R. (1995). Nerve-mast cell interaction in normal guinea pig urinary bladder. J. Comp. Neurol. 363, 28–36. doi: 10.1002/cne. 903630104
- Kempuraj, D., Selvakumar, G. P., Thangavel, R., Ahmed, M. E., Zaheer, S., Raikwar, S. P., et al. (2017). Mast cell activation in brain injury, stress and post-traumatic stress disorder and Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis. *Front. Neurosci.* 11:703. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00703
- Khalil, M., Ronda, J., Weintraub, M., Jain, K., Silver, R., and Silverman, A.-J. (2007). Brain mast cell relationship to neurovasculature during development. *Brain Res.* 1171, 18–29. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2007.07.034
- Khalil, M. H., Silverman, A.-J., and Silver, R. (2003). Mast cells in the rat brain synthesize gonadotropin-releasing hormone. J. Neurobiol. 56, 113–124. doi: 10.1002/neu.10220
- Knowland, D., Arac, A., Sekiguchi, K. J., Hsu, M., Lutz, S. E., Perrino, J., et al. (2014). Stepwise recruitment of transcellular and paracellular pathways underlies blood-brain barrier breakdown in stroke. *Neuron* 82, 603–617. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.03.003
- Kunder, C. A., St John, A. L., and Abraham, S. N. (2011). Mast cell modulation of the vascular and lymphatic endothelium. *Blood* 118, 5383–5393. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-07-358432
- Lehner, C., Gehwolf, R., Tempfer, H., Krizbai, I., Hennig, B., Bauer, H.-C., et al. (2011). Oxidative stress and blood-brain barrier dysfunction under particular consideration of matrix metalloproteinases. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 15, 1305–1323. doi: 10.1089/ars.2011.3923
- Leon, A., Buriani, A., Dal Toso, R., Fabris, M., Romanello, S., Aloe, L., et al. (1994). Mast cells synthesize, store and release nerve growth factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 91, 3739–3743. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.9.3739
- Lin, A. M., Rubin, C. J., Khandpur, R., Wang, J. Y., Riblett, M., Yalavarthi, S., et al. (2011). Mast cells and neutrophils release il-17 through extracellular trap formation in psoriasis. *J. Immunol.* 187, 490–500. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1100123
- Manning, K. A., Pienkowski, T. P., and Uhlrich, D. J. (1994). Histaminergic and non-histamine-immunoreactive mast cells within the cat lateral geniculate complex examined with light and electron microscopy. *Neuroscience* 63, 191–206. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(94)90016-7
- Marshall, J. S. (2004). Mast-cell responses to pathogens. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 4, 787–799. doi: 10.1038/nri1460
- Mattila, O. S., Strbian, D., Saksi, J., Pikkarainen, T. O., Rantanen, V., Tatlisumak, T., et al. (2011). Cerebral mast cells mediate blood-brain barrier disruption in acute experimental ischemic stroke through perivascular gelatinase activation. *Stroke* 42, 3600–3605. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.111. 632224
- Mitsui, H., Furitsu, T., Dvorak, A. M., Irani, A. M., Schwartz, L. B., Inagaki, N., et al. (1993). Development of human mast cells from umbilical cord blood cells by recombinant human and murine c-kit ligand. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 90, 735–739. doi: 10.1073/pnas.90.2.735
- Möllerherm, H., von Köckritz-Blickwede, M., and Branitzki-Heinemann, K. (2016). Antimicrobial activity of mast cells: role and relevance of extracellular DNA traps. *Front. Immunol.* 7:265. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00265
- Morellini, N., Finch, P. M., Goebel, A., and Drummond, P. D. (2018). Dermal nerve fibre and mast cell density and proximity of mast cells to nerve fibres

in the skin of patients with complex regional pain syndrome. *Pain* 159, 2021–2029. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001304

- Murphy, P. G., Borthwick, L. S., Johnston, R. S., Kuchel, G., and Richardson, P. M. (1999). Nature of the retrograde signal from injured nerves that induces interleukin-6 mRNA in neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 19, 3791–3800. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.19-10-03791.1999
- Nakamura, Y., Franchi, L., Kambe, N., Meng, G., Strober, W., and Núñez, G. (2012). Critical role for mast cells in interleukin-1β-driven skin inflammation associated with an activating mutation in the nlrp3 protein. *Immunity* 37, 85–95. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.04.013
- Nishida, K., Yamasaki, S., Ito, Y., Kabu, K., Hattori, K., Tezuka, T., et al. (2005). FccRI-mediated mast cell degranulation requires calcium-independent microtubule-dependent translocation of granules to the plasma membrane. *J. Cell Biol.* 170, 115–126. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200501111
- Park, C.-K., Xu, Z.-Z., Berta, T., Han, Q., Chen, G., Liu, X.-J., et al. (2014). Extracellular microRNAs activate nociceptor neurons to elicit pain via TLR7 and TRPA1. *Neuron* 82, 47–54. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.02.011
- Schauer, C., Janko, C., Munoz, L. E., Zhao, Y., Kienhöfer, D., Frey, B., et al. (2014). Aggregated neutrophil extracellular traps limit inflammation by degrading cytokines and chemokines. *Nat. Med.* 20, 511–517. doi: 10.1038/nm.3547
- Schreibelt, G., Kooij, G., Reijerkerk, A., Van Doorn, R., Gringhuis, S. I., van Der Pol, S., et al. (2007). Reactive oxygen species alter brain endothelial tight junction dynamics via RhoA, PI3 kinase and PKB signaling. *FASEB J.* 21, 3666–3676. doi: 10.1096/fj.07-8329com
- Silverman, A. J., Sutherland, A. K., Wilhelm, M., and Silver, R. (2000). Mast cells migrate from blood to brain. J. Neurosci. 20, 401–408. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci. 20-01-00401.2000
- Sjoerdsma, A., Waalkes, T. P., and Weissbach, H. (1957). Serotonin and histamine in mast cells. *Science* 125, 1202–1203. doi: 10.1126/science.125.3259.1202
- Skaper, S. D., and Facci, L. (2012). Mast cell-glia axis in neuroinflammation and therapeutic potential of the anandamide congener palmitoylethanolamide. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 367, 3312–3325. doi: 10.1098/rstb.20 11.0391
- Skokos, D., Botros, H. G., Demeure, C., Morin, J., Peronet, R., Birkenmeier, G., et al. (2003). Mast cell-derived exosomes induce phenotypic and functional maturation of dendritic cells and elicit specific immune responses *in vivo*. *J. Immunol.* 170, 3037–3045. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.6.3037
- Stoiber, W., Obermayer, A., Steinbacher, P., and Krautgartner, W. D. (2015). The role of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the formation of extracellular traps (ETs) in humans. *Biomolecules* 5, 702–723. doi: 10.3390/biom5020702
- Taracanova, A., Alevizos, M., Karagkouni, A., Weng, Z., Norwitz, E., Conti, P., et al. (2017). SP and IL-33 together markedly enhance TNF synthesis and secretion from human mast cells mediated by the interaction of their receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 114, E4002–E4009. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1524845114
- Taracanova, A., Tsilioni, I., Conti, P., Norwitz, E. R., Leeman, S. E., and Theoharides, T. C. (2018). Substance P and IL-33 administered together stimulate a marked secretion of IL-1β from human mast cells, inhibited by methoxyluteolin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 115, E9381–E9390. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1810133115
- Tore, F., and Tuncel, N. (2009). Mast cells: target and source of neuropeptides. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 15, 3433–3445. doi: 10.2174/138161209789105036
- van Wetering, S., van Buul, J. D., Quik, S., Mul, F. P. J., Anthony, E. C., Ten Klooster, J.-P., et al. (2002). Reactive oxygen species mediate Rac-induced loss of cell-cell adhesion in primary human endothelial cells. *J. Cell Sci.* 115, 1837–1846.
- Vincent, L., Vang, D., Nguyen, J., Benson, B., Lei, J., and Gupta, K. (2016). Cannabinoid receptor-specific mechanisms to ameliorate pain in sickle cell anemia via inhibition of mast cell activation and neurogenic inflammation. *Haematologica* 101, 566–577. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2015.136523
- Vincent, L., Vang, D., Nguyen, J., Gupta, M., Luk, K., Ericson, M. E., et al. (2013). Mast cell activation contributes to sickle cell pathobiology and pain in mice. *Blood* 122, 1853–1862. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-04-498105
- Vukman, K. V., Försönits, A., Oszvald, Á., Tóth, E. Á., and Buzás, E. I. (2017). Mast cell secretome: soluble and vesicular components. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 67, 65–73. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2017.02.002
- Weng, Z., Zhang, B., Tsilioni, I., and Theoharides, T. C. (2016). Nanotube formation: a rapid form of "alarm signaling"? *Clin. Ther.* 38, 1066–1072. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2016.02.030

- Wilhelm, M., Silver, R., and Silverman, A. J. (2005). Central nervous system neurons acquire mast cell products via transgranulation. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 22, 2238–2248. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.04429.x
- Xanthos, D. N., Gaderer, S., Drdla, R., Nuro, E., Abramova, A., Ellmeier, W., et al. (2011). Central nervous system mast cells in peripheral inflammatory nociception. *Mol. Pain* 7:42. doi: 10.1186/1744-80 69-7-42
- Yuan, H., Zhu, X., Zhou, S., Chen, Q., Zhu, X., Ma, X., et al. (2010). Role of mast cell activation in inducing microglial cells to release neurotrophin. J. Neurosci. Res. 88, 1348–1354. doi: 10.1002/jnr.22304
- Zhuang, X., Silverman, A. J., and Silver, R. (1996). Brain mast cell degranulation regulates blood-brain barrier. *J. Neurobiol.* 31, 393–403. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-4695(199612)31:4<393::aid-neu1>3.0. co;2-4

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** KG is a Consultant for Tau Tona Group and Novartis but it does not have conflict with the present work.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Mittal, Sagi, Gupta and Gupta. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





### PACAP-38 and PACAP(6–38) Degranulate Rat Meningeal Mast Cells *via* the Orphan MrgB<sub>3</sub>-Receptor

Sara Hougaard Pedersen<sup>1,2</sup>, Sanne Hage la Cour<sup>1,2</sup>, Kirstine Calloe<sup>3</sup>, Frank Hauser<sup>4</sup>, Jes Olesen<sup>1,2</sup>, Dan Arne Klaerke<sup>3</sup> and Inger Jansen-Olesen<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Glostrup Research Institute, Danish Headache Center, Department of Neurology, Rigshospitalet Glostrup, Copenhagen, Denmark, <sup>2</sup>Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, <sup>3</sup>Department of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Frederiksberg C, Denmark, <sup>4</sup>Cell and Neurobiology, Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

Infusion of pituitary adenylate cyclase activating peptide-38 (PACAP-38) provokes migraine attacks in migraineurs and headache in non-migraineurs. Adverse events like long-lasting flushing and heat sensation can be terminated with oral antihistamine treatment, indicating the involvement of mast cell activation after PACAP-infusion. Degranulation of rat peritoneal mast cells was provoked by several isoforms of PACAP via previously unknown receptor pharmacology. The effect might thus be mediated either via specific splice variants of the PAC1-receptor or via an unknown receptor for PACAP-38. In the present study, we characterize degranulation of rat meningeal mast cells in response to PACAP-receptor ligands. Furthermore, we investigate if PACAP-38-induced mast cell degranulation is mediated via PAC1-receptor splice variants and/or via the orphan Mas-related G-protein coupled member B3 (MrgB<sub>3</sub>)-receptor. To address this, the pharmacological effect of different PACAP isoforms on meningeal mast cell degranulation was investigated in the hemisected skull model after toluidine blue staining followed by microscopic quantification. Presence of mRNA encoding PAC1receptor splice variants and the MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor in rat mast cells was investigated by Reverse Transcriptase-Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR) analysis. The effect of PACAP isoforms on PAC<sub>1</sub>- and MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor-expressing Xenopus laevis oocytes were performed by two-electrode voltage-clamp (TEVC) electrophysiology. PACAP-38 is a more potent mast cell degranulating agent than Pituitary Adenylate Cyclase Activating Peptide-27 (PACAP-27) in the meninges. Presence of mRNA encoding the PAC1receptor and its different splice variants could not be detected in peritoneal mast cells by RT-PCR, whereas the orphan MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor, recently suggested to be a mediator of basic secretagogues-induced mast cell degranulation, was widely present. In PAC1-receptor-expressing Xenopus laevis oocytes both PACAP-38, PACAP-27 and the specific PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor agonist maxadilan were equipotent, however, only PACAP-38

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Kalpna Gupta, University of Minnesota Twin Cities, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Kempuraj Duraisamy, University of Missouri, United States Anupam Aich, Intel, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Inger Jansen-Olesen inger.jansen-olesen@regionh.dk

Received: 27 December 2018 Accepted: 08 March 2019 Published: 28 March 2019

#### Citation:

Pedersen SH, la Cour SH, Calloe K, Hauser F, Olesen J, Klaerke DA and Jansen-Olesen I (2019) PACAP-38 and PACAP(6–38) Degranulate Rat Meningeal Mast Cells via the Orphan MrgB<sub>3</sub>-Receptor. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:114. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00114

Abbreviations: BSA, Bovine Serum Albumin; MrgB3, Mas-related G-protein coupled receptor member B3; MrgX2, Mas-related G-protein coupled receptor member X2; PACAP-27, Pituitary Adenylate Cyclase Activating Peptide-27; PACAP-38, Pituitary Adenylate Cyclase Activating Peptide-38; PACAP(6–38), Pituitary Adenylate Cyclase Activating Peptide(6–38); PLC, Phospholipase C; RT-PCR, Reverse Transcriptase-Polymerase Chain Reaction; TEVC, Two-Electrode Voltage Clamp; VIP, Vasoactive Intestinal Peptide.

showed a significant degranulatory effect on mast cells. We confirmed Pituitary Adenylate Cyclase Activating Peptide(6–38) [PACAP(6–38)] to be a PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor antagonist, and we demonstrated that it is a potent mast cell degranulator and have an agonistic effect on MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptors expressed in oocytes. The present study provides evidence that PACAP-induced mast cell degranulation in rat is mediated through a putative new PACAP-receptor with the order of potency being: PACAP-38 = PACAP(6–38) > PACAP-27 = maxadilan. The results suggest that the observed responses are mediated *via* the orphan MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor.

Keywords: migraine, pituitary adenylate cyclase activating peptide, dura mater, *Xenopus laevis* oocytes, mast cell, Mas-related G-protein coupled receptor member B3, PAC1-receptor, two-electrode voltage clamp

#### INTRODUCTION

Pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating peptide-38 (PACAP-38) is a 38-amino acid neuropeptide located in both sensory and parasympathetic perivascular nerve fibers (Moller et al., 1993; Mulder et al., 1994). A C-terminal truncated 27-amino acid (PACAP-27) version is endogenously present as well but is less abundant (Miyata et al., 1990; Arimura et al., 1991; Ogi et al., 1993). A 20-min intravenous infusion of PACAP-38 provokes migraine attacks in migraine patients as well as headache in non-migraineurs (Schytz et al., 2009). At present, three PACAP-receptors have been identified: PAC<sub>1</sub>, VPAC<sub>1</sub> and VPAC<sub>2</sub>. The neurotransmitter vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) shares high amino acid sequence homology with PACAP and its affinity to VPAC<sub>1</sub> and VPAC<sub>2</sub> equals that of PACAP (Spengler et al., 1993; Pantaloni et al., 1996) whereas binding to the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor is 1,000 times lower (Miyata et al., 1989, 1990; Harmar et al., 1998). Interestingly, VIP only induces a mild headache and no migraine-like attacks in migraineurs (Rahmann et al., 2008), which leads to the suggestion that PACAP and the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor are key targets for future migraine treatment.

Infusion of PACAP-38 caused not only migraine attacks but also heat sensation and long-lasting flushing (Schytz et al., 2009). This is in line with PACAP-38 being a mast cell degranulator and mast cells have been suggested to play a role in migraine pathogenesis (Moskowitz, 1993; Levy et al., 2006, 2007). Degranulation of mast cells can be induced either by an allergen-IgE-dependent mechanism or *via* an IgE-independent mechanism. The latter mechanism can be activated by a group of molecules known as basic secretagogues. These molecules only share one physicochemical nature, their cationic property (Ferry et al., 2002). Several of these molecules are endogenous peptides and high concentrations are required for initiation of mast cell degranulation, an effect that involves pertussis toxin-sensitive G-proteins coupled to phospholipase C (PLC) activation (Ferry et al., 2002).

Inspired by clinical findings, we have previously characterized the degranulating effect of various PACAP-analogues on isolated rat peritoneal mast cells. Based on the expectation that degranulation is mediated through the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor, we found an unpredicted order of potency (Baun et al., 2012). In peritoneal mast cells, the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor antagonist Pituitary Adenylate Cyclase Activating Peptide(6–38) [PACAP(6–38)] caused mast cell degranulation that was as potent as PACAP-38 (Robberecht et al., 1992; Baun et al., 2012). Furthermore, the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor agonist maxadilan was ineffective (Baun et al., 2012).

Several PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor splice variants have been cloned and characterized by ligand binding and signal transduction (Spengler et al., 1993; Pantaloni et al., 1996; Pisegna and Wank, 1996; Dautzenberg et al., 1999; Lutz et al., 2006). In 2006, Tatemoto et al. (2006) found the Mas-related G-protein coupled receptor member  $X_2$  (Mrg $X_2$ ) to be present in human mast cells. Mast cell degranulation induced by basic secretagogues appeared in the same concentrations as responses found in Mrg $X_2$ expressing cells. The rat counterpart of Mrg $X_2$  was found to be the Mas-related G-protein coupled receptor member B<sub>3</sub> (MrgB<sub>3</sub>; Tatemoto et al., 2006). In the present study, we hypothesized that PACAP mediated degranulation by rat peritoneal and dural mast cells were either caused by a splice variant of the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor or *via* MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptors.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Animals

A total of 115 male Sprague-Dawley rats weighing 320–440 g (Taconic Europe, Ejby, Denmark) were used in this study. The rats were group-housed under a 12-h light/dark cycle and allowed *ad libitum* access to a standard rodent diet and water. All rats were euthanized by inhalation of a  $CO_2/O_2$ -mixture followed by  $CO_2$  asphyxiation. Experimental procedures were approved by the National Danish Animal Experiments Inspectorate (License number 2014-15-0201-00256) and carried out in accordance with Danish legislation.

#### Mast Cell Degranulation in Hemi-skull Preparations

Mast cell degranulation was performed as previously described (Pedersen et al., 2015). In brief, skulls were cut mid-sagittal and the brain halves were removed, leaving the dura mater undisturbed. This was followed by immediate addition of either 350  $\mu$ l 0.1, 1 or 10  $\mu$ M PACAP-38 (custom synthesis by Caslo Laboratory ApS, Lyngby, Denmark) or vehicle (saline) in phosphate buffered saline (PBS). After 30 s incubation, the reactions were terminated, and the skulls were fixated in 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate buffered saline (PBS;

TABLE 1   Primers designed for detection of the housekeeping gene β-actin, the N-terminal part and the hip-hop variants of the PAC1-receptor and the MrgB3-receiptor	eptor
--	-------

Primer	Forward (5'→3')	Reverse $(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Product size	
β-actin	tca aca ccc cag cca tgt acg	cag gaa gga agg ctg gaa gag	422 bp	
N-terminal	tct gac tgc atc ttc aag aag	acc gac agg tag taa taa tcc	392 bp	
Hip + Hop	ctt gta cag aag ctg cag tcc cca gac atg	ccg gtg ctt gaa gtc cat agt gaa gta acg gtt cac ctt	471bp / 387 bp	
MrgB <sub>3</sub>	ccc ctg gaa tgt tct ttt gtg tag	aca gtg aaa aat gca gga act tcg	259 bp	

Each set of forward and reverse primer was designed in Primer3 (Broad Institute) against the Adcyap1r1 gene (NM\_001270582.1), RGD1560730 (XM\_006229262.3) encoding the MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor, and  $\beta$ -actin and tested for specificity by BLAST alignment tool (NCBI). The sizes of the amplified sequences are shown as base pair (bp).

Glostrup Hospital Pharmacy, Denmark). The dura mater was dissected from the skull, whole mounted on slides, and mast cells were visualized by staining with 0.1% acidified toluidine blue (Sigma Aldrich, Germany). Tissues were dehydrated in graded alcohols prior to cover slip mounting. The level of mast cell degranulation was evaluated by  $400 \times$  magnification (Nikon Eclipse Ni microscope) by a researcher blinded to the treatment and was counted in 10 consecutive fields along the stem part of the middle meningeal artery. Mast cells were considered degranulated if an extensive dispersion of more than 10 extruded granules were localized outside the cell or if an extensive loss of staining gave the cell a "ghostly" look.

# Peritoneal Mast Cell Isolation and RNA-Extraction

Peritoneal mast cells were harvested from three rats by injecting 20 ml oxygenated buffer (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5 nM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.4 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 10 mM HEPES and 5.6 mM glucose, pH 7.6) in the peritoneal cavity of asphyxiated rats. The cavity was then gently massaged and subsequently opened by midline incision for the lavage to be removed by pipetting. Cells were washed three times by sedimentation at 13°C by a 7 min centrifugation at 400 g. The pellet was re-suspended in 5 ml oxygenated buffer and layered on top of a BSA-Percoll<sup>®</sup> density gradient (81%) containing 162 µl 35% bovine serum albumin (BSA), 8.1 ml Percoll® (GE Healthcare, Buckinghamsure, UK), 580 µl distilled water and 1.16 ml salt solution (1.54 M NaCl, 27 mM KCl, 3.8 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>). Cell types were separated by centrifugation at 225 g for 25 min at 13°C. The density gradient was discarded, and the pellet was again washed three times. The purity of mast cells was determined by histological characterization of the percentwise mast cell fraction. Only samples with a purity >90% were used for further analysis. Peritoneal mast cell RNA was extracted using the Isolation of Small and Large RNA Kit (Macherey-Nagel, Germany) in combination with TRIzol<sup>®</sup> (Qiagen) according to manufacturer's recommendations.

# Reverse Transcriptase-Polymerase Chain Reaction

cDNA was synthesized from 500 ng peritoneal mast cell RNA using the iScript cDNA Synthesis kit (BioRad) according to instructions. PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor splice variants were identified in peritoneal mast cells and spinal cord using HotStarTaq<sup>®</sup> DNA polymerase (QIAGEN) with 10  $\mu$ M primer. The MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor was only tested in mast cell RNA. Primers

against the Adcyap1r1 gene (NM\_001270582.1, encoding the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor), RGD1560730 (XM\_006229262.3, encoding the MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor), and β-actin were designed in Primer3 (Broad Institute) and tested for specificity by BLAST alignment tool (NCBI) and ordered from DNA Technology, Aarhus, Denmark (Table 1). PAC1-primers were specifically designed to span the extracellular N-terminal (exon 3 to exon 8), exon 14 (known as "hip") and exon 15 (known as "hop"). β-actin was included as a positive control. The amplification protocol was as follows: initial heat activation at 95°C for 15 min, followed by 45 cycles with denaturation at 95°C for 1 min, annealing at variable temperatures depends on the primer set (50°C for  $\beta$ -actin and N-terminal, 56°C for MrgB<sub>3</sub> and 66°C for Hip + Hop) for 1 min, and extension at 72°C for 1 min; final extension at 72°C for 10 min. Reverse Transcriptase-Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR) products were visualized by agarose gel electrophoresis.

### In vitro Transcription

DNA of the coding region of Rattus Norvegicus Adcyap1r1 variant 5 (NM\_001270582.1) encoding the null-splice variant (short N-terminal and neither exon 14 or 15) of the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor (Vector: EX-Rn10199-M03) was ordered from GeneCopoeia. DNA encoding the RGD1560730 gene (XM\_006229262.3, GenScript), was cloned into the pXOOM vector as previously described (Jespersen et al., 2002). DNA was purified using Plasmid DNA Purification NucleoBond Xtra Midi-kit (Macherey-Nagel). The inserts were fully sequenced (MWG Operon) to confirm the expected sequence (data not shown). Extracted plasmids were linearized down-stream the poly(A) segment using the XhoI restriction enzyme (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA). RNA was in vitro transcribed by synthetization from the T7 RNA polymerase promoter using the mMessenger mMachine kit (Ambion) according to manufacturer's protocol. Messenger RNA was purified using the MEGAclear kit (Ambion). Transcribed RNA integrity was assessed by agarose gel electrophoresis.

# Expression in *Xenopus laevis* Oocytes and Two-Electrode Voltage Clamp

Stage V and VI defolliculated *Xenopus laevis* oocytes were purchased from EcoCyte Bioscience (Dortmund, Germany) and kept in Kulori medium (90 mM NaCl, 4 mM KCl, 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, and 5 mM Hepes, pH 7.4). Oocytes were micro-injected with 50 nl mRNA solution containing 30 ng RNA per oocyte and incubated at 19°C. Currents were

TABLE 2   The number of degranulated n	neningeal mast cells in % of total number of	of mast cells after 30 s incubation w	ith either vehicle, PACAP-	38 or PACAP-27 in
concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 10 µM.				

Conc. (μM)	Number of exp.	Vehicle to PACAP-38 (% degranulation)	PACAP-38 (% degranulation)	Vehicle to PACAP-27 (% degranulation)	PACAP-27 (% degranulation)
0.1	5	8.5 ± 3.0	12.4 ± 3.8	4.7 ± 1.9	7.1 ± 3.2
1.0	6	$7.2 \pm 1.3$	$17.9 \pm 3.7$	$7.2 \pm 2.0$	$16.9 \pm 5.5$
10.0	6	$6.2 \pm 1.7$	$48.4 \pm 6.2^{****}$	$5.9 \pm 1.3$	$12.1\pm3.8$

Values are presented as means  $\pm$  SEM. Statistical analysis (Two-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's test) was performed to find significant differences in mast cell degranulation induced by each substance in each concentration. Significance is given as \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001.

measured after 2-5 days using a conventional two-electrodevoltage clamp (TEVC). The oocytes were placed in a 200 µl chamber and continuously exposed to a flow of Kulori medium with or without ligands (1 ml/min) while impaled with both a current and a voltage electrode filled with 3 M KCl and connected to an Oocyte Clamp Amplifier [Warner Instruments Corp. (OC-725 B) and a PC-interface (Digidata1440A, Molecular Devices)]. Current amplitude in absence or presence of ligands were analyzed using pClamp 10.2 software (Molecular Devices). All experiments were performed with oocyte membrane voltages constantly clamped to -70 mV and the temperature was kept between 19 and 22°C. In activation experiments, non-responding as well as low-responding (<10 nA) oocytes were excluded from the dataset. Ligands PACAP-38, PACAP-27, PACAP(6-38) were custom synthetized by Caslo (Lyngby, Denmark) while maxadilan was purchased from Bachem (Bubendorf, Switzerland).

Due to receptor desensitization, it was not possible to repeat measurements on individual oocytes, so only one dose could be tested per egg. Different batches of oocytes showed different expression levels and all figures are based on several batches of oocytes.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Concentration-response curves for both oocytes and dural mast cells were analyzed for overall effects of PACAP-38 and -27 by two-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) followed by Sidak's test for multiple pairwise comparisons. Effects of PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor ligands on mast cell degranulation or on receptor-expressing oocytes were analyzed with a one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test. The effect of PACAP-38 and PACAP(6–38) on MrgB<sub>3</sub>-expressing oocytes were analyzed by an unpaired two-tailed *t*-test. Differences between groups were considered significant when p < 0.05 and data are presented as mean with standard error of the mean (±SEM). GraphPad Prism 7 (GraphPad Prism Software, San Diego, CA, USA) was used for statistical analysis.

#### RESULTS

# Effects of PACAP-38 and PACAP-27 on Dura Mast Cell Degranulation

PACAP-provoked mast cell degranulation was characterized by stimulating the dura mater with PACAP-38, PACAP-27 or saline in concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 10  $\mu$ M (n = 5-6; **Table 2**). PACAP-38 stimulation resulted in an eight-fold increase and highly significant mast cell degranulation at the 10  $\mu$ M concentration (p < 0.0001). However, even at the highest tested concentration, PACAP-27 did not induce mast cell degranulation that was significantly different from saline treatment.

# Splice Variants of PAC<sub>1</sub>-Receptor in Rat Peritoneal Mast Cells

Because mast cell degranulation induced by increasing concentrations of the different PACAP-isoforms did not follow the known order of potencies for  $PAC_1$ -,  $VPAC_1$ - or  $VPAC_2$ -receptors, we investigated the presence of  $PAC_1$ -receptor mRNA and possible splice variants by using RT-PCR (**Figure 1**). As a positive control, we included rat spinal cord tissue in which the  $PAC_1$ -receptor previously has been localized (Dickinson et al., 1999). We performed RT-PCR analysis targeted to several areas involved in splice variation of the  $PAC_1$ -receptor (N-terminal, exon 14 and exon 15) and found the  $PAC_1$ -receptor to be absent in mast cells and present in spinal cord (**Figure 1**). The lack of  $PAC_1$ -receptor mRNA expression in rat peritoneal mast cells indicates mast cell degranulation to be mediated *via* a non- $PAC_1$ -receptor.

# mRNA Expression of MrgB<sub>3</sub>-Receptor in Rat Peritoneal Mast Cells

The PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor was not expressed in rat peritoneal mast cells. Thus, we investigated a possible expression of the MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor as previously shown (Tatemoto et al., 2006). Using primers directed towards MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor mRNA, we found it to be expressed in rat peritoneal mast cells (**Figure 2**). Therefore, we decided to study the effect of PACAP isoforms on MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptors and to compare the pharmacological profile on the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor using TEVC in the *Xenopus laevis* oocyte expression system.

# Effects of PACAP-38 and -27 on PAC<sub>1</sub>- and MrgB<sub>3</sub>-Receptors Expressed in *Xenopus laevis* Oocytes

Effects of PACAP-38 and PACAP-27 on PAC<sub>1</sub>- and MrgB<sub>3</sub>receptors expressed in *Xenopus laevis* oocytes were investigated by TEVC. Upon addition of PACAP-38 and/or PACAP-27 at concentrations ranging from 0.01 to 1  $\mu$ M to PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptorexpressing *Xenopus laevis* oocytes, a rapid concentrationdepended inward current was observed (**Figure 3A**) consistent with activation of an endogenous Cl<sup>-</sup> current following receptor activation. These findings confirmed the aforementioned studies



**FIGURE 1** | Agarose gel electrophoresis showing the absence of mRNA-expression of PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor splice variants in rat peritoneal mast cells (left) and their presence in rat spinal cord (right) using primers directed towards the N-terminal part of the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor (392 bp) and exon 14 and 15 of the Hop-Hop variant of the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor (upper amplicon 471 bp and lower 387 bp). Primers detecting  $\beta$ -actin (422 bp) was used as a positive control and was present in both tissues. The experiment was performed in peritoneal mast cells from three rats.



**FIGURE 2** | Agarose gel electrophoresis showing the RT-PCR-product corresponding the presence of mRNA encoding the MrgB<sub>3</sub> receptor (259 bp) in rat peritoneal mast cells. No band is seen in the negative control [(–) control] where mRNA was not reverse transcribed to cDNA prior to amplification. The experiment was performed in peritoneal mast cells from three rats.

of PACAP-38 and PACAP-27 being equipotent on the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor (Shivers et al., 1991; Pisegna and Wank, 1993). At 0.1  $\mu$ M, PACAP-38 and PACAP-27-induced currents of  $-0.93 \pm 3 \mu$ A (n = 19) and  $-1.04 \pm 3 \mu$ A (n = 15), respectively. Stimulation with 1  $\mu$ M of PACAP-38 and PACAP-27 resulted in currents of  $-2.27 \pm 4 \mu$ A (n = 15) and  $-1.96 \pm 5 \mu$ A (n = 13), respectively.

In MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor-expressing oocytes, PACAP-38, but not PACAP-27, induced a rapid concentration-depended inward current in the concentration range of 1–10  $\mu$ M (n = 3-24). The maximum current induced by PACAP-38 was -1.87  $\pm$  5  $\mu A$ (n = 12) at 3  $\mu$ M (Figure 3B). The maximum response to PACAP-27 was found at 10 µM resulting in a current of  $-0.14 \pm 0.4 \ \mu A$  (n = 10), which was not significantly different from baseline. These rapid responses were not seen in un-injected oocytes. In concentrations between 0.1 and 3  $\mu M$ no effect was observed in un-injected oocytes, indicating that Xenopus laevis oocytes do not endogenously express PAC1- or MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptors. However, concentrations at 10 µM PACAP-38 (15 out of 19 oocytes) but not PACAP-27 occasionally caused a delayed long-lasting response in un-injected oocytes, which was distinct from the above described fast responses. Thus, 10 µM PACAP-38 was not included in the experiments. Taken together, expression of the PAC1-receptor and the MrgB3receptor in Xenopus laevis oocytes shows that PAC<sub>1</sub> is activated by PACAP-27 as well as PACAP-38, whereas the MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor is activated by PACAP-38 only. Thus, the activation profile



**FIGURE 3** | (A) Two-electrode voltage clamp performed on *Xenopus laevis* oocytes expressing the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor (n = 8-19,  $n_{control} = 6-16$ ) showed that increasing concentrations (0.01–10  $\mu$ M) of PACAP-38 and PACAP-27 cause a significant increase in membrane current. The inward currents are measured at a holding potential of -70 mV. In (B) the *Xenopus laevis* oocytes is expressing the MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor (n = 4-24,  $n_{control} = 3-13$ ). In these oocytes only PACAP-38 induces a significant change in current (Vm = -70 mV). (C) Concentration-response curves of PACAP-38 and PACAP-27 on rat meningeal mast cell degranulation after 30 s stimulation at concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 10  $\mu$ M. It was found that a significant mast cell degranulation only was observed after stimulation with PACAP-38. Values are given as percentage of degranulated mast cells of total number of counted mast cells (n = 5-6). \*Represent p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.001, and \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001 [two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), Sidak's multiple comparisons test]. All values are given as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM).

found for  $MrgB_3$  resembles the effects of ligands observed for mast cell degranulation (**Figure 3C**). Taken together, mast cell degranulation induced by PACAP-38 and PACAP-27 in the meninges resembled mostly the current changes evoked in  $MrgB_3$ -receptor transfected oocytes.

### Pharmacological Characterization of MrgB<sub>3</sub>- and PAC<sub>1</sub>-Receptor-Expressing Oocytes as Compared to Mast Cell Degranulation

### Effect of $PAC_1$ -Receptor Agonist Maxadilan on $MrgB_3$ - and $PAC_1$ -Receptors

Next, we characterized mast cell degranulation in response to the specific PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor agonist maxadilan. We found that neither PACAP-27 nor maxadilan caused mast cell degranulation  $(12 \pm 4\%, n = 6 \text{ and } 5 \pm 2\%, n = 5, \text{ respectively})$ despite the high concentration (10  $\mu$ M) tested (Figure 4A). When we compared the potencies of the same agonists in a relevant concentration (0.1 µM) in PAC<sub>1</sub>-expressing Xenopus laevis oocytes, we observed that PACAP-27 and maxadilan induced changes in currents of  $-0.26 \pm 1 \ \mu A \ (n = 14)$ and  $-0.21 \pm 0.8 \ \mu A$  (n = 15), respectively. These responses were not significantly different (p = 0.8669) from currents observed after application of PACAP-38 (-0.27  $\pm$  0.6  $\mu$ A, n = 21; Figures 4B, 5A–C). In MrgB<sub>3</sub>-expressing oocytes, 3  $\mu$ M PACAP-38 caused currents of  $-1.87 \pm 5 \mu A$  (*n* = 12) that was significantly stronger than the effect induced by either 3  $\mu$ M PACAP-27 ( $-0.06 \pm 0.2 \mu \text{A}$ , n = 8) or up to 10  $\mu \text{M}$  maxadilan  $(-0.03 \pm 0 \ \mu\text{A}, n = 9;$  Figures 4C, 5D-F). Currents were not observed when PACAP-38, PACAP-27 or maxadilan were added to un-injected oocytes in the same concentrations (data not shown). Thus, this series of experiments conclude that maxadilan, PACAP-27 and PACAP-38 activates the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor with apparently equal potencies, whereas maxadilan does not activate MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptors.

## Effect of PAC<sub>1</sub>-Receptor Antagonist PACAP(6–38) on MrgB<sub>3</sub>- and PAC<sub>1</sub>-Receptors

Pharmacological characterization of PACAP-mediated mast cell degranulation was studied using the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor antagonist PACAP(6-38). As previously shown in peritoneal mast cells this antagonist showed agonistic properties in meningeal mast cells by inducing a significant (p < 0.0001) and almost complete degranulation (93  $\pm$  2%, n = 7) when administered in a concentration of 10  $\mu$ M (Figure 6A). This response was very similar to degranulation induced by PACAP-38 (96  $\pm$  3%, n = 5). In PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor-expressing oocytes PACAP(6-38) in a concentration of 0.1 µM had, as expected, no effect  $(-5 \pm 6 \text{ nA}, n = 9)$ . However, the effect of PACAP-38  $(-0.18 \pm 0.5 \mu \text{A}, n = 11)$  was significantly antagonized when PACAP(6-38) was administered together with PACAP-38 in  $0.1 \ \mu M \ (-0.05 \pm 0.02 \ \mu A, \ n = 10; \text{ Figure 6B}).$  In MrgB<sub>3</sub>receptor-expressing oocytes, 3 µM PACAP(6-38) induced a change in the current of  $-2.17 \pm 3 \,\mu\text{A}$  (*n* = 27), which was not significantly different from the response induced by PACAP-38  $(-1.62 \pm 4 \,\mu\text{A}, n = 21;$  Figure 6C).

### DISCUSSION

PACAP-38, but not the related peptide VIP, induces migraine headache in migraineurs suggesting the specific PACAPreceptor, PAC<sub>1</sub>, as a potential target for migraine treatment (Rahmann et al., 2008; Schytz et al., 2009). Furthermore, all participants in the clinical provocation studies experienced long-lasting flushing, especially on the face and trunk, which could be terminated by antihistamine treatment, suggesting the involvement of mast cell degranulation (Schytz et al., 2009). In a previous series of experiments performed on rat peritoneal mast cells, we found that PACAP-38, but not PACAP-27 and VIP, caused degranulation. In addition, we showed that the selective PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor agonist maxadilan had no effect on mast cell degranulation. It was also found that



**FIGURE 4** | Effect of PACAP-38, PACAP-27 and maxadilan (PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor agonist) on (**A**) rat meningeal mast cell degranulation following 30 s of 10  $\mu$ M ligand stimulation. PACAP-38-induced a strong degranulation of meningeal mast cells. The mast cells were unresponsive to PACAP-27 and maxadilan. Values are given as percentage of degranulated mast cells from the total number of counted mast cells, *n* = 5–11. (**B**) Measurements on PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor-expressing *Xenopus laevis* oocytes using two-electrode voltage clamp showed similar changes in current during 60 s perfusion of PACAP-38, PACAP-27 or maxadilan (all ligands 0.1  $\mu$ M, *n* = 14–21). (**C**) In MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor-expressing oocytes PACAP-38 and PACAP-27 were perfused in a concentration of 3  $\mu$ M and maxadilan at 10  $\mu$ M (*n* = 8–12). Only PACAP-38 caused a change in current. All measurements were done at a holding potential of –70 mV. In (**A**). \*\*\*represent *p* < 0.001 as compared to control (**A**). In (**C**) ns, *p* = 0.2879 (Mann-Whitney non-parametric *t*-test). \*\*Represent *p* < 0.01 as compared to PACAP-38 (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's multiple comparisons test). Values are given as mean  $\pm$  SEM.



change after perfusion with PACAP-27 (E) and maxadilan (F). The membrane potential was clamped to -70 mV. Scale bars represent 50 nA and 10 s.

the selective PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor antagonist, PACAP(6–38), induced a pronounced mast cell degranulation (Baun et al., 2012). Based on these observations, we suggested that the PACAPprovoked meningeal mast cell degranulation is mediated through another receptor than the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor (Baun et al., 2012). Our results suggest that PACAP-induced degranulation of rat peritoneal and meningeal mast cells is mediated *via* the orphan MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor.

# Pharmacology of PACAP on Mast Cell Degranulation

The weak degranulating effect of VIP and PACAP-27 compared to the strong degranulation effect of PACAP-38 in rat mast cells is inconsistent with the previously reported equipotent profiles of PACAP-38, PACAP-27, and VIP on

VPAC<sub>1</sub>- and VPAC<sub>2</sub>-receptors (Harmar et al., 2012). In migraineurs, VIP does not provoke migraine headache, which suggests VPAC<sub>1</sub>- and VPAC<sub>2</sub>-receptors to be of minor importance in comparison to the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor (Rahmann et al., 2008). Furthermore, the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor antagonist PACAP(6–38) has not been shown to have an affinity to VPAC<sub>1</sub>- and VPAC<sub>2</sub>-receptors (Harmar et al., 2012). Taken together, this leads us to rule out the possible involvement of VPAC<sub>1</sub>- and VPAC<sub>2</sub>-receptors in PACAP-mediated mast cell degranulation.

# Expression of PAC<sub>1</sub>-Receptor Splice Variants

Several different splice variants of the  $PAC_1$ -receptor have been identified in rats. Splice sites in the extracellular N-terminal





domain and the third intracellular loop account for fine tuning of ligand affinity and signal transduction through adenylate cyclase or PLC activation (Deutsch and Sun, 1992; Spengler et al., 1993). The presence of a 21-amino acid domain in the extracellular N-terminal domain (PAC<sub>1</sub>-full, short) impairs PACAP-27 binding (Pantaloni et al., 1996). Hip and hop (exon 14 and 15, respectively) insertions into the third intracellular loop are suggested to modulate G-protein coupling and favor PACAP-38 induced PLC activation *via* Gq-proteins as compared to PACAP-27 (Spengler et al., 1993; Blechman and Levkowitz, 2013). This could explain the difference found in PACAP-38 and PACAP-27 provoked mast cell degranulation. We, therefore, designed primers directed towards the N-terminal part and towards exon 14 and 15. However, using the RT-PCR analysis we were unable to identify PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor expression in the mast cell transcriptome. To further confirm the validity of the primers, we made parallel RT-PCR experiments on mRNA from spinal cord showing the presence of both the N-terminal part and the hip-hop variants of the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor. Based on these findings, we suggest PACAP-38-provoked mast cell degranulation to act *via* a target distinct from PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptors.

#### PACAP as a Basic Secretagogue

Degranulation of mast cells induced via the IgE-independent pathway is mediated by a variety of compounds collectively designated as basic secretagogues. This is a mechanism highly conserved among mammals and birds, which appoints it to be ancient and fundamental (Halpern and Wood, 1950; Taneike et al., 1988). In general, basic secretagogues are positively charged, although hydrophobic structured compounds causing rapid mast cell degranulation [within  $\sim$ 10-20 s through PLC stimulation, which is sensitive to Gi-protein inhibition, e.g., pertussis toxin (Ferry et al., 2002; Tatemoto et al., 2006)]. PACAP-38 induced an almost total mast cell degranulation within the first 10-20 s after application. The degranulation was impaired by the PLC-inhibitor U-73122, whereas adenylyl cyclase inhibitor SQ22536 was ineffective (Baun et al., 2012), indicating PLC activation as the responsible transduction pathway for PACAP-induced mast cell degranulation.

Interestingly, basic secretagogues seem to activate connective type mast cells independent of their putative receptor but only when applied in high concentrations (Ferry et al., 2002). Plotting the net charge of PACAP related molecules at neutral pH towards the level of degranulation induced by these PACAP analogues at 10  $\mu$ M (**Figure 7**), we found a linear relationship with an R<sup>2</sup> value close to 1. Thus, a high net charge of the molecules correlates with a high mast cell degranulating effect of the PACAP analogous tested, and several factors indicate that PACAP may act as a basic secretagogue to cause mast cell degranulation despite the absence of PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptors.

#### **Expression of MrgB<sub>3</sub>-Receptors**

The exact mechanism of basic secretagogue-mediated mast cell degranulation remains unclear. The ability of basic secretagogues to act as direct activators of purified G-proteins as well as numerous failed attempts to identify an endogenously expressed receptor could suggest a receptor-independent mechanism of action (Mousli et al., 1990, 1994; Seebeck et al., 1998). However, this would require the ability of peptides, despite their positive charge, to diffuse across the membrane in order to reach intracellular G-proteins, and as this has not been shown, the hypothesis seems unlikely (Tatemoto et al., 2006). The identification of a basic secretagogue receptor has for a long time been sought but without success (Ferry et al., 2002). In 2006, Tatemoto et al. (2006) studied members of the Mrg family. These are G-protein coupled receptors and expressed in a subset of nociceptive sensory neurons, thus making them interesting targets (Dong et al., 2001; Lembo et al., 2002). Expression of MrgX<sub>2</sub>-receptors in humans and MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptors in rats were shown to be present in connective type mast cells and with affinity to various peptides like PACAP(6-27), mast cell depleting peptide and [D-Trp<sup>7,9,10</sup>]-substance P could link these receptors to PACAP-mediated mast cell degranulation (Tatemoto et al., 2006). In a recent study, MrgX<sub>2</sub>-receptor (human) and MrgB<sub>2</sub>-receptor (which is the mouse orthologue of the human MrgX<sub>2</sub>-receptor and the rat MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor) was convincingly demonstrated to be mast cell-specific and responsible for inflammatory activation by basic secretagogues (McNeil et al., 2015). By RT-PCR, we found the MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor to be present in rat peritoneal mast cells and decided to study the effect of selected PACAP analogues on Xenopus laevis oocytes expressing MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptors and to compare the responses to the effects obtained by the same PACAP analogues on PAC1receptor-expressing oocytes.

#### Experiments on MrgB<sub>3</sub>-Receptor and PAC<sub>1</sub>-Receptor-Expressing Oocytes as Compared to Mast Cell Degranulation

In rat MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor-expressing oocytes, we found that PACAP-38, but not PACAP-27 and maxadilan induces currents. The effect mediated by the different PACAP agonists in the oocytes had the same characteristics as those previously found to induce a significant degranulation of rat meningeal mast cells. The findings were also in line with our previous results from peritoneal mast cells (Baun et al., 2012). Importantly, the concentrations required for effects were in the 1–10  $\mu$ M range. In PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor-expressing oocytes, PACAP-38, PACAP-27 and maxadilan were equipotent and responses were found to be significant at 10 times lower concentrations.

In line with our results from peritoneal mast cells (Baun et al., 2012), we found the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor antagonist PACAP(6–38) both to be a potent degranulator of rat meningeal mast cells and to induce a significant current in MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor-expressing oocytes. Contrarily, PACAP(6–38) showed the predicted antagonistic effect on PACAP-38-induced currents in PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor-expressing oocytes (Harmar et al., 2012). Taken together, our studies suggest mast cell degranulation

to be mediated *via* MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptors and not *via* the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor. However, the conclusion is limited by the fact that currently no selective antibodies or antagonists directed towards the MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor are available to provide the final pharmacological evidence.

Interestingly, a similar finding of PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor pharmacology and functional observations in the rat trigeminovascular system was reported. In these studies, PACAP-38, but neither VIP, PACAP-27 nor maxadilan, mediated the release of the sensory vasodilator peptide, calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) from the trigeminal nucleus caudalis. Furthermore, the response to PACAP-38 seemed not to be mediated *via* PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptors due to lack of inhibition by the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor antagonist M65 (Jansen-Olesen et al., 2014). Future studies will have to rule out if MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptors are involved in PACAP-38induced CGRP release in trigeminal nucleus caudalis.

### CONCLUSION

In the present study, we found PACAP agonists and antagonists to have the same pharmacological effect in meningeal mast cells as previously found in peritoneal mast cells. By RT-PCR, we showed that there was no PAC1-receptor transcription in peritoneal mast cells thus excluding the possibility of the degranulating effect to be mediated via PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor splice variants. However, we found mRNA encoding the rat MrgB3receptor to be expressed in mast cells. This receptor was previously suggested to mediate mast cell degranulation in rat after application of basic secretagogues. This finding led us to investigate the effect of different PACAP analogues on Xenopus laevis oocytes expressing either PAC<sub>1</sub>- or MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptors. The expressed MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor but not the PAC<sub>1</sub>-receptor share the same order of potency for PACAP analogues as found in rat peritoneal and meningeal mast cells. Thus, we hereby suggest the MrgB<sub>3</sub>-receptor to be a mediator for PACAP-induced mast cell degranulation.

### DATA AVAILABILITY

All datasets generated for this study are included in the manuscript.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

IJ-O, SP and DK designed the research. KC and FH contributed with valuable intellectual input for improvement of the study. SP and SC performed the experiments. IJ-O, SP, CK, DK and SC performed data analysis. IJ-O and SP drafted the manuscript. JO, DK, KC, FH and SC read and corrected the manuscript. JO, IJ-O, SP and DK received financial support for the study. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

### FUNDING

This study was financially supported by the Lundbeck Foundation (R77-A6952), Candy's Foundation, The Danish

Research Council (11–107831), the Novo Nordisk Foundation, Frimodt-Heineke Foundation, Else and Mogens Wedell-Wedellsborg Foundation, and the A.P. Moller Foundation for the Advancement of Medical Science.

#### REFERENCES

- Arimura, A., Somogyvári-Vigh, A., Miyata, A., Mizuno, K., Coy, D. H., and Kitada, C. (1991). Tissue distribution of PACAP as determined by RIA: highly abundant in the rat brain and testes. *Endocrinology* 129, 2787–2789. doi: 10.1210/endo-129-5-2787
- Baun, M., Pedersen, M. H., Olesen, J., and Jansen-Olesen, I. (2012). Dural mast cell degranulation is a putative mechanism for headache induced by PACAP-38. *Cephalalgia* 32, 337–345. doi: 10.1177/0333102412439354
- Blechman, J., and Levkowitz, G. (2013). Alternative splicing of the pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide receptor PAC1: mechanisms of fine tuning of brain activity. *Front. Endocrinol.* 4:55. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2013.00055
- Dautzenberg, F. M., Mevenkamp, G., Wille, S., and Hauger, R. L. (1999). N-terminal splice variants of the type I PACAP receptor: isolation, characterization and ligand binding/selectivity determinants. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 11, 941–949. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2826.1999.00411.x
- Deutsch, P. J., and Sun, Y. (1992). The 38-amino acid form of pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide stimulates dual signaling cascades in PC12 cells and promotes neurite outgrowth. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 5108–5113.
- Dickinson, T., Mitchell, R., Robberecht, P., and Fleetwood-Walker, S. M. (1999). The role of VIP/PACAP receptor subtypes in spinal somatosensory processing in rats with an experimental peripheral mononeuropathy. *Neuropharmacology* 38, 167–180. doi: 10.1016/s0028-3908(98)00171-3
- Dong, X., Han, S., Zylka, M. J., Simon, M. I., and Anderson, D. J. (2001). A diverse family of GPCRs expressed in specific subsets of nociceptive sensory neurons. *Cell* 106, 619–632. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(01)00483-4
- Ferry, X., Brehin, S., Kamel, R., and Landry, Y. (2002). G protein-dependent activation of mast cell by peptides and basic secretagogues. *Peptides* 23, 1507–1515. doi: 10.1016/s0196-9781(02)00090-6
- Halpern, B. N., and Wood, D. R. (1950). The action of promethazine (phenergan) in protecting mice against death due to histamine. *Br. J. Pharmacol. Chemother*. 5, 510–516. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.1950.tb00603.x
- Harmar, A. J., Arimura, A., Gozes, I., Journot, L., Laburthe, M., Pisegna, J. R., et al. (1998). International Union of Pharmacology. XVIII. Nomenclature of receptors for vasoactive intestinal peptide and pituitary adenylate cyclaseactivating polypeptide. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 50, 265–270.
- Harmar, A. J., Fahrenkrug, J., Gozes, I., Laburthe, M., May, V., Pisegna, J. R., et al. (2012). Pharmacology and functions of receptors for vasoactive intestinal peptide and pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide: IUPHAR review 1. Br. J. Pharmacol. 166, 4–17. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012.01871.x
- Jansen-Olesen, I., Baun, M., Amrutkar, D. V., Ramachandran, R., Christophersen, D. V., and Olesen, J. (2014). PACAP-38 but not VIP induces release of CGRP from trigeminal nucleus caudalis via a receptor distinct from the PAC1 receptor. *Neuropeptides* 48, 53–64. doi: 10.1016/j.npep. 2014.01.004
- Jespersen, T., Grunnet, M., Angelo, K., Klaerke, D., and Olesen, S.-P. (2002). Dualfunction vector for protein expression in both mammalian cells and *Xenopus laevis* oocytes. *Biotechniques* 32, 536–540. doi: 10.2144/02323st05
- Lembo, P. M., Grazzini, E., Groblewski, T., O'Donnell, D., Roy, M. O., Zhang, J., et al. (2002). Proenkephalin A gene products activate a new family of sensory neuron—specific GPCRs. *Nat. Neurosci.* 5, 201–209. doi: 10.1038/nn815
- Levy, D., Burstein, R., Kainz, V., Jakubowski, M., and Strassman, A. M. (2007). Mast cell degranulation activates a pain pathway underlying migraine headache. *Pain* 130, 166–176. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2007.03.012
- Levy, D., Burstein, R., and Strassman, A. M. (2006). Mast cell involvement in the pathophysiology of migraine headache: a hypothesis. *Headache* 46, S13–S18. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4610.2006.00485.x
- Lutz, E. M., Ronaldson, E., Shaw, P., Johnson, M. S., Holland, P. J., and Mitchell, R. (2006). Characterization of novel splice variants of the PAC1 receptor in human neuroblastoma cells: consequences for signaling by VIP and PACAP. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 31, 193–209. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2005.09.008

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Vibeke Grøsfjeld Christensen for excellent laboratory assistance.

- McNeil, B. D., Pundir, P., Meeker, S., Han, L., Undem, B. J., Kulka, M., et al. (2015). Identification of a mast-cell-specific receptor crucial for pseudo-allergic drug reactions. *Nature* 519, 237–241. doi: 10.1038/nature14022
- Miyata, A., Arimura, A., Dahl, R. R., Minamino, N., Uehara, A., Jiang, L., et al. (1989). Isolation of a novel 38 residue-hypothalamic polypeptide which stimulates adenylate cyclase in pituitary cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 164, 567–574. doi: 10.1016/0006-291x(89)91757-9
- Miyata, A., Jiang, L., Dahl, R. D., Kitada, C., Kubo, K., Fujino, M., et al. (1990). Isolation of a neuropeptide corresponding to the N-terminal 27 residues of the pituitary adenylate cyclase activating polypeptide with 38 residues (PACAP38). *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 170, 643–648.doi: 10.1016/0006-291x(90)92140-u
- Moller, K., Zhang, Y. Z., Hakanson, R., Luts, A., Sjölund, B., Uddman, R., et al. (1993). Pituitary adenylate cyclase activating peptide is a sensory neuropeptide: immunocytochemical and immunochemical evidence. *Neuroscience* 57, 725–732. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(93)90018-b
- Moskowitz, M. A. (1993). Neurogenic inflammation in the pathophysiology and treatment of migraine. *Neurology* 43, S16–S20.
- Mousli, M., Bueb, J. L., Bronner, C., Rouot, B., and Landry, Y. (1990). G protein activation: a receptor-independent mode of action for cationic amphiphilic neuropeptides and venom peptides. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 11, 358–362. doi: 10.1016/0165-6147(90)90179-c
- Mousli, M., Hugli, T. E., Landry, Y., and Bronner, C. (1994). Peptidergic pathway in human skin and rat peritoneal mast cell activation. *Immunopharmacology* 27, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/0162-3109(94)90002-7
- Mulder, H., Uddman, R., Moller, K., Zhang, Y. Z., Ekblad, E., Alumets, J., et al. (1994). Pituitary adenylate cyclase activating polypeptide expression in sensory neurons. *Neuroscience* 63, 307–312. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(94) 90025-6
- Ogi, K., Miyamoto, Y., Masuda, Y., Habata, Y., Hosoya, M., Ohtaki, T., et al. (1993). Molecular cloning and functional expression of a cDNA encoding a human pituitary adenylate cyclase activating polypeptide receptor. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 196, 1511–1521. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1993.2423
- Pantaloni, C., Brabet, P., Bilanges, B., Dumuis, A., Houssami, S., Spengler, D., et al. (1996). Alternative splicing in the N-terminal extracellular domain of the pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide (PACAP) receptor modulates receptor selectivity and relative potencies of PACAP-27 and PACAP-38 in phospholipase C activation. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 22146–22151. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.36.22146
- Pedersen, S. H., Ramachandran, R., Amrutkar, D. V., Petersen, S., Olesen, J., and Jansen-Olesen, I. (2015). Mechanisms of glyceryl trinitrate provoked mast cell degranulation. *Cephalalgia* 35, 1287–1297. doi: 10.1177/03331024155 74846
- Pisegna, J. R., and Wank, S. A. (1993). Molecular cloning and functional expression of the pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide type I receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 90, 6345–6349. doi: 10.1073/pnas.90.13.6345
- Pisegna, J. R., and Wank, S. A. (1996). Cloning and characterization of the signal transduction of four splice variants of the human pituitary adenylate cyclase activating polypeptide receptor. Evidence for dual coupling to adenylate cyclase and phospholipase C. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 17267–17274. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.29. 17267
- Rahmann, A., Wienecke, T., Hansen, J. M., Fahrenkrug, J., Olesen, J., and Ashina, M. (2008). Vasoactive intestinal peptide causes marked cephalic vasodilation, but does not induce migraine. *Cephalalgia* 28, 226–236. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2982.2007.01497.x
- Robberecht, P., Gourlet, P., De Neef, P., Woussen-Colle, M. C., Vandermeers-Piret, M. C., Vandermeers, A., et al. (1992). Structural requirements for the occupancy of pituitary adenylate-cyclase-activating-peptide (PACAP) receptors and adenylate cyclase activation in human neuroblastoma NB-OK-1 cell membranes. Discovery of PACAP(6–38) as a potent antagonist. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 207, 239–246. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1992.tb17043.x

- Schytz, H. W., Birk, S., Wienecke, T., Kruuse, C., Olesen, J., and Ashina, M. (2009). PACAP38 induces migraine-like attacks in patients with migraine without aura. *Brain* 132, 16–25. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn307
- Seebeck, J., Kruse, M. L., Schmidt-Choudhury, A., and Schmidt, W. E. (1998). Pituitary adenylate cyclase activating polypeptide induces degranulation of rat peritoneal mast cells via high-affinity PACAP receptor-independent activation of G proteins. *Ann. N Y Acad. Sci.* 865, 141–146. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1998. tb11172.x
- Shivers, B. D., Gorcs, T. J., Gottschall, P. E., and Arimura, A. (1991). Two high affinity binding sites for pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide have different tissue distributions. *Endocrinology* 128, 3055–3065. doi: 10.1210/endo-128-6-3055
- Spengler, D., Waeber, C., Pantaloni, C., Holsboer, F., Bockaert, J., Seeburg, P. H., et al. (1993). Differential signal transduction by five splice variants of the PACAP receptor. *Nature* 365, 170–175. doi: 10.1038/ 365170a0
- Taneike, T., Miyazaki, H., Oikawa, S., and Ohga, A. (1988). Compound 48/80 elicits cholinergic contraction through histamine release in the

chick oesophagus. Gen. Pharmacol. 19, 689-695. doi: 10.1016/0306-3623(88) 90130-9

Tatemoto, K., Nozaki, Y., Tsuda, R., Konno, S., Tomura, K., Furuno, M., et al. (2006). Immunoglobulin E-independent activation of mast cell is mediated by Mrg receptors. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 349, 1322–1328. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.08.177

**Conflict of Interest Statement**: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Pedersen, la Cour, Calloe, Hauser, Olesen, Klaerke and Jansen-Olesen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





### Thyroid Hormone, Thyroid Hormone Metabolites and Mast Cells: A Less Explored Issue

Elisa Landucci<sup>1</sup>, Annunziatina Laurino<sup>2†</sup>, Lorenzo Cinci<sup>2</sup>, Manuela Gencarelli<sup>2</sup> and Laura Raimondi<sup>2</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Section of Pharmacology, Department of Health Sciences, University of Florence, Florence, Italy, <sup>2</sup>Section of Pharmacology, Department of Neurology, Psychology, Drug Sciences and Child Health, University of Florence, Florence, Italy

Mast cells are primary players in immune and inflammatory diseases. In the brain, mast cells are located at the brain side of the blood brain barrier (BBB) exerting a crucial role in protecting the brain from xenobiotic invasion. Furthermore, recent advances in neuroscience indicate mast cells may play an important role in glial cell-neuron communication through the release of mediators, including histamine. Interestingly, brain mast cells contain not only 50% of the brain histamine but also hormones, proteases and lipids or amine mediators; and cell degranulation may be triggered by different stimuli activating membrane bound receptors including the four types of histaminergic receptors. Among hormones, mast cells can store thyroid hormone (T3) and express membrane-bound thyroid stimulating hormone receptors (TSHRs), thus suggesting from one side that thyroid function may affect mast cells function, from the other that mast cell degranulation may impact on thyroid function. In this respect, the research on hormones in mast cells is scarce. Recent pharmacological evidence indicates the existence of a non-genomic portion of the thyroid secretion including thyroid hormone metabolites. Among which the 3,5 diiodothyronine (3,5-T2), 3-iodothyroanamine (T1AM) and 3-iodothyroacetic acid (TA1) are the most studied. All these compounds are endogenously occurring and found to be increased in inflammatory-based diseases involving mast cells. T1AM and TA1 induce, as T3, neuroprotective effects and itch but also hyperalgesia in rodents with a mechanism largely unknown but mediated by the release of histamine. Due to the rapid onset of their effectiveness they may trigger histamine release from a cell where it is "ready-to-be released," i.e., mast cells. Following a very thin path which passes through old experimental and clinical evidence, at the light of novel acquisitions on endogenous T3 metabolites, we aim to stimulate the attention on the possibility that mast cell histamine may be the connector of a novel (neuro) endocrine pathway linking the thyroid with mast cells.

Keywords: mast cells, thyroid hormone, T3, histamine, 3-iodothryonamine, T1AM, 3-iodothryoacetic acid, TA1

### BACKGROUND

Mast cells are ubiquitous cells of hematopoietic origin, disseminated in the periphery and in the nervous system. In the brain, mast cells are few in number, ideally located to the meninges and perivascular area on the brain side of the blood-brain barrier (BBB), a strategic localization to initiate the detoxification of xenobiotics and/or vascular and immunological effects.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Rashid Giniatullin, University of Eastern Finland, Finland

#### Reviewed by:

Kempuraj Duraisamy, University of Missouri, United States Fatma Tore, Biruni University, Turkey

> \*Correspondence: Laura Raimondi laura.raimondi@unifi.it

#### <sup>†</sup>Present address:

Annunziatina Laurino, European Laboratory for Non-Linear Spectroscopy (LENS), University of Florence, Sesto Fiorentino, Italy

> Received: 14 January 2019 Accepted: 15 February 2019 Published: 29 March 2019

#### Citation:

Landucci E, Laurino A, Cinci L, Gencarelli M and Raimondi L (2019) Thyroid Hormone, Thyroid Hormone Metabolites and Mast Cells: A Less Explored Issue. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:79. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00079 In most species studied, mast cells show a typical localization allowing an ideal interaction with neurons. The mast cell population of the brain is not static and it increases in numbers, distribution and activation in response to a variety of environmental stimuli that are associated with altered behaviors and physio-pathological conditions (Cirulli et al., 1998). Furthermore, emerging experimental evidence indicates that mast cells play pivotal roles in directing brain cell differentiation and plasticity including sexual maturation and behavior (Lenz et al., 2018) and in neuroprotection. In respect of this latter, stabilization of mast cells might represent a novel neuroprotective strategy during excitotoxicity (Ocak et al., 2018). The understanding of the mechanisms underlying the roles of mast cells in the brain is one of the challenges of the modern neurosciences. The hope is that the definition of such issues may help to comprehend how the mismatching of proinflammatory/anti-inflammatory factors levels, among which those derived from mast cells, may drive behaviors and neuron activation/survival possibly indicating novel drug targets. The relationship between mast cells and neurons is also reproduced in somatosensory neurons.

Irrespective of their tissue distribution, the characteristic feature of mast cells is the presence of cytoplasmic secretory granules which, upon activation, spread in the microenvironment lipid mediators, amines and hormones other than proteoglycans including heparin. Actually, the composition of mast cell granules shows some kind of heterogeneity depending on their tissue localization (Beil et al., 2000) and it looks that the presence of charged compounds in the granules is essential for the storage of other mediators (Grujic et al., 2013). As to say that there is a sort of chemical essential requisite for filling mast cell granules. Irrespective of this, mast cell granules always contain histamine, a charged amine which can be secreted together with the other mediators.

Sporadic evidence indicates that cells of the immune system, including mast cells can synthesize and store hormones among which are thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) and the thyroid hormone T3 (Csaba and Pállinger, 2009a,b; Thangam et al., 2018). T3 levels were found increased following cell exposure to low histamine concentrations (Csaba and Pállinger, 2009a). Furthermore, evidence also indicates that mast cells express T3 receptors and that tissue mast cells population increased in hypothyroidism (Siebler et al., 2002), thus suggesting that the health or sick thyroid could condition mast cell hormone levels and/or that mast cells may represent an alternative source of packaged T3 locally deliverable (Thangam et al., 2018). Actually, even if evidence that T3 content decreased in peritoneal mast cells from hypothyroid rats (Csaba, 2014), it could further sustain this dual role of mast cells, though a definitive proof of this duality is lacking. In this respect, the progress in understanding the roles of T3 metabolites might open a new scenario.

#### MAST CELLS AND THE THYROID

The potential relationship, if any, between the thyroid and mast cells is certainly complex and likely two-fold. There is evidence that T3 effects can be modulated by mast cells, and

that mast cells can modulate thyroid function. This interaction is clinically relevant in autoimmune disorders such as rheumatoid arthritis or intestinal inflammatory diseases (Costela-Ruiz et al., 2018) or in autoimmune thyroiditis disease such as chronic urticaria, characterized by recurrent episodes of mast cell-driven wheal and flare-type skin reactions, as well as in Grave's and Hashimoto disease (Ruggeri et al., 2013). In patients with chronic urticaria and angioedema, the presence of thyroid autoantibodies (Leznoff et al., 1983) and IgE antibodies against thyroid peroxidase were identified. By binding on the surface of mast cells these anti-TPO-IgE autoantibodies cause mast cell activation and degranulation, thus playing an active role in the pathogenesis of chronic urticarial (Altrichter et al., 2011). Mast cells also play a pivotal role in a complication associated to Grave's disease. van Steensel et al. (2012) demonstrated that in patients with Grave's ophthalmopathy, the number of mast cells in orbital tissue increased and these cells were capable to activate, through the PDGF pathway, the orbital fibroblast causing the onset of ophthalmopathy. These data suggest mast cells not only as regulators of fibroblast activation, but also as a possible therapeutic target (van Steensel et al., 2012). In fact, in a small cohort of patients, a little clinical improvement after treatment with cetirizine was observed (Lauer et al., 2008). Another interaction between thyroid and mast cells takes place in the bone and in particular, in bone remodeling and endochondral bone formation. The effect of thyroid on these processes are well known but the specific mechanism is partially elucidated. T3 exerts direct actions on chondrocyte growth and mast cells located in the bone marrow closed to epiphyseal plate are able to interact with osteoblasts and chondrocytes were found involved in processes that modify cartilage matrix and influence mineralization, further supporting the link between thyroid function and mast cells in bone metabolism. In fact, the number and the distribution of bone marrow-derived mast cells was found influenced by the thyroid status. Interestingly, bone marrow mast cells express thyroid hormone receptors with cytoplasmic localization which limits receptor trafficking towards the nuclei. Interestingly, such evidence indicates that mast cells represent a conjunction ring between T3 and bone remodeling and opens to non-genomic effects of T3 in bone metabolism and differentiation (Siebler et al., 2002). Data identifying an influence of mast cells on the thyroid support the bivalence of the relationship between thyroid and mast cells. Rocchi et al. (2007) demonstrated a specific role of mast cells on thyroid function in non-thyroidal illness (NTI). NTI are defined as changes of the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis in patients suffering from illnesses not primarily originating in the thyroid. These clinical conditions are characterized by: (a) decreased T3 levels; (b) decreased T4 due to a reduced binding capacity and/or affinity of serum carrier proteins for T4; and (c) inappropriately normal or low levels of TSH with respect to the decreased thyroid hormone levels (Faber et al., 1981; Kaptein et al., 1982; Docter et al., 1993; Wilcox et al., 1994). In a mouse model of NTI, a specific link between mast cells and bacterial infection-induced hypothyroidism was also found. This study identifies a role for mast cells as sensors capable of controlling the homeostatic



FIGURE 1 | Schematic representation of thyroid and mast cell connections. The hypothalamus, throughout the release of the TSH, stimulates mast cells increasing the T3 content. T3 is co-stored with histamine in mast cell granules or is degraded to T1AM and/or TA1. T1AM and TA1 derived from circulation or produced inside mast cells trigger mast cell degranulation releasing T3 and histamine which mediates pain, itch and central effects including neuroprotection/neuroinflammation. Thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH); TSH receptor (TSHR); thyroid hormones (T3, T4); 3-iodothyronamine (T1AM); 3-iodothyroacetic acid (TA1); monoamine oxidases (MAO).

responsiveness of the hypothalamus—pituitary—thyroid axis through the activation of specific crystallizing fragment (Fc) receptors (FCgR3). The lack of response in mast cells deficient mice confirmed the pivotal role of these cells (Rocchi et al., 2007).

This link might be stronger in case of heterogeneous diseases related to abnormal mast cell activation or increased tissue mast cell number, including cutaneous and/or their systemic presentations whose diagnosis is based on the monitoring of serum tryptase, elevated 24-h urinary histamine metabolite (methylhistamine). Among these is mastocytosis, a pathology characterized by increased tissue mast cell number. Among clinical manifestations of mastocytosis are dermatological symptoms, including itch and urticaria, and also neurological and psychiatric disorders (Georgin-Lavialle et al., 2016) mainly supported by increased histamine levels.

#### HISTAMINE AND THE THYROID

Histamine is essentially a pro-inflammatory mediator and if a low-grade inflammation is considered to be beneficial, sustained

inflammation may generate abnormal cell behaviors. Histamine has different fate and effects in neuronal and not neuronal tissues. In not neural tissues, histamine deriving from mast cells, basophiles or enterochromaffin-like cells is recognized as a charged amine which enters in the calculation of the diamine (polyamine) tissue levels and it is implicated in local inflammation, pain, itch and vasodilatation. In periphery it is preferentially scavenged by the diamine oxidase (DAO) producing hydrogen peroxide and promotes its effects activating mainly the for types of receptors. In the central nervous system, histamine is produced and released by histaminergic neurons and by mast cells (Li et al., 2018) and the discrimination of the two possible sources can be achieved using genetic models or stabilizing pharmacologically mast cells. In the central nervous system, histamine is not considered a polyamine, the DAO is absent, and the enzymes involved in its metabolism, include the histamine methyl-transferase and the type B monoamine oxidase (MAO-B). Brain histamine is retained as a signal of the cell-to-cell communication with particular respect to microglia and neurons and the modulation of the brain histaminergic system may be afforded by drugs promoting histamine release

acting at receptors, working somehow as "neuromodulators" or by triggering mast cell degranulation. To note, mast cells possess receptors for aminergic mediators including the four types of histaminergic receptors, a condition which allows histamine to establish a sort of paracrine control on mast cells degranulation (Thangam et al., 2018). Thus, the role of mast cells, where histamine is ready-to-be released, may became relevant in generating high local histamine levels and immune-mediated inflammatory milieus (Fang et al., 2014).

Brain histamine (neuronal and not neuronal) is part of the mediators involved in the control of hypothalamic governed behaviors and it is also endowed of neuroprotective effects against excitotoxic damage (Kukko-Lukjanov et al., 2006). Furthermore, brain histamine is also part of the mechanisms of the neuroprotection offered by T3 metabolites (Cao et al., 2009; Laurino et al., 2018a,b). On the other hand, it is well assessed that histamine also controls the release of TSH (Roberts and Calcutt, 1983), a finding potentially linking the histaminergic system to the control of thyroid function. Actually, data regarding the effect of some histaminergic type 2 receptor antagonists on patient T3 serum levels seem to support, at least in part, the role of histamine in the control of TSH (Pasquali et al., 1987), thus suggesting a possible role of histamine in thyroxine regulation.

The T3 levels are critical regulators of the prenatal and neonatal development of the nervous system and of post-natal brain plasticity. A part of the well-known role of T3 on neurons, T3 is also a critical regulator of glial cell functions with not only genomic but also non-genomic mechanisms. Glial cells, as mast cells, express T3 transporters (Mori et al., 2015).

Histamine levels were found high during the embryonic brain development (Pearce and Schanberg, 1969) and Sabria et al. (1987) reported T3 as possible candidate for controlling brain mast cells number and, consequently, the levels of brain histamine during development. Till now there is no evidence that brain mast cells may contain T3 but there are evidence that T3 metabolites activate the histaminergic system in the brain as well as in periphery (Laurino et al., 2018a,b).

Upadhyaya et al. (1993) demonstrated that in L-thyroxinetreated rats, histamine levels were found increased in the hypothalamus, thalamus and cortex of the rats, and that there was a positive correlation between circulating T3 and T4 levels and histamine. Csaba and Pállinger (2009a) demonstrated that very low histamine concentrations, not active on pain and inflammation, increased T3 mast cell content.

Inflammatory-based diseases of the thyroid are named thyroiditis. Banovac and De Forteza (1992) demonstrated that mast cells degranulation plays a pivotal role in promoting the early stage of thyroiditis. More recently, experimental data from Visciano et al. (2015) demonstrated that mast cells histamine promotes a pro-tumorogenic effect on the thyroid and, in thyroid tumors and in experimental secondary hypothyroidism as, the mast cell population of the gland increased (Melander et al., 1971; Melillo et al., 2010), thus increasing histamine content of the gland. Furthermore, supporting the role of inflammation and autoimmune diseases in thyroid cancers, evidence indicate that mast cells play a pro-tumorogenic role in human thyroid cancer promoting neoangiogenesis and invasiveness (Melillo et al., 2010). Furthermore, mast cell number increased in thyroid cancer particularly in the follicular variant of papillary thyroid carcinoma, where their localization could represent a diagnostic marker of this kind of tumor (Proietti et al., 2011). Furthermore, assuming that mast cells of the healthy or sick thyroids behave as peritoneal mast cells, their role would become relevant in the economy of T3 (Melander et al., 1975).

Among thyroid diseases manifestations are skin symptoms among which are including chronic urticaria, alopecia and atopic dermatitis (Artantas et al., 2009). Interestingly, in all these complex diseases the brain-skin connection and the pivotal role of stress-induced mast cell degranulation has been recently reviewed (Shimoda et al., 2010; Alexopoulos and Chrousos, 2016). In this respect, the local release of T3 or of T3 metabolites might participate in the clinical symptoms of these kin diseases.

To note, T3 been detected in peritoneal mast cells, a finding suggesting that these mobile cells may deliver the hormone systemically. Furthermore, Csaba and Pállinger (2009a,b) demonstrated that secondary to TSH receptor activation, mast cells T3 content was found increased, without however indicating the mechanism. Unfortunately, the knowledge on the physiopathological significance of T3 presence in peritoneal mast cells did not improve further from the evidence of Csaba and Pállinger (2009a,b). Thus, the possibility that mast cells may function as an "alternative" thyroid gland remains only a hypothesis.

# THYROID HORMONE METABOLITES AND HISTAMINE

Recent experimental evidence suggest that T3 metabolism generates compounds that are not only able to reproduce similar but also opposite effects to those of T3 without activating nuclear receptors. T3 metabolisms is carried out by decarboxylase, deiodinases and MAOs which can work on T3 in sequence or alternatively producing three main families of derivatives namely thyronines, thyronamines, thyroacetic and thyropropionic acids at different degree of iodination. To note, the activity of MAO allows the transformation of thyronamines into thyroacetic acids while deiodinase activity removes iodide ions without transforming the chemical family. Despite of this, the synthetic pathway of these compounds is not fully elucidated yet.

Interestingly, several experimental and clinical evidence suggest that T3 metabolites may be part of the thyroid homeostasis and that they could be implicated in thyroid diseases. Among the main derivatives studied are the 3,5 diiodothyronine (3,5-T2), the 3-iodothyronamine (T1AM) and 3-iodothyroacetic acid (TA1; Scanlan et al., 2004; Chiellini et al., 2012; Galli et al., 2012; la Cour et al., 2018). All of them were found endogenously in rodents and in humans with a tissue distribution of T1AM and TA1 mirroring that of the T3 (Chiellini et al., 2012). Some studies reported an increased T1AM levels in pathological conditions including diabetes (Galli et al., 2012) and heart failure (la Cour et al., 2018). Interestingly enough, 3,5-T2 circulating levels were found increased in cirrhosis, in brain tumors and in patients with non-thyroidal illnesses. In these latter cohort of patients, 3,5-T2 circulating levels were found correlated with the onset of post-surgical atrial fibrillation episodes (Dietrich et al., 2015). At the level of the heart, Frascarelli et al. (2011) demonstrated that T1AM exerts cardioprotective effects in an isolated rat heart model of ischemia-reperfusion injury, as to say that thyroid function on the heart is complex involving T3 and T3 metabolites.

Also, pharmacological evidence indicate T1AM is a regulator of body temperature (Scanlan et al., 2004) of mice feeding (Manni et al., 2012), it promotes memory acquisition and retrieval (Manni et al., 2013; Bellusci et al., 2017), it is anti-amnestic (Laurino et al., 2017), induces hyperalgesia and also has the potential to behave as an anti-obesity drug (Assadi-Porter et al., 2018). T1AM has a short half-life being rapidly degraded to its oxidative metabolite, the 3-iodothyroacetic acid (TA1). Since the oxidative deamination is carried on by MAO activity, TA1 is considered part of the pharmacological profile of T1AM, being MAO ubiquitously expressed (Laurino et al., 2015a,b). As a fingerprint of both T1AM and TA1, pharmacological effects is the rapid onset of their rapid onset, within 15 min from administration. Furthermore, they are active at very low doses always showing inverted bell-shaped dose-effect curves.

Laurino et al. (2015a,b, 2018a,b) demonstrated that T1AM and TA1 behavioral effects were dependent on the activation of the brain or peripheral histaminergic system, with a mechanism which, however, remains to be clarified.

T1AM is a multi-target compound (Bräunig et al., 2018) able to interact at G-protein coupled receptors, including the trace amine associated receptors, and also ion channels but not with T3 receptors. However, if we accept the trace amine associated receptors, the affinity of T1AM for such targets is much lower than its *in vivo* potency, thus making unlikely the participation of such targets in T1AM *in vivo* effects. Notwithstanding this, all the behavioral effects of T1AM (and of TA1) including the pro-learning effect, hyperalgesia and the neuroprotection were abolished by anti-histaminergic drug treatment of mice including type 1 receptor antagonists, a strategy which however does not allow to recognize the source of histamine. Considering T3 metabolites can pass the BBB reproducing most of the effects described for histamine,

#### REFERENCES

- Alexopoulos, A., and Chrousos, G. P. (2016). Stress-related skin disorders. Rev. Endocr. Metab. Disord. 17, 295–304. doi: 10.1007/s11154-016-9367-y
- Altrichter, S., Peter, H. J., Pisarevskaja, D., Metz, M., Martus, P., and Maurer, M. (2011). IgE mediated autoallergy against thyroid peroxidase—a novel pathomechanism of chronic spontaneous urticaria? *PLoS One* 6:e14794. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0014794
- Artantas, S., Gül, U., Kiliç, A., and Güler, S. (2009). Skin findings in thyroid diseases. *Eur. J. Intern. Med.* 20, 158–161. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2007. 09.021
- Assadi-Porter, F. M., Reiland, H., Sabatini, M., Lorenzini, L., Carnicelli, V., Rogowski, M., et al. (2018). Metabolic reprogramming by 3-iodothyronamine (T1AM): a new perspective to reverse obesity through co-regulation of sirtuin 4 and 6 expression. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:E1535. doi: 10.3390/ijms19051535

the timing of their effects, the localization of brain mast cells at the BBB, the possibility that mast cells, other than histaminergic neurons, are among the targets of T3 metabolites become a plausible hypothesis. This source of histamine would also explain the bell-shaped curves observed following T1AM (and TA1) administration where a slow re-synthesis does not allow a fast refilling of the granules. Furthermore, the link between T3 metabolites and their possible degranulating effect on mast cells might be more stringent in the case of peripheral histamine-mediated effects. In fact, T3 supplementation is one among the cause of systemic itch (Reamy et al., 2011) and pruritus is one among the clinical symptoms of hyperthyroidism (Ward and Bernhard, 2005). Similarly, T3 metabolites induce itch (Laurino et al., 2015a,b) activating, histamine-dependent, pERK in the dorsal root ganglia. This pathway is considered selective for mast cell-derived histamine-induced itch sensation (Dong and Dong, 2018; Huang et al., 2018). Even if the definitive proof is lacking, T3 metabolites, by activating mast cells, might be the mediators of T3-induced itch. Furthermore, confirming that itch and pain sensation have some common neuronal pathways, T1AM and TA1 also induce histamine-dependent hyperalgesia to thermal stimuli (Manni et al., 2013), a condition typically activating mast cells (Zhang et al., 2012).

In conclusion, the relationship between the thyroid and mast cells is scarcely studied but we strongly believe it merits to be investigated further from the clinical and mechanistic point of view. In this respect in this article, we tried to point the attention on the non-canonical portion of the thyroid secretion constituted by T3 metabolites, as possible activators of mast cells and releaser of histamine (**Figure 1**).

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All the authors participated in collecting and discussing the literature data.

#### FUNDING

This article was supported by a local grant from the University of Florence (Università degli Studi di Firenze) to LR and by Ente Cassa di Risparmio di Firenze.

- Banovac, K., and De Forteza, R. (1992). The effect of mast cell chymase on extracellular matrix: studies in autoimmune thyroiditis and in cultured thyroid cells. *Int. Arch. Allery Immunol.* 99, 141–149. doi: 10.1159/0002 36348
- Beil, W. J., Schulz, M., and Wefelmeyer, U. (2000). Mast cell granule composition and tissue location—a close correlation. *Histol. Histopathol.* 15, 937–946. doi: 10.14670/HH-15.937
- Bellusci, L., Laurino, A., Sabatini, M., Sestito, S., Lenzi, P., Raimondi, L., et al. (2017). New insights into the potential roles of 3-iodothyronamine (T1AM) and newly developed thyronamine-like TAAR1 agonists in neuroprotection. *Front. Pharmacol.* 8:905. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00905
- Bräunig, J., Dinter, J., Höfig, C. S., Paisdzior, S., Szczepek, M., Scheerer, P., et al. (2018). The trace amine-associated receptor 1 agonist 3-iodothyronamine induces biased signaling at the serotonin 1b receptor. *Front. Pharmacol.* 9:222. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00222

- Cao, X., Kambe, F., Yamauch, M., and Seo, H. (2009). Thyroidhormonedependent activation of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt cascade requires Src and enhances neuronalsurvival. *Biochem. J.* 424, 201–209. doi: 10.1042/bj20090643
- Chiellini, G., Erba, P., Carnicelli, V., Manfredi, C., Frascarelli, S., Ghelardoni, S., et al. (2012). Distribution of exogenous [1251]-3-iodothyronamine in mouse *in vivo*: relationship with trace amine-associated receptors. *J. Endocrinol.* 213, 223–230. doi: 10.1530/joe-12-0055
- Cirulli, F., Pistillo, L., de Acetis, L., Alleva, E., and Aloe, L. (1998). Increased number of mast cells in the central nervous system of adult male mice following chronic subordination stress. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 12, 123–133. doi: 10.1006/brbi.1998.0505
- Corinaldesi, R., Pasquali, R., Paternico, A., Stanghellini, V., Paparo, G. F., Ricci Maccarini, M., et al. (1987). Effects of short- and long-term administrations of famotidine and ranitidine on some pituitary, sexual and thyroid hormones. *Drugs Exp. Clin. Res.* 13, 647–654.
- Costela-Ruiz, V. J., Illescas-Montes, R., Pavón-Martínez, R., Ruiz, C., and Melguizo-Rodríguez, L. (2018). Role of mast cells in autoimmunity. *Life Sci.* 209, 52–56. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2018.07.051
- Csaba, G. (2014). Hormones in the immune system and their possible role: a critical review. Acta Microbiol. Immunol. Hung. 61, 241–260. doi: 10.1556/AMicr.61.2014.3.1
- Csaba, G., and Pállinger, É. (2009a). Is there a possibility of intrasystem regulation by hormones produced by the immune cells? Experiments with extremely low concentrations of histamine. *Acta Physiol. Hung.* 96, 369–374. doi: 10.1556/APhysiol.96.2009.3.10
- Csaba, G., and Pállinger, É. (2009b). Thyrotropic hormone (TSH) regulation of triiodothyronine (T<sub>3</sub>) concentration in immune cells. *Inflamm. Res.* 58, 151–154. doi: 10.1007/s00011-008-8076-8
- Dietrich, J. W., Müller, P., Schiedat, F., Schlömicher, M., Strauch, J., Chatzitomaris, A., et al. (2015). Nonthyroidal illness syndrome in cardiac illness involves elevated concentrations of 3,5-diiodothyronine and correlates with atrial remodeling. *Eur. Thyroid J.* 4, 129–137. doi: 10.1159/000 381543
- Docter, R., Krenning, E. P., de Jong, M., and Hennemann, G. (1993). The sick euthyroid syndrome: changes in thyroid hormone serum parameters and hormone metabolism. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 39, 499–518. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265. 1993.tb02401.x
- Dong, X., and Dong, X. (2018). Peripheral and central mechanisms of itch. *Neuron* 98, 482–494. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2018.03.023
- Faber, J., Thomsen, H. F., Lumholtz, I. B., Kirkegaard, C., Siersbaek-Nielsen, K., and Friis, T. (1981). Kinetic studies of thyroxine, 3,5,3'-triiodothyronine, 3,3,5'-triiodothyronine, 3',5'-diiodothyronine, 3,3'-diiodothyronine and 3'monoiodothyronine in patients with liver cirrhosis. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 53, 978–984. doi: 10.1210/jcem-53-5-978
- Fang, Q., Hu, W. W., Wang, X. F., Yang, Y., Lou, G. D., Jin, M. M., et al. (2014). Histamine up-regulates astrocytic glutamate transporter 1 and protects neurons against ischemic injury. *Neuropharmacology* 77, 156–166. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.06.012
- Frascarelli, S., Ghelardoni, S., Chiellini, G., Galli, E., Ronca, F., Scanlan, T. S., et al. (2011). Cardioprotective effect of 3-iodothyronamine in perfused rat heart subjected to ischemia and reperfusion. *Cardiovasc. Drugs Ther.* 25, 307–313. doi: 10.1007/s10557-011-6320-x
- Galli, E., Marchini, M., Saba, A., Berti, S., Tonacchera, M., Vitti, P., et al. (2012). Detection of 3-iodothyronamine in human patients: a preliminary study. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 97, E69–E74. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-1115
- Georgin-Lavialle, S., Moura, D. S., Salvador, A., Chauvet-Gelinier, J. C., Launay, J. M., Damaj, G., et al. (2016). Mast cells' involvement in inflammation pathways linked to depression: evidence in mas-tocytosis. *Mol. Psychiatry* 21, 1511–1516. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.216
- Grujic, M., Calounova, G., Eriksson, I., Feyerabend, T., Rodewald, H. R., Tchougounova, E., et al. (2013). Distorted secretory granule composition in mast cells with multiple protease deficiency. *J. Immunol.* 191, 3931–3938. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301441
- Huang, K., Hu, D. D., Bai, D., Wu, Z. Y., Chen, Y. Y., Zhang, Y. J., et al. (2018). Persistent extracellular signal-regulated kinase activation by the histamine H4 receptor in spinal neurons underlies chronic itch. J. Invest. Dermatol. 138, 1843–1850. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2018.02.019

- Kaptein, E. M., Robinson, W. J., Grieb, D. A., and Nicoloff, J. T. (1982). Peripheral serum thyroxine, triiodothyronine and reverse triiodothyronine kinetics in the low thyroxine state of acute nonthyroidal illnesses. A noncompartmental analysis. J. Clin. Invest. 69, 526–535. doi: 10.1172/jc i110478
- Kukko-Lukjanov, T. K., Soini, S., Taira, T., Michelsen, K. A., Panula, P., and Holopainen, I. E. (2006). Histaminergic neurons protect the developing hippocampus from kainic acid-induced neuronal damage in an organotypic coculture system. J. Neurosci. 26, 1088–1097. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.1369-05.2006
- la Cour, J. L., Christensen, H. M., Köhrle, J., Lehmphul, I., Kistorp, C., Nygaard, B., et al. (2018). Association between 3-iodothyronamine (T1AM) concentrations and left ventricular function in chronic heart failure. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* doi: 10.1210/jc.2018-01466 [Epub ahead of print].
- Lauer, S. A., Silkiss, R. Z., and McCormick, S. A. (2008). Oral montelukast and cetirizine for thyroid eye disease. *Ophthalmic Plast. Reconstr. Surg.* 24, 257–261. doi: 10.1097/iop.0b013e318177ebac
- Laurino, A., De Sien, A. G., Resta, F., Masi, A., Musilli, C., Zucchi, R., et al. (2015a). 3-iodothyroacetic acid, a metabolite of thyroid hormone, induces itch and reduces threshold to noxious and to painful heat stimuli in mice. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 172, 1859–1868. doi: 10.1111/bph.13032
- Laurino, A., De Siena, G., Saba, A., Chiellini, G., Landucci, E., Zucchi, R., et al. (2015b). In the brain of mice, 3-iodothyronamine (T1AM) is converted into 3-iodothyroacetic acid (TA1) and it is included within the signaling network connecting thyroid hormone metabolites with histamine. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 761, 130–134. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.04.038
- Laurino, A., Landucci, E., and Raimondi, L. (2018a). Central effects of 3-iodothyronamine reveal a novel role for mitochondrial monoamine oxidases. *Front. Endocrinol.* 9:290. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00290
- Laurino, A., Landucci, E., Resta, F., De Siena, G., Pellegrini-Giampietro, D. E., Masi, A., et al. (2018b). Anticonvulsant and neuroprotective effects of the thyroid hormone metabolite 3-iodothyroacetic acid. *Thyroid* 28, 1387–1397. doi: 10.1089/thy.2017.0506
- Laurino, A., Lucenteforte, E., De Siena, G., and Raimondi, L. (2017). The impact of scopolamine pretreatment on 3-iodothyronamine (T1AM) effects on memory and pain in mice. *Horm. Behav.* 94, 93–96. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2017. 07.003
- Lenz, K. M., Pickett, L. A., Wright, C. L., Davis, K. T., Joshi, A., and McCarthy, M. M. (2018). Mast cells in the developing brain determine adult sexual behavior. *J. Neurosci.* 38, 8044–8059. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1176-18.2018
- Leznoff, A., Josse, R. G., Denberg, J., and Dolovich, J. (1983). Association of chronic urticaria and angioedema with thyroid autoimmunity. *Arch. Dermatol.* 119, 636–640. doi: 10.1001/archderm.119.8.636
- Li, Y., Liu, B., Harmacek, L., Long, Z., Liang, J., Lukin, K., et al. (2018). The transcription factors GATA2 and microphthalmia-associated transcription factor regulate Hdc gene expression in mast cells and are required for IgE/mast cell-mediated anaphylaxis. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 142, 1173–1184. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.10.043
- Manni, M. E., De Siena, G., Saba, A., Marchini, M., Dicembrini, I., Bigagli, E., et al. (2012). 3-Iodothyronamine: a modulator of the hypothalamus-pancreasthyroid axes in mice. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 166, 650–658. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381. 2011.01823.x
- Manni, M. E., De Siena, G., Saba, A., Marchini, M., Landucci, E., Gerace, E., et al. (2013). Pharmacological effects of 3-iodothyronamine (T1AM) in mice include facilitation of memory acquisition and retention and reduction of pain threshold. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 168, 354–362. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012. 02137.x
- Melander, A., Owman, C., and Sundler, F. (1971). TSH-induced appearance and stimulation of amine-containing mast cells in the mouse thyroid. *Endocrinology* 89, 528–533. doi: 10.1210/endo-89-2-528
- Melander, A., Westgren, U., Sundler, F., and Ericson, L. E. (1975). Influence of histamine- and 5-hydroxytryptamine-containing thyroid mast cells on thyroid blood flow and permeability in the rat. *Endocrinology* 97, 1130–1137. doi: 10.1210/endo-97-5-1130
- Melillo, R. M., Guarino, V., Avilla, E., Galdiero, M. R., Liotti, F., Prevete, N., et al. (2010). Mast cells have a protumorigenic role in human thyroid cancer. *Oncogene* 29, 6203–6215. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.348

- Mori, Y., Tomonaga, D., Kalashnikova, A., Furuya, F., Akimoto, N., Ifuku, M., et al. (2015). Effects of 3,3',5-triiodothyronine on microglial functions. *Glia* 63, 906–920. doi: 10.1002/glia.22792
- Ocak, U., Ocak, P. E., Wang, A., Zhang, J. H., Boling, W., Wu, P., et al. (2018). Targeting mast cell as a neuroprotective strategy. *Brain Inj.* 17, 1–11. doi: 10.1080/02699052.2018.1556807
- Pasquali, R., Corinaldesi, R., Miglioli, M., Melchionda, N., Capelli, M., and Barbara, L. (1981). Effect of prolonged administration of ranitidine on pituitary and thyroid hormones and their response to specific hypothalamic-releasing factors. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 15, 457–462. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.1981.tb00688.x
- Pearce, L. A., and Schanberg, S. M. (1969). Histamine and spermidine content in brain during development. *Science* 166, 1301–1303. doi: 10.1126/science.166. 3910.1301
- Proietti, A., Ugolini, C., Melillo, R., Crisman, M., Elisei, G., Santoro, R., et al. (2011). Higher intratumoral expression of CD1a, tryptase, and CD68 in a follicular variant of papillary thyroid carcinoma compared to adenomas: correlation with clinical and pathological parameters. *Thyroid* 21, 1209–1215. doi: 10.1089/thy.2011.0059
- Reamy, B. V., Bunt, C. W., and Fletcher, S. (2011). A diagnostic approach to pruritus. *Am. Fam. Physician* 84, 195–202.
- Roberts, F., and Calcutt, C. R. (1983). Histamine and the hypothalamus. *Neuroscience* 9, 721–739. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(83)90264-6
- Rocchi, R., Kimura, H., Tzou, S. C., Suzuki, K., Rose, N. R., Pinchera, A., et al. (2007). Toll-like receptor-MyD88 and Fc receptor pathways of mast cells mediate the thyroid dysfunctions observed during nonthyroidal illness. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 104, 6019–6024. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0701319104
- Ruggeri, R. M., Imbesi, S., Saitta, S., Campennì, A., Cannavò, S., Trimarchi, F., et al. (2013). Chronic idiopathic urticaria and Graves' disease. *J. Endocrinol. Invest.* 36, 531–536. doi: 10.3275/8940
- Sabria, J., Ferrer, I., Toledo, A., Sentis, M., and Blanco, I. (1987). Effects of altered thyroid function on histamine levels and mast cell number in neonatal rat brain. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 240, 612–616.
- Scanlan, T. S., Suchland, K. L., Hart, M. E., Chiellini, G., Huang, Y., Kruzich, P. J., et al. (2004). 3-Iodothyronamine is an endogenous and rapid acting derivative of thyroid hormone. *Nat. Med.* 10, 638–642. doi: 10.1038/nm1051
- Shimoda, T., Liang, Z., Suzuki, H., and Kawana, S. (2010). Inhibitory effects of antipsychotic and anxiolytic agents on stress-induced degranulation of mouse dermal mast cells: experimental dermatology. *Clin. Exp. Dermatol.* 35, 531–536. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2230.2009.03650.x
- Siebler, T., Robson, H., Bromley, M., Stevens, D. A., Shalet, S. M., and Williams, G. R. (2002). Thyroid status affects number and localization of

thyroid hormone receptor expressing mast cells in bone marrow. *Bone* 30, 259–266. doi: 10.1016/s8756-3282(01)00631-7

- Thangam, E. B., Jemima, E. A., Singh, H., Baig, M. S., Khan, M., Mathias, C. B., et al. (2018). The role of histamine and histamine receptors in mast cell-mediated allergy and inflammation: the hunt for new therapeutic targets. *Front. Immunol.* 9:1873. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018. 01873
- Upadhyaya, L., Agrawal, J. K., and Dubey, G. P. (1993). Effect of L-thyroxine and carbimazole on blood levels of biogenic amines in rat. *Exp. Clin. Endocrinol.* 101, 307–310. doi: 10.1055/s-0029-1211249
- van Steensel, L., Paridaens, D., van Meurs, M., van Hagen, P. M., van den Bosch, W. A., Kuijpers, R. W., et al. (2012). Orbit-infiltrating mast cells, monocytes and macrophages produce PDGF isoforms that orchestrate orbital fibroblast activation in Graves' ophthalmopathy. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 97, 400–408. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-2697
- Visciano, C., Liotti, F., Prevete, N., Cali', G., Franco, R., Collina, F., et al. (2015). Mast cells induce epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and stem cell features in human thyroid.cancer cells through an IL-8-Akt-Slug pathway. Oncogene 34, 5175–5186. doi: 10.1038/onc.2014.441
- Ward, J. R., and Bernhard, J. D. (2005). Willan's itch and other causes of pruritus in the elderly. *Int. J. Dermatol.* 44, 267–273. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-4632.2004. 02553.x
- Wilcox, R. B., Nelson, J. C., and Tomei, R. T. (1994). Heterogeneity in affinities of serum proteins for thyroxine among patients with non-thyroidal illness as indicated by the serum free thyroxine response to serum dilution. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 131, 9–13. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1310009
- Zhang, D., Spielmann, A., Wang, L., Ding, G., Huang, F., Gu, Q., et al. (2012). Mast-cell degranulation induced by physical stimuli involves the activation of transient-receptor-potential channel TRPV2. *Physiol. Res.* 61, 113–124.

**Conflict of Interest Statement**: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Landucci, Laurino, Cinci, Gencarelli and Raimondi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





### Meningeal Mast Cells as Key Effectors of Stroke Pathology

Ahmet Arac<sup>1</sup>, Michele A. Grimbaldeston<sup>2</sup>, Stephen J. Galli<sup>3,4</sup>, Tonya M. Bliss<sup>5,6</sup> and Gary K. Steinberg<sup>5,6\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurology, David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California, Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>2</sup>OMNI-Biomarker Development, Genentech Inc., South San Francisco, CA, United States, <sup>3</sup>Department of Pathology, School of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States, <sup>4</sup>Department of Microbiology and Immunology, School of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States, <sup>5</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, School of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States, <sup>6</sup>Stanford Stroke Center, School of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States

Stroke is the leading cause of adult disability in the United States. Because post-stroke inflammation is a critical determinant of damage and recovery after stroke, understanding the interplay between the immune system and the brain after stroke holds much promise for therapeutic intervention. An understudied, but important aspect of this interplay is the role of meninges that surround the brain. All blood vessels travel through the meningeal space before entering the brain parenchyma, making the meninges ideally located to act as an immune gatekeeper for the underlying parenchyma. Emerging evidence suggests that the actions of immune cells resident in the meninges are essential for executing this gatekeeper function. Mast cells (MCs), best known as proinflammatory effector cells, are one of the long-term resident immune cells in the meninges. Here, we discuss recent findings in the literature regarding the role of MCs located in the meningeal space and stroke pathology. We review the latest advances in mouse models to investigate the roles of MCs and MC-derived products in vivo, and the importance of using these mouse models. We examine the concept of the meninges playing a critical role in brain and immune interactions, reevaluate the perspectives on the key effectors of stroke pathology, and discuss the opportunities and challenges for therapeutic development.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Kalpna Gupta, University of Minnesota Twin Cities, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Kempuraj Duraisamy, University of Missouri, United States Ilkka Harvima, University of Eastern Finland, Finland

> \*Correspondence: Gary K. Steinberg gsteinberg@stanford.edu

Received: 30 January 2019 Accepted: 13 March 2019 Published: 03 April 2019

#### Citation:

Arac A, Grimbaldeston MA, Galli SJ, Bliss TM and Steinberg GK (2019) Meningeal Mast Cells as Key Effectors of Stroke Pathology. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:126. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00126 Keywords: meninges, mast cells, ischemic stroke, meningeal mast cells, stroke pathology

### INTRODUCTION

Every year,  $\sim$ 800,000 people suffer from stroke in the United States (Benjamin et al., 2018). The currently available therapies for acute stroke focus on removal of the blood clot, either pharmacologically or mechanically (Fisher and Saver, 2015). With advances in careful patient selection for these therapies, the time window for therapy initiation can be extended up to 24 h (Albers et al., 2018; Nogueira et al., 2018). However, the majority of patients are still not eligible for these therapies. Ischemic stroke occurs when the blood supply to the brain is interrupted by a blood clot. This initiates a cascade of events that includes excitotoxicity, free radical release, mitochondrial changes, and various degrees of immune response that leads to neuronal and glial cell death, blood-brain barrier dysfunction and ultimately the clinical symptoms (Moskowitz et al., 2010; Knowland et al., 2014; George and Steinberg, 2015). The timing of these events differ, and additionally, the post-stroke immune response has different phases that can be detrimental or beneficial (Anrather and Iadecola, 2016). Thus, a detailed understanding of the post-stroke immune response is necessary in order to better utilize its therapeutic potential.

The brain is long considered to be an immune-privileged organ (Louveau et al., 2015a). This is in part due to its anatomical isolation from the rest of the body, having its own unique resident immune cells (microglia), and having restricted access for circulating immune cells under homeostatic conditions. This is important for homeostatic functions but becomes especially important in pathological conditions. More recently, meninges-the membranes surrounding the brain-have been proposed to play important roles in the regulation of brainimmune interactions (Rua and McGavern, 2018). Emerging evidence suggests that the actions of immune cells resident in the meninges are important for the immunoregulatory role of the meninges (Rua and McGavern, 2018). Mast cells (MCs) reside in high numbers within the meninges. These tissue-resident immune cells have proinflammatory and immunoregulatory roles (Grimbaldeston et al., 2007; Biggs et al., 2010; Galli et al., 2011; Tsai et al., 2011), and play key functions in both innate and adaptive immune responses. They act as constitutive or inducible sources of many cytokines, chemokines and proteases (Mukai et al., 2018). This makes them potential targets for therapeutic intervention, depending on their roles in the pathophysiology. Fortunately, there are several methodologies to study the role of MCs and MC-derived products in vivo (Galli et al., 2015).

Here, we discuss the evidence that MCs located in the meningeal space can worsen stroke pathology. We also review some of the latest advances in mouse models to investigate the roles of MCs and MC-derived products *in vivo*, and the importance of using these mouse models. We examine the concept of the meninges playing a critical role in brain and immune interactions, reevaluate perspectives on key effectors of stroke pathology, and discuss the opportunities and challenges for therapeutic development.

### MENINGES AS KEY SITES FOR BRAIN IMMUNE ACCESS

Meninges are the connective tissue that surrounds the brain and spinal cord. They consist of three layers (Figure 1): an outer thick layer, dura mater, that is attached to the skull, an inner thin layer, pia mater, that is attached to the brain and spinal cord parenchyma, and a spider net-like structure, arachnoid mater, in between the dura and pia maters. The blood vessels and the cerebrospinal fluid exist within the space between the arachnoid mater and pia mater (subarachnoid space). The meninges have long been considered as just an anatomical barrier; however, accumulating evidence suggests that they are important for brain-immune communications in health and disease (Androdias et al., 2010; Derecki et al., 2010; Shechter et al., 2013; Kwong et al., 2017; Benakis et al., 2018). All the arteries that penetrate the brain parenchyma first travel through the subarachnoid space before entering into the brain. The venous blood then travels along the sinuses within the dura mater before exiting the skull. Moreover, the recent discovery of the central nervous system (CNS)'s lymphatic vessels within the meninges highlights their potential role in brain-immune interactions (Aspelund et al., 2015; Louveau et al., 2015b). These meningeal lymphatics have been shown to be important in controlling both neuroinflammatory events and immune cell trafficking (Louveau et al., 2018b). Additionally, direct vascular channels that traverse the meninges have been discovered recently between the bone marrow in the skull and the



FIGURE 1 | (A) Scheme shows how the brain is enveloped by the meninges that contain Mast cells (MCs) in both the dura mater and pia mater. (B) Before entering the brain parenchyma, blood vessels course on the surface of the brain between the dura mater and pia mater. Therefore, as a resident immune cell in the meninges, the MC has the potential to influence blood vessels and to function as a gatekeeper to influence brain inflammation and pathology. Reprinted from Arac et al. (2014) with permission from Elsevier.

brain surface (Herisson et al., 2018). These direct vascular channels help enable myeloid cell migration into the brain parenchyma in stroke (Herisson et al., 2018). All these vascular structures (the arteries and veins, meningeal lymphatic vessels, and direct vascular channels) travel through the meninges, making the meninges ideal for a possible gatekeeper role (Rua and McGavern, 2018).

While some immune cells locate to dura mater after stroke (Benakis et al., 2018) or aseptic inflammation (Kwong et al., 2017), there are also tissue-resident immune cells normally residing in the meninges. One such immune cell type is the MC (Dimlich et al., 1991; Arac et al., 2014; Figure 1). MCs are tissue-resident immune cells. Mature MCs do not circulate in the blood but exist especially in tissues exposed to the exterior, such as skin, lungs, and gut (Galli et al., 2011; Tsai et al., 2011). These regions are generally critical for host defense and require strong immune regulation, as they represent the interface between the body and the external environment (Galli et al., 2008). In this respect, it is not surprising that MCs exist at high numbers in meninges as the meninges separate blood and an immune-privileged brain parenchyma (Louveau et al., 2015a). Given the meninges' potential gatekeeper role in orchestrating brain-immune interactions, meningeal MCs can play significant roles in such interactions.

# CELLULAR ELEMENTS OF POST-STROKE INFLAMMATION

Inflammation is critically important in stroke pathology. Several elements of the immune system play roles at different time points after stroke. The first immune cells to respond to interruption of blood flow to the brain are the resident microglia. There is evidence that microglia show signs of activation within 30 min to 1 h after stroke (Ito et al., 2001; Clausen et al., 2008); these changes evolve during the 12 h following stroke and result in decreased microglial numbers within 24 h (Ito et al., 2001). These changes persist several weeks after stroke onset (Lambertsen et al., 2005; Perego et al., 2011). The microglia secrete several pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (Clausen et al., 2008; Lambertsen et al., 2009), and can be either detrimental (Neher et al., 2013) or beneficial (Lambertsen et al., 2009; Neumann et al., 2009) through secreted factors or direct phagocytosis.

One of the first immune cells that infiltrate the brain after stroke is the neutrophil. They start infiltrating around 6 h after stroke onset and reach peak numbers at 24 h (Perez-de-Puig et al., 2015). The predominant effect of neutrophils appears to be increased ischemic injury as inhibition of their trafficking results in better outcomes (Allen et al., 2012; Jickling et al., 2015; Neumann et al., 2015). However, there is also evidence that neutrophils play role in resolution of inflammation (Cuartero et al., 2013) and promotion of remodeling (Christoffersson et al., 2012) after stroke. Thus, the role of neutrophils in stroke pathology is more complex, which may in part account for the failure of translational approaches targeting neutrophils as stroke therapy (Jickling et al., 2015).

Monocytes follow neutrophils in parenchymal infiltration after a stroke, starting to infiltrate around 6-48 h after stroke onset and staying in the brain weeks thereafter (Lambertsen et al., 2005; Perego et al., 2011). The CCR2+Ly6Chigh monocytes/macrophages are thought to be involved with the acute inflammation, thus worsening the damage, whereas CX3CR1<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>low</sup> macrophages are considered as the immune cells involved in the repair process (Garcia-Bonilla et al., 2016; Tsuyama et al., 2018). However, monocyte response after stroke is very complicated. For example, the so-called inflammatory CCR2<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>high</sup> monocytes enter first, then are converted to regulatory CX3CR1+Ly6Clow macrophages (Garcia-Bonilla et al., 2016). Interestingly, efforts to target these monocytes populations have shown mixed results; reducing monocyte infiltration reduced stroke recovery in one study (Wattananit et al., 2016), while another study concluded that targeting monocyte subsets did not change the outcome after stroke (Schmidt et al., 2017).

The response of lymphocytes (T and B cells) after stroke is quite different from that of the other immune cells as they tend to infiltrate the brain at later time points (days) and stay longer (weeks to months) after stroke onset (Liesz et al., 2013a). The role of these cells depends on the subtype of lymphocytes involved, for example, T cells can worsen the injury (Yilmaz et al., 2006; Clarkson et al., 2014; Mracsko et al., 2014). More specifically, regulatory T cells have been shown to be protective via secretion of interleukin-10 (Liesz et al., 2009, 2013b), whereas gamma-delta-T cells can worsen the injury by secreting interleukin-17 (Shichita et al., 2009). Moreover, targeting T cell infiltration by inhibiting their trafficking into the brain parenchyma protected the brain against deleterious neuroinflammation (Liesz et al., 2011b). However, amplifying regulatory T cells with a CD28 superagonist in preclinical studies have elicited conflicting outcomes, and resulted in reduced brain damage in one study (Na et al., 2015), vs. increased brain damage in another (Schuhmann et al., 2015). Moreover, treatment with another immunomodulatory drug, FTY720, despite reducing the post-stroke lymphocyte infiltration after stroke did not improve the post-stroke outcomes (Liesz et al., 2011a). The role of B cells in stroke pathology is also very unclear. Although in some studies B cells did not have any direct effect on the stroke pathology (Yilmaz et al., 2006; Schuhmann et al., 2017), in others they were shown to be beneficial (Ren et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2012). However, B cells were also shown to have delayed deleterious effects such as cognitive impairment after stroke (Doyle et al., 2015).

MCs have been proposed to play important roles in stroke pathology. Specifically, cerebral MCs were shown to worsen the brain swelling and neutrophil accumulation after stroke (Strbian et al., 2006) and stroke induced the degranulation of brain parenchymal MCs (Biran et al., 2008; Jin et al., 2009; Lindsberg et al., 2010). Moreover, a MC stabilizer in rats, cromolyn, was shown to be protective in stroke (Strbian et al., 2007; Jin et al., 2009). Cerebral MCs were also shown to mediate blood-brain barrier disruption after stroke (Mattila et al., 2011; McKittrick et al., 2015). As opposed to these studies, which proposed a role for cerebral MCs in worsening stroke pathology, another study (reviewed in detail below), proposed that meningeal, rather than cerebral, MCs play important roles in exacerbating stroke pathology, in part by secreting IL-6 (Arac et al., 2014).

Overall, despite being a major participant in stroke pathology, inflammatory responses after stroke are complex, and attempts should be made to understand their detailed pathophysiological mechanisms before attempting therapeutic interventions.

### *In vivo* MODELS TO STUDY MC FUNCTION ("MC KNOCK-IN MICE")

MCs are tissue-resident immune cells derived from bone marrow. Small numbers of MC progenitors exist in the blood, but they complete their differentiation and maturation in tissue microenvironments (Galli et al., 2008, 2011). MCs can be activated by diverse mechanisms including via binding of antigen to antigen-specific IgE (Galli and Tsai, 2012), as well as by physical agents, innate danger signals (Supajatura et al., 2002), venoms (Metz et al., 2006), complement activation (Schäfer et al., 2013), and exposure to certain chemokines and cytokines. Upon activation, MCs can secrete either stored mediators (such as histamine and heparin) or de novo synthesized cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors (Mukai et al., 2018). These MC-derived products have been shown to have positive or negative effects on inflammation (Galli et al., 2008). However, many of these MC-derived products are also produced by a variety of other immune cells.

In order to identify a role for MCs in different biological settings, one can ablate MCs selectively (either by a drug or antibody, or genetically) to support their necessity, and then replace their function selectively to support claims of sufficiency. Pharmacological approaches such as MC stabilizers (cromolyn) or activators (c48/80) have commonly been used to infer a role for MCs. However, both of these drugs can have MC-independent effects on other immune cells (Arumugam et al., 2006; Oka et al., 2012; Schemann et al., 2012). There are also other approaches using recombinant MC proteases, such as tryptase, chymase, and tyrosine kinase inhibitors. However, all of these approaches have potential off-target effects limiting the interpretation of the results (Galli et al., 2015).

As these approaches lack true specificity for MCs, genetic approaches represent a more definitive way to assess the functions of MCs *in vivo*. Two commonly used genetically MC-deficient mice are the *Kit*<sup>W/W-v</sup> and *Kit*<sup>W-sh/W-sh</sup> mice. These mice have different types of mutations affecting the *c-kit* gene that result in a profound deficiency of MCs and melanocytes in both mice. However, both WBB6F<sub>1</sub>-*Kit*<sup>W/W-v</sup> and C57BL/6-*Kit*<sup>W-sh/W-sh</sup> also have several other abnormalities within and outside the immune system, including effects on hematopoietic cells other than MCs (Galli et al., 2015). Thus, the differences in the biological responses in these *Kit*<sup>W/W-v</sup> and *Kit*<sup>W-sh/W-sh</sup> mice compared with wild type (WT) mice may, in principle, reflect any of the abnormalities in these mice and are not necessarily due to their MC deficiency. However, the MC deficiency in these mice can be selectively "repaired" by the adoptive transfer of *in vitro*-

derived WT or mutant MCs (Nakano et al., 1985; Galli et al., 2005; Grimbaldeston et al., 2005). These *in vitro*-grown, bone marrow-derived, cultured MCs (BMCMCs) can be administered systemically or locally to create the so-called "MC knock-in mice" (Galli et al., 2015). These engrafted BMCMCs were shown to survive, and function normally, up to 18 weeks in lungs (Yu et al., 2006), 12 weeks in the skin (Biggs et al., 2010), and 10 weeks in the meninges (Arac et al., 2014). Moreover, the numbers of MCs in the MC knock-in mice are generally equivalent to those of the WT animals (Yu et al., 2006; Biggs et al., 2010; Arac et al., 2014). MC knock-in mice have been widely used to assess the roles of MCs in several biological events *in vivo*.

Despite the power of MC knock-in mice, these mice still carry potential problems inherent to *c-kit* related abnormalities (and other abnormalities in the *Kit*<sup>W-sh/W-sh</sup> mice) in the mutant mice. To overcome this issue, MC-deficient mice with normal *c-kit* function were developed by using MC-specific Cre recombinase approach (Dudeck et al., 2011; Feyerabend et al., 2011; Lilla et al., 2011). Such mice profoundly lack MCs (and to a lesser extent, basophils), but have normal *c-kit* function and lack the known abnormalities that the *c-kit* mutant mice have. Moreover, inducible models of MC deficiency were also developed by using the MC-specific Cre recombinase and inducible diphtheria toxin receptor expression (Dudeck et al., 2011; Otsuka et al., 2011; Reber et al., 2014). Injection of diphtheria toxin locally to the site of interest results in profound depletion of local MCs in these mice.

Given all these *in vivo* models to study MC function (with different pros and cons), one recommended approach has been to use more than one of these models to assess the initial biological responses, and if there are consistent results between the models, then proceeding to further studies (Galli et al., 2015). For additional discussion of these models, we recommend reading this review (Galli et al., 2015).

#### MENINGEAL MCs EXACERBATE STROKE PATHOLOGY

We utilized some of these various in vivo models in order to assess the role of MCs in stroke pathology (Arac et al., 2014).  $WBB6F_1\mathchar`-Kit^{W/W\mathchar`-v}$  mice had significantly smaller infarcts and less brain swelling compared to WT controls at 3 and 14 days after stroke. Systemic engraftment of WT MCs in these c-kit mutant mice resulted in the same extent of injury as the WT mice. In parallel to these results, the MC-deficient Cpa3-Cre; Mc1-1<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice (Lilla et al., 2011; MC-deficient mice with normal c-kit function) also had a smaller extent of stroke pathology when compared to their corresponding WT counterparts. Both mouse models also showed a similar MC-dependent pattern for myeloid, but not lymphoid, cell numbers in the brain at 3 days after stroke. Together, these data from two different types of in vivo mouse models of genetically-determined MC deficiency provide strong support that MCs play an important role in worsening the brain injury after stroke.

Because the MC deficiencies in both of these models are in all examined tissues, it is hard to discern which population of MCs might be critical for this effect. Thus, we compared



the number of CNS MCs in the MC-engrafted WBB6F1- $Kit^{W/W-v}$  mice to those of WT (WBB6F<sub>1</sub>- $Kit^{+/+}$ ) mice. Both WT mice and MC-engrafted mice had similar numbers of MCs in the dura and pia mater both before and 2 weeks after stroke (Figures 2A,B). In contrast, the brain parenchyma of the MC-engrafted mice had either no or substantially fewer MCs (Figure 2C). These data strongly suggest that brain parenchymal MCs are not responsible for the MC-dependent worsening of the stroke pathology observed in this mouse model. It instead suggests a potential role for meningeal MCs in modulating this response. Moreover, the density of MCs in the dura mater of both WT and MC-engrafted mice (15-27 cells/mm<sup>2</sup>) is similar to that in humans (Varatharaj et al., 2012; 11–23 cells/mm<sup>2</sup>). In order to calculate these dural MC densities, we used dura mater whole mount preparations (Figure 2A). This whole mount preparation of dura mater was also later used to identify the meningeal lymphatics (Louveau et al., 2015b, 2018a).

To test whether the meningeal MCs are sufficient in modulating the MC-dependent stroke pathology, we engrafted BMCMCs locally into the meninges. With a modified intracranial injection method, the MCs engraft only in the meninges and the number of meningeal MCs in MC-engrafted animals are

similar to those of the WT mice (Sayed et al., 2010; Arac et al., 2014). After meningeal engraftment of MCs, MC-engrafted mice developed significantly worse injury after stroke (Arac et al., 2014). This provides strong evidence that the meningeal MCs are sufficient to elicit the MC-dependent effects in stroke pathology. Moreover, we found by microarray analysis of the dura of MC-deficient WBB6F<sub>1</sub>-Kit<sup>W/W-v</sup> mice, the corresponding WT (WBB6F1-Kit+/+) mice, and WBB6F1-Kit<sup>W/W-v</sup> mice which had been engrafted in the meninges with WT BMCMCs (unpublished data), that the meninges are a site of inflammation-related activity after stroke and that the meningeal inflammatory gene response to stroke is modulated, at least in part, by MCs (Figure 3A). We found that many stroke-activated genes in the meninges are involved in the regulation of inflammatory and immune system processes. These include cytokines, chemokines, cell adhesion molecules, immune signaling receptors and extracellular matrix remodeling molecules, all of which are known to contribute to leukocyte migration and activation (Figure 3B). Notably, we found that many of the strokeinduced gene changes involved in inflammation were either absent or exhibited a smaller response in MC-deficient mice, but were recapitulated when MCs were engrafted


**FIGURE 3** | Meningeal gene expression changes after stroke. (A) Heatmap showing the fold-change in expression of genes significantly changed (p < 0.05) after stroke in WT (WBB6F<sub>1</sub>-*Kit*<sup>+/+</sup>) mice with the corresponding change in expression in MC-deficient (WBB6F<sub>1</sub>-*Kit*<sup>W/W-v</sup>) and MC-engrafted [WBB6F<sub>1</sub>-*Kit*<sup>W/W-v</sup> mice which had been engrafted in the meninges with WT bone marrow-derived, cultured MCs (BMCMCs)] mice (irrespective of whether the gene changes in these two groups after stroke reach significance). The genes represented are those with an absolute fold-change after stroke of  $\geq 1.5$  in WT mice. (B) Pathway map of the functional grouping of genes that were significantly upregulated after stroke in WT mice. (C) Dot plots showing the log<sub>2</sub> fold-change in expression after stroke of genes within the indicated gene ontology groups in each of three mouse groups. The genes represented in each gene ontology group were significantly upregulated after stroke in WT mice. (WT mice, with a fold-change of  $\geq 1.5$ . Each data point within a mouse group represents a different gene. Red line indicates median. \*p < 0.05; \*p = 0.05.

into these mice, consistent with the idea that MCs can modulate the meningeal inflammatory gene changes after stroke (**Figure 3C**).

In order to identify the MC-derived products that influence stroke pathology, BMCMCs derived from two candidate factordeficient mice (IL-6 and CCL7) were injected into the meninges of MC-deficient mice (Arac et al., 2014). We found that mice meningeally engrafted with BMCMCs which lack IL-6 failed to demonstrate MC-dependent responses in stroke pathology compared to the WT BMCMC engrafted mice. By contrast, MC-derived CCL7 had less of an effect on stroke pathology (Arac et al., 2014). This demonstrates how meningeal MC-derived IL-6 can, in part, explain the MC-dependent effects in stroke pathology. There are several questions that require further studies. For example, how does the meningeal MC-derived IL-6 execute its function to exacerbate stroke pathology? What downstream pathways are involved in this biological response? Does it alter the meningeal access of immune cells to the brain? What are its effects on brain meningeal lymphatics? Likewise, what are the mechanisms involved in stimulating the meningeal MCs to release IL-6 after a stroke? Are there other MC-derived factors that also might be involved in worsening the stroke pathology? Contrary to these, could anti-coagulative effects of MC-derived heparin proteoglycan and/or proteases have effects in dissolving the blood clot in ischemic stroke? Moreover, there could also be other, yet to be identified, meningeal MC-derived products that are important in the repair process after stroke. Thus, one should be cautious in directly targeting MCs as a therapeutic for stroke (Ocak et al., 2018). These and many other questions need to be investigated to better understand the role of meningeal MCs in stroke pathology.

#### OPPORTUNITIES AND CHALLENGES FOR FUTURE

Immune responses after stroke are complex with many elements involved, and it is not the focus of this article to comprehensively review that literature; interested readers can find up-to-date review articles on this topic (McCombe and Read, 2008; Iadecola and Anrather, 2011; Macrez et al., 2011; Lambertsen et al., 2018; Rayasam et al., 2018). The post-stroke immune response potentially holds very promising targets for therapeutic interventions for stroke (Arac et al., 2011; Macrez et al., 2011). However, these post-stroke immune events have not been well characterized, with many of the immune responses potentially having dual roles. Development of new and effective therapeutics for stroke will require detailed, mechanistic studies before consideration of specific approaches for therapeutic intervention. Here, we have discussed recent advances in post-stroke immune response with a particular focus on the role of meningeal MCs. Given the increasing importance and key roles of meninges in the regulation of brain-immune interactions (Rua and McGavern, 2018), meningeal MCs are ideally located to play potentially key roles in these interactions. As MCs have diverse roles in many immune responses (Galli et al., 2005, 2008), their key location in the meninges makes them potentially important players in the regulation of immune responses in the brain during health and disease.

## REFERENCES

- Albers, G. W., Marks, M. P., Kemp, S., Christensen, S., Tsai, J. P., Ortega-Gutierrez, S., et al. (2018). Thrombectomy for stroke at 6 to 16 hours with selection by perfusion imaging. N. Engl. J. Med. 378, 708–718. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1713973
- Allen, C., Thornton, P., Denes, A., McColl, B. W., Pierozynski, A., Monestier, M., et al. (2012). Neutrophil cerebrovascular transmigration triggers rapid neurotoxicity through release of proteases associated with decondensed DNA. *J. Immunol.* 189, 381–392. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200409
- Androdias, G., Reynolds, R., Chanal, M., Ritleng, C., Confavreux, C., and Nataf, S. (2010). Meningeal T cells associate with diffuse axonal loss in multiple sclerosis spinal cords. Ann. Neurol. 68, 465–476. doi: 10.1002/ana.22054
- Anrather, J., and Iadecola, C. (2016). Inflammation and stroke: an overview. *Neurotherapeutics* 13, 661–670. doi: 10.1007/s13311-016-0483-x
- Arac, A., Brownell, S. E., Rothbard, J. B., Chen, C., Ko, R. M., Pereira, M. P., et al. (2011). Systemic augmentation of αB-crystallin provides therapeutic benefit twelve hours post-stroke onset via immune modulation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 108, 13287–13292. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1107368108
- Arac, A., Grimbaldeston, M. A., Nepomuceno, A. R., Olayiwola, O., Pereira, M. P., Nishiyama, Y., et al. (2014). Evidence that meningeal mast cells can worsen stroke pathology in mice. *Am. J. Pathol.* 184, 2493–2504. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath. 2014.06.003
- Arumugam, T., Ramachandran, V., and Logsdon, C. D. (2006). Effect of cromolyn on S100P interactions with RAGE and pancreatic cancer growth and invasion in mouse models. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 98, 1806–1818. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djj498

Identifying the roles of several immune elements in stroke pathology is critical for the development of effective therapeutics. Fortunately, there are many advanced immunological tools to perform mechanistic studies. Without such detailed characterization of post-stroke immune responses, performing clinical tests of potential targets will likely result in failures, and may decrease the enthusiasm for future studies.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AA wrote the initial draft of the review. All authors contributed to revising the manuscript, reading and approving the submitted version.

#### **FUNDING**

This work was supported in part by Stanford School of Medicine Dean's Fellowship (Neizer Funds; AA); National Institutes of Health (NIH) grants NS065723 (AA), NS109315 (AA), NS080062 and NS37520-08 (GS) and AI070813, AI023990, and CA072074 (SG); Russell and Elizabeth Siegelman (GS); Bernard and Ronni Lacroute (GS); William Randolph Hearst Foundation (GS); an Australian NHMRC Career Development Fellowship and NHMRC project grants (MG).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Christine Plant for assistance with the manuscript.

- Aspelund, A., Antila, S., Proulx, S. T., Karlsen, T. V., Karaman, S., Detmar, M., et al. (2015). A dural lymphatic vascular system that drains brain interstitial fluid and macromolecules. *J. Exp. Med.* 212, 991–999. doi: 10.1084/jem.201 42290
- Benakis, C., Llovera, G., and Liesz, A. (2018). The meningeal and choroidal infiltration routes for leukocytes in stroke. *Ther. Adv. Neurol. Disord.* 11:1756286418783708. doi: 10.1177/1756286418783708
- Benjamin, E. J., Virani, S. S., Callaway, C. W., Chamberlain, A. M., Chang, A. R., Cheng, S., et al. (2018). Heart disease and stroke statistics-2018 update: a report from the american heart association. *Circulation* 137, e67–e492. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000558
- Biggs, L., Yu, C., Fedoric, B., Lopez, A. F., Galli, S. J., and Grimbaldeston, M. A. (2010). Evidence that vitamin D(3) promotes mast cell-dependent reduction of chronic UVB-induced skin pathology in mice. *J. Exp. Med.* 207, 455–463. doi: 10.1084/jem.20091725
- Biran, V., Cochois, V., Karroubi, A., Arrang, J. M., Charriaut-Marlangue, C., and Heron, A. (2008). Stroke induces histamine accumulation and mast cell degranulation in the neonatal rat brain. *Brain Pathol.* 18, 1–9. doi: 10.1111/j. 1750-3639.2007.00092.x
- Chen, Y., Bodhankar, S., Murphy, S. J., Vandenbark, A. A., Alkayed, N. J., and Offner, H. (2012). Intrastriatal B-cell administration limits infarct size after stroke in B-cell deficient mice. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 27, 487–493. doi: 10.1007/s11011-012-9317-7
- Christoffersson, G., Vågesjö, E., Vandooren, J., Liden, M., Massena, S., Reinert, R. B., et al. (2012). VEGF-A recruits a proangiogenic MMP-9delivering neutrophil subset that induces angiogenesis in transplanted

hypoxic tissue. Blood 120, 4653–4662. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-04-421040

- Clarkson, B. D., Ling, C., Shi, Y., Harris, M. G., Rayasam, A., Sun, D., et al. (2014). T cell-derived interleukin (IL)-21 promotes brain injury following stroke in mice. *J. Exp. Med.* 211, 595–604. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131377
- Clausen, B. H., Lambertsen, K. L., Babcock, A. A., Holm, T. H., Dagnaes-Hansen, F., and Finsen, B. (2008). Interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha are expressed by different subsets of microglia and macrophages after ischemic stroke in mice. J. Neuroinflammation 5:46. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-5-46
- Cuartero, M. I., Ballesteros, I., Moraga, A., Nombela, F., Vivancos, J., Hamilton, J. A., et al. (2013). N2 neutrophils, novel players in brain inflammation after stroke: modulation by the PPARγ agonist rosiglitazone. *Stroke* 44, 3498–3508. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.113.002470
- Derecki, N. C., Cardani, A. N., Yang, C. H., Quinnies, K. M., Crihfield, A., Lynch, K. R., et al. (2010). Regulation of learning and memory by meningeal immunity: a key role for IL-4. *J. Exp. Med.* 207, 1067–1080. doi: 10.1084/jem. 20091419
- Dimlich, R. V., Keller, J. T., Strauss, T. A., and Fritts, M. J. (1991). Linear arrays of homogeneous mast cells in the dura mater of the rat. *J. Neurocytol.* 20, 485–503. doi: 10.1007/bf01252276
- Doyle, K. P., Quach, L. N., Sole, M., Axtell, R. C., Nguyen, T. V., Soler-Llavina, G. J., et al. (2015). B-lymphocyte-mediated delayed cognitive impairment following stroke. J. Neurosci. 35, 2133–2145. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4098-14.2015
- Dudeck, A., Dudeck, J., Scholten, J., Petzold, A., Surianarayanan, S., Kohler, A., et al. (2011). Mast cells are key promoters of contact allergy that mediate the adjuvant effects of haptens. *Immunity* 34, 973–984. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni. 2011.03.028
- Feyerabend, T. B., Weiser, A., Tietz, A., Stassen, M., Harris, N., Kopf, M., et al. (2011). Cre-mediated cell ablation contests mast cell contribution in models of antibody- and T cell-mediated autoimmunity. *Immunity* 35, 832–844. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.09.015
- Fisher, M., and Saver, J. L. (2015). Future directions of acute ischaemic stroke therapy. *Lancet Neurol.* 14, 758–767. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(15)00054-x
- Galli, S. J., Borregaard, N., and Wynn, T. A. (2011). Phenotypic and functional plasticity of cells of innate immunity: macrophages, mast cells and neutrophils. *Nat. Immunol.* 12, 1035–1044. doi: 10.1038/ni.2109
- Galli, S. J., Grimbaldeston, M., and Tsai, M. (2008). Immunomodulatory mast cells: negative, as well as positive, regulators of immunity. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 8, 478–486. doi: 10.1038/nri2327
- Galli, S. J., Kalesnikoff, J., Grimbaldeston, M. A., Piliponsky, A. M., Williams, C. M., and Tsai, M. (2005). Mast cells as "tunable" effector and immunoregulatory cells: recent advances. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 23, 749–786. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141025
- Galli, S. J., and Tsai, M. (2012). IgE and mast cells in allergic disease. *Nat. Med.* 18, 693–704. doi: 10.1038/nm.2755
- Galli, S. J., Tsai, M., Marichal, T., Tchougounova, E., Reber, L. L., and Pejler, G. (2015). Approaches for analyzing the roles of mast cells and their proteases in vivo. Adv. Immunol. 126, 45–127. doi: 10.1016/bs.ai.2014.11.002
- Garcia-Bonilla, L., Faraco, G., Moore, J., Murphy, M., Racchumi, G., Srinivasan, J., et al. (2016). Spatio-temporal profile, phenotypic diversity and fate of recruited monocytes into the post-ischemic brain. *J. Neuroinflammation* 13:285. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0750-0
- George, P. M., and Steinberg, G. K. (2015). Novel stroke therapeutics: unraveling stroke pathophysiology and its impact on clinical treatments. *Neuron* 87, 297–309. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.05.041
- Grimbaldeston, M. A., Chen, C. C., Piliponsky, A. M., Tsai, M., Tam, S. Y., and Galli, S. J. (2005). Mast cell-deficient W-sash c-kit mutant Kit W-sh/W-sh mice as a model for investigating mast cell biology *in vivo*. Am. J. Pathol. 167, 835–848. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62055-X
- Grimbaldeston, M. A., Nakae, S., Kalesnikoff, J., Tsai, M., and Galli, S. J. (2007). Mast cell-derived interleukin 10 limits skin pathology in contact dermatitis and chronic irradiation with ultraviolet B. *Nat. Immunol.* 8, 1095–1104. doi: 10.1038/ni1503
- Herisson, F., Frodermann, V., Courties, G., Rohde, D., Sun, Y., Vandoorne, K., et al. (2018). Direct vascular channels connect skull bone marrow and the brain surface enabling myeloid cell migration. *Nat. Neurosci.* 21, 1209–1217. doi: 10.1038/s41593-018-0213-2

- Iadecola, C., and Anrather, J. (2011). The immunology of stroke: from mechanisms to translation. Nat. Med. 17, 796–808. doi: 10.1038/nm.2399
- Ito, D., Tanaka, K., Suzuki, S., Dembo, T., and Fukuuchi, Y. (2001). Enhanced expression of Iba1, ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule 1, after transient focal cerebral ischemia in rat brain. *Stroke* 32, 1208–1215. doi: 10.1161/01.str. 32.5.1208
- Jickling, G. C., Liu, D., Ander, B. P., Stamova, B., Zhan, X., and Sharp, F. R. (2015). Targeting neutrophils in ischemic stroke: translational insights from experimental studies. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 35, 888–901. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2015.45
- Jin, Y., Silverman, A. J., and Vannucci, S. J. (2009). Mast cells are early responders after hypoxia-ischemia in immature rat brain. *Stroke* 40, 3107–3112. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.109.549691
- Knowland, D., Arac, A., Sekiguchi, K. J., Hsu, M., Lutz, S. E., Perrino, J., et al. (2014). Stepwise recruitment of transcellular and paracellular pathways underlies blood-brain barrier breakdown in stroke. *Neuron* 82, 603–617. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.03.003
- Kwong, B., Rua, R., Gao, Y., Flickinger, J. Jr., Wang, Y., Kruhlak, M. J., et al. (2017). T-bet-dependent NKp46<sup>+</sup> innate lymphoid cells regulate the onset of  $T_H$ 17induced neuroinflammation. *Nat. Immunol.* 18, 1117–1127. doi: 10.1038/ ni.3816
- Lambertsen, K. L., Clausen, B. H., Babcock, A. A., Gregersen, R., Fenger, C., Nielsen, H. H., et al. (2009). Microglia protect neurons against ischemia by synthesis of tumor necrosis factor. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 1319–1330. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.5505-08.2009
- Lambertsen, K. L., Finsen, B., and Clausen, B. H. (2018). Poststroke inflammation-target or tool for therapy? *Acta Neuropathol.* doi: 10.1007/s00401-018-1930-z [Epub ahead of print].
- Lambertsen, K. L., Meldgaard, M., Ladeby, R., and Finsen, B. (2005). A quantitative study of microglial-macrophage synthesis of tumor necrosis factor during acute and late focal cerebral ischemia in mice. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 25, 119–135. doi: 10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600014
- Liesz, A., Karcher, S., and Veltkamp, R. (2013a). Spectratype analysis of clonal T cell expansion in murine experimental stroke. J. Neuroimmunol. 257, 46–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2013.01.013
- Liesz, A., Zhou, W., Na, S. Y., Hammerling, G. J., Garbi, N., Karcher, S., et al. (2013b). Boosting regulatory T cells limits neuroinflammation in permanent cortical stroke. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 17350–17362. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.4901-12.2013
- Liesz, A., Sun, L., Zhou, W., Schwarting, S., Mracsko, E., Zorn, M., et al. (2011a). FTY720 reduces post-ischemic brain lymphocyte influx but does not improve outcome in permanent murine cerebral ischemia. *PLoS One* 6:e21312. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0021312
- Liesz, A., Zhou, W., Mracsko, E., Karcher, S., Bauer, H., Schwarting, S., et al. (2011b). Inhibition of lymphocyte trafficking shields the brain against deleterious neuroinflammation after stroke. *Brain* 134, 704–720. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr008
- Liesz, A., Suri-Payer, E., Veltkamp, C., Doerr, H., Sommer, C., Rivest, S., et al. (2009). Regulatory T cells are key cerebroprotective immunomodulators in acute experimental stroke. *Nat. Med.* 15, 192–199. doi: 10.1038/nm.1927
- Lilla, J. N., Chen, C. C., Mukai, K., BenBarak, M. J., Franco, C. B., Kalesnikoff, J., et al. (2011). Reduced mast cell and basophil numbers and function in Cpa3-Cre; Mcl-1fl/fl mice. *Blood* 118, 6930–6938. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-03-343962
- Lindsberg, P. J., Strbian, D., and Karjalainen-Lindsberg, M. L. (2010). Mast cells as early responders in the regulation of acute blood-brain barrier changes after cerebral ischemia and hemorrhage. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 30, 689–702. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2009.282
- Louveau, A., Filiano, A. J., and Kipnis, J. (2018a). Meningeal whole mount preparation and characterization of neural cells by flow cytometry. *Curr. Protoc. Immunol.* 121:e50. doi: 10.1002/cpim.50
- Louveau, A., Herz, J., Alme, M. N., Salvador, A. F., Dong, M. Q., Viar, K. E., et al. (2018b). CNS lymphatic drainage and neuroinflammation are regulated by meningeal lymphatic vasculature. *Nat. Neurosci.* 21, 1380–1391. doi: 10.1038/s41593-018-0227-9
- Louveau, A., Harris, T. H., and Kipnis, J. (2015a). Revisiting the mechanisms of CNS immune privilege. *Trends Immunol.* 36, 569–577. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015. 08.006

- Louveau, A., Smirnov, I., Keyes, T. J., Eccles, J. D., Rouhani, S. J., Peske, J. D., et al. (2015b). Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. Nature 523, 337-341. doi: 10.1038/nature14432
- Macrez, R., Ali, C., Toutirais, O., Le Mauff, B., Defer, G., Dirnagl, U., et al. (2011). Stroke and the immune system: from pathophysiology to new therapeutic strategies. Lancet Neurol. 10, 471-480. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(11) 70066-7
- Mattila, O. S., Strbian, D., Saksi, J., Pikkarainen, T. O., Rantanen, V., Tatlisumak, T., et al. (2011). Cerebral mast cells mediate blood-brain barrier disruption in acute experimental ischemic stroke through perivascular gelatinase activation. Stroke 42, 3600-3605. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.111. 632224
- McCombe, P. A., and Read, S. J. (2008). Immune and inflammatory responses to stroke: good or bad? Int. J. Stroke 3, 254-265. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-4949.2008. 00222.x
- McKittrick, C. M., Lawrence, C. E., and Carswell, H. V. (2015). Mast cells promote blood brain barrier breakdown and neutrophil infiltration in a mouse model of focal cerebral ischemia. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 35, 638-647. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2014.239
- Metz, M., Piliponsky, A. M., Chen, C. C., Lammel, V., Abrink, M., Pejler, G., et al. (2006). Mast cells can enhance resistance to snake and honeybee venoms. Science 313, 526-530. doi: 10.1126/science.1128877
- Moskowitz, M. A., Lo, E. H., and Iadecola, C. (2010). The science of stroke: mechanisms in search of treatments. Neuron 67, 181-198. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2010.07.002
- Mracsko, E., Liesz, A., Stojanovic, A., Lou, W. P., Osswald, M., Zhou, W., et al. (2014). Antigen dependently activated cluster of differentiation 8-positive T cells cause perforin-mediated neurotoxicity in experimental stroke. J. Neurosci. 34, 16784-16795, doi: 10.1523/ineurosci.1867-14.2014
- Mukai, K., Tsai, M., Saito, H., and Galli, S. J. (2018). Mast cells as sources of cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors. Immunol. Rev. 282, 121-150. doi: 10.1111/imr.12634
- Na, S. Y., Mracsko, E., Liesz, A., Hunig, T., and Veltkamp, R. (2015). Amplification of regulatory T cells using a CD28 superagonist reduces brain damage after ischemic stroke in mice. Stroke 46, 212-220. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.114.007756
- Nakano, T., Sonoda, T., Hayashi, C., Yamatodani, A., Kanayama, Y., Yamamura, T., et al. (1985). Fate of bone marrow-derived cultured mast cells after intracutaneous, intraperitoneal and intravenous transfer into genetically mast cell-deficient W/Wv mice. Evidence that cultured mast cells can give rise to both connective tissue type and mucosal mast cells. J. Exp. Med. 162, 1025-1043. doi: 10.1084/jem.162.3.1025
- Neher, J. J., Emmrich, J. V., Fricker, M., Mander, P. K., Thery, C., and Brown, G. C. (2013). Phagocytosis executes delayed neuronal death after focal brain ischemia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 110, E4098-E4107. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1308679110
- Neumann, H., Kotter, M. R., and Franklin, R. J. (2009). Debris clearance by microglia: an essential link between degeneration and regeneration. Brain 132, 288-295. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn109
- Neumann, J., Riek-Burchardt, M., Herz, J., Doeppner, T. R., König, R., Hütten, H., et al. (2015). Very-late-antigen-4 (VLA-4)-mediated brain invasion by neutrophils leads to interactions with microglia, increased ischemic injury and impaired behavior in experimental stroke. Acta Neuropathol. 129, 259-277. doi: 10.1007/s00401-014-1355-2
- Nogueira, R. G., Jadhav, A. P., Haussen, D. C., Bonafe, A., Budzik, R. F., Bhuva, P., et al. (2018). Thrombectomy 6 to 24 hours after stroke with a mismatch between deficit and infarct. N. Engl. J. Med. 378, 11-21. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1706442
- Ocak, U., Ocak, P. E., Wang, A., Zhang, J. H., Boling, W., Wu, P., et al. (2018). Targeting mast cell as a neuroprotective strategy. Brain Inj. doi: 10.1080/02699052.2018.1556807 [Epub ahead of print].
- Oka, T., Kalesnikoff, J., Starkl, P., Tsai, M., and Galli, S. J. (2012). Evidence questioning cromolyn's effectiveness and selectivity as a 'mast cell stabilizer' in mice. Lab. Invest. 92, 1472-1482. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2012.116
- Otsuka, A., Kubo, M., Honda, T., Egawa, G., Nakajima, S., Tanizaki, H., et al. (2011). Requirement of interaction between mast cells and skin dendritic cells to establish contact hypersensitivity. PLoS One 6:e25538. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0025538
- Perego, C., Fumagalli, S., and De Simoni, M. G. (2011). Temporal pattern of expression and colocalization of microglia/macrophage phenotype markers

following brain ischemic injury in mice. J. Neuroinflammation 8:174. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8-174

- Perez-de-Puig, I., Miró-Mur, F., Ferrer-Ferrer, M., Gelpi, E., Pedragosa, J., Justicia, C., et al. (2015). Neutrophil recruitment to the brain in mouse and human ischemic stroke. Acta Neuropathol. 129, 239-257. doi: 10.1007/s00401-014-1381-0
- Rayasam, A., Hsu, M., Kijak, J. A., Kissel, L., Hernandez, G., Sandor, M., et al. (2018). Immune responses in stroke: how the immune system contributes to damage and healing after stroke and how this knowledge could be translated to better cures? Immunology 154, 363-376. doi: 10.1111/imm.12918
- Reber, L. L., Marichal, T., Sokolove, J., Starkl, P., Gaudenzio, N., Iwakura, Y., et al. (2014). Contribution of mast cell-derived interleukin-1ß to uric acid crystal-induced acute arthritis in mice. Arthritis Rheumatol. 66, 2881-2891. doi: 10.1002/art.38747
- Ren, X., Akiyoshi, K., Dziennis, S., Vandenbark, A. A., Herson, P. S., Hurn, P. D., et al. (2011). Regulatory B cells limit CNS inflammation and neurologic deficits in murine experimental stroke. J. Neurosci. 31, 8556-8563. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1623-11.2011
- Rua, R., and McGavern, D. B. (2018). Advances in meningeal immunity. Trends Mol. Med. 24, 542-559, doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2018.04.003
- Sayed, B. A., Christy, A. L., Walker, M. E., and Brown, M. A. (2010). Meningeal mast cells affect early T cell central nervous system infiltration and blood-brain barrier integrity through TNF: a role for neutrophil recruitment? J. Immunol. 184, 6891-6900. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000126
- Schäfer, B., Piliponsky, A. M., Oka, T., Song, C. H., Gerard, N. P., Gerard, C., et al. (2013). Mast cell anaphylatoxin receptor expression can enhance IgE-dependent skin inflammation in mice. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 131, 541.e9-548.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.05.009
- Schemann, M., Kugler, E. M., Buhner, S., Eastwood, C., Donovan, J., Jiang, W., et al. (2012). The mast cell degranulator compound 48/80 directly activates neurons. PLoS One 7:e52104. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0052104
- Schmidt, A., Strecker, J. K., Hucke, S., Bruckmann, N. M., Herold, M., Mack, M., et al. (2017). Targeting different monocyte/macrophage subsets has no impact on outcome in experimental stroke. Stroke 48, 1061-1069. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.116.015577
- Schuhmann, M. K., Kraft, P., Stoll, G., Lorenz, K., Meuth, S. G., Wiendl, H., et al. (2015). CD28 superagonist-mediated boost of regulatory T cells increases thrombo-inflammation and ischemic neurodegeneration during the acute phase of experimental stroke. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 35, 6-10. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2014.175
- Schuhmann, M. K., Langhauser, F., Kraft, P., and Kleinschnitz, C. (2017). B cells do not have a major pathophysiologic role in acute ischemic stroke in mice. J. Neuroinflammation 14:112. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-0890-x
- Shechter, R., London, A., and Schwartz, M. (2013). Orchestrated leukocyte recruitment to immune-privileged sites: absolute barriers versus educational gates. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 13, 206-218. doi: 10.1038/nri3391
- Shichita, T., Sugiyama, Y., Ooboshi, H., Sugimori, H., Nakagawa, R., Takada, I., et al. (2009). Pivotal role of cerebral interleukin-17-producing γδT cells in the delayed phase of ischemic brain injury. Nat. Med. 15, 946-950. doi: 10.1038/nm.1999
- Strbian, D., Karjalainen-Lindsberg, M. L., Kovanen, P. T., Tatlisumak, T., and Lindsberg, P. J. (2007). Mast cell stabilization reduces hemorrhage formation and mortality after administration of thrombolytics in experimental ischemic stroke, Circulation 116, 411-418, doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.106.655423
- Strbian, D., Karjalainen-Lindsberg, M. L., Tatlisumak, T., and Lindsberg, P. J. (2006). Cerebral mast cells regulate early ischemic brain swelling and neutrophil accumulation. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 26, 605-612. doi: 10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600228
- Supajatura, V., Ushio, H., Nakao, A., Akira, S., Okumura, K., Ra, C., et al. (2002). Differential responses of mast cell Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in allergy and innate immunity. J. Clin. Invest. 109, 1351-1359. doi: 10.1172/jci0214704
- Tsai, M., Grimbaldeston, M., and Galli, S. J. (2011). Mast cells and immunoregulation/immunomodulation. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 716, 186-211. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-9533-9\_11
- Tsuyama, J., Nakamura, A., Ooboshi, H., Yoshimura, A., and Shichita, T. (2018). Pivotal role of innate myeloid cells in cerebral post-ischemic sterile inflammation. Semin. Immunopathol. 40, 523-538. doi: 10.1007/s00281-018-0707-8

- Varatharaj, A., Mack, J., Davidson, J. R., Gutnikov, A., and Squier, W. (2012). Mast cells in the human dura: effects of age and dural bleeding. *Childs Nerv. Syst.* 28, 541–545. doi: 10.1007/s00381-012-1699-7
- Wattananit, S., Tornero, D., Graubardt, N., Memanishvili, T., Monni, E., Tatarishvili, J., et al. (2016). Monocyte-derived macrophages contribute to spontaneous long-term functional recovery after stroke in mice. J. Neurosci. 36, 4182–4195. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4317-15.2016
- Yilmaz, G., Arumugam, T. V., Stokes, K. Y., and Granger, D. N. (2006). Role of T lymphocytes and interferon-γ in ischemic stroke. *Circulation* 113, 2105–2112. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.105.593046
- Yu, M., Tsai, M., Tam, S. Y., Jones, C., Zehnder, J., and Galli, S. J. (2006). Mast cells can promote the development of multiple features of chronic asthma in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* 116, 1633–1641. doi: 10.1172/jci25702

**Conflict of Interest Statement**: GS is a consultant for Qool Therapeutics, Peter Lazic US, Inc., and NeuroSave. MG is employed by Genentech Inc.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Arac, Grimbaldeston, Galli, Bliss and Steinberg. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Shared Fate of Meningeal Mast Cells and Sensory Neurons in Migraine

Duygu Koyuncu Irmak<sup>1</sup>, Erkan Kilinc<sup>2</sup> and Fatma Tore<sup>3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Histology and Embryology, School of Medicine, Biruni University, Istanbul, Turkey, <sup>2</sup>Department of Physiology, School of Medicine, Bolu Abant Izzet Baysal University, Bolu, Turkey, <sup>3</sup>Department of Physiology, School of Medicine, Biruni University, Istanbul, Turkey

Migraine is a primary headache disorder which has complex neurogenic pathophysiological mechanisms still requiring full elucidation. The sensory nerves and meningeal mast cell couplings in the migraine target tissue are very effective interfaces between the central nervous system and the immune system. These couplings fall into three categories: intimacy, cross-talk and a shared fate. Acting as the immediate call-center of the neuroimmune system, mast cells play fundamental roles in migraine pathophysiology. Considerable evidence shows that neuroinflammation in the meninges is the key element resulting in the sensitization of trigeminal nociceptors. The successive events such as neuropeptide release, vasodilation, plasma protein extravasation, and mast cell degranulation that form the basic characteristics of the inflammation are believed to occur in this persistent pain state. In this regard, mast cells and sensory neurons represent both the target and source of the neuropeptides that play autocrine, paracrine, and neuro-endocrine roles during this inflammatory process. This review intends to contribute to a better understanding of the meningeal mast cell and sensory neuron bi-directional interactions from molecular, cellular, functional points of view. Considering the fact that mast cells play a sine qua non role in expanding the opportunities for targeted new migraine therapies, it is of crucial importance to explore these multi-faceted interactions.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Kalpna Gupta, University of Minnesota Twin Cities, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Mária Dux, University of Szeged, Hungary Elsa Fabbretti, University of Trieste, Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

Fatma Tore torefatma@gmail.com

Received: 15 January 2019 Accepted: 20 March 2019 Published: 05 April 2019

#### Citation:

Koyuncu Irmak D, Kilinc E and Tore F (2019) Shared Fate of Meningeal Mast Cells and Sensory Neurons in Migraine. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:136. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00136 Keywords: migraine, neuroinflammation, mast cells, sensory neurons, ATP, CGRP, PACAP, autonomic nervous system

#### INTRODUCTION

Migraine headache has been known for 6,000 years but has not been completely cured yet. Human descriptions of migraine headache date from the earliest recorded history of man, in Mesopotamia, the cradle of civilization in 4000 B.C. In the 5th century, Hippocrates, the Father of Medicine, described in detail a headache that would be called migraine with aura. The Turkish philosopher physician Ibn-i Sina (930–1,037) also known as Avicenna, in his book The Canon of Medical Sciences, asserted that food and sounds provoked pain and that the patient could not tolerate light and should be rest alone in the darkness. This is still valid today for migraineurs (Daniel, 2010).

Today, migraine is listed in the top 20 conditions by the World Health Organization (WHO); a debilitating neurological condition with a high prevalence approximately 6%–8% of men and 15%–25% of women in western countries (Pietrobon and Striessnig, 2003). The Headache Classification Committee working under the International Headache Society, complete the following diagnostic criteria for migraine: episodic headache lasting from 4 to 72 h,

concomitant with two of the following, throbbing, unilateral pain, aggravation on movement, or pain of at least moderate severity, and at least one of the following, nausea or vomiting, or photophobia and phonophobia (Headache Classification Subcommittee of the International Headache Society [IHS], 2004). Migraine is a condition that significantly impairs patients' quality of daily life. The Global Burden of Disease Study ranked migraine as the seventh most common disabling pathology among 289 diseases, referred to as the 7th disabler (Wöber-Bingöl, 2013; Malone et al., 2015). Migraine has a co-morbidity in a number diseases which is mostly associated with mast cells (Graziottin et al., 2014; Xu and Chen, 2015; Eller-Smith et al., 2018; Graif et al., 2018).

To understand the pathophysiology of migraine, several important steps have been taken in the last decades. Today, it is known that the aura is caused by the activation of a neurophysiological phenomenon called cortical spreading depression (CSD) and the trigeminovascular system (Boran and Bolay, 2013; Alstadhaug, 2014). The mechanisms for triggering and ending the attacks are still largely mysterious.

In this review article, we aimed to compile the information about the migraine pathophysiology and the use of this data in efforts that have been made to find the best therapeutical options. In this regard, we focused on neurogenic inflammation which is crucial in the pathophysiology of migraine, mast cells, sensory neuronal axis and bi-directional interactions of these from molecular, cellular, functional and clinical points of views.

#### MAST CELLS

A medical student Paul Ehrlich (1878), coined the name "mastzellen" stemming from the Greek word mastos ( $\mu\alpha\sigma\delta\delta\sigma$ ), meaning breast (Crivellato et al., 2003). Today, we know that they originate from pluripotential hematopoietic cells in bone marrow and they are deeply involved in the trophism of tissues (Tore and Tuncel, 2009). Mast cells (MCs) are tissue-resident granulocyte that originate from CD34+/CD117+ and circulate in the blood during their immature stage (Tore and Tuncel, 2011; Theoharides et al., 2012). Stem cell growth factor (SCF) and other cytokines (Interleukin 3, 4, 9) help the maturation of MCs in the tissue (Varatharaj et al., 2012). MCs lodge in all vascularized tissues (3,000–25,000 mast cells/mm<sup>3</sup>), such as intestines, respiratory tract and skin as well as in the dura mater (Galli and Tsai, 2008; Theoharides et al., 2012).

Their vicinity enables MCs to be an "immediate call center" for exposure to pathogens and allergens. When activated, MCs degranulate and release mediators. They participate in tissue repair and interact with other immune cells (Galli and Tsai, 2008; Theoharides et al., 2012; Graziottin et al., 2014).

MCs are commonly round or elongated in shape, with a diameter of approximately  $10-20 \ \mu$ m. They do not represent a homogeneous population. The recruitment and differentiation of MCs is a complex process in which tissue-specific microenvironmental factors such as cell types and cytokines, neuropeptides available around them are highly involved. Such cytokines and neuropeptides work through many up-and-down regulating mechanisms and are crucial in the

recruitment, differentiation, maturation and even apoptosis of mast cells. The effect of a cytokine or neuropeptide on undifferentiated or mature mast cells might be different (Tore and Tuncel, 2011; Aich et al., 2015; Gupta and Harvima, 2018). MCs have proven to have fundamental differences in size, staining, sensitivity to stimuli/drugs, species, and function. The findings on these enigmatic cells are difficult to interpret.

Classical MC mediators are proteases (e.g., tryptase, chymase, etc.), bio-organic amines (e.g., histamine and serotonin), proteoglycans (e.g., heparin, etc.), many cytokines [e.g., tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) nitric oxide (NO), prostaglandins, leukotrienes and kinins; Nilsson et al., 1999; Theoharides and Kalogeromitros, 2006; Gri et al., 2012; Sismanopoulos et al., 2012], neuropeptides [e.g., corticotropin-releasing factor, endorphins, somatostatin, substance P (SP), vasoactive intestinal peptide, Pituitary adenylate cyclase activating polypeptide (PACAP); Metcalfe et al., 1997; Luger and Lotti, 1998; Kempuraj et al., 2004; Theoharides and Kalogeromitros, 2006; Hildebrand et al., 2008; Lennerz et al., 2008; Tore and Tuncel, 2009; Okragly et al., 2018] as well as growth factors [e.g., transforming growth factor, vascular endothelial growth factor, granulocyte-monocyte colony stimulating factor, nerve growth factor (NGF); Metcalfe et al., 1997; Tore and Tuncel, 2009]. Each mast cell mediator function in a number of ways, and they overlap in their effects in the body. These mediators modify mast cell behaviors via autocrine effects, modulate neighboring nerves, endothelia and vessel smooth muscle functions via paracrine effects and regulate remote organ functions via endocrine effects (Figure 1).

Meningeal MCs and sensory nerve relation consist of proximity, communication and a shared fate. Proven not to be a random configuration, mast cell-nerve membrane-tomembrane contacts are highly common and in some cases, they even exchange granules (Rozniecki et al., 1999; Tore and Tuncel, 2011). This is likely to be by fate rather than an accident since such spatial distributions mostly indicate a functional relationship. MCs sometimes release their contents without degranulation; they also transport extracellular vesicles (30-150 nm) which contain several mediators, including micro RNAs and major histocompatibility complex-II, to the neighboring cells (Gupta and Harvima, 2018). MCs settle close to nerve fibers, which makes them strong candidates for modulating neural activity and nociception. Increased MC counts in proximity to the neural system (Barbara et al., 2004) and NGF are related with nerve fiber structure, which is responsible for hyperalgesia (Watson et al., 2008). MC degranulation also contributes to hyperalgesia in experimental settings (Vincent et al., 2013).

Sicuteri, in 1963 was one of the first to suggest a role for MCs in migraine pathophysiology by MC degranulating agent, compound 48/80 induced headache (Sicuteri, 1963). Plasma histamine, 5-hydroxy tryptamine (5-HT) and urinary histamine and tryptase levels are elevated during migraine attacks (Heatley et al., 1982; Ferrari et al., 1989; Olness et al., 1999). Histamine infusion also promotes a migraine-like headache (Lassen et al., 1995). MCs are not the only source for histamine in brain; specifically 90% of thalamic histamine and up to 50% of total brain histamine are produced by MCs



of paracrine/autocrine/endocrine interactions which involve the common fate in neurogenic inflammation in migraine. Nerves: trigeminal ganglion (TG), superior cervical ganglion (SCG), sphenopalatine ganglion (SPG). Neurotransmitters: calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP), pituitary adenylate cyclase activating polypeptide (PACAP), acetylcholine (ACh) and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and substance P (SP) degranulate mast cells and causes vasodilatation (arrows). Mast cell mediators: histamine (H), nitric oxide (NO), and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) sensitizes sensory neurons and causes vasodilatation (arrows). Tryptase (T) also sensitizes sensory neurons (arrows) also cleavages CGRP (blinded lines). Norepinephrine (NE) inhibits trigeminal activation also causes vasoconstriction. \*Mast cell have membrane-membrane contacts with sensory neurons.

in rats (Dong et al., 2014). Histamine receptors (H1, H2, H3, and H4) are expressed in microglias, astrocytes, sensory neurons, smooth muscle cells of vessels, and also in MCs itself. These receptors mediate or prevent degranulation of MCs in certain conditions in related venues (Rosa and Fantozzi, 2013; Alstadhaug, 2014). Cromolyn and antihistaminics were used for migraine prophylaxis (Rossi et al., 2003). But only a small proportion of migraineurs have benefited from them, possibly due to the variety of mast cell responses and mast cell mediator contents. As illustrated in Figure 1, not only histamine but also many mast cell mediators are involved, directly or indirectly, in the activation of meningeal nociceptors (Levy et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2007; Zhang and Levy, 2008; Rosa and Fantozzi, 2013). Recently Kilinc et al. (2017). showed that compound 48/80 induced persistent nociceptive firing in the trigeminal nerve endings was blocked by 5-HT3 receptor antagonist.

#### **NEUROGENIC INFLAMMATION**

In recent decades, emerging data from animal and human research brought the integrated theory which implicates vascular and neural components. In particular, the activation of the meningeal afferent neurons, neuropeptide release, and neurogenic inflammation play key and complex roles in migraine headache (Buzzi and Moskowitz, 2005; Peroutka, 2005; Burgos-Vega et al., 2015). This concept has been supported by the large amount of experimental evidence accumulated. The studies were mainly performed by the activation of primary afferent neurons, either in disease or disease mimicking condition or experimentally with electrical stimulus, or by the activation of polymodal nociceptive receptors expressed on the peripheral nerve terminal that causes the release of proinflammatory neuropeptides. In this framework, these neuropeptide mediators interact with endothelial cells, mast cells, immune cells, and vascular smooth muscle cells, initiating a cascade of inflammatory responses (Geppetti et al., 2012).

However, there is not a full consensus on the pathophysiology of migraine, though it has been agreed that this disorder can be said mainly to result from the activation and sensitization of the trigeminovascular system (Goadsby et al., 2017a,b). Activated trigeminal nociceptive afferents release calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) and SP, which subsequently cause sterile neurogenic inflammation in the meninges. Neurogenic inflammation is characterized by vasodilatation of meningeal vessels, increased vascular permeability, plasma protein extravasation, and mast cell degranulation (Boran and Bolay, 2013; Erdener and Dalkara, 2014). Although CGRP or some other vasodilatators of meningeal arteries do not induce nociceptive activation, vasodilatation of extracranial vessels can activate nociceptive afferents (Levy et al., 2005; Shevel, 2011). It has been proposed that the inflammatory mediators further activate meningeal nociceptors and induce peripheral and central sensitization (Levy, 2012).

Under experimental conditions, neurogenic inflammation can be induced by inflammatory agents applied topically to the dura mater. An inflammatory cocktail containing histamine, serotonin, bradykinin, and prostaglandin E2, was used to elucidate migraine pathophysiology and to predict the effectiveness of the treatments that have been developed for migraine (Zhang and Levy, 2008; Yan et al., 2018). A functional magnetic resonance imaging study showed that dural application of the inflammatory cocktail in awake rats demonstrated similar responses to migraine patients (Becerra et al., 2017). Meningeal inflammation arises as a result of CSD. During CSD, mediators, such as potassium-ions and glutamate are released and can cause the activation of nociceptors on meningeal sensory neurons and mast cells (Waeber and Moskowitz, 2005; Bogdanov et al., 2011; Karatas et al., 2013; Pietrobon and Moskowitz, 2013). This framework suggests a cross-talk of the actors such as MCs and neurons in meningeal inflammation. Ramachandran has recently outlined the mechanistic hypothesis of neurogenic inflammation in the dura mater (Ramachandran et al., 2014). He proposed that CSD or stress factors lead events along two separate paths. Either the trigeminal system is activated and neuropeptides are released, or the MCs are degranulated and sensitize the nociceptors. In both cases, neuropeptides such as CGRP and many MC mediators induce meningeal vasodilatation (Figure 1). In neurogenic inflammation, where MCs, sensory nerves and blood vessels form a multifaceted triangle (Figure 1).

MC releases algogenic and vasoactive mediators, which activate sensory nerve fibers and cause vasodilatation via paracrine, autocrine and neuroendocrine interactions (Aich et al., 2015; Tore and Tuncel, 2011; Theoharides et al., 2012; Gupta and Harvima, 2018). Then, nerve fibers release inflammatory and vasoactive neuropeptides; they activate mast cells which results in a vicious cycle of mast cell and nociceptor activation leading to neurogenic inflammation and pain. Like a chicken and egg situation, we still do not know which comes first: nociceptor activation or mast cell activation. Is there a key molecule that activates both of them at the same time? This situation plays an important role not only in the pathogenesis of migraine but also of numerous mast cell-associated diseases including asthma, fibromyalgia, eczema, psoriasis, interstitial cystitis, liver fibrosis, inflammatory bowel diseases, colitis, periodontitis, and arthritis (Tore and Tuncel, 2011; Theoharides et al., 2012). Surprisingly, the literature on the etiopathogenesis of these diseases discuss the same cells, the same receptors, and the same clinical management recommendations; however, there is a gap in the correlation of all this data concerning specific aspects of MCs involvement.

#### FROM FUNCTIONAL CROSS-TALK TOWARD THERAPEUTICAL TARGET

#### Autonomic Nervous System, the Oldest

MCs are found mostly in cranial dura mater which is innervated densely by both autonomic and sensory nerves. Autonomic parasympathetic nerves originate from the sphenopalatine and otic ganglia, whereas sympathetic nerves originate from the superior cervical ganglion (SCG). These neurons express PACAP, NO, vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP), norepinephrine (NE), acetylcholine (ACh), and neuropeptide Y (NPY; Artico and Cavallotti, 2001; Goadsby, 2013; Levy et al., 2018). It has been long suspected that the autonomic nervous system might play a role in the pathophysiology of migraine (Peroutka, 2004; Alstadhaug, 2009; Goadsby, 2013). An autonomic dysfunction has been repeatedly described in headache sufferers. ACh was the first discovered neurotransmitter and the first postulated neurotransmitter in migraine pathophysiology because of its vasodilatory and pain-inducing effects. Almost a hundred years ago, for the first time, Kunkle showed increased ACh levels in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of migraine patients (Kunkle, 1959). Later, this approach was displaced from the attention of the researchers by the rise of the serotonin theory. Recently, some studies have recalled attention to the parasympathetic system in migraine. Parasympathetic contributions to the peripheral and central sensitization during migraine have been reported (Yarnitsky et al., 2003). CSD induces trigeminal and parasympathetic activation (Bolay et al., 2002). Giniatullin group showed that ACh, carbachol and nicotine significantly increased nociceptive firing in the peripheral terminals of the meningeal trigeminal nerves (Schytz, 2010; Mikhailov et al., 2016; Shelukhina et al., 2017). Carbachol, but not nicotine, induced massive degranulation of meningeal mast cells. In a clinical study report, sphenopalatine ganglion blockage prevented migraine attacks (Binfalah et al., 2018).

The sympathetic nervous system inhibits the trigeminal system (Peroutka, 2004). Superior cervical ganglionectomy increased dura mater NO levels, c-fos expression in the spinal trigeminal nucleus caudalis (TNc) and induced degranulation of meningeal mast cells (Tore et al., 2010; Kilinc et al., 2015). Yildiz et al. (2007) measured a facial sympathetic skin response that indicated the activation of the sympathetic nervous system. They found a sympathetic hypofunction on the symptomatic side in attack and interictal periods and contrary in the postattack period in migraineurs (Yildiz et al., 2008). Sympathetic hypofunction might lead to an increase in parasympathetic activation, or vice versa, because of reciprocal innervations of the autonomic nervous system in many organs. Recently, the meta-analysis showed a major catecholamine metabolite homovanillic acid (HVA) increase in CSF obtained from migraineurs compared to controls (van Dongen et al., 2017). While the roles of serotonin and CGRP in migraine treatment are popularly considered, the involvement of the autonomic nervous system has been ignored in clinical trials. However, we suggest that it should be kept in mind as a new therapeutic approach.

#### CGRP, the Most Popular

CGRP is a 37-amino acid neuropeptide neurotransmitter that was first identified in 1982 (Amara et al., 1982). CGRP and its receptors are found in all organs, especially sensory neurons. CGRP is highly expressed in the central terminals of the trigeminal nerve and the trigeminal ganglion (TG) where CGRP is often coreleased with SP. CGRP is multifunctional peptide mediating pain as well as a growth factor for primitive cells, Schwann cells and endothelial cells (Lennerz et al., 2008; Recober and Russo, 2009; Messlinger, 2018).

Previously, the effects of CGRP on the cardiovascular system were studied intensively. CGRP is known to regulate cardiac excitability, microvascular permeability, vascular smooth muscle tone, and angiogenesis. CGRP is a potent dilator of cerebral and dural vessels (Brain and Grant, 2004). A meta-analysis showed increased concentrations of CGRP in the CSF and blood of migraineurs. The plasma CGRP level is proposed as a biochemical biomarker for migraine (Cernuda-Morollón et al., 2013). Infusion of CGRP can trigger a migraine attack (van Dongen et al., 2017). Stimulation of human TG increases CGRP levels in cranial circulation (Goadsby et al., 1988). Additionally, CGRP can also cause degranulation and subsequent release of inflammatory mediators from meningeal mast cells, whereas MC mediator histamine does not induce CGRP release in meningeal sensory afferents (Theoharides et al., 2005; Russo and Dickerson, 2006; Schwenger et al., 2007; Lennerz et al., 2008). There is a complex bidirectional relationship between MCs and CGRP. Mast cell tryptase not only activates proteinaseactivated receptor 2 (PAR2) in trigeminal nociceptive afferent nerves which results in the release of NO, SP and CGRP but also cleavages CGRP (Zhang and Levy, 2008; Dux et al., 2009; Tore et al., 2010). PAR2 and transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1) receptors are colocalized in dural afferents and the sensitization of TRPV1 receptors by PAR2 mediates CGRP

release (Dux et al., 2009; Zakharov et al., 2015). NO sources can be neurons, mast cells, and endothelial cells. Wherever it comes from, NO triggers perivascular neurogenic inflammation by facilitating the synthesis and release of CGRP and SP from dural nociceptive afferent fibers (Olesen, 2008). NO promotes CGRP gene activity in trigeminal neurons, and it works by signaling *via* a mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase pathway and T-type calcium channels. This suggests that endogenous NO could have a modulatory role in neurogenic inflammation (Ramachandran et al., 2014).

Recently Kilinc et al. (2017) indicated that 5-HT induced CGRP release and nociceptive activity in peripheral nerve terminals via 5-HT3 receptors. 5-HT is pro-nociceptive peripherally and anti-nociceptive centrally (Kilinc et al., 2017). The same author showed that calcitonin administration prevented CGRP release, trigeminal activation and mast cell degranulation in a glyceryltrinitrate-induced migraine model and ex vivo meningeal preparations (Kilinc et al., 2018). CGRP cannot easily pass the blood-brain barrier. Thus, it may induce the generation of pronociceptive substances and receptors in the trigeminal ganglion, transported along the central terminals. In this way, peripherally acting therapeutics can have a central antinociceptive effect (Messlinger, 2018). The rationale constituting the basis for this target can be at least based on CGRP receptor locations, the activation mechanism of these receptors and the change in the levels of this peptide in relevant venues.

#### PACAP, the Newest

PACAP, which was first isolated from ovine hypothalamic extracts, is a new player in the migraine arena. It was named for its action, which is to stimulate cAMP formation in anterior pituitary cells (Dogrukol-Ak et al., 2004; Eftekhari et al., 2015). Two amidated forms with PACAP38 and PACAP27 residues exist, but the major form in tissues is PACAP38, with high concentrations found in the trigeminal ganglion, hypothalamus, cerebral cortex, hippocampus, posterior pituitary, testes and adrenal gland (Eftekhari et al., 2015). PACAP38 (10 pmol/kg/min) induces migraine-like attacks in patients with migraine without aura (Schytz, 2010). In migraineurs, the level of PACAP in the peripheral blood is increased during a migraine attack (Tuka et al., 2013). PACAP induces marked vasodilation and degranulation of dural mast cells (Baun et al., 2012). MCs release PACAP itself (Okragly et al., 2018). Körtési et al. showed that electrical stimulation of the TG increased mRNA expression of PACAP38 which was inhibited by N-methyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) glutamate (NMDA) receptor inhibitor, kynurenic acid or MK-801 (Tuka et al., 2012; Körtési et al., 2018). PACAP is transported into the brain by transmembrane diffusion, a non-saturable mechanism (Dogrukol-Ak et al., 2004). Not only neuronal PACAP but also mast cell-derived PACAP can be involved in migraine pathophysiology.

#### ATP, the Last but Not the Least

The nucleotide adenosine triphosphate (ATP) is a promising candidate for migraine pathophysiology. ATP is well known

as an intracellular energy source, however accumulating data proved that ATP is also a neurotransmitter (Burnstock, 1981, 2006; Burnstock et al., 2011). Extracellular ATP exhibits its effects via the two main types of purinergic receptors: ionotropic P2X (P2X1-7) and metabotropic P2Y (P2Y1-14). Rat mast cells express both ATP and cell-surface purinergic receptors of the P2 class; therefore, they are both the source and target of extracellular ATP (Bulanova and Bulfone-Paus, 2010; Burnstock and Boeynaems, 2014; Idzko et al., 2014). It was demonstrated that the activation of P2X7 receptors with both ATP and BzATP (P2X/agonist) increases calcium in human mast cells and induces degranulation of mast cells (Bulanova and Bulfone-Paus, 2010; Arandjelovic et al., 2012; Wareham and Seward, 2016). It was also shown that extracellular ATP evoked nociceptive spikes through P2X3 receptors in trigeminal nerve fibers innervating meninges at the origin site of migraine pain (Yegutkin et al., 2016). Additionally, CGRP upregulates P2X3 receptors in trigeminal sensory neurons (Fabbretti et al., 2006). Recently, Giniatullin's group has demonstrated that extracellular ATP promotes the activation of trigeminal neurons and degranulation of meningeal mast cells via P2X7 receptors (Nurkhametova et al., 2019). ATP might be a key molecule responsible for the vicious cycle between meningeal mast cells and the nervous system. The antagonists of P2X3 and P2X7 receptors maybe promising potential targets for migraine treatment.

#### CLINICAL TRIALS AND RECENT APPROACHES

Migraine undoubtedly has a severely disabling nature, thus there is an inevitable unmet medical need here as we still do not have a fully effective and safe treatment. Existing therapies are often non-specific, poorly tolerated, not fully effective or have cardiovascular contraindications, resulting in limitations on the use of these treatments. Among the issues seen, in turn, at patients' level, it is notable that half of the patients are not satisfied with current therapies in terms of pain recurrence, the same percentage complainants of requiring supplementary dosing, almost 80% of the patients consider acute alternative immediate therapies, and medication overuse headache also accompanies the therapies (Tepper, 2018).

In the 1990s, serotonin 5-HT1B/1D receptor agonists were introduced for improvement in the management of acute migraine, and there have been new trials investigating new agonists that are effective and result in fewer or no adverse events. LY-334370, a selective serotonin-1F-receptor agonist, has been reported to be efficacious in the abortive treatment of migraine (Shepheard et al., 1999) as it acts by inhibiting neurogenic inflammation. Moreover, new compounds like 4991W93 (Earl et al., 1999) and PNU-14263 (Gomez-Mantilla et al., 2001) are selective serotonin-1D-receptor agonists.

As a promising agent, NGF-targeted therapies using NGF-sequestering antibodies were highly effective in pain control, but as these compounds led the adverse events involving the sympathetic nervous system and bones, this treatment option was stopped by the Food and Drug

Administration (FDA; Kelleher et al., 2017; Skaper, 2017; Gupta and Harvima, 2018).

Some trials have demonstrated the nonselective NO synthase inhibitor, L-N-monomethylarginine (L-NMMA), to be highly successful in treating both migraine attacks and chronic tension-type headache (Ashina, 2002). NO synthase inhibitors may open the way to new avenues in the pharmacological treatment of migraine as they act by inhibiting NO production and neuropeptide release and pharmacological inhibition of several steps of the NO-signaling cascade. Cotreatment with the serotonergic, antimigraine drug sumatriptan suppresses the stimulatory effects of NO on CGRP promoter activity and release. Similarly, the application of nonselective and neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) inhibitors was able to partially attenuate neurogenic vasodilation (Klede et al., 2003).

Acting as a pivotal player in migraine pathophysiology, CGRP has been defined as a therapeutic target for migraine therapy. This attraction towards CGRP comes from its role both in onset and probably in the progress of the disease (Tepper, 2018). The translation of the CGRP acting mechanism at the beginning and during the course of the migraine into a therapeutical approach led to two paths: the development of small molecule CGRP receptor antagonists (Gepants), and the development of monoclonal antibodies. The gepants which have been the subject of published trials for acute treatment of migraine are as follows: Olcegepant (Olesen et al., 2004), Telcagepant (Ho et al., 2008; Connor et al., 2009), Rimegepant (Marcus et al., 2014), Ubrogepant (Voss et al., 2016), BI 44370 TA (Diener et al., 2011), MK-3207 (Hewitt et al., 2011). A severe adverse event liver toxicity appeared as a major challenge in the development programs of the gepants which was well-documented in the clinical trials, mostly tested through phase II, and phase III trials. The said drug development program was terminated due to the liver toxicity signals (Connor et al., 2011). Gepants are still important in identifying CGRP as key in migraine treatment and a potential target for acute treatment and, maybe for prophylaxis. It is well-understood that gepants are effective in the acute treatment of episodic migraine. The evidence also reveals that they are well tolerated. Ongoing and future studies on gepant safety, tolerability, and efficacy in migraine prevention are currently being evaluated. The data obtained from phase II and III trials of eptinezumab, erenumab, fremanezumab, and galcanezumab demonstrated that these monoclonal antibodies targeting the CGRP pathway demonstrate favorable effects in the preventive treatment of episodic and chronic migraine. A number of phase II and III trials are being conducted to further determine or prove the efficacy and safety of this new drug option. The cardiovascular effects of long-term CGRP blockade should be taken as a priority (Khan et al., 2019; www.ClinicalTrials.gov).

#### REFERENCES

- Aich, A., Afrin, L. B., and Gupta, K. (2015). Mast cell-mediated mechanisms of nociception. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 16, 29069–29092. doi: 10.3390/ijms161226151
- Alstadhaug, K. B. (2009). Migraine and the hypothalamus. *Cephalalgia* 29, 809–817. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2982.2008.01814.x

In particular, the most popular large phase III studies demonstrated that treatment with erenumab was associated with a substantive decrease in migraine frequency and the requirement for acute migraine-specific medication use in patients with episodic migraine. These trials are well reported as follows: ARISE (NCT02483585; Dodick et al., 2018), STRIVE (NCT02456740; Goadsby et al., 2017a,b) and LIBERTY (NCT03096834; Reuter et al., 2018). STRIVE and ARISE were completed within the first half of 2017. Positive results for erenumab constituted the basis for its recent approval in the US for the preventive treatment of migraine in adults. It has also received a favorable opinion in the Europen Union (EU) for the prophylaxis of migraines.

There are a few trials investigating the corticosteroid treatments that can be associated with MC involvement in this context, i.e., NCT02903680, NCT03220113, NCT03066544 (www.ClinicalTrials.gov).

#### CONCLUSION

Mast cell-sensory nerve relationship in migraine pathophysiology is versatile and not fully mapped, yet. The main difficulty in understanding these complex interactions that constitute the bi-directional cross-talk of the mast cells, nerves and the vessel components comes from multi-dimensional channels of communication working in harmony or disharmony. The diverse interpretation of the messages that are released from dose-dependent ligand response constitutes a wide spectrum of commentary remarks. Thus, the clinical evidence suggests that there is no one-fit-all treatment choice for migraine.

We suggest hereby, to further understand the etiopathogenesis and molecular aspects of migraine, specifically neurogenic inflammation. More detailed identification of the disease sub-types, plus a better understanding of the individual conditions will help scientists to find and the physicians to decide on the treatment choices tailored for the patients. In order to investigate the effective and safe treatment options which entail the combination of the existing monoclonal antibodies and mast cell stabilizers and triptans for the proper combat with the least side effects and the most efficacious cure methods could be evaluated.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors have equal role in literature search, writing and revising the manuscript.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Beril Tore for her work designing the **Figure 1**.

- Alstadhaug, K. B. (2014). Histamine in migraine and brain. *Headache* 54, 246–259. doi: 10.1111/head.12293
- Amara, S. G., Jonas, V., Rosenfeld, M. G., Ong, E. S., and Evans, R. M. (1982). Alternative RNA processing in calcitonin gene expression generates mRNAs encoding different polypeptide products. *Nature* 298, 240–244. doi: 10.1038/298240a0

- Arandjelovic, S., McKenney, K. R., Leming, S. S., and Mowen, K. A. (2012). ATP induces protein arginine deiminase 2-dependent citrullination in mast cells through the P2X7 purinergic receptor. J. Immunol. 189, 4112–4122. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201098
- Artico, M., and Cavallotti, C. (2001). Catecholaminergic and acetylcholine esterase containing nerves of cranial and spinal dura mater in humans and rodents. *Microsc. Res. Tech.* 53, 212–220. doi: 10.1002/jemt.1085
- Ashina, M. (2002). Nitric oxide synthase inhibitors for the treatment of chronic tension-type headache. *Expert Opin. Pharmacother.* 3, 395–399. doi: 10.1517/14656566.3.4.395
- Barbara, G., Stanghellini, V., de Giorgio, R., Cremon, C., Cottrell, G. S., Santini, D., et al. (2004). Activated mast cells in proximity to colonic nerves correlate with abdominal pain in irritable bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 126, 693–702. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2003.11.055
- Baun, M., Pedersen, M. H., Olesen, J., and Jansen-Olesen, I. (2012). Dural mast cell degranulation is a putative mechanism for headache induced by PACAP-38. *Cephalalgia* 32, 337–345. doi: 10.1177/0333102412439354
- Becerra, L., Bishop, J., Barmettler, G., Kainz, V., Burstein, R., and Borsook, D. (2017). Brain network alterations in the inflammatory soup animal model of migraine. *Brain Res.* 1660, 36–46. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2017. 02.001
- Binfalah, M., Alghawi, E., Shosha, E., Alhilly, A., and Bakhiet, M. (2018). Sphenopalatine ganglion block for the treatment of acute migraine headache. *Pain Res. Treat.* 2018:2516953. doi: 10.1155/2018/2516953
- Bogdanov, V. B., Multon, S., Chauvel, V., Bogdanova, O. V., Prodanov, D., Makarchuk, M. Y., et al. (2011). Migraine preventive drugs differentially affect cortical spreading depression in rat. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 41, 430–435. doi: 10.1016/j. nbd.2010.10.014
- Bolay, H., Reuter, U., Dunn, A. K., Huang, Z., Boas, D. A., and Moskowitz, M. A. (2002). Intrinsic brain activity triggers triggeminal meningeal afferents in a migraine model. *Nat Med.* 8, 136–142. doi: 10.1038/nm0202-136
- Boran, H. E., and Bolay, H. (2013). Pathophysiology of migraine. Arch Neuropsychiatry 50, 1-7. doi: 10.4274/Npa.y7251
- Brain, S. D., and Grant, A. D. (2004). Vascular actions of calcitonin gene-related peptide and adrenomedullin. *Physiol. Rev.* 84, 903–934. doi: 10.1152/physrev. 00037.2003
- Bulanova, E., and Bulfone-Paus, S. (2010). P2 receptor-mediated signaling in mast cell biology. *Purinergic Signal.* 6, 3–17. doi: 10.1007/s11302-009-9173-z
- Burgos-Vega, C., Moy, J., and Dussor, G. (2015). Meningeal afferent signaling and the pathophysiology of migraine. *Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci.* 131, 537–564. doi: 10.1016/bs.pmbts.2015.01.001
- Burnstock, G. (1981). Pathophysiology of migraine: a new hypothesis. *Lancet* 1, 1397–1399. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(81)92572-1
- Burnstock, G. (2006). Historical review: ATP as a neurotransmitter. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 27, 166–176. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2006.01.005
- Burnstock, G., and Boeynaems, J. M. (2014). Purinergic signalling and immune cells. *Purinergic Signal.* 10, 529–564. doi: 10.1007/s11302-014-9427-2
- Burnstock, G., Fredholm, B. B., and Verkhratsky, A. (2011). Adenosine and ATP receptors in the brain. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* 11, 973–1011. doi: 10.2174/156802611795347627
- Buzzi, M. G., and Moskowitz, M. A. (2005). The pathophysiology of migraine: year 2005. J. Headache Pain 6, 105–111. doi: 10.1007/s10194-005-0165-2
- Cernuda-Morollón, E., Larrosa, D., Ramón, C., Vega, J., and Martínez-Camblor, P. (2013). Pascual interictal increase of CGRP levels in peripheral blood as a biomarker for chronic migraine. *Neurology* 81, 1191–1196. doi: 10.1212/wnl. 0b013e3182a6cb72
- Connor, K. M., Aurora, S. K., Loeys, T., Ashina, M., Jones, C., Giezek, H., et al. (2011). Long-term tolerability of telcagepant for acute treatment of migraine in a randomized trial. *Headache* 51, 73–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4610.2010. 01799.x
- Connor, K. M., Shapiro, R. E., Diener, H. C., Lucas, S., Kost, J., Fan, X., et al. (2009). Randomized, controlled trial of telcagepant for the acute treatment of migraine. *Neurology* 73, 970–977. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181b87942
- Crivellato, E., Beltrami, C., Mallardi, F., and Ribatti, D. (2003). Paul Ehrlich's doctoral thesis: a milestone in the study of mast cells. *Br. J. Haematol.* 2123, 19–21. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2003.04573.x
- Daniel, B. T. (2010). *Migraine*. Bloomington Indiana: AuthorHouse Publishers, 101–109.

- Diener, H. C., Barbanti, P., Dahlöf, C., Reuter, U., Habeck, J., and Podhorna, J. (2011). BI 44370 TA, an oral CGRP antagonist for the treatment of acute migraine attacks: results from a phase II study. *Cephalalgia* 31, 573–584. doi: 10.1177/0333102410388435
- Dodick, D. W., Ashina, M., Brandes, J. L., Kudrow, D., Lanteri-Minet, M., Osipova, V., et al. (2018). ARISE: a phase 3 randomized trial of erenumab for episodic migraine. *Cephalalgia* 38, 1026–1037. doi: 10.1177/03331024187 59786
- Dogrukol-Ak, D., Tore, F., and Tuncel, N. (2004). Passage of VIP/PACAP/secretin family across the blood-brain barrier: therapeutic effects. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 10, 1325–1340. doi: 10.2174/1381612043384934
- Dong, H., Zhang, X., and Qian, Y. (2014). Mast cells and neuroinflammation. Med. Sci. Monit. Basic Res. 20, 200–206. doi: 10.12659/MSMBR. 893093
- Dux, M., Rosta, J., Sántha, P., and Jancsó, G. (2009). Involvement of capsaicinsensitive afferent nerves in the proteinase-activated receptor 2-mediated vasodilatation in the rat dura mater. *Neuroscience* 161, 887–894. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroscience.2009.04.010
- Earl, N. L., McDonald, S. A., and Lowy, M. T. (1999). The 4991W93 Investigator Group. Efficacy and tolerability of the neurogenic inflammation inhibitor, 4991W93, in the acute treatment of migraine. *Cephalalgia* 19:357.
- Eftekhari, S., Salvatore, C. A., Johansson, S., Chen, T. B., Zeng, Z., and Edvinsson, L. (2015). Localization of CGRP, CGRP receptor, PACAP and glutamate in trigeminal ganglion. Relation to the blood-brain barrier. *Brain Res.* 1600, 93–109. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.11.031
- Eller-Smith, O. C., Nicol, A. L., and Christianson, J. A. (2018). Potential mechanisms underlying centralized pain and emerging therapeutic interventions. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 12:35. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2018. 00035
- Erdener, S. E., and Dalkara, T. (2014). Modelling headache and migraine and its pharmacological manipulation. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 171, 4575–4594. doi: 10.1111/bph.12651
- Fabbretti, E., D'Arco, M., Fabbro, A., Simonetti, M., Nistri, A., and Giniatullin, R. (2006). Delayed upregulation of ATP P2X3 receptors of trigeminal sensory neurons by calcitonin gene-related peptide. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 6163–6171. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0647-06.2006
- Ferrari, M. D., Odink, J., Tapparelli, C., Van Kempen, G. M., Pennings, E. J., and Bruyn, G. W. (1989). Serotonin metabolism in migraine. *Neurology* 39, 1239–1242. doi: 10.1212/wnl.39.9.1239
- Galli, S. J., and Tsai, M. (2008). Mast cells: versatile regulators of inflammation, tissue remodeling, host defense and homeostasis. J. Dermatol. Sci. 49, 7–19. doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2007.09.009
- Geppetti, P., Rossi, E., Chiarugi, A., and Benemei, S. (2012). Antidromic vasodilatation and the migraine mechanism. J. Headache Pain 13, 103–111. doi: 10.1007/s10194-011-0408-3
- Goadsby, P. J. (2013). Autonomic nervous system control of the cerebral circulation. *Handb. Clin. Neurol.* 117, 193–201. doi: 10.1016/b978-0-444-53491-0.00016-x
- Goadsby, P. J., Edvinsson, L., and Ekman, R. (1988). Release of vasoactive peptides in the extracerebral circulation of man and the cat during activation of the trigeminovascular system. *Ann. Neurol.* 23, 193–196. doi: 10.1002/ana. 410230214
- Goadsby, P. J., Holland, P. R., Martins-Oliveira, M., Hoffmann, J., Schankin, C., and Akerman, S. (2017a). Pathophysiology of migraine: a disorder of sensory processing. *Physiol. Rev.* 97, 553–622. doi: 10.1152/physrev. 00034.2015
- Goadsby, P. J., Reuter, U., Hallström, Y., Broessner, G., Bonner, J. H., Zhang, F., et al. (2017b). A controlled trial of erenumab for episodic migraine. N. Engl. J. Med. 377, 2123–2132. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa17 05848
- Gomez-Mantilla, B., Cutler, N. R., Leibowitz, M. T., Spierings, E. L., Klapper, J. A., Diamond, S., et al. (2001). Safety and efficacy of PNU-142633, a selective 5-HT1D agonist, in patients with acute migraine. *Cephalalgia* 21, 727–732. doi: 10.1046/j.1468-2982.2001.00208.x
- Graif, Y., Shohat, T., Machluf, Y., Farkash, R., and Chaiter, Y. (2018). Association between asthma and migraine: a cross-sectional study of over 110 000 adolescents. *Clin. Respir. J.* 12, 2491–2496. doi: 10.1111/crj. 12939

- Graziottin, A., Skaper, S. D., and Fusco, M. (2014). Mast cells in chronic inflammation, pelvic pain and depression in women. *Gynecol. Endocrinol.* 30, 472–477. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2014.911280
- Gri, G., Frossi, B., D'Inca, F., Danelli, L., Betto, E., Mion, F., et al. (2012). Mast cell: an emerging partner in immune interaction. *Front. Immunol.* 3:120. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00120
- Gupta, K., and Harvima, I. T. (2018). Mast cell-neural interactions contribute to pain and itch. *Immunol. Rev.* 282, 168–187. doi: 10.1111/imr.12622
- Headache Classification Subcommittee of the International Headache Society [IHS]. (2004). The international classification of headache disorders: 2nd edition. *Cephalalgia* 24, 9–160. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2982.2003. 00824.x
- Heatley, R. V., Denburg, J. A., Bayer, N., and Bienenstock, J. (1982). Increased plasma histamine levels in migraine patients. *Clin. Allergy* 12, 145–149. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.1982.tb01633.x
- Hewitt, D. J., Aurora, S. K., Dodick, D. W., Goadsby, P. J., Ge, Y. J., Bachman, R., et al. (2011). Randomized controlled trial of the CGRP receptor antagonist MK-3207 in the acute treatment of migraine. *Cephalalgia* 31, 712–722. doi: 10.1177/0333102411398399
- Hildebrand, K. A., Zhang, M., Salo, P. T., and Hart, D. A. (2008). Joint capsule mast cells and neuropeptides are increased within four weeks of injury and remain elevated in chronic stages of posttraumatic contractures. J. Orthop. Res. 26, 1313–1319. doi: 10.1002/jor.20652
- Ho, T. W., Ferrari, M. D., Dodick, D. W., Galet, V., Kost, J., Fan, X., et al. (2008). Efficacy and tolerability of MK-0974 (telcagepant), a new oral antagonist of calcitonin gene-related peptide receptor, compared with zolmitriptan for acute migraine: a randomised, placebo-controlled, parallel-treatment trial. *Lancet* 372, 2115–2123. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61626-8
- Idzko, M., Ferrari, D., and Eltzschig, H. K. (2014). Nucleotide signalling during inflammation. *Nature* 509, 310–317. doi: 10.1038/nature13085
- Karatas, H., Erdener, S. E., Gursoy-Ozdemir, Y., Lule, S., Eren-Koçak, E., Sen, Z. D., et al. (2013). Spreading depression triggers headache by activating neuronal Panx1 channels. *Science* 339, 1092–1095. doi: 10.1126/science. 1231897
- Kelleher, J. H., Tewari, D., and McMahon, S. B. (2017). Neurotrophic factors and their inhibitors in chronic pain treatment. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 97, 127–138. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2016.03.025
- Kempuraj, D., Papadopoulou, N. G., Lytinas, M., Huang, M., Kandere-Grzybowska, K., Madhappan, B., et al. (2004). Corticotropin-releasing hormone and its structurally related urocortin are synthesized and secreted by human mast cells. *Endocrinology* 145, 43–48. doi: 10.1210/en. 2003-0805
- Khan, S., Olesen, A., and Ashina, M. (2019). CGRP, a target for preventive therapy in migraine and cluster headache: systematic review of clinical data. *Cephalalgia* 39, 374–389. doi: 10.1177/0333102417741297
- Kilinc, E., Dagistan, Y., Kukner, A., Yilmaz, B., Agus, S., Soyler, G., et al. (2018). Salmon calcitonin ameliorates migraine pain through modulation of CGRP release and dural mast cell degranulation in rats. *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.* 45, 536–546. doi: 10.1111/1440-1681.12915
- Kilinc, E., Firat, T., Tore, F., Kiyan, A., Kukner, A., and Tunçel, N. (2015). Vasoactive Intestinal peptide modulates c-Fos activity in the trigeminal nucleus and dura mater mast cells in sympathectomized rats. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 93, 644–650. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23523
- Kilinc, E., Guerrero-Toro, C., Zakharov, A., Vitale, C., Gubert-Olive, M., Koroleva, K., et al. (2017). Serotonergic mechanisms of trigeminal meningeal nociception: implications for migraine pain. *Neuropharmacology* 116, 160–173. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2016.12.024
- Klede, M., Clough, G., Lischetzki, G., and Schmelz, M. (2003). The effect of the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor N-nitro-L-arginine-methyl ester on neuropeptide-induced vasodilation and protein extravasation in human skin. J. Vasc. Res. 40, 105–114. doi: 10.1159/000070707
- Körtési, T., Tuka, B., Tajti, J., Bagoly, T., Fülöp, F., Helyes, Z., et al. (2018). Kynurenic acid inhibits the electrical stimulation induced elevated pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide expression in the TNC. *Front. Neurol.* 8:745. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00745
- Kunkle, E. C. (1959). Acetylcholine in the mechanism of headaches of migraine type. AMA Arch. Neurol. Psychiatry 81, 135–141. doi: 10.1001/archneurpsyc. 1959.02340140001001

- Lassen, L. H., Thomsen, L. L., and Olesen, J. (1995). Histamine induces migraine via the H1-receptor. Support for the NO hypothesis of migraine. *Neuroreport* 6, 1475–1479. doi: 10.1097/00001756-199507310-00003
- Lennerz, J. K., Rühle, V., Ceppa, E. P., Neuhuber, W. L., Bunnett, N. W., Grady, E. F., et al. (2008). Calcitonin receptor-like receptor (CLR), receptor activity-modifying protein 1 (RAMP1), and calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) immunoreactivity in the rat trigeminovascular system: differences between peripheral and central CGRP receptor distribution. J. Comp. Neurol. 507, 1277–1299. doi: 10.1002/cne.21607
- Levy, D. (2012). Endogenous mechanisms underlying the activation and sensitization of meningeal nociceptors: the role of immuno-vascular interactions and cortical spreading depression. *Curr. Pain Headache Rep.* 16, 270–277. doi: 10.1007/s11916-012-0255-1
- Levy, D., Burstein, R., Kainz, V., Jakubowski, M., and Strassman, A. M. (2007). Mast cell degranulation activates a pain pathway underlying migraine headache. *Pain* 130, 166–176. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2007.03.012
- Levy, D., Burstein, R., and Strassman, A. M. (2005). Calcitonin gene-related peptide does not excite or sensitize meningeal nociceptors: implications for the pathophysiology of migraine. *Ann. Neurol.* 58, 698–705. doi: 10.1002/ana. 20619
- Levy, D., Labastida-Ramirez, A., and MaassenVanDenBrink, A. (2018). Current understanding of meningeal and cerebral vascular function underlying migraine headache. *Cephalalgia* doi: 10.1177/0333102418771350 [Epub ahead of print].
- Luger, T. A., and Lotti, T. (1998). Neuropeptides: role in inflammatory skin diseases. J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 10, 207–211. doi: 10.1016/s0926-9959(98)00009-9
- Malone, C. D., Bhowmick, A., and Wachholtz, A. B. (2015). Migraine: treatments, comorbidities, and quality of life, in the USA. J. Pain Res. 8, 537–547. doi: 10.2147/jpr.s88207
- Marcus, R., Goadsby, P. J., Dodick, D., Stock, D., Manos, G., and Fischer, T. Z. (2014). BMS-927711 for the acute treatment of migraine: a double-blind, randomized, placebo controlled, dose-ranging trial. *Cephalalgia* 34, 114–125. doi: 10.1177/0333102413500727
- Messlinger, K. (2018). The big CGRP flood—sources, sinks and signalling sites in the trigeminovascular system. *J. Headache Pain* 19:22. doi: 10.1186/s10194-018-0848-0
- Metcalfe, D. D., Baram, D., and Mekori, Y. A. (1997). Mast cells. *Physiol. Rev.* 77, 1033–1079. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1997.77.4.1033
- Mikhailov, N., Mamontov, O., Kamshilin, A., and Giniatullin, R. (2016). Parasympathetic cholinergic and neuropeptide mechanisms of migraine. *Anesth. Pain Med.* 7:e42210. doi: 10.5812/aapm.42210
- Nilsson, G., Costa, J. J., Metcalfe, D. D., Gallin, J. I., and Snyderman, R. (1999). "Mast cells and basophils," in *Inflammation: Basic Principles and Clinical Correlates*, eds J. I. Gallin and R. Snyderman (Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven), 97–117.
- Nurkhametova, D., Kudryavtsev, I., Giniatullina, V., Serebryakova, M., Giniatullina, R. R., Wojciechowski, S., et al. (2019). Extracellular ATP induces activation and degranulation of meningeal mast cells through P2X7 receptor: a possible mechanism for migraine pain. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 13:45. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00045
- Okragly, A. J., Morin, S. M., DeRosa, D., Martin, A. P., Johnson, K. W., Johnson, M. P., et al. (2018). Human mast cells release the migraine-inducing factor pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide (PACAP). *Cephalalgia* 38, 1564–1574. doi: 10.1177/0333102417740563
- Olesen, J. (2008). The role of nitric oxide (NO) in migraine, tension-type headache and cluster headache. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 120, 157–171. doi: 10.1016/j. pharmthera.2008.08.003
- Olesen, J., Diener, H. C., Husstedt, I. W., Goadsby, P. J., Hall, D., Meier, U., et al. (2004). Calcitonin gene-related peptide receptor antagonist BIBN 4096 BS for the acute treatment of migraine. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 350, 1104–1110. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa030505
- Olness, K., Hall, H., Rozniecki, J. J., Schmidt, W., and Theoharides, T. C. (1999). Mast cell activation in children with migraine before and after training in selfregulation. *Headache* 39, 101–107. doi: 10.1046/j.1526-4610.1999.3902101.x
- Peroutka, S. J. (2004). Migraine: a symphatetic nervous system disorder. *Headache* 44, 53–64. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4610.2004.04011.x

- Peroutka, S. J. (2005). Neurogenic inflammation and migraine: implications for the therapeutics. *Mol. Interv.* 5, 304–311. doi: 10.1124/mi.5.5.10
- Pietrobon, D., and Striessnig, J. (2003). Neurobiology of migraine. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 4, 386–398. doi: 10.1038/nrn1102
- Pietrobon, D., and Moskowitz, M. A. (2013). Pathophysiology of migraine. Annu. Rev. Physiol 75, 365–391. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-030212-183717
- Ramachandran, R., Bhatt, D. K., Ploug, K. B., Hay-Schmidt, A., Jansen-Olesen, I., Gupta, S., et al. (2014). Nitric oxide synthase, calcitonin gene-related peptide and NK-1 receptor mechanisms are involved in GTN-induced neuronal activation. *Cephalalgia* 34, 136–147. doi: 10.1177/0333102413 502735
- Recober, A., and Russo, A. F. (2009). Calcitonin gene-related peptide: an update on the biology. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 22, 241–246. doi: 10.1097/WCO. 0b013e32832b2427
- Reuter, U., Goadsby, P. J., Lanteri-Minet, M., Wen, S., Hours-Zesiger, P., Ferrari, M. D., et al. (2018). Efficacy and tolerability of erenumab in patients with episodic migraine in whom two-to-four previous preventive treatments were unsuccessful: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3b study. *Lancet* 392, 2280–2287. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(18)32534-0
- Rosa, A. C., and Fantozzi, R. (2013). The role of histamine in neurogenic inflammation. Br. J. Pharmacol. 170, 38–45. doi: 10.1111/bph.12266
- Rossi, P., Fiermonte, G., and Pierelli, F. (2003). Cinnarizine in migraine prophylaxis: efficacy, tolerability and predictive factors for therapeutic responsiveness. An open-label pilot trial. *Funct. Neurol.* 18, 155–159. doi: 10.1007/s10194-008-0013-2
- Rozniecki, J. J., Dimitriadou, V., Lambracht-Hall, M., Pang, X., and Theoharides, T. C. (1999). Morphological and functional demonstration of rat dura mater mast cell-neuron interactions *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Brain Res.* 849, 1–15. doi: 10.1016/s0006-8993(99)01855-7
- Russo, A. F., and Dickerson, I. M. (2006). "CGRP: a multifunctional neuropeptide," in *Handboook Neurochem Molec Neurobiol*, (Vol. 3) ed. A. Lajtha (New York, NY: Springer), 391–426.
- Schwenger, N., Dux, M., de Col, R., Carr, R., and Messlinger, K. (2007). Interaction of calcitonin gene-related peptide, nitric oxide and histamine release in neurogenic blood flow and afferent activation in the rat cranial dura mater. *Cephalalgia* 27, 481–491. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2982.2007.01321.x
- Schytz, H. W. (2010). Investigation of carbachol and PACAP38 in a human model of migraine. Dan. Med. Bull. 57:B4223. doi: 10.1007/BF02529865
- Shelukhina, I., Mikhailov, N., Abushik, P., Nurullin, L., Nikolsky, E. E., and Giniatullin, R. (2017). Cholinergic nociceptive mechanisms in rat meninges and trigeminal ganglia: potential implications for migraine pain. *Front. Neurol.* Shelukhina:163. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00163
- Shepheard, S., Edvinsson, L., Cumberbatch, M., Williamson, D., Mason, G., Webb, J., et al. (1999). Possible antimigraine mechanisms of action of the 5HT1F receptor agonist LY334370. *Cephalalgia* 19, 851–858. doi: 10.1046/j. 1468-2982.1999.1910851.x
- Shevel, E. (2011). The extracranial vascular theory of migraine--a great story confirmed by the facts. *Headache* 51, 409–417. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4610.2011. 01844.x
- Sicuteri, F. (1963). Mast cells and their active substances: their role in the pathogenesis of migraine. *Headache* 3, 86–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4610.1963. hed0303086.x
- Sismanopoulos, N., Delivanis, D. A., Alysandratos, K. D., Angelidou, A., Therianou, A., Kalogeromitros, D., et al. (2012). Mast cells in allergic and inflammatory diseases. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 18, 2261–2277. doi: 10.2174/138161212800165997
- Skaper, S. D. (2017). Nerve growth factor: a neuroimmune crosstalk mediator for all seasons. *Immunology* 151, 1–15. doi: 10.1111/imm.12717
- Tepper, S. J. (2018). History and review of anti-calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) therapies: from translational research to treatment. *Headache* 58, 238–275. doi: 10.1111/head.13379
- Theoharides, T. C., Alysandratos, K. D., Angelidou, A., Delivanis, D. A., Sismanopoulos, N., Zhang, B., et al. (2012). Mast cells and inflammation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1822, 21–33. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2010.12.014
- Theoharides, T. C., Donelan, J., Kandere-Grzybowska, K., and Konstantinidou, A. (2005). The role of mast cells in migraine pathophysiology. *Brain Res. Rev.* 49, 65–76. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2004.11.006

- Theoharides, T. C., and Kalogeromitros, D. (2006). The critical role of mast cells in allergy and inflammation. *Ann. N Y Acad. Sci.* 1088, 78–99. doi: 10.1196/annals. 1366.025
- Tuka, B., Helyes, Z., Markovics, A., Bagoly, T., Nemeth, J., Mark, L., et al. (2012). Peripheral and central alterations of pituitary adenylate cyclase activating polypeptide-likeimmunoreactivity in the rat in response to activation of the trigeminovascular system. *Peptides* 33, 307–316. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2011. 12.019
- Tuka, B., Helyes, Z., Markovics, A., Bagoly, T., Szolcsányi, J., Szabó, N., et al. (2013). Alterations in PACAP-38-like immunoreactivity in the plasma during ictal and interictal periods of migraine patients. *Cephalalgia* 33, 1085–1095. doi: 10.1177/0333102413483931
- Tore, F., Korkmaz, O. T., Dogrukol-Ak, D., and Tunçel, N. (2010). The effects of vasoactive *i*ntestinal peptide on dura mater nitric oxide levels and vessel-contraction responses in sympathectomized rats. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 41, 288–293. doi: 10.1007/s12031-009-9310-8
- Tore, F., and Tuncel, N. (2009). Mast cells: target and source of neuropeptides. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 15, 3433–3445. doi: 10.2174/1381612097891 05036
- Tore, F., and Tuncel, N. (2011). Anatomical and functional relationships between sensory nerves and mast cells. AIAAA Med. Chem. 10, 10–17. doi: 10.2174/187152311795325550
- van Dongen, R. M., Zielman, R., Noga, M., Dekkers, O. M., Hankemeier, T., van den Maagdenberg, A. M., et al. (2017). Migraine biomarkers in cerebrospinal fluid: a systematic review and meta-analysis meta-analysis. *Cephalalgia* 37, 49–63. doi: 10.1177/0333102415625614
- Varatharaj, A., Mack, J., Davidson, J. R., Gutnikov, A., and Squier, W. (2012). Mast cells in the human dura: effects of age and dural bleeding. *Childs Nerv. Syst.* 28, 541–545. doi: 10.1007/s00381-012-1699-7
- Vincent, L., Vang, D., Nguyen, J., Gupta, M., Luk, K., Ericson, M. E., et al. (2013). Mast cell activation contributes to sickle cell pathobiology and pain in mice. *Blood* 122, 1853–1862. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-04-498105
- Voss, T., Lipton, R. B., Dodick, D. W., Dupre, N., Ge, J. Y., Bachman, R., et al. (2016). A phase IIb randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of ubrogepant for the acute treatment of migraine. *Cephalalgia* 36, 887–898. doi: 10.1177/0333102416653233
- Waeber, C., and Moskowitz, M. A. (2005). Migraine as an inflammatory disorder. Neurology 64, S9–S15. doi: 10.1212/WNL.64.10\_suppl\_2.S9
- Wareham, K. J., and Seward, E. P. (2016). P2X7 receptors induce degranulation in human mast cells. *Purinergic Signal*. 12, 235–246. doi: 10.1007/s11302-016-9497-4
- Watson, J. J., Allen, S. J., and Dawbarn, D. (2008). Targeting nerve growth factor in pain: what is the therapeutic potential? *BioDrugs* 22, 349–359. doi: 10.2165/0063030-200822060-00002
- Wöber-Bingöl, C. (2013). Epidemiology of migraine and headache in children and adolescents. Curr. Pain Headache Rep. 17:341. doi: 10.1007/s11916-013-0341-z
- Xu, Y., and Chen, G. (2015). Mast cell and autoimmune diseases. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2015:246126. doi: 10.1155/2015/246126
- Yan, L., Dong, X., Xue, L., Xu, H., Zhou, Z., and Wan, Q. (2018). Neurogenic dural inflammation induced by inflammatory soup combined with CGRP: a modified animal model of migraine. *Int. J. Clin. Exp. Med.* 11, 9126–9134.
- Yarnitsky, D., Goor-Aryeh, I., Bajwa, Z. H., Ransil, B. I., Cutrer, F. M., Sottile, A., et al. (2003). Wolff Award: possible parasympathetic contributions to peripheral and central sensitization during migraine. *Headache* 43, 704–714. doi: 10.1046/j.1526-4610.2003.03127.x
- Yegutkin, G. G., Guerrero-Toro, C., Kilinc, E., Koroleva, K., Ishchenko, Y., Abushik, P., et al. (2016). Nucleotide homeostasis and purinergic nociceptive signaling in rat meninges in migraine-like conditions. *Purinergic Signal*. 12, 561–574. doi: 10.1007/s11302-016-9521-8
- Yildiz, S. K., Turkoglu, S. A., Yildiz, N., Ozturk, A., and Tore, F. (2007). Sympathetic skin responses of the face and neck evoked by electrical stimulation. *Auton. Neurosci.* 134, 85–91. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2007. 02.005
- Yildiz, S. K., Yildiz, N., Korkmaz, B., Altunrende, B., Gezici, A. R., and Alkoy, S. (2008). Sympathetic skin responses from frontal region in migraine headache: a pilot study. *Cephalalgia* 28, 696–704. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2982.2008. 01574.x

- Zakharov, A., Vitale, C., Kilinc, E., Koroleva, K., Fayuk, D., Shelukhina, I., et al. (2015). Hunting for origins of migraine pain: cluster analysis of spontaneous and capsaicin-induced firing in meningeal trigeminal nerve fibers. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9:287. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00287
- Zhang, X. C., and Levy, D. (2008). Modulation of meningeal nociceptors mechanosensitivity by peripheral proteinase-activated receptor-2: the role of mast cells. *Cephalalgia* 28, 276–284. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2982.2007.01523.x
- Zhang, X., Strassman, A. M., Burstein, R., and Levy, D. (2007). Sensitization and activation of intracranial meningeal nociceptors by mast cell mediators. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 322, 806–812. doi: 10.1124/jpet.107. 123745

**Conflict of Interest Statement**: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Koyuncu Irmak, Kilinc and Tore. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Mast Cells in Neurodegenerative Disease

#### Michael K. Jones<sup>1</sup>, Archana Nair<sup>2</sup> and Mihir Gupta<sup>3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Medicine, Vascular Biology Center, Division of Hematology, Oncology and Transplantation, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Ophthalmology, New York University, New York, NY, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Neurosurgery, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States

Neurodegenerative diseases affect millions of people worldwide, yet there are currently no effective treatments. Because risk of neurodegenerative disease substantially increases with age, greater life expectancy with a concomitant aging population means more individuals will be affected in the coming decades. Thus, there is an urgent need for understanding the mechanisms driving neurodegenerative diseases in order to develop improved treatment strategies. Inflammation in the nervous system, termed "neuroinflammation," has become increasingly recognized as being associated with neurodegenerative diseases. Early attention focused primarily on morphological changes in astrocytes and microglia; however, brain and CNS resident mast cells are now receiving attention as a result of being "first responders" to injury. Mast cells also exert profound effects on their microenvironment and neighboring cells including behavior and/or activation of astrocytes, microglia, and neurons, which, in turn, are implicated in neuroinflammation, neurogenesis and neurodegeneration. Mast cells also affect disruption/permeability of the blood brain barrier enabling toxin and immune cell entry exacerbating an inflammatory microenvironment. Here, we discuss the roles of mast cells in neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration with a focus on development and progression of four prominent neurodegenerative diseases: Alzheimer's Disease, Parkinson's Disease, Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis, and Huntington's Disease.

OPEN ACCESS

## Edited by:

Rashid Giniatullin, University of Eastern Finland, Finland

#### Reviewed by:

Asgar Zaheer, University of Missouri, United States Elizabeth Seward, The University of Sheffield, United Kingdom

#### \*Correspondence: Mihir Gupta

mig044@ucsd.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Neuropathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience

> Received: 10 February 2019 Accepted: 11 April 2019 Published: 30 April 2019

#### Citation:

Jones MK, Nair A and Gupta M (2019) Mast Cells in Neurodegenerative Disease. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:171. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00171 Keywords: mast cells, neuroinflammation, neurodegenerative disease, Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Huntington's

#### INTRODUCTION

Mast cells are "first responders" that become activated with exposure to a diverse array of stimuli, from allergens and antigens to neuropeptides, trauma and drugs (Hendriksen et al., 2017). Activated mast cells are multifunctional effector cells that exert a variety of both immediate and delayed actions. Within minutes of stimulation, mast cells release granules containing preformed cytokines, biogenic amines, proteoglycans, proteases, leukotrienes, and lysosomal enzymes. Subsequent *de novo* synthesis and release of lipid mediators (e.g., leukotrienes, growth factors, prostaglandins) as well as cytokines and chemokines may sustain or oppose the early effects (Gupta and Harvima, 2018). Mast cells may also release extracellular vesicles, extracellular traps, and form nanotubes (Weng et al., 2016) that enable interactions with neighboring cells and structures including vessels and nerve fibers (Gupta and Harvima, 2018).

Myeloid progenitor cells from the bone marrow form immature mast cell precursors that migrate through the bloodstream to different tissues, where they undergo differentiation into mature mast cells and persist for long periods (Gupta and Harvima, 2018). Signals from the surrounding microenvironment and any attendant pathological conditions critically influence local mast cell size, structure, secretagog, sensitivity to stimuli and response to inhibitory signals/drugs. Mast cells may thus display substantial phenotypic heterogeneity between and within different organs including the nervous system (Metcalfe et al., 1997).

Chronic and acute inflammation in the nervous system, termed "neuroinflammation," have been associated with several neurodegenerative diseases, including those discussed in this review. Acute and chronic inflammation are also involved in neuropathic pain (Gupta and Harvima, 2018). Hence, although its close proximity to, and extensive communication with, the immune system provides the nervous system with substantial protection, this same relationship also makes the nervous system highly vulnerable to severe pathologies that significantly impact quality of life. The role of mast cells in neurodegenerative diseases is being increasingly recognized. In this review, we present an overview of mast cell function within the central and peripheral nervous systems with specific attention to neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. We then focus on the roles of mast cells in the development and progression of four prominent and devastating neurodegenerative diseases: Alzheimer's Disease, Parkinson's Disease, Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Huntington's Disease.

#### MAST CELL LOCALIZATION IN THE CENTRAL AND PERIPHERAL NERVOUS SYSTEMS

Mast cells populate the brain during both development (Skaper et al., 2014) and adulthood, when they may migrate from the periphery to the brain (Nautiyal et al., 2011). The healthy human brain contains small numbers of mast cells located primarily in the abluminal perivascular areas and meninges (Banuelos-Cabrera et al., 2014; Dong et al., 2014), whereas mice have higher numbers of mast cells populating diverse regions of the brain (Nautiyal et al., 2012). Mast cells have been identified in the area postrema of the dorsal medulla, choroid plexus, and parenchyma of the thalami and hypothalamus (Ribatti, 2015; Hendriksen et al., 2017). The number and distribution of mast cells in the brain may change during infection, trauma, or stress (Bugajski et al., 1994; Maslinska et al., 2005; Silver and Curley, 2013).

Mast cells are also present the dura of the spinal cord, but not in the cord parenchyma under normal conditions. Nonetheless, mast cell mediators may still be able to modulate synaptic transmission and nociception at the level of the dorsal horn due to the close apposition of dura and white matter in this compartment (Michaloudi et al., 2008; Xanthos et al., 2011). Mast cells are also found in close proximity to peripheral nerves in tissues throughout the body (Schemann and Camilleri, 2013; Kritas et al., 2014a; Forsythe, 2015; Gupta and Harvima, 2018).

## MAST CELL ACTIVATION, NEUROINFLAMMATION, AND NEURODEGENERATION

Hendriksen et al. (2017) have suggested a framework for characterizing the role of mast cells in neuroinflammation:

- (1) Reciprocal interactions with microglia, astrocytes and neurons (Skaper et al., 2014)
- (2) Effects on blood-brain barrier permeability (Hendriksen et al., 2017)
- (3) Effects on neurogenesis: proliferation, differentiation, and migration (Molina-Hernandez and Velasco, 2008; Borsini et al., 2015)
- (4) Effects on neurodegeneration: neuronal death, synaptic dysfunction, excitotoxicity (Kempuraj et al., 2017b)

A full discussion of any/all of these phenomena is beyond the scope of this review. Selected processes most relevant to neurodegenerative diseases are described below.

#### Mast Cell-Microglia Interactions

In the brain and CNS, microglial cells are the guardian immune surveillance effectors that constantly monitor the surrounding microenvironment for injury and pathogen entry, which elicit microglial activation encompassing the release of cytokines/chemokines, phagocytosis of cellular debris and antigen presentation to T cells (Colonna and Butovsky, 2017). Cross-talk between microglial cells and other cells of the immune system enable complex, multifaceted communication between the brain, CNS and "first responders" that affords neural protection. Nevertheless, such homeostatic and protective responses are prone to dysregulation, particularly as a consequence of aging, which gives rise to chronic inflammation, resulting in tissue damage with a concomitant impaired ability to heal (Di Benedetto et al., 2017).

While microglial cells provide immune surveillance to the brain and CNS, other immune cells have recently been recognized for their contributions to neuronal degenerative diseases. Notably, tissue-resident mast cells have garnered much attention as primary communicators and mediators between the peripheral immune system and the nervous system during inflammatory responses (Gupta and Harvima, 2018). Mast cells have long been recognized for their roles in allergic inflammation and anaphylaxis; however, their localization within the CNS has led to recent exploration into their possible roles in neuroinflammation and neurodegenerative disease (Hendriksen et al., 2017). In fact, mast cells within the CNS, as opposed to microglial cells, are now recognized as the primary first responders to injury as conferred by their secretory granule arsenal of preformed/stored immunomodulators, neuromodulators, proteases, amines and growth factors (Gupta and Harvima, 2018). Mast cell progenitors are able to traverse the blood-brain-barrier (BBB) and blood-spinal cord-barrier under states of inflammation and infection (Nautiyal et al., 2011). In response to localized microenvironment perturbation, mast cells undergo activation in which pre- and newly synthesized

mediators such as GnRH, monoamines, specific proteases (e.g., chymases, tryptases, and carboxypeptidase A), cytokines, and histamine are secreted by the process of degranulation (Metcalfe et al., 1997; Vukman et al., 2017). Release of these compounds elicits profound effects on neighboring cells including T cells, which are able to enter the brain via compromised BBB. Microglial cells are also activated in response to mast cell release of tryptase and histamine, resulting in a pro-inflammatory state mediated by microglial secretion of cytokines/chemokines into the microenvironment (Hendriksen et al., 2017). In addition, mast cells release chemoattractants, which recruit eosinophils, monocytes, and neutrophils further exacerbating an inflammatory environment (Jolly et al., 2004).

Interactions between mast and microglial cells involves complex cross-communication that can be both unidirectional and bidirectional. Activated microglia release IL-6 and chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 5 (CCL5), which affect surface expression levels of toll-like receptors, TLR2 and TLR4, on mast cells thus modulating the ability of mast cells to respond to endotoxins (Pietrzak et al., 2011). Conversely, release of CCL5/RANTES (regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted) by mast cells induces proinflammatory responses in microglial cells (Skuljec et al., 2011). Tryptase released from mast cells cleaves and activates protease activated receptor 2 (PAR2) on microglial cells resulting in the upregulation and release of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF); while IL-6 and TNF-a released from microglial cells upregulates PAR2 expression on mast cells, resulting in mast cell activation (Zhang and Levy, 2008; Zhang et al., 2010). C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4) expression promotes migration and activation of microglial cells and also acts as a mast cell chemotaxin (Juremalm et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2008). ATP stimulates IL-33 release from microglial cells, which in turn induces IL-6, IL-13, and monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 secretion from mast cells, resulting in modulatory responses in microglial cells (Osipchuk and Cahalan, 1992; Bulanova and Bulfone-Paus, 2010; Taracanova et al., 2017). From these few examples, it is clear that mast cell-microglia interactions encompass highly complex paracrine mechanisms by which these cells, as a result of close proximity, influence each other's behavior and responses to their microenvironment.

# Mast Cell Effects on Blood-Brain Barrier Permeability

The blood-brain barrier (BBB) plays a critical role in controlling the entry of molecules, pathogens, and toxins into the CNS. The primary barrier units of the BBB are tight junctions between endothelial cells (ECs) that limit paracellular transport. Tight junctions are composed of transmembrane proteins such as claudin and occludin (Strbian et al., 2009). BBBspecific receptors on ECs modulate trafficking of molecules into and out of the brain (Keaney and Campbell, 2015). Surrounding pericytes, astroglia and neurons communicate with ECs and impart further integrity and complexity to the BBB (Banuelos-Cabrera et al., 2014; Ribatti, 2015). Disruption and breakdown of the BBB is associated with a variety of neoplastic, infectious, inflammatory, and neurodegenerative diseases (Daneman and Prat, 2015; Ribatti, 2015). Mast cells are believed to influence BBB integrity through release of proteases that can degrade tight junction proteins and extracellular matrix components, as well as release of vasoactive mediators including histamine and TNF- $\alpha$  (Strbian et al., 2009; Mattila et al., 2011).

## Mast Cell Effects on Neurodegeneration

As a result of their ability to quickly release diverse immuno- and neuromodulators, the relatively small numbers of mast cells in the brain and CNS have a substantial influence on the behaviors of neurons and glial cells. Direct influences via release of TNF- $\alpha$ , histamine and proteases empower mast cells with the ability to potentiate neuroinflammation, neurogenesis, neurodegeneration and BBB disruption/permeability. Nevertheless, to date all evidence regarding the direct influence of mast cells on neurodegeneration derive from animal studies (Secor et al., 2000). It therefore remains to be determined the extent to which such findings hold true human relevance. With respect to neurodegeneration, mast cell release of TNF- $\alpha$  and other cytokines can increase neuroinflammation and the formation of neurotoxic nitric oxide by astrocytes. Cytokines such as IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  can elicit protective as well as detrimental effects and these differential outcomes are likely dependent on the concentration and duration with which these cytokines are expressed and released. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 can affect the expression and function of tight junction proteins; and, therefore, the release of these cytokines is likely involved in the capacity of mast cells to modulate BBB permeability and the entry of immune cells and other molecules that do not have access under physiological conditions. The potential roles of histamine in neurogenesis and neurodegeneration have remained somewhat controversial since conflicting reports indicate that histamine is both neuroprotective and can also increase neurotoxicity (Skaper et al., 2001; Fang et al., 2014). Moreover, reports indicate that histamine can potentiate both increased BBB integrity and increased BBB permeability. It is likely that different histamine receptors may have diverse effects, and their presentation may thus guide context-specific histamine activity. The roles of mast cells in neurogenesis and neurodegeneration thus involve a high level of nuanced complexity.

#### MAST CELLS IN ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is the most common cause of dementia among the elderly population, with 5–7 million new diagnoses annually (Robinson et al., 2017). Patients experience progressive, disabling cognitive deficits and decline in learning and memory (Bianchetti et al., 2006). Although the cardinal histopathological features of extracellular amyloid  $\beta$ -peptide (A $\beta$ ) deposition, intracellular neurofibrillary tangles composed of hyperphosphorylated tau protein and synaptic loss have been extensively described, the exact etiology of AD remains unclear (Zlomuzica et al., 2016). The causative role of amyloid toxicity in AD pathogenesis has long been questioned (Yankner, 1989). Contemporary understanding



suggests that A $\beta$  oligomers may impair synaptic function and plasticity (Selkoe, 2008), with attendant derangement of multiple neurotransmitter systems and neuronal networks (Zlomuzica et al., 2016).

Recent studies increasingly implicate neuroinflammation in AD neurodegeneration (Heneka et al., 2015). For example, microglia have been found to surround A $\beta$  plaques in postmortem AD brain specimens as well as mouse models of amyloid deposition (Skaper et al., 2018). Phagocytosed A $\beta$  peptides have been shown to regulate microglia phenotype (Manocha et al., 2016), induce production of trophic factors (Rivest, 2009) and synaptotoxic compounds (Skaper et al., 2018), and trigger early widespread synaptic pruning (Hong et al., 2016) (**Figure 1**).

Autopsy studies have shown mast cells surround amyloid plaques in Alzheimer's patients in higher numbers than corresponding brain regions of control patients (Maslinska et al., 2007). It has been suggested that inflammation in the AD brain may trigger CNS glia to produce acute phase proteins and mast cell chemoattractants such as serum amyloid A that home mast cells to sites of amyloid deposition (Skaper et al., 2018). It is also possible that mast cells themselves are early detectors of amyloid peptides; indeed, Harcha et al. (2015) showed increased mast cell numbers in the cortex and hippocampus of a mouse model of AD prior to amyloid detection. The authors also demonstrated that amyloid peptides can activate membrane Panx1 hemichannels on mast cells, leading to degranulation. Importantly, the authors demonstrated attenuation of these responses by Panx1 inhibitors in vitro as well as in the mast cells of Panx1-/- mice (Harcha et al., 2015). Subsequent

release of mediators including histamine and prostaglandin D2 (PGD2) may exacerbate local inflammatory processes including microglial activation (Shaik-Dasthagirisaheb and Conti, 2016).

The oral tyrosine kinase inhibitor masitinib modulates mast cell degranulation, differentiation and survival through c-kit and Lyn targeting (Dubreuil et al., 2009). A phase 2 randomized, placebo-controlled trial of masitinib as add-on therapy for patients with mild-to-moderate AD showed reduction in the rate of cognitive decline over a 24-week period. The ability of mast cells to disrupt integrity of the BBB has been implicated in the stress-induced neuropathological processes involved in the development and progression of AD (Esposito et al., 2001; Mravec et al., 2018). Because masitinib is unlikely to cross the BBB, this was potentially achieved by inhibiting mast cells in close proximity to the BBB from releasing mediators that would impair BBB permeability, leading to a decrease in local proinflammatory molecules and further migration of mast cells into the brain (Piette et al., 2011). Masitinib is currently in further phase 2 and 3 clinical trials (Folch et al., 2016).

#### MAST CELLS IN PARKINSON'S DISEASE

Parkinson's Disease (PD) is characterized by progressive motor deficits including rigidity, bradykinesia and resting tremor, alongside non-motor deficits that may evolve later in the disease course (Shulman et al., 2011). Recent studies have linked neuroinflammation, particularly microglial activation, to PD pathogenesis (Stojkovska et al., 2015). Misfolded  $\alpha$ -synuclein can activate microglia via several receptors including

major histocompatibility complex II (Harms et al., 2013) and signaling cascades involving NF-kB and MAPKs. These events promote migration, phagocytosis and lymphocyte recruitment by microglia, and trigger increased expression of mediators including TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), ultimately exacerbating death of dopaminergic neurons (Zhang et al., 2017).

Parkinson's Disease pathogenesis is also thought to involve down-regulation of nuclear receptor Nurr1 in microglia and astrocytes, leading to increased production of mediators such as chemokine CCL2 that may promote apoptosis of dopaminergic neurons (Liu et al., 2017). BBB dysfunction has also been shown in animal models and validated in PD patients (Grav and Woulfe, 2015). In a PD mouse model with impaired BBB function, matrix metalloproteinase-3 (MMP-3) was shown to play a critical role in death of nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons (Chung et al., 2013). In spite of the known effects of mast cells on BBB permeability and disruption, there is currently little direct evidence for a role of mast cells in the pathogenesis of PD. Nevertheless, initial presumptive findings suggest that mast cells may contribute to PD via neural cell mediated activation. Kempuraj et al. (2016) demonstrated that exposure to dopaminergic toxin triggers release of CCL2 and MMP-3 by human umbilical cord blood-derived cultured mast cells and mouse bone marrowderived mast cells (BMMCs) in vitro. The authors further characterized this phenomenon by exposing mast cells to glial activating factors in co-culture with fetal mouse brain-derived astrocytes, neurons, and/or mixed glia/neurons. Release of specific inflammatory mediators and neurite outgrowth were both quantified. By comparing all possible combinations of cell types, the authors demonstrated that mast cells specifically release mediators including tryptase. Furthermore, mast cellspecific mediators were shown to trigger CCL2 and MMP-3 release by astrocytes and glia in this model system. Taken together, these results suggest mast cell interactions with neurons and glial cells may play a role in PD pathogenesis (Kempuraj et al., 2018).

Hong et al. (2018) recently demonstrated that CCL2 production by microglia and astrocytes may recruit mast cells into the substantia nigra in a PD mouse model. Recruited mast cells were shown to express the crosslinking enzyme tissue transglutaminase 2 (TG2) in an NF-kB dependent manner, with subsequent release of pro-inflammatory mediators including histamine, leukotrienes, and TNF- $\alpha$  that are implicated in dopaminergic neuronal death. Although the comparison against TG2 knockout mice supported these findings, validation was not carried out in mast cell knockout controls. The authors also found increased TG2 expression in the serum of PD patients compared to control patients (Hong et al., 2018).

These results suggest intriguing roles for mast cells in PD pathogenesis, but should be interpreted cautiously when considering disease in humans. Animal and *in vitro* model systems may not fully recapitulate complex local microenvironments that substantially alter mast cell phenotype. Furthermore, postmortem studies of PD brain specimens have

not consistently shown increased numbers of mast cells by conventional detection methods (Hurley et al., 2015).

#### MAST CELLS IN AMYOTROPHIC LATERAL SCLEROSIS

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) involves progressive degeneration of both upper and lower motor neurons, often accompanied by cognitive and/or behavioral symptoms. ALS is the most common and aggressive form of motor neuron degeneration in adults, with a heterogenous but invariably progressive and fatal disease course (Hardiman et al., 2017). The underlying etiology remains unknown. Although some patients have inherited familial disease, the majority of cases are sporadic. The common pathologic feature is accumulation of ubiquitylated cytoplasmic protein inclusions in motor neurons. These inclusions are composed of transactive response (TAR) DNA binding protein 43 (TDP43) aggregates in the majority of cases (Neumann et al., 2006). Rodent models of ALS predominantly overexpress superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1), which has also been implicated in some human cases (Hardiman et al., 2017).

Microglial activation has been shown in *SOD1*-transgenic mice (Liao et al., 2012) as well as human postmortem brain specimens and *in vivo* imaging in ALS patients (Turner et al., 2004; Corcia et al., 2012; Brites and Vaz, 2014). Accumulation of degranulating mast cells associated with macrophages at the neuromuscular junction has been shown to occur after onset of motor weakness in a rat model of ALS and correlate with denervation. Although a mast cell knockout control was not employed, treatment with the mast cell inhibitor masitinib reduced mast cell numbers and progression of motor symptoms, suggesting a cell type-specific effect (Trias et al., 2017). The mast cell chemoattractant IL-15 is elevated in the serum and cerebrospinal fluid of ALS patients (Rentzos et al., 2010), and mast cells expressing IL-17 have been found in the spinal cord of ALS patients (Fiala et al., 2010).

Cytokines including IL-12 are elevated in the serum and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of ALS patients (Rentzos et al., 2010). High mobility group box 1 protein and other damage-associated host biomolecules that can trigger an inflammatory response through TLR2/TLR4 signaling are elevated in the spinal cords of ALS patients (Casula et al., 2011). Yang et al. (2010) demonstrated that IL-12 can upregulate mast cell expression of TLR2/TLR4 pattern recognition receptors; although this was carried out in a mouse mastocytoma cell line *in vitro*, the findings support a possible role for mast cell autocrine signaling in the neuroinflammatory cascade.

Elevated IL-6 and IL-8 levels were found in the peripheral blood of ALS patients (Ehrhart et al., 2015). TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 elaborated by microglia have been shown to drive mast cell recruitment, activation, and degranulation, releasing mediators such as tryptase, which can reciprocally activate microglia in a feed-forward cycle in a rat model of PD (Zhang et al., 2010, 2011; Skaper et al., 2018). Mast cell tryptase has also been shown to stimulate microglial protease-activated receptors (PARs) that can cause disruption of the BBB in wild-type as compared to PAR-deficient mice (Bunnett, 2006). Human mast cell lines have been observed to release IL-8 (Chen et al., 2016; Yu et al., 2016). IL-8 enhances production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by microglia exposed to A $\beta$  peptide *in vitro* (Franciosi et al., 2005). Taken together, these findings suggest further involvement of mast cells in cross-talk with microglia in the neuroinflammatory milieu of ALS.

Human and animal studies have also demonstrated impairment of the BBB and blood-spinal cord barriers in ALS (Rodrigues et al., 2012). As a result of pre-synthesized vasoactive mediators, mast cells affect the permeability and integrity of both the BBB (Ribatti, 2015) and blood-spinal cord-barrier. Therefore, in the case of ALS, mast cells have the potential to cross the blood-spinal cord-barrier and release neuropeptides, proteases, cytokines, histamine etc., via degranulation resulting in localized neuroinflammation and dysregulated neuronal function. Support for this, as stated above, comes from the finding that mast cells expressing IL-17 were present in the spinal cords of ALS patients. Further studies are needed to demonstrate and characterize the degree to which mast cells may be involved in these processes via the inflammatory and vasoactive mediators described above. Studies in animal models of ALS will be critical for validating the findings from different disease and in vitro contexts.

## MAST CELLS IN HUNTINGTON'S DISEASE

Huntington's Disease (HD) is an autosomal dominant disorder caused by expansion of a CAG triplet in the *HTT* gene that leads to expression of a mutant form of the Huntington protein, HTT. Mutant HTT (mHTT) causes excitatory neurotoxicity in inhibitory medium spiny neurons (MSNs) in the striatum and cortex. Patients experience involuntary jerking movements as well as dystonia, rigidity, cognitive, and neuropsychiatric symptoms (Zuccato and Cattaneo, 2014).

Although the role of mast cells in HD pathogenesis has not yet been established, substantial evidence supports a strong role of neuroinflammation via interactions between neurons, microglia and astrocytes. Expression of mHTT in astrocytes downregulates production of neuronal growth factors, while mHTT expression in microglia promotes expression of proinflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ ) and toxic metabolites. These processes converge to cause neurodegeneration, exacerbated by mHTT expression in neurons that triggers cell-autonomous apoptosis and degeneration. Components of dead neurons may be detected and phagocytosed by microglia in a similar fashion to A $\beta$  detection in AD, resulting in further production of proinflammatory mediators, astrocyte activation, and a feed-forward loop of neuronal damage (Crotti et al., 2014; Crotti and Glass, 2015).

Plasma levels of IL-6 and IL-8 correlate with functional scores in HD patients (Bouwens et al., 2017). Several signaling cascades were found to drive microglia overexpression of IL-8 in a porcine model of HD (Valekova et al., 2016). Similar to findings in ALS, it is possible that these represent previously unexplored evidence of mast cell involvement in HD pathogenesis, and will require rigorous validation in animal models of HD.

## **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Emerging studies implicate chronic stress in a variety of neuroinflammatory processes (Machado et al., 2014) that may increase the risk of developing neurodegenerative disease (Hoeijmakers et al., 2017; Piirainen et al., 2017). Mast cells release and respond to molecules such as corticotropin releasing hormone during stress and neuroinflammation, suggesting a role in the pathogenesis of stress-related neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation (Kritas et al., 2014b). However, these mechanisms have yet to be definitively elucidated in the setting of neurodegenerative disease (Kempuraj et al., 2017a; Skaper et al., 2018). Similarly, the immune modulatory and neuroprotective role of gut microbiota has also been hypothesized to involve mast cells (Girolamo et al., 2017), suggesting another fruitful avenue for integrative mechanistic studies.

There are additional challenges and opportunities for future studies that are beyond the scope of this review. Possible neuroprotective roles of mast cells warrant further investigation. The dependence of mast cell phenotype on tissue- and pathology-specific microenvironment necessitates careful selection of animal and *in vitro* model systems, as well as validation in human tissue specimens. Further studies are also needed to elucidate the multifaceted cross-talk between mast cells and microglia, astrocytes and neurons. The scale of this problem may require informatics-based approaches; for example large genomic datasets derived from experimental mouse models may enable *in silico* discovery of target genes and guide rational validation in appropriate model systems (Khayer et al., 2017).

## CONCLUSION

A complete understanding of the mechanisms driving the development of neurodegenerative diseases is lacking. This has impeded the advancement of effective therapeutic strategies aimed at preventing both disease onset and progression. Although the many neurodegenerative diseases thus far identified have diverse characteristics and etiologies, many contributing factors are likely shared in common, which offers the possibility of identifying novel targets for intervention. Neuroinflammation, which is now recognized as a primary pathological component of diseases such as multiple sclerosis, is gaining acceptance as an underlying component of most, if not all, neurodegenerative diseases. Whereas past focus has predominantly centered on glial cells of the CNS, recently mast cells have emerged as potential key players in both neuroinflammation and neurodegenerative diseases. Mast cells are well positioned for such a role owing to their ability to affect both their microenvironment and neighboring cells including T cells, astrocytes, microglia, and neurons. The secretory granules of mast cells contain an arsenal of preformed/stored immunomodulators, neuromodulators, proteases, amines and growth factors that enable complex cross-communication, which can be both unidirectional and bidirectional. Mast cells can also affect disruption/permeabilization of the BBB and this has the potential for dramatically altering the neuroinflammatory state.

With respect to AD, PD, ALS, and HD, discussed in the present review, mast cell perturbation of the BBB appears to share a commonality. Moreover, mast cells have been found to home to sites of amyloid deposition in AD; and, an inhibitor of mast cell function was shown to reduce cognitive decline in AD patients. Mast cell interactions with neurons and glial cells have also been implicated in PD pathogenesis. Emerging evidence suggests that mast cell autocrine signaling may contribute to ALS: The mast cell chemoattractant, IL-15, is elevated in the serum and cerebrospinal fluid of ALS patients; and, mast cells expressing IL-17 have been found in the spinal cord of ALS patients. Plasma levels of cytokines (IL-6, IL-8), known to affect mast cell activation, have been correlated with functional scores in HD patients suggesting the possible

#### REFERENCES

- Banuelos-Cabrera, I., Valle-Dorado, M. G., Aldana, B. I., Orozco-Suarez, S. A., and Rocha, L. (2014). Role of histaminergic system in blood-brain barrier dysfunction associated with neurological disorders. *Arch. Med. Res.* 45, 677–686. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2014.11.010
- Bianchetti, A., Ranieri, P., Margiotta, A., and Trabucchi, M. (2006). Pharmacological treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Aging Clin. Exp. Res.* 18, 158–162.
- Borsini, A., Zunszain, P. A., Thuret, S., and Pariante, C. M. (2015). The role of inflammatory cytokines as key modulators of neurogenesis. *Trends Neurosci.* 38, 145–157. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2014.12.006
- Bouwens, J. A., van Duijn, E., Cobbaert, C. M., Roos, R. A. C., van der Mast, R. C., and Giltay, E. J. (2017). Disease stage and plasma levels of cytokines in Huntington's disease: a 2-year follow-up study. *Mov. Disord.* 32, 1103–1104. doi: 10.1002/mds.26950
- Brites, D., and Vaz, A. R. (2014). Microglia centered pathogenesis in ALS: insights in cell interconnectivity. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 8:117. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014. 00117
- Bugajski, A. J., Chlap, Z., Gadek, M., and Bugajski, J. (1994). Effect of isolation stress on brain mast cells and brain histamine levels in rats. *Agents Actions* 41, C75–C76.
- Bulanova, E., and Bulfone-Paus, S. (2010). P2 receptor-mediated signaling in mast cell biology. *Purinergic Signal.* 6, 3–17. doi: 10.1007/s11302-009-9173-z
- Bunnett, N. W. (2006). Protease-activated receptors: how proteases signal to cells to cause inflammation and pain. Semin. Thromb. Hemost. 32(Suppl. 1), 39–48. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-939553
- Casula, M., Iyer, A. M., Spliet, W. G., Anink, J. J., Steentjes, K., Sta, M., et al. (2011). Toll-like receptor signaling in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis spinal cord tissue. *Neuroscience* 179, 233–243. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.0 2.001
- Chen, X. F., Zhang, Z., Dou, X., Li, J. J., Zhang, W., Yu, Y. Y., et al. (2016). Histamine H4 Receptor mediates interleukin-8 and TNF-alpha release in human mast cells via multiple signaling pathways. *Cell. Mol. Biol.* 62, 84–89.
- Chung, Y. C., Kim, Y. S., Bok, E., Yune, T. Y., Maeng, S., and Jin, B. K. (2013). MMP-3 contributes to nigrostriatal dopaminergic neuronal loss, BBB damage, and neuroinflammation in an MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2013:370526. doi: 10.1155/2013/370526
- Colonna, M., and Butovsky, O. (2017). Microglia function in the central nervous system during health and neurodegeneration. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 35, 441–468. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-051116-052358
- Corcia, P., Tauber, C., Vercoullie, J., Arlicot, N., Prunier, C., Praline, J., et al. (2012). Molecular imaging of microglial activation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *PLoS One* 7:e52941. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0052941
- Crotti, A., Benner, C., Kerman, B. E., Gosselin, D., Lagier-Tourenne, C., Zuccato, C., et al. (2014). Mutant Huntingtin promotes autonomous microglia activation via myeloid lineage-determining factors. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17, 513–521. doi: 10. 1038/nn.3668

involvement of mast cells in the pathogenesis of HD. Future considerations include validation of animal and *in vitro* models, which incorporates microenvironment-specific influences and the complex, multifaceted cross-talk between mast cells and microglia, astrocytes and neurons. In addition to the potential role(s) of mast cells in neuroinflammation and neurodegenerative diseases, the possible neuroprotective roles of mast cells also warrant further investigation.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors participated in the conceptualization, literature review, drafting, and editing of the manuscript.

- Crotti, A., and Glass, C. K. (2015). The choreography of neuroinflammation in Huntington's disease. *Trends Immunol.* 36, 364–373. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.0 4.007
- Daneman, R., and Prat, A. (2015). The blood-brain barrier. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 7:a020412. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a020412
- Di Benedetto, S., Muller, L., Wenger, E., Duzel, S., and Pawelec, G. (2017). Contribution of neuroinflammation and immunity to brain aging and the mitigating effects of physical and cognitive interventions. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 75, 114–128. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.01.044
- Dong, H., Zhang, X., and Qian, Y. (2014). Mast cells and neuroinflammation. Med. Sci. Monit. Basic Res. 20, 200–206. doi: 10.12659/MSMBR.893093
- Dubreuil, P., Letard, S., Ciufolini, M., Gros, L., Humbert, M., Casteran, N., et al. (2009). Masitinib (AB1010), a potent and selective tyrosine kinase inhibitor targeting KIT. *PLoS One* 4:e7258. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0007258
- Ehrhart, J., Smith, A. J., Kuzmin-Nichols, N., Zesiewicz, T. A., Jahan, I., Shytle, R. D., et al. (2015). Humoral factors in ALS patients during disease progression. *J. Neuroinflammation* 12:127. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0350-4
- Esposito, P., Gheorghe, D., Kandere, K., Pang, X., Connolly, R., Jacobson, S., et al. (2001). Acute stress increases permeability of the blood-brain-barrier through activation of brain mast cells. *Brain Res.* 888, 117–127. doi: 10.1016/s0006-8993(00)03026-2
- Fang, Q., Hu, W. W., Wang, X. F., Yang, Y., Lou, G. D., Jin, M. M., et al. (2014). Histamine up-regulates astrocytic glutamate transporter 1 and protects neurons against ischemic injury. *Neuropharmacology* 77, 156–166. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuropharm.2013.06.012
- Fiala, M., Chattopadhay, M., La Cava, A., Tse, E., Liu, G., Lourenco, E., et al. (2010). IL-17A is increased in the serum and in spinal cord CD8 and mast cells of ALS patients. J. Neuroinflammation 7:76. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-7-76
- Folch, J., Petrov, D., Ettcheto, M., Abad, S., Sanchez-Lopez, E., Garcia, M. L., et al. (2016). Current research therapeutic strategies for Alzheimer's disease treatment. *Neural Plast.* 2016:8501693. doi: 10.1155/2016/850 1693
- Forsythe, P. (2015). The parasympathetic nervous system as a regulator of mast cell function. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1220, 141–154. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-15 68-2\_9
- Franciosi, S., Choi, H. B., Kim, S. U., and McLarnon, J. G. (2005). IL-8 enhancement of amyloid-beta (Abeta 1-42)-induced expression and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and COX-2 in cultured human microglia. J. Neuroimmunol. 159, 66–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2004.1 0.006
- Girolamo, F., Coppola, C., and Ribatti, D. (2017). Immunoregulatory effect of mast cells influenced by microbes in neurodegenerative diseases. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 65, 68–89. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.06.017
- Gray, M. T., and Woulfe, J. M. (2015). Striatal blood-brain barrier permeability in Parkinson's disease. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 35, 747–750. doi: 10.1038/ jcbfm.2015.32
- Gupta, K., and Harvima, I. T. (2018). Mast cell-neural interactions contribute to pain and itch. *Immunol. Rev.* 282, 168–187. doi: 10.1111/imr.12622

- Harcha, P. A., Vargas, A., Yi, C., Koulakoff, A. A., Giaume, C., and Saez, J. C. (2015). Hemichannels are required for amyloid beta-peptide-induced degranulation and are activated in brain mast cells of APPswe/PS1dE9 mice. J. Neurosci. 35, 9526–9538. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3686-14.2015
- Hardiman, O., Al-Chalabi, A., Chio, A., Corr, E. M., Logroscino, G., Robberecht, W., et al. (2017). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Primers* 3:17071. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2017.71
- Harms, A. S., Cao, S., Rowse, A. L., Thome, A. D., Li, X., Mangieri, L. R., et al. (2013). MHCII is required for alpha-synuclein-induced activation of microglia, CD4 T cell proliferation, and dopaminergic neurodegeneration. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 9592–9600. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5610-12.2013
- Hendriksen, E., van Bergeijk, D., Oosting, R. S., and Redegeld, F. A. (2017). Mast cells in neuroinflammation and brain disorders. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 79, 119–133. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.05.001
- Heneka, M. T., Carson, M. J., El Khoury, J., Landreth, G. E., Brosseron, F., Feinstein, D. L., et al. (2015). Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet Neurol.* 14, 388–405. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)70016-5
- Hoeijmakers, L., Ruigrok, S. R., Amelianchik, A., Ivan, D., van Dam, A. M., Lucassen, P. J., et al. (2017). Early-life stress lastingly alters the neuroinflammatory response to amyloid pathology in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 63, 160–175. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2016.12.023
- Hong, G. U., Cho, J. W., Kim, S. Y., Shin, J. H., and Ro, J. Y. (2018). Inflammatory mediators resulting from transglutaminase 2 expressed in mast cells contribute to the development of Parkinson's disease in a mouse model. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 358, 10–22. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2018.09.003
- Hong, S., Beja-Glasser, V. F., Nfonoyim, B. M., Frouin, A., Li, S., Ramakrishnan, S., et al. (2016). Complement and microglia mediate early synapse loss in Alzheimer mouse models. *Science* 352, 712–716. doi: 10.1126/science.aad8373
- Hurley, M. J., Durrenberger, P. F., Gentleman, S. M., Walls, A. F., and Dexter, D. T. (2015). Altered expression of brain proteinase-activated receptor-2, trypsin-2 and serpin proteinase inhibitors in Parkinson's disease. J. Mol. Neurosci. 57, 48–62. doi: 10.1007/s12031-015-0576-8
- Jolly, P. S., Bektas, M., Olivera, A., Gonzalez-Espinosa, C., Proia, R. L., Rivera, J., et al. (2004). Transactivation of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors by FcepsilonRI triggering is required for normal mast cell degranulation and chemotaxis. J. Exp. Med. 199, 959–970. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030680
- Juremalm, M., Hjertson, M., Olsson, N., Harvima, I., Nilsson, K., and Nilsson, G. (2000). The chemokine receptor CXCR4 is expressed within the mast cell lineage and its ligand stromal cell-derived factor-1alpha acts as a mast cell chemotaxin. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 30, 3614–3622. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200012) 30:12<3614::aid-immu3614>3.0.co;2-b
- Keaney, J., and Campbell, M. (2015). The dynamic blood-brain barrier. *FEBS J.* 282, 4067–4079. doi: 10.1111/febs.13412
- Kempuraj, D., Selvakumar, G. P., Thangavel, R., Ahmed, M. E., Zaheer, S., Raikwar, S. P., et al. (2017a). Mast cell activation in brain injury, stress, and posttraumatic stress disorder and Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis. *Front. Neurosci.* 11:703. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00703
- Kempuraj, D., Thangavel, R., Selvakumar, G. P., Zaheer, S., Ahmed, M. E., Raikwar, S. P., et al. (2017b). Brain and peripheral atypical inflammatory mediators potentiate neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 11:216. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2017.00216
- Kempuraj, D., Selvakumar, G. P., Zaheer, S., Thangavel, R., Ahmed, M. E., Raikwar, S., et al. (2018). Cross-talk between glia, neurons and mast cells in neuroinflammation associated with Parkinson's disease. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 13, 100–112. doi: 10.1007/s11481-017-9766-1
- Kempuraj, D., Thangavel, R., Fattal, R., Pattani, S., Yang, E., Zaheer, S., et al. (2016). Mast cells release chemokine CCL2 in response to Parkinsonian toxin 1-methyl-4-phenyl-pyridinium (MPP(+)). *Neurochem. Res.* 41, 1042–1049. doi: 10.1007/s11064-015-1790-z
- Khayer, N., Marashi, S. A., Mirzaie, M., and Goshadrou, F. (2017). Three-way interaction model to trace the mechanisms involved in Alzheimer's disease transgenic mice. *PLoS One* 12:e0184697. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0184697
- Kritas, S. K., Caraffa, A., Antinolfi, P., Saggini, A., Pantalone, A., Rosati, M., et al. (2014a). Nerve growth factor interactions with mast cells. *Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol.* 27, 15–19. doi: 10.1177/039463201402700103
- Kritas, S. K., Saggini, A., Cerulli, G., Caraffa, A., Antinolfi, P., Pantalone, A., et al. (2014b). Corticotropin-releasing hormone, microglia and mental disorders. *Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol.* 27, 163–167. doi: 10.1177/039463201402700203

- Liao, B., Zhao, W., Beers, D. R., Henkel, J. S., and Appel, S. H. (2012). Transformation from a neuroprotective to a neurotoxic microglial phenotype in a mouse model of ALS. *Exp. Neurol.* 237, 147–152. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol. 2012.06.011
- Liu, W., Gao, Y., and Chang, N. (2017). Nurr1 overexpression exerts neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory roles via down-regulating CCL2 expression in both in vivo and in vitro Parkinson's disease models. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 482, 1312–1319. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.12.034
- Machado, A., Herrera, A. J., de Pablos, R. M., Espinosa-Oliva, A. M., Sarmiento, M., Ayala, A., et al. (2014). Chronic stress as a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. *Rev. Neurosci.* 25, 785–804. doi: 10.1515/revneuro-2014-0035
- Manocha, G. D., Floden, A. M., Rausch, K., Kulas, J. A., McGregor, B. A., Rojanathammanee, L., et al. (2016). APP regulates microglial phenotype in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurosci. 36, 8471–8486. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.4654-15.2016
- Maslinska, D., Laure-Kamionowska, M., Gujski, M., Ciurzynska, G., and Wojtecka-Lukasik, E. (2005). Post-infectional distribution and phenotype of mast cells penetrating human brains. *Inflamm. Res.* 54(Suppl. 1), S15–S16. doi: 10.1007/ s00011-004-0406-x
- Maslinska, D., Laure-Kamionowska, M., Maslinski, K. T., Gujski, M., and Maslinski, S. (2007). Distribution of tryptase-containing mast cells and metallothionein reactive astrocytes in human brains with amyloid deposits. *Inflamm. Res.* 56(Suppl. 1), S17–S18.
- Mattila, O. S., Strbian, D., Saksi, J., Pikkarainen, T. O., Rantanen, V., Tatlisumak, T., et al. (2011). Cerebral mast cells mediate blood-brain barrier disruption in acute experimental ischemic stroke through perivascular gelatinase activation. *Stroke* 42, 3600–3605. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.632224
- Metcalfe, D. D., Baram, D., and Mekori, Y. A. (1997). Mast cells. *Physiol. Rev.* 77, 1033–1079. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1997.77.4.1033
- Michaloudi, H., Batzios, C., Chiotelli, M., Grivas, I., and Papadopoulos, G. C. (2008). Mast cells populations fluctuate along the spinal dura mater of the developing rat. *Brain Res.* 1226, 8–17. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2008.05.057
- Molina-Hernandez, A., and Velasco, I. (2008). Histamine induces neural stem cell proliferation and neuronal differentiation by activation of distinct histamine receptors. J. Neurochem. 106, 706–717. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05424.x
- Mravec, B., Horvathova, L., and Padova, A. (2018). Brain under stress and Alzheimer's disease. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 38, 73–84. doi: 10.1007/s10571-017-0521-1
- Nautiyal, K. M., Dailey, C. A., Jahn, J. L., Rodriquez, E., Son, N. H., Sweedler, J. V., et al. (2012). Serotonin of mast cell origin contributes to hippocampal function. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 36, 2347–2359. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08138.x
- Nautiyal, K. M., Liu, C., Dong, X., and Silver, R. (2011). Blood-borne donor mast cell precursors migrate to mast cell-rich brain regions in the adult mouse. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 240–241, 142–146. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.09.003
- Neumann, M., Sampathu, D. M., Kwong, L. K., Truax, A. C., Micsenyi, M. C., Chou, T. T., et al. (2006). Ubiquitinated TDP-43 in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* 314, 130–133. doi: 10. 1126/science.1134108
- Osipchuk, Y., and Cahalan, M. (1992). Cell-to-cell spread of calcium signals mediated by ATP receptors in mast cells. *Nature* 359, 241–244. doi: 10.1038/ 359241a0
- Pietrzak, A., Wierzbicki, M., Wiktorska, M., and Brzezinska-Blaszczyk, E. (2011). Surface TLR2 and TLR4 expression on mature rat mast cells can be affected by some bacterial components and proinflammatory cytokines. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2011:427473. doi: 10.1155/2011/427473
- Piette, F., Belmin, J., Vincent, H., Schmidt, N., Pariel, S., Verny, M., et al. (2011). Masitinib as an adjunct therapy for mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's disease: a randomised, placebo-controlled phase 2 trial. *Alzheimers Res. Ther.* 3:16. doi: 10.1186/alzrt75
- Piirainen, S., Youssef, A., Song, C., Kalueff, A. V., Landreth, G. E., Malm, T., et al. (2017). Psychosocial stress on neuroinflammation and cognitive dysfunctions in Alzheimer's disease: the emerging role for microglia? *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 77, 148–164. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.01.046
- Rentzos, M., Rombos, A., Nikolaou, C., Zoga, M., Zouvelou, V., Dimitrakopoulos, A., et al. (2010). Interleukin-15 and interleukin-12 are elevated in serum and cerebrospinal fluid of patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Eur. Neurol.* 63, 285–290. doi: 10.1159/00028 7582

- Ribatti, D. (2015). The crucial role of mast cells in blood-brain barrier alterations. *Exp. Cell Res.* 338, 119–125. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2015.05.013
- Rivest, S. (2009). Regulation of innate immune responses in the brain. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 9, 429–439. doi: 10.1038/nri2565
- Robinson, M., Lee, B. Y., and Hane, F. T. (2017). Recent progress in Alzheimer's disease research, part 2: genetics and epidemiology. J. Alzheimers Dis. 57, 317–330. doi: 10.3233/JAD-161149
- Rodrigues, M. C., Hernandez-Ontiveros, D. G., Louis, M. K., Willing, A. E., Borlongan, C. V., Sanberg, P. R., et al. (2012). Neurovascular aspects of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Int. Rev. Neurobiol.* 102, 91–106. doi: 10.1016/ B978-0-12-386986-9.00004-1
- Schemann, M., and Camilleri, M. (2013). Functions and imaging of mast cell and neural axis of the gut. *Gastroenterology* 144, 698–704.e4. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro. 2013.01.040
- Secor, V. H., Secor, W. E., Gutekunst, C. A., and Brown, M. A. (2000). Mast cells are essential for early onset and severe disease in a murine model of multiple sclerosis. *J. Exp. Med.* 191, 813–822. doi: 10.1084/jem.191. 5.813
- Selkoe, D. J. (2008). Soluble oligomers of the amyloid beta-protein impair synaptic plasticity and behavior. *Behav. Brain Res.* 192, 106–113. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2008. 02.016
- Shaik-Dasthagirisaheb, Y. B., and Conti, P. (2016). The role of mast cells in Alzheimer's disease. Adv. Clin. Exp. Med. 25, 781–787. doi: 10.17219/acem/ 61914
- Shulman, J. M., De Jager, P. L., and Feany, M. B. (2011). Parkinson's disease: genetics and pathogenesis. Annu. Rev. Pathol. 6, 193–222. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-pathol-011110-130242
- Silver, R., and Curley, J. P. (2013). Mast cells on the mind: new insights and opportunities. *Trends Neurosci.* 36, 513–521. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.0 6.001
- Skaper, S. D., Facci, L., and Giusti, P. (2014). Mast cells, glia and neuroinflammation: partners in crime? *Immunology* 141, 314–327. doi: 10.1111/imm.12170
- Skaper, S. D., Facci, L., Kee, W. J., and Strijbos, P. J. (2001). Potentiation by histamine of synaptically mediated excitotoxicity in cultured hippocampal neurones: a possible role for mast cells. J. Neurochem. 76, 47–55. doi: 10.1046/ j.1471-4159.2001.00008.x
- Skaper, S. D., Facci, L., Zusso, M., and Giusti, P. (2018). An inflammation-centric view of neurological disease: beyond the neuron. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 12:72. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2018.00072
- Skuljec, J., Sun, H., Pul, R., Benardais, K., Ragancokova, D., Moharregh-Khiabani, D., et al. (2011). CCL5 induces a pro-inflammatory profile in microglia in vitro. *Cell. Immunol.* 270, 164–171. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2011.05.001
- Stojkovska, I., Wagner, B. M., and Morrison, B. E. (2015). Parkinson's disease and enhanced inflammatory response. *Exp. Biol. Med.* 240, 1387–1395. doi: 10.1177/1535370215576313
- Strbian, D., Kovanen, P. T., Karjalainen-Lindsberg, M. L., Tatlisumak, T., and Lindsberg, P. J. (2009). An emerging role of mast cells in cerebral ischemia and hemorrhage. *Ann. Med.* 41, 438–450. doi: 10.1080/0785389090288 7303
- Taracanova, A., Alevizos, M., Karagkouni, A., Weng, Z., Norwitz, E., Conti, P., et al. (2017). SP and IL-33 together markedly enhance TNF synthesis and secretion from human mast cells mediated by the interaction of their receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, E4002–E4009. doi: 10.1073/pnas.152484 5114
- Trias, E., Ibarburu, S., Barreto-Nunez, R., Varela, V., Moura, I. C., Dubreuil, P., et al. (2017). Evidence for mast cells contributing to neuromuscular pathology in an inherited model of ALS. *JCI Insight* 2:e95934. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight. 95934

- Turner, M. R., Cagnin, A., Turkheimer, F. E., Miller, C. C., Shaw, C. E., Brooks, D. J., et al. (2004). Evidence of widespread cerebral microglial activation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: an [11C](R)-PK11195 positron emission tomography study. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 15, 601–609. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2003.12.012
- Valekova, I., Jarkovska, K., Kotrcova, E., Bucci, J., Ellederova, Z., Juhas, S., et al. (2016). Revelation of the IFNalpha, IL-10, IL-8 and IL-1beta as promising biomarkers reflecting immuno-pathological mechanisms in porcine Huntington's disease model. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 293, 71–81. doi: 10.1016/j. jneuroim.2016.02.012
- Vukman, K. V., Forsonits, A., Oszvald, A., Toth, E. A., and Buzas, E. I. (2017). Mast cell secretome: soluble and vesicular components. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 67, 65–73. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2017.02.002
- Wang, X., Li, C., Chen, Y., Hao, Y., Zhou, W., Chen, C., et al. (2008). Hypoxia enhances CXCR4 expression favoring microglia migration via HIF-1alpha activation. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 371, 283–288. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc. 2008.04.055
- Weng, Z., Zhang, B., Tsilioni, I., and Theoharides, T. C. (2016). Nanotube formation: a rapid form of "Alarm Signaling"? *Clin. Ther.* 38, 1066–1072. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2016.02.030
- Xanthos, D. N., Gaderer, S., Drdla, R., Nuro, E., Abramova, A., Ellmeier, W., et al. (2011). Central nervous system mast cells in peripheral inflammatory nociception. *Mol. Pain* 7:42. doi: 10.1186/1744-8069-7-42
- Yang, H., Wei, J., Zhang, H., Song, W., Wei, W., Zhang, L., et al. (2010). Upregulation of Toll-like Receptor (TLR) expression and release of cytokines from mast cells by IL-12. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 26, 337–346. doi: 10.1159/ 000320557
- Yankner, B. A. (1989). Amyloid and Alzheimer's disease-cause or effect? *Neurobiol. Aging* 10, 470–471; discussion 477–478.
- Yu, Y., Huang, Z., Mao, Z., Zhang, Y., Jin, M., Chen, W., et al. (2016). Go is required for the release of IL-8 and TNF-alpha, but not degranulation in human mast cells. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 780, 115–121. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2016.03.038
- Zhang, H., Yang, H., and He, S. (2010). TNF increases expression of IL-4 and PARs in mast cells. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 26, 327–336. doi: 10.1159/000320556
- Zhang, Q. S., Heng, Y., Yuan, Y. H., and Chen, N. H. (2017). Pathological alphasynuclein exacerbates the progression of Parkinson's disease through microglial activation. *Toxicol. Lett.* 265, 30–37. doi: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2016.11.002
- Zhang, S., Wang, X. J., Tian, L. P., Pan, J., Lu, G. Q., Zhang, Y. J., et al. (2011). CD200-CD200R dysfunction exacerbates microglial activation and dopaminergic neurodegeneration in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *J. Neuroinflammation* 8:154. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8-154
- Zhang, X. C., and Levy, D. (2008). Modulation of meningeal nociceptors mechanosensitivity by peripheral proteinase-activated receptor-2: the role of mast cells. *Cephalalgia* 28, 276–284. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2982.2007.01523.x
- Zlomuzica, A., Dere, D., Binder, S., De Souza Silva, M. A., Huston, J. P., and Dere, E. (2016). Neuronal histamine and cognitive symptoms in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropharmacology* 106, 135–145. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.05.007
- Zuccato, C., and Cattaneo, E. (2014). Huntington's disease. *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.* 220, 357–409. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-45106-5\_14

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Jones, Nair and Gupta. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Stabilization of Brain Mast Cells Alleviates LPS-Induced Neuroinflammation by Inhibiting Microglia Activation

Hongquan Dong<sup>1,2†</sup>, Yiming Wang<sup>3,4†</sup>, Xiaojun Zhang<sup>5†</sup>, Xiang Zhang<sup>6</sup>, Yanning Qian<sup>2</sup>, Haixia Ding<sup>7\*</sup> and Shu Zhang<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Clinical Research Center, The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China, <sup>2</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China, <sup>3</sup> Infection and Immunity Theme, South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute, Adelaide, SA, Australia, <sup>4</sup> School of Medicine, College of Medicine and Public Health, Flinders University, Bedford Park, SA, Australia, <sup>5</sup> Department of Rheumatology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China, <sup>6</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, Shanghai First People's Hospital, Shanghai, China, <sup>7</sup> Department of Geriatric, The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Rashid Giniatullin, University of Eastern Finland, Finland

#### Reviewed by:

Maria Antonietta Panaro, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy Sharon DeMorrow, University of Texas at Austin, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Haixia Ding dhxnjmu@126.com Shu Zhang zszqs@hotmail.com <sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Neuropathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience

> Received: 11 February 2019 Accepted: 16 April 2019 Published: 03 May 2019

#### Citation:

Dong H, Wang Y, Zhang X, Zhang X, Qian Y, Ding H and Zhang S (2019) Stabilization of Brain Mast Cells Alleviates LPS-Induced Neuroinflammation by Inhibiting Microglia Activation. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:191. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00191 **Background:** The functional aspects of mast cell-microglia interactions are important in neuroinflammation. Our previous studies have demonstrated that mast cell degranulation can directly induce microglia activation. However, the role of mast cells in Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced microglia activation, neuroinflammation and cognitive impairment has not been clarified.

**Methods:** This study investigated the interaction between brain microglia and mast cells *in vivo* through site-directed injection of cromolyn into rat right hypothalamus using stereotaxic techniques. Cognitive function was subsequently assessed using trace fear conditioning and Y maze tests. Mast cells in rat brain were stained with toluidine blue and counted using Cell D software. Microglia activation was assessed by Iba1 immunohistochemistry both in rat brain and in mast cell-deficient Kit<sup>W-sh/W-sh</sup> mice. Receptor expression in rat microglia was determined using flow cytometry analysis. Cytokine levels in rat brain tissue and cell supernatant were measured using high-throughput ELISA. Western blotting was used to analyze Cell signaling proteins.

**Results:** In this study, intraperitoneal injection of 1 mg/kg LPS induced mast cell activation in hypothalamus and cognitive dysfunction in rats, and that this process can be repressed by the mast cell stabilizer cromolyn (200  $\mu$ g). Meanwhile, in mice, LPS IP injection induced significant microglia activation 24 h later in the hypothalamus of wild-type (WT) mice, but had little effect in Kit<sup>W-sh/W-sh</sup> mice. The stabilization of mast cells in rats inhibited LPS-induced microglia activation, inflammatory factors release, and the activation of MAPK, AKT, and NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathways. We also found that LPS selectively provokes upregulation of H<sub>1</sub>R, H<sub>4</sub>R, PAR2, and TLR4, but downregulation of H<sub>2</sub>R and H<sub>3</sub>R, in ipsilateral hypothalamus microglia; these effects were partially inhibited by cromolyn. In addition, LPS was also found to induce activation of P815

96

cells *in vitro*, consistent with findings from *in vivo* experiments. These activated P815 cells also induced cytokine release from microglia, which was mediated by the MAPK signaling pathway.

**Conclusion:** Taken together, our results demonstrate that stabilization of mast cells can inhibit LPS-induced neuroinflammation and memory impairment, suggesting a novel treatment strategy for neuroinflammation-related diseases.

Keywords: mast cells, LPS, microglia activation, neuroinflammation, migtation

## INTRODUCTION

Neuroinflammation has been recognized as the chief culprit in multiple neurodegenerative diseases. An increasing number of studies suggest that communications between microglia, immune cells, and neurons might promote the acceleration of neuroinflammation and the exacerbation of neurodegenerative disorders (Block and Hong, 2005). However, the association between microglia and immune cells still remains to be fully explored.

Emerging evidence indicates that prolonged inflammatory responses involving astrocytes and microglia promote neurodegenerative disease exacerbation (Block and Hong, 2005). Microglia are the resident immune cells in central nervous system (CNS), providing immune surveillance. Under physiological conditions, microglia exhibit a resting state associated with the secretion of neurotrophic and anti-inflammatory factors (Streit, 2002). In pathological situations, microglia switch to an activated phenotype that initiates an inflammatory response. In most cases, this response is temporary and has beneficial effects in eradicating injured CNS cells. However, prolonged and inappropriate activation of microglia can lead to brain injury and neuronal apoptosis (Dauer and Przedborski, 2003). Hence, modulation and inhibition of the over-activation of microglia may provide a novel therapeutic target to improve treatment of neurodegenerative diseases.

Mast cells, notorious for their role in allergic diseases, reside close to microglia and neurons in the CNS, mainly present in the leptomeninges, blood vessels, thalamus and hypothalamus (Florenzano and Bentivoglio, 2000; Khalil et al., 2007). Mast cells store numerous proinflammatory mediators, such as histamine and proteases, in secretory granules, and can secrete them upon activation (Schwartz, 1987; Serafin and Austen, 1987; Galli, 1993; Dvorak, 1997; Galli et al., 2005). Notably, as the "first responder" cells of the CNS, mast cells can store preformed TNF-a in the secretory granules (Zhang B. et al., 2012). They can induce the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines from activated microglia via signaling through the H1R, H4R and PAR2 receptors (Zhang S. et al., 2012; Dong et al., 2014). As mast cells participate in the opening of the blood-brain barriers (BBB) and in neuroinflammation, meningeal mast cells are able to recruit an early wave of neutrophils and T cells to the CNS, leading to further inflammatory cell influx and exaggerated neuroinflammation (Sayed et al., 2010; Zhang S. et al., 2016). Owing to this pivotal role of mast cells in the pathobiology of neuroinflammation, it is important to determine

the exact regulatory effects of activated mast cells on microglia in neuroinflammation.

We have previously reported that mast cell degranulation could directly induce microglia activation (Dong et al., 2017). However, whether mast cells affect LPS-induced microglia activation has not been reported. In the present study, we demonstrate that mast cell degranulation can aggravate LPSinduced neuroinflammation by evoking microglia activation. In addition, we also find that stabilization of mast cells can inhibit LPS-induced neuroinflammation and memory impairment.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Animals

Eighty-four adult male SD rats (each weighing about 250 g), 12 adult mast cell-deficient Kit<sup>W-sh/W-sh</sup> mice and 12 littermate controls were used in this experiment, which were obtained from the Mode Animal Research Center of Nanjing University. All animals were housed under conditions previously described (Dong et al., 2017): five per cage, 50–60% humidity, 22°C constant room temperature and free access to food and water. All experiments were carried out according to the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals of the National Institutes of Health (publication no. 85-23, revised 1985) and the Guidelines for the Care and Use of Animals in Neuroscience Research by the Society for Neuroscience. They were approved by IACUC (Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Nanjing Medical University, No: 14030126).

#### Reagents

Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) and fetal calf serum (FCS) were purchased from Gibco–BRL (Grand Island, NY, United States). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS, from Escherichia coli 0111:B4), disodium cromoglycate (cromolyn) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, United States). Fluorescenc mounting medium with DAPI and anti-mast cell Tryptase antibody were purchased from Abcam (HK, China). Rabbit anti-Iba1 antibody was purchased from Wako Chemicals USA, Inc. Rabbit anti-H<sub>1</sub>R and anti-H<sub>2</sub>R antibodies were purchased from Alomone Labs (Jerusalem, Israel). Rabbit anti-H<sub>3</sub>R antibody was purchased from Abcam (Hong Kong, China). And rabbit anti-H<sub>4</sub>R was purchased from Santa Cruz (CA, United States). Fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) – conjugated mouse anti-OX-42 antibody and isotype control, phycoerythrin (PE)-conjugated goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody were purchased from BD (BD Biosciences, United States). Cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , INF- $\gamma$ , RANTES, and IL-10) measured kit was purchased from MERCK Millipore Corporation (Billerica, MA, United States). Specific rabbit anti-p38, anti-Phospho-p38, anti-JNK, anti-Phospho-JNK, anti-ERK, anti-Phospho-ERK, anti-AKT, anti-Phospho-AKT, and anti-Phospho-NF- $\kappa$ B p65 antibodies, and goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody were obtained from Cell Signaling (Beverly, MA, United States).

#### In vivo Studies

#### Surgery and Drug Administration

Sixty rats were randomly assigned to five groups (groups A–E) with 12 rats in each group. This study was performed doubleblind. Rats in groups D–E were pretreated with site-directed injection of the mast cell stabilizer cromolyn (200  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l) into the hypothalamus, while rats in groups A–C were pretreated with 0.9% NaCl in the hypothalamus. After 30 min, rats in groups B to E were given intraperitoneal injection of LPS (1 mg/kg) while rats in groups A were injected with 0.9% NaCl intraperitoneally. Rats in groups B and D were sacrificed 30 min after LPS injection, while rats in groups A, C, and E were sacrificed 24 h after LPS injection.

Mast cells are plentiful in hypothalamus. Therefore mast cell stabilizer cromolyn was centrally site-injected into the ipsilateral hypothalamus to determine whether mast cells are involved in LPS-induced neuroinflammation. As described in our previous report (Dong et al., 2017), the rats were anaesthetized by 50 mg/kg of pentobarbital sodium given intraperitoneally, then placed in a stereotaxic apparatus (Stoelting Instruments, United States). Guide cannulas (Plastic One) were inserted into the right hypothalamus of rats at 1.80 mm lateral and 1.90 mm posterior from Bregma, with a depth of 8 mm and at a  $10^\circ$ angle. After implantation, the rats were given 14 days to recover, with daily handling to check on the guide cannula. For the experiments involved, 1 µl of 200 µg/µl cromolyn (200 µg) or 1 µl of 0.9% NaCl was injected directly into the ipsilateral hypothalamus through the implanted guide cannulas. These rats were kept in their cages for 30 min without other restraint. Then, the rats were injected intraperitoneally with either LPS or 0.9% NaCl (control group). After drug administration, the rats were sacrificed and their brains were collected for morphological (n = 6) and biochemical (n = 6) analyses.

To evaluate the effects of LPS on microglia activation in mast cell-deficient mice, 12 Kit<sup>W-sh/W-sh</sup> and 12 wild-type (WT) mice were each divided into two equal groups, of which one received intraperitoneal LPS (n = 6) and the other received 0.9% NaCl (n = 6).

#### Mast Cell Staining and Counting

Rats were anesthetized with chloral hydrate, then perfused with 0.9% NaCl followed by 4% cold paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) at pH 7.4. The brains were dissected out and maintained overnight in 4% paraformaldehyde, then cryopreserved in PBS containing 30% sucrose before being stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C until use. Free-floating sections encompassing the entire brain were prepared using a cryostat, then stained with 0.05% toluidine blue and counted as previously described

(Dong et al., 2017). Briefly, a 1% stock solution of toluidine blue in 70% ethanol was dissolved in 0.5% NaCl (pH 2.2–2.3). The slides were immersed in this staining solution for 30 min, then washed twice with distilled water and dehydrated using a series of increasing concentrations of ethanol, and finally immersed in butyl acetate ester. Cover slips were applied using Eukitt<sup>®</sup> mounting medium and the slides were allowed to dry overnight.

The entire surface area of the ipsilateral and contralateral thalamus was scanned manually using a light microscope at  $200 \times$  magnification. Mast cells were counted under double-blind conditions with the help of the Cell D software (Olympus) and expressed as the number of cells in the high power field. Mast cells were considered degranulated based on the following criteria: loss of purple staining, fuzzy appearance, distorted shape, or multiple granules visible near the cell.

#### Immunohistochemical and Immunofluorescence Analysis

Manual immunochemical and immunofluorescence analyses of brain sections were performed as previously described (Dong et al., 2017). Brain sections of rat and mice were obtained by the method described above. Then, rat brain sections were processed for immunohistochemistry, and mouse brain sections were processed for immunofluorescence.

For immunochemistry analyses, rat brain tissue section  $(30 \ \mu\text{m})$  were incubated for 1 h in 10% bovine serum albumin (BSA) with 0.3% Triton X-100 in 0.01 M phosphate-buffered saline, then overnight with primary antibodies at 4°C. The primary antibodies used in this experiment were rabbit anti-Iba1 (1:200) and mouse anti-tryptase (1:100). Tissue sections were washed and incubated in the following day with goat anti-mouse or anti-rabbit secondary antibodies for 1 h at room temperature. Immunostaining was visualized with 3, 3'- diaminobenzidine, after which sections were counterstained with hematoxylin. The slides were scanned using a Leika 2500 (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany) at 200 × magnification.

For immunofluorescence analysis, mouse brain sections were incubated overnight with rabbit anti-Iba1 monoclonal antibody (1:200) in blocking solution at 4°C. Tissue sections were washed three times with PBS, then incubated with PE-conjugated goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody (1:200) at 37°C for 1 h. Cell nuclei were stained with DAPI. Fluorescent images were acquired using a confocal microscope (Leica, Frankfurt, Germany). Counts of Iba-positive cells were determined with the help of the Cell D software (Olympus) and expressed as the number of cells in the high power field.

## **Behavioral Analysis**

#### Y Maze

The Y maze was previously described (Lu et al., 2015). To adapt to the environment, one rat was placed at the end of a randomlychosen arm and allowed to move for 3 min without stimulation. Then the test started, with foot stimulation given until the rat reached the illuminated arm (safe region). During each test, we used a randomized method to vary the orientation of the safe and stimulation regions. The test was considered correct (learned) if it reached the safe region within 10 s, and nine correct responses out of 10 consecutive foot stimulations (9/10 standard) were required to consider the rat as having reached the learning criterion. All rats reached the learning criterion in the present study. Learning ability was defined as the total number of stimulations needed to reach the criterion during training.

#### Trace Fear Conditioning (TFC)

Hippocampal-dependent memory in rats was assessed as previously described (Feng et al., 2013). Twenty-four rats were trained to associate an unconditional stimulus (foot shock) and a conditional stimulus (tone) with environment. The training model as followed: shock duration of 2 s, and shock intensity of 0.8 mA; a tone duration of 20 s, and sound level of 80 dB (Sun et al., 2015). Cromolyn was given immediately after the fear conditioning paradigm, and IP LPS injection was performed 30 min later. The training was comprised of an initial exploratory phase (100 s), followed by two trials with a 100 s interval. The trials included a 20 s auditory cue (80 dB, 5 kHz), followed by a 2 s foot shock (0.8 mA). Rats anticipate the shock by "freezing," which is defined as the absence of all movement except respiration; this defensive posture reflects learned fear. When placed in the same context on a subsequent occasion, the learned fear is recalled and the degree of learning and recall can be determined from the extent of freezing. Contextual memory of the learned fear was assessed 1 day after the LPS injection, and freezing behavior in the absence of the tone and shock was automatically scored by video tracking software (Xeye Fcs, Beijing MacroAmbition S&T Development Co., Ltd., Beijing, China) over the course of 300 s. Freezing scores for each subject were expressed as a percentage of the total testing time.

#### Flow Cytometry Analysis

Flow cytometry was employed to determine microglial activation in mice and receptor expression in rat microglia. As previously described (Dong et al., 2017), the dissociated cells from ipsilateral hypothalamus tissues were incubated with appropriate primary antibody overnight at 4°C, then incubated with 1 µg/ml of FITCconjugated goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody for 1 h at 37°C. FACSCalibur flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, United States) was used to analyze the cells. For analysis of rat ipsilateral hypothalamus tissues, the primary antibodies were rabbit anti-H<sub>1</sub>R, anti-H<sub>2</sub>R, anti-H<sub>3</sub>R, anti-H<sub>4</sub>R, anti-PAR2, and anti-TLR4, or normal rabbit IgG, while FITC-conjugated goat anti-rabbit was used as the secondary antibody with PE-conjugated mouse anti-OX-42 antibody or isotype control (1:200). For analysis of mouse tissues, the primary antibody was rabbit anti-Iba1 or normal rabbit IgG, and the secondary antibody was FITC-conjugated goat anti-rabbit.

## In vitro Studies

#### P815 Cell Culture

The P815, mast cells line derived from mouse tumor cells was kindly provided by Fu Ning, PhD, Department of Immunology, Southern Medical University. As previously described (Zhang X. et al., 2016), the cells were incubated with DMEM medium containing 10% FCS at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5%

#### Microglia-Enriched Cultures

Mice primary microglia were prepared as previously described with slight modifications (Dong et al., 2014). Briefly, brain tissues of postnatal (P1–P2) BABL/c mice were grinded; the resulting cells were cultured in poly-D-lysine precoated cell culture flasks with DMEM containing 10% fetal calf serum, 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 mg/ml streptomycin. Cultures were maintained at  $37^{\circ}$ C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>/95% air. After reaching a confluent monolayer of glial cells (10–14 days), microglia were separated from astrocytes by shaking for 5 h at 100 r.p.m., then replanted on 24-well culture plates at a density of  $10^5$  cells/cm<sup>2</sup>. The enriched microglia were > 98% pure as determined by expression of Iba1.

#### Co-culture of P815 Cells and Microglia

As previously described (Zhang X. et al., 2016), P815 cells ( $1 \times 10^6$  cells) were treated with cromolyn for 30 min, then cells were stimulated with LPS ( $1 \mu g/ml$ ) for 12, 24, 48, and 72 h. Primary microglia ( $1 \times 10^6$  cells) were treated with conditioned medium (CM) from P815 cells with or without LPS treatment for the given time periods. The conditioned cells were further incubated for 6, 12, and 24 h. In addition, we also stimulated microglia with cromolyn ( $10 \mu g/ml$ ), LPS ( $1 \mu g/ml$ ), or LPS and cromolyn together.

## **Cytokines Assay**

The expression of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 in rat ipsilateral and contralateral hypothalamus or ipsilateral and contralateral cerebral cortex tissue extracts were quantified with a commercial ELISA kit from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, United States). Histamine and mast cells tryptase contents in the supernatant of mast cells were tested with a detection ELISA kit from Fitzgerald (Birmingham, United Kingdom). The levels of selected cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , INF- $\gamma$ , RANTES, and IL-10) in the culture media were measured with a Milliplex kit (Merck & Millipore, United States) following the manufacturer's instructions. All samples were run in duplicate.

#### Western Blotting

Ipsilateral hypothalamus tissue extracts and primary microglia cells were collected and homogenized in lysis buffer. The cell lysate was used to assess protein expression by western blotting as previously described (Dong et al., 2017). The primary antibodies were: rabbit antibodies against JNK, phospho-JNK, p38, phosphop38, ERK, phospho-ERK, AKT, and phosphoAKT (1:1000). And the secondary antibody was goat-anti-rabbit (1:1000). Protein bands were detected with an enhanced chemiluminescence kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States).

## **Flow Cytometry Analysis**

Microglia were pelleted by centrifugation at 450 g for 10 min, then fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 30 min. After washing, the cells were re-suspended in PBS. Cells were incubated overnight at 4°C with rabbit anti-H<sub>1</sub>R, anti-H<sub>2</sub>R, anti-H<sub>3</sub>R, anti-H<sub>4</sub>R, anti-PAR2, and anti-TLR4 antibodies or normal rabbit IgG. Subsequently, they were incubated at 37°C for 1 h, followed by 1  $\mu$ g/ml of FITC-conjugated goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody or isotype control (1:200). Finally, the cells were resuspended in PBS. FACSCalibur flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, United States) was used to analyze the cells.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All values are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD. Significant differences (P < 0.05) between treatments and control were determined by one-way ANOVA followed by the *post hoc* least significant difference test.

#### RESULTS

### Cromolyn Alleviated LPS-Induced Mast Cell Activation and Memory Impairment

To evaluate whether brain mast cells are involved in LPSinduced neuroinflammation, we determined the activation of brain mast cells in the hypothalamus at 30 min or 24 h after LPS injection. Brain mast cells were quantified in tissue sections stained with toluidine blue (TB) and mast cell tryptase (**Figure 1A**). As shown in **Figure 1B**, intraperitoneal injection of 1 mg/kg LPS 30 min or 24 h induced a significant increase in the number of activated mast cells in both the ipsilateral and contralateral hypothalamus as compared with that in the control group. Treatment with mast cell stabilizer cromolyn (200 µg) repressed the mast cell activation induced by LPS IP injection.

Rats were pretreatment of cromolyn (200  $\mu$ g) 30 min before LPS administration to determine the effect of mast cells on LPS-induced memory impairment. Contextual assessment and Y-maze test were used to assess rats' cognitive function after LPS treatment for 1 day. As shown in **Figure 1C**, the rats exposed to LPS alone exhibited a significant reduction in cognitive function compared to those given only saline. Pre-treatment with cromolyn significantly promoted freezing behavior and the number of learning trials, suggesting cromolyn alleviates LPSinduced memory dysfunction. Together, these results indicate that mast cells play a role in memory impairment induced by LPS and cromolyn can limit the adverse cognitive outcomes caused by endotoxemia.

### Stabilization of Mast Cell Inhibited LPS-Induced Microglia Activation in Hypothalamus

The effects of brain mast cells on LPS-induced microglia activation were determined through immunostaining for Iba1, a marker for microglia. IP injection of LPS induced a large number of microglia activation in both ipsilateral and contralateral hypothalamus. The cell morphology changes of activated microglia are processes retraction and cell body enlarged. And activated microglia were showed by notable Iba1-IR positive. Pretreatment of Cromolyn (200  $\mu$ g)

significantly suppressed LPS-induced activation of microglia in both ipsilateral and contralateral hypothalamus (**Figure 2A**). Quantification of Iba1 positive cells in the hypothalamus was shown in **Figure 2B**. However, the effect of Cromolyn is partial inhibition, but not completely reverse. These results indicate that stabilizing mast cells partial suppress LPS-induced activation of hypothalamus microglia.

The mast cell-deficient Kit<sup>W-sh/W-sh</sup> mice were used to further confirm the role of mast cells in LPS induced microglia activation. As shown in **Figures 2C,D**, IP injection of LPS into WT mice induced significant microglia activation in the hypothalamus 24 h later, but had less effect in the Kit<sup>W-sh/W-sh</sup> mice. Further characterization by flow cytometry (**Figure 2E**) demonstrated that WT mice stimulated with LPS expressed Iba-1 at levels three times higher than the corresponding saline group. However, mast cell-deficient Kit<sup>W-sh/W-sh</sup> mice treated with LPS had only two times greater Iba-1 expression than their control group, indicating indicating that mast cells contribute to LPS-induced activation of microglia.

#### Stabilization of Mast Cell Inhibited LPS-Induced Proinflammatory Factors Production and MAPK Activation in Hypothalamus

Excessive proinflammatory cytokines released from activated microglia is involved in microglia-mediated neuroinflammation. The proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and TNF-α were detected in present study. We found that IP injection of LPS (1 mg/kg) significantly promoted TNF-a release in ipsilateral and contralateral hypothalamus. IP injection of LPS also upregulated IL-6 and TNF-α content in ipsilateral cerebral cortex and contralateral cerebral cortex. Cromolyn (200 µg) was able to alleviate TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 levels in the ipsilateral and contralateral hypothalamus induced by LPS injection of 30 min or 24 h (Figures 3A,B). Site-directed injection of cromolyn in the hypothalamus also inhibited the production of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 in cerebral cortex at 24 h after LPS injection, but it is not statistically significant on IL-6 and TNF-a levels in cerebral cortex induced by LPS injection of 30 min. These results indicated that stabilizing mast cells prevents LPS-induced proinflammatory cytokines release.

Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) and NF- $\kappa$ B are the predominant signaling transduction pathways responsible for the synthesis and production of proinflammatory mediators in LPSinduced neuroinflammation and microglia activation (Akundi et al., 2005; Ciallella et al., 2005). Phosphorylation of AKT is a downstream target of PI3K activation and therefore is a proxy for activation of the PI3K pathway (Desai and Thurmond, 2011). We investigated whether cromolyn could affect LPS-induced phosphorylation of MAPK and AKT. As shown in **Figure 3C**, IP injection of LPS for 30 min or 24 h induced MAPK, AKT, and NF- $\kappa$ B p65 phosphorylation. Cromolyn (200 µg) was given 30 min before LPS treatment partially inhibited LPS-induced MAPK, AKT, and NF- $\kappa$ B p65 phosphorylation. These results indicate that stabilization of mast cells suppress LPS-induced MAPK, AKT, and NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathway activation.



group.  $^+P < 0.05$  vs. LPS 30 min group,  $^{\#P} < 0.01$  vs. LPS 24 h group. (C) Context fear response, as measured by freezing behavior, was determined in the rats. The Y-maze test was performed after TFC in the rats.  $^{**}P < 0.01$  vs. Control group.  $^{\#P} < 0.01$  vs. LPS 24 h group. The data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 6).

# LPS Changed Receptor Expression in Hypothalamus Microglia

Degranulated mast cells can release tryptase and histamine, which induced microglial activation and inflammatory cytokines release (Zhang S. et al., 2012; Dong et al., 2014). Flow cytometry analysis was used to explore whether LPS-induced activated mast cells can change some receptor proteins expression in microglia. As shown in the **Figure 4**, the expressions of H<sub>1</sub>R, H<sub>4</sub>R, PAR2, and TLR4 were upregulation, but H<sub>2</sub>R and H<sub>3</sub>R expressions were deregulation in the ipsilateral hypothalamus microglia after IP injection of LPS for 24 h. Pretreatment of cromolyn (200  $\mu$ g) 30 min before LPS administration inhibited



LPS-induced TLR4 upregulation. However, cromolyn only had a tendency to inhibit the effect of LPS on other receptor protein expression in microglia, but it has no statistical significance. These results indicate that LPS-induced mast cells activation change some receptor expression in hypothalamus microglia, and mast cell stabilizer cromolyn had a tendency to inhibit the effect of LPS.

## Cromolyn Inhibited LPS-Induced P815 Cells Degranulation

To observe the mast cells activation and the effect of LPS on mediator release, we quantified the expression levels of histamine and mast cell tryptase in the supernatant after stimulation with LPS based on previously described method (Zhang X. et al., 2016). As shown in **Figures 5A,B**, LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml) stimulation of P815 cells for 12, 24, and 48 h all increased the level of histamine and tryptase, indicating that degranulation was induced. We also

quantified the secretion of a number of cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IFN- $\gamma$ , RANTES, IL-1 $\beta$ , GM-CSF, and IL-10). In contrast to histamine and mast cell tryptase released, stimulation of P815 with LPS for 48 h had no effect on the levels of secreted cytokines (**Figures 5C–I**). Treatment with cromolyn (10 µg/ml) alone did not induce histamine and tryptase release from P815, but did inhibit the LPS-induced histamine and tryptase release from P815 cells (**Figures 5J,K**). These results indicate that LPS treatment (12–48 h) can induce P815 cells degranulation, and this process is inhibited by the mast cell stabilizer cromolyn.

## Cromolyn Inhibited Activated P815 Cell-Induced Pro-inflammatory Cytokines Production From Microglia

Conditioned medium (CM) from P815 cells given different treatment was used to explore the effects of activated mast cells on the activation of primary microglia. Microglia were



incubated with CM for an additional 6, 12, and 24 h. Cytokine levels (TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IFN- $\gamma$ , RANTES, IL-1 $\beta$ , GM-CSF, and IL-10) in the supernatant were quantified to estimate the levels of microglia activation. Compared with control group, CM from P815 cells treated with LPS (1 µg/ml) evoked inflammation-related cytokines TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, RANTES, IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-10 production from microglia (**Figure 6A**).

However, residual LPS in the CM will continue to stimulate microglia; therefore, we cannot conclusively determine the effect

of this CM on microglia activation. To address this issue, cytokines levels in the supernatant of microglia stimulated by LPS alone and in the supernatant of microglia stimulated by CM from P815 cells with LPS were compared. As shown in the **Figure 6B**, the levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$ , RANTES, and IL-1 $\beta$  were significantly upregulated for microglia stimulated by CM from LPS-induced P815 (48 h) than that stimulated by LPS alone at longer timepoints (24 h). This process was inhibited by treatment with the mast cell stabilizer cromolyn (10 µg/ml). We



also found that the level of GM-CSF released from microglia was significantly inhibited by CM from P815 with LPS as compared with that by LPS alone, which effect was partially reversed by cromolyn. However, there was no significant difference observed in between the level of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 in microglia stimulated by CM from P815 with LPS and that stimulated by LPS alone. We also found that cromolyn alone had no effect on cytokine production from microglia with or without LPS. Therefore, the inhibitory effect of cromolyn on microglia activation relies on reducing mast cell activation.



### MAPK Signaling Pathways Were Involved in the Mast Cells-Induced Microglia Activation

A previous *in vivo* study identified the MAPK and AKT signaling pathways as important in mast cells-induced microglia

activation; we therefore validated the involvement of these signaling pathways *in vitro*. Treatment of microglia with CM from LPS-stimulated P815 cells resulted in sharp upregulation of phosphorylation of AKT and P38, this result was ameliorated by pretreatment with cromolyn (10  $\mu$ g/ml) (**Figures 7A,B**).



 $^{\#}P < 0.05$  vs. LPS group.  $^{\&}P < 0.05$  vs. CM from P815 with LPS (48 h) group. The data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 4).

These changes were consistent with *in vivo* study, and support that MAPK signaling may be involved in the activation of microglia by mast cells.

## Cromolyn Inhibited Activated P815 Cell-Induced H<sub>1</sub>R, H<sub>4</sub>R, and TLR4 Increase in Microglia

*In vivo*, we found that LPS induced receptor protein expression change in microglia of the hypothalamus. Mast cell stabilizer cromolyn, however, can inhibit the effect of LPS. To further support this, the effect of LPS on receptor protein expression change in microglia was examined *in vitro* by flow cytometry.

P815 cells were stimulated by treatment with LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml) for 24 h. As shown in **Figure 8**, this stimulation downregulated H<sub>2</sub>R and H<sub>3</sub>R, and upregulated TLR4 in microglia. Treatment with cromolyn (10  $\mu$ g/ml) alone did not affect receptor protein expression in microglia with or without the stimulation of LPS, but did inhibit the increased expression of H<sub>1</sub>R, H<sub>4</sub>R, and TLR4

in microglia stimulated by CM from P815 with LPS (48 h) These results suggest that LPS-induced P815 cell activation can stimulate  $H_1R$ ,  $H_4R$ , and TLR4 upregulation in microglia and that inhibitory effect of cromolyn acts only through mast cells.

## DISCUSSION

One of the most important revelations in neuroscience research is the realization of communication between the immune system and CNS. Proinflammatory cytokines released by microglia (the brain's resident macrophages), play a key role in this communication, and also have fundamental roles in neurodegenerative diseases. Microglia also responds to mediators released from other immune cells, such as mast cells (Zhang S. et al., 2012; Dong et al., 2014). We have previously found that histamine, tryptase and mast cell degranulation can all induce microglia activation. However, the role of mast cells in LPS-induced microglia activation, neuroinflammation and



cognitive impairment has not been clarified. In this paper, we report that the stabilization of mast cells inhibits LPS-induced microglia activation and neuroinflammation and also alleviates LPS-induced cognitive dysfunction.

Neuroinflammation is an underlying pathological component in a wide range of neurodegenerative diseases, such as Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease and multiple sclerosis (Skaper et al., 2017). In treating neuroinflammation, considerable efforts has been directed to restraining the inflammatory cascade of peripheral phagocyte and neutrophil infiltration and glia activation; less focus has been placed on the ability of resident brain cells, such as mast cells, to initiate an immediate host response in the meninges and cerebral parenchyma (Silver and Curley, 2013).

Microglia are regarded as the tissue-specific macrophages of the brain. Microgliosis is an important element of brain's response to inflammation, which has an increased number of microglia (Ransohoff, 2007). In previous studies, we found that mast cell tryptase and histamine can stimulate microglia activation through the PAR2,  $H_1R$ , and  $H_4R$  (Zhang S. et al., 2012; Dong et al., 2014), and that mast cell degranulation induced by compound 48/80 can promote microglia activation (Dong et al., 2017). Thus, we hypothesized that mast cells may play a key role in neuroinflammation. In the present study, we found that IP injection of LPS for 30 min or 24 h induced activation of mast cells and microglia in both the ipsilateral and contralateral hypothalamus. Coincident with the change in microglia activation in the hypothalamus, we also observed an increase in the proinflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 contents of the hypothalamus and cortex, which may have been released from activated microglia. Levels of these cytokines were higher in the cortex, suggesting that LPS induces more production of proinflammatory cytokines in the cortex than in the hypothalamus.

Mast cells are found on the brain side of the BBB. They lie in close proximity to the basal side of blood vessel walls (Khalil et al., 2007), and they act not only as first responders in harmful situations but also as environmental "sensors" to communicate with glia, the extracellular matrix, and even neurons (Lindsberg et al., 2010). Activated brain mast cells can promote BBB breakdown and neutrophil infiltration, resulting in neuroinflammation that contributes to postoperative cognitive dysfunction. Therefore, inhibition of mast cell activation should be neuroprotective. In the present study, inhibiting mast cell degranulation by the mast cell stabilizer cromolyn limited microglia activation and release of TNF-a and IL-6, and alleviated LPS-induced cognitive impairment. Specifically, sitedirected injection of cromolyn into the hypothalamus inhibited the production of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 induced by LPS in both hypothalamus and cerebral cortex. However, the inhibitory effect on cortex cytokine production occurred only at 24 h after LPS injection; no significant effect was observed at 30 min after injection. This may be because the number of mast cells in the cerebral cortex is much less than that in the hypothalamus, so the effects of cromolyn are slowed in the cortex.

The mast cell deficient Kit<sup>W-sh/W-sh</sup> mice were used to further demonstrate the role of mast cells in LPS-induced neuroinflammation. We found that LPS IP injection induced significantly microglia activation in WT mice, while LPS had less effect on microglia in Kit<sup>W-sh/W-sh</sup> mice, indicating that activated mast cells, as "first responders," can evoke, expand and prolong immune responses (Silver and Curley, 2013).

The factors from brain mast cells that responsible for the over activation of microglia have not been illuminated to date. Mast cells are characterized by a rapid release a large number of chemokines via degranulation (Feuser et al., 2012). Mast cell secretory mediators released in the CNS change the functions of T cell (Jutel et al., 2001), vascular elements (Esposito et al., 2002), and neuron (Koszegi et al., 2006). These cytokines further induce microglia activation (Chakraborty et al., 2010; Skuljec et al., 2011). We have found *in vitro* that tryptase released from mast cells induced microglia activation through PAR2-MAPK-NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathways (Zhang S. et al., 2012), and histamine induced microglia activation via the H<sub>1</sub>R and H<sub>4</sub>R-MAPK and PI3K/AKT- NF- $\kappa$ B signaling


pathways (Dong et al., 2014). In vivo, we found that sitedirected injection of the mast cell degranulator Compound 48/80 in the hypothalamus induced microglia activation and increased microglial expression of H1R, H4R, PAR2, and TLR4 (Dong et al., 2017). Here, we demonstrate that IP injection of LPS also significantly increased the expression of H1R, H4R, PAR2, and TLR4 in microglia after 24 h. After LPS-induced degranulation of mast cell, the released mediators combine with these receptors on microglia to induce microglial activation, followed by activation of the MAPK and AKT-NF-KB signaling pathways. These contribute to exacerbate neuroinflammation-related disease (Skaper et al., 2014). Notably, pretreatment with cromolyn (200  $\mu$ g) 30 min before LPS administration inhibited LPS-induced TLR4 upregulation. Cromolyn treatment also tended to inhibit the effects of LPS on microglial expression of other receptor proteins, but the results were not statistically significance due to high SD values. Nonetheless, we cannot completely deny the inhibitory effect of cromolyn on LPS-induced receptor protein expression.

In vitro, we found that 1  $\mu$ g/ml LPS stimulated P815 mast cells to release histamine and tryptase, but had no effect on mast cell production of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IFN- $\gamma$ , RANTES, IL-1 $\beta$ , GM-CSF, or IL-10. This suggests that TNF- $\alpha$  is not actually released from mast cells, and therefore mast cells have no role in LPS-induced inflammation mediated by TNF- $\alpha$ . Furthermore, the mast cell stabilizer cromolyn inhibits LPS-induced mast cell degranulation.

We also found that in the absence of mast cells, cromolyn had no effect on the production of cytokines by microglia, with or without LPS stimulation. In contrast, the conditioned media (CM) from LPS-induced P815 mast cells could induce microglia to release TNF-a, IL-6, RANTES, IL-1B, and IL-10. Notably, LPS remains present in the conditioned media in at least trace amounts, and can activate microglia directly. However, TNF- $\alpha$ , RANTES, and IL-1 $\beta$  levels 48 h after stimulation by CM from LPS-induced P815 cells were higher than in microglia stimulated by LPS alone (24 h). Furthermore, CM stimulation of microglia was inhibited by if the mast cells were also treated with the mast cell stabilizer cromolyn (10  $\mu$ g/ml). We also found that the release of GM-CSF from microglia was significantly inhibited by CM from LPS-induced P815 cells comparing to that induced by direct LPS, and this release was partially inhibited by cromolyn. Histamine and tryptase released from LPS-induced P815 cells may have a role in inhibiting GM-CSF release from microglia; further research is needed to confirm this effect.

While most cytokines released by microglia activated by LPS are pro-inflammatory, LPS also induces release of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10. Notably, we observed no significant difference in IL-10 levels in microglia stimulated by CM from LPS-induced P815 compared to those stimulated by LPS alone, suggesting that IL-10 release was solely induced by LPS. This implies that activated mast cells can only provoke the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines from microglia. These findings are also consistent with our previous report that released products of activated P815 cells changed microglial phenotypes toward M1/2b (Zhang X. et al., 2016). Therefore, mast cells may have a role in modulating the timing of cytokine release by microglia, thereby prolonging the inflammatory response.

In summary, the present study demonstrates that LPS can induce mast cell degranulation, which stimulates the production of inflammatory factors by activated microglia, and this process can be inhibited by the "mast cell stabilizer" cromolyn. These results imply that mast cell degranulation can aggravate LPS-induced neuroinflammation by evoking microglia activation, and the stabilization of mast cells can inhibit LPS-induced neuroinflammation and memory impairment. Investigating the role of mast cell activation in neuroinflammation is an important emerging research topic that needs to be explored in order to understand and effectively treat neuroinflammation-related diseases.

### DATA AVAILABILITY

All datasets generated for this study are included in the manuscript and/or the supplementary files.

## REFERENCES

- Akundi, R. S., Candelario-Jalil, E., Hess, S., Hull, M., Lieb, K., Gebicke-Haerter, P. J., et al. (2005). Signal transduction pathways regulating cyclooxygenase-2 in lipopolysaccharide-activated primary rat microglia. *Glia* 51, 199–208. doi: 10.1002/glia.20198
- Block, M. L., and Hong, J. S. (2005). Microglial and inflammation-mediated neurodegeneration: multiple triggers with a common mechanism. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 76, 77–98. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2005.06.004
- Chakraborty, S., Kaushik, D. K., Gupta, M., and Basu, A. (2010). Inflammasome signaling at the heart of central nervous system pathology. J. Neurosci. Res. 88, 1615–1631. doi: 10.1002/jnr.22343
- Ciallella, J. R., Saporito, M., Lund, S., Leist, M., Hasseldam, H., McGann, N., et al. (2005). CEP-11004, an inhibitor of the SAPK/JNK pathway, reduces TNF-alpha release from lipopolysaccharide-treated cells and mice. *Eur. J. Pharmacol* 515, 179–187. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2005.04.016
- Dauer, W., and Przedborski, S. (2003). Parkinson's disease: mechanisms and models. *Neuron* 39, 889–909.
- Desai, P., and Thurmond, R. L. (2011). Histamine H(4) receptor activation enhances LPS-induced IL-6 production in mast cells via ERK and PI3K activation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 41, 1764–1773. doi: 10.1002/eji.201040932
- Dong, H., Zhang, W., Zeng, X., Hu, G., Zhang, H., He, S., et al. (2014). Histamine induces upregulated expression of histamine receptors and increases release of inflammatory mediators from microglia. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 49, 1487–1500. doi: 10.1007/s12035-014-8697-6
- Dong, H., Zhang, X., Wang, Y., Zhou, X., Qian, Y., and Zhang, S. (2017). Suppression of brain mast cells degranulation inhibits microglial activation and central nervous system inflammation. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 54, 997–1007. doi: 10.1007/s12035-016-9720-x
- Dvorak, A. M. (1997). New aspects of mast cell biology. *Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol.* 114, 1–9. doi: 10.1159/000237635
- Esposito, P., Chandler, N., Kandere, K., Basu, S., Jacobson, S., Connolly, R., et al. (2002). Corticotropin-releasing hormone and brain mast cells regulate bloodbrain-barrier permeability induced by acute stress. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 303, 1061–1066. doi: 10.1124/jpet.102.038497

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SZ and HDi conceived and designed the study. HDo, XianZ, XiaoZ, and YW developed the methodology. HDo, YW, and XiaoZ acquired the data. SZ, HDo, and YQ analyzed and interpreted the data. HDo, SZ, and YW wrote, reviewed, and/or revised the manuscript. SZ supervised the study.

## FUNDING

This project was sponsored by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Nos. 81102422, 81373398, and 81701375), Jiangsu Province's Key Provincial Talents Program (No. ZDRCA2016001), the Natural Science Foundation of Jiangsu Province (No. BK20171088), but they had no role in the design of the study collection, analysis, or interpretation of the data; or writing of the manuscript.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the Core Facility of Jiangsu Provincial People's Hospital for its help in the detection of experimental samples.

- Feng, X., Degos, V., Koch, L. G., Britton, S. L., Zhu, Y., Vacas, S., et al. (2013). Surgery results in exaggerated and persistent cognitive decline in a rat model of the Metabolic Syndrome. *Anesthesiology* 118, 1098–1105. doi: 10.1097/ALN. 0b013e318286d0c9
- Feuser, K., Thon, K. P., Bischoff, S. C., and Lorentz, A. (2012). Human intestinal mast cells are a potent source of multiple chemokines. *Cytokine* 58, 178–185. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2012.01.001
- Florenzano, F., and Bentivoglio, M. (2000). Degranulation, density, and distribution of mast cells in the rat thalamus: a light and electron microscopic study in basal conditions and after intracerebroventricular administration of nerve growth factor. J. Comp. Neurol. 424, 651–669. doi: 10.1002/1096-9861(20000904)424%3A4%3C651%3A%3Aaid-cne7%3E3.0.co%3B2-g
- Galli, S. J. (1993). New concepts about the mast cell. N. Engl. J. Med. 328, 257–265. doi: 10.1056/nejm199301283280408
- Galli, S. J., Kalesnikoff, J., Grimbaldeston, M. A., Piliponsky, A. M., Williams, C. M., and Tsai, M. (2005). Mast cells as "tunable" effector and immunoregulatory cells: recent advances. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 23, 749–786. doi: 10.1146/annurev. immunol.21.120601.141025
- Jutel, M., Watanabe, T., Klunker, S., Akdis, M., Thomet, O. A., Malolepszy, J., et al. (2001). Histamine regulates T-cell and antibody responses by differential expression of H1 and H2 receptors. *Nature* 413, 420–425. doi: 10.1038/ 35096564
- Khalil, M., Ronda, J., Weintraub, M., Jain, K., Silver, R., and Silverman, A. J. (2007). Brain mast cell relationship to neurovasculature during development. *Brain Res.* 1171, 18–29. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2007.07.034
- Koszegi, Z., Kovacs, P., Wilhelm, M., Atlasz, T., Babai, N., Kallai, V., et al. (2006). The application of in vivo microiontophoresis for the investigation of mast cellneuron interactions in the rat brain. *J. Biochem. Biophys. Methods* 69, 227–231. doi: 10.1016/j.jbbm.2006.03.009
- Lindsberg, P. J., Strbian, D., and Karjalainen-Lindsberg, M. L. (2010). Mast cells as early responders in the regulation of acute blood-brain barrier changes after cerebral ischemia and hemorrhage. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 30, 689–702. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2009.282
- Lu, S. M., Yu, C. J., Liu, Y. H., Dong, H. Q., Zhang, X., Zhang, S. S., et al. (2015). S100A8 contributes to postoperative cognitive dysfunction in mice undergoing

tibial fracture surgery by activating the TLR4/MyD88 pathway. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 44, 221–234. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.10.011

- Ransohoff, R. M. (2007). Microgliosis: the questions shape the answers. Nat. Neurosci. 10, 1507–1509. doi: 10.1038/nn1207-1507
- Sayed, B. A., Christy, A. L., Walker, M. E., and Brown, M. A. (2010). Meningeal mast cells affect early T cell central nervous system infiltration and blood-brain barrier integrity through TNF: a role for neutrophil recruitment? *J. Immunol.* 184, 6891–6900. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.100 0126
- Schwartz, L. B. (1987). Mediators of human mast cells and human mast cell subsets. *Ann. Allergy.* 58, 226–235.
- Serafin, W. E., and Austen, K. F. (1987). Mediators of immediate hypersensitivity reactions. N. Engl. J. Med. 317, 30–34.
- Silver, R., and Curley, J. P. (2013). Mast cells on the mind: new insights and opportunities. *Trends Neurosci.* 36, 513–521. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.06.001
- Skaper, S. D., Facci, L., and Giusti, P. (2014). Mast cells, glia and neuroinflammation: partners in crime? *Immunology* 141, 314–327. doi: 10.1111/imm.12170
- Skaper, S. D., Facci, L., Zusso, M., and Giusti, P. (2017). Neuroinflammation, mast cells, and glia: dangerous liaisons. *Neuroscientist* 23, 478–498. doi: 10.1177/ 1073858416687249
- Skuljec, J., Sun, H., Pul, R., Benardais, K., Ragancokova, D., Moharregh-Khiabani, D., et al. (2011). CCL5 induces a pro-inflammatory profile in microglia in vitro. *Cell Immunol.* 270, 164–171. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2011. 05.001
- Streit, W. J. (2002). Microglia as neuroprotective, immunocompetent cells of the CNS. Glia 40, 133–139. doi: 10.1002/glia.10154
- Sun, J., Zhang, S., Zhang, X., Zhang, X., and Dong, H. Y. (2015). Qian. IL-17A is implicated in lipopolysaccharide-induced neuroinflammation and cognitive

impairment in aged rats via microglial activation. J. Neuroinflammation 12:165. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0394-5

- Zhang, B., Weng, Z., Sismanopoulos, N., Asadi, S., Therianou, A., Alysandratos, K. D., et al. (2012). Mitochondria distinguish granule-stored from de novo synthesized tumor necrosis factor secretion in human mast cells. *Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol.* 159, 23–32. doi: 10.1159/000335178
- Zhang, S., Dong, H., Zhang, X., Li, N., Sun, J., and Qian, Y. (2016). Cerebral mast cells contribute to postoperative cognitive dysfunction by promoting blood brain barrier disruption. *Behav. Brain Res.* 298(Pt B), 158–166. doi: 10.1016/j. bbr.2015.11.003
- Zhang, S., Zeng, X., Yang, H., Hu, G., and He, S. (2012). Mast cell tryptase induces microglia activation via protease-activated receptor 2 signaling. *Cell Physiol. Biochem.* 29, 931–940. doi: 10.1159/000171029
- Zhang, X., Dong, H., Li, N., Zhang, S., Sun, J., Zhang, S., et al. (2016). Activated brain mast cells contribute to postoperative cognitive dysfunction by evoking microglia activation and neuronal apoptosis. *J. Neuroinflammation* 13:127. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0592-9

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Dong, Wang, Zhang, Zhang, Qian, Ding and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Brain Histamine Modulates the Antidepressant-Like Effect of the 3-lodothyroacetic Acid (TA1)

Annunziatina Laurino<sup>1†</sup>, Elisa Landucci<sup>2</sup>, Lorenzo Cinci<sup>1</sup>, Manuela Gencarelli<sup>1</sup>, Gaetano De Siena<sup>2</sup>, Lorenza Bellusci<sup>3</sup>, Grazia Chiellini<sup>3</sup> and Laura Raimondi<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Departments of Neurology, Psychology, Drug Sciences and Child Health, Section of Pharmacology, University of Florence, Florence, Italy, <sup>2</sup> Department of Health Sciences, Section of Pharmacology, University of Florence, Italy, <sup>3</sup> Department of Pathology, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Rashid Giniatullin, University of Eastern Finland, Finland

Reviewed by:

Rodrigo Bainy Leal, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Brazil Andrzej Pilc, Institute of Pharmacology of the Polish Academy of Sciences, Poland

> \*Correspondence: Laura Raimondi laura.raimondi@unifi.it

#### <sup>†</sup>Present address:

Annunziatina Laurino, European Laboratory for Non-Linear Spectroscopy (LENS), University of Florence, Florence, Italy

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Neurophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience

> Received: 19 February 2019 Accepted: 12 April 2019 Published: 08 May 2019

#### Citation:

Laurino A, Landucci E, Cinci L, Gencarelli M, De Siena G, Bellusci L, Chiellini G and Raimondi L (2019) Brain Histamine Modulates the Antidepressant-Like Effect of the 3-lodothyroacetic Acid (TA1). Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:176. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00176 3-iodothyroacetic acid (TA1), an end metabolite of thyroid hormone, has been shown to produce behavioral effects in mice that are dependent on brain histamine. We now aim to verify whether pharmacologically administered TA1 has brain bioavailability and is able to induce histamine-dependent antidepressant-like behaviors. TA1 brain, liver and plasma levels were measured by LC/MS-MS in male CD1 mice, sacrificed 15 min after receiving a high TA1 dose (330  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup>). The hypothalamic mTOR/AKT/GSK- $\beta$  cascade activation was evaluated in mice treated with 0.4, 1.32, 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 by Western-blot. Mast cells were visualized by immuno-histochemistry in brain slices obtained from mice treated with 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1. Histamine release triggered by TA1 (20–1000 nM) was also evaluated in mouse peritoneal mast cells. After receiving TA1 (1.32, 4 or 11 µgkg<sup>-1</sup>; i.p.) CD1 male mice were subjected to the forced swim (FST) and the tail suspension tests (TST). Spontaneous locomotor and exploratory activities, motor incoordination, and anxiolytic or anxiogenic effects, were evaluated. Parallel behavioral tests were also carried out in mice that, prior to receiving TA1, were pre-treated with pyrilamine (10 mgkg<sup>-1;</sup> PYR) or zolantidine (5 mgkg<sup>-1</sup>; ZOL), histamine type 1 and type 2 receptor antagonists, respectively, or with p-chloro-phenylalanine (100 mgkg<sup>-1</sup>; PCPA), an inhibitor of serotonin synthesis. TA1 given i.p. to mice rapidly distributes in the brain, activates the hypothalamic mTOR/AKT and GSK-3ß cascade and triggers mast cells degranulation. Furthermore, TA1 induces antidepressant effects and stimulates locomotion with a mechanism that appears to depend on the histaminergic system. TA1 antidepressant effect depends on brain histamine, thus highlighting a relationship between the immune system, brain inflammation and the thyroid.

Keywords: 3-iodothyroacetic acid, thyroid hormone, histamine, mast cells, antidepressant effect

**Abbreviations:** BBB, blood brain barrier; FST, forced swim test; H1R, type 1 histamine receptor; H2R, type 2 histamine receptor; PCPA, p-chloro-phenylalanine; PYR, pyrilamine; T1AM, 3-iodothyronamine; TA1, 3-iodothyroacetic acid; TST, tail suspension test; ZOL, zolantidine.

# INTRODUCTION

Recent evidence indicates that thyroid hormone metabolism may generate compounds endowed of behavioral and metabolic effects.

The TA1 is the last iodinated thyroacetic acid produced by sequential metabolism of thyroid hormone carried out by deiodinases and amine oxidases activities. While little is still known about the TA1 tissue levels and their physiological significance, the pharmacological effects of TA1 have been extensively studied. In this respect, we have described that the systemic administration of low TA1 doses (µgkg<sup>-1</sup>) induced central and peripheral effects. The central effects that were reported include the activation of neuronal signaling, such as the pro-survival PI3K/AKT cascade (Laurino et al., 2018b), the stimulation of memory and reversion of scopolamine-induced amnesia (Musilli et al., 2014; Laurino et al., 2015a), the stimulation of wakefulness in mice prone to sleep for a high acute dose of ethanol (Laurino et al., 2018a). In addition, recent data indicate that TA1 may behave as a potent anticonvulsant and neuroprotective agent against excitotoxicity (Laurino et al., 2018b). Among peripheral effects, TA1 has been reported to induce itching, along with a reduction of noxious and painful sensitivity (Laurino et al., 2015b). Common determinants of TA1 central and peripheral effects are their rapid onset (within 15 min of administration), the fact that they were described by typical inverted U-shaped dose-effect curves, and their dependence on the activation of the histaminergic system. Such behavioral effects indicate that TA1 may cross the BBB and that histamine might derive from a site where it is "ready to be released." However, direct evidence of brain distribution, as well as the source of histamine involvement in TA1 behavioral effects remain elusive.

In the brain, histamine is present in the histaminergic neurons, that are localized in the hypothalamus from where they project to most of the brain areas, but also in non-neuronal cells including mast cells, that are multifunctional bone marrow-derived tissue-dwelling cells and are considered one of the major sources of histamine in body tissues, including the brain. Mast cells are mainly localized along the blood vessels on the brain side of the BBB (Skaper and Fusco, 2014) and are considered crucial mediators of glial cells-neurons communication, whose main signaling pathway is represented by the activation of the PI3K/AKT cascade (Dong et al., 2017). At the BBB, mast cells represent the first-line of defense against brain invasion by xenobiotics, quickly releasing pre-stored and newly synthesized mediators, including histamine, serotonin and other pro-inflammatory signals (Theoharides and Cochrane, 2004). Despite the low number of mast cells in the healthy brain, it is estimated they can store up to 50% of the brain histamine (Yamatodani et al., 1982). Potentially, mast cells may be a target for TA1. Indeed, recent evidence indicates that histamine, irrespective of its derivation (neuronal and not neuronal), is implicated in the regulation of feeding and sleepawake cycle (Lin et al., 1986), as well as in the stimulation of locomotion and emotional behaviors, including modulation of anxiety and depression (Lamberti et al., 1998; Wada et al., 1991; Chikahisa et al., 2013).

The aim of the present work is to investigate whether TA1: (i) has brain bioavailability after systemic administration, (ii) can trigger histamine release from mast cells and (iii) is endowed of histamine-dependent antidepressant-like effects in rodents.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Animals

Male CD1 mice (weight: 20-30 g) purchased from ENVIGO (Italy) were used in the present study. Five mice were housed per cage. Cages were placed in the experimental room 24 h prior to testing to ensure adaptation. Animals were housed at  $23 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C under a 12 h light-dark cycle (lights on at 07:00) and were fed a standard laboratory diet with ad libitum access to water. Experiments and animal use procedures were in accordance with the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (NIH Publications No. 80-23, revised 1996). The experimental protocols were approved by the ethical Committee of the Italian Council of Health, in compliance with the European Convention for the Protection of Vertebrate Animals used for Experimental and Other Scientific Purposes (ETS no. 123) and the European Communities Council Directive of 24 November 1986 (86/609/EEC). The authors further attest that all efforts were made to minimize the number of animals used and their suffering.

For this study we received the permission from the Ethical Committee for animal health 176/2017-PR) from the Italian Ministry of Health.

Male CD1 mice (20–30 g) from ENVIGO (Italy) were used. The animals were kept at  $22 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C with a 12 h light–dark cycle (light on at 07:00 h) and were fed a standard laboratory diet with water *ad libitum*. Five mice were housed per cage.

## Determination of TA1 Brain, Liver and Plasma Distribution After Systemic Administration

Twenty male mice were divided in two groups of 10 mice each. One group received injection i.p. of a saline solution (control mice), while the other received 330  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 dissolved in saline solution (Veh) (Laurino et al., 2018a). This dose which was approximately ten times higher than the doses of TA1 found active on mice behavior, Was chosen to be sure to detect TA1 levels in the analyzed tissues.

Five mice from each group were sacrificed 15 min after TA1 administration, the remaining mice (five from each group) were sacrificed after 60 min. At each time point, the blood, the brain and the liver were removed and quickly frozen until used to assess the TA levels by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC/MS-MS). Due to the small amount of plasma obtained, TA1 determination was carried on a pooled plasma sample from five control or treated mice (at 15 and 60 min after treatment).

Assays were performed on plasma (300  $\mu$ L), brain and liver samples (130–190 mg). Each sample was placed in a 2 mL Precellys tube, 1 ml of 85:15 (v/v) Acetonitrile/0.1 M

HCl (aq) solution containing 5 nM internal standard (TA1-D4) was added, and the sample was sonicated for 30 minutes and then homogenized using a Precellys 24 beads grinder (2.8 mm ceramic, zirconium oxide, beads). The homogenate of each sample was placed in an ultrasound bath (LBS1 3Lt, Falc Instruments, Treviglio, Italy) for 15 minutes and then centrifuged for 15 min at 1300 × g at room temperature. The residual pellet was discarded and the supernatant was placed in a new 12 ml glass centrifuge tube. The solution was subjected to liquid/liquid extraction with hexane (3 mL ×1 mL). The upper phase (hexane) was discarded and the lower phase (acetonitrile) was dried under a gentle stream of nitrogen at 45°C. Samples were then dissolved in 100  $\mu$ L reconstitution solvent mixture (H<sub>2</sub>O:MeOH, 70:30) and analyzed using LC-MS/MS to assess TA1 concentration as described elsewhere (Saba et al., 2010).

## In vivo Mast Cells Staining

CD1 mice were treated intraperitoneally with Veh or 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1. After 15 min from injection, animals were sacrificed by CO2 inhalation and brains were collected and fixed for 24 h in Mota fluid (1% lead acetate in 49.57% Absolute ethanol 49.75% Water and 0.5% Acetic acid), dehydrated in graded ethanol and embedded in paraffin. The presence of mast cells and their content in secretion granules were highlighted by both conventional histological staining and histochemistry. In particular, 5 µm thick histological coronal sections collected at the hippocampus level, were stained with Astra blue (Fluka, Buchs, Switzerland). This cationic dye binds specifically to heparin contained in the mast cell granules (Cinci et al., 2010). Mast cells were histochemically labeled with FITC conjugated avidin (1:400; Sigma Aldrich, Milan, Italy). Avidin is able to electrostatically bind with high sensitivity to mast cell granules (Bacci et al., 2014).

## Mice Peritoneal Mast Cells Isolation and Culture: The Effect of TA1 on Histamine Release

Mast cells were isolated from peritoneum of CD1 mice as described in Meurer et al. (Meurer et al., 2016). Briefly, a small incision below the sternum of the animal was performed without puncturing the peritoneum. 10 ml of ice cold sterile PBS were injected in the peritoneal cavity and a soft massage of about 30 s was performed. Cell suspension was centrifuged at  $4^{\circ}$ C at  $300 \times g$  for 10 min, re-suspended in 5 ml of PBS and then centrifuged again at  $4^{\circ}$ C at  $300 \times g$  for 10 min. Cells were suspended in RPMI medium and incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After 3 days, not adherent cells were removed and fresh culture medium was added. After 6 days, 5 ml of fresh medium were added and at day 10 mast cells (represented by the non-adherent population) were harvested and used for experiments.

Mast cells were plated in 12 well plate (about 25000 cells/well) and treated with vehicle (PBS) alone, 5 mg/ml *Apis mellifera* venom (ENTOMON s.a.s Florence, Italy, gently gifted by Prof. Stefano Turillazzi and prepared in vehicle) or 20 nM, 100 nM, and 1  $\mu$ M of TA1. Culture media were harvested after 5, 15, 30, 60, 90, and 120 min after treatment. Histamine was measured

by the method described in Tiligada et al. (2000) with some modifications. Briefly, 50  $\mu$ l of each sample was incubated with 12.5  $\mu$ l of 0.44 M of NaOH+ 0.1% O-phthaldialdehyde (Sigma Aldrich, Milan, Italy) for 10 min at RT. Then the reaction was stopped by adding 12.5  $\mu$ l of 0.5 M HCl and fluorescence was read by a microplate reader (360 nm excitation and 450 nm emission). Results for each treatment were expressed as baseline-corrected (Veh) fluorescence.

Vehicle or 1  $\mu M$  TA1 treated cells were placed on a slide after 15 min of treatment and stained with Astra blue to visualize histamine content.

# Determination of Signaling Activity of TA1 at Hypothalamus

Twelve male CD1 mice were randomly divided in 4 groups of 3 mice each. One group received i.p. Veh the other mice received 0.4 or 1.32 or 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1. Mice were sacrificed 15 min after administration to remove the hypothalamus. The tissue was frozen at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until used for western-blot analysis.

## Western Blot

Proteins (20 µg) isolated from mouse hypothalamus were separated via 4-20% SDS-PAGE and transferred into PVDF membranes (60 min at 398 mA) using standard procedures. Blots were incubated overnight at 4°C with specific antibodies against p- AKT S473, AKT, p-GSK-3ß S9, GSK-3ß, p-mTOR S2448 and mTOR (Cell Signaling Technology, Denver, MA, United States) and GAPDH (Merk-Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany). Primary antibodies were diluted in PBS containing 1% albumin or 5% non-fat dry milk and 0.05% Tween. The antigen-antibody complexes were visualized using appropriate secondary antibodies (1:10 000, diluted in PBS containing 1% albumin or 5% non-fat dry milk and 0.05% Tween) and incubated for 1 h at room temperature. Blots were then extensively washed with PBS containing 0.1% Tween and developed using an enhanced chemiluminescence detection system (Pierce, Rodano, Italy). Exposition and developing time were standardized for all blots. Densitometric analysis of scanned images was performed on a Macintosh iMac computer using the public domain NIH Image J program. Results are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM of different gels and expressed as arbitrary units (AU), which depict the ratio between levels of target phosphorylated protein and the total protein expression normalized to basal levels.

# **BEHAVIORAL STUDIES**

## Treatments

Mice were randomized to receive i.p., administration of saline solution (Veh), or 1.32 or 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 dissolved in Veh (Laurino et al., 2018a). Experiments were also performed in mice pre-treated i.p. with Veh or with antagonists of type 1 and type 2 histamine receptors, i.e., pyrilamine (10 mgkg<sup>-1</sup>; PYR, prepared in Veh) and zolantidine (5 mgkg<sup>-1</sup> i.p.; ZOL, prepared in Veh), 20 min before they received 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 or Veh. When p-chloro-phenylalanine (100 mgkg<sup>-1</sup>; PCPA), the inhibitor of the

tryptophan hydroxylase activity was used 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 or Veh, were administered to mice which had received a daily injection of PCPA for 4 days. TA1 or Veh were administered 1 h after the last PCPA injection. All drugs were administered at a volume of 10 mlkg<sup>-1</sup> body weight.

Mouse behavior was observed 15 min after TA1 administration according to the specific methods listed below.

### The Hole Board-Platform

The hole-board test was performed according to (Romanelli et al., 2006). The experimental setting consisted of a 40 cm square plane with 16 flush mounted cylindrical holes (3 cm diameter), distributed four by four in an equidistant, grid-like manner. Mice were placed in the center of the board one by one and allowed to move about freely for a period of 5 min. Two electric eyes, crossing the plane from midpoint to midpoint of the opposite sides, thus dividing the plane into four equal quadrants, automatically signaled mouse movements (locomotor activity). Miniature photoelectric cells in each of the 16 holes recorded hole exploration. Animal groups consisted of 10 mice and were tested 10 min after the injections.

### **The Rota-Road Test**

The integrity of the animals' motor coordination was assessed using a rota-rod apparatus at a rotating speed of 24 rpm. The numbers of falls from the rod in 30 s, 15 min after drug administration were counted.

## The Forced Swimming Test (FST)

The test was conducted as described by Porsolt et al. (1977). Mice (10 animals/group) were individually forced to swim in an open cylindrical container (diameter 10 cm, height 25 cm), containing 19 cm of water at  $25 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. In the test, the time of immobility was measured during a 6-min period. A decrease in the duration of immobility is indicative of an antidepressant effect.

## The Tail Suspension Test (TST)

A piece of tape was adhered to the upper middle of the tail of each animal, creating a flap with the overlap of tape. Mice were suspended from a plastic rod mounted 50 cm above the surface by fastening the tail to the rod with adhesive tape. The duration of the test was 6 min. Immobility was defined as the absence of any limb or body movements, except those caused by respiration.

## The Light Dark Box

The light-dark box was made of white and black opaque apparatus (length 50 cm, width 20.5 cm, and height 19 cm) consisted of two equal acrylic compartments, one dark and one white, illuminated by a 60-W bulb lamp and separated by a divider with a 10 cm  $\times$  3.2 cm opening at floor level. Each mouse was placed in the middle of the light chamber facing a side away from the door and then released. Mice' behaviors were scored for 300 s and included the latency to the first step into the dark compartment, the duration of time spent in the light chamber, the number of full-body transitions between chambers. These behaviors have previously

been measured as a reflection of anxiety in this apparatus (Bourin and Hascoët, 2003). After testing, subjects were removed from the light-dark box and returned to their home cage in colony room. The apparatus was cleaned with 70% ethanol after each use and allowed to dry before the next subject was tested.

### **Statistical Analysis**

Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM of independent experiments. Statistical analysis was performed by the One or Two way ANOVA test followed by Tukey or Dunnett or Bonferroni Multiple Comparison Test. The threshold of statistical significance was set at P < 0.05. Data analysis was performed using the GraphPad Prism 5.0 statistical program (GraphPad software, San Diego, CA, United States).

## RESULTS

# Endogenous and Pharmacological Tissue Levels of TA1

3-iodothyroacetic acid endogenous or pharmacological tissue levels were measured by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) in mice sacrificed 15 min after treatment with Veh or with 330  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 (Chiellini et al., 2012).

In Veh-treated mice, we were unable to measure TA1 endogenous levels in the brain and in the pooled plasma sample, whereas TA1 was detected in liver (**Table 1**).

In TA1-treated mice, 15 min after pharmacological administration, TA1 was recovered in the pooled plasma sample (19% of the dose administered), in the brain and in the liver of all the mice treated (1.3 and 32% of the dose administered, respectively). In the liver, pharmacological administration produced a 165-fold increase of TA1 level (ng/g) when compared to endogenous levels.

As expected, TA1 tissue levels reduced with time. After 60 min from TA1 administration, plasma and liver levels decreased in parallel resulting approximately ten times lower than those measured at 15 min. In the brain, TA1 levels at 60 min were only four times lower than those measured at 15 min. These results suggest that tissues have different TA1 clearance capacity,

**TABLE 1** ] 3-iodothyroacetic acid (TA1) levels in mice following intra-peritoneal administration (i.p.) of TA1 (330  $\mu$ gkg^{-1}).

Treatments	Plasma	Brain (ng/g of tissues)	Liver
Saline	N.D.	N.D.	$0.64 \pm 0.2$
TA1 (15 min)	63.7 <sup>a</sup>	$4.2 \pm 1$	$106 \pm 22$
	19%°°	1.3%	32%
TA1 (60 min)	9.4 <sup>a</sup>	$1.1 \pm 0.3$	$10.47 \pm 0.45$
	2.8%	0.33%	3.17%

<sup>a</sup> from pooled blood samples. <sup>oo</sup>The percentage of TA1 recovered in respect of the administered dose (330  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup>).

with the brain conserving TA1 levels for longer than plasma or liver (**Table 1**).

## **TA1 Degranulates Brain Mast Cells**

We then investigated whether treatment with 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 was associated with brain mast cells degranulation.

Our results indicated that, at our staining conditions, i.e., both avidin and Astra Blue, very few mast cells were detectable in the brain. Although the low number of mast cells could be considered as a sign of the extreme specificity of our staining protocols, we could also not exclude that the method of tissue fixation may not allow the retention of mast cells granular content in the central portion of the brain (**Figure 1A**). These technical considerations/limitations notwithstanding, we were still able to highlight differences in mast cell granular content between the two experimental groups (**Figures 1B–E**).

In fact, in Veh-treated mice, the mast cells detected showed substantially intact granular content (**Figures 1B,D**). Instead, in brain slices prepared from mice treated with 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1, the few mast cells that were stained showed reduced granular content (**Figures 1C,E**).

# TA1 Releases Histamine From Peritoneal Mast Cells

To confirm the capacity of TA1 to trigger histamine release from mast cells, we performed *in vitro* experiments exposing isolated mouse peritoneal mast cells to increasing concentrations of TA1.

Our results indicated that TA1 effectively degranulated peritoneal mast cells (**Figures 2A,B**). In fact, histamine levels in cell medium significantly increased (compared to Veh) when

mast cells were exposed to increasing TA1 concentrations (Figure 2A) or to bee venom (BV) and mast cells appear degranulated (Figure 2B).

In particular, the Two-way ANOVA test indicated that, at the concentrations tested, TA1 significantly increased histamine release at all the times of cell exposure without a clear concentration dependent effect on the time of exposure. Kinetic data indicated that the releasing capacity of the acid showed a trend to increase from 5 to 15 min of cell exposure and then it remained almost stable up to 30 min (**Figure 2A**) indicating granular histamine depauperation in the absence of a fast re-synthesis.

## TA1 Activates the Hypothalamic AKT/mTOR and Reduces the GSK-3β Activity

Since kinetic data indicated the presence of TA1 in the brain of mice 15 min after administration, we investigated whether TA1 was able to activate any signaling activity when administered at the pharmacological doses previously found to induce behavioral effects (Laurino et al., 2018a). For this aim, mice were sacrificed 15 min after treatment with 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 or vehicle (Veh) and the hypothalamus was isolated.

Our results showed that the treatment with TA1 produced activation of the AKT/p-mTOR/GSK-3 $\beta$  cascade depending on the dose administered. In fact, while p-GSK-3 $\beta$  levels resulted significantly increased in the hypothalamus of mice that received 1.32 and 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 (**Figures 3A,C**; \**P* < 0.05 vs. Veh), the levels of p-AKT and p-mTOR were found increased over Veh only in those mice treated with 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 (**Figures 3A-D**,







One-way ANOVA test followed by Tukey *post hoc* test; \*P < 0.05 vs. Veh).

## TA1 TREATMENT INDUCES ANTIDEPRESSANT-LIKE EFFECTS

# TA1 Reduces the Immobility Time in the FST

The FST is a validated methodological tool for pre-clinical assessment of antidepressant drug activity. In this test, the behavioral immobility of the mice represents a condition of "despair," since the mice give up moving after realizing that escape is impossible. Consistently, we performed the FST to investigate the possible antidepressant effects of TA1.

One-way ANOVA analysis of the data obtained from the FST indicated that 4 and 11  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 significantly reduced the immobility time (\*\**P* < 0.01 and \*\*\**P* < 0.001 vs. Veh. respectively and °*P* < 0.05 vs. 1.32  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 *post hoc* Tukey Multiple Comparison Test), thus supporting a possible antidepressant effect of TA1, which required to be confirmed by additional tests (**Figure 4A**).

# TA1 Reduces the Immobility Time in the TST

The TST is a test based on the assumption that the animal will try to escape the stressful situation (i.e., mice suspended). After a certain time, the animal ceases to struggle and immobility occurs. As for the FST, longer immobility times are sign of depressive behavior.



Mice were subjected to the TST in order to confirm the results obtained in the FST. Results showed that 4 and 11  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 treatment significantly reduced the immobility time in the TST too (\**P* < 0.05 and \*\**P* < 0.01 vs. Veh treated mice; **Figure 4B**).

## The Antidepressant Effect of TA1 Includes the Activation of the Histaminergic System

As previously reported, the behavioral effects induced by TA1 resulted to be mediated by the activation of the histaminergic system, since these actions are modulated by anti-histaminergic drugs (Laurino et al., 2015a, 2017a,b). In line with this evidence, we aimed to investigate whether the antidepressant effects of TA1 were also modulated by treatment with anti-histaminergic drugs (i.e., PYR and ZOL).

As a control, the treatment of mice with ZOL and PYR alone did not affect the immobility time of mice in both FST and TST tests in respect of Vehicle (Veh) treated mice (One-way Anova test followed by Tukey Multiple Comparison test **Figures 4C-E**).

In mice pre-treated with 10 mgkg<sup>-1</sup> PYR, TA1, at all the doses tested, failed to reduce the immobility time of the mice (**Figure 4C**). Instead, in mice pre-treated with 5 mgkg<sup>-1</sup> ZOL, 4 and 11  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 significantly reduced the immobility time in the FST (\**P* < 0.05 and \*\**P* < 0.01 vs. Veh alone respectively, ###*P* < 0.001 and ##*P* < 0.01 vs. ZOL respectively, Tukey Multiple Comparison Test analysis) (**Figure 4D**).

Consistently, in the TST, in mice pre-treated with 10 mgkg<sup>-1</sup> PYR, TA1 4 and 11  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> did not induce any significantly reduction of the immobility time of the mice (**Figure 4E**).

# The Antidepressant Effect of TA1 Does Not Include the Serotoninergic System

To investigate the involvement of serotonin in TA1 antidepressant effects, we performed the FST on mice deprived of serotonin after a 4 day treatment with PCPA, an inhibitor of the tryptophan hydroxylase activity.

Our results showed that mice treated for 4 days with 100 mgkg<sup>-1</sup> PCPA had immobility time similar to Veh-treated mice (**Figure 4F**, One-Way Anova test followed by Tukey Multiple Comparison test). At this condition, the administration of 4 and 11  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 still significantly reduced the immobility time vs. Veh-treated mice (**Figure 4F**; \**P* < 0.05 and \*\*\**P* < 0.001 vs. Veh, ###*P* < 0.001 vs. PCPA, °°°*P* < 0.01 vs. 1.32  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1, Tukey Multiple Comparison Test). These data indicated that the serotoninergic system was not involved in TA1 antidepressant effect.

# TA1 Does Not Show Anxiolytic-Like Effects

The antidepressant effect of drugs might derive from their anxiolytic features. To exclude that TA1 was endowed of anxiolytic effects we performed the light-dark box test with mice which received 4 and 11  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1. The One-way Anova test of results followed by Dunnett's *post hoc* test indicated that mice treated with TA1 and Veh spent a similar amount of time in the light (**Figure 5A**), in the dark compartments (**Figure 5B**) and had a similar number of transitions from light to dark compartments (**Figure 5C**).



**FIGURE 4** The effect of 3-iodothyroacetic acid (TA1) treatment on the immobility time in the forced swim test (FST) and in the tail suspension test (TST): evidence for the involvement of histamine and not of serotonin. Mice received 1.32, 4 and 11  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 and after 15 min they were subjected to the FST (**A**) or to TST (**B**). The immobility time was measured as described in Methods. (**A**) The immobility time measured in mice subjected to the FST is reported. Results are the means  $\pm$  SEM of three different experiments were at least ten mice were used (\*\*P < 0.01 and \*\*\*P < 0.001 vs. Veh and °P < 0.05 vs. 1.32  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1; One-way ANOVA test followed by Tukey Multiple Comparison Test). (**B**) Immobility time measured in mice subjected to the TST is reported. Results are the means  $\pm$  SEM of three different experiments using at least ten mice (\*P < 0.05 and \*\*P < 0.01 vs. Veh; One-way ANOVA test followed by Tukey Multiple Comparison Test). (**C**,**D**) The FST was then repeated in mice pre-treated with Vehicle (Veh) or with pyrilamine (10 mgkg<sup>-1</sup>; PYR; **C**) or with zolantidine (5 mgkg<sup>-1</sup>, ZOL; **D**) before receiving 4 or 11  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 as described in Methods. The Immobility time was measured. Results are the means  $\pm$  SEM of three different experiments were at least ten mice were used (\*P < 0.05 and \*\*P < 0.01 vs. ZOL, One-way ANOVA test followed by Tukey Multiple Comparison Test); (**E**) The TST was repeated in mice pre-treated with pyrilamine (10 mgkg<sup>-1</sup>; PYR) before receiving 4 and 11  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 as described in Methods. The Immobility time was measured. Results are the means  $\pm$  SEM of three different experiments were at least ten mice were used (\*P < 0.05 and \*\*P < 0.01 vs. ZOL, One-way ANOVA test followed by Tukey Multiple Comparison Test); (**E**) The TST was repeated in mice pre-treated with pyrilamine (10 mgkg<sup>-1</sup>; PYR) before receiving 4 and 11  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 as described in Methods. The Immobility time was measured. Results are the means  $\pm$  SEM of three different experim

## TA1 Increases Mouse Spontaneous Locomotor Activity: Evidence for Histamine Involvement

The hole-board test is a validated model for evaluating the spontaneous locomotor activity and exploratory behavior of animals in a new environment (File, 1973).

Mice were put on the hole board platform 15 min after receiving 1.32, 4 and 11  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 or Veh to measure the effect of the treatment on their locomotor and exploratory activities, i.e., curiosity (**Figures 6A,B**).

One-Way ANOVA analysis of the results indicated that only 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 treatment, and not 1.32 or 11  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup>, induced a significant increase of mice locomotor activity (\*\**P* < 0.01 vs. Veh treated mice). On the other hand, any of the TA1 doses administered modified the mice exploratory activity (curiosity) (**Figure 6B**).

Mice receiving PYR and ZOL showed locomotor activity similar to Veh-treated mice (Figures 6C,D, One-way Anova test followed by Tukey Multiple Comparison Test). We next verified whether TA1 stimulation



of mice locomotion was modified in mice treated with PYR and ZOL.

In mice treated with PYR, 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 conserved its capacity to stimulate mice locomotor activity (\**P* < 0.05 vs. Veh, #*p* < 0.05 vs. PYR, Tukey Multiple Comparison Test, **Figure 6C**), while in ZOL pre-treated mice, 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 significantly reduced mice locomotor activity (\*\**P* < 0.01 vs. Veh, #*P* < 0.05 vs. ZOL; Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test, **Figure 6D**).

PYR (10 mgkg<sup>-1</sup>), but not ZOL-treatment, induced *per se* reduction of mice exploratory activity (curiosity) (\*P < 0.05 vs. Veh, Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test; **Figures 6E,F**). Interestingly, in these mice, the administration of 4 µgkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 reverted PYR-induced depression of mice curiosity (**Figure 6E**; #P < 0.05 vs. PYR,). Instead, 4 µgkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 did not affect the curiosity of mice pre-treated with ZOL (**Figure 6F**).

# TA1 Does Not Produce Motor Incoordination

Mice receiving 4 and 11  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 i.p. were then put on the accelerated rota-road as described in "Methods." In these settings, mice treated with TA1 or with Veh showed similar performances

with respect to the number of falls (data not shown), thus suggesting that TA1 did not compromise motor coordination.

# DISCUSSION

We here demonstrate that TA1 shows brain bioavailability after systemic administration. The presence of TA1 in the brain is associated with the activation of the hypothalamic AKT and GSK-3β signaling pathways and the induction of emotional effects, including antidepressant-like effects. This result is independent on modulation of anxiety but it is associated with a mild stimulation of mice locomotion. Overall, these results demonstrate that TA1 is able to cross the BBB, a site where TA1 could activate mast cell degranulation. Indeed, TA1 systemic administration is associated with mast cell degranulation, and in vitro evidence demonstrates that TA1 may trigger histamine release from peritoneal mast cells. Interestingly, TA1 antidepressant-like effects and the stimulation of mice locomotion are modulated by anti-histaminergic drugs, thus confirming the dependence of these effects on the release of histamine. Even though the source of histamine involved in such



means  $\pm$  SEM of measures relative to 10 mice (\*P < 0.05 and \*\*P < 0.01 vs. Veh, #P < 0.05 vs. PYRZOL, One-was ANOVA test followed by Tukey Multiple Comparison Test). (**E,F**) Mice curiosity (exploratory activity) was evaluated in mice pre-treated with Veh or with PYR (**E**) or ZOL (**F**) before receiving 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 or Veh. (\*P < 0.05 and #P < 0.05 vs. PYR, One-way ANOVA test followed by Tukey Multiple Comparison Test).

effects (and in general with all the behavioral effects observed after administering TA1) remains elusive, our results provide further insight into the mechanism of TA1 action, suggesting that mast cells are a possible source of the histamine responsible for TA1 central-mediated behavioral effects.

TA1 is considered a by-product of thyroid hormone metabolism, produced by at least two independent synthetic pathways. However, little is known about the pattern of tissue distribution of endogenous and/or pharmacologically administered TA1. This issue has limited the exploration of the possible pathogenic or diagnostic role of this thyroid hormone metabolite in thyroid diseases. Our present results indicate that the endogenous levels of TA1 in mice brain and plasma are undetectable at our settings, whereas endogenous TA1 is highly detectable in liver. As expected, TA1 tissue levels increased following pharmacological administration. In particular, TA1 brain and plasma levels became detectable just 15 min after systemic administration, and, at this time point, a significant increase was also observed in liver as compared to control mice. These data provide evidence that TA1 is able to cross the BBB, and confirm that the liver is a preferential site not only of thyroid hormone but also of thyroid hormone metabolites accumulation (Porsolt et al., 1977; Saba et al., 2010). In line with this, our data also indicate that TA1 liver levels do not derive exclusively from local synthesis. Another interesting aspect of TA1 pharmacokinetic, is the different kinetic of tissue level reduction. Our data show that 60 min after administration, the decrease of TA1 brain levels was less than liver and plasma levels, suggesting that TA1 brain clearance might be lower than that of the liver. Moreover, even though the amount of TA1 recovered in the brain is only a small percentage of the dose administered, the brain may represent a site of "preservation of low levels" of TA1. These data are consistent with our previous observations (Laurino et al., 2015b) and suggest TA1 brain levels may be homeostatically controlled. However, the mechanism used by TA1 to cross the BBB and liver membranes remains to be investigated. Whichever mechanism is adopted, the passage of TA1 across the BBB implies an interaction with the cells lying on the brain side of the barrier, including mast cells, and the distribution in brain areas, including the hypothalamus where histaminergic neurons are highly concentrated. As a novel finding, our data demonstrate that TA1 has the capacity to degranulate mast cells and to trigger histamine release from peritoneal mast cells, showing a maximum effectiveness at 15 min after cell exposure and a minimum TA1 effective concentration of 20 nM. Notably, this concentration is in the range of the pharmacological doses of TA1 administered to mice, and the time of 15 min is also in line with the activation of the hypothalamic signals and the onset of the behavioral effects here described. Interestingly, the accumulation of histamine in cell medium did not depend linearly on the concentration of TA1. In fact, at 1 µM TA1, the histamine medium content did not increase further with respect to the amount released by 20 and 100 nM TA1, thus indicating a fast release of histamine in the absence of re-synthesis. The absence of a linear concentration-dependent effect might also explain the U-shaped dose-effect curves described for the in vivo effects of TA1 reported in literature. To note, mast cells express all the four subtypes of histamine receptors (Csaba et al., 2007) and can store thyroid hormone (Harvima et al., 2014). Overall, the fact that TA1, a thyroid hormone metabolite, may trigger histamine release from mast cells reinforces the hypothesis of a dual relationship between the endocrine, including the thyroid, and the immune system, a relationship which might have interesting clinical implications.

15 min after TA1 administration, an intracellular hypothalamic signaling is found to be activated. In particular, a 4  $\mu$ gkg<sup>-1</sup> TA1 dosage results in the activation of the AKT which is among the targets of mast cells-derived histamine (Kim et al., 2018), but it is also the cascade activated in the enhancement of cognition and the neuroprotection offered by type 3 histamine receptor antagonists/inverse agonists, whose effects are mainly due to the disinhibition of neuronal histamine release (Bitner et al., 2011; Bhowmik et al., 2014). At the same doses that are effective on signaling activation, TA1 induces antidepressant-like effects. As already observed in the case of pro-cognitive properties, these effects are prevented by pre-treating mice with an H1R antagonist (Lamberti et al., 1998). In addition, our results demonstrate that the antidepressant effect of TA1 is not a consequence of an anxiolytic effect and it is unrelated to serotonin, the amine co-stored with histamine in mast cells and strongly interplaying with neuronal histamine in the control of mood tone (Munari et al., 2015). Instead, we found that TA1 stimulates mice movements on the plane without giving motor incoordination. As for the antidepressantlike effects, mice locomotor activity results modulated by antihistaminergic drug treatment revealing a main role for the H2R activation. Interestingly, TA1 was also found to stimulate mice curiosity when the H1R is blocked, a condition which depresses, per se, mice curiosity. This finding highlights the role of TA1 in stimulating curiosity even when this is particularly depressed, a condition mimicking depression, and reinforces the involvement of the histaminergic system in TA1 behavioral effects. All the effects here described were observed in a the same narrow range of doses previously reported to stimulate memory (Laurino et al., 2015a; Bellusci et al., 2017), wakefulness (Laurino

et al., 2018a), to protect neuron from excitotoxicity, to reduce PZT-induced seizures (Laurino et al., 2018b). Overall, these behavioral effects indicate that TA1 is a mild psychostimulant which, interestingly, rapidly increases the level of attention, the mood tone and cognition capacity of the subject without inducing motor incoordination.

In conclusion, our findings indicate that TA1 is a potent antidepressant-like drug displaying a rapid onset of action whose mechanism appears to involve brain histamine. Our data suggest that histamine may derive, at least in part, from brain mast cells. The observation that TA1 triggers histamine release from mast cells opens the way to the existence of a novel and not-yet-explored relationship between thyroid endocrine components, anxiety like behaviors and the immune system (Landucci et al., 2019). In addition, since mast cells are ubiquitous cells, the degranulating capacity of TA1 has to be taken into consideration when the pharmacological effects of TA1 are investigated.

# DATA AVAILABILITY

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

Experiments and animal use procedures were in accordance with the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (NIH Publications No. 80-23, revised 1996). The experimental protocols were approved by the ethical Committee of the Italian Council of Health, in compliance with the European Convention for the Protection of Vertebrate Animals used for Experimental and Other Scientific Purposes (ETS no. 123) and the European Communities Council Directive of 24 November 1986 (86/609/EEC). The authors further attest that all efforts were made to minimize the number of animals used and their suffering.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LR designed the experimental protocol and wrote the manuscript. AL and EL performed the behavioral and biochemical experiments. LB performed the LC/MS-MS analysis. GC designed protocol for the analysis of TA1 in tissues. GD performed the drug administration and monitoring of the experimental settings. MG performed the Western Blot. LC performed the histochemistry experiments.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by a grant to LR from the University of Florence and a grant to GC (PRA\_2017\_55) from the University of Pisa.

## REFERENCES

- Bacci, S., Defraia, B., Cinci, L., Calosi, L., Guasti, D., Pieri, L., et al. (2014). Immunohistochemical analysis of dendritic cells in skin lesions: correlations with survival time. *Forensic. Sci. Int.* 244, 179–185. doi: 10.1016/j.forsciint.2014. 08.024
- Bellusci, L., Laurino, A., Sabatini, M., Sestito, S., Lenzi, P., Raimondi, L., et al. (2017). New insights into the potential roles of 3-Iodothyronamine (T1AM) and newly developed thyronamine-like TAAR1 agonists in neuroprotection. *Front. Pharmacol.* 8:905. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00905
- Bhowmik, M., Saini, N., and Vohora, D. (2014). Histamine H3 receptor antagonism by ABT-239 attenuates kainic acid induced excitotoxicity in mice. *Brain Res.* 18, 129–140. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.06.012
- Bitner, R. S., Markosyan, S., and Brioni, J. D. (2011). In-vivo histamine H3 receptor antagonism activates cellular signaling suggestive of symptomatic and disease modifying efficacy in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropharmacology* 60, 460–466. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2010.10.026
- Bourin, M., and Hascoët, M. (2003). The mouse light/dark box test. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 463, 55-65. doi: 10.1016/s0014-2999(03)01274-3
- Chiellini, G., Erba, P., Carnicelli, V., Manfredi, C., Frascarelli, S., Ghelardoni, S., et al. (2012). Distribution of exogenous [1251]-3-iodothyronamine in mouse in vivo: relationship with trace amine-associated receptors. *J. Endocrinol.* 213, 223–230. doi: 10.1530/JOE-12-0055
- Chikahisa, S., Kodama, T., Soya, A., Sagawa, Y., Ishimaru, Y., Séi, H., et al. (2013). Histamine from brain resident MAST cells promotes wakefulness and modulates behavioral states. *PLoS One* 8:e78434. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0078434
- Cinci, L., Masini, E., Bencini, A., Valtancoli, B., Mastroianni, R., Calosi, L., et al. (2010). Suppression of allergen-induced respiratory dysfunction and airway inflammation in sensitized guinea pigs by Mn(II)(Me(2)DO2A), a novel superoxide scavenger compound. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 48, 1525–1534. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.02.041
- Csaba, G., Kovács, P., Buzás, E., Mazán, M., and Pállinger, É (2007). Histidine decarboxylase (HDC) knock out mouse immune cells have altered expression of ACTH, triiodothyronine and endorphin. *Inflamm. Res.* 56, 428–431. doi: 10.1007/s00011-007-7010-9
- Dong, H., Zhang, X., Wang, Y., Zhou, X., Qian, Y., and Zhang, S. (2017). Suppression of brain mast cells degranulation inhibits microglial activation and central nervous system inflammation. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 54, 997–1007. doi: 10.1007/s12035-016-9720-x
- File, S. E. (1973). Effects of chlorpromazine on exploration and habituation in the rat. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 49, 303–310. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.1973.tb08376.x
- Harvima, I. T., Levi-Schaffer, F., Draber, P., Friedman, S., Polakovicova, I., Gibbs, B. F., et al. (2014). Molecular targets on mast cells and basophils for novel therapies. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 134, 530–544. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.03.007
- Kim, M. J., Kim, Y. Y., Choi, Y. A., Baek, M. C., Lee, B., Park, P. H., et al. (2018). Elaeocarpusin inhibits mast cell-mediated allergic inflammation. *Front. Pharmacol.* 9:591. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00591
- Lamberti, C., Ipponi, A., Bartolini, A., Schunack, W., and Malmberg-Aiello, P. (1998). Antidepressant-like effects of endogenous histamine and of two histamine H1 receptor agonists in the mouse forced swim test. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 123, 1331–1336. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0701740
- Landucci, E., Laurino, A., Cinci, L., Gencarelli, M., and Raimondi, L. (2019). Thyroid hormone, thyroid hormone metabolites and mast cells: a thin and less explored issue. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 13:79. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00079
- Laurino, A., De Siena, G., Resta, F., Masi, A., Musilli, C., Zucchi, R., et al. (2015a). 3iodothyroacetic acid, a metabolite of thyroid hormone, induces itch and reduces threshold to noxious and to painful heat stimuli in mice. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 172, 1859–1868. doi: 10.1111/bph.13032
- Laurino, A., De Siena, G., Saba, A., Chiellini, G., Landucci, E., Zucchi, R., et al. (2015b). In the brain of mice, 3-iodothyronamine (T1AM) is converted into 3-iodothyroacetic acid (TA1) and it is included within the signaling network connecting thyroid hormone metabolites with histamine. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 761, 130–134. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.04.038
- Laurino, A., Landucci, E., Resta, F., De Siena, G., Matucci, R., Masi, A., et al. (2017a). 3-Iodothyroacetic acid (TA1), a by-product of thyroid hormone metabolism, reduces the hypnotic effect of ethanol without

interacting at GABA-A receptors. Neurochem. Int. 115, 31-36. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2017.10.008

- Laurino, A., Lucenteforte, E., De Siena, G., and Raimondi, L. (2017b). The impact of scopolamine pretreatment on 3-iodothyronamine (T1AM) effects on memory and pain in mice. *Horm. Behav.* 94, 93–96. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2017.07.003
- Laurino, A., Landucci, E., Resta, F., De Siena, G., Matucci, R., Masi, A., et al. (2018a). 3-Iodothyroacetic acid (TA1), a by-product of thyroid hormone metabolism, reduces the hypnotic effect of ethanol without interacting at GABA-A receptors. *Neurochem. Int.* 115, 31–36. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2017.10.008
- Laurino, A., Landucci, E., Resta, F., De Siena, G., Pellegrini-Giampietro, D. E., Masi, A., et al. (2018b). Anticonvulsant and neuroprotective effects of the thyroid hormone metabolite 3-iodothyroacetic acid (TA1). *Thyroid* 28, 1387–1397. doi: 10.1089/thy.2017.0506
- Lin, J. S., Sakai, K., and Jouvet, M. (1986). Role of hypothalamic histaminergic systems in the regulation of vigilance states in cats. CR Acad. Sci. III 303, 469-474.
- Meurer, S. K., Ne
  ß, M., Weiskirchen, S., Kim, P., Tag, C. G., Kauffmann, M., et al. (2016). Isolation of mature (Peritoneum-Derived) mast cells and immature (Bone Marrow-Derived) mast cell precursors from mice. *PLoS One* 11:e0158104. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0158104
- Munari, L., Provensi, G., Passani, M. B., Galeotti, N., Cassano, T., Benetti, F., et al. (2015). Brain histamine is crucial for selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors' behavioral and neurochemical effects. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 18:yv045. doi: 10.1093/ijnp/pyv045
- Musilli, C., De Siena, G., Manni, M. E., Logli, A., Landucci, E., Zucchi, R., et al. (2014). Histamine mediates behavioral and metabolic effects of 3-iodothyroacetic acid, an endogenous end product of thyroid hormone metabolism. Br. J. Pharmacol. 171, 3476–3484. doi: 10.1111/bph.12697
- Porsolt, R. D., Bertin, A., and Jalfre, M. (1977). Behavioral despair in mice: a primary screening test for antidepressants. Arch. Int. Pharmacol. Ther. 229, 327–336.
- Romanelli, M. N., Galeotti, N., Ghelardini, C., Manetti, D., Martini, E., and Gualtieri, F. (2006). Pharmacological characterization of DM232 (unifiram) and DM235 (sunifiram), new potent cognition enhancers. *CNS Drug Rev.* 12, 39–52. doi: 10.1111/j.1527-3458.2006.00039.x
- Saba, A., Chiellini, G., Frascarelli, S., Marchini, M., Ghelardoni, S., Raffaelli, A., et al. (2010). Tissue distribution and cardiac metabolism of 3-iodothyronamine. *Endocrinology* 151, 5063–5073. doi: 10.1210/en.2010-0491
- Skaper, S. D., and Fusco, M. (2014). Mast cells in chronic inflammation, pelvic pain and depression in women. *Gynecol. Endocrinol.* 30, 472–477. doi: 10.3109/ 09513590.2014.911280
- Theoharides, T. C., and Cochrane, D. E. (2004). Critical role of mast cells in inflammatory diseases and the effect of acute stress. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 146, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2003.10.041
- Tiligada, E., Aslanis, D., Delitheos, A., and Varon, O. S. (2000). Changes in histamine content following pharmacologically-induced mast cell degranulation in the rat conjunctiva. *Pharmacol. Res.* 41, 667–670. doi: 10.1006/phrs.1999.0637
- Wada, H., Inagaki, N., Yamatodani, A., and Watanabe, T. (1991). Is the histaminergic neuron system a regulatory center for whole-brain activity? *Trends Neurosci.* 14, 415–418. doi: 10.1016/0166-2236(91)90034-r
- Yamatodani, A., Maeyama, K., Watanabe, T., Wada, H., and Kitamura, Y. (1982). Tissue distribution of histamine in a mutant mouse deficient in mast cells: clear evidence for the presence of non-mast-cell histamine. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 31, 305–309. doi: 10.1016/0006-2952(82)90175-7

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Laurino, Landucci, Cinci, Gencarelli, De Siena, Bellusci, Chiellini and Raimondi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Meningeal Mast Cells Contribute to ATP-Induced Nociceptive Firing in Trigeminal Nerve Terminals: Direct and Indirect Purinergic Mechanisms Triggering Migraine Pain

Ksenia Koroleva<sup>1,2</sup>, Oleg Gafurov<sup>1</sup>, Valeriia Guselnikova<sup>2,3</sup>, Dilyara Nurkhametova<sup>1,2</sup>, Raisa Giniatullina<sup>2</sup>, Guzel Sitdikova<sup>1</sup>, Olli S. Mattila<sup>4</sup>, Perttu J. Lindsberg<sup>4</sup>, Tarja Maarit Malm<sup>2</sup> and Rashid Giniatullin<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Laboratory of Neurobiology, Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia, <sup>2</sup> A. I. Virtanen Institute for Molecular Sciences, University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland, <sup>3</sup> Department of General and Special Morphology, Institute of Experimental Medicine, Saint Petersburg, Russia, <sup>4</sup> Department of Neurology and Clinical Neurosciences, University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki, Finland

Peripheral mechanisms of primary headaches such as a migraine remain unclear. Meningeal afferents surrounded by multiple mast cells have been suggested as a major source of migraine pain. Extracellular ATP released during migraine attacks is a likely candidate for activating meningeal afferents via neuronal P2X receptors. Recently, we showed that ATP also increased degranulation of resident meningeal mast cells (Nurkhametova et al., 2019). However, the contribution of ATP-induced mast cell degranulation in aggravating the migraine pain remains unknown. Here we explored the role of meningeal mast cells in the pro-nociceptive effects of extracellular ATP. The impact of mast cells on ATP mediated activation of peripheral branches of trigeminal nerves was measured electrophysiologically in the dura mater of adult wild type (WT) or mast cell deficient mice. We found that a spontaneous spiking activity in the meningeal afferents, at baseline level, did not differ in two groups. However, in WT mice, meningeal application of ATP dramatically (24.6-fold) increased nociceptive firing, peaking at frequencies around 10 Hz. In contrast, in mast cell deficient animals, ATP-induced excitation was significantly weaker (3.5-fold). Application of serotonin to meninges in WT induced strong spiking. Moreover, in WT mice, the 5-HT3 antagonist MDL-7222 inhibited not only serotonin but also the ATP induced nociceptive firing. Our data suggest that extracellular ATP activates nociceptive firing in meningeal trigeminal afferents via amplified degranulation of resident mast cells in addition to direct excitatory action on the nerve terminals. This highlights the importance of mast cell degranulation via extracellular ATP, in aggravating the migraine pain.

Keywords: ATP, 5-HT3, mast cells, pain, migraine

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Kempuraj Duraisamy, University of Missouri, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Zhan-Guo Gao, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK), United States Elsa Fabbretti, University of Trieste, Italy

> \*Correspondence: Rashid Giniatullin Rashid.Giniatullin@uef.fi

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Neuropathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience

> Received: 18 March 2019 Accepted: 18 April 2019 Published: 10 May 2019

#### Citation:

Koroleva K, Gafurov O, Guselnikova V, Nurkhametova D, Giniatullina R, Sitdikova G, Mattila OS, Lindsberg PJ, Malm TM and Giniatullin R (2019) Meningeal Mast Cells Contribute to ATP-Induced Nociceptive Firing in Trigeminal Nerve Terminals: Direct and Indirect Purinergic Mechanisms Triggering Migraine Pain. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:195. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00195

# INTRODUCTION

Mast cells are immune cells implicated in various inflammatory diseases. Since several original studies by Theoharides et al. (1995, 2005), the role of meningeal mast cells as triggers of migraine attacks was further explored by others, showing the pro-nociceptive role of mast cell derived pro-inflammatory cytokines/chemokines (Reuter et al., 2001; Levy et al., 2007; Baun et al., 2012; Conti et al., 2019). We recently showed that serotonin appeared to be the most important neurotransmitter released by degranulated dural mast cells to activate peripheral meningeal nerve fibers (Kilinc et al., 2017). Despite several potential candidates, it remains, however, unclear which signal or chemical agent initially triggers the activation of meningeal mast cells.

In the frame of the current Research Topic, we published a recent study showing that extracellular ATP acts through the P2X7 subtype of purinergic receptors on meningeal mast cells, leading to both mast cell activation and degranulation (Nurkhametova et al., 2019). Similar results were found also in human mast cells line (Wareham and Seward, 2016). Based on these findings, we hypothesized that this mast-cell based mechanism can indirectly contribute to ATP-induced activation of meningeal afferents. Notably, it is well established that ATP directly excites trigeminal nerve terminals (Zhao and Levy, 2015; Yegutkin et al., 2016; Zakharov et al., 2016), mainly via P2X3 receptors (Yegutkin et al., 2016). Thus, ATP potentially may have a dual complementary migraine pain promoting effect. Given a plethora of pro-inflammatory and pro-nociceptive substances released from active mast cells (Conti et al., 2019) these data suggest that ATP-driven mechanisms might significantly contribute both to meningeal neuroinflammation and to prolonged pain in migraine.

Here, we set out to differentiate the indirect, mast cellmediated, and direct actions of ATP on meningeal afferents in isolated mouse hemiskull preparations, in mice deficient of mast cells. Our data highlight the importance of ATP driven mast cell degranulation in the aggravation of nociceptive firing in migraine pain.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# Animals

Experiments were performed on 10–12-week-old male WT C57BL/6J and C57BL/6J-KitW-v/J mice provided by the Animal Facilities of the University of Eastern Finland (UEF). All procedures were approved by the Committee for the Welfare of Laboratory Animals of the University of Eastern Finland and the Provincial Government of Kuopio. Experiments were conducted according to the European Community Council guidelines (Directives 86/609/EEC). All efforts were made to minimize the number of animals used and their suffering.

# Toluidine Blue Staining of Meningeal Mast Cells

Toluidine Blue staining was used to identify mast cells in meningeal tissues as previously described by Shelukhina et al. (2017) and Nurkhametova et al. (2019). In short, the brains were carefully removed from the hemiskulls leaving the meninges intact on bone tissue. The hemiskulls were filled with artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF) (in mM): NaCl 115, KCl 3, CaCl2 2, MgCl2 1, NaH2PO4 1, NaHCO3 25, glucose 11) for 10 min (room temperature) and oxygenated with 95% O2/ 5% CO2. The hemiskulls were then transferred to 4% paraformaldehyde and fixed overnight at 4°C followed by three washes with phosphate buffered saline (PBS). Meningeal tissues were dissected from hemiskulls and placed on glass slides (Polysine<sup>®</sup> Thermo-Scientific, United States) for staining with Toluidine Blue (Levy et al., 2007; Kilinc et al., 2017). Images were acquired with an Olympus AX-TFSM microscope (Olympus, Japan).

# Electrophysiology

Isolated whole-mount mouse hemiskulls were used for spike recordings as previously described (Zakharov et al., 2015; Kilinc et al., 2017; Mikhailov et al., 2019). In short, hemiskulls were cleaned from cranial muscles, keeping the dura mater with meningeal nerves and vessels intact. The main meningeal branch of the trigeminal nerve was cleaned from surrounding tissue, cut and placed inside the glass electrode filled with the ACSF. All recordings of electrical activity from trigeminal nerves were performed from hemiskull preparations continuously perfused by ACSF oxygenated with 95% O2/ 5% CO2. Trigeminal nerve spiking activity was registered using DAM80 amplifier (World Precision Instruments, Sarasota, FL, United States). Electrical signals were digitized using a NI PCI6221 board (National Instruments, United States) stored on a PC for off-line analysis. Signals were visualized by WinEDR v.3.2.7 software (University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, United Kingdom) and analyzed with Matlab-based software (Zakharov et al., 2015). All agonists and the antagonist of 5-HT3 receptors (ATP from Sigma-Aldrich, Germany and serotonin and MDL-7222 from Tocris Bioscience, United Kingdom) were prepared immediately before usage and were applied to the receptive fields in meninges by fast perfusion (7 ml/min). ATP and serotonin were dissolved in water, while MDL-7222 was first dissolved in DMSO (stock concentration 30 mM) and then diluted to a final concentration of 10  $\mu$ M in the basic solution.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Experimental data were analyzed using Matlab (MathWorks, Inc., United States). Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM (standard error of mean). The data were analyzed using Student's paired *t*-test and Mann–Whitney *U*-test when appropriate, the differences accepted significant at  $p \leq 0.05$ .

# RESULTS

## ATP Induced Activation of Meningeal Afferents Reduced in Mast Cells Deficient Mice

We first verified that the mast cell deficient animals were indeed devoid of mast cells. As demonstrated in Figures 1A,C,



where WT meninges contained a vast amount of mast cells, there were no mast cells in the meninges of C57BL/6J-KitW-v/J mice (KO mice).

The pro-nociceptive action of ATP on trigeminal meningeal nerve fibers was electrophysiologically recorded in WT and KO mice. The baseline frequency of meningeal spikes (measured during 2 min before ATP application) was not significantly different in the two groups (27.7  $\pm$  14.8 spikes in the WT, n = 6 versus 57.0  $\pm$  29.9 spikes in KO mice, n = 8, p = 0.322). The application of ATP (100  $\mu$ M) via rapid perfusion produced a pronounced firing in nerve fibers in both groups of mice (Figure 1B). In WT mice, the frequency of nociceptive spikes after application of ATP increased from the resting value of 27.7 spikes to 400.2  $\pm$  169.1 spikes 6 min after ATP application (p = 0.105 as compared to baseline activity, n = 6) and to 679.2  $\pm$  185.1 spikes 8 min after ATP application (p = 0.024, n = 6). In sharp contrast, in KO animals, ATP increased spiking activity from the resting value of 57.0 spikes only to 111  $\pm$  35.5 spikes (p = 0.034, n = 8) by 6 min and to 199  $\pm$  81.2 spikes (p = 0.057, n = 8) by 8 min. The detailed time-course of ATP action in WT and KO mice is shown in Figure 1D. Comparative analysis indicated that during the maximal effect (6-8 min of ATP action) the spike frequency in KO mice was significantly lower (p = 0.02) compared to the WT mice (Figure 1D).

# MDL-7222 Inhibits ATP Mediated Nociceptive Firing

We recently showed that ATP efficiently promoted the degranulation of meningeal mast cells (Nurkhametova et al., 2019), a process which is associated with the release of multiple active mediators including serotonin. Endogenous serotonin derived from dural mast cells is a likely candidate to excite nerve fibers as it strongly promotes firing of rat meningeal afferents mainly via neuronal ligand-gated 5-HT3 receptors (Kilinc et al., 2017). Therefore, we next investigated the hypothesis that the part of the pro-nociceptive effect of ATP was mediated by endogenous serotonin via 5-HT3 receptors. To this end, we performed experiments where ATP was applied together with the 5-HT3 receptor antagonist MDL-7222. In the presence of this 5-HT3 blocker, ATP (100 µM) was still able to increase the frequency of meningeal spikes from 6.4  $\pm$  2.8 spikes to  $160.3 \pm 49.9 \ (p = 0.027, n = 7)$  by 6 min, and to  $235.9 \pm 71$  spikes (p = 0.023, n = 7) by 8 min. However, this effect was significantly (p = 0.035) weaker than the peak frequency induced by ATP alone (679.2  $\pm$  185.1 spikes by 8 min, *p* = 0.024, **Figure 1D**).

# Serotonin Induces Nociceptive Firing via 5-HT3 Receptors

In order to confirm that low concentrations of serotonin close to physiological levels of this monoamine (Nagata et al., 2006;



5-HT3 antagonist MDL-7222 on serotonin-induced activation of meningeal afferents. The time-course of nociceptive firing before and after application of 2  $\mu$ M serotonin (black circles) and 2  $\mu$ M serotonin in the presence of 10  $\mu$ M MDL-7222 (white circles; *n* = 7 in both groups). Each point represents the mean spike frequency of a 2 min recording period. Mean  $\pm$  SEM, Student's paired *t*-test, \*p < 0.05.

Ćulafic et al., 2007) are active in mice, we applied this monoamine to mouse meninges.

Application of 2  $\mu$ M of serotonin increased spiking activity of trigeminal nerves in WT mice from 13 ± 4.7 spikes to 89.4 ± 15.1 spikes by 16 min (p = 0.002 as compared to baseline activity) and then to 92.4 ± 25.6 spikes by 18 min (p = 0.015) after serotonin application (n = 7, **Figure 2**). This excitatory action of serotonin was largely prevented in the presence of the 5-HT3 receptor antagonist MDL-7222 (10  $\mu$ M) down to 36.6 ± 13.1 spikes by 16 min (p = 0.057, n = 7, **Figure 2**) and 41.3 ± 16.3 spikes by 18 min after serotonin applied together with MDL-7222 (p = 0.084, n = 7, **Figure 2**).

Comparison of the spike frequency in the period of maximal serotonin-induced activity (14–18 min) showed that the number of spikes was significantly weaker when this agonist was applied together with MDL-7222 (p = 0.038, n = 7).

# Spectral Analysis of the Pro-nociceptive Effect of ATP

To compare the functional sequences of ATP induced signaling in the presence and absence of mast cells, we performed spectral analysis of firing activity in the meningeal nerves, which normally sends this information to the second order brainstem neurons (Andreou et al., 2015).

**Figures 3A,B** show that the pro-nociceptive effect of ATP in WT mice was characterized by high-frequency discharges. Notably, the spectral analysis revealed that in the WT mice the activity peaked at 10 Hz, which is sufficient for the temporal summation of excitatory signals at the level of secondary nociceptive neurons (Zakharov et al., 2015). In contrast, in KO mice, spectral analysis indicated a prevailing activity at 0.6 Hz (**Figure 3C**). Similar results were obtained also in the presence of MDL-7222 (**Figure 3D**). Thus, in the absence of mast cells, and when the action of serotonin was blocked, ATP-induced high frequency events were significantly reduced.

## DISCUSSION

Here, we demonstrate for the first time the potent excitatory action of extracellular ATP on nociceptive firing of mouse meningeal afferents implicated in generation of migraine pain and the key role of mast cells in this phenomenon.

Despite the high prevalence of migraine, the mechanisms of pain generation in this common disorder have not been fully discovered. The trigeminovascular system of the meninges comprising trigeminal nerve fibers densely innervating dura mater blood vessels, is a well-recognized origin site of migraine pain (Messlinger, 2009; Olesen et al., 2009; Noseda and Burstein, 2013; Pietrobon and Moskowitz, 2013; Zakharov et al., 2015).

Recent evidence also suggests an important role for meningeal mast cells in triggering migraine pain. Thus, mast cells are densely present in meningeal tissues, located adjacent to both nerves and vessels (Theoharides et al., 1995, 2005; Levy et al., 2007). The contact between mast cells and nerve endings forms a neuro-immune synapse where active substances released by mast cells can activate neighboring nociceptive fibers and compounds released from active fibers, in turn, can degranulate mast cells (Dimitriadou et al., 1991). There is a long list of active substances, which can take part in the crosstalk between neurons and mast cells. Thus, degranulation of mast cells leads to release of multiple pro-inflammatory substances including enzymes, neurotrophic factors, pro-inflammatory cytokines, histamine and serotonin (Wernersson and Pejler, 2014; Conti et al., 2019). Degranulation of dural mast cells can strongly activate meningeal nerve fibers (Levy et al., 2007; Kilinc et al., 2017). Interestingly, we found that histamine is weak in excitation of meningeal nerve terminals (Kilinc et al., 2017, see also Schwenger et al., 2007). In contrast, serotonin is a powerful inducer of nociceptive firing in meningeal afferents, operating via ligand-gated 5-HT3 receptors (Kilinc et al., 2017).

One of the endogenous substances, which can activate meningeal afferents, is extracellular ATP, a powerful pronociceptive and pro-inflammatory agent (Giniatullin and Nistri, 2013; Burnstock et al., 2014). The purinergic hypothesis of migraine, suggesting an important role of ATP in migraine pathophysiology, was first proposed by Burnstock (1981). We previously showed in rats, that ATP induced nociceptive firing in trigeminal nerves, through ATP-gated P2X3 receptors (Yegutkin et al., 2016; Zakharov et al., 2016). The other study showed that dural topical application of ATP activated more than half of A-delta and C-fibers (Zhao and Levy, 2015). In the current study, we also found that ATP produced a huge (24.6-fold) activation of meningeal trigeminal nerve fibers in mice.

Besides this direct excitatory action on nerve terminals, extracellular ATP is also known as a substance triggering mast cell degranulation (Wareham and Seward, 2016; Nurkhametova et al., 2019). Here, we tested the hypothesis that this concomitant action of ATP contributes to activation of trigeminal fibers via degranulation of dural mast cells and the release of additional



excitatory agents, such as serotonin. To test this hypothesis, we used C57BL/6J-KitW-v/J mice deficient in mast cells and found that mast cell deficient mice were significantly less sensitive to the excitatory action of extracellular ATP suggesting that mast cells provided an additional component for the pronociceptive action.

As serotonin is a well-known mast cell mediator stored in granules and easily released upon activation (Wernersson and Pejler, 2014), we tested its action on mouse trigeminal afferents. We found that concentrations as low as 2  $\mu$ M of this biogenic amine are able to excite nerve terminals similar to ATP. Notably, like in rats (Kilinc et al., 2017), this effect of serotonin was antagonized by the specific 5-HT3 antagonist MDL-7222 demonstrating the role of the ligand-gated 5-HT3 receptor as a main target of serotonin.

Moreover, when testing the action of ATP in WT mice, ATPinduced firing was also reduced in the presence of MDL-7222 suggesting that the action of ATP is partially mediated by 5-HT3 receptors. It is worth noting that serotonin can promote release of the migraine mediator CGRP (Kilinc et al., 2017) and contributes to meningeal neuroinflammation (Buzzi and Moskowitz, 2005) which can be a reason for long-lasting pain in migraine. Thus, serotonin can be considered as the endogenous amplifier of purinergic nociception in meninges. On the other hand, at the level of 'postsynaptic' neuronal membrane, there could be the inhibitory interactions between 5-HT3 and P2X channels (Barajas-López et al., 2002), which are most significant at high agonist concentrations. This negative mechanism can limit an excessive excitation of afferents when the high level of ATP and serotonin are co-released. ATP-induced firing discharges around 10 Hz detected in the WT and missing in KO mice and in the presence of MDL-7222 may be important for the nociceptive traffic amplification at the level of second order neurons via temporal summation of input signals in the excitatory synapses in the brainstem (Zakharov et al., 2015).

In summary, we report that extracellular ATP, a powerful pronociceptive agent, which can be released during a migraine attack (Karatas et al., 2013), stimulates nociceptive firing in trigeminal afferents via a dual mechanism, including degranulation of resident mast cells and by the direct excitatory action on nerve terminals. ATP can be released from multiple cellular sources including astrocytes, neurons, platelets, and endothelial cells, primarily via exocytosis and/or pannexin/connexin hemichannels (Pankratov et al., 2006; Pangrsic et al., 2007; Lohman et al., 2012). Notably, ATP release could be enhanced in migraine-associated conditions such as shear stress and hypo-osmotic cell swelling (Wei et al., 2011; Burnstock and Knight, 2017) and local inflammation (Dosch et al., 2018). We suggest that ATP-driven mechanisms contribute both to excitation and to meningeal neuroinflammation in the local neuro-immune unit formed by dural mast cells and trigeminal afferent fibers.

## DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets for this manuscript are not publicly available because the raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to Rashid.Giniatullin@uef.fi.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

KK, VG, and OG contributed to data collection, analysis, interpretation, and writing the manuscript. RaisaG contributed to data collection and analysis. DN contributed to writing and

## REFERENCES

- Andreou, A. P., Holland, P. R., Lasalandra, M. P., and Goadsby, P. J. (2015). Modulation of nociceptive dural input to the trigeminocervical complex through GluK1 kainate receptors. *Pain* 156, 439–450. doi: 10.1097/01.j.pain. 0000460325.25762.c0
- Barajas-López, C., Montaño, L. M., and Espinosa-Luna, R. (2002). Inhibitory interactions between 5-HT3 and P2X channels in submucosal neurons. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 283, G1238–G1248. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi. 00054.2002
- Baun, M., Pedersen, M. H., Olesen, J., and Jansen-Olesen, I. (2012). Dural mast cell degranulation is a putative mechanism for headache induced by PACAP-38. *Cephalalgia* 32, 337–345. doi: 10.1177/0333102412439354
- Burnstock, G. (1981). Pathophysiology of migraine: a new hypothesis. *Lancet* 317, 1397–1399. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(81)92572-1
- Burnstock, G., and Knight, G. E. (2017). Cell culture: complications due to mechanical release of ATP and activation of purinoceptors. *Cell Tissue Res.* 370, 1–11. doi: 10.1007/s00441-017-2618-8
- Burnstock, G., Nistri, A., Khakh, B. S., and Giniatullin, R. (2014). ATP-gated P2X receptors in health and disease. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 8:204. doi: 10.3389/fncel. 2014.00204
- Buzzi, M. G., and Moskowitz, A. (2005). The pathophysiology of migraine: year 2005. J. Headache Pain 6, 105–111. doi: 10.1007/s10194-005-0165-2
- Conti, P., D'Ovidio, C., Conti, C., Gallenga, C. E., Lauritano, D., Caraffa, A., et al. (2019). Progression in migraine: role of mast cells and pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 844, 87–94. doi: 10.1016/j. ejphar.2018.12.004
- Ćulafic, D. M., Mirkovic, D. S., Vukcevic, M. D., and Rudic, J. S. (2007). Plasma and platelet serotonin levels in patients with liver cirrhosis. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 13, 5750–5753. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v13.i43.5750
- Dimitriadou, V., Buzzi, M. G., Moskowitz, M. A., and Theoharides, T. C. (1991). Trigeminal sensory fiber stimulation induces morphological changes reflecting secretion in rat dura mater mast cells. *Neuroscience* 44, 97–112. doi: 10.1016/ 0306-4522(91)90253-K
- Dosch, M., Gerber, J., Jebbawi, F., and Beldi, G. (2018). Mechanisms of ATP release by inflammatory cells. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19:E1222. doi: 10.3390/ijms19041222
- Giniatullin, R., and Nistri, A. (2013). Desensitization properties of P2X3 receptors shaping pain signaling. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 7:245. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2013. 00245
- Karatas, H., Erdener, S. E., Gursoy-Ozdemir, Y., Lule, S., Eren-Koçak, E., Sen, Z. D., et al. (2013). Spreading depression triggers headache by activating neuronal Panx1 channels. *Science* 339, 1092–1095. doi: 10.1126/science.1231897
- Kilinc, E., Guerrero-Toro, C., Zakharov, A., Vitale, C., Gubert-Olive, M., Koroleva, K., et al. (2017). Serotonergic mechanisms of trigeminal meningeal nociception: implications for migraine pain. *Neuropharmacology* 166, 160–173. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuropharm.2016.12.024
- Levy, D., Burstein, R., Kainz, V., Jakubowski, M., and Strassman, A. M. (2007). Mast cell degranulation activates a pain pathway underlying migraine headache. *Pain* 130, 166–176. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2007.03.012

editing the manuscript. OM and PL provided the KO mouse line and contributed to writing the manuscript. GS contributed to the study design and supervision of the study. TM and RashidG contributed to the study design and supervision, writing the manuscript, and the final editing. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

## **FUNDING**

This project was supported by the Finnish Academy (Grant 277442 for RashidG and 298071 for TM). KK, OG, DN, and RashidG were supported by the RFBR KOMFI (Grant 17-00-00053).

- Lohman, A. W., Billaud, M., and Isakson, B. E. (2012). Mechanisms of ATP release and signalling in the blood vessel wall. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 95, 269–280. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvs187
- Messlinger, K. (2009). Migraine: where and how does the pain originate? *Exp. Brain Res.* 196, 179–193. doi: 10.1007/s00221-009-1756-y
- Mikhailov, N., Leskinen, J., Fagerlund, I., Poguzhelskaya, E., Giniatullina, R., Gafurov, O., et al. (2019). Mechanosensitive meningeal nociception via Piezo channels: implications for pulsatile pain in migraine? *Neuropharmacology* 149, 113–123. doi: 10.1016/J.NEUROPHARM.2019.02.015
- Nagata, E., Shibata, M., Hamada, J., Shimizu, T., Katoh, Y., Gotoh, K., et al. (2006). Plasma 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) in migraine during an attack-free period. *Headache* 46, 592–596. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4610.2006. 00408.x
- Noseda, R., and Burstein, R. (2013). Migraine pathophysiology: anatomy of the trigeminovascular pathway and associated neurological symptoms, CSD, sensitization and modulation of pain. *Pain* 154, S44–S53. doi: 10.1016/j.pain. 2013.07.021
- Nurkhametova, D., Kudryavtsev, I., Guselnikova, V., Serebryakova, M., Giniatullina, R., Wojciechowski, S., et al. (2019). Activation of P2X7 receptors in peritoneal and meningeal mast cells detected by uptake of organic dyes: possible purinergic triggers of neuroinflammation in meninges. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 13:45. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00045
- Olesen, J., Burstein, R., Ashina, M., and Tfelt-Hansen, P. (2009). Origin of pain in migraine: evidence for peripheral sensitisation. *Lancet Neurol.* 8, 679–690. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70090-0
- Pangrsic, T., Potokar, M., Stenovec, M., Kreft, M., Fabbretti, E., Nistri, A., et al. (2007). Exocytotic release of ATP from cultured astrocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 28749–28758. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M700290200
- Pankratov, Y., Lalo, U., Verkhratsky, A., and North, R. A. (2006). Vesicular release of ATP at central synapses. *Pflugers Arch.* 452, 589–597. doi: 10.1007/s00424-006-0061-x
- Pietrobon, D., and Moskowitz, M. A. (2013). Pathophysiology of migraine. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 75, 365–391. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-030212-183717
- Reuter, U., Bolay, H., Jansen-Olesen, I., Chiarugi, A., Sanchez del Rio, M., Letourneau, R., et al. (2001). Delayed inflammation in rat meninges: implications for migraine pathophysiology. *Brain* 124, 2490–2502. doi: 10.1093/ brain/124.12.2490
- Schwenger, N., Dux, M., de Col, R., Carr, R., and Messlinger, K. (2007). Interaction of calcitonin gene-related peptide, nitric oxide and histamine release in neurogenic blood flow and afferent activation in the rat cranial dura mater. *Cephalalgia* 27, 481–491. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2982.2007. 01321.x
- Shelukhina, I., Mikhailov, N., Abushik, P., Nurullin, L., Nikolsky, E. E., and Giniatullin, R. (2017). Cholinergic nociceptive mechanisms in rat meninges and trigeminal ganglia: potential implications for migraine pain. *Front. Neurol.* 8:163. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00163
- Theoharides, T. C., Donelan, J., Kandere-Grzybowska, K., and Konstantinidou, A. (2005). The role of mast cells in migraine pathophysiology. *Brain Res. Rev.* 49, 65–76. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2004.11.006

- Theoharides, T. C., Spanos, C., Pang, X., Alferes, L., Ligris, K., Letourneau, R., et al. (1995). Stress-induced intracranial mast cell degranulation: a corticotropinreleasing hormone-mediated effect. *Endocrinology* 136, 5745–5750. doi: 10. 1210/endo.136.12.7588332
- Wareham, K. J., and Seward, E. P. (2016). P2X7 receptors induce degranulation in human mast cells. *Purinergic Signal*. 12, 235–246. doi: 10.1007/s11302-016-9497-4
- Wei, X., Edelmayer, R. M., Yan, J., and Dussor, G. (2011). Activation of TRPV4 on dural afferents produces headache-related behavior in a preclinical rat model. *Cephalalgia* 31, 1595–1600. doi: 10.1177/0333102411427600
- Wernersson, S., and Pejler, G. (2014). Mast cell secretory granules: armed for battle. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 14, 478–494. doi: 10.1038/nri3690
- Yegutkin, G. G., Guerrero-Toro, C., Kilinc, E., Koroleva, K., Ishchenko, Y., Abushik, P., et al. (2016). Nucleotide homeostasis and purinergic nociceptive signaling in rat meninges in migraine-like conditions. *Purinergic Signal.* 12, 561–574. doi: 10.1007/s11302-016-9521-8
- Zakharov, A., Koroleva, K., and Giniatullin, R. (2016). Clustering analysis for sorting ATP-induced nociceptive firing in rat meninges. *BioNanoScience* 6, 508–512. doi: 10.1007/s12668-016-0276-z

- Zakharov, A., Vitale, C., Kilinc, E., Koroleva, K., Fayuk, D., Shelukhina, I., et al. (2015). Hunting for origins of migraine pain: cluster analysis of spontaneous and capsaicin-induced firing in meningeal trigeminal nerve fibers. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9:287. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00287
- Zhao, J., and Levy, D. (2015). Modulation of intracranial meningeal nociceptor activity by cortical spreading depression: a reassessment. J. Neurophysiol. 113, 2778–2785. doi: 10.1152/jn.00991.2014

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Koroleva, Gafurov, Guselnikova, Nurkhametova, Giniatullina, Sitdikova, Mattila, Lindsberg, Malm and Giniatullin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Secretion of Mast Cell Inflammatory Mediators Is Enhanced by CADM1-Dependent Adhesion to Sensory Neurons

#### Rania Magadmi<sup>1,2</sup>, Judit Meszaros<sup>1</sup>, Zoheir A. Damanhouri<sup>2</sup> and Elizabeth P. Seward<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Biomedical Science, University of Sheffield, Sheffield, United Kingdom, <sup>2</sup> Department of Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Rashid Giniatullin, University of Eastern Finland, Finland

#### Reviewed by:

Fatma Tore, Biruni University, Turkey Elsa Fabbretti, University of Trieste, Italy Inger Jansen-Olesen, Rigshospitalet, Denmark

\*Correspondence: Elizabeth P. Seward e.p.seward@sheffield.ac.uk

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Neurophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience

> **Received:** 10 April 2019 **Accepted:** 24 May 2019 **Published:** 18 June 2019

#### Citation:

Magadmi R, Meszaros J, Damanhouri ZA and Seward EP (2019) Secretion of Mast Cell Inflammatory Mediators Is Enhanced by CADM1-Dependent Adhesion to Sensory Neurons. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:262. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00262 Neuroimmune interactions are important in the pathophysiology of many chronic inflammatory diseases, particularly those associated with alterations in sensory processing and pain. Mast cells and sensory neuron nerve endings are found in areas of the body exposed to the external environment, both are specialized to sense potential damage by injury or pathogens and signal to the immune system and nervous system, respectively, to elicit protective responses. Cell adhesion molecule 1 (CADM1), also known as SynCAM1, has previously been identified as an adhesion molecule which may couple mast cells to sensory neurons however, whether this molecule exerts a functional as well as structural role in neuroimmune cross-talk is unknown. Here we show, using a newly developed in vitro co-culture system consisting of murine bone marrow derived mast cells (BMMC) and adult sensory neurons isolated from dorsal root ganglions (DRG), that CADM1 is expressed in mast cells and adult sensory neurons and mediates strong adhesion between the two cell types. Non-neuronal cells in the DRG cultures did not express CADM1, and mast cells did not adhere to them. The interaction of BMMCs with sensory neurons was found to induce mast cell degranulation and IL-6 secretion and to enhance responses to antigen stimulation and activation of FceRI receptors. Secretion of TNF $\alpha$  in contrast was not affected, nor was secretion evoked by compound 48/80. Cocultures of BMMCs with HEK 293 cells, which also express CADM1, while also leading to adhesion did not replicate the effects of sensory neurons on mast cells, indicative of a neuron-specific interaction. Application of a CADM1 blocking peptide or knockdown of CADM1 in BMMCs significantly decreased BMMC attachment to sensory neurites and abolished the enhanced secretory responses of mast cells. In conclusion, CADM1 is necessary and sufficient to drive mast cell-sensory neuron adhesion and promote the development of a microenvironment in which neurons enhance mast cell responsiveness to antigen, this interaction could explain why the incidence of painful neuroinflammatory disorders such as irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) are increased in atopic patients.

Keywords: mast cells, pain, allergy, IGE receptor, CADM1, synCAM1, sensory neurons

# INTRODUCTION

Mast cells are best known for their role in allergic diseases. The symptoms of allergic reactions are instigated by the secretion of a plethora of pro-inflammatory mediators from mast cells following antigen-dependent crosslinking of IgE receptors (FceRI) (Galli and Tsai, 2012). These mediators include preformed molecules stored in granules such as histamine, serotonin, adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP), proteases, tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ), chemokines, and peptides, as well as de novo synthesized cytokines, growth factors and lipid mediators (Sismanopoulos et al., 2012). Since mast cells are tissue resident cells, the mediators they secrete influence the function of nearby cells expressing cognate receptors. Conversely, mast cells also express a wide variety of other types of receptors whose activation by local mediators may intern amplify antigen-induced responses (Gilfillan et al., 2009), while much is known about mast cell cross-talk with other innate and adaptive immune cells, more recently, their contribution to neuroimmune signaling is also increasingly being recognized (Undem and Taylor-Clark, 2014; Voisin et al., 2017).

Evidence is accumulating that mast cells may contribute to pain experienced in conditions whose pathology involves tissues lying at the interface of the external environment such as intestines, bladder, uterus, airways, skin and meninges (Aich et al., 2015; Gupta and Harvima, 2018). Indeed, mast cells have shown preference to attach to substance P (subP)and calcitonin gene related peptide (CGRP)-positive sensory neurons in human and rat intestine (Stead et al., 1987), respiratory tract (Alving et al., 1991) dura matter (Rozniecki et al., 1999), and other tissues (Spanos et al., 1997; Pavlovic et al., 2008). The number of contacts between mast cells and neurons is increased during infection (Stead et al., 1987), allergic conditions (El-Nour et al., 2005), and inflammatory conditions such as irritable bowel syndrome (Barbara et al., 2004; Theoharides and Conti, 2004) and this correlates to pain (Barbara et al., 2007; Ohman and Simrén, 2010; Di Nardo et al., 2014). Mast cell granule-derived mediators and cytokines, including IL-6 and TNF-a, in turn have been shown to sensitize nociceptors (von Banchet et al., 2005; Barbara et al., 2007; Hensellek et al., 2007) and contribute directly to neurogenic inflammation and pain signaling (Aich et al., 2015; Wouters et al., 2016; Gupta and Harvima, 2018). Knowledge of the adhesion molecules regulating mast-cell sensory neuron contacts may therefore provide new insight into disease mechanisms and strategies for intervention.

Cell adhesion molecule 1 (CADM1, also known as SynCAM 1, Necl-2, SgIgSF, TSLC-1) is reported to contribute to mast cell interactions with neurons (Furuno et al., 2005; Hagiyama et al., 2011), fibroblasts and smooth muscle cells (Moiseeva et al., 2013b). CADM1 is one of four related glycoproteins with a common structure consisting of three extracellular Ig-like domains, a transmembrane region and short conserved cytoplasmic domain that binds adaptor proteins linking it to the cytoskeleton and other intracellular partners (Biederer, 2006). CADM1, 2, 3 can each form weak trans homophilic interactions, while CADM1/2 and CADM3/4 interactions produce strong

heterophilic adhesions in neurons (Fogel et al., 2007). Mutations in CADM1 have been implicated in autism spectrum disorder, and its expression is increased in Rett syndrome (Nectoux et al., 2010) which is associated with altered peripheral mechanosensory transduction (Orefice et al., 2016). One study performed to date examining mast cell - sensory neuron adhesions, failed to detect CADM protein expression but did find evidence for nectin-3 mRNA expression in dorsal root ganglia. Neutralizing antibodies aimed at disrupting CADM1/nectin-3 heterophilic interactions reduced mast cell adhesion (Furuno et al., 2012; Moiseeva et al., 2013b). However, since neuronal expression of CADM1 is developmentally regulated (Fogel et al., 2007; Hagiyama et al., 2011; Moiseeva et al., 2013a,b), and the only study performed to date used neurons isolated from newborn mice, whether CADM1 contributes to functional interactions between mature sensory neurons and mast cells remains an open question. It is also unknown how adhesion between sensory neurons and mast cells modulates their responses to allergic activation. To address these questions, we established a co-culture system between adult sensory neurons isolated from dorsal root ganglia (DRG) and functionally mature mast cells generated from haematopoetic stem cells found in bone marrow derived mast cells (BMMCs). Protein expression analysis, showed that distinct variants of CADM1 are expressed in sensory neurons and mast cells. Knockdown of CADM1 in mast cells abolished their adhesion to sensory neurons, conversely blocking CADM1 on sensory neurons with a neutralizing antibody inhibited mast cell adhesion. Functional analysis of mast cells in co-culture furthermore revealed that CADM1-dependent interactions with sensory neurons induced degranulation and IL-6 synthesis, and significantly enhanced FceRI-activated secretory responses. Separation of the sensory neurons from the mast cells by a porous membrane prevented the effects of co-culture, as did knockdown of CADM1, showing that the functional interaction was adhesion dependent. While the effects of mast cell derived mediators on sensory neurons are well documented, to our knowledge this is the first demonstration of a reciprocal adhesion-dependent effect of sensory neurons on mast cells and their responsiveness to antigen, emphasizing the important role that neuro-immune interactions contribute to allergic diseases.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

All animals were maintained on a 12-h light/dark cycle in a temperature-controlled environment and given food *ad libitum*. All animal procedures were conducted under the Animal (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986, and approved by the UK Home Office.

# Bone Marrow-Derived Mast Cells (BMMC) Cell Culture

Bone marrow-derived mast cells were isolated from 8 to 12 weekold C57BL6 wild type mice as described previously (Furuno and Nakanishi, 2011) with modifications. After the mice were sacrificed, bone marrow was collected from the tibia and the femur by repeated flushing using a 27-G needle syringe filled with calcium- and magnesium- free phosphate buffer solution (PBS, PAN Biotech, Germany). Cells were collected and centrifuged at 340  $\times$  g for 10 min at 4°C. The pellets obtained were re-suspended with 2-ml lysis buffer [0.83% ammonium chloride, 0.168% Na-carbonate, 1 mM EDTA (pH 7.3)], in which they were incubated for 10 min at room temperature to induce lysis of red blood cells. The lysed cells were centrifuged and resuspended with Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's Media (IMDM, Lonza, United Kingdom). For cell culture, complete medium was supplemented with 10% heatinactivated fetal calf serum (FCS, Gibco, United Kingdom), 1% MEM Vitamin (Gibco, United Kingdom), 1% of sodium pyruvate (Gibco, United Kingdom), 100 IU/ml Penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin (PAA Laboratories, United Kingdom), and 0.1 mM non-essential amino acid (Gibco, United Kingdom). In the final step, 10 ng/ml of recombinant mouse stem cell factor SCF (R&D systems, MN, United States) and 5 ng/ml recombinant murine IL-3 (R&D Systems, MN, United States) were added. The cells were cultured in 7.5% CO2 at 37°C for 4 weeks until they differentiated into BMMCs. Prior to use in experiments, cells from each preparation were analyzed for surface expression of FcERI and SCF receptor (c-kit), the classic mast cell markers, by flow cytometry. Only cultures in which >95% viable cells stained positive for both c-kit and FceRI were used.

## **Dorsal Root Ganglion (DRG) Culture**

Dorsal Root Ganglion were isolated and cultured according to previously described procedure (Sleigh et al., 2016). DRGs isolated from adult (8–12 week old) C57BL male mice, were dissociated with 0.06  $\mu$ g/ml collagenase XI (Sigma) and 0.1  $\mu$ g/ml Dispase for 1 h at 37°C, followed by gentle trituration. For selective isolation of neurons, gradient centrifuge technique with 15% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in medium was used. Cells were cultured in complete Neurobasal-A medium (NBA, Gibco) containing 2% B-27 supplement (Gibco), 2 mM Glutamax (Gibco), 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco), 10 ng/ml NGF (Sigma) and 1  $\mu$ M Cytosine $\beta$ -D-arabinofuranoside (Ara-C, Sigma) and seeded on 16 mm matrigel (BD) – coated glass coverslips or 96 well flat bottom plates and incubated for 1 day before using in co-culture.

## **BMMC-DRG Co-culture**

After culturing BMMC for 4 weeks, the purity of mast cells was assessed for surface expression of FccRI and c-Kit by flow cytometry. Only BMMC cultures with >95% FccRI<sup>+</sup> and c-Kit<sup>+</sup> were used for co-culture.  $1-3 \times 10^5$  BMMCs suspended in co-culture medium (50% IMDM and 50% NBA) were added to DRG cultures prepared 24 h previously. Co-cultures were incubated in 37°C with presence of IL-3 (5 ng/ml) for different time points. For some experiments, DRG were preincubated for 30 min prior to co-culture with 1–30 µg/ml of CADM1 blocking peptide (9D2, Medical & Biological Laboratories). For separation experiments, transwells (Costar, Corning) with a 0.4-µm insert were used. DRG

were cultured in the lower chamber, while BMMCs were added in the insert.

# **BMMC** Sensitization, Degranulation and Cytokine Secretion Assay

For antigen stimulation experiments, BMMCs  $(3.5 \times 10^5 \text{ cells})$  were sensitized overnight with 0.5 µg/ml anti-dinitrophenyl IgE (anti-DNP IgE, Sigma-Aldrich, United Kingdom). On the following day, IgE-presensitized BMMCs were co-cultured with DRG for various time points and then stimulated by 10–100 ng/ml of dinitrophenyl antigen (DNP) (Sigma-Aldrich, United Kingdom) for 30 min at 37°C. The co-culture supernatant was collected and analyzed for degranulation, IL-6, and TNF $\alpha$  secretion.

Degranulation of mast cells was evaluated by measuring the activity of granule-stored enzyme  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase (B-hex) release (Gilfillan and Tkaczyk, 2006). After BMMC were activated by IgE/Ag cross-linking, supernatants were collected and incubated with the same volume of substrate solution [2 mM p-nitrophenyl N-acetyl β-D-glucosamine (Sigma-Aldrich, United Kingdom) in 100 mM citrate buffer (pH 4.5)] at 37°C for 2 h. The reaction was stopped by addition 90 µl of Tris-HCL (pH 9). Enzyme activity was evaluated by measuring optical density at 405 nm with a microplate reader (OPTIMA). The total amount of  $\beta$ -hex released was determined by cell lysis with 0.5% Triton X-100. Background absorbance readings (b) were determined from wells containing all buffers except supernatant. The β-Hex activity was calculated using the following formula: degranulation (%) =  $((supernatant-b)/(Total-b)) \times 100$ . Fold change of enhancement in degranulation was calculated by dividing the percentage of degranulation in tested condition to the percentage of degranulation in the control condition.

For cytokines production, the experiment was performed as above, but BMMCs were stimulated with DNP for 6 h at 37°C. IL-6 and TNF $\alpha$  were analyzed in supernatants by mouse IL-6 ELISA kit (R&D Systems) and mouse TNF $\alpha$  ELISA kit (R&D Systems), respectively, as per manufacturer's instructions.

# Fluorometric Calcein-Adhesion Assay

Adhesion of BMMC was assessed using Calcein Cell Adhesion Assay Kit (Invitrogen, Life Technologies) as previously described (Moiseeva et al., 2013a). Following manufacturer' protocol,  $1 \times 10^{6}$  BMMCs/ml of serum-free medium were labeled with 5 µM Calcein-AM for 30 min at 37°C. Then, calcein-labeled BMMCs were resuspended with co-culture medium at a density of  $1 \times 10^5$  BMMCs/100 µl/well and co-cultured with DRG for 2 h. Un-attached BMMCs were washed out by spinning the plate upside down at 20  $\times$  g for 2 min and wells were re-filled with co-culture medium. The fluorescent signal was measured by fluorescence plate reader before and after washing step for total and attached readings, respectively. Calcein excitation wavelength used was 485 nm and emission wavelength was 520 nm. Adhesion was measured as percentages of adherent BMMCs to the total. For comparison control, calcein-labeled BMMCs were seeded on 1-day old Matrigel-coated wells in same co-culture medium and for the same time like the ones with DRG co-culture.

# **Flow Cytometry**

For BMMC surface protein expression,  $1 \times 10^6$  BMMCs/sample were used. After washing BMMCs with cold PBS, cells were resuspended in cold FACS buffer (2 mM EDTA in PBS with 2% FBS). BMMCs were blocked with 1:100 of Fc Block (CD16/32) (eBioscience) for 15 min on ice to prevent non-specific binding of antibodies. After washing with FACS buffer twice, BMMCs were incubated with APC-anti-mouse c-Kit (eBioscience, 1:100) and PE-anti-mouse FccRI (eBioscience, 1:100), when checking for mast cell differentiation, or rabbit anti-CADM1 (Santa Cruz sc-33198, 1:100) antibodies for 20 min on ice. Alexa Flour®488 anti-rabbit (Invitrogen, 1:1000) was used as secondary antibody. Fluorescence was detected with FACSCalibur (BD Biosciences) at emission wavelengths of 488 nm for Alexa Fluor®488 labeled samples, 660 nm for APC labeled samples or 585 nm for PE labeled samples. For analysis, the viability was first gated based on side scatter and electronic volume from unstained sample. Only viable cells from gated population were included in fluorescence measurements. For CADM1 intracellular expression, BMMCs were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS (pH 7.4) for 20 min at 4°C. Then, permeablized with 0.1% Triton X-100 for 10 min.

## Immunocytochemistry

Cultured cells were washed with ice-cold PBS and fixed with 4% PFA for 10 min, and permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS for 10 min. Following 1 h incubation with blocking buffer (2% normal donkey serum (Sigma), 0.2% Fish serum gelatine (FSG) Sigma, G7765) and 0.01% Triton X-100) in PBS) at room temperature, cells were stained with primary antibodies and incubated overnight at 4°C. Cells were then washed three times with PBS and stained with Alexa Fluor®anti-mouse or antirabbit secondary antibodies (1:1000 Invitrogen) for 2 h in the dark at room temperature. Glass coverslips were mounted onto microscope slides using mounting medium (Vectashield Hard set H1500, Vector) with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) to stain the nucleus. For negative control, some wells were stained with only secondary antibodies. Images were viewed using a  $40\times$  and  $60\times$  oil objective (N.A. 1.42) on Nikon A1 confocal microscope. Samples were illuminated at the required wavelength using 405, 488, and 561 nm lasers.

Primary antibodies used for immunocytochemistry were as follows: Rabbit anti-peripherin (Sigma P5117, at 1:1000), Guinea pig anti-Substance P (Abcam ab10353, 1:100), Mouse anti-CGRP (Abcam Ab81887, 1:100), mouse anti-β III Tubulin monoclonal IgG (R&D MAB1195 clone TuJ-1 lot HGQ0113121, 1:1000), Rabbit Anti-CADM1 Polyclonal IgG (H-300) (Santa Cruz sc-33198 lot F0407, 1:300), Alexa Fluor®488 anti-mouse c-Kit (Biolegend (6861), 1:100), Mouse anti-Tryptase (Abcam ab2378, 1:300). For further details please see **Supplementary Table 1**.

## Western Blot

A total of  $1 \times 10^6$  of 4-week old BMMCs or one-day old DRG cultures were lysed in ice-cold lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, 0.3% Triton X-100, pH 8) with 1% of protease

inhibitor cocktail III (Fisher Scientific). The insoluble debris was removed by spinning at 14,000 g for 20 min at 4°C. The protein concentration of each lysate was determined using Bradford protein assay (Sigma). For separation of CADM1 protein, 10% SDS resolving gel was used. After running the gel, the protein transfer was performed at 85 V for 90 min at 4°C (protein of interest 110 kDa). Then, the membrane was probed using rabbit anti-mouse CADM1 antibody (1:300, Santa Cruz) and mouse anti-GAPDH (1:5000, Thermo Fisher Scientific) and visualized using Li-cor system, Goat IRDye 800 anti-Rabbit 1:5000 and Goat IRDye 700 anti-Mouse 1:5000.

# Amaxa Nucleofection of BMMC

Nucleofector II (Amaxa, Lonza) was used to knockdown CADM1 in BMMC. Basic fibroblasts nucleofector kit (VPI-1002, 90279050) and recommended programs (X-001) was optimized for BMMC transfection.  $4-5 \times 10^{6}$  BMMCs/reaction were transfected with 2 µg of psi-U6 plasmid (Genecopoeia) expressing CADM1 ShRNA and eGFP or scrambled ShRNA and eGFP. Transfected cells were incubated with complete IMDM for 48 h at 37°C and 7.5% CO2 before sorted using fluorescenceactivated cell sorting (FACS). Only the GFP expressing cells were used for subsequent experiments. Three unique constructs of CADM1 ShRNA plasmids and non-targeting scramble control (Genecopoeia) were tested separately to identify the most efficient construct. CADM1 -ShRNA1 MSH031688-31 (ggacagaatctgtttactaaa), CADM1- ShRNA2 MSH031688-32 (cctccacgtaacttgatgatc), CADM1- ShRNA3 MSH031688-33 (ggagattgaagtcaactgtac), Scramble- ShRNA CSHCTR001.

## **Statistical Analysis**

The results are expressed in the figures as the means  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM) of at least three independent experiments based on different mouse cultures. Statistical comparisons with the appropriate control data from adhesion assay experiment with blocking peptide and all knockdown experiments were performed using one-way repeated measures (ANOVA) followed by Turkey's post-test. Data from other experiments were analyzed using paired *t*-test. Probability values (*p*) < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. All data handling, statistical analysis, and graphs were prepared using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, United States)<sup>1</sup>.

# RESULTS

# CADM1 Is Expressed in Mast Cells and Sensory Neurons

As a prelude to understanding the role that cell adhesion plays in regulating mast cell-sensory neuron interactions, we established a co-culture system of C57BL6 mouse BMMCs and primary DRG neurons isolated from adult mice (8–12 weeks). The purity of neurons used in the co-cultures was estimated to be 30%, as quantified by immunohistochemistry of anti- $\beta$  tubulin positively

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>www.graphpad.com





**FIGURE 2** CADM1 is enriched at mast cell-sensory neurite contact sites. Representative immunofluorescent images of BMMCs co-cultured with DRG neurons for 24 h. In panel (**A**) individual and overlaid images are shown from a neurite with two adherent cells.  $\beta$ -Tubulin (red) is used as the neuronal marker, DAPI (blue) nuclear marker labels all cells in the culture, while FceRI (yellow) specifically labels BMMCs. CADM1 (green) stained positive in the sensory neuron neurite and BMMC, but is absent from the attached non-neuronal, non-mast cell. (**B**,**C**) Representative individual and overlaid immunofluorescent images of CADM1 (green),  $\beta$ -Tubulin (red) and DAPI (blue) staining of different co-cultures. Increased CADM1 fluorescent intensity at contact sites (white arrows) between BMMCs and neurites (red). stained cells relative to the total number of DAPI positively stained cells. Prior to co-culture, BMMCs were differentiated for 4 weeks with IL-3 and rm-SCF and assessed for purity and maturity by flow cytometry and their ability to undergo antigeninduced degranulation. Only BMMC cultures in which >99% of cells stained positive for expression of c-Kit and FceRI, well established markers of mature mast cell, were used in co-culture experiments. The expression and distribution of CADM1 in each cell type before and after 48 h co-culture was then examined. Western blot analysis of lysates prepared from pure BMMCs exhibited a single band for CADM1 with a molecular weight of  $\sim 100$  kDa (Figure 1A), consistent with previous reports for human and mouse mast cells (Furuno et al., 2005; Moiseeva et al., 2013a). Immunocytochemistry and flow cytometry showed moreover that CADM1 was predominantly located in the plasma membrane of BMMCs (Figures 1B,C). CADM1 expression was also observed in lysates prepared from adult DRG cultures, although it had a lower molecular weight ( $\sim$ 70 kDa, Figure 1A), consistent with the expression of a distinct splice variant lacking O-glycans (Hagiyama et al., 2011). Immunocytochemistry of DRGs maintained in mono-culture for 48 h with the neuronal marker  $\beta$ -tubulin confirmed the expression of CADM1 was specific to neurons and notably absent from non-neuronal glialike cells which surrounding the neurons, whose presence can be detected from DAPI staining of their nuclei (Figures 1D,E). Close inspection of CADM1 staining in the co-cultures showed that it was most intense at the sites of contact between mast cells and neurites (Figure 2 arrows).

## CADM1 Is Necessary for BMMC Adhesion to DRG Neurons

To assess the role of CADM1 in mediating BMMC adhesion to sensory neurons, we developed a fluorimetric adhesion assay based on labeling of BMMCs with calcein, prior to their addition to DRG cultures. Optimization experiments showed that after loading BMMCs with calcein-AM for 30 min, fluorescent labeling is stable for 3 h and subsequently declines over the next 24 h. Isolated adult DRG neurons were cultured for 24 h in a flat-bottomed 96 well tissue culture plate during which time they developed an extensive network of neurites (Figure 3A). Calcein-labeled BMMCs were then added to the wells and allowed to adhere for 2 h after which nonadherent cells were removed vigorously by centrifugal spinning the culture plate upside-down at 20  $\times$  g for 2 min. To control for non-specific adhesion of BMMCs to the matrigel matrix used for supporting the DRG cultures, experiments were done in parallel on wells coated with matrigel but devoid of DRG (Figure 3B). Microscopic examination of the wells after spinning, clearly shows the enhancement in BMMC adhesion induced by co-culture with neurons, and moreover that the majority of mast cells attach to neurites rather than cell bodies (Figure 3A), consistent with observations made during the immunohistochemistry experiments shown in Figure 2. To quantify BMMC adhesion to the neurons, we measured the total fluorescence per well from calcein-labeled BMMCs before (total) and after centrifugation (for adherent). As shown in Figure 3C,



**FIGURE 3** | Adhesion of mast cells to sensory neurons is attenuated by a CADM1 blocking peptide. (A) Superimposed bright-field and fluorescent image of live calcein-labeled, adherent BMMCs (green) co-cultured with DRG neurons (unlabeled cells) for 2 h. Non-adherent cells have been removed by washing and centrifugation of the plate. (B) Image of calcein-labeled BMMCs plated in parallel into matrigel-coated wells devoid of neurons and subjected to the same washing and centrifugation procedure. (C) BMMC adhesion quantified from calcein-fluorescence remaining in wells after washing and centrifugation expressed as a percentage of total well fluorescence measured prior to washing procedure. Data shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM from N = 3. Each done in duplicate. Data were analyzed using a two-tailed paired *t*-test \*\*p < 0.01. (D) Concentration-dependent inhibition of mast cell adhesion to DRG measured with a CADM1 blocking peptide. Percentage of adherent BMMC was calculated using the calcein adhesion assay. Each condition was done in duplicate, on N = 3 cultures. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM. One-way ANOVA followed by Turkey's multiple comparison post-test was performed. \*\* denotes p < 0.01 and \*\*\* p < 0.001 compared to the percentage of BMMC adhesion in the absence of CADM1 blocking peptide.

co-culture with DRG neurons significantly increased the number of adherent BMMCs four-fold. Addition of CADM1 blocking peptide inhibited adhesion of BMMCs to sensory neurons in a concentration-dependent manner (**Figure 3D**) and was almost abolished at the maximum concentration tested (30  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>), consistent with the hypothesis that CADM1 mediates adhesion between mast cells and sensory neurons.

To validate the results from the CADM1 blocking peptide, we also performed CADM1 knockdown experiments in BMMCs. Three vectors expressing unique CADM1 targeted shRNA or a non-targeting scramble control together with an eGFP reporter gene were transfected into BMMCs. After 48 h, cells were sorted using fluorescence activated sorting and eGFP expressing cells used in subsequent experiments. The efficacy of CADM1 knockdown in sorted eGFP expressing BMMCs as assessed by western blot (**Figure 4A**) showed that all three ShRNA constructs tested were highly effective, with ShRNA2 and ShRNA3 achieving almost complete knockdown. Consistent with the results from the CADM1 blocking peptide experiments, knockdown of CADM1 expression in BMMCs significantly attenuated their adhesion to sensory neurons (**Figure 4B**).

## CADM1-Dependent Adhesion to Sensory Neurons Potentiates Antigen-Induced Mast Cell Degranulation and Cytokine Secretion

Having established that BMMCs adhere to sensory neurons via a CADM1-dependent interaction, we next examined potential functional consequences of this interaction. It has been reported that the length of substance P immuno-reactive nerve fibers are increased in airway of allergic conditions such as asthma (Ollerenshaw et al., 1991) and that NGF and TNF $\alpha$  secreted by activated mast cells could enhance neuronal outgrowth (Leon et al., 1994; Kakurai et al., 2006). Immunocytochemical analysis of DRG cultures used for our co-cultures showed they consisted



**FIGURE 4** | Knockdown of CADM1 in mast cells inhibits their adhesion to sensory neurons. (A) Western blot analysis of CADM1 expression in BMMCs transfected with the indicated ShRNA 48 h previously. Expression from un-transfected control cells examined in parallel are also shown (lane labeled BMMC). GAPDH was used as loading control. Data are representative of three independent experiments. (B) Adherence of BMMCs transfected with CADM1 ShRNA or scrambled control to neurons tested using the calcein assay. BMMC adhesion in the absence of DRG neurons is shown as a control. CADM1 knockdown significantly reduced BMMC adhesion to sensory neurons (N = 3). Each bar represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM. One-way ANOVA followed by Turkey's multiple comparison post-test was performed. \*\*\* denotes p < 0.001.

of at least 60% nociceptors, of which ~50% were peptidergic (**Supplementary Figure 1**). We therefore investigated the effect of co-culturing BMMC on sensory neuron morphology in our *in vitro* system. Two parameters examined were total neurite length and complexity (number of neurite crossing points of a concentric circle set with radii increasing by 20  $\mu$ m, (Stanko et al., 2015) and comparisons made between DRG monocultures and BMMC-DRG co-cultures. The neurites and BMMCs were detected by immunocytochemistry staining for  $\beta$ III-tubulin and c-kit, respectively (**Figures 5A–D**). After 48 h of co-culture, no significant change in neurite length nor complexity was detected (**Figures 5E,F**), indicating that at least in the short term (48 h post-axotomy), mast cell adhesion does not alter sensory neurite morphology.

To investigate whether adhesion of mast cells to sensory neurons alters mast cell function and more specifically, antigenic activation of mast cells through FcERI receptors, we established co-cultures of DRG neurons with anti-DNP IgE-sensitized BMMCs and compared their responses to antigen stimulation with mono-cultures of BMMCs prepared in parallel. Degranulation of mast cells was measured using  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase ( $\beta$ -hex) assays (Kuehn et al., 2010). Remarkably, BMMC basal degranulation and antigen-stimulated degranulation were both significantly potentiated in BMMCs following 6 h co-culture with sensory neurons and continued to increase for up to 24 h, the latest time point tested (Figure 6). Indeed after 24 h of co-culture with sensory neurons, mast cell degranulation was approximately double that measured in mono-cultures set up in parallel. In contrast, no such potentiation of antigen-induced degranulation was observed when BMMCs in co-culture were stimulated with compound 48/80 (Supplementary Figure 2), indicating that the effect of coculture was not simply making the mast cells hyper-responsive in a non-specific manner but involved a specific signaling pathway which enhanced their responsiveness to antigen-stimulation in a time-dependent manner.

To examine the possibility that mediators released by DRG neurons in co-culture mediated the enhancement of mast cell degranulation, we performed three different types of experiments. Firstly we examined the impact of stimulating sensory neurons directly with capsaicin on mast cell degranulation. As shown in Figure 7A, BMMC degranulation in co-cultures was significantly potentiated by capsaicin showing that chemical communication between sensory neurons and mast cells was functional under co-culture conditions. Next we examined the impact of disrupting contact between the two cell types by (a) incubating BMMCs for 24 h with supernatant from BMMC-DRG co-cultures, and (b) preparing co-cultures of BMMCs and DRGs in which contact between the two cell types was blocked by means of a transwell insert. In either scenario, where direct contact between sensory neurons and mast cells was disrupted, the potentiation of mast cell degranulation by sensory neuron signaling was blocked (Figures 7B,C) emphasizing the need for adhesion between the two cell types.

To explore further the specificity of the functional interaction between mast cells and sensory neurons and its dependence on CADM1-mediated adhesion, we also examined the effects of co-culturing BMMCs with HEK cells. Like sensory neurons, HEK cells also express CADM1 and BMMCs adhere to these cells (**Supplementary Figure 3**). However, co-culture of BMMCs with HEK cells did not result in potentiation of mast cell degranulation (**Supplementary Figure 3**), the percentage of basal degranulation measured being  $5.8 \pm 1.6\%$  in BMMC-HEK cocultures maintained for 24 h, compared with  $6.5 \pm 0.7\%$  for BMMC mono-cultures set up in parallel (N = 3). Antigeninduced degranulation was similarly unaffected by co-culture with HEK cells (co-culture degranulation 17.9  $\pm 1.8\%$ , compared with 18.2  $\pm 1.6\%$  for BMMC mono-cultures set up in parallel, N = 3, **Supplementary Figure 3**).

Having established that potentiation of BMMC degranulation was specific to co-culture with DRG and reliant on contact, we



or in BMMC-DRG co-culture (**B**). Soma and neurites were visualized with anti- $\beta$ -III tubulin (red) and BMMCs with anti-c-kit (green, white arrows) in DRG mono-cultures (**C**) and co-cultures (**D**). DAPI staining of nuclei (blue) show presence of non-neuronal cells in the DRG cultures. (**E**) Quantitative analysis of total neurites length in DRG mono-cultures and co-cultures, compared using unpaired *t*-test. (**F**) Sholl analysis of the neurite complexity. Each bar represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of number of crossing neurites found in each given distance from the soma. Statistical analysis using multiple *t*-test. *N* = 3.

next examined the role of CADM1-dependent adhesion in mast cell-sensory neuron crosstalk. Addition of CADM1 blocking peptide to the co-cultures was found to significantly inhibit the potentiation of mast cell degranulation (**Figures 8A,B**), indicating that CADM1-mediated adhesion between the cell types was necessary and sufficient to potentiate mast cell secretion. Consistent with this conclusion, knockdown of CADM1 in BMMCs also significantly attenuated the enhancement of degranulation induced by co-culture with sensory neurons (**Figures 8C,D**).

Finally, we examined whether CADM1-dependent mast-cell sensory neuron cross talk extended to the regulation of proinflammatory cytokine secretion. IL-6 and TNF $\alpha$  secretion in mono- and co-cultures were compared in the absence and presence of antigen activation of mast cells. As shown in **Figure 9A**, IL-6 secretion was induced by co-culture with DRG and moreover, antigen-activated secretion significantly increased by 2.5-fold. In contrast, TNF $\alpha$  was not increased, indicating that the signaling pathway enhanced by CADM1 adhesion of mast cells to sensory neurons was specific and selective to the synthesis



and secretion of specific pro-inflammatory cytokines. Control experiments confirmed that neither cytokine was produced to any significant level in DRG monocultures (Figures 9A,B). Knockdown of CADM1 expression in BMMCs significantly attenuated the neuronal induced IL-6 secretion as well as the neuronal enhancement of antigen-activated IL-6 secretion, confirming the critical role played by this adhesion molecule in regulating the signaling pathway controlling cytokine expression and secretion in mast cell-sensory neuron cross talk (Figure 9C).

# DISCUSSION

Because mast cells mature within tissues when they are in proximity to other cell types (Galli, 2000), one can speculate that mast cell specific interactions with other cells will be regulated by the expression of cognate adhesion receptors on other cells in the tissue and that contact between the cells will promote receptor mediated communication between the cells. Furthermore, anchoring of adhesion molecules at sites of cell contact and consequent stabilization of proteinprotein interactions mediated through their cytosolic domains may also influence the effector functions of mast cells in a tissue and cell specific manner. Here we show, that CADM1 mediates adhesion between mast cells and adult sensory neurons, and that this interaction alone is sufficient to induces degranulation and IL-6 secretion from mast cells and also to enhance significantly FccRI-activated secretion of proinflammatory mediators.

At least four isoforms of CADM1 are generated through alternative splicing, with resulting changes in glycosylation impacting on cell specific functions and adhesion strength (Fogel et al., 2007; Hagiyama et al., 2011; Moiseeva et al., 2013a). Our protein expression analysis in BMMCs is consistent with other studies on human (Yang et al., 2006; Moiseeva et al., 2012) and rodent mast cells (Ito et al., 2003) showing expression of a single isoform of CADM1 with a m.w. of  $\sim$ 100 kDa. This is significantly higher than the predicted molecular weight of any of the four CADM gene encoded proteins (m.w. 40-45 kDa), but in agreement with the apparent m.w. of fully glycosylated CADM1c isoform. The specific expression of CADM1c in mast cells may be of significance when it comes to controlling adhesion to sensory neurons. It is known that dimer formation is essential for CADM-mediated adhesion, CADM1c is unique among the four common isoforms in forming heterodimers with CADM1d, thereby significantly increasing the strength of adhesion compared to that formed by homodimers (Hagiyama et al., 2011). BMMCs grown in monocultures notably show very little adhesion to each other. This observation suggests that CADM1c does not mediate significant homotypic adhesion and that trans CADM1 binding is isoform dependent (Hagiyama et al., 2011).



**FIGURE 7** Potentiation of mast cell degranulation by sensory neurons is contact-dependent. (A) BMMC degranulation measured as secreted  $\beta$ -hex from the mono-cultures and co-cultures of the indicated cells. Sensory neurons co-cultured with BMMCs for 24 h, were activated with 1  $\mu$ m capsaicin for 20 min.  $\beta$ -Hex secreted from mono-cultures of DRGs is minimal and shows that the potentiated BMMC degranulation observed in the co-cultures is not simply additive but due to a significant interaction between the two cell types. (B) BMMCs pre-sensitized with anti-DNP IGE were cultured alone or with supernatant collected from BMMC-DRG co-cultured for 24 h. Degranulation as measured by secreted  $\beta$ -hex was measured in resting condition (labeled Ag independent) or after 30 min stimulation with the antigen, DNP (10 ng/ml, labeled Ag-mediated), and expressed as a percentage of total  $\beta$ -hex measured from lysed BMMCs. (C) Pre-sensitized BMMCs were cultured alone or on the top of DRG cultured using a transwell system for 24 h prior to measuring degranulation. Data shown are mean  $\pm$  SEM of N = 3, each performed in duplicate. Data were analyzed using two-tailed paired *t*-test. \*  $\rho < 0.05$ , \*\*  $\rho < 0.01$ , n.s is non-significant.

CADM1 expression analysis on isolated adult DRGs showed a thick band of protein with an estimated m.w. of ~75 kDa, the expected molecular weight of isoform d. In other neurons, CADM1d expression is developmentally regulated, concentrated in neurites and linked to formation of synapses (Fogel et al., 2007; Hagiyama et al., 2011). Our immunocytochemistry analysis of DRG indicated that CADM1 was expressed in the soma of all subtypes of sensory neurons and some neurites. When BMMCs were co-cultured with DRG, BMMCs were observed to have attach to neurites where CADM1 was concentrated. In contrast to our results, a previous study investigating mast cell-sensory neuron interactions failed to identify CADM1 expression in DRG and concluded that nectin3 mediated adhesion with mast cells (Hagiyama et al., 2011; Furuno et al., 2012). Differences between the two studies may arise from the age of mice used to isolate DRG and developmental regulation of CADM1 expression. In agreement with our protein expression analysis in adult DRG, single cell RNA sequence analysis of DRG neurons also indicates expression of CADM1 in all subtypes of sensory neurons and interestingly, also expression of CADM2 in nociceptors (Usoskin et al., 2015). CADM1 and CADM2 protein expression throughout development has been reported in chick DRG and interestingly, in the same report confirmed in mouse (Frei et al., 2014). CADM2 also has a mw ~76 kDa, and forms strong and specific cis-heterophilic interactions with CADM1 (Frei et al., 2014), and could therefore also be contributing to, or regulating, the formation of trans-heterophilic interactions mediating the adhesion of mast cells to sensory neurites observed in our study.

Blocking CADM1 before co-culture reduced the percentage of BMMCs adhered to sensory neurons. Knockdown CADM1



measurements made from BMMC mono-cultures set up in parallel, and the fold-change in basal Ag-Indep degranulation (**A**) or DNP (10 ng/ml), Ag-activated degranulation (**B**) calculated and compared by two-tailed paired *t*-test, \* denotes p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01. Each bar represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM (*N* = 3). (**C**) Untransfected (WT BMMC), CADM1-ShRNA or scramble-transfected BMMCs pre-sensitized with anti-DNP IGE were co-cultured with DRG for 24 h before degranulation was quantified using the  $\beta$ -Hex assay. Fold change of Ag-Independent degranulation (**C**) and DNP (10 ng/ml) Ag-activated degranulation (**D**) were calculated and compared by one-way ANOVA followed by Turkey's multiple comparison post-test, \*\*\* denotes p < 0.001 compared to wt BMMC-DRG co-culture. Each bar represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM (*N* = 3).



comparison post-test, \*denotes p < 0.05 compared to wt BMMC-DRG co-culture. Each bar represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM (N = 3).

expression from BMMCs also significantly reduced their adhesion to neurons. Despite the effectiveness of the ShRNA in ablating expression of CADM1 in BMMCs, the reduction in adhesion achieved was less than that obtained with the blocking peptide. This difference could arise from nonspecific inhibition of other structurally-related immunoglobulin superfamily adhesion receptors by the peptide, such as ICAM-1 (Inamura et al., 1998). Another possibility is that CADM1 knockdown leads to compensatory up-regulation of other adhesion molecules such as integrins which are also widely expressed in mast cells and can regulate their signaling (Sperr et al., 1992; Lorentz et al., 2002; Moiseeva et al., 2014). Nonetheless, taken together the results of both types of interference experiments provide strong evidence that CADM1 is primarily responsible for mast cell adhesion to sensory neurons.

Addition of BMMCs to DRG culture for 1 day did not affect either total neurite length or neurite complexity. Although it is reported that activated mast cells produce NGF and TNFa, which enhance neuronal outgrowth and plasticity (Leon et al., 1994; Kakurai et al., 2006), in our co-culture system, the former, at least was not apparent. Key methodological differences that could account for the lack of morphological changes could be the use of adult versus embryonic DRG (Leon et al., 1994; Frei et al., 2014). Embryonic DRG cultures are dependent on NGF for their survival (Melli and Höke, 2009), while adult DRG cultures are not, despite its receptor expression. Indeed, the role of NGF in adult sensory neurons shifts away from the neurotrophic effect to a pro-inflammatory effect that regulates neuronal function and plasticity (Sofroniew et al., 2001). Our functional studies, as discussed below, support the notion that in adult sensory neurons, the role of CADM1 adhesion is shifted from one supporting axonal pathfinding and formation of neural circuits to one regulating neuroimmune crosstalk.

Functional experiments performed on mono-cultures and co-cultures showed for the first time that CADM1-mediated adhesion between mast cells and sensory neurons specifically and selectively induced degranulation and IL-6 secretion from mast cells and moreover significantly enhanced antigenactivated mast cell responses. While adhesion between the two cell types was very rapid and established within 2 h of contact, the enhancement of mast cell secretory functions was relatively delayed, becoming significant after 6 h of coculture and continuing to increase over the ensuing 24 h, indicating that activation of CADM1-dependent intracellular signaling pathways are necessary. The observation that mast cell degranulation may be modulated by adhesion to other cells, even in the absence of external stimulation, has been reported previously. Co-culture human lung mast cells with airway smooth muscle show increased constitutive histamine release (Hollins et al., 2008) which starts after 16 h of co-culture (Lewis et al., 2016). Activated T cells enhance constitutive histamine release from BMMC also when co-cultured for 16 h (Inamura et al., 1998). Co-culture of LAD2 mast cells with tumor cells, like pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma for 24 h also show enhanced constitutive tryptase release (Ma et al., 2013). Here we found that co-culture with HEK cells, which also express CADM1, like sensory neurons, while promoting efficient adhesion, did not however, result in enhanced mast cell secretion implying that additional cell specific interactions facilitated by CADM1-adhesion contribute to the activation and sensitization of mast cells.

Sensory neurons are a potential source of potent mast cell activators, including substance P (Karimi et al., 2000; Okabe et al., 2006), CGRP (Forsythe et al., 2000; Rychter et al., 2011) and ATP (Wareham and Seward, 2016) which may exist as co-transmitters. Exposure to inflammatory mediators drives increased CGRP synthesis and dense core granule biogenesis in peptidergic sensory neurons (Russell et al., 2014). In our co-culture experiments, activation of sensory neurons with capsaicin notably markedly enhanced mast cell degranulation, consistent with the establishment of chemical communication between the cells. Our preliminary experiments with cultures of sensory neurons from trigeminal ganglia, which are enriched in peptidergic neurons, revealed further that co-culture with mast cells was sufficient to significantly increase CGRP secretion (Supplementary Figure 4). It would therefore seem likely that the gradual increase in mast cell degranulation we observed over time in our co-cultures reflect the development of an increasing number of functional neuro-immune synapse like structures between mast cells and sensory neurites, potentiating chemical communication between the two cell types which in vivo would translate into pain hypersensitivity (Gupta and Harvima, 2018). The ability of CADM1 to promote pre- and post-synaptic specializations and synaptogenesis in the CNS is well established (Frei and Stoeckli, 2017). Crucial to these synapse promoting functions of CADM proteins, are their highly conserved cytosolic domains which recruit scaffold proteins and effector molecules and increased actin polymerization (Cheadle and Biederer, 2012), which is needed for the capture of dense core vesicles (Porat-Shliom et al., 2013; Bharat et al., 2017). Interestingly, CADM1 driven formation of synapses may be activity driven, and the distribution of CADM1 into membrane nanodomains may physically define the contact edges of synapses (Robbins et al., 2010; Perez de Arce et al., 2015; Ribic et al., 2019). We would therefore propose a model in which the formation of trans-heterotypic CADM1 adhesions between mast cells and sensory neurites leads to the formation and stabilization of neuro-immune synapses enriched in peptidergic vesicles, increasing cross-talk between the two cell types and inducing mast cell activation and secretion. Further studies with super-resolution microscopy will be needed to test this model.

In addition to inducing mast cell degranulation and IL-6 secretion, co-culture with sensory neurons and CADM1dependent adhesion was also found to enhance antigen-induced responses. Activation of mast cells by antigen is mediated by the crosslinking of  $Fc\epsilon RI$ -receptors which triggers a series of tyrosine kinase regulated phosphorylation events, orchestrated through the engagement of multiple adaptor and scaffold proteins, culminating in the activation of signaling that triggers degranulation, lipid mediator synthesis, and transcription of cytokines and chemokines. In the context of the enhanced FceRI responses observed in our co-cultures, we found that secretion of TNFa was not potentiated. Transcription of TNFa is driven by NFAT and sustained calcium signaling (Klein et al., 2006; Falvo et al., 2010) whereas IL-6 transcription is driven by NF kappaB signaling, therefore the observed enhancement of only one of the two tested cytokines indicates that CADM1-mediated adhesion of mast cells to sensory neurites augments a selective part of the FcERI signaling. Precedence for selective potentiation of selective cytokines, and excluding TNFa, has been reported previously and shown to be mediated through synergistic activation of specific kinases regulating the activity of transcription factors. Receptormediated inhibition of signaling could also be involved in fine tuning the impact of sensory neuron adhesion on mast cell allergen responses. Activation of GPCRs coupled to pertussis toxin sensitive Gi proteins, lead to synergistic enhancement of degranulation, IL-6 and TNFa secretion, (Kuehn et al., 2008), which is distinct to what we have observed in coculture. We observed that activation of mast cells with compound 48/80 was not enhanced by co-culture with sensory neurons. Since compound 48/80 function in mast cells is mediated through activation of MrgprB2 and Gi proteins, a receptor also targeted by substance P (Subramanian et al., 2016), this suggests however, that the enhancement in antigenevoked responses observed upon adhesion to sensory neurites does not represent a Gi PCR-mediated amplification system (Gilfillan et al., 2009). CADM1-mediated interactions with the actin cytoskeleton through its cytosolic domains may also prime FceRIs in a manner similar to that recently described for integrins in mast cells (Shelby et al., 2016; Wakefield et al., 2017; Halova et al., 2018). While further in-depth molecular studies of FceRI distribution and signaling cascades are needed to understand how CADM1 adhesion potentiates responses to allergens, our data shows unequivocally that CADM1-mediated adhesion to sensory neurons enhances mast cell derived IL-6 secretion and degranulation and would therefore potentiate mast cell regulated inflammatory responses in atopic individuals. In vivo, mast cells of IBS patients secrete greater amounts of the IL-6 (Liebregts et al., 2007) in response to neuronal hyperexcitability (O'Malley et al., 2011). Moreover, IL-6 has been found to induce mechanical nociceptive plasticity (Melemedjian et al., 2010; Hughes et al., 2013) that evokes allodynia (Oka et al., 1995; Dina et al., 2008). Blocking IL-6 receptors in neurons reduces inflammation in an antigen-induced arthritis model (Ebbinghaus et al., 2015) and anti-IL-6 receptor antibodies show promising therapeutic potential in controlling pain in rheumatoid arthritis (Nishimoto et al., 2009). Therefore, there is good evidence already that pain-related disorders may involve an increase in IL-6 levels, such as that reproduced in our co-culture system. In conclusion, we show that CADM1 is necessary to drive mast cells-sensory neuron adhesion and contribute to the development of a microenvironment in which neurons enhance mast cell responsiveness to antigen. This interaction
could explain why the incidence of painful neuroinflammatory disorders such as IBS are increased in atopic patients.

## DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

Healthy, 8–12 week-old male C57BL wild-type adult mice were used in this study. All animals were maintained on a 12-h light/dark cycle in a temperature-controlled environment and given food *ad libitum*. All animal procedures were conducted under the Animal (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986, and approved by the UK Home Office.

# REFERENCES

- Aich, A., Afrin, L. B., and Gupta, K. (2015). Mast cell-mediated mechanisms of nociception. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 16, 29069–29092. doi: 10.3390/ijms161226151
- Alving, K., Sundström, C., Matran, R., Panula, P., Hökfelt, T., and Lundberg, J. M. (1991). Association between histamine-containing mast cells and sensory nerves in the skin and airways of control and capsaicin-treated pigs. *Cell Tissue Res.* 264, 529–538. doi: 10.1007/bf00319042
- Barbara, G., Stanghellini, V., De Giorgio, R., Cremon, C., Cottrell, G. S., Santini, D., et al. (2004). Activated mast cells in proximity to colonic nerves correlate with abdominal pain in irritable bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 126, 693–702. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2003.11.055
- Barbara, G., Wang, B., Stanghellini, V., de Giorgio, R., Cremon, C., Di Nardo, G., et al. (2007). Mast cell-dependent excitation of visceral-nociceptive sensory neurons in irritable bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 132, 26–37. doi: 10. 1053/j.gastro.2006.11.039
- Bharat, V., Siebrecht, M., Burk, K., Ahmed, S., Reissner, C., Kohansal-Nodehi, M., et al. (2017). Capture of dense core vesicles at synapses by JNK-dependent phosphorylation of synaptotagmin-4. *Cell Rep.* 21, 2118–2133. doi: 10.1016/j. celrep.2017.10.084
- Biederer, T. (2006). Bioinformatic characterization of the SynCAM family of immunoglobulin-like domain-containing adhesion molecules. *Genomics* 87, 139–150. doi: 10.1016/j.ygeno.2005.08.017
- Cheadle, L., and Biederer, T. (2012). The novel synaptogenic protein Farp1 links postsynaptic cytoskeletal dynamics and transsynaptic organization. *J. Cell Biol.* 199, 985–1001. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201205041
- Di Nardo, G., Barbara, G., Cucchiara, S., Cremon, C., Shulman, R. J., Isoldi, S., et al. (2014). Neuroimmune interactions at different intestinal sites are related to abdominal pain symptoms in children with IBS. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 26, 196–204. doi: 10.1111/nmo.12250
- Dina, O. A., Green, P. G., and Levine, J. D. (2008). Role of interleukin-6 in chronic muscle hyperalgesic priming. *Neuroscience* 152, 521–525. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuroscience.2008.01.006
- Ebbinghaus, M., Segond von Banchet, G., Massier, J., Gajda, M., Bräuer, R., Kress, M., et al. (2015). Interleukin-6-dependent influence of nociceptive sensory neurons on antigen-induced arthritis. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 17:334. doi: 10.1186/ s13075-015-0858-0
- El-Nour, H., Lundeberg, L., Boman, A., Beck, O., Harvima, I. T., Theodorsson, E., et al. (2005). Study of innervation, sensory neuropeptides, and serotonin in murine contact allergic skin. *Immunopharmacol. Immunotoxicol.* 27, 67–76. doi: 10.1081/iph-51617
- Falvo, J. V., Tsytsykova, A. V., and Goldfeld, A. E. (2010). Transcriptional control of the TNF gene. *Curr. Dir. Autoimmun.* 11, 27–60. doi: 10.1159/ 000289196

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

ES, ZD, and RM designed the experiments. ES and RM prepared the manuscript. RM and JM did the experiments.

# FUNDING

This research was funded by a Ph.D. scholarship to RM from King Abdulaziz University.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fncel. 2019.00262/full#supplementary-material

- Fogel, A. I., Akins, M. R., Krupp, A. J., Stagi, M., Stein, V., and Biederer, T. (2007). SynCAMs organize synapses through heterophilic adhesion. J. Neurosci. 27, 12516–12530. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2739-07.2007
- Forsythe, P., McGarvey, L. P., Heaney, L. G., MacMahon, J., and Ennis, M. (2000). Sensory neuropeptides induce histamine release from bronchoalveolar lavage cells in both nonasthmatic coughers and cough variant asthmatics. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 30, 225–232. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2222.2000.00770.x
- Frei, J. A., Andermatt, I., Gesemann, M., and Stoeckli, E. T. (2014). The SynCAM synaptic cell adhesion molecules are involved in sensory axon pathfinding by regulating axon-axon contacts. J. Cell Sci. 127, 5288–5302. doi: 10.1242/jcs. 157032
- Frei, J. A., and Stoeckli, E. T. (2017). SynCAMs From axon guidance to neurodevelopmental disorders. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 81, 41–48. doi: 10.1016/j. mcn.2016.08.012
- Furuno, T., Hagiyama, M., Sekimura, M., Okamoto, K., Suzuki, R., Ito, A., et al. (2012). Cell adhesion molecule 1 (CADM1) on mast cells promotes interaction with dorsal root ganglion neurites by heterophilic binding to nectin-3. J. Neuroimmunol. 250, 50–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2012.05.016
- Furuno, T., Ito, A., Koma, Y., Watabe, K., Yokozaki, H., Bienenstock, J., et al. (2005). The spermatogenic Ig superfamily/synaptic cell adhesion molecule mast-cell adhesion molecule promotes interaction with nerves. *J. Immunol.* 174, 6934–6942. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.11.6934
- Furuno, T., and Nakanishi, M. (2011). Analysis of neuroimmune interactions by an in vitro coculture approach. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 789, 171–180. doi: 10.1007/ 978-1-61779-310-3\_10

Galli, S. J. (2000). Mast cells and basophils. Curr. Opin. Hematol. 7, 32-39.

- Galli, S. J., and Tsai, M. (2012). IgE and mast cells in allergic disease. *Nat. Med.* 18, 693–704. doi: 10.1038/nm.2755
- Gilfillan, A. M., Peavy, R. D., and Metcalfe, D. D. (2009). Amplification mechanisms for the enhancement of antigen-mediated mast cell activation. *Immunol. Res.* 43, 15–24. doi: 10.1007/s12026-008-8046-9
- Gilfillan, A. M., and Tkaczyk, C. (2006). Integrated signalling pathways for mastcell activation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 6, 218–230. doi: 10.1038/nri1782
- Gupta, K., and Harvima, I. T. (2018). Mast cell-neural interactions contribute to pain and itch. *Immunol. Rev.* 282, 168–187. doi: 10.1111/imr.12622
- Hagiyama, M., Furuno, T., Hosokawa, Y., Iino, T., Ito, T., Inoue, T., et al. (2011). Enhanced nerve-mast cell interaction by a neuronal short isoform of cell adhesion molecule-1. *J. Immunol.* 186, 5983–5992. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1002244
- Halova, I., Ronnberg, E., Draberova, L., Vliagoftis, H., Nilsson, G. P., and Draber, P. (2018). Changing the threshold-Signals and mechanisms of mast cell priming. *Immunol. Rev.* 282, 73–86. doi: 10.1111/imr.12625
- Hensellek, S., Brell, P., Schaible, H. G., Bräuer, R., and Segond von Banchet, G. (2007). The cytokine TNFalpha increases the proportion of DRG neurones

expressing the TRPV1 receptor via the TNFR1 receptor and ERK activation. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 36, 381–391. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2007.07.010

- Hollins, F., Kaur, D., Yang, W., Cruse, G., Saunders, R., Sutcliffe, A., et al. (2008). Human airway smooth muscle promotes human lung mast cell survival, proliferation, and constitutive activation: cooperative roles for CADM1, stem cell factor, and IL-6. *J. Immunol.* 181, 2772–2780. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181. 4.2772
- Hughes, P. A., Harrington, A. M., Castro, J., Liebregts, T., Adam, B., Grasby, D. J., et al. (2013). Sensory neuro-immune interactions differ between irritable bowel syndrome subtypes. *Gut* 62, 1456–1465. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301856
- Inamura, N., Mekori, Y. A., Bhattacharyya, S. P., Bianchine, P. J., and Metcalfe, D. D. (1998). Induction and enhancement of Fc(epsilon)RI-dependent mast cell degranulation following coculture with activated T cells: dependency on ICAM-1- and leukocyte function-associated antigen (LFA)-1-mediated heterotypic aggregation. J. Immunol. 160, 4026–4033.
- Ito, A., Jippo, T., Wakayama, T., Morii, E., Koma, Y., Onda, H., et al. (2003). SgIGSF: a new mast-cell adhesion molecule used for attachment to fibroblasts and transcriptionally regulated by MITF. *Blood* 101, 2601–2608. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2002-07-2265
- Kakurai, M., Monteforte, R., Suto, H., Tsai, M., Nakae, S., and Galli, S. J. (2006). Mast cell-derived tumor necrosis factor can promote nerve fiber elongation in the skin during contact hypersensitivity in mice. *Am. J. Pathol.* 169, 1713–1721. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2006.060602
- Karimi, K., Redegeld, F. A., Blom, R., and Nijkamp, F. P. (2000). Stem cell factor and interleukin-4 increase responsiveness of mast cells to substance P. *Exp. Hematol.* 28, 626–634. doi: 10.1016/s0301-472x(00)00161-2
- Klein, M., Klein-Hessling, S., Palmetshofer, A., Serfling, E., Tertilt, C., Bopp, T., et al. (2006). Specific and redundant roles for NFAT transcription factors in the expression of mast cell-derived cytokines. *J. Immunol.* 177, 6667–6674. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.10.6667
- Kuehn, H. S., Beaven, M. A., Ma, H. T., Kim, M. S., Metcalfe, D. D., and Gilfillan, A. M. (2008). Synergistic activation of phospholipases Cgamma and Cbeta: a novel mechanism for PI3K-independent enhancement of FcepsilonRI-induced mast cell mediator release. *Cell. Signal.* 20, 625–636. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2007. 11.016
- Kuehn, H. S., Radinger, M., and Gilfillan, A. M. (2010). Measuring mast cell mediator release. *Curr. Protoc. Immunol.* 91, 7.38.1–7.38.9. doi: 10.1002/ 0471142735.im0738s91
- Leon, A., Buriani, A., Dal Toso, R., Fabris, M., Romanello, S., Aloe, L., et al. (1994). Mast cells synthesize, store, and release nerve growth factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 3739–3743. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.9.3739
- Lewis, R. J., Chachi, L., Newby, C., Amrani, Y., and Bradding, P. (2016). Bidirectional counterregulation of human lung mast cell and airway smooth muscle β2 adrenoceptors. *J. Immunol.* 196, 55–63. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1402232
- Liebregts, T., Adam, B., Bredack, C., Röth, A., Heinzel, S., Lester, S., et al. (2007). Immune activation in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 132, 913–920.
- Lorentz, A., Schuppan, D., Gebert, A., Manns, M. P., and Bischoff, S. C. (2002). Regulatory effects of stem cell factor and interleukin-4 on adhesion of human mast cells to extracellular matrix proteins. *Blood* 99, 966–972. doi: 10.1182/ blood.v99.3.966
- Ma, Y., Hwang, R. F., Logsdon, C. D., and Ullrich, S. E. (2013). Dynamic mast cellstromal cell interactions promote growth of pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Res.* 73, 3927–3937. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4479
- Melemedjian, O. K., Asiedu, M. N., Tillu, D. V., Peebles, K. A., Yan, J., Ertz, N., et al. (2010). IL-6- and NGF-induced rapid control of protein synthesis and nociceptive plasticity via convergent signaling to the eIF4F complex. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 15113–15123. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3947-10.2010
- Melli, G., and Höke, A. (2009). Dorsal root ganglia sensory neuronal cultures: a tool for drug discovery for peripheral neuropathies. *Expert Opin. Drug Discov.* 4, 1035–1045. doi: 10.1517/17460440903266829
- Moiseeva, E. P., Leyland, M. L., and Bradding, P. (2012). CADM1 isoforms differentially regulate human mast cell survival and homotypic adhesion. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 69, 2751–2764. doi: 10.1007/s00018-012-0948-y
- Moiseeva, E. P., Leyland, M. L., and Bradding, P. (2013a). CADM1 is expressed as multiple alternatively spliced functional and dysfunctional isoforms in human mast cells. *Mol. Immunol.* 53, 345–354. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2012.08.024

- Moiseeva, E. P., Roach, K. M., Leyland, M. L., and Bradding, P. (2013b). CADM1 is a key receptor mediating human mast cell adhesion to human lung fibroblasts and airway smooth muscle cells. *PLoS One* 8:e61579. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0061579
- Moiseeva, E. P., Straatman, K. R., Leyland, M. L., and Bradding, P. (2014). CADM1 controls actin cytoskeleton assembly and regulates extracellular matrix adhesion in human mast cells. *PLoS One* 9:e85980. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0085980
- Nectoux, J., Fichou, Y., Rosas-Vargas, H., Cagnard, N., Bahi-Buisson, N., Nusbaum, P., et al. (2010). Cell cloning-based transcriptome analysis in Rett patients: relevance to the pathogenesis of Rett syndrome of new human MeCP2 target genes. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 14, 1962–1974. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2010.01107.x
- Nishimoto, N., Miyasaka, N., Yamamoto, K., Kawai, S., Takeuchi, T., and Azuma, J. (2009). Long-term safety and efficacy of tocilizumab, an anti-IL-6 receptor monoclonal antibody, in monotherapy, in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (the STREAM study): evidence of safety and efficacy in a 5-year extension study. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 68, 1580–1584. doi: 10.1136/ard.2008.092866
- Ohman, L., and Simrén, M. (2010). Pathogenesis of IBS: role of inflammation, immunity and neuroimmune interactions. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 7, 163–173. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2010.4
- Oka, T., Oka, K., Hosoi, M., and Hori, T. (1995). Intracerebroventricular injection of interleukin-6 induces thermal hyperalgesia in rats. *Brain Res.* 692, 123–128. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(95)00691-i
- Okabe, T., Hide, M., Hiragun, T., Morita, E., Koro, O., and Yamamoto, S. (2006). Bone marrow derived mast cell acquire responsiveness to substance P with Ca(2+) signals and release of leukotriene B(4) via mitogen-activated protein kinase. J. Neuroimmunol. 181, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.07.011
- Ollerenshaw, S. L., Jarvis, D., Sullivan, C. E., and Woolcock, A. J. (1991). Substance P immunoreactive nerves in airways from asthmatics and nonasthmatics. *Eur. Respir. J.* 4, 673–682.
- O'Malley, D., Liston, M., Hyland, N. P., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2011). Colonic soluble mediators from the maternal separation model of irritable bowel syndrome activate submucosal neurons via an interleukin-6-dependent mechanism. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 300, G241–G252. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00385.2010
- Orefice, L. L., Zimmerman, A. L., Chirila, A. M., Sleboda, S. J., Head, J. P., and Ginty, D. D. (2016). Peripheral mechanosensory neuron dysfunction underlies tactile and behavioral deficits in mouse models of ASDs. *Cell* 166, 299–313. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.033
- Pavlovic, S., Daniltchenko, M., Tobin, D. J., Hagen, E., Hunt, S. P., Klapp, B. F., et al. (2008). Further exploring the brain-skin connection: stress worsens dermatitis via substance P-dependent neurogenic inflammation in mice. J. Invest. Dermatol. 128, 434–446. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5701079
- Perez de Arce, K., Schrod, N., Sarah Metzbower, W. R., Allgeyer, E., Geoffrey Kong, K. W., Alexander-Tang, A. H., et al. (2015). Topographic mapping of the synaptic cleft into adhesive nanodomains. *Neuron* 88, 1165–1172. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuron.2015.11.011
- Porat-Shliom, N., Milberg, O., Masedunskas, A., and Weigert, R. (2013). Multiple roles for the actin cytoskeleton during regulated exocytosis. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 70, 2099–2121. doi: 10.1007/s00018-012-1156-5
- Ribic, A., Crair, M. C., and Biederer, T. (2019). Synapse-selective control of cortical maturation and plasticity by parvalbumin-autonomous action of SynCAM 1. *Cell Rep.* 26, 381–393.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.12.069
- Robbins, E. M., Krupp, A. J., Perez de Arce, K., Ghosh, A. K., Fogel, A. I., Boucard, A., et al. (2010). SynCAM 1 adhesion dynamically regulates synapse number and impacts plasticity and learning. *Neuron* 68, 894–906. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2010.11.003
- Rozniecki, J. J., Dimitriadou, V., Lambracht-Hall, M., Pang, X., and Theoharides, T. C. (1999). Morphological and functional demonstration of rat dura mater mast cell-neuron interactions in vitro and in vivo. *Brain Res.* 849, 1–15. doi: 10.1016/s0006-8993(99)01855-7
- Russell, F. A., King, R., Smillie, S. J., Kodji, X., and Brain, S. D. (2014). Calcitonin gene-related peptide: physiology and pathophysiology. *Physiol. Rev.* 94, 1099– 1142. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00034.2013
- Rychter, J. W., Van Nassauw, L., Timmermans, J. P., Akkermans, L. M., Westerink, R. H., and Kroese, A. B. (2011). CGRP1 receptor activation induces piecemeal release of protease-1 from mouse bone marrow-derived mucosal mast cells. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 23, e57–e68. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2010.01617.x

- Shelby, S. A., Veatch, S. L., Holowka, D. A., and Baird, B. A. (2016). Functional nanoscale coupling of Lyn kinase with IgE-Fc∈RI is restricted by the actin cytoskeleton in early antigen-stimulated signaling. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 27, 3645– 3658. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e16-06-0425
- Sismanopoulos, N., Delivanis, D. A., Alysandratos, K. D., Angelidou, A., Therianou, A., Kalogeromitros, D., et al. (2012). Mast cells in allergic and inflammatory diseases. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 18, 2261–2277.
- Sleigh, J. N., Weir, G. A., and Schiavo, G. (2016). A simple, step-by-step dissection protocol for the rapid isolation of mouse dorsal root ganglia. *BMC Res. Notes* 9:82. doi: 10.1186/s13104-016-1915-8
- Sofroniew, M. V., Howe, C. L., and Mobley, W. C. (2001). Nerve growth factor signaling, neuroprotection, and neural repair. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 24, 1217– 1281. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.1217
- Spanos, C., Pang, X., Ligris, K., Letourneau, R., Alferes, L., Alexacos, N., et al. (1997). Stress-induced bladder mast cell activation: implications for interstitial cystitis. J. Urol. 157, 669–672. doi: 10.1097/00005392-199702000-00085
- Sperr, W. R., Agis, H., Czerwenka, K., Klepetko, W., Kubista, E., Boltz-Nitulescu, G., et al. (1992). Differential expression of cell surface integrins on human mast cells and human basophils. *Ann. Hematol.* 65, 10–16. doi: 10.1007/ bf01715119
- Stanko, J. P., Easterling, M. R., and Fenton, S. E. (2015). Application of Sholl analysis to quantify changes in growth and development in rat mammary gland whole mounts. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 54, 129–135. doi: 10.1016/j.reprotox.2014. 11.004
- Stead, R. H., Tomioka, M., Quinonez, G., Simon, G. T., Felten, S. Y., and Bienenstock, J. (1987). Intestinal mucosal mast cells in normal and nematodeinfected rat intestines are in intimate contact with peptidergic nerves. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 84, 2975–2979. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84.9.2975
- Subramanian, H., Gupta, K., and Ali, H. (2016). Roles of Mas-related G proteincoupled receptor X2 on mast cell-mediated host defense, pseudoallergic drug reactions, and chronic inflammatory diseases. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 138, 700–710. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.04.051
- Theoharides, T. C., and Conti, P. (2004). Mast cells: the Jekyll and Hyde of tumor growth. *Trends Immunol.* 25, 235–241. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2004. 02.013

- Undem, B. J., and Taylor-Clark, T. (2014). Mechanisms underlying the neuronalbased symptoms of allergy. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 133, 1521–1534. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.11.027
- Usoskin, D., Furlan, A., Islam, S., Abdo, H., Lönnerberg, P., Lou, D., et al. (2015). Unbiased classification of sensory neuron types by large-scale single-cell RNA sequencing. *Nat. Neurosci.* 18, 145–153. doi: 10.1038/nn.3881
- Voisin, T., Bouvier, A., and Chiu, I. M. (2017). Neuro-immune interactions in allergic diseases: novel targets for therapeutics. *Int. Immunol.* 29, 247–261. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxx040
- von Banchet, G. S., Kiehl, M., and Schaible, H. G. (2005). Acute and long-term effects of IL-6 on cultured dorsal root ganglion neurones from adult rat. *J. Neurochem.* 94, 238–248. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2005.03185.x
- Wakefield, D. L., Holowka, D., and Baird, B. (2017). The FcepsilonRI signaling cascade and integrin trafficking converge at patterned ligand surfaces. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 28, 3383–3396. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E17-03-0208
- Wareham, K. J., and Seward, E. P. (2016). P2X7 receptors induce degranulation in human mast cells. *Purinergic Signal.* 12, 235–246. doi: 10.1007/s11302-016-9497-4
- Wouters, M. M., Vicario, M., and Santos, J. (2016). The role of mast cells in functional GI disorders. *Gut* 65, 155–168. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309151
- Yang, W., Kaur, D., Okayama, Y., Ito, A., Wardlaw, A. J., Brightling, C. E., et al. (2006). Human lung mast cells adhere to human airway smooth muscle, in part, via tumor suppressor in lung cancer-1. *J. Immunol.* 176, 1238–1243. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.2.1238

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Magadmi, Meszaros, Damanhouri and Seward. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Mast Cell/Proteinase Activated Receptor 2 (PAR2) Mediated Interactions in the Pathogenesis of Discogenic Back Pain

Justin Richards<sup>1</sup>, Shirley Tang<sup>2</sup>, Gilian Gunsch<sup>1</sup>, Pavel Sul<sup>2</sup>, Matthew Wiet<sup>2</sup>, David C. Flanigan<sup>3</sup>, Safdar N. Khan<sup>3</sup>, Sarah Moore<sup>4</sup>, Benjamin Walter<sup>2,3</sup> and Devina Purmessur<sup>2,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> College of Arts and Sciences, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>2</sup> College of Engineering, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Orthopaedics, Wexner Medical Center, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> College o

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Rashid Giniatullin, University of Eastern Finland, Finland

#### Reviewed by:

K. C. Ranjan, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, United States Petri T. Kovanen, Wihuri Research Institute, Finland Lisbet Haglund, McGill University, Canada

\*Correspondence: Devina Purmessur Devina.Purmessur@osumc.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Non-Neuronal Cells, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience

> Received: 29 January 2019 Accepted: 17 June 2019 Published: 05 July 2019

#### Citation:

Richards J, Tang S, Gunsch G, Sul P, Wiet M, Flanigan DC, Khan SN, Moore S, Walter B and Purmessur D (2019) Mast Cell/Proteinase Activated Receptor 2 (PAR2) Mediated Interactions in the Pathogenesis of Discogenic Back Pain. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:294. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00294 Mast cells (MCs) are present in the painful degenerate human intervertebral disc (IVD) and are associated with disease pathogenesis. MCs release granules containing enzymatic and inflammatory factors in response to stimulants or allergens. The serine protease, tryptase, is unique to MCs and its activation of the G-protein coupled receptor, Protease Activated Receptor 2 (PAR2), induces inflammation and degradation in osteoarthritic cartilage. Our previously published work has demonstrated increased levels of MC marker tryptase in IVD samples from discogenic back pain patients compared to healthy control IVD samples including expression of chemotactic agents that may facilitate MC migration into the IVD. To further elucidate MCs' role in the IVD and mechanisms underlying its effects, we investigated whether (1) human IVD cells can promote MC migration, (2) MC tryptase can mediate up-regulation of inflammatory/catabolic process in human IVD cells and tissue, and (3) the potential of PAR2 antagonist to function as a therapeutic drug in in vitro human and ex vivo bovine pilot models of disease. MC migration was quantitatively assessed using conditioned media from primary human IVD cells and MC migration examined through Matrigel. Exposure to soluble IVD factors significantly enhanced MC migration, suggesting IVD cells can recruit MCs. We also demonstrated significant upregulation of MC chemokine SCF and angiogenic factor VEGFA gene expression in human IVD cells in vitro in response to recombinant human tryptase, suggesting tryptase can enhance recruitment of MCs and promotion of angiogenesis into the usually avascular IVD. Furthermore, tryptase can degrade proteoglycans in IVD tissue as demonstrated by significant increases in glycosaminoglycans released into surrounding media. This can create a catabolic microenvironment compromising structural integrity and facilitating vascular migration usually inhibited by the anti-angiogenic IVD matrix. Finally, as a "proof of concept" study, we examined the therapeutic potential of PAR2 antagonist (PAR2A) on human IVD cells and bovine organ culture IVD model. While preliminary data shows

promise and points toward structural restoration of the bovine IVD including downregulation of VEGFA, effects of PAR2 antagonist on human IVD cells differ between gender and donors suggesting that further validation is required with larger cohorts of human specimens.

Keywords: mast cell, tryptase, PAR2, intervertebral disc, discogenic back pain

# INTRODUCTION

Approximately 70–80% of the population will experience chronic low back pain during their lifetime (Andersson, 1999) and large population-based studies have demonstrated that intervertebral disc (IVD) degeneration is a significant cause of chronic low back pain (De Schepper et al., 2010). The huge socioeconomic burden of Discogenic Back Pain (DBP) is not only a result of widespread use of interventions that are costly with limited efficacy, but also the role of DBP in the growing opioid epidemic, as opioids are the most widely prescribed drug used to treat back pain (Balagué et al., 2012; Deyo et al., 2015). Initial DBP therapies are largely conservative and include analgesics, physiotherapy and psychosocial pain management approaches. When these approaches are unsuccessful, highly invasive surgeries (e.g., disc arthroplasty or lumbar fusions) are routinely performed. Yet, these treatments are often short-lived, fail to target the underlying cause of disease and can significantly reduce patient mobility often leading to adjacent segment disc disease (Mannion et al., 2014).

The healthy IVD is characterized by a healthy gelatinous core of proteoglycans and nucleus pulposus (NP) cells of notochordal origin. This NP core is enclosed radially by concentric rings of collagen to form the annulus fibrosus (AF) with fibroblast-like AF cells aligned with the collagen fibrils. The joint is encased caudally and cranially by the cartilage end plate (CEP), hyaline cartilage crucial to bidirectional diffusion of nutrients and metabolites and separates the IVD from the vertebral bodies (Roughley, 2004). Degeneration of the IVD is characterized by significant increases in extracellular matrix (ECM) breakdown, inflammation and nerve/vascular ingrowth (Smith et al., 2011; Lama et al., 2018). Nociceptive neurons and blood vessels expressing nerve growth factor (NGF) have been demonstrated in the painful human IVD (Freemont et al., 1997, 2002), specifically in regions of ECM depletion and injury (Stefanakis et al., 2012; Lama et al., 2018). Our previous work has demonstrated that disc ECM and injury can regulate nerve/vascular growth in vitro and in vivo (Johnson et al., 2002, 2005; Kim et al., 2011; Purmessur et al., 2015). Additionally, pro-inflammatory cytokines interleukin 1-Beta (IL-1 $\beta$ ) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ), (increased in the degenerate IVD) can up-regulate catabolic enzymes along with neurotrophic and angiogenic factors NGF, vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGFA), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and substance P in IVD cells (Le Maitre et al., 2005; Séguin et al., 2005; Purmessur et al., 2013a). While the healthy IVD is immuneprivileged, increased numbers of innate immune cells have been demonstrated within painful human IVDs compared to healthy IVDs, yet their role within the painful degenerate disc remains unknown (Wiet et al., 2017).

Immune cells play an integral role in tissue remodeling and healing. However, due to the avascular nature of the IVD, repair is commonly described as "frustrated healing" and lacks the native ECM components to restore structure and function (Adams and Roughley, 2006). Innate immune cells, such as mast cells (MCs) and macrophages, have been identified in degenerative human IVD tissue and induce a catabolic and inflammatory phenotype in IVD cells, however, the specific mechanisms underlying these effects remains to be elucidated (Wiet et al., 2017; Nakazawa et al., 2018). MCs function to release preformed granules with enzymatic (tryptase and a disintegrin and metalloproteinase with a thrombospondin motif 5, ADAMTS5) and inflammatory/painassociated factors (IL-1β, TNFα, VEGFA, NGF and Substance P among others) in response to microenvironmental stimuli or allergens (De Schepper et al., 2010). Furthermore, MCs are active and significantly up-regulated in chronic pain conditions such as migraines, irritable bowel syndrome, rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis (OA) (O'Sullivan et al., 2000; Nigrovic and Lee, 2005; Theoharides et al., 2005; Nakano et al., 2007). In OA, MC-derived mediators enhance mechanical hypersensitivity in nociceptors within the joint space (Sousa-Valente et al., 2018). Macrophages have also been identified in the IVD, however, they do not contain preformed granules but synthesize inflammatory cytokines upon activation [TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and prostaglandins (PGE2)] (Gordon and Taylor, 2005; Nakazawa et al., 2018). Similar to MCs, they are present in arthritic diseases and associated with matrix remodeling in disc herniation (Koike et al., 2003; Kobayashi et al., 2009). However, recent studies have demonstrated that macrophages do not directly regulate painassociated growth factors VEGFA and NGF (Miyagi et al., 2018).

The serine proteinase tryptase is produced by MCs, and its activation of the G-protein coupled receptor, Proteinase Activated Receptor 2 (PAR2; F2RL1), has been shown to induce inflammation and catabolism in human osteoarthritic cartilage (Balagué et al., 2012). PAR2 initiates and enhances painful responses in inflammatory, visceral, and cancer-related pathologies and recent studies demonstrate its activation is sufficient to induce transition to a chronic pain state (Tillu et al., 2015). PAR2 is expressed by multiple cell types including immune cells, nerves and endothelial blood vessel cells, chondrocytes and IVD cells (Klarenbach et al., 2003; Iida et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2011). However, its specific role in DBP remains unknown. PAR2 is also involved in sensitization of neuropeptide receptors (Neurokinin 1) and ion channels (i.e., transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily V member 1; TRPV1) expressed on dorsal root ganglion (DRG) cells, which enhance hyperalgesia and pain (Vergnolle et al., 2001; Amadesi, 2004). Studies by Iida et al. (2009) have demonstrated that PAR2 is expressed in the rat IVD, elevated in painful human IVDs and that its activation



contributing to a synergistic positive feedback loop, whereas PAR2's activation upregulates its own expression through IL-1β, ad general inflammation, perpetuating a chronic degenerate state (Ritchie et al., 2007<sup>7</sup>). Black Arrows represent labeling or directionality, Blue arrows represent forward mechanism steps, Green arrows represent feedback interactions. **(C)** Blunt arrow ends represent effects coming from, pointed ends represent effects going to, and bidirectional pointed ends represent co-regulatory interactions.

upregulates the expression of IL-1 $\beta$  and ADAMTS4 in rat IVD cells. However, whether MC mediators (i.e., tryptase) can activate such inflammatory pathways in human IVD cells is currently unknown and is the focus of the studies described here.

The objectives of this study are based on the following hypothetical model as described in Figure 1. Briefly, MC progenitors invade the IVD via injury or matrix perturbation, being specifically recruited to the IVD region from bone marrow, following invasion the IVD microenvironment causes degranulation by the matured MCs and the action of the released mediators either directly on tissue or indirectly via induction of genetic changes on cells, promoting neurovascularization, inflammation, catabolism and ultimately pain. This process is self-perpetuating as elaborated on in Figure 1; MC migration is enhanced directly and indirectly through IVD cells, allowing this degenerative process to repeat and progress into a chronic degenerative state, with the eventual compromised state becoming further conducive to the aforementioned markers of a painful IVD. We hypothesize that, due to these intrinsically synergistic mechanisms, inhibition with the PAR2 antagonist

oligopeptide FSLLRY-NH<sub>2</sub> (PAR2A) (Chen et al., 2011) possesses therapeutic potential to prevent progression of a chronic inflammatory, catabolic and painful state.

This study aims to determine the potential mechanism by which MCs may invade the IVD joint, investigate tryptase effects on matrix degradation and chemotactic/vascular markers, quantify and validate protein expression of PAR2 in NP, AF and CEP regions of the human IVD via immunohistochemistry and western blot and to determine the therapeutic potential of PAR2A in a bovine *ex vivo* translational model and in human *in vitro* model for proof of concept.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

## Tissue Procurement and Histological Processing

Mild to moderately degenerate human cadaveric IVD samples (Table 1) were acquired via the Co-operative human tissue

Level/Joint	Begion		
(tissue + cells)	(tissue + cells)	Age	Gender
L3-L4; L4-L5	NP, AF, CEP	43	F
L1-L2; L5-S1	NP, AF, CEP	55	М
L3-L4; L4-L5	NP, CEP	45	М
L3-L4; L4-L5	NP, AF, CEP	56	F
L3-L4; L4-L5	NP, AF, CEP	52	М
L2-L3; L3-L4	NP, AF	58	F
L2-L3; L3-L4	NP, AF	46	М
L3-L4	NP, AF	31	F
L4-L5	NP, AF, CEP	30	F
L3-L4	NP, AF	37	F
L4-L5	NP, AF, CEP	59	F
L3-L4	NP	19	F
L3-L4	NP	39	М
Knee	Articular Cartilage	22	F
Knee	Articular Cartilage	20	F
Knee	Articular Cartilage	22	F

network, Midwestern Division (Columbus, Ohio) with institutional IRB exemption. Cadaveric specimens were dissected within 36 h post-mortem and tissue either isolated for cells or histology. For histology, 2 mm (superior to inferior) sagittal sections were collected using a diamond coated band saw. These sections were then fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin before paraffin embedding for IHC. Human articular cartilage samples (**Table 1**) were acquired from patients with informed consent in accordance with The Ohio State University (Columbus, Ohio) IRB relevant guidelines and regulations under IRB# 2018H0424.

## **Primary IVD and Articular Cartilage Cells**

All primary human IVD and articular cartilage cells (Table 1) were obtained from cadaveric samples, and patients undergoing treatment for osteoarthritis of the knee, respectively, sourced as described in Tissue Procurement. Exclusion criteria was applied for IVD samples, specifically, no infectious disease, discs were intact, no discs from spines older than 60 years old and Thompson scale grade not exceeding 3.5 (discs were blinded, graded by authors independently, and grades averaged). Articular cartilage samples were obtained from regions of intact healthy cartilage with microscopic and clinical assessment by Dr. David Flanigan. Cells were isolated using protease from Streptomyces griseus (0.05 mg/25 mL) in digestion media (high glucose (4.5 g/mL) DMEM, 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin (P/S), 0.5% Fungizone) for 1 h before 12 h digestion in Collagenase I or II (0.003 g/25 mL) for AF or NP tissue, respectively as cited previously (Purmessur et al., 2011). Following isolation, cells were expanded in Disc Cell Complete media (DCC; high glucose DMEM, 10% FBS, 1% P/S, 50 µg/mL Ascorbic Acid) in standard conditions (37°C, 20% O<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>) and fed once every 3 days until ~90% confluent. All cells used for in vitro studies were at passage < P4.

## Mast Cell Culture

Human Mast Cell line 1 (HMC-1) cells were a generous gift of Dr. J.H. Butterfield (Mayo Clinic). HMC-1 cells were expanded in suspension in Basal HMC-1 media (BMC; Iscove's modified dulbecco's medium, 10% FBS, 1% P/S, 1.2 mM  $\alpha$ -thioglycerol) in standard conditions (37°C 20%O<sub>2</sub> 5%CO<sub>2</sub>) and fed 2–3 times a week until experimental use. The HMC-1 cell line is a well characterized and thoroughly validated human MC line (Nilsson et al., 1994a), however, as this is an immortalized cell line, they contain a c-kit mutation that allows for easier handling and survivability. It has been shown that these cells may have reduced tryptase levels when compared to mature human skin MCs (Guhl et al., 2010).

## Generation of 100% MCCM

HMC-1 cells were expanded as described above. To create mast cell conditioned media (MCCM) cells were diluted to  $5.0 \times 10^5$  cells/mL in BMC and frozen for 24 h at -80°C. Following freezing, the cell suspension was thawed quickly in a 37°C water bath to maximize cell lysis. The resulting cell lysate solution was centrifuged at  $1000 \times g$  for 5 min to pellet cells and the supernatant collected and filtered using Pall Centrifugal devices (Pall Corp. MAP003C37) at 3000  $\times$  g for 30 min followed by reconstitution to the original volume with BMC. This final solution represents 100% MCCM including MC related factors such as MC tryptase. This 100% MCCM was then diluted to the desired 50% MCCM with DCC. Viability was assessed via trypan blue uptake before and after lysis. Protein concentration was assessed using a Bradford assay (Bio-Rad protein assay kit) for conditioned media at pre-lysis, post-lysis and post-filtration steps (Bradford, 1976).

# Mast Cell Invasion/Migration in Response to IVD Related Factors

HMC-1 cells were expanded as described in MC culture. The cell invasion/migration assay was performed as cited previously (Brekhman and Neufeld, 2012). Briefly, Matrigel was diluted to 800 µg/mL in Iscove's modified Dulbecco's medium and used to coat the migration insert. HMC-1 cells were diluted to 9.0  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup> in 0% FBS BMC immediately prior to use. Intervertebral disc conditioned media (IVDCM) (N = 3) and articular cartilage conditioned media (ACCM) (N = 3) was generated by culturing primary cells from cadaveric human IVD NP or articular cartilage cell samples at  $1.0 \times 10^6$  cells/mL in 0% FBS DCC for 48 h before collecting this media for use. HMC-1 samples were tested in triplicate for migration with experimental conditions of 0% FBS BMC (negative control), 0% FBS IVDCM, 0% FBS ACCM (Cell Control), or 10% FBS BMC (positive control) added to the bottom of the well. Migrated live MCs were quantified via staining the bottom surface of the membrane with fluorescent dye Calcein (4 µM for 15 min at 37°C), staining all live cells green, and imaged by Nikon-Eclipse inverted microscope. Images were captured at 4× magnification and blinded prior to quantification. The number of migrated MCs were quantified automated via Nikon Analysis Software for each group and normalized to the 10% FBS BMC group

(positive control) as a percent migration, whereas 10% FBS BMC represents 100% migration.

# MCCM/IVD Interactions and the PAR2 Pathway

# Tryptase Effects on IVD *Cells*

Primary human AF and NP cells from cadaveric human tissue (N = 4;**Table 1**) were seeded in 2% agarose gels using a silicone mold at  $4.0 \times 10^6$  cells/mL (1.6  $\times 10^6$  cells/construct) for 24 h in DCC+10%FBS media at 37°C 20%O2 5%CO2, followed by 24 h in DCC+2.5% FBS at 37°C 5%CO2 5%O2 with 0.00, 0.01, or 0.10 µg/mL (Masuko et al., 2007) of purified recombinant human tryptase from lung MCs (rhTryptase; Promega G5631). One quadrant of each construct was used to assessed viability (4  $\mu$ M Calcein + 2  $\mu$ M ethidium for 15 min at 37°C). The remaining portion of each construct was homogenized in TRIzol and mixed with 0.2 mL chloroform/mL TRIzol. This mixture was centrifuged at  $12,000 \times g$  for 15 min at 4°C to collect the aqueous upper phase and diluted 1:1 with molecular grade 70% EtOH before mRNA purification using the PuraLink RNA mini kit following manufacturer instructions (Life Technologies) for downstream cDNA synthesis with Maximus H Minus (Thermo Fisher Scientific M1662) and gene expression (qRT-PCR) for MC related chemoattractant SCF and angiogenic marker VEGFA (Table 2). Gene expression was quantified using the comparative  $\Delta \Delta Ct$  method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001) with levels normalized to the housekeeping gene 18s (Table 2).

#### Tissue

Human cadaveric IVD samples (N = 8; **Table 1**) were freezethawed and 8 mm biopsy samples of NP and AF tissue were collected, wet-weight measured, and pre-incubated for 24 h in basal DMEM at 37°C, 20%O<sub>2</sub>, 5%CO<sub>2</sub> to account for endogenous aggrecan loss. Non-live tissue (by means of freeze thaw) was utilized to examine the isolated effects of tryptase on proteoglycan accumulation in the absence of any cellular effects. Samples were then incubated with fresh basal media supplemented with 0.0, 1.0, or 5.0 µg/mL rhTryptase (adapted from Magarinos et al., 2013) for 48 h at 37°C 20%O<sub>2</sub> 5%CO<sub>2</sub>. Information on genes pertaining to our results can be found in **Supplementary Table S1**. Endogenous proteoglycan degradation was measured by sulfated glycosaminoglycan (GAG) release into media indicated by the colorimetric dimethylmethylene blue

#### TABLE 2 | Gene assays.

Gene	Assay ID		
PAR2 (F2RL1)	Hs00608346_m1		
SCF (KITLG)	Hs00241497_m1		
VEGFA	Hs00900055_m1; Bt03213282		
NGF	Hs00171458_m1		
IL-1B	Hs01555410_m1		
IL-6	Hs00174131_m1		
MMP3	Hs00968305_m1		
MMP13	Hs00942584_m1		

assay (DMMB; Sigma-Aldrich 341088) with absorbance read at 530 nm. A standard curve using shark chondroitin sulfate from shark cartilage (Sigma-Aldrich C4384) in DMEM with a linear regression analysis  $R^2$  value > 0.95 was used to calculate concentration from absorbance value.

#### PAR2 Expression in Human IVD Tissue Immunohistochemistry

Human cadaveric IVD samples (Table 1) of AF (N = 6), NP (N = 9) and CEP (N = 7) were assessed via IHC using SAM11, a primary antibody for PAR2 (1:50; Invitrogen 35-2300). Briefly, tissue slides were deparaffinized, rehydrated, blocked for endogenous peroxidase activity (0.3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in MeOH), and antigens retrieved using a citrate buffer (90°C, pH 6.0) for 20 min. Blocking for non-specific binding was performed with 5% goat-serum (1% BSA-PBS, 5% goat serum, 0.05% Tween, and 0.05% sodium azide). Primary antibodies were incubated for 2.5 h in background reducing antibody diluent (Dako S3022) followed by incubation with secondary antibody: biotinylated goat anti-mouse (1:200, VectorLabs BA9200). Finally, tissue sections were incubated with streptavidin-horse radish peroxidase and developed with 3,3-diaminobenzidine (DAB) for 90 s (VectorLabs SK-4100). Tissue was counterstained with Gills No. 2 Hematoxylin (Electron Microscopy Sciences 26030-20) and slides dehydrated and mounted. Normal human lung tissue was used for positive and negative controls, with omission of primary antibody for the latter. All antibody concentrations and DAB times were kept consistent across experimental and control samples. Each tissue sample was quantified as described prior (Wiet et al., 2017).

#### Western Blot

To confirm protein expression of PAR2 in IVD cells western blot was performed as described previously (Walter et al., 2016) for cadaveric IVD cell lysate samples from NP, AF, and CEP cells (N = 2). PAR2 specific antibody SAM11 (1:250; Invitrogen 35-2300) was used with secondary antibody biotinylated goatanti mouse (1:1000; VectorLabs BA-9200) and run with positive control for  $\beta$ -actin (ACTB; 1:5000; abcam ab8227).

## PAR2A Therapeutic Proof of Concept Pilot *in vitro* Human and *ex vivo* Bovine Studies

#### Bovine ex vivo Therapeutic Model

A proof of concept study was performed to evaluate the potential effects of PAR2A on matrix degradation and angiogenesis. Skeletally mature bovine coccygeal motion segments (N = 3) were cleaned of soft tissue and IVD isolation was performed using a diamond coated band saw leaving 1–3 mm of CEP/Vertebral body caudally and cranially for 3 IVDs per bovine sample. Isolated samples were washed in 70% EtOH and PBS before being treated with isolation (Prime Growth 319-511-EL) and neutralizing solution (Prime Growth 319-512-CL) and then culture in Wisent Prime Growth Media (Prime Growth 319-510-CL) + 1% P/S for 24 h at 37°C 5% CO<sub>2</sub> 20% O<sub>2</sub> according to Wisent protocol as outlined prior (Grant et al., 2016). Injury was

induced for relevant samples via an "X" cut through the AF region and partial NP removal (Illien-Jünger et al., 2014). After 10 days, samples were split into the following groups: (1) control with no injury or treatment, (2) injury+MCCM, or (3) injury+MCCM+100 nM PAR2A. 10 µL of 100 nM PAR2A (FSLLRY-NH<sub>2</sub>) in PBS was injected with a high-precision 25G syringe (Hamilton; Reno, NV, United States) into the relevant bovine IVDs (Illien-Jünger et al., 2014). IVDs were cultured for 96 h and then tissue isolated for histology, cell viability and qRT-PCR. Briefly, the IVD was cut into  $3 \times 2$  mm in width sagittal sections with a ceramic band. Of the three sections the medial segment, which included the site of injury, was assessed for histology with the lateral portions used for viability and gene expression. For gene expression, AF and NP regions were isolated before being flash-frozen in liquid nitrogen and homogenized via crushing with metal rods, washed in 70% EtOH, RNase Zap (Thermo Fisher Scientific AM9780) and cooled in liquid nitrogen. Tissue samples were dissolved, RNA purified, and qRT-PCR performed as described previously for VEGFA to assess the ability of PAR2A for reduction of MC related angiogenic effects (Table 2). To assess explant viability, tissue was incubated in MTT (3-(4,5-Dimethyl-2-thiazolyl)-2,5diphenyltetrazolium Bromide; Tokyo Chemical Industry D0801) as described prior (Walter et al., 2016). Each specimen was treated in MTT solution (20 mg/10 mL) for 4 h at 37°C 5% CO<sub>2</sub> 20% O<sub>2</sub>. The specimens were then fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for 48 h before being frozen and cryosectioned (10 µm). Slides were then counterstained with Hoechst 33258 (Sigma-Aldrich 94403) solution (1 µg/mL) for 10 min before being mounted and imaged at 40× magnification. For histology tissue was fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin before being decalcified in EDTA solution for 7 days, then paraffin embedded, sectioned (10  $\mu$ m), and stained using alcian blue and picrosirius red solutions (Electron Microscopy Sciences 10350; 26357-02). Stitched images of 16 frames at  $4 \times$  magnification were taken.

#### Human in vitro Monolayer Therapeutic Model

To assess the clinical relevance of PAR2A on human cells in vitro, human NP cells from cadaveric tissue (N = 6; Table 1) were seeded in monolayer in duplicate at 1.5  $\times$   $10^5$  cells/mL and incubated in DCC for 24 h at 37°C 5% CO2. After 24 h, culture media was removed and replaced with Basal control media, 50% MCCM or 50% MCCM+100 nM PAR2A (Chen et al., 2015) and incubated for 48 h at 37°C 5%CO2. One well was assessed for viability (4  $\mu$ M Calcein + 2  $\mu$ M ethidium for 10 min at 37°C) and one well was used to assess gene expression and lysed using 300 µL 1% 2-mercaptoethanol in lysis buffer and diluted 1:1 in 70% molecular grade EtOH before RNA was purified using PuraLink RNA mini kit as per manufacturer instructions. Downstream cDNA synthesis and gene expression quantification (qRT-PCR) for inflammatory, catabolic, and migratory factors SCF, VEGFA, NGF, IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 (Table 2) was completed as described previously.

# **Statistical Analysis**

All tests run with an  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

#### MC Migration (N = 3 Biological N = 6 Experimental)

Non-parametric, unpaired, one-tailed *T*-tests were performed between groups comparing experimental and biological replicates with all data normalized to the 10% FBS positive control group expressed as 100%.

#### Human *in vitro* 3D Model Gene Expression (N = 4)

Non-parametric, paired, two-tailed *T*-tests per gene were performed for paired biological replicates comparing fold changes in  $\Delta \Delta Ct$  gene expression between treatment groups.

#### Matrix Degradation (N = 8)

Non-parametric, paired, one-tailed, *T*-tests were performed for biological replicates comparing the GAG released into the media as a measure of proteoglycan degradation.

#### PAR2 Protein Expression (N = 6–9)

Non-parametric, unpaired, one-way ANOVA for comparing unpaired biological replicates for the percentage of positively stained cells as a percentage of the total cells.

#### Bovine ex vivo Gene Expression (N = 3)

Non-parametric, unpaired, two-tailed *T*-tests were performed for biological replicates comparing fold changes in  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct gene expression of *ex vivo* angiogenic growth factor.

#### Preliminary Human PAR2A Therapeutic Monolayer in vitro Model and Demographic Differences (N = 6)

Non-parametric, unpaired, two-tailed *T*-tests were performed for biological replicates comparing fold changes in  $\Delta\Delta$ CT gene expression of inflammatory and pain-associated markers.

# RESULTS

# MC Migration in Response to IVD Related Factors

To assess the ability of IVD cell related factors to recruit MCs, a migration assay exposing MCs to IVDCM was performed with ACCM, 0% FBS, and 10% FBS controls. Conditioned media from human NP cells induced migration of MCs through the Matrigel 3D matrix and this migration was significantly greater than that of 0% FBS BMC (negative control) medium, or 0% FBS ACCM (cell control) medium alone (p < 0.05) with no significant difference between 0% FBS ACCM and 0% FBS BMC (Figure 2). Data is presented normalized to 10% FBS BMC (positive control) as percent migration with 10% FBS BMC equaling 100%, with an average percentage cell count of 23.3  $\pm$  7.3% for 0% FBS BMC, 30.6  $\pm$  3.6% for 0% FBS ACCM, and 77.1  $\pm$  5.0% for 0% FBS IVDCM as visualized by calcein fluorescent staining of the migrated cells. This data suggests that MCs can migrate in response to IVDCM and more specifically in response to IVD related factors, as the healthy ACCM cell control had little effect compared to negative control.

# Tryptase Effects on IVD Cells (NP and AF)

In order to evaluate the metabolic effects of MC Tryptase on IVD cells *in vitro*, NP and AF cells were treated with rhTryptase in 3D



**FIGURE 2 | (A)** Representative images of (calcein) stained fluorescent MCs migrating in response to 0% FBS BMC (negative control), 0% FBS ACCM (cell control), 0% FBS IVDCM, and 10% FBS BMC (positive control). **(B)** Mast cell migration in response to IVDCM (N = 3), ACCM (N = 3) and 0% FBS (negative control) (N = 6) normalized to 10% (positive control = 100% migrated cells) (N = 6; \* $p \le 0.05$ ). Red scale bar = 500  $\mu$ m (4×).



culture and relevant angiogenic (VEGFA) and chemotactic (SCF) factors investigated. rhTryptase at 0.1  $\mu$ g/mL showed significant upregulation of SCF (3.80-Fold) and VEGFA (4.09-Fold) gene expression relative to untreated control (p < 0.05) (**Figure 3A**). No significant differences in SCF or VEGFA were detected for AF cells (p > 0.05) (data not shown). No significant differences in viability were detected in any group (NP or AF). This data is indicative of increased angiogenic/chemotactic potential in IVD cells in response to tryptase.

# Tryptase Effects on IVD Tissue (NP and AF)

To assess the enzymatically degradative effects (direct and or indirect) of tryptase on IVD tissue, tissue explants were treated with rhTryptase. The addition of 5.0  $\mu$ g/mL rhTryptase significantly increased the GAG released into media from human NP tissue compared to 1.0 and 0  $\mu$ g/mL rhTryptase (p < 0.05)

(Figure 3B). No significant differences in GAG release into media were observed in any group from human AF tissue (Supplementary Figure S1). The results suggest that tryptase plays a role in enzymatical degradation of the proteoglycan which may affect structure/function of the IVD tissue.

## PAR2 Expression in Human IVD Tissue

To evaluate a potential role for PAR2 in mediating the downstream effects of MCs and tryptase, we first performed IHC for PAR2 on cadaveric human IVD tissue. Protein expression was assessed via IHC for PAR2 in human tissue (% of positive cells) in NP (20.5%  $\pm$  9.16), AF (13.6%  $\pm$  16.48) and CEP (19.6%  $\pm$  14.32) cells with no significant differences detected between regions (**Figure 4**). PAR2 protein expression was confirmed in the NP, AF and CEP regions of the human IVD via Western blot (**Figure 4B** and **Supplementary Figure S2**). This expression validates previously reported PAR2 expression in human IVDs



**FIGURE 4 | (A)** Representative images of immunohistochemical (IHC) PAR2 staining in IVD tissue from all regions; NP, AF and CEP including relevant positive and negative lung tissue controls. **(B)** PAR2 expression presented as % of cells expressing PAR2 as assessed by IHC and confirmed with western blot using the same PAR2 primary antibodies. Red scale bar = 100 µm, Black scale bar = 50 µm. Arrows point to same cells at both magnifications.



(Iida et al., 2009) and points toward a potential pathway mediating MC effects in the human IVD.

## Bovine ex vivo Therapeutic Model

As a preliminary proof of concept study to assess the potential therapeutic effects of a PAR2 antagonist on MC-induced IVD degeneration, we chose to use a bovine *ex vivo* organ model which

has been utilized previously as a model of IVD degeneration and to screen therapeutics (Purmessur et al., 2013b; Illien-Jünger et al., 2014; Grant et al., 2016). Treatment of IVD organ culture samples with PAR2A had no detectable impact on viability for AF as demonstrated by MTT staining co-localized with DNA stain Hoechst (**Figure 5B**). Due to technical limitations, the NP could not be assessed; However, RNA levels and histology suggest adequate viability due to matrix generation. Treatment with 100 nM PAR2A significantly down-regulated the gene expression of VEGFA (7.87-Fold) in the AF region of MCCM treated injured disc samples relative to MCCM injury controls (p < 0.05) (**Figure 5C**). No significant changes in VEGFA expression were observed in the NP (data not shown). Treatment with PAR2A was also correlated with visibly enhanced tissue regeneration as shown by increased histological staining of proteoglycan (blue) in the central regions of the PAR2A IVDs relative to MCCM injury and uninjured controls (**Figure 5A**). These results suggest that PAR2A does not have any detrimental effects on viability but decreases the expression of angiogenic factors while promoting matrix accumulation.

# Human *in vitro* Monolayer Therapeutic Model

To further assess the therapeutic potential and clinical translation of PAR2A we evaluated the effects of PAR2A on human cells in vitro. PAR2A consistently down-regulated chemokine (SCF), inflammatory (IL-1β; IL-6), neurotrophic (NGF) and angiogenic (VEGFA) markers in human NP IVD cells treated with MCCM compared to human NP cells treated with MCCM alone although this was not statistically significant (Figure 6A). When presenting the data as individual human samples, biological differences were observed when assessing gender, where at least 2/3 male NP cells treated with MCCM appeared to respond to PAR2A with downregulation of the majority of inflammatory and neurovascular factors assessed. When assessing female NP samples, only 1/4 demonstrated a notable response to treatment with PAR2A across a majority of the genes assessed (Figure 6B), suggesting gender differences may influence the therapeutic potential of the biologics targeted in the degenerate IVD, however, more validation is needed before any specific conclusions can be drawn.

# DISCUSSION

Immune cells, more specifically MCs, have been well documented as a key contributor to the pathology of many musculoskeletal disorders related to joint degradation such as rheumatoid arthritis (Woolley, 2003). Additionally, these cells are known to play a role in several chronic pain conditions such as migraines, inflammatory arthritis and irritable bowel syndrome (O'Sullivan et al., 2000; Nigrovic and Lee, 2005; Levy et al., 2007). Our previously published data has shown significant evidence to support a role for MCs in the pathogenesis of painful IVD degeneration, with increased numbers of MCs in diseased IVD tissue from patients with DBP relative to healthy controls (Wiet et al., 2017). Furthermore, we demonstrated that IVD cells express MC chemoattractants such as SCF and MCs interact with healthy bovine IVD cells to up-regulate catabolic and inflammatory markers such ADAMTS5 and IL-6. Interestingly, soluble factors from bovine IVD cells were able to induce MC degranulation and up-regulation of VEGFA in MCs (Wiet et al., 2017). However, a number of questions still remain with respect to the role of MCs in human DBP and the potential to therapeutically target these pathological effects. Specifically, do

IVD cells promote migration of MCs, how do MC mediators such as tryptase interact with human IVD cells and tissue, at the gene and matrix level, and what are the potential pathways down-stream of these effects and can they be therapeutically modulated. The answers to these questions form the basis of the work described here.

To understand the role of MCs in DBP, it is important to investigate how these cells may infiltrate the IVD microenvironment, an environment that is typically immuneprivileged. As such, we investigated the ability of soluble factors from human IVD cells to recruit HMC-1 MCs using an in vitro migration assay system. Derivatives of the hematopoietic precursor lineage, MCs are unique in their ligand-based maturation at a tissue target site rather than in the stem cell microenvironment, and as such chemoattractant ligands, such as SCF, are crucial in their recruitment. The HMC-1 cell line in particular has been shown to adequately express the C-kit receptor for SCF as well as migrate in a dose dependent manner to SCF. Importantly, they were shown to migrate non-randomly toward SCF rather than random chemokinesis, making it an adequate model to study this mechanism of migration (Nilsson et al., 1994a,b). Our study demonstrates that when MCs are exposed to IVDCM, migration of MCs is significantly upregulated compared to BMC (negative control) groups. Furthermore, this effect was not seen when comparing AC cell control media, ACCM, suggesting this effect is likely specific. We have previously demonstrated that SCF is expressed by human IVD cells from all regions of the IVD in health and disease and is a likely candidate for mediating these effects, however, further work is needed to validate this effect and the role SCF may play (Wiet et al., 2017). Indeed, SCF is a major chemoattractant for MCs and their progenitors in vivo (Okayama and Kawakami, 2006) and to our knowledge our study is the first to demonstrate that soluble factors from IVD cells can induce MC migration in vitro.

Our previous studies have demonstrated that MCs release soluble factors that can modulate IVD cell behavior and phenotype and one candidate mediator is tryptase, yet the specific effect of tryptase and potential down-stream pathways have not been elucidated. Our study demonstrates that healthy human NP cells, when treated with rhTryptase, exhibit significant upregulation of SCF, and this effect appears to be dose dependent. This suggests that tryptase may help facilitate IVD-induced MC migration into the IVD creating a positive feed-back loop and promoting a chronic inflammatory response whereby more MCs migrate into the diseased IVD and degranulate, releasing their catabolic and inflammatory mediators further enhancing this pathogenic cycle of disease. This mechanistic model is supported by our previous finding of more pronounced SCF expression in the NP region at the protein level (IHC) (Wiet et al., 2017). In this study we also observed significant up-regulation of proangiogenic factor VEGFA in NP cells in response to treatment with rhTryptase. This finding is complementary to our previous studies showing significantly increased VEGFA secretion by MCs when exposed to IVDCM from degenerate NP cells relative to basal control, pointing toward MC/IVD interactions mediating pro-angiogenic effects in the painful IVD (Wiet et al., 2017).



(M1, M2, M3) are males and right (F1, F2, F3, F4) are females.

While the possibility of native MC contamination of IVD cells cannot be definitively excluded given the presence of MCs in cadaveric disc tissue as cited in our previous work (Wiet et al., 2017) MCs are non-adherent cells therefore monolayer culture, used for initial IVD expansion, would very likely exclude MCs from culture. The painful degenerate IVD is characterized by neo-vascular invasion (Freemont et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2011; Stefanakis et al., 2012; Binch et al., 2015; Lama et al., 2018) and given how MCs are associated with angiogenic processes in multiple tissues and pathologies (Kneilling et al., 2007; De Palma et al., 2017; Longo et al., 2018) suggests that tryptase may be associated and enhance this process in the diseased IVD.

In assessing the full spectrum of potential effects that tryptase may have on the IVD there are many considerations beyond the chemokines SCF and VEGFA alone. Tryptase has been shown to activate the zymogen form of MMP3 and MMP13, and these activated proteases can directly degrade aggrecan in femoral cartilage explants (Magarinos et al., 2013). Aggrecan represents the principle structural proteoglycan of the NP, suggesting that tryptase may have similar effects with respect to the ECM of the IVD. Our current study shows that when treated with rhTryptase, isolated NP explants from healthy human IVD specimens released significantly more sulfated glycosaminoglycan (GAG) into the medium, suggesting that MCs can induce degradation of the ECM in the NP via tryptase. This effect was not observed for the AF. These results suggest that, as in the studies by Magarinos et al. (2013), tryptase can enhance degradation of proteoglycan which is relevant to degradation of the IVD. Healthy NP tissue is aggrecan rich, and previous studies have demonstrated that aggrecan is inhibitory to both nerve ingrowth and endothelial cell migration and adhesion (Johnson et al., 2002, 2005). Degradation of proteoglycans, such as aggrecan, by MC enzymes, such as tryptase, could facilitate neurovascular ingrowth into the painful IVD. Specifically, it has been well documented that neovascularization and the ingrowth of nociceptive neurons is a marker of DBP progression, and this effect is related to sites of matrix degradation (Smith et al., 2011; Stefanakis et al., 2012; Lama et al., 2018).

To determine potential therapeutic strategies in the context of tryptase, it was crucial to identify the downstream mechanism by which it can affect the IVD cells themselves. Causes of cellular changes related to tryptase however, have not been well characterized. Tryptase has been well documented as a potent activator of PAR2 (Molino et al., 1997) and PAR2 activation has been cited in many catabolic, inflammatory, and pain inducing pathways. Notable among these was the finding that PAR2 activation is sufficient to induce matrix degradation in osteoarthritic cartilage, significantly stimulating catabolic and inflammatory factors such as MMP13 and IL-1 $\beta$ , respectively. Further, this process was also seen to be self-promoting following

onset, with findings that PAR2 is upregulated in diseased tissue and by IL-1 $\beta$  (Boileau et al., 2007). In order to validate the potential of tryptase/PAR2 interactions in IVD pathology, it was important to confirm and quantify the expression of PAR2 in all regions of the human IVD. Our findings validated the work of Iida et al. (2009) that demonstrated clear and levels of expression of PAR2 for non-diseased IVD cells in the NP and AF regions. However, to our knowledge we also show for the first time PAR2 expression in the CEP region with levels that are comparable to that of the NP. Our IHC data, confirmed by western blot, in healthy samples supports a potential role for tryptase/PAR2 interactions in the IVD pathology.

Functional PAR2 activation involves proteolytic cleavage of the amino terminus and uncovering of a tethered ligand interacting with exterior facial loops of the membrane bound protein, leading to a crystalline activation state (Nystedt et al., 1994). The present study sought to investigate this interaction as a therapeutic target using a PAR2 antagonist (PAR2A), the small molecule oligopeptide inhibitor FSLLRY-NH2. This antagonist functions by blocking this terminal cleavage and has been cited to abate PAR2 pathological effects in several studies such as Chen et al. (2015) and their treatment of neuropathic pain. The skeletally mature bovine IVD is an excellent tool and model for investigating degeneration of the IVD ex vivo and for therapeutic screening of targets related to DBP (Purmessur et al., 2013b; Illien-Jünger et al., 2014; Grant et al., 2016) and as such to elucidate the tryptase/PAR2 interaction in disease we developed an ex vivo bovine organ culture model representing injury and exposure to MC related soluble factors. Our findings demonstrated that PAR2A had no effect on native cell viability and also demonstrated enhanced matrix regeneration following injury as shown by increased histological blue staining of aggrecan and accumulation of tissue following culture of injured samples in MCCM, when compared to injured controls. Furthermore, in AF tissue the gene expression of VEGFA was significantly downregulated when comparing the same groups. As previously discussed, VEGFA is crucial to the neo-vascularization process and has been shown to promote neurovascular ingrowth in degraded AF tissue (Stefanakis et al., 2012). As such, down-regulation of VEGFA and increased matrix synthesis with treatment of PAR2A highlights its therapeutic potential for restoring structure/function to the IVD while reducing neo-angiogenic processes. However, this "proof of concept" study requires further validation with a larger cohort of IVDs and for a longer time-frame to determine whether effects are sustained.

To further investigate the therapeutic potential of PAR2A on IVD cells we conducted a preliminary *in vitro* human study utilizing PAR2A to screen IVD cells considered most physiologically and clinically relevant to DBP. It is important to note that in order to better elaborate on the microenvironment of a MC modulated disease state in the native IVD, MCCM in its entirety was utilized. This MCCM includes a variety of mediators derived from the granules such as catabolic enzyme ADAMTS5 and inflammatory/pain-associated factors IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ , VEGFA, NGF and Substance P among others (De Schepper et al., 2010),

and tryptase content has been previously validated in these MCCM samples (Wiet et al., 2017) as well as in the present study design. Our study demonstrated that MCCM induced a consistent inflammatory and pathological response in human NP cells. Treatment with PAR2A seemed to abate these effects in a fairly consistent manner, however, when all donors were combined, these results were not statistically significant. Use of human IVD samples for drug screening is highly clinically relevant, yet due to the innate nature of human variability, effects are often dismissed as there exists a pool of non-responders versus responders (Madian et al., 2012). Indeed, DBP in clinical practice has been shown to be enigmatic in its presentation with underlying risk factors not always evident and fully elaborated on in the field. One study in particular found that even with MRI imaging cross-sectional analysis of asymptomatic persons aged 60 or older, 36% had disc herniations, 21% had spinal stenosis and more than 90% had degenerated and or bulging discs (Boden et al., 1990) demonstrating that in many ways our cross-referential understanding of the manifestation of DBP is still emerging. As such, we sought to understand how sample demographics could potentially influence the response to PAR2A treatment. Interestingly, when we examined the effects of PAR2A as a function of male vs. female derived samples we found that in the majority of the assessed genetic markers, at least 2/3 male derived samples responded to PAR2A with downregulation of the MCCM induced effects. This trend was not nearly as pronounced for female samples, with only 1/4 of these samples demonstrating a consistent response to PAR2A in the assessed genes. It has been shown that gender differences are observed for DBP clinically such as Bartynski et al. (2013) finding that in men, injury related DBP represented 83% of all injury related cases examined with DBP while 65% of progressive onset associated DBP cases being female patients. Additionally, it was found that in cases of progressive onset, significantly more severely degenerative discs in females were reported (65%) when compared to male patients (27%) even though across the entire sample, cases of severely degenerative discs were nearly identical to full-thickness radial fissures (47.3% vs. 52.7%), a type of IVD internal derangement and typical clinical indicator of back pain. It was the conclusion of this group that gender differences may be relevant to the consideration of back pain origin, treatment, and response to treatment. These findings seem to be corroborated by more recent studies such as that Mosley et al. (2019) examining gender differences in a rat AF puncture degenerative model. The study found that in this degenerative model, female rats responded to puncture with decreased collagen organization and density, fibril diameter, and increased molecular damage when compared to males. Furthermore, it was suggested that differences in females are likely to contribute to difficulty in healing, and more pronounced pain in female clinical DBP cases. The application of these findings among others in the context of the present study's findings opens the possibility that demographic considerations are of potential importance in analysis of therapeutic options. While these considerations are potentially promising in the progress toward developing non-surgical intervention therapies for DBP, it is important to note that significantly more human samples are needed to fully validate and elaborate on these differing outcomes across demographics seen within the present study before any definitive conclusions can be drawn. As such, we report only the potential of PAR2A as a treatment option, and one that should be assessed with consideration of gender among other demographic considerations. Further investigation of these factors is needed to expand upon our preliminary investigation and hopefully elucidate any practical applications there may be to the benefit of the very diverse affected DBP patient population. As such, further work by our group includes longitudinal investigation, expansion of sample size, assessment of age, gender, race and species effects among other factors, to verify the validity of PAR2A as a potential therapeutic strategy for the treatment of DBP.

#### SIGNIFICANCE

This study highlights chemotactic effects of IVD cells on MCs, evidence toward mast cell/PAR2 interactions regulating inflammatory and angiogenic markers of discogenic back pain, and PAR2A as a potential therapeutic strategy specifically targeting mast cell/PAR2 interactions in IVD pathophysiology.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

IRB: 2018H0424 for patient articular cartilage tissue. Autopsy samples from the Cooperative Human Tissue Network are IRB exempted.

## REFERENCES

- Adams, M. A., and Roughley, P. J. (2006). What is intervertebral disc degeneration, and what causes it? *Spine* 31, 2151–2161. doi: 10.1097/01.brs.0000231761. 73859.2c
- Amadesi, S. (2004). Protease-activated receptor 2 sensitizes the capsaicin receptor transient receptor potential vanilloid receptor 1 to induce hyperalgesia. J. Neurosci. 24, 4300–4312. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5679-03.2004
- Andersson, G. B. J. (1999). Epidemiological features of chronic low-back pain. *Lancet* 354, 581–585. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(99)01312-4
- Balagué, F., Mannion, A. F., Pellisé, F., and Ciedraschi, C. (2012). Non-specific low back pain. *Lancet* 379, 482–491. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60610-7
- Bartynski, W. S., Dejohn, L. M., Rothfus, W. E., and Gerszten, P. C. (2013). "Progressive-Onset" versus injury-associated discogenic low back pain: features of disc internal derangement in patients studied with provocation lumbar discography. *Interv. Neuroradiol.* 19, 110–120. doi: 10. 1177/159101991301900117
- Binch, A. L. A., Cole, A. A., Breakwell, L. M., Michael, A. L. R., Chiverton, N., Creemers, L. B., et al. (2015). Class 3 semaphorins expression and association with innervation and angiogenesis within the degenerate human intervertebral disc. Oncotarget 6, 18338–18354. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4274
- Boden, S. D., Davis, D. O., Dina, T. S., Patronas, N. J., Wiesel, S. W., Joint, J. B., et al. (1990). Abnormal magnetic-resonance scans of the lumbar spine in asymptomatic subjects. A prospective investigation abnormal lumbar magnetic-resonance spine scans of the in asymptomatic. *J. Bone* 72, 403–408. doi: 10.1080/00021369.1978.10862990
- Boileau, C., Amiable, N., Martel-Pelletier, J., Fahmi, H., Duval, N., and Pelletier, J. P. (2007). Activation of proteinase-activated receptor 2 in human osteoarthritic cartilage upregulates catabolic and proinflammatory pathways capable of

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors contributed to the conception and design of the study, or acquisition of data, or analysis and interpretation of data, drafted the article or revised it critically for important intellectual content, and approved the final version to be submitted. DP took responsibility for the integrity of the work as a whole, from inception to finished article.

## FUNDING

Funding for this project was made possible through the Department of Biomedical Engineering at The Ohio State University and from the Consortium for Advancement of Neuromusculoskeletal Signature Program (CANSL).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Lucy Bodine, Katherine Lakstins, Carly Krull, and Kelly Thompson for technical assistance and logistical support.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fncel. 2019.00294/full#supplementary-material

inducing cartilage degradation: a basic science study. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 9:R121. doi: 10.1186/ar2329

- Bradford, M. M. (1976). A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Anal. Biochem.* 72, 248–254. doi: 10.1006/abio.1976.9999
- Brekhman, V., and Neufeld, G. (2012). An asymmetric 3D In Vitro assay for the study of tumor cell invasion. Methods Cell Biol. 9, 311–328. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-405914-6.00017-2
- Chen, K., Zhang, Z. F., Liao, M. F., Yao, W. L., Wang, J., and Wang, X. R. (2015). Blocking PAR2 attenuates oxaliplatin-induced neuropathic pain via TRPV1 and releases of substance P and CGRP in superficial dorsal horn of spinal cord. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 352, 62–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2015.03.029
- Chen, Y., Yang, C., and Wang, Z. J. (2011). Proteinase-activated receptor 2 sensitizes transient receptor potential vanilloid 1, transient receptor potential vanilloid 4, and transient receptor potential ankyrin 1 in paclitaxel-induced neuropathic pain. *Neuroscience* 193, 440–451. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011. 06.085
- De Palma, M., Biziato, D., and Petrova, T. V. (2017). Microenvironmental regulation of tumour angiogenesis. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 17, 457–474. doi: 10.1038/ nrc.2017.51
- De Schepper, E. I. T., Damen, J., Van Meurs, J. B. J., Ginai, A. Z., Popham, M., Hofman, A., et al. (2010). The association between lumbar disc degeneration and low back pain: the influence of age, gender, and individual radiographic features. *Spine* 35, 531–536. doi: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e3181aa5b33
- Deyo, R. A., Von Korff, M., and Duhrkoop, D. (2015). Opioids for low back pain. BMJ 350, g6380-g6380. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g6380
- Fowlkes, V., Wilson, C. G., Carver, W., and Goldsmith, E. C. (2013). Mechanical loading promotes mast cell degranulation via RGD-integrin dependent pathways. J. Biomech. 46, 788–795. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2012.11.014

- Freemont, A. J., Peacock, T. E., Goupille, P., Hoyland, J. A., O'Brien, J., and Jayson, M. I. V. (1997). Nerve ingrowth into diseased intervertebral disc in chronic back pain. *Lancet* 350, 178–181. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(97)02135-1
- Freemont, A. J., Watkins, A., Le Maitre, C., Baird, P., Jeziorska, M., Knight, M. T. N., et al. (2002). Nerve growth factor expression and innervation of the painful intervertebral disc. J. Pathol. 197, 286–292. doi: 10.1002/path.1108
- Gordon, S., and Taylor, P. R. (2005). Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 5, 953–964. doi: 10.1038/nri1733
- Grant, M., Epure, L. M., Salem, O., AlGarni, N., Ciobanu, O., Alaqeel, M., et al. (2016). Development of a large animal long-term intervertebral disc organ culture model that includes the bony vertebrae forEx VivoStudies. *Tissue Eng. Part C Methods* 22, 636–643. doi: 10.1089/ten.TEC.2016.0049
- Guhl, S., Babina, M., Neou, A., Zuberbier, T., and Artuc, M. (2010). Mast cell lines HMC-1 and LAD2 in comparison with mature human skin mast cells - drastically reduced levels of tryptase and chymase in mast cell lines. *Exp. Dermatol* 19, 845–847. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0625.2010.01103.x
- Iida, R., Akeda, K., Kasai, Y., Masuda, K., Morimoto, R., Sakakibara, T., et al. (2009). Expression of proteinase-activated receptor-2 in the intervertebral disc. *Spine* 34, 470–478. doi: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e318195a67d
- Illien-Jünger, S., Lu, Y., Purmessur, D., Mayer, J. E., Walter, B. A., Roughley, P. J., et al. (2014). Detrimental effects of discectomy on intervertebral disc biology can be decelerated by growth factor treatment during surgery: a large animal organ culture model. *Spine J.* 14, 2724–2732. doi: 10.1016/j.spinee.2014.04.017
- Johnson, W. E. B., Caterson, B., Eisenstein, S. M., Hynds, D. L., Snow, D. M., and Roberts, S. (2002). Human intervertebral disc aggrecan inhibits nerve growth in vitro. *Arthritis Rheum*. 46, 2658–2664. doi: 10.1002/art.10585
- Johnson, W. E. B., Caterson, B., Eisenstein, S. M., and Roberts, S. (2005). Human intervertebral disc aggrecan inhibits endothelial cell adhesion and cell migration in vitro. *Spine* 30, 1139–1147. doi: 10.1097/01.brs.0000162624. 95262.73
- Kim, J. S., Kroin, J. S., Li, X., An, H. S., Buvanendran, A., Yan, D., et al. (2011). The rat intervertebral disk degeneration pain model: relationships between biological and structural alterations and pain. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 13:R165. doi: 10.1186/ar3485
- Klarenbach, S. W., Chipiuk, A., Nelson, R. C., Hollenberg, M. D., and Murray, A. G. (2003). Differential actions of PAR2 and PAR1, in stimulating human endothelial cell exocytosis and permeability: the role of Rho-GTPases. *Circ. Res.* 92, 272–278. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000057386.15390.A3
- Kneilling, M., Hültner, L., Pichler, B. J., Mailhammer, R., Morawietz, L., Solomon, S., et al. (2007). Targeted mast cell silencing protects against joint destruction and angiogenesis in experimental arthritis in mice. *Arthritis Rheum.* 56, 1806– 1816. doi: 10.1002/art.22602
- Kobayashi, S., Meir, A., Kokubo, Y., Uchida, K., Takeno, K., Miyazaki, T., et al. (2009). Ultrastructural analysis on lumbar disc herniation using surgical specimens: role of neovascularization and macrophages in hernias. *Spine* 34, 655–662. doi: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e31819c9d5b
- Koike, Y., Uzuki, M., Kokubun, S., and Sawai, T. (2003). Angiogenesis and inflammatory cell infiltration in lumbar disc herniation. *Spine* 28, 1928–1933. doi: 10.1097/01.BRS.0000083324.65405.AE
- Lama, P., Le Maitre, C. L., Harding, I. J., Dolan, P., and Adams, M. A. (2018). Nerves and blood vessels in degenerated intervertebral discs are confined to physically disrupted tissue. *J. Anat.* 233, 86–97. doi: 10.1111/joa. 12817
- Le Maitre, C. L., Freemont, A. J., and Hoyland, J. A. (2005). The role of interleukin-1 in the pathogenesis of human intervertebral disc degeneration. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 7, R732–R745. doi: 10.1186/ar1732
- Lee, J. M., Song, J. Y., Baek, M., Jung, H. Y., Kang, H., Han, I. B., et al. (2011). Interleukin-1β induces angiogenesis and innervation in human intervertebral disc degeneration. J. Orthop. Res. 29, 265–269. doi: 10.1002/jor. 21210
- Lee, S. E., Kim, J.-M., Jeong, S. K., Jeon, J. E., Yoon, H.-J., Jeong, M.-K., et al. (2010). Protease-activated receptor-2 mediates the expression of inflammatory cytokines, antimicrobial peptides, and matrix metalloproteinases in keratinocytes in response to Propionibacterium acnes. *Arch. Dermatol. Res.* 302, 745–756. doi: 10.1007/s00403-010-1074-z
- Levy, D., Burstein, R., Kainz, V., Jakubowski, M., and Strassman, A. M. (2007). Mast cell degranulation activates a pain pathway underlying migraine headache. *Pain* 130, 166–176. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2007.03.012

- Livak, K. J., and Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the  $2^{-\Delta\Delta C_{\rm T}}$  method. *Methods* 25, 402–408. doi: 10.1006/meth.2001.1262
- Longo, V., Tamma, R., Brunetti, O., Pisconti, S., Argentiero, A., Silvestris, N., et al. (2018). Mast cells and angiogenesis in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Clin. Exp. Med.* 18, 319–323. doi: 10.1007/s10238-018-0493-6
- Madian, A. G., Wheeler, H. E., Jones, R. B., and Dolan, M. E. (2012). Relating human genetic variation to variation in drug responses. *Trends Genet.* 28, 487–495. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2012.06.008
- Magarinos, N. J., Bryant, K. J., Fosang, A. J., Adachi, R., Stevens, R. L., and McNeil, H. P. (2013). Mast cell-restricted, tetramer-forming tryptases induce aggrecanolysis in articular cartilage by activating matrix metalloproteinase-3 and -13 zymogens. J. Immunol. 191, 1404–1412. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1300856
- Mannion, A. F., Leivseth, G., Brox, J. I., Fritzell, P., Hägg, O., and Fairbank, J. C. T. (2014). ISSLS prize winner: long-term follow-up suggests spinal fusion is associated with increased adjacent segment disc degeneration but without influence on clinical outcome: results of a combined follow-up from 4 randomized controlled trials. *Spine* 39, 1373–1383. doi: 10.1097/BRS. 000000000000437
- Masuko, K., Murata, M., Xiang, Y., Nakamura, H., Yudoh, K., Nishioka, K., et al. (2007). Tryptase enhances release of vascular endothelial growth factor from human osteoarthritic chondrocytes. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* 25, 860–865.
- Miyagi, M., Uchida, K., Takano, S., Fujimaki, H., Aikawa, J., Sekiguchi, H., et al. (2018). Macrophage-derived inflammatory cytokines regulate growth factors and pain-related molecules in mice with intervertebral disc injury. *J. Orthop. Res.* doi: 10.1002/jor.23888 [Epub ahead of print].
- Molino, M., Barnathan, E. S., Numerof, R., Clark, J., Dreyer, M., Cumashi, A., et al. (1997). Interactions of mast cell tryptase with thrombin receptors and PAR-2. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272, 4043–4049. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.7.4043
- Mosley, G. E., Hoy, R. C., Nasser, P., Kaseta, T., Lai, A., Evashwick-Rogler, T. W., et al. (2019). Sex differences in rat intervertebral disc structure and function following annular puncture injury. *Spine*. doi: 10.1097/brs.000000000003055 [Epub ahead of print].
- Nakano, S., Mishiro, T., Takahara, S., Yokoi, H., Hamada, D., Yukata, K., et al. (2007). Distinct expression of mast cell tryptase and protease activated receptor-2 in synovia of rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. *Clin. Rheumatol.* 26, 1284–1292. doi: 10.1007/s10067-006-0495-8
- Nakazawa, K. R., Walter, B. A., Laudier, D. M., Krishnamoorthy, D., Mosley, G. E., Spiller, K. L., et al. (2018). Accumulation and localization of macrophage phenotypes with human intervertebral disc degeneration. *Spine J.* 18, 343–356. doi: 10.1016/j.spinee.2017.09.018
- Nigrovic, P. A., and Lee, D. M. (2005). Mast cells in inflammatory arthritis. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 7, 1–11. doi: 10.1186/ar1446
- Nilsson, G., Blom, T., Kusche-Gullberg, M., Kjellen, L., Butterfield, J. H., Sundström, C., et al. (1994a). Phenotypic characterization of the human mastcell line HMC-1. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 39, 489–498. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083. 1994.tb03404.x
- Nilsson, G., Butterfield, J. H., Nilsson, K., and Siegbahn, A. (1994b). Stem cell factor is a chemotactic factor for human mast cells. J. Immunol. 53, 3717–3723.
- Nystedt, S., Emilsson, K., Wahlestedt, C., and Sundelin, J. (1994). Molecular cloning of a potential proteinase activated receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 9208–9212. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.20.9208
- Okayama, Y., and Kawakami, T. (2006). Development, migration, and survival of mast cells. *Immunol. Res.* 34, 97–115.
- O'Sullivan, M., Clayton, N., Breslin, N. P., Harman, I., Bountra, C., Mclaren, A., et al. (2000). Increased mast cells in the irritable bowel syndrome. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 12, 449–457. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2982.2000. 00221.x
- Purmessur, D., Cornejo, M. C., Cho, S. K., Hecht, A. C., and Iatridis, J. C. (2013a). Notochordal cell-derived therapeutic strategies for discogenic back pain. *Glob. Spine J.* 3, 201–218. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1350053
- Purmessur, D., Walter, B. A., Roughley, P. J., Laudier, D. M., Hecht, A. C., and Iatridis, J. (2013b). A role for TNFα in intervertebral disc degeneration: a non-recoverable catabolic shift. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 433, 151–156. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.02.034
- Purmessur, D., Cornejo, M. C., Cho, S. K., Roughley, P. J., Linhardt, R. J., Hecht, A. C., et al. (2015). Intact glycosaminoglycans from intervertebral disc-derived

notochordal cell-conditioned media inhibit neurite growth while maintaining neuronal cell viability. *Spine J.* 15, 1060–1069. doi: 10.1016/j.spinee.2015.02.003

- Purmessur, D., Schek, R. M., Abbott, R. D., Ballif, B. A., Godburn, K. E., and Iatridis, J. C. (2011). Notochordal conditioned media from tissue increases proteoglycan accumulation and promotes a healthy nucleus pulposus phenotype in human mesenchymal stem cells. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 13:R81. doi: 10.1186/ar3344
- Ritchie, E., Saka, M., MacKenzie, C., Drummond, R., Wheeler-Jones, C., Kanke, T., et al. (2007). Cytokine upregulation of proteinase-activated-receptors 2 and 4 expression mediated by p38 MAP kinase and inhibitory kappa B kinase  $\beta$  in human endothelial cells. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 150, 1044–1054. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp. 0707150
- Roughley, P. J. (2004). Biology of intervertebral disc aging and degeneration: involvement of the extracellular matrix. *Spine* 29, 2691–2699. doi: 10.1097/01. brs.0000146101.53784.b1
- Séguin, C. A., Pilliar, R. M., Roughley, P. J., and Kandel, R. A. (2005). Tumor necrosis factorα modulates matrix production and catabolism in nucleus pulposus tissue. Spine 30, 1940–1948. doi: 10.1097/01.brs.0000176188.40263.f9
- Smith, L. J., Nerurkar, N. L., Choi, K.-S., Harfe, B. D., and Elliott, D. M. (2011). Degeneration and regeneration of the intervertebral disc: lessons from development. *Dis. Model. Mech.* 4, 31–41. doi: 10.1242/dmm.006403
- Sousa-Valente, J., Calvo, L., Vacca, V., Simeoli, R., Arévalo, J. C., and Malcangio, M. (2018). Role of TrkA signalling and mast cells in the initiation of osteoarthritis pain in the monoiodoacetate model. *Osteoarthr. Cartil.* 26, 84–94. doi: 10.1016/ j.joca.2017.08.006
- Stefanakis, M., Al-Abbasi, M., Harding, I., Pollintine, P., Dolan, P., Tarlton, J., et al. (2012). Annulus fissures are mechanically and chemically conducive to the ingrowth of nerves and blood vessels. *Spine* 37, 1883–1891. doi: 10.1097/ BRS.0b013e318263ba59
- Theoharides, T. C., Donelan, J., Kandere-Grzybowska, K., and Konstantinidou, A. (2005). The role of mast cells in migraine pathophysiology. *Brain Res. Rev.* 49, 65–76. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2004.11.006
- Tillu, D. V., Hassler, S. N., Burgos-Vega, C. C., Quinn, T. L., Sorge, R. E., Dussor, G., et al. (2015). Protease-activated receptor 2 activation is sufficient to induce the transition to a chronic pain state. *Pain* 156, 859–867. doi: 10.1097/j.pain. 000000000000125

- Vergnolle, N., Bunnett, N. W., Sharkey, K. A., Brussee, V., Compton, S. J., Grady, E. F., et al. (2001). Proteinase-activated receptor-2 and hyperalgesia: a novel pain pathway. *Nat. Med.* 7, 821–826. doi: 10.1038/ 89945
- Vo, N. V., Hartman, R. A., Yurube, T., Jacobs, L. J., Sowa, G. A., and Kang, J. D. (2013). Expression and regulation of metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in intervertebral disc aging and degeneration. *Spine J.* 13, 331–341. doi: 10.1016/j. spinee.2012.02.027
- Walter, B. A., Purmessur, D., Moon, A., Occhiogrosso, J., Laudier, D. M., Hecht, A. C., et al. (2016). Reduced tissue osmolarity increases trpv4 expression and pro-inflammatory cytokines in intervertebral disc cells. *Eur. Cell Mater.* 32, 123–136. doi: 10.22203/eCM.v032a08
- Wiet, M. G., Piscioneri, A., Khan, S. N., Ballinger, M. N., Hoyland, J. A., and Purmessur, D. (2017). Mast cell-intervertebral disc cell interactions regulate inflammation, catabolism and angiogenesis in discogenic back pain. *Sci. Rep.* 7:12492. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-12666-z
- Woolley, D. E. (2003). The mast cell in inflammatory arthritis. N. Engl. J. Med. 348, 1709–1711. doi: 10.1007/BF00524001
- Zhang, D., Spielmann, A., Wang, L., Ding, G., Huang, F., Gu, Q., et al. (2012). Mast-cell degranulation induced by physical stimuli involves the activation of transient-receptor-potential channel TRPV2. *Physiol. Res.* 61, 113–124.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Richards, Tang, Gunsch, Sul, Wiet, Flanigan, Khan, Moore, Walter and Purmessur. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Mast Cells in Gut and Brain and Their Potential Role as an Emerging Therapeutic Target for Neural Diseases

#### Giovanna Traina\*

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy

The mast cells (MCs) are the *leader* cells of inflammation. They are well known for their involvement on allergic reactions through degranulation and release of vasoactive, inflammatory, and nociceptive mediators. Upon encountering potential danger signal, MCs are true sensors of the environment, the first to respond in rapid and selective manner. The MC activates the algic response and modulates the evolution of nociceptive pain, typical of acute inflammation, to neuropathic pain, typical not only of chronic inflammation but also of the dysregulation of the pain system. Yet, MC may contribute to modulate intensity of the associated depressive and anxiogenic component on the neuronal and microglial biological front. Chronic inflammation is a common mediator of these co-morbidities. In parallel to the removal of the etiological factors of tissue damage, the modulation of MC hyperactivity and the reduction of the release of inflammatory factors may constitute a new frontier of pharmacological intervention aimed at preventing the chronicity of inflammation, the evolution of pain, and also the worsening of the depression and anxiogenic state associated with it. So, identifying specific molecules able to modify MC activity may be an important therapeutic tool. Various preclinical evidences suggest that the intestinal microbiota contributes substantially to mood and behavioral disorders. In humans, conditions of the microbiota have been linked to stress, anxiety, depression, and pain. MC is likely the crucial neuroimmune connecting between these components. In this review, the involvement of MCs in pain, stress, and depression is reviewed. We focus on the MC as target that may be mediating stress and mood disorders via microbiota-gut-brain axis.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Kalpna Gupta, University of Minnesota Twin Cities, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Elsa Fabbretti, University of Trieste, Italy Sharon DeMorrow, The University of Texas at Austin, United States

> \*Correspondence: Giovanna Traina giovanna.traina@unipg.it

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Non-Neuronal Cells, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience

> Received: 11 March 2019 Accepted: 12 July 2019 Published: 30 July 2019

#### Citation:

Traina G (2019) Mast Cells in Gut and Brain and Their Potential Role as an Emerging Therapeutic Target for Neural Diseases. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:345. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00345 Keywords: mast cell, neuroinflammation, pain, stress, depression, gut-brain axis, probiotics

# INTRODUCTION

A *basal* inflammation is a protective condition. In physiological levels, both pro- and antiinflammatory mediators may result essential for induction and maintenance in neuroplasticity phenomena (Bezzi et al., 1998; Avital et al., 2003), whereas in high doses they can cause an acute inflammation that, in turn, can produce a state of chronic inflammation and achieving neural diseases (Dong et al., 2017; Kempuraj et al., 2017). An inflammation state is underlying pain, stress, and depression (Hendriksen et al., 2017; Gupta and Harvima, 2018).

The International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) defined the pain as "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage,

or described in terms of such damage" (Iasp, 1979). According to this definition, it emerges that pain, originating from peripheral damage, is progressively enriched by neuropsychological and emotional components, which born in the brain and modulate their perceptive and purely subjective components (Mannion and Woolf, 2000). A chronic pain is frequently the first determinant of psychological and mood disorders (Humo et al., 2019).

Stress is a complex dynamic condition in which homeostasis is altered or threatened (Rea et al., 2016). Stress and inflammation represent the main pathogenic factors in multiple diseases that are often comorbid including fibromyalgia syndrome, migraine, as well as irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) (Bennett et al., 1998; Tak et al., 2011). Stress, particularly in early stages of life, is one of the main predictors of the onset of major depression disorder and chronic pain, and it may affect the perception of the pain and exacerbate it (Liu and Chen, 2014; Burke et al., 2017; Humo et al., 2019). Studies point out that major depression is prevalent in patients affected by chronic infections and suggest that a chronic inflammation can increase its incidence (Hauser et al., 2011). Elevations in pro-inflammatory cytokines have been reported in patients suffering from depression and chronic pain (Martinez et al., 2012).

Major depression, emotional, and chronic stress lead to the activation and alteration in limbic regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, whose altered regulation is usually associated with centralized pain syndromes (Menke, 2019). Under normal conditions, an acute stress induces the hypothalamus to release the corticotrophin-releasing factor (CRF) that induces the anterior pituitary gland to release adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), which causes the adrenal cortex to release glucocorticoids that play metabolic roles (Herman et al., 2003). A negative feedback loop turn off the HPA axis activation (Kageyama and Suda, 2009). Subjects with pain syndromes present altered signaling from HPA axis but also mood disorders, including depression and anxiety (Bao and Swaab, 2019). The crucial link connecting these disorders is the inflammation mediated and modulated by cells, whose leaders are the mast cells (MCs). MCs are versatile cells that serve important functions in both innate and adaptive immunity surveillance, and the first responders to insults. They are equipped with extraordinary functional peculiarities and respond strongly to HPA axis activation (Heron and Dubayle, 2013; Skaper, 2016; Theoharides, 2017; Gupta and Harvima, 2018).

Increasing evidence has pointed to the relationship between intestinal microbiota and brain, showing that the gut inflammatory *milieu* may play a crucial role in the induction of several nervous conditions including stress, anxiety, and depression as well as in neuroinflammation (Sherwin et al., 2016; Cussotto et al., 2018).

From various studies it emerges that the MC is particularly responsive to microbiota conditions and its stabilization through appropriate combinations of probiotics could represent a new potential therapeutic tool to control neural disorders that underlie its activation (Wouters et al., 2016). Therefore, the goal is to stabilize the MC, and do it starting from the intestine.

In this review, we focus on the MC as potential target that may mediate neural diseases via microbiota–gut–brain axis.

## **OVERVIEW ON MAST CELLS**

Mast cells are heterogeneous and ubiquitous cells of the vascularized tissues where they work as immune gatekeepers at host/environment interfaces, like the skin, airways, gastrointestinal, and urogenital tracts to respond to different allergens, pathogens, parasites, and other danger agents that can be ingested, inhaled, or encountered after breakdown of the epithelial barrier. In addition, MCs organize the inflammatory response, modulating the quality of tissue repair and remodeling at the same time (Traina, 2017; Forsythe, 2019).

Mast cells originate from hematopoietic-derived immune CD34+ multipotential stem cells in the bone marrow and circulate in the blood in low numbers as immature precursors. They migrate to locate in mucosal and connective tissues completing their differentiation in mature MCs on the influence of local residing microenvironment, which defines their phenotype and, consequently, their function (Beaven, 2009; De Zuani et al., 2018). In particular, MCs represent about 2–3% of the immune cellular pool of the lamina propria, and in the muscular and serous layers (3,000–25,000 MCs/mm<sup>3</sup>), located in strategic position in proximity of blood, lymphatic vessels, and nerves (Irmak et al., 2019). Stem cell factor (SCF) binds to c-kit tyrosine kinase receptor of MCs and it is a necessary component for their survival, proliferation, and differentiation (Okayama and Kawakami, 2006).

In small quantity, MCs are also present in the brain. Here, they are located in area postrema, parenchyma of thalamus and hypothalamus, leptomeninges, pineal organ, infundibulum, choroid plexus, and in dura mater of the spinal cord. Their interaction with meningeal afferents and dural vasculature may have a crucial role in migraine headache (Rozniecki et al., 1999; Xu and Chen, 2015; Arac et al., 2019). In the brain MCs are located on the abluminal side of blood vessels, where they interact with neurons, glia, and endothelial cells (Hendriksen et al., 2017). The total number of MCs present in the central nervous system (CNS) is limited and it is difficult to calculate it because subject to changes related to age, sex, and animal species and also in response to outside environmental conditions (Silver and Curley, 2013). In human healthy brain, in meninges and perivascular area <5 MCs in 5  $\mu$ m thick tissue sections were found during autopsy (Maslinska et al., 2005). During infection MC numbers increase to 11-20 in meninges and 5-10 in perivascular area. In mice brain, MC numbers are increasing from 150 to 500/50 µm sections thick during development (Nautiyal et al., 2012). But they are very powerful cells and even few MCs are able to release a sufficient amount of inflammatory mediators that can affect the blood-brain barrier (BBB) integrity and, in turn, activate glia and neurons (Hendriksen et al., 2017). All the unique features of MCs allow them to start, amplify, and prolong the inflammatory response. MCs are armed with a vast repertoire of receptors to ligands. MCs possess high affinity receptors, FceRI for immunoglobulin E (IgE) binding protein on the cell surface and cytoplasmic proteases-containing granules under the influence of molecules, such as SCF, interleukin (IL)-3, and IL-9, as well as bacterialderived molecules [lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and peptidoglycan]

Mast Cells and Neural Diseases

(Bischoff and Kramer, 2007; Frossi et al., 2017). In this manner, MCs can be activated by pathogens, antigen-bounded Ig, and also by soluble or physic factors, drugs, temperature, pressure via transient-receptor-potential channel 2 (TRPV2). Their receptors include also complements receptors, Toll-like (TLRs, 1–7, 9), nucleotide-binding and oligomerization domain (NOD)-like as well as receptors for cytokines and microbe associated molecular pattern receptors (MAMPs) (Zhang et al., 2012; Traina, 2017).

Interestingly, MCs have the receptors for CRF, strengthening link between stress and MC (Traina, 2017; Kempuraj et al., 2019). In particular, MCs possess both CRF1 and CRF2 receptors, indicating their central role in visceral hyper-sensibility, in sensitizing sensory nerve terminations and, possibly, in lowering pain thresholds (Eller-Smith et al., 2018). In addition, they contain vast CRF stores (Theoharides and Konstantinidou, 2007). A recent study showed that CRF2 represents a negative modulator of MC activation, suggesting a crucial homeostatic role of MC in the CRF system and in the disorders associated with his (D'Costa et al., 2019).

Mast cells own a great number of co-stimulatory molecules. These mediators include members of the tumor necrosis factor TNF/TNFR families, which allow them to interact with different cells populations and with bacteria and fungi through the expression of different pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) (Frossi et al., 2017; De Zuani et al., 2018). MCs harbor a large amount of granules that contain preformed and de novo synthesized molecules. Preformed mediators include histamine, serotonin (5-HT), proteases, heparin, and growth factors including TNF- $\alpha$ , proteoglycans, initiating the early recruitment of immune cells at the infection site. Newly synthesized mediators consist of lipid-derived mediators, such as prostaglandins and leukotrienes and cytokines (IL-1β, IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-16, and IL-18) that affect the physiology of neighboring cells (Hendriksen et al., 2017; Traina, 2017). Activation of MCs via one of the pathways can release a plethora of pro-nociceptive mediators. MCs are able to respond to activation of the principal stress system, HPA axis and, in turn, pro-inflammatory cytokines are potent stimulators of the HPA axis (Theoharides, 2017). Their aberrant activity may also give to neurodegenerative and mood disorders (Hendriksen et al., 2017). In addition, mediators released by MCs may affect epithelial integrity and viability (Albert-Bayo et al., 2019). MCs represent the connecting link between brain and immune system, because they respond and release neurotransmitters and immune molecules (Forsythe, 2019; Figure 1). Finally, in the brain MCs does not possess IgE receptors (FcERI) (Theoharides and Konstantinidou, 2007). So, the brain does not manifest allergic reactions (Forsythe, 2019).

## MAST CELLS AND PAIN

Both peripheral and CNS participate in pain. CNS is involved not only in spino-thalamic-cortical pain system, but also in the limbic areas, which modulate the component emotionalaffective of pain, as well as in the cognitive areas, which modulate adaptive, motivational, and relational aspects (Mannion and Woolf, 2000). Headache is one of the main symptoms associated with these conditions (Irmak et al., 2019). Evidence shows the involvement of MCs on pain and stress (Eller-Smith et al., 2018). In stress condition, activation of HPA axis induces an increase of CRF release that could result in MC activation and in sensitization of nerve terminals increasing pain signaling (Eller-Smith et al., 2018). MCs and nerves communicate bidirectionally. Calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) released from meningeal nociceptors may degranulate MCs that release histamine that, in turn, activates mechanosensitive C-fibers that release CGRP and substance P (SP) (Julius and Basbaum, 2001; Irmak et al., 2019). Actually, CGRP co-localizes with SP and both neurotransmitters were found adjacent to mucosal MCs. MCs sustain peripheral neurogenic inflammation through the further release of SP and CGRP, that perpetuate inflammatory molecule release (Julius and Basbaum, 2001). Afferent fibers express the receptors involved in nociception, such as transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1), transient receptor potential ankyrin 1 (TRPA1), and proteinase-activated receptor 2 (PAR2) (Kim et al., 2010). The activation of PAR2 starts downstream sensitization of TRPV1 and TRPA1 involved for the generation of visceral hyper-sensibility (Amadesi et al., 2006; Irmak et al., 2019). PAR-2 is expressed by dorsal root ganglia that co-express TRPV1, TRPV4, TRPA1, and SP and CGRP, is activated by tryptase and SP, and its activation can result in neurogenic inflammation (Amadesi et al., 2006). TRPV1 is an intriguing target for pain control in MC-dependent disorders (Eller-Smith et al., 2018). A possible role of histamine in TRPV1 activation has been suggested (Kajihara et al., 2010; Eller-Smith et al., 2018). SP induces CRF receptor expression on MCs (Asadi et al., 2012). MCs also synthesize nerve growth factor (NGF) that in autocrine mode stimulates the MCs to release pro-nociceptive mediators (Eller-Smith et al., 2018). NGF binds to its receptor TrkA evoking pain hypersensitivity (Eskander et al., 2015).

Evidences suggest that MCs may upgrade a cascade of inflammatory events that result in trigeminal activation (Levy et al., 2006; Irmak et al., 2019). MC releases nitric oxide (NO), crucial mediator of persistent neuronal damage triggering neurogenic inflammation (Ramachandran et al., 2014; Ramachandran, 2018). CGRP and mediators released from MCs induce meningeal vasodilatation and activation of sensory nerve fibers (Irmak et al., 2019). In addition, the nucleotide adenosine triphosphate (ATP) directly excites trigeminal nerve terminals and degranulates MCs, suggesting that ATP may contribute both to excitation and to meningeal neuroinflammation in the unit of dural MCs and trigeminal afferent fibers (Koroleva et al., 2019). A fast inhibitory interaction between respective receptors could revert MC-derived neuroinflammation in sensory nerve endings and influence their time course activation.

## MAST CELLS AND STRESS

The exposure to chronic stress may induce irreversible modifications in the brain regions responsible for perception of pain (Fasick et al., 2015).

Specific areas, including hypothalamus, amygdala, prefrontal cortex, and hippocampus, and their interaction with limbic



system are involved in response to stress (Lupien et al., 2009). A crosstalk between MCs and microglia in these areas could explain stress-induced inflammation (Hendriksen et al., 2017; Traina, 2017). Stressful conditions can also activate peripheral MCs, and increase glial activation (Dong et al., 2017). The integration of these centers results in the activation of HPA and in autonomic nervous system (ANS) that modulates also enteric nervous system (ENS), inducing an exacerbation of inflammation has deleterious effects that involve changes in brain parenchyma, BBB alterations, neuronal hyper-excitability, and neuronal death (Hendriksen et al., 2017). The microglia and MCs become hyper-activated, realizing IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$  (Skaper, 2016; Kempuraj et al., 2017; Traina, 2017). Variety of adhesion molecules, cytokines, chemokines, and

barrier; CRF, corticotrophin-releasing factor; SCFAs, short chain fatty acids.

metalloproteases contribute in the development of inflammatory response in brain through the degradation of extracellular matrix and tissue remodeling (Hendriksen et al., 2017). Acute stress condition increases BBB permeability resulting in ion unbalance, entry of immune molecules, and instable CNS environment (Hendriksen et al., 2017). The penetration of reactive T cells into the CNS is under the influence of MCs (Silverman et al., 2000). In stress conditions, increased peripheral CRF release consequent to dysregulation of HPA axis activation results in sensitization of nerve terminals (Eller-Smith et al., 2018). A prolonged increase of glucocorticoid levels is associated with a reduction of hippocampal volume and impairments in memory, perception, and attention (Bremner, 2006). Hippocampal volume reduction may be due to high levels of glucocorticoids that damage mature neurons or rather to high levels of cortisol that suppress neurogenesis (Bremner, 2006). Also a recurrent depression causes a volume reduction of the hippocampus (Bremner et al., 2008).

## MAST CELLS AND DEPRESSION

Studies indicate that major depression is prevalent in patients affected by chronic infections suggesting that a chronic inflammation condition can increase depression incidence (Hauser et al., 2011). Major depression disorder attend changes in monoaminergic neurotransmission, imbalance of excitatory/inhibitory signaling, hyperactivity of the HPA axis, abnormalities in neurogenesis (Milenkovic et al., 2019). The disorder was accompanied to increase of circulating IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$  (Marini et al., 2016). Administration of inflammatory cytokines leads a major depressive disorder condition like to the one induced by stressor agents (Anisman and Hayley, 2012).

Proinflammatory cytokines can induce the activation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), enzyme involved in the catabolism of tryptophan to kynurenine and higher levels of kynurenine are linked with a depression condition (Gabbay et al., 2012). Some studies reported that the prevalence of major depression and other neurological and psychiatric symptoms such as anxiety, sleep disorders, and headaches are detected in patients suffering of mastocytosis, a disease characterized by MCs accumulation and activation (Moura et al., 2011; Hendriksen et al., 2017). Such subjects present lower levels of tryptophan and 5-HT, and high IDO1 activity and kynurenine acid. It is know that MCs may be activated by kynurenine metabolites (Hermine et al., 2008; Kawasaki et al., 2014), whereas MCs mediators can affect the IDO pathway bringing to an imbalance between kynurenine and 5-HT ratio. Finally, pro-inflammatory cytokines increase monoamine reuptake by reducing 5-HT levels (Theoharides et al., 2015; Hendriksen et al., 2017). A different pattern of HPA axis activity has been described for atypical depression (Juruena et al., 2018).

# **MICROBIOTA-GUT-BRAIN AXIS**

In the gut, the functional unit established by MC-nerve interaction is a crucial component in the interplay in paracrine signaling (Albert-Bayo et al., 2019). Enteric neurons and vagal and spinal afferents express receptors for molecules released by MCs. These molecules stimulate nerve terminals, thereby modulating the firing threshold. Similarly, neuropeptides and neurotransmitters released by neurons stimulate MC secretion of mediators, which further activate neuronal receptors, supporting the maintenance of this neuro-immune interplay (Forsythe et al., 2012; Albert-Bayo et al., 2019). The intestinal microbiota is composed of trillions of microorganisms, 10 times more numerous than the eukaryotic cells that make up the body (Rea et al., 2016).

Many studies support the relationship between complexity of the dynamic ecosystem of microorganisms that harbor the gut and health status (Eckburg et al., 2005; Cryan and Dinan, 2015). Under physiological and homeostatic conditions the microbiota helps to maintain a multitude of functions such as intestinal peristalsis, control of several metabolic functions, epithelial barrier integrity, pH balance, and immune priming and protection versus invading microorganisms (Kelly et al., 2017). Microbiota controls maturation and function of microglia (Nayak et al., 2014). The microbiota can influence emotional behavior through mechanisms that include microbe-derived bioactive molecules, immune and endocrine cell activation, and vagal nerve stimulation (Dinan and Cryan, 2013). The microbiota plays a crucial role in stress, anxiety, learning and memory, addiction, sexual behavior, social interaction, and depression as well as in neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration (Wang et al., 2016; Cussotto et al., 2018).

The *microbiota-gut-brain axis* is an integrate system that consists of a dynamic matrix of tissues and organs (brain, ANS, glands, gut, immune cells, and microbiota) communicating through a complex multidirectional manner via neural, endocrine, circulatory pathways in order to preserve homeostasis condition and resist to any perturbation to the system (Dinan and Cryan, 2013; Bermúdez-Humarán et al., 2019). Signals from the brain may influence the motor, sensory, and secretory functions of the gut and viceversa, visceral messages from the gut may influence brain function (**Figure 1**). Germ-free (GF) animals (without microbiota, born and maintained in sterile condition) present various immune disorders, including defective microglia (Erny et al., 2015).

Microbial metabolites and products of bacterial fermentation, such as short chain fatty acids (SCFAs), specifically acetate, propionate, and butyrate stimulate enteroendocrine cells to produce various neuropeptides, including neuropeptide Y and SP, that gain access to the circulation and/or receptor affecting ENS neurons or vagal innervation (Cani and Knauf, 2016; **Figure 1**). SCFAs together with other metabolites, such as polyamine, influence the immunity response and may restore physiological conditions in GF animals (Borre et al., 2014; Erny et al., 2015; Rook and Garrett, 2016).

Microbiota promotes tryptophan hydroxylase expression. In the gut, the amino acid tryptophan contributes to synthesis of bioactive molecules, including 5-HT (Agus et al., 2018). SCFAs and tryptophan transmit signals through interaction with enteroendocrine and enterochromaffin cells, and the mucosal immune system, cross the intestinal barrier, go in the systemic circulation, and may cross the BBB (Yano et al., 2015; Kelly et al., 2017; Martin et al., 2018). So, SCFAs and microbial regulation of tryptophan metabolism act as a link between microbiota and brain (Liu et al., 2018; Martin et al., 2018; Figure 1). Yet, microbiota produces a variety of other neuroactive molecules, including y-aminobutyric acid (GABA), catecholamines, and acetylcholine, and may affect the HPA axis (Kelly et al., 2017; Wiley et al., 2017). 5-HT is a crucial substrate in the pathogenesis of mood disorders and intestinal microbiota may be a potential therapeutic target for 5-HT-related brain-gut axis diseases. Various species of bacteria are able of producing 5-HT, including Streptococcus, Enterococcus, Lactococcus, and Lactobacillus (Kelly et al., 2017).

Illness, stress, pain, or injury conditions can alter the microbial environment and induce to a large spectrum of effects including alteration of gut motility, loss of intestinal epithelial barrier integrity, antigen penetration, release of LPS into the bloodstream, mucosal MC activation, inflammatory mediator release, visceral hypersensitivity, and nociceptive sensitization, ranging from inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and IBS to major depressive disorder (Bennett et al., 1998; He, 2004; Brzozowski et al., 2016; Rea et al., 2016). Subjects with IBD present an enhanced risk of anxiety and depression (Maunder, 2005; Goodhand et al., 2012). On the other hand, IBS is a complex disorder in which the inflammation is involved through gut-brain axis, resulting in altered neuroendocrine pathways. IBS is characterized by pain, visceral hyper-sensibility, intestinal microbiota imbalance, gut-brain axis dysfunction, and psychological disorders (Quigley and Craig, 2012). Microbial signals also modulate visceral pain anxiety- and depression-like behavior. In humans, significant changes in the microbiota have been noticed in a variety of amygdala-related clinical disorders, including depression and chronic visceral hypersensitivity. IBS patients present hyperactivity in the amygdala and closed brain regions in response to visceral stimulation (Barbara et al., 2007, 2011; Han et al., 2012; Cowan et al., 2018). Stress condition induces significant modifications in the composition of the microbiota. The mechanism of influence of stress on gut involves action of IL-6, IL-10, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  (Lew et al., 2018). It has been seen that norepinephrine enhances the virulence of some bacteria (Cogan et al., 2007). Tryptophan-regulating bacteria can function as antidepressant drugs (Dinan and Cryan, 2015). In conclusion, a dysregulation of the microbiota composition (dvsbiosis) can start or exacerbate intestinal disorders as well as can influence emotional condition (Cryan and Dinan, 2015; Kelly et al., 2017).

## MAST CELLS IN THE GUT

Mast cells are present in all layers within the gastrointestinal tract (Albert-Bayo et al., 2019). The close proximity of MCs and nerves is the emblem of the neuro-immune network and has indicated the existence of a bidirectional crosstalk between MCs and nerves acting in tandem with other neural and immune cells (Albert-Bayo et al., 2019). This dialog is crucial in the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis and it is responsible for diseases and in pain visceral perception (Quigley and Craig, 2012).

It has been observed that MC mediators are released in large quantity in gut of IBS subjects and leading to hypersensitivity of afferent neurons (Barbara et al., 2007). There is a growing literature to support the hypothesis that MCs perform a fundamental role in host-microbiota communication, by modulating the influence between them through changes in their activation (Wouters et al., 2016).

A brain–MC interaction is one conceivable mechanism linking stress responses and gastrointestinal symptoms with the involvement of vagal nerve pathway (Dong et al., 2017).

Chronic stress may lead to MC activation and modulate paracellular and transcellular permeability. In IBS an intestinal

barrier dysfunction is implicated and the expression of tight junction (TJ) proteins is reduced in correlation with MC activation. Tryptase can activate PAR-2 on epithelial cells by increasing permeability through TJs (McDermott et al., 2003). Epithelial barrier breakdown is associated with an increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-4, Il-13, IFN- $\gamma$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  (Kim et al., 2018). Further molecules released by MCs, including chymase and prostaglandin D2, modulate epithelial chloride and water secretion and intestinal permeability (Wouters et al., 2016; Dong et al., 2017).

Microorganisms, such as bacteria and fungi, can induce MCs activation (De Zuani et al., 2018). Albeit some microorganisms can evoke a pro-inflammatory response, other microorganisms result able to reduce their activation, contributing to maintain their stability. This allows to limit or revert inflammation and to promote homeostatic conditions (Forsythe, 2016; Johnzon et al., 2016).

It has also been shown that MCs may phagocyte bacteria promising a scenario in which MCs may act as intermediate players between the microbiota and the adaptive immune system (Malaviya and Abraham, 2001).

In the gut, MCs are differentially functional in the different regions on the basis of local bacterial charge; in colon MCs have a greater abundance of TLR4 than the MCs present in the small intestine (Frossi et al., 2018). Bacterial challenge induces MC degranulation and release of mediators (Wesolowski and Paumet, 2011). An increase in histamine and tryptase secretion has been reported in biopsies from the gut of IBD patients (De Winter et al., 2012; Wilcz-Villega et al., 2013). These subjects show a lower bacterial diversity in the intestinal microbiota, an increase of the Proteobacteria phylum, and a decrease of Firmicutes (Halfvarson et al., 2017).

Mast cells interact with both the microbiota and the nervous system relating to enteric neurons through release of 5-HT, while are affected by SP or noradrenaline (Buhner and Schermann, 2012).

All these evidences support that MCs may substantially contribute to the balance in gut homeostasis, and their activation is linked to modifications and motor abnormalities and barrier dysfunctions (Barbara et al., 2007; De Zuani et al., 2018). In addition to well-established pharmacotherapy comprised of antiinflammatories, antibiotics, and proton-pump inhibitors, valid treatment strategies on the microbiota may contain other options including probiotics, prebiotics, and food supplements with antiinflammatory properties. The beneficial effects of probiotics have been recognized as therapeutic supplement in various disorders (Sarkar et al., 2018).

## **PROBIOTIC CHALLENGE**

Probiotics are defined as "living microorganisms which, when administered in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit to the host" (Hill et al., 2014). Probiotic supplementation is particularly useful for developing an understanding of the mechanism of action of selected bacterial strains, and a crucial factor in predicting the favorable health outcomes of nutritional intervention (Dinan and Cryan, 2013). Various studies reported that specific probiotic strains are able to counteract inflammatory conditions and exert considerable effects on immune cells and inflammation (Dominici et al., 2011; Bellavia et al., 2014; Persichetti et al., 2014; Tomasello et al., 2015a,b; Traina et al., 2016; De Marco et al., 2018; Sichetti et al., 2018). Gut microbiota composition may be effectively affected by dietary ingestion of probiotics and prebiotic, these last ones defined as non-digestible organic substances, capable of selectively stimulating the growth and/or activity of beneficial bacteria (Saulnier et al., 2013). Probiotics decrease plasma cytokine levels and reduce mitogenstimulated cytokine in healthy subjects (Groeger et al., 2013).

Probiotics are recognized by TLRs in intestinal epithelial cells and immune cells. Probiotics can influence CNS function and modulate the HPA axis attenuating it, and altering the levels of corticosteroid and/or ACTH (Ait-Belgnaoui et al., 2018). HPA axis response to acute stress was attenuated by Lactobacillus farciminis (Ait-Belgnaoui et al., 2018). Lactobacillus rhamnosus and Lactobacillus helveticus influence brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) levels in basolateral nucleus of amygdala exerting an anxiolytic effect (Peng et al., 2019). Hippocampal c-Fos expression is modulated by L. rhamnosus and L. helveticus (Smith et al., 2014). L. rhamnosus reduces hippocampal expression of GABA receptor gene, suggesting a modulation of the balance of inhibition/excitation to control responses to stress, anxiety, and depression (Wiley et al., 2017). Lactobacilli and bifidobacteria are able to metabolize glutamate and produce GABA (Foster and McVey Neufeld, 2013; Wiley et al., 2017). Probiotics can modulate 5-HT, and dopamine, thus affecting both mood and behavior (Cowan et al., 2018; Hoban et al., 2018; Baj et al., 2019). The vagus and enteric nerves are significantly affected by specific probiotics (Dinan and Cryan, 2013). Intestinal microbiota may change the perception of pain and selective probiotic strains may inhibit the hypersensitivity and intestinal permeability induced by the stress (Gareau et al., 2007; Wiley et al., 2017). Probiotic bacteria manipulate intestinal microbiota, enhancing variety and beneficial composition of the bacteria (Karimi and Pena, 2003). An improvement in microbiota metabolites, such as SCFAs and tryptophan, indirectly improves CNS function (Butler et al., 2019). Studies demonstrated that gut microbiota condition regulates BBB permeability (Braniste et al., 2014). However, the mechanisms underlying these beneficial effects are not well understood yet and, currently, very few human studies are present. Probiotic role may include exclusion of pathogenic microorganisms and immune system modulation (Lavasani et al., 2010; Kwon et al., 2013).

And, most likely, the main proponents of this connecting link are the MCs and their products. The ability of specific strains of bacteria to influence MC function and their activation has been studied, sometimes even with conflicting results (De Zuani et al., 2018).

*Lactobacillus rhamnosus* and *B*ifidobacterium *infantis* probiotic strains reduce depressive-like behavior down-regulating HPA axis (Bravo et al., 2011).

Moreover, it has been reported that L. *rhamnosus* GG and some other probiotic strains show a decreasing effect on the MC numbers in several studies in rodent models

(Cassard et al., 2016). Some commensal bacteria can limit MC activation. Pathogenic bacteria, including Yersinia pestis and Salmonella typhimurium, prevent MCs degranulation in rodents and in humans. This pathogen eludes host innate immunity, involving the MC inactivation (Choi et al., 2013). Both pathogens secrete a tyrosine phosphatase responsible for the suppression of MC activation, leading to a reduced bacterial clearance (Choi et al., 2013; De Zuani et al., 2018). Different commensal bacteria such as Enterococcus faecalis, Lactobacillus paracasei, and non-pathogenic Escherichia coli can delete MC degranulation IgE/Ag-induced in mice (Choi et al., 2016). It is noteworthy that this suppression mechanism is based on impairment of intracellular signaling including an inhibition of the maintenance of elevated intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels required for MC degranulation and not down-regulation of FceRI (Kasakura et al., 2014; Cassard et al., 2016). In addition, different strains of Lactobacilli may suppress MC degranulation but not TNF-a release nor IL-13 (Harata et al., 2016). The role of commensal microorganisms in controlling MC activation was evinced following oral treatment of E. faecalis that reduced MC infiltration in a murine model (Choi et al., 2016; De Zuani et al., 2018).

The role of bacteria and MCs can also be linked to the beneficial stabilizer agents. It has been shown that the histamine H1 receptor blocker diphenhydramine, known as Benadryl<sup>®</sup>, prevents the increase of cytokines from MCs stimulated by bacteria. Some broad-spectrum antibacterial agents inhibit MC activation and its degranulation. In particular, some probiotic strains are able to stabilize MCs, especially L. rhamnosus GG (Oksaharju et al., 2011). Oral administration with L. rhamnosus JB-1 induces inhibition of peritoneal MC degranulation (Forsythe et al., 2012). The effect is mediated by an inhibition of calcium-dependent potassium current (KCa 3.1). This inhibition prevents  $Ca^{2+}$  entry required for MC degranulation. In MC regulation of calcium-dependent potassium current is operated through \beta2-adrenoceptors and adenosine and prostaglandin receptors (Duffy et al., 2007, 2008). Some Lactobacillus strains are able to inhibit IgEmediated degranulation in MCs through TLR-2 pathway (Kawahara, 2011). A recent study reports that L. rhamnosus JB-1 reduced stress-induced behavioral deficits in mice, including modifications in sociability and anxiety. This probiotic prevented immunoregulatory alterations related to the stress phenotype suggesting a direct modulation on gut-brain signaling (Bharwani et al., 2017; McVey Neufeld et al., 2018). Administration of specific bacteria induced systemic expansion of Treg, an immune population that produces anti-inflammatory cytokine, such as IL-10 (Kim et al., 2019).

Another study reports that *L. rhamnosus* GG in combination with prebiotics reduces the effects of early-life maternal separation on anxiety-like behavior and hippocampal-dependent learning with modulation of mRNA expression of genes related to stress circuitry, anxiety, and learning in a rodent model (McVey Neufeld et al., 2017).

A recent study reports that probiotic VSL#3 suppress visceral hyper-sensibility through MC-PAR2-TRPV1 pathway in a rodent model (Li et al., 2018).

Kim et al. (2016) report that treatment with Bifidobacterium longum KACC 91563 can control the number of MCs in the gut lamina propria. A modality of intercellular communication is the release of membrane vesicles. Microbiota secrete complex extracellular vesicles (EVs), containing protein, DNA, and components of cellular wall within little spherical lipid bilayer acting as messengers. Bacterial EVs may influence the physiology of neighboring cells, inducing intracellular signaling via receptors and giving new features after the acquisition of receptors, enzymes, or genetic material from the vesicles. Bacterial EVs deliver elements at host immune cells in concentrated, preserved, and targeted manner. In particular, MCs internalize EVs specifically. The authors suggest a model of action according to which EVs of B. longum enter through intestinal epithelial cells inducing the apoptosis of MCs (Kim et al., 2016).

Bifidobacterium longum, B. breve, L. rhamnosus, and L. helveticus have been used and all exhibited antidepressant effects (Desbonnet et al., 2008). B. longum and L. helveticus suppress stress-related visceral sensibility via HPA axis control (Ait-Belgnaoui et al., 2018). Beneficial effects of a combination of Bacillus subtilis and Enterococcus faecium (LCBE) could inhibit the degranulation of MCs, confirming the role of probiotics in the regulation of MCs. In addition, the levels of histamine, which constitute an aggravating mediator that accelerates the development of main lesion of organ, were decreased after administration of LCBE (Guo et al., 2019).

It has been shown that an increase in MCs was countered by inclusion of *B. licheniformis* in the diet of a bird animal model. The strain administration partially alleviated stress condition, suggesting that probiotics can benefit intestinal integrity (Deng et al., 2012).

Probiotics influence mucosal MCs, but also could affect MCs in the brain through microbiota–gut–brain axis. *Lactobacillus reuteri* and Bifidobacteria have positive therapeutic effects on cognitive and emotional impairments in fibromyalgia (Roman et al., 2018). Recently, probiotic supplement on inflammatory markers, and episodic and chronic migraine has been reported (Martami et al., 2019).

Short chain fatty acids also have an effect on MC activation (Diakos et al., 2006). Sodium butyrate reduced the percentage of degranulated MCs and their inflammatory mediator content in weaned pigs. In addition, sodium butyrate reduces the expression of MC-specific tryptase, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6 mRNA. A butyrate-producing probiotic (*Clostridium butyricum*) restores the intestinal epithelial barrier integrity through regulation of TWIK-related potassium channel-1 (Trek-1) (Huang et al., 2016).

Also vitamin D is known to play an immunoregulatory role on MCs. In fact, vitamin D is required to maintain stability of MCs (Liu et al., 2017). A deficiency of vitamin D results in MC activation.

In addition, MCs express 25-hydroxyvitamin D-1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase which enables them to convert inactive 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 (25OHD3) to biologically active 1 $\alpha$ ,25(OH)2D3 (Yip et al., 2014). 1 $\alpha$ ,25(OH)2D3 favors apoptosis and inhibits maturation of bone marrow-derived MC precursors in mice (Baroni et al., 2007). Vitamin D regulates NO, which is believed to be an anti-bacterial molecule, produced by MCs. Finally, factors that reduce CRF stabilize activation of MCs (Larauche, 2012).

# CONCLUSION

Mast cells are old cells, perhaps, long forgotten, constitutively and strategically located within the mucosal districts, and armed with a wide variety of receptors that allow them the ability to interact strongly with other cells and elements of the microenvironment. The mutual interactions that regulate the MC-microbiota crosstalk show how MCs act at the crossroad of immune system, intestinal mucosa, commensal microbiota, and nervous system.

The evidence supported the idea that there is likely a bidirectional relationship between MC and intestinal microbiota and that MC activity goes well beyond the simple host defense role of regulating microbial composition during pathology condition.

Most of the data obtained so far are derived from *in vitro* or *in vivo* animal studies because human studies are still very limited.

In this review, we refer some interactions that control MC activation and functions, suggesting that various factors and mechanisms can influence the MC-microbiota-gut-brain crosstalk and regulate their output.

A classical approach detected to prevent improper MC activation has been the use of MC stabilizing agents, including Cromolyn, Ketotifene, and Tranilast, although it is not clear to what extent these drugs act and their exact action mechanism (De Zuani et al., 2018). An increase in intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration as a result of Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry from the extracellular medium is essential for MC degranulation and FccRI-mediated MC activation (Baba et al., 2008) as well as calcium is required for activation of transcription factors of cytokine genes including IL-4, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-13 (Heatley et al., 1975; Chu et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2016). In addition, the validity of MC stabilizers in the treatment of MC-related disorders is as yet uncertain (He, 2004; Wouters et al., 2016).

Dietary ingestion of probiotics and prebiotics affects gut microbiota composition, underlying the key role played by specific metabolites not only in the gut microbiota composition but also in the brain health state. Some probiotic effects and mechanisms can be similar to those achieved by drugs and may provide suggestion to future interventions.

Indicating strategies preventing MC activation are very more interesting because, once activate, MCs lead perpetuate inflammation state through onset positive feedback loops.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

GT researched and summarized the information and wrote the review.

#### REFERENCES

- Agus, A., Planchais, J., and Sokol, H. (2018). Gut microbiota regulation of tryptophan metabolism in health and disease. *Cell Host Microbe* 23, 716–724. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2018.05.003
- Ait-Belgnaoui, A., Payard, I., Rolland, C., Harkat, C., Braniste, V., Théodorou, V., et al. (2018). Bifidobacterium longum and Lactobacillus helveticus synergistically suppress stress-related visceral hypersensitivity through hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis modulation. J. Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 24, 138–146. doi: 10.5056/jnm16167
- Albert-Bayo, M., Paracuellos, I., González-Castro, A. M., Rodríguez-Urrutia, A., Rodríguez-Lagunas, M. J., Alonso-Cotoner, C., et al. (2019). Intestinal mucosal mast cells: key modulators of barrier function and homeostasis. *Cells* 8:135. doi: 10.3390/cells8020135
- Amadesi, S., Cottrell, G. S., Divino, L., Chapman, K., Grady, E. F., Bautista, F., et al. (2006). Protease-activated receptor 2 sensitizes TRPV1 by protein kinase C epsilon- and A-dependent mechanisms in rats and mice. *J. Physiol.* 575(Pt 2), 555–571. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2006.111534
- Anisman, H., and Hayley, S. (2012). Inflammatory factors contribute to depression and its comorbid conditions. Sci. Signal. 5:e45. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2003579
- Arac, A., Grimbaldeston, M. A., Galli, S. J., Bliss, T. M., and Steinberg, G. K. (2019). Meningeal mast cells as key effectors of stroke pathology. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 13:126. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00126
- Asadi, S., Alysandratos, K. D., Angelidou, A., Miniati, A., Sismanopoulos, N., Vasiadi, M., et al. (2012). Substance P (SP) induces expression of functional corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor-1 (CRHR-1) in human mast cells. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 132, 324–329. doi: 10.1038/jid.2011.334
- Avital, A., Goshen, I., Kamsler, A., Segal, M., Iverfeldt, K., Richter-Levin, G., et al. (2003). Impaired interleukin-1 signaling is associated with deficits in hippocampal memory processes and neural plasticity. *Hippocampus* 13, 826–834. doi: 10.1002/hipo.10135
- Baba, Y., Nishida, K., Fujii, Y., Hirano, T., Hikida, M., and Kurosaki, T. (2008). Essential function for the calcium sensor STIM1 in mast cell activation and anaphylactic responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 9, 81–88. doi: 10.1038/ni1546
- Baj, A., Moro, E., Bistoletti, M., Orlandi, V., Crema, F., and Giaroni, C. (2019). Glutamatergic signaling along the microbiota-gut-brain axis. *Int. J. Mol. Sci* 20:E1482. doi: 10.3390/ijms20061482
- Bao, A. M., and Swaab, D. F. (2019). The human hypothalamus in mood disorders: the HPA axis in the center. *IBRO Rep.* 6, 45–53. doi: 10.1016/j.ibror.2018.11.008
- Barbara, G., Cremon, C., Carini, G., Bellacosa, L., Zecchi, L., De Giorgio, R., et al. (2011). The immune system in irritable bowel syndrome. J. Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 17, 349–359. doi: 10.5056/jnm.2011.17.4.349
- Barbara, G., Wang, B., Stanghellini, V., de Giorgio, R., Cremon, C., Di Nardo, G., et al. (2007). Mast cell dependent excitation of visceral nociceptive sensory neurons in irritable bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 132, 26–37. doi: 10. 1053/j.gastro.2006.11.039
- Baroni, E., Biffi, M., Benigni, F., Monno, A., Carlucci, D., Carmeliet, G., et al. (2007). VDR-dependent regulation of mast cell maturation mediated by 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3. J. Leukoc. Biol. 81, 250–262. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0506322
- Beaven, M. A. (2009). Our perception of the mast cell from Paul Ehrlich to now. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 39, 11–25. doi: 10.1002/eji.200838899
- Bellavia, M., Rappa, F., Lo Bello, M., Brecchia, G., Tomasello, G., Leone, A., et al. (2014). Lactobacillus casei and bifidobacterium lactis supplementation reduces tissue damage of intestinal mucosa and liver after 2,4,6-trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid treatment in mice. J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents 28, 251–261.
- Bennett, E. J., Tennant, C. C., Piesse, C., Badcock, C. A., and Kellow, J. E. (1998). Level of chronic life stress predicts clinical outcome in irritable bowel syndrome. *Gut* 43, 256–261. doi: 10.1136/gut.43.2.256
- Bermúdez-Humarán, L. G., Salinas, E., Ortiz, G. G., Ramirez-Jirano, L. J., Morales, J. A., and Bitzer-Quintero, O. K. (2019). From probiotics to psychobiotics: live beneficial bacteria which act on the Brain-Gut axis. *Nutrients* 11:E890. doi: 10.3390/nu11040890
- Bezzi, P., Carmignoto, G., Pasti, L., Vesce, S., Rossi, D., Rizzini, B. L., et al. (1998). Prostaglandins stimulate calcium-dependent glutamate release in astrocytes. *Nature* 391, 281–285. doi: 10.1038/34651
- Bharwani, A., Mian, M. F., Surette, M. G., Bienenstock, J., and Forsythe, P. (2017). Oral treatment with Lactobacillus rhamnosus attenuates behavioural deficits

and immune changes in chronic social stress. BMC Med. 15:7. doi: 10.1186/s12916-016-0771-7

- Bischoff, S. C., and Kramer, S. (2007). Human mast cells, bacteria, and intestinal immunity. *Immunol. Rev.* 217, 329–337. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065x.2007.00523.x
- Borre, Y. E., O'Keeffe, G. W., Clarke, G., Stanton, C., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2014). Microbiota and neurodevelopmental windows: implications for brain disorders. *Trends Mol. Med.* 20, 509–518. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2014.05.002
- Braniste, V., Al-Asmakh, M., Kowal, C., Anuar, F., Abbaspour, A., Toth, M., et al. (2014). The gut microbiota influences blood-brain barrier permeability in mice. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 6:263ra158. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3009759
- Bravo, J. A., Forsythe, P., Chew, M. V., Escaravage, E., Savignac, H. M., Dinan, T. G., et al. (2011). Ingestion of Lactobacillus strain regulates emotional behaviour and central GABA receptor expression in a mouse via the vagus nerve. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 16050–16055. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1102999108
- Bremner, J. D. (2006). Traumatic stress: effects on the brain. Dialogues Clin. Neurosci. 8, 445–461.
- Bremner, J. D., Elzinga, B., Schmahl, C., and Vermetten, E. (2008). Structural and functional plasticity of the human brain in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Prog. Brain Res.* 167, 171–186. doi: 10.1016/s0079-6123(07)67012-5
- Brzozowski, B., Mazur-Biały, A., Pajdo, R., Kwiecien, S., Bilski, J., Zwolinska-Wcislo, M., et al. (2016). Mechanisms by which stress affects the experimental and clinical inflammatory bowel disease (IBD): role of brain-gut axis. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* 14, 892–900. doi: 10.2174/1570159x14666160404124127
- Buhner, S., and Schermann, M. (2012). Mast cell-nerve axis with a focus on the human put. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1822, 85–92. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2011. 06.004
- Burke, N. N., Finn, D. P., McGuire, B. E., and Roche, M. (2017). Psychological stress in early life as a predisposing factor for the development of chronic pain: clinical and preclinical evidence and neurobiological mechanisms. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 95, 1257–1270. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23802
- Butler, M. I., Cryan, J. F., and Dinan, T. G. (2019). Man and the microbiome: a new theory of everything? Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 15, 371–398. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-clinpsy-050718-095432
- Cani, P. D., and Knauf, C. (2016). How gut microbes talk to organs: the rôle of endocrine and nervous routes. *Mol. Metab.* 5, 743–752. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet. 2016.05.011
- Cassard, L., Lalanne, A. I., Garault, P., Cotillard, A., Chervaux, C., Wels, M., et al. (2016). Individual strains of Lactobacillus paracasei differentially inhibit human basophil and mouse mast cell activation. *Immun. Inflamm. Dis.* 4, 289–299. doi: 10.1002/iid3.113
- Choi, E. J., Iwasa, M., Han, K. II, Kim, W. J., Tang, Y., Hwang, Y. J., et al. (2016). Heat killed Enterococcus faecalis EF.2001 ameliorates atopic dermatitis in a murine model. Nutrients 8:146. doi: 10.3390/nu8030146
- Choi, H. W., Brooking Dixon, R., Neupane, S., Lee, C. J., Miao, E. A., Staats, H. F., et al. (2013). Salmonella typhimurium impedes innate immunity with a mast cell suppressing protein tyrosine phosphatase, SptP. Immunity. 39, 1108–1120. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.11.009
- Chu, H. Q., Li, J., Huang, H. P., Hao, W. D., Duan, L. P., and Wei, X. T. (2016). Protective effects of tranilast on oxazolone induced rat colitis through a mast cell dependent pathway. *Dig. Liver Dis.* 48, 162–171. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2015. 09.002
- Cogan, T. A., Thomas, A. O., Rees, L. E., Taylor, A. H., Jepson, M. A., Williams, P. H., et al. (2007). Norepinephrine increases the pathogenic potential of *Campylobacter jejuni. Gut.* 56, 1060–1065. doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.114926
- Cowan, C. S. M., Hoban, A. E., Ventura-Silva, A. P., Dinan, T. G., Clarke, G., and Cryan, J. F. (2018). Gutsy moves: the amygdala as a critical node in microbiota to brain signaling. *Bioessays* 40:1700172. doi: 10.1002/bies.201700172
- Cryan, J. F., and Dinan, T. G. (2015). Gut microbiota: microbiota and neuroimmune signalling-Metchnikoff to microglia. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 12, 494–496. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2015.127
- Cussotto, S., Sandhu, K. V., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2018). The Neuroendocrinology of the Microbiota-Gut-Brain axis: a behavioural perspective. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 51:80–101. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2018. 04.002
- D'Costa, S., Ayyadurai, S., Gibson, A. J., Mackey, E., Rajput, M., Sommerville, L. J., et al. (2019). Mast cell corticotropin-releasing factor subtype 2 suppresses mast cell degranulation and limits the severity of anaphylaxis and stress-induced

intestinal permeability. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 143, 1865.e-1877.e. doi: 10. 1016/j.jaci.2018.08.053

- De Marco, S., Sichetti, M., Muradyan, D., Piccioni, M., Traina, G., Pagiotti, R., et al. (2018). Probiotic cell-free supernatants exhibited anti-inflammatory and antioxidant activity on human gut epithelial cells and macrophages stimulated with LPS. *Evid. Based Complement. Alternat. Med.* 2018:1756308. doi: 10.1155/ 2018/1756308
- De Winter, B. Y., van den Wijngaard, R. M., and de Jonge, W. J. (2012). Intestinal mast cells in gut inflammation and motility disturbances. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis Dis.* 1822, 66–73. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2011.03.016
- De Zuani, M., Dal Secco, C., and Frossi, B. (2018). Mast cells at the crossroads of microbiota and IBD. Eur. J. Immunol. 00, 1–9. doi: 10.1002/ejj.201847504
- Deng, W., Dong, X. F., Tong, J. M., and Zhang, Q. (2012). The probiotic Bacillus licheniformis ameliorates heat stress-induced impairment of egg production, gut morphology, and intestinal mucosal immunity in laying hens. *Poult. Sci.* 91, 575–582. doi: 10.3382/ps.2010-01293
- Desbonnet, L., Garrett, L., Clarke, G., Bienenstock, J., and Dinan, T. G. (2008). The probiotic Bifidobacteria infantis: an assessment of potential antidepressant properties in the rat. J. Psychiatr. Res. 43, 164–174. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires. 2008.03.009
- Diakos, C., Prieschl, E. E., Säemann, M. D., Böhmig, G. A., Csonga, R., Sobanov, Y., et al. (2006). n-Butyrate inhibits Jun NH(2)-terminal kinase activation and cytokine transcription in mast cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 349, 863–868. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.08.117
- Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2013). Melancholic microbes: a link between gut microbioma and depression? *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 25, 713–719. doi: 10. 1111/nmo.12198
- Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2015). The impact of gut microbiota on brain and behaviour: implications for psychiatry. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 18, 552–558. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0000000000221
- Dominici, L., Moretti, M., Villarini, M., Vannini, S., Cenci, G., Zampino, C., et al. (2011). In vivo antigenotoxic properties of a commercial probiotic supplement containing bifdobacteria. *Int. J. Probiotics Prebiotics* 6, 179–186.
- Dong, H., Zhang, X., Wang, Y., Zhou, X., Qian, Y., and Zhang, S. (2017). Suppression of brain mast cells degranulation inhibits microglial activation and central nervous system inflammation. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 54, 997–1007. doi: 10.1007/s12035-016-9720-x
- Duffy, S. M., Cruse, G., Brightling, C. E., and Bradding, P. (2007). Adenosine closes the K+ channel KCa3.1 in human lung mast cells and inhibits their migration via the adenosine A2A receptor. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 37, 1653–1662. doi: 10.1002/eji.200637024
- Duffy, S. M., Cruse, G., Cockerill, S. L., Brightling, C. E., and Bradding, P. (2008). Engagement of the EP2 prostanoid receptor closes the K+ channel KCa3.1 in human lung mast cells and attenuates their migration. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 38, 2548–2556. doi: 10.1002/eji.200738106
- Eckburg, P. B., Bik, E. M., Bernstein, C. N., Purdom, E., Dethlefsen, L., Sargent, M., et al. (2005). Diversity of the human intestinal microbial flora. *Science* 308, 1635–1638. doi: 10.1126/science.1110591
- Eller-Smith, O. C., Nicol, A. L., and Christianson, J. A. (2018). Potential mechanisms underlying centralized pain and emerging therapeutic interventions. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 12:35. doi: 10.3389/fcnel.2018.00035
- Erny, D., Hrabě de Angelis, A. L., Jaitin, D., Wieghofer, P., Staszewski, O., David, E., et al. (2015). Host microbiota constantly control maturation and function of microglia in the CNS. *Nat. Neurosci.* 18, 965–977. doi: 10.1038/nn.4030
- Eskander, M. A., Ruparel, S., Green, D. P., Chen, P. B., Por, E. D., Jeske, N. A., et al. (2015). Persistent nociception triggered by nerve growth factor (NGF) is mediated by TRPV1 and oxidative mechanisms. *J. Neurosci.* 35, 8593–8603. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3993-14.2015
- Fasick, V., Spengler, R. N., Samankan, S., Nader, N. D., and Ignatowski, T. A. (2015). The hippocampus and TNF: common links between chronic pain and depression. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 53, 139–159. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev. 2015.03.014
- Forsythe, P. (2016). Microbes taming mast cells: implications for allergic inflammation and beyond. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 778, 169–175. doi: 10.1016/j. ejphar.2015.06.034
- Forsythe, P. (2019). Mast cells in neuroimmune interactions. *Trends Neurosci.* 42, 43–55. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2018.09.006

- Forsythe, P., Wang, B., Khambati, I., and Kunze, W. A. (2012). Systemic effects of ingested Lactobacillus rhamnosus: inhibition of mast cell membrane potassium (IKCa) current and degranulation. *PLoS One* 7:e41234. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0041234
- Foster, J. A., and McVey Neufeld, K. A. (2013). Gut-brain axis: how the microbiome influences anxiety and depression. *Trends Neurosci.* 36, 305–312. doi: 10.1016/ j.tins.2013.01.005
- Frossi, B., Mion, F., Sibilano, R., Danelli, L., and Pucillo, C. E. M. (2018). Is it time for a new classification of mast cells? What do we know about mast cell heterogeneity? *Immunol. Rev.* 282, 35–46. doi: 10.1111/imr.12636
- Frossi, B., Mion, F., Tripodo, C., Colombo, M. P., and Pucillo, C. E. (2017). Rheostatic functions of mast cells in the control of innate and adaptive immune responses. *Trends Immunol.* 38, 648–656. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2017.04.001
- Gabbay, V., Ely, B. A., Babb, J., and Liebes, L. (2012). The possible role of the kynurenine pathway in anhedonia in adolescents. J. Neural Transm. 119, 253–260. doi: 10.1007/s00702-011-0685-7
- Gareau, M. G., Jury, J., MacQueen, G., Sherman, P. M., and Perdue, M. H. (2007). Probiotic treatment of rat pups normalises corticosterone release and ameliorates colonic dysfunction induced by maternal separation. *Gut* 56, 1522–1528. doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.117176
- Goodhand, J. R., Wahed, M., Mawdsley, J. E., Farmer, A. D., Aziz, Q., and Rampton, D. S. (2012). Mood disorders in inflammatory bowel disease: relation to diagnosis, disease activity, perceived stress, and other factors. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 18, 2301–2309. doi: 10.1002/ibd.22916
- Groeger, D., O'Mahony, L., Murphy, E. F., Bourke, J. F., Dinan, T. G., and Kiely, B. (2013). Bifidobacterium infantis 35624 modulates hast inflammatory processes beyond the gut. *Gut microbes* 4, 325–339. doi: 10.4161/gmic.25487
- Guo, L., Guo, L., Meng, M., Wei, Y., Lin, F., Jiang, Y., et al. (2019). Protective effects of live combined *B. subtilis and E. faecium* in polymicrobial sepsis through modulating activation and transformation of macrophages and mast cells. *Front. Pharmacol.* 9:1506. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.01506
- Gupta, K., and Harvima, I. T. (2018). Mast cell-neural interactions contribute to pain and itch. *Immunol. Rev.* 282, 168–187. doi: 10.1111/imr.12622
- Halfvarson, J., Brislawn, C. J., Lamendella, R., Vazquez Baeza, Y., Walters, W. A., Bramer, L. M., et al. (2017). Dynamics of the human gut microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease. *Nat. Microbiol.* 2:17004. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol. 2017.4
- Han, W., Lu, X., Jia, X., Zhou, T., and Guo, C. (2012). Soluble mediators released from PI-IBS patients' colon induced alteration of mast cell: involvement of reactive oxygen species. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 57, 311–319. doi: 10.1007/s10620-011-1897-2
- Harata, G., He, F., Takahashi, K., Hosono, A., Miyazawa, K., Yoda, K., et al. (2016). Human lactobacillus strains from the intestine can suppress IgE-mediated degranulation of rat basophilic leukaemia (RBL-2H3) cells. *Microorganisms* 4:E40.
- Hauser, W., Janke, K. H., Klump, B., and Hinz, A. (2011). Anxiety and depression in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: comparison with chronic liver disease patients and the general population. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 17, 621–632. doi: 10.1002/ibd.21346
- He, S. H. (2004). Key role of mast cells and their major secretory products in inflammatory bowel disease. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 10:309. doi: 10.3748/wjg. v10.i3.309
- Heatley, R. V., Calcraft, B. J., Rhodes, J., Owen, E., and Evans, B. K. (1975). Disodium cromoglycate in the treatment of chronic proctitis. *Gut* 16, 559–563. doi: 10.1136/gut.16.7.559
- Hendriksen, E., van Brgeijk, D., Oosting, R. S., and Redegeld, F. A. (2017). Mast cells in neuroinflammation and brain disorders. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 79, 119–133. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.05.001
- Herman, J. P., Figueiredo, H., Mueller, N. K., Ulrich-Lai, Y., Ostrander, M. M., Choi, D. C., et al. (2003). Central mechanisms of stress integration: hierarchical circuitry controlling hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical responsiveness. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 24:151–180. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2003.07.001
- Hermine, O., Lortholary, O., Leventhal, P. S., Catteau, A., Soppelsa, F., Baude, C., et al. (2008). Case-control cohort study of patient's perceptions of disability in mastocytosis. *PLoS One* 3:e2266. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002266
- Heron, A., and Dubayle, D. (2013). A focus on mast cells and pain. J. Neuroimmunol. 264, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2013.09.018

- Hill, C., Guarner, F., Reid, G., Gibson, G. R., Merenstein, D. J., Pot, B., et al. (2014). Expert consensuns document. The international scientific association for probiotics and prebiotics consensus statement on the scope and appropriate use of the term probiotic. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 11, 506–514. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2014.66
- Hoban, A. E., Stilling, R. M., Moloney, G., Shanahan, F., Dinan, T. G., Clarke, G., et al. (2018). The microbiome regulates amygdala-dependent fear recall. *Mol. Psychiatry* 23, 1134–1144. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.100
- Huang, H., Liu, J. Q., Yu, Y., Mo, L. H., Ge, R. T., Zhang, H. P., et al. (2016). Regulation of TWIK-related potassium channel-1 (Trek1) restitutes intestinal epithelial barrier function. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* 13, 110–118. doi: 10.1038/cmi. 2014.137
- Humo, M., Lu, H., and Yalcin, I. (2019). The molecular neurobiology of chronic pain-induced depression. *Cell Tissue Res.* 377, 21–43. doi: 10.1007/s00441-019-03003-z
- Iasp, (1979). Pain terms: a list with definitions and notes on usage: recommended by the IASP Subcommittee on Taxonomy. *Pain* 6:249.
- Irmak, D. K., Kilinc, E., and Tore, F. (2019). Shared fate of meningeal mast cells and sensory neurons in migraine. *Front.Cell Neurosci.* 13:136. doi: 10.3389/fncel. 2019.00136
- Johnzon, C., Ronnberg, E., and Pejler, G. (2016). The role of mast cells in bacterial infection. *Am. J. Pathol.* 186, 4–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.06.024
- Julius, D., and Basbaum, A. I. (2001). Molecular mechanisms of nociception. *Nature* 413, 203–210. doi: 10.1038/35093019
- Juruena, M. F., Bocharova, M., Agustini, B., and Young, A. H. (2018). Atypical depression and non-atypical depression: is HPA axis function a biomarker? A systematic review. J. Affect. Disord. 233, 45–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.09.052
- Kageyama, K., and Suda, T. (2009). Regulatory mechanisms underlying corticotropin-releasing factor gene expression in the hypothalamus. *Endocr. J.* 56, 335–344. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.k09e-075
- Kajihara, Y., Murakami, M., Imagawa, T., Otsuguro, K., Ito, S., and Ohta, T. (2010). Histamine potentiates acid-induced responses mediating transient receptor potential V1 in mouse primary sensory neurons. *Neuroscience* 166, 292–304. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.12.001
- Karimi, O., and Pena, A. S. (2003). Probiotics: isolated bacteria strain or mixtures of different strains? Two different approaches in the use of probiotics as therapeutics. *Drugs Today.* 39, 565–597.
- Kasakura, K., Takahashi, K., Itoh, T., Hosono, A., Momose, Y., Itoh, K., et al. (2014). Commensal bacteria directly suppress in vitro degranulation of mast cells in a MyD88-independent manner. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 78, 1669–1676. doi: 10.1080/09168451.2014.930327
- Kawahara, T. (2011). Inhibitory effect of heat-killed *Lactobacillus* strain on immunoglobulin E-mediated degranulation and late-phase immune reactions of mouse bone marrow-derived mast cells. *Anim. Sci. J.* 81, 714–721. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-0929.2010.00788.x
- Kawasaki, H., Chang, H. W., Tseng, H. C., Hsu, S. C., Yang, S. J., Hing, C. H., et al. (2014). A trytophan metabolite, kynurenine, promotes mast cell activation through aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Allergy* 69, 445–452. doi: 10.1111/all.12346
- Kelly, J. R., Minuto, C., Cryan, J. F., Clarke, G., and Dinan, T. G. (2017). Cross talk: the microbiota and neurodevelopmental disorders. *Front. Neurosci.* 11:490. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00490
- Kempuraj, D., Mentor, S., Thangavel, R., Ahmed, M. E., Selvakumar, G. P., Raikwar, S. P., et al. (2019). Mast cells in stress, pain, blood-brain barrier, neuroinflammation and Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 13:54. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00054
- Kempuraj, D., Thangavel, R., Selvakumar, G. P., Zaheer, S., Ahmed, M. E., Raikwar, S. P., et al. (2017). Brain and peripheral atypical inflammatory mediators potentiate neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 11:216. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2017.00216
- Kim, B., Lee, H. J., Im, N. R., Lee, D. Y., Kim, H. K., Kang, C. Y., et al. (2018). Decreased expression of CCL17 in the disrupted nasal polyp epithelium and its regulation by IL-4 and IL-5. *PloS one* 13:e0197355. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0197355
- Kim, J. H., Jeun, E. J., Hong, C. P., Kim, S. H., Jang, M. S., Lee, E. J., et al. (2016). Extracellular vesicle-derived protein from Bifidobacterium longum alleviates food allergy through mast cell suppression. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 137, 507–516. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.08.016
- Kim, W. G., Kang, G. D., Kim, H. I., Han, M. J., and Kim, D. H. (2019). Bifidobacterium longum IM55 and Lactobacillus plantarum IM76 alleviate

allergic rhinitis in mice by restoring Th2/Treg imbalance and gut microbiota disturbance. Benef Microbes. 10, 55–67. doi: 10.3920/BM2017.0146

- Kim, Y. S., Son, J. Y., Kim, T. H., Paik, S. K., Dai, Y., Noguchi, K., et al. (2010). Expression of transient receptor potential ankyrin 1 (TRPA1) in the rat trigeminal sensory afferents and spinal dorsal horn. J. Comp. Neurol. 518, 687–698. doi: 10.1002/cne.22238
- Koroleva, K., Gafurov, O., Guselnikova, V., Nurkhametova, D., Giniatullina, R., Sitdikova, G., et al. (2019). Meningeal mast cells contribute to ATP-induced nociceptive firing in trigeminal nerve terminals: direct and indirect purinergic mechanisms triggering migraine pain. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 13:195. doi: 10. 3389/fncel.2019.00195
- Kwon, H. K., Kim, G. C., Kim, Y., Hwang, W., Jash, A., Sahoo, A., et al. (2013). Amelioration of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by probiotic mixture is mediated by a shift in T helper cell immune response. *Clin. Immunol.* 146, 217–227. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2013.01.001
- Larauche, M. (2012). Novel insights in the role of peripheral corticotropinreleasing factor and mast cells in stress-induced visceral hypersensitivity. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 24, 201–205. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2011.01867.x
- Lavasani, S., Dzhambazov, B., Nouri, M., Fak, F., Buske, S., Molin, G., et al. (2010). A novel probiotic mixture exerts a therapeutic effect on experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis mediated by IL-10 producing regulatory T cells. *PLoS One* 5:e90091. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009009
- Levy, D., Burstein, R., and Strassman, A. M. (2006). Mast cell involvement in the pathophysiology of migraine headache: a hypothesis. *Headache* 46(Suppl. 1), S13–S18.
- Lew, L. C., Hor, Y. Y., Yusoff, N. A. A., Choi, S. B., Yusoff, M. S. B., Roslan, N. S., et al. (2018). Probiotic Lactobacillus plantarum P8 alleviated stress and anxiety while enhancing memory and cognition in stressed adults: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Clin. Nutr.* doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2018.09. 010 [Epub ahead of print].
- Li, Y. J., Dai, C., and Jiang, M. (2018). Mechanisms of probiotic VSL#3 in a rat model of visceral hypersensitivity involves the mast cell-PAR2-TRPV1 pathway. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 64, 1182–1192. doi: 10.1007/s10620-018-5416-6
- Liu, M. G., and Chen, J. (2014). Preclinical research on pain comorbidity with affective disorders and cognitive deficits: challenges and perspectives. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 116, 13–32. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2014.01.003
- Liu, Y., Alookaran, J. J., and Rhoads, J. M. (2018). Probiotics in autoimmune and inflammatory disorders. *Nutrients* 10:1537. doi: 10.3390/nu10101537
- Liu, Z. Q., Li, X. X., Qiu, S. Q., Yu, Y., Li, M. G., Yang, L. T., et al. (2017). Vitamin D contributes to mast cell stabilization. *Allergy* 72, 1184–1192. doi: 10.1111/all.13110
- Lupien, S. J., McEwen, B. S., Gunnar, M. R., and Heim, C. (2009). Effects of stress throughout the lifespan on the brain, behaviour and cognition. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 10, 434–445. doi: 10.1038/nrn2639
- Malaviya, R., and Abraham, S. N. (2001). Mast cells modulation of immune responses to bacteria. *Immunol. Rev.* 179, 16–24. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-065x. 2001.790102.x
- Mannion, R. J., and Woolf, C. J. (2000). Pain mechanisms and management: a central perspective. *Clin. J. Pain* 16(3 Suppl.), S144–S156.
- Marini, S., Vellante, F., Matarazzo, I., De Berardis, D., Serroni, N., Gianfelice, D., et al. (2016). Inflammatory markers and suicidal attempts in depressed patients: a review. *Int. J. Immunopathol.Pharmacol.* 29, 583–594. doi: 10.1177/ 0394632015623793
- Martami, F., Togha, M., Seifishahpar, M., Ghorbani, Z., Ansari, H., Karimi, T., et al. (2019). The effects of a multispecies probiotic supplement on inflammatory markers and episodic and chronic migraine characteristics: a randomized double-blind controlled trial. *Cephalalgia* 39, 841–853. doi: 10.1177/0333102418820102
- Martin, C. R., Osadchiy, V., Kalani, A., and Mayer, E. A. (2018). The brain-gutmicrobioma axis. *Cell. Mol. Gastrenterol. Hepatol.* 6, 133–148. doi: 10.1016/j. jcmgh.2018.04.003
- Martinez, J. M., Garakani, A., Yehuda, R., and Gorman, J. M. (2012). Proinflammatory and "resiliency" proteins in the CSF of patients with major depression. *Depress. Anxiety* 29, 32–38. doi: 10.1002/da. 20876
- Maslinska, D., Laure Kamionowska, M., Gujski, M., Ciurzynska, G., and Wojtecka Lukasik, E. (2005). Post-infectional distribution and phenotype of mast cells penetrating human brains. *Inflamm. Res.* 54(Suppl. 1), S15–S16.

- Maunder, R. G. (2005). Evidence that stress contributes to inflammatory bowel disease: evaluation, synthesis, and future directions. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 11, 600–608. doi: 10.1097/01.mib.0000161919.42878.a0
- McDermott, J. R., Bartram, R. E., Knight, P. A., Miller, H. R., Garrod, D. R., and Grencis, R. K. (2003). Mast cells disrupt epithelial barrier function during enteric nematode infection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 7761–7766. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1231488100
- McVey Neufeld, K. A., Kay, S., and Bienenstock, J. (2018). Mouse strain affects behavioral and neuroendocrine stress responses following administration of probiotic lactobacillus rhamnosus JB-1 or traditional antidepressant fluoxetine. *Front Neurosci.* 12:294. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00294
- McVey Neufeld, K. A., O'Mahony, S. M., Hoban, A. E., Waworuntu, R. V., Berg, B. M., Dinan, T. G., et al. (2017). Neurobehavioural effects of Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG alone and in combination with prebiotics polydextrose and galactooligosaccharide in male rats exposed to early-life stress. *Nutr. Neurosci* 22, 425–434. doi: 10.1080/1028415X.2017.1397875
- Menke, A. (2019). Is the HPA axis as target for depression outdated, or is there a new hope? Front. Psychiatry. 10:101. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00101
- Milenkovic, V. M., Stanton, E. H., Nothdurfter, C., Rupprecht, R., and Wetzel, C. H. (2019). The role of chemokines in the pathophysiology of major depressive disorder. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20:2283. doi: 10.3390/ijms20092283
- Moura, D. S., Sultan, S., Georgin-Lavialle, S., Pillet, N., Montestruc, F., Gineste, P., et al. (2011). Depression in patients with mastocytosis: prevalence, features and effects of masitinib therapy. *PloS one* 6:e26375. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0026375
- Nautiyal, K. M., Dailey, C. A., Jahn, J. L., Rodriquez, E., Son, N. H., Sweedler, J. V., et al. (2012). Serotonin of mast cell origin contributes to hippocampal function. *Eur. Neurosci.* 36, 2347–2359. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08138.x
- Nayak, D., Roth, T. L., and McGavern, D. B. (2014). Microglia development and function. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 32, 367–402. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120240
- Okayama, Y., and Kawakami, T. (2006). Development, migration, and survival of mast cells. *Immunol. Res.* 34, 97–115.
- Oksaharju, A., Kankainen, M., Kekkonen, R. A., Lindstedt, K. A., Kovanen, P. T., Korpela, R., et al. (2011). Probiotic Lactobacillus rhamnosus downregulates FCER1 and HRH4 expression in human mast cells. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 17, 750–759. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v17.i6.750
- Peng, H. H., Tsai, T. C., Huang, W. Y., Wu, H. M., and Hsu, K. S. (2019). Probiotic treatment restores normal developmental trajectories of fear memory retention in maternally separated infant rats. *Neuropharmacology* 153, 53–62. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2019.04.026
- Persichetti, E., De Michele, A., Codini, M., and Traina, G. (2014). Antioxidative capacity of Lactobacillus fermentum LF31 evaluated in vitro by oxygen radical absorbance capacity assay. *Nutrition.* 30, 936–938. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2013.12.009
- Quigley, E. M., and Craig, O. F. (2012). Irritable bowel syndrome; update on pathophysiology and management. *Turk. J. Gastroenterol.* 23, 313–322.
- Ramachandran, R. (2018). Neurogenic inflammation and its role in migraine. Semin.Immunopath. 40, 301-314. doi: 10.1007/s00281-018-0676-y
- Ramachandran, R., Bhatt, D. K., Ploug, K. B., Hay-Schmidt, A., Jansen-Olesen, I., Gupta, S., et al. (2014). Nitric oxide synthase, calcitonin gene-related peptide and NK-1 receptor mechanisms are involved in GTN-induced neuronal activation. *Cephalalgia* 34, 136–147. doi: 10.1177/03331024135 02735
- Rea, K., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2016). The microbiome: a key regulator of stress and neuroinflammation. *Neurobiol. Stress* 4, 23–33. doi: 10.1016/j.ynstr. 2016.03.001
- Roman, P., Estevez, A. F., Miras, A., Sanchez-Labraca, N., Canadas, F., Vivas, A. B., et al. (2018). A pilot randomized controlled trial to explore cognitive and emotional effects of probiotics in fibromyalgia. *Sci. Rep.* 8:10965. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-018-29388-5
- Rook, M. G., and Garrett, W. S. (2016). Gut microbiota, metabolites and host immunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 16, 341–352. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.42
- Rozniecki, J. J., Dimitriadou, V., Lambracht-Hall, M., Pang, X., and Theoharides, T. C. (1999). Morphological and functional demonstration of rat dura mater mast cell-neuron interactions in vitro and in vivo. *Brain Res.* 849, 1–15. doi: 10.1016/s0006-8993(99)01855-7

- Sarkar, A., Harty, S., Lehto, S. M., Moeller, A. H., Dinan, T. G., Dunbar, R. I. M., et al. (2018). The microbiome in psychology and cognitive neuroscience. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 22, 611–636. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2018.04.006
- Saulnier, D. M., Ringel, Y., Heyman, M. B., Foster, J. A., Bercik, P., Shulman, R. J., et al. (2013). The intestinal microbiome, probiotics and prebiotics in neurogastroenterology. *Gut microbes* 4, 17–27. doi: 10.4161/gmic.22973
- Sherwin, E., Rea, K., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2016). A gut (microbiome) feeling about the brain. *Curr. Opin. Gastroenterol.* 32, 96–102. doi: 10.1097/ MOG.00000000000244
- Sichetti, M., De Marco, S., Pagiotti, R., Traina, G., and Pietrella, D. (2018). Antiinflammatory effect of multi-strain probiotics formulation (L. *rhamnosus*, B. *lactis and B. longum*). Nutrition 53, 95–102. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2018.02.005
- Silver, R., and Curley, J. P. (2013). Mast cells on the mind: new insights and opportunities. *Trends Neurosci.* 36, 513–521. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.06.001
- Silverman, A. J., Sutherland, A. K., Wilhelm, M., and Silver, R. (2000). Mast cells migrate from blood to brain. J. Neurosci. 20, 401–408. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci. 20-01-00401.2000
- Skaper, S. D. (2016). Mast cell glia dialogue in chronic pain and neuropathic pain: blood-brain barrier implications. CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets 15, 1072–1078. doi: 10.2174/1871527315666160829105533
- Smith, C. J., Emge, J. R., Berzins, K., Lung, L., Khamishon, R., Shah, P., et al. (2014). Probiotics normalize the gut-brain-microbiota axis in immunodeficient mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 307, G793–G802. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi. 00238.2014
- Tak, L. M., Cleare, A. J., Ormel, J., Manoharan, A., Kok, I. C., Wessely, S., et al. (2011). Meta-analysis and meta-regression of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity in functional somatic disorders. *Biol. Psychol.* 87, 183–194. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2011.02.002
- Theoharides, T. C. (2017). Neuroendocrinology of mast cells: challenges and controversies. *Exp. Dermatol.* 26, 751–759. doi: 10.1111/exd.13288
- Theoharides, T. C., and Konstantinidou, A. D. (2007). Corticotropin-releasing hormone and the blood-brain-barrier. *Front. Biosci.* 12:1615–1628.
- Theoharides, T. C., Stewart, J. M., Hatziagelaki, E., and Kolaitis, G. (2015). Brain "fog", inflammation and obesity: key aspects of neuropsychiatric disorders improved by luteolin. *Front. Neurosci.* 9:225. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00225
- Tomasello, G., Abruzzo, A., Sinagra, E., Damiani, P., Damiani, F., Traina, G., et al. (2015a). Nutrition in IBD patient's: what are the prospects? *Prog. Nutr.* 17, 79–86.
- Tomasello, G., Zeenny, M. N., Giammanco, M., Di Majo, D., Traina, G., Sinagra, E., et al. (2015b). Intestinal microbiota mutualism and gastrointestinal diseases. *EMBJ* 10, 65–75.
- Traina, G. (2017). Mast cells in the brain Old cells, new target. J. Int. Neurosci. 16, S69–S83. doi: 10.3233/JIN-170068
- Traina, G., Menchetti, L., Rappa, F., Casagrande-Proietti, P., Barbato, O., Leonardi, L., et al. (2016). Probiotic mixture supplementation in the preventive management of trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid-induced inflammation in a murine model. J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents 30, 895–901.
- Wang, H., Lee, I. S., Braun, C., and Enck, P. (2016). Effect of probiotics on central nervous system functions in animals and humans: a systematic review. *J. Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 22, 589–605. doi: 10.5056/jnm16018
- Wesolowski, J., and Paumet, F. (2011). The impact of bacterial infection on mast cell degranulation. *Immunol. Res.* 51, 215–226. doi: 10.1007/s12026-011-8250-x
- Wilcz-Villega, E. M., McClean, S., and O'Sullivan, M. A. (2013). Mast cell tryptase reduces junctional adhesion molecule-A (JAMA) expression in intestinal epithelial cells: implications for the mechanisms of barrier dysfunction in irritable bowel syndrome. Am. J. Gastroenterol. 108, 1140–1151. doi: 10.1038/ ajg.2013.92
- Wiley, N. C., Dinan, T. G., Ross, R. P., Stanton, C., Clarke, G., and Cryan, J. F. (2017). The microbiota-gut-brain axis as a key regulator of neural function and the stress response: implications for human and animal health. *J. Anim. Sci.* 95, 3225–3246. doi: 10.2527/jas.2016.1256
- Wouters, M. M., Vicario, M., and Santos, J. (2016). The role of mast cells in functional GI disorders. *Gut* 65, 155–168. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309151
- Xu, Y., and Chen, G. (2015). Mast cell and autoimmune diseases. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2015:246126. doi: 10.1155/2015/246126
- Yano, J. M., Yu, K., Donaldson, G. P., Shastri, G. G., Ann, P., Ma, L., et al. (2015). Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis. *Cell* 161, 264–276. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.02.047

- Yip, K. H., Kolesnikoff, N., Yu, C., Hauschild, N., Taing, H., Biggs, L., et al. (2014). Mechanisms of vitamin D? metabolite repression of IgEdependent mast cell activation. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 133, 1356–1364. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.11.030
- Zhang, D., Spielmann, A., Wang, L., Ding, G., Huang, F., Gu, Q., et al. (2012). Mast-cell degranulation induced by physical stimuli involves the activation of transient-receptor-potential channel TRPV2. *Physiol. Res.* 61, 113–124.
- Zhang, T., Finn, D. F., Barlow, J. W., and Walsh, J. J. (2016). Mast cell stabilisers. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 778, 158–168. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.05.071

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Traina. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Mast Cells, Neuroinflammation and Pain in Fibromyalgia Syndrome

Theoharis C. Theoharides 1,2,3,4\*, Irene Tsilioni<sup>1</sup> and Mona Bawazeer 1,2,5

<sup>1</sup> Laboratory of Molecular Immunopharmacology and Drug Discovery, Department of Immunology, Tufts University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, United States, <sup>2</sup> Sackler School of Graduate Biomedical Sciences, Tufts University, Boston, MA, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Internal Medicine, Tufts Medical Center, Tufts University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, United States, <sup>4</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Tufts Medical Center, Tufts University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Basic Medical Sciences, College of Medicine, King Saud Bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Fibromyalgia Syndrome (FMS) is a disorder of chronic, generalized muscular pain, accompanied by sleep disturbances, fatigue and cognitive dysfunction. There is no definitive pathogenesis except for altered central pain pathways. We previously reported increased serum levels of the neuropeptides substance P (SP) and its structural analogue hemokinin-1 (HK-1) together with the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and TNF in FMS patients as compared to sedentary controls. We hypothesize that thalamic mast cells contribute to inflammation and pain, by releasing neuro-sensitizing molecules that include histamine, IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and TNF, as well as calcitonin-gene related peptide (CGRP), HK-1 and SP. These molecules could either stimulate thalamic nociceptive neurons directly, or via stimulation of microglia in the diencephalon. As a result, inhibiting mast cell stimulation could be used as a novel approach for reducing pain and the symptoms of FMS.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Kempuraj Duraisamy, University of Missouri, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Domenico De Berardis, Azienda Usl Teramo, Italy Mihir Gupta, University of California, San Diego, United States

\*Correspondence:

Theoharis C. Theoharides theoharis.theoharides@tufts.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Neuropathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience

> Received: 20 May 2019 Accepted: 16 July 2019 Published: 02 August 2019

#### Citation:

Theoharides TC, Tsilioni I and Bawazeer M (2019) Mast Cells, Neuroinflammation and Pain in Fibromyalgia Syndrome. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:353. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00353 Keywords: mast cells, pain, neuroinflammation, fibromyalgia syndrome, proinflammatory cytokines (TNF-alpha, IL-1 beta, IL-6)

# INTRODUCTION

Fibromyalgia Syndrome is a disorder of chronic generalized muscular pain, stiffness, generalized fatigue, sleep abnormalities, (Clauw et al., 2011; Schmidt-Wilcke and Clauw, 2011; Clauw, 2014) and cognitive problems (Theoharides et al., 2015b; Hauser et al., 2019) assessed by the FSQ (Ferrari and Russell, 2013), which has about 93% sensitivity and 92% specificity (Clauw, 2014). FMS affects about 5% of adults, primarily women 20–60 years of age (Branco et al., 2010) and belongs to a family of overlapping painful conditions (**Table 1**) known as CSS (Yunus, 2007; Theoharides, 2013). Central sensitization is recognized as the main mechanism involved (Woodman, 2013) and is characterized by allodynia, pain from an otherwise non-painful stimulus, (Russell and Larson, 2009) and hyperalgesia (Staud et al., 2001) due to an exaggerated response to a painful stimulus

Abbreviations: ACR, American College of Rheumatology; ASD, autism spectrum disorder; CGRP, calcitonin-gene related peptide; CIRS, chronic inflammatory response syndrome; CRH, corticotropin-releasing hormone; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; CSS, central sensitivity syndromes; CXCL8, IL-8; FccRI, high affinity surface receptors; FMS, fibromyalgia syndrome; FSQ, fibromyalgia survey questionnaire; IBS, irritable bowel syndrome; IC/BPS, interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome; IgE, immunoglobulin E; MCP-1/CCL2, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1; ME/CFS, myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome; MRGPRX2, mas-related G-protein coupled receptor member X2; (mt)DNA, mitochondrial; NGF, nerve growth factor; PAF, platelet activating factor; PTSD, post-traumatic stress disorder; SCF, stem cell factor; SP, substance P; TLRs, toll-like receptors; TMD, myogenic temporomandibular disorder.

(Woolf, 2011). The pathogenesis of FMS remains unknown and with no objective diagnostic criteria (McBeth and Mulvey, 2012; Wolfe and Walitt, 2013). FMS patients have reduced tolerance to pain, especially extremes of heat and cold (Desmeules et al., 2003). There is considerable evidence of altered circuity of pain networks and (Jensen et al., 2012; Flodin et al., 2014) abnormal pain processing in FMS (Staud, 2011).

The PubMed database was searched between 1960 and 2018 using the terms fatigue, fibromyalgia, hypothalamus, inflammation, mast cells, pain and stress. Only articles in English were included.

Here we discuss how brain mast cell release of neurosensitizing mediators in the thalamus leads to focal inflammation and contribute to the pathogenesis of FMS.

# Neurohormonal Triggers of Mast Cells Contribute to Focal Inflammation in the Diencephalon

It was recently proposed that FMS may involve localized inflammation in the hypothalamus (Theoharides et al., 2015c). Elevations in pro-inflammatory chemokines/cytokines could negatively impact symptoms (Bazzichi et al., 2007; Carvalho et al., 2008; Nugraha et al., 2013) leading to sensitization of peripheral and central nociceptors (Uceyler et al., 2011; Behm et al., 2012; Hornig et al., 2015). Increased levels of the proinflammatory chemokine IL-8 (CXCL8) have been reported in the serum and CSF in patients with FMS (Ross et al., 2010; Kadetoff et al., 2012; Rodriguez-Pinto et al., 2014). Chemokines facilitate nociception by directly acting on chemokine receptors present along the pain pathway (Abbadie, 2005; Charo and Ransohoff, 2006).

The cytokines TNF and IL-17 greatly contribute to the inflammatory response (Romero-Sanchez et al., 2011; Griffin et al., 2012). Plasma levels of IL-17 were increased and correlated with levels of TNF in patients with FMS (Pernambuco et al., 2013). CSF and serum IL-17 also positively correlated with pain (Meng et al., 2013) and anxiety (Liu et al., 2012). Mast cells, themselves, can secrete IL-17; moreover, IL-6 and TGF $\beta$  from mast cells contribute to the development of Th-17 cells (Kenna and Brown, 2013).

 TABLE 1 | Pain Syndromes Comorbid with FMS.

- Chronic inflammatory response syndrome (CIRS)
- Functional dyspepsia
- Gulf War Illness (GWI)
- Interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome (IC/BPS)
- Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS)
- Mast cell mediator disorder (MCMD)
- Mastocytosis
- Migraines
- Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS)
- Myogenic temporomandibular disorder (TMD)
- Myofacial pain syndrome
- Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)
- Restless leg syndrome
- Temporomandibular pain syndrome (TMS)
- Tension headache

Fibromyalgia syndrome worsen by stress, (Geenen et al., 2002) which augments pain responses (Bote et al., 2012, 2013). Plasma concentrations of cortisol are increased in the evening, suggesting disruption of the circadian rhythm (Crofford et al., 2004). Serum levels of CRH, which is secreted under stress, were increased in patients with FMS (Tsilioni et al., 2016). CRH was also increased in the CSF of such patients and correlated with severity of pain (McLean et al., 2006). Physiological stress was reported to be the most common trigger in patients with systemic mastocytosis (SM) (Jennings et al., 2014) who also commonly experience FMS (Theoharides et al., 2015d, 2019). We reported increased levels of CRH in the serum of one patient with indolent systemic mastocytosis (Theoharides et al., 2014). CRH can trigger human mast cells to release VEGF without histamine or tryptase (Cao et al., 2005). CRH also has synergistic action with NT stimulating VEGF release. As a result, there is increased vascular permeability in the skin and the blood-brain barrier (BBB) (Esposito et al., 2002; Donelan et al., 2006; Theoharides and Konstantinidou, 2007). Stress also disrupts the gut-blood barrier (Theoharides et al., 1999; Wallon et al., 2008) allowing for gut microbiomeassociated molecules, such as propionate (Minerbi et al., 2019) to enter the brain and contribute to focal inflammation. These results have led to the conclusion that mast cells may serve as "immune gate to the brain" (Theoharides, 1990; Ribatti, 2015).

Levels of the neuropeptide SP (Russell, 1998) and NGF (Giovengo et al., 1999) are elevated in the CSF of FMS patients. NGF has been reported to increase nociception and hyperalgesia (Maren, 2017). The SP receptor NK-1 has been involved in the pathophysiology of pain (Greenwood-Van et al., 2014). We reported increased serum levels of SP, its structural analogue Hemokinin-1 (HK-1) and TNF in patients with FMS (Tsilioni et al., 2016). SP (Theoharides et al., 2010a,b) and NGF (Levi-Montalcini, 1987) can stimulate mast cells. Moreover, SP induced mast cell expression of CRHR-1 (Scholzen et al., 2001). Cerebrovascular mast cells were stimulated by CGRP, (Reynier-Rebuffel et al., 1994; Ottosson and Edvinsson, 1997) which is now well established to participate in the pathophysiology of headaches (Edvinsson, 2018). In addition to neuropeptides, sex hormones can also affect mast cell reactivity. For instance, estradiol augments immune (Kovats, 2015) and allergic (Hox et al., 2015) processes. In particular, we had reported expression of estrogen receptors on rodent mast cells (Pang et al., 1995). We also reported that 17β-estradiol further increased stimulation of mast cells by SP (Theoharides et al., 1993). Such findings may help explain why FMS is more common in women.

In addition to allergic reactions, mast cells contribute to innate immunity, (Galli et al., 2011) autoimmunity (Rottem and Mekori, 2005) and inflammation (Theoharides et al., 2010a).

# Thalamic Mast Cells Secrete Neurosensitizing Mediators

Increasing evidence supports the involvement of mast cells in FMS (Lucas et al., 2006; Pollack, 2014) and comorbid disorders (Theoharides, 2013) as well as other inflammatory (Galli et al., 2008; Theoharides et al., 2010a) and painful conditions, (Heron and Dubayle, 2013; Chatterjea and Martinov, 2014) as well



as neuroimmune interactions (Skaper et al., 2017) (Figure 1). Chronic urticaria, which involves stimulation of skin mast cells is more common in FMS (Torresani et al., 2009). Moreover, mast cells are significantly increased in the papillary dermis of FMS patients (Blanco et al., 2010). The chemokines monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1/CCL2) and eotaxin (CCL-11) are elevated in plasma of FMS patients (Zhang et al., 2008). MCP-1 is a strong mast cell chemoattractant (Conti et al., 1998) and also triggers mast cells in rodents (Conti and Theoharides, 1994). MCP-1 induced prolonged muscle hyperalgesia in rats via activation of its high-affinity receptor, CC Chemokine receptor 2 (CCR2), on the peripheral nerve terminals (Alvarez et al., 2014). Myoblasts treated with MCP-1 secreted significant amounts of the key pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 $\beta$  (Zhang et al., 2008). C-reactive protein (CRP) is now considered a marker of chronic inflammation. CRP may be useful in the diagnostic of FMS (and depression/anxiety that often accompany FMS), even though there is no direct correlation reported (De Berardis et al., 2006, 2017; Orsolini et al., 2018).

Mast cells derive from the bone marrow and mature in response to SCF, which acts via the cell surface tyrosine kinase KIT receptor (Galli et al., 2011). Mast cell progenitors then migrate in all tissues. As a result, mast cell mediators can affect all organs and lead to multiple symptoms. Mast cells are found adjacent to blood vessels and nerve endings; in the brain, mast cells are located in the thalamus, hypothalamus and median eminence (Edvinsson et al., 1976; Lambracht-Hall et al., 1990; Theoharides et al., 2015d).

Mast cells are known to be stimulated by IgE, via activation of its unique surface receptors (Fc $\epsilon$ RI) (Rivera et al., 2008). Mast

cells can also be stimulated via TLRs, (Abraham and St John, 2010; Zhang et al., 2010). Stimulated mast cells secrete multiple vasoactive, pro-inflammatory and neuro-sensitizing molecules (Galli and Tsai, 2008; Theoharides et al., 2010a). Stimulation of mast cells can be augmented by the cytokine IL-33, (Fux et al., 2014) which synergizes with SP to induce release of impressive amounts of VEGF, (Theoharides et al., 2010b) TNF (Taracanova et al., 2017) or IL-1 $\beta$  (Taracanova et al., 2018). As a result, mast cells can serve as "sensors of cell danger" (Theoharides, 1996; Enoksson et al., 2011; Theoharides et al., 2015a).

Mast cell secretory granules store many preformed proinflammatory and neuro-sensitizing mediators including bradykinin, histamine, TNF and tryptase (Nakae et al., 2005; Olszewski et al., 2007). Mast cells also release *de novo* synthesized molecules: (a) lipid mediators (leukotrienes, prostaglandins, and PAF), (b) cytokines (IL-6, IL-13, IL-33, TNF) and (c) chemokines (CXCL8, CCL2, CCL5), (Theoharides et al., 2015d; Mukai et al., 2018). Mast cell could often release mediators selectively without histamine or tryptase (Theoharides et al., 2007). Mast cells also release IL-31, which is important in the sensation of itching and pain, in response to IgE and SP, IL-33 and specifically their combination (Petra et al., 2018). We reported that mast cells can release mtDNA, which is mistaken as a pathogen and stimulates inflammatory responses (Zhang B. et al., 2012).

Finally, mast cells can release extracellular vesicles (exosomes) (Skokos et al., 2002, 2003) that could deliver regulatory molecules, including mtDNA and microRNAs (Kawikova and Askenase, 2014). Such microvesicles have been implicated in brain disorders (Tsilioni et al., 2014;

Kawikova and Askenase, 2014) and pain disorders (Rafiee et al., 2018; Silva-Freire et al., 2019). We recently reported that extracellular vesicles are increased in the serum of children with ASD, contained mtDNA and stimulated cultured human microglia to secret the pro-inflammatory molecules IL-1 $\beta$  and CXCL8 (Tsilioni and Theoharides, 2018).

#### Mast Cell Interactions With Microglia

Mast cells communicate with microglia (Skaper et al., 2012, 2014b). Mediators secreted from mast cells, (Zhang et al., 2016) such as histamine (Dong et al., 2014) and tryptase, (Zhang S. et al., 2012) can activate microglia leading to secretion of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and TNF. Microglia can also be activated by CRH secreted from mast cells (Wang et al., 2002; Kempuraj et al., 2004). Stimulation of brain mast cells in mice led to activation of microglia, which was decreased by administration of a mast cell inhibitor (Dong et al., 2017).

Microglia are involved in synapse plasticity, (Shemer et al., 2015; Wu et al., 2015; Reu et al., 2017) but are responsible for innate immunity of the brain (Ransohoff and Brown, 2012; Aguzzi et al., 2013). Microglia contribute to brain inflammation (Hagberg et al., 2012; Aguzzi et al., 2013; Nakagawa and Chiba, 2016) and the pathogenesis of different brain disorders, (Takeda et al., 2014; Reus et al., 2015; Faden et al., 2016; Garden and Campbell, 2016; Groh and Martini, 2017; Koutsouras et al., 2017; Pennisi et al., 2017; Jiang et al., 2018; Thonhoff et al., 2018) especially ASD (Vargas et al., 2014; Gupta et al., 2014). Microglia in the thalamus have been discussed in the context of pain, especially maintaining the pain sensation even after the original painful stimulus is not present (Banati, 2002; Hansson, 2010; Saghaei et al., 2013; Blaszczyk et al., 2018).

#### CONCLUSION

Mast cells have been implicated in headaches (Theoharides, 1983; Theoharides et al., 2005) and pain (Xanthos et al., 2011; Aich et al., 2015; Gupta and Harvima, 2018). Activation of the mast cell-specific receptor, MRGPRX2, (McNeil et al., 2015) and its mouse analogue, Mrgprb2, mediated inflammatory mechanical and thermal hyperalgesia (Green et al., 2019). Hence, mast cells are key players of neuroendocrine (Theoharides, 2017) and painful disorders (Theoharides et al., 2019).

#### REFERENCES

- Abbadie, C. (2005). Chemokines, chemokine receptors and pain. *Trends Immunol.* 26, 529–534. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2005.08.001
- Abraham, S. N., and St John, A. L. (2010). Mast cell-orchestrated immunity to pathogens. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 10, 440–452. doi: 10.1038/nri2782
- Aguzzi, A., Barres, B. A., and Bennett, M. L. (2013). Microglia: scapegoat, saboteur, or something else? *Science* 339, 156–161. doi: 10.1126/science.1227901
- Aich, A., Afrin, L. B., and Gupta, K. (2015). Mast cell-mediated mechanisms of nociception. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 16, 29069–29092. doi: 10.3390/ijms161226151
- Alvarez, P., Green, P. G., and Levine, J. D. (2014). Role for monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in the induction of chronic muscle pain in the rat. *Pain* 155, 1161–1167. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2014.03.004

In this context, inhibitors of mast cells (Harvima et al., 2014) would be useful in the treatment of FMS. Natural molecules could include the flavonoids, luteolin (Kempuraj et al., 2008; Theoharides et al., 2015c; Ashaari et al., 2018) and tetramethoxyluteolin, (Theoharides et al., 2017; Theoharides and Tsilioni, 2018) alone or in combination with other substances selected to reduce stress (Theoharides and Kavalioti, 2018). Other natural molecules could include palmitoylethanolamide, (Schweiger et al., 2019) which apparently inhibits neuro-inflammation (Skaper et al., 2013, 2015) and reduces pain (Skaper et al., 2016).

# **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Research should focus on identifying in serum of patients with FMS novel molecules that are involved in pain transmission such as bradykinin, CGRP and IL-31. Extracellular vesicles should also be isolated from the serum and CSF of FMS patients, their content identified, and their effect investigated on cultured human mast cells and microglia. Such possible interactions would serve as useful *in vitro* assays for the screening of potential novel treatment agents. Recent reports have also stressed the possible use of the cytokine IL-37, (Mastrangelo et al., 2018) which is known to have anti-inflammatory actions (Cavalli and Dinarello, 2018). It would be important to explore the possible use of IL-37 isoforms in the treatment of FMS.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

TT, IT, and MB participated in searching the literature. TT and IT wrote or contributed to the writing of the manuscript. IT prepared the figure.

## FUNDING

Some aspects of our work described were supported in part by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) (Grants NS38326 and AR47652), as well as the Michael and Katherine Johnson Family Fund to TT.

- Ashaari, Z., Hadjzadeh, M. A., Hassanzadeh, G., Alizamir, T., Yousefi, B., Keshavarzi, Z., et al. (2018). The flavone luteolin improves central nervous system disorders by different mechanisms: a review. J. Mol. Neurosci. 65, 491–506. doi: 10.1007/s12031-018-1094-2
- Banati, R. B. (2002). Brain plasticity and microglia: is transsynaptic glial activation in the thalamus after limb denervation linked to cortical plasticity and central sensitisation? *J. Physiol. Paris* 96, 289–299. doi: 10.1016/s0928-4257(02)0 0018-9
- Bazzichi, L., Rossi, A., Massimetti, G., Giannaccini, G., Giuliano, T., De Feo, F., et al. (2007). Cytokine patterns in fibromyalgia and their correlation with clinical manifestations. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* 25, 225–230.

- Behm, F. G., Gavin, I. M., Karpenko, O., Lindgren, V., Gaitonde, S., Gashkoff, P. A., et al. (2012). Unique immunologic patterns in fibromyalgia. *BMC Clin. Pathol.* 12:25. doi: 10.1186/1472-6890-12-25
- Blanco, I., Beritze, N., Arguelles, M., Carcaba, V., Fernandez, F., Janciauskiene, S., et al. (2010). Abnormal overexpression of mastocytes in skin biopsies of fibromyalgia patients. *Clin. Rheumatol.* 29, 1403–1412. doi: 10.1007/s10067-010-1474-7
- Blaszczyk, L., Maitre, M., Leste-Lasserre, T., Clark, S., Cota, D., Oliet, S. H. R., et al. (2018). Sequential alteration of microglia and astrocytes in the rat thalamus following spinal nerve ligation. *J. Neuroinflammation* 15:349. doi: 10.1186/ s12974-018-1378-z
- Bote, M. E., Garcia, J. J., Hinchado, M. D., and Ortega, E. (2012). Inflammatory/stress feedback dysregulation in women with fibromyalgia. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 19, 343–351. doi: 10.1159/000341664
- Bote, M. E., Garcia, J. J., Hinchado, M. D., and Ortega, E. (2013). Fibromyalgia: anti-inflammatory and stress responses after acute moderate exercise. *PLoS One* 8:e74524. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0074524
- Branco, J. C., Bannwarth, B., Failde, I., Abello, C. J., Blotman, F., Spaeth, M., et al. (2010). Prevalence of fibromyalgia: a survey in five European countries. *Semin. Arthritis Rheum.* 39, 448–453. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2008.12.003
- Cao, J., Papadopoulou, N., Kempuraj, D., Boucher, W. S., Sugimoto, K., Cetrulo, C. L., et al. (2005). Human mast cells express corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) receptors and CRH leads to selective secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor. J. Immunol. 174, 7665–7675. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.12.7665
- Carvalho, L. S., Correa, H., Silva, G. C., Campos, F. S., Baiao, F. R., Ribeiro, L. S., et al. (2008). May genetic factors in fibromyalgia help to identify patients with differentially altered frequencies of immune cells? *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 154, 346–352. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2008.03787.x
- Cavalli, G., and Dinarello, C. A. (2018). Suppression of inflammation and acquired immunity by IL-37. *Immunol. Rev.* 281, 179–190. doi: 10.1111/imr.12605
- Charo, I. F., and Ransohoff, R. M. (2006). The many roles of chemokines and chemokine receptors in inflammation. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 354, 610–621. doi: 10.1056/nejmra052723
- Chatterjea, D., and Martinov, T. (2014). Mast cells: versatile gatekeepers of pain. *Mol. Immunol.* 63, 38–44. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2014.03.001
- Clauw, D. J. (2014). Fibromyalgia: a clinical review. JAMA 311, 1547–1555. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.3266
- Clauw, D. J., Arnold, L. M., and McCarberg, B. H. (2011). The science of fibromyalgia. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 86, 907–911. doi: 10.4065/mcp.2011.0206
- Conti, P., Reale, M., Barbacane, R. C., Letourneau, R., and Theoharides, T. C. (1998). Intramuscular injection of hrRANTES causes mast cell recruitment and increased transcription of histidine decarboxylase: lack of effects in genetically mast cell-deficient W/Wv mice. *FASEB J.* 12, 1693–1700. doi: 10.1096/fasebj. 12.15.1693
- Conti, P., and Theoharides, T. C. (1994). Monocyte chemotactic Protein-1 (MCP-1) is active on mast cells and causes clump formation. *Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol.* 7, 149–151.
- Crofford, L. J., Young, E. A., Engleberg, N. C., Korszun, A., Brucksch, C. B., McClure, L. A., et al. (2004). Basal circadian and pulsatile ACTH and cortisol secretion in patients with fibromyalgia and/or chronic fatigue syndrome. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 18, 314–325. doi: 10.1016/s0889-1591(04)00021-2
- De Berardis, D., Campanella, D., Gambi, F., La, R. R., Carano, A., Conti, C. M., et al. (2006). The role of C-reactive protein in mood disorders. *Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol.* 19, 721–725.
- De Berardis, D., Serroni, N., Campanella, D., Marini, S., Rapini, G., Valchera, A., et al. (2017). Alexithymia, suicide ideation, C-Reactive Protein, and serum lipid levels among outpatients with generalized anxiety disorder. *Arch. Suicide Res.* 21, 100–112. doi: 10.1080/13811118.2015.1004485
- Desmeules, J. A., Cedraschi, C., Rapiti, E., Baumgartner, E., Finckh, A., Cohen, P., et al. (2003). Neurophysiologic evidence for a central sensitization in patients with fibromyalgia. *Arthritis Rheum.* 48, 1420–1429. doi: 10.1002/art.10893
- Donelan, J., Boucher, W., Papadopoulou, N., Lytinas, M., Papaliodis, D., and Theoharides, T. C. (2006). Corticotropin-releasing hormone induces skin vascular permeability through a neurotensin-dependent process. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 7759–7764. doi: 10.1073/pnas.06022 10103
- Dong, H., Zhang, W., Zeng, X., Hu, G., Zhang, H., He, S., et al. (2014). Histamine induces upregulated expression of histamine receptors and increases release

of inflammatory mediators from microglia1. Mol. Neurobiol. 49, 1487–1500. doi: 10.1007/s12035-014-8697-6

- Dong, H., Zhang, X., Wang, Y., Zhou, X., Qian, Y., and Zhang, S. (2017). Suppression of brain mast cells degranulation inhibits microglial activation and central nervous system inflammation. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 54, 997–1007. doi: 10.1007/s12035-016-9720-x
- Edmonson, C., Ziats, M. N., and Rennert, O. M. (2014). Altered glial marker expression in autistic post-mortem prefrontal cortex and cerebellum. *Mol. Autism* 5:3. doi: 10.1186/2040-2392-5-3
- Edvinsson, L. (2018). The CGRP pathway in migraine as a viable target for therapies. *Headache* 58(Suppl. 1), 33–47. doi: 10.1111/head.13305
- Edvinsson, L., Owman, C., and Sjöberg, N. O. (1976). Autonomic nerves, mast cells and amine receptors in human brain vessels. A histochemical and pharmacological study. *Brain Res.* 115, 377–393. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(76) 90356-5
- Enoksson, M., Lyberg, K., Moller-Westerberg, C., Fallon, P. G., Nilsson, G., and Lunderius-Andersson, C. (2011). Mast cells as sensors of cell injury through IL-33 recognition. *J. Immunol.* 186, 2523–2528. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1003383
- Esposito, P., Chandler, N., Kandere-Grzybowska, K., Basu, S., Jacobson, S., Connolly, R., et al. (2002). Corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) and brain mast cells regulate blood-brain-barrier permeability induced by acute stress. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 303, 1061–1066. doi: 10.1124/jpet.102.038497
- Faden, A. I., Wu, J., Stoica, B. A., and Loane, D. J. (2016). Progressive inflammationmediated neurodegeneration after traumatic brain or spinal cord injury. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 173, 681–691. doi: 10.1111/bph.13179
- Ferrari, R., and Russell, A. S. (2013). A questionnaire using the modified 2010 American College of rheumatology criteria for fibromyalgia: specificity and sensitivity in clinical practice. J. Rheumatol. 40, 1590–1595. doi: 10.3899/ jrheum.130367
- Flodin, P. D., Martinsen, S., Lofgren, M., Bileviciute-Ljungar, I., Kosek, E., and Fransson, P. (2014). Fibromyalgia is associated with decreased connectivity between pain- and sensorimotor brain areas. *Brain Connect.* 4, 587–594. doi: 10.1089/brain.2014.0274
- Fux, M., Pecaric-Petkovic, T., Odermatt, A., Hausmann, O. V., Lorentz, A., Bischoff, S. C., et al. (2014). IL-33 is a mediator rather than a trigger of the acute allergic response in humans. *Allergy* 69, 216–222. doi: 10.1111/all.12309
- Galli, S. J., Borregaard, N., and Wynn, T. A. (2011). Phenotypic and functional plasticity of cells of innate immunity: macrophages, mast cells and neutrophils. *Nat. Immunol.* 12, 1035–1044. doi: 10.1038/ni.2109
- Galli, S. J., and Tsai, M. (2008). Mast cells: versatile regulators of inflammation, tissue remodeling, host defense and homeostasis. J. Dermatol. Sci. 49, 7–19. doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2007.09.009
- Galli, S. J., Tsai, M., and Piliponsky, A. M. (2008). The development of allergic inflammation. *Nature* 454, 445–454. doi: 10.1038/nature07204
- Garden, G. A., and Campbell, B. M. (2016). Glial biomarkers in human central nervous system disease. *Glia* 64, 1755–1771. doi: 10.1002/glia.22998
- Geenen, R., Jacobs, J. W., and Bijlsma, J. W. (2002). Evaluation and management of endocrine dysfunction in fibromyalgia. *Rheum. Dis. Clin. North Am.* 28, 389–404. doi: 10.1016/s0889-857x(01)00009-6
- Giovengo, S. L., Russell, I. J., and Larson, A. A. (1999). Increased concentrations of nerve growth factor in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with fibromyalgia. *J. Rheumatol.* 26, 1564–1569.
- Green, D. P., Limjunyawong, N., Gour, N., Pundir, P., and Dong, X. (2019). A Mast-Cell-Specific receptor mediates neurogenic inflammation and pain. *Neuron* 101, 412–420. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2019.01.012
- Greenwood-Van, M. B., Mohammadi, E., Tyler, K., Pietra, C., Bee, L. A., and Dickenson, A. (2014). Synergistic effect of 5-hydroxytryptamine 3 and neurokinin 1 receptor antagonism in rodent models of somatic and visceral pain. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 351, 146–152. doi: 10.1124/jpet.114.21 6028
- Griffin, G. K., Newton, G., Tarrio, M. L., Bu, D. X., Maganto-Garcia, E., Azcutia, V., et al. (2012). IL-17 and TNF-alpha sustain neutrophil recruitment during inflammation through synergistic effects on endothelial activation. *J. Immunol.* 188, 6287–6299. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200385
- Groh, J., and Martini, R. (2017). Neuroinflammation as modifier of genetically caused neurological disorders of the central nervous system: understanding pathogenesis and chances for treatment. *Glia* 65, 1407–1422. doi: 10.1002/glia. 23162

Gupta, K., and Harvima, I. T. (2018). Mast cell-neural interactions contribute to pain and itch. *Immunol. Rev.* 282, 168–187. doi: 10.1111/imr.12622

- Gupta, S., Ellis, S. E., Ashar, F. N., Moes, A., Bader, J. S., Zhan, J., et al. (2014). Transcriptome analysis reveals dysregulation of innate immune response genes and neuronal activity-dependent genes in autism. *Nat. Commun.* 5:5748. doi: 10.1038/ncomms6748
- Hagberg, H., Gressens, P., and Mallard, C. (2012). Inflammation during fetal and neonatal life: implications for neurologic and neuropsychiatric disease in children and adults. *Ann. Neurol.* 71, 444–457. doi: 10.1002/ana.22620
- Hansson, E. (2010). Long-term pain, neuroinflammation and glial activation. *Scand. J. Pain* 1, 67–72. doi: 10.1016/j.sjpain.2010.01.002
- Harvima, I. T., Levi-Schaffer, F., Draber, P., Friedman, S., Polakovicova, I., Gibbs, B. F., et al. (2014). Molecular targets on mast cells and basophils for novel therapies. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 134, 530–544. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.03. 007
- Hauser, W., Sarzi-Puttini, P., and Fitzcharles, M. A. (2019). Fibromyalgia syndrome: under-, over- and misdiagnosis. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* 37(Suppl. 116), 90–97.
- Heron, A., and Dubayle, D. (2013). A focus on mast cells and pain. J. Neuroimmunol. 264, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2013.09.018
- Hornig, M., Montoya, J. G., Klimas, N. G., Levine, S., Felsenstein, D., Bateman, L., et al. (2015). Distinct plasma immune signatures in ME/CFS are present early in the course of illness. *Sci. Adv.* 1:e1400121. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1400121
- Hox, V., Desai, A., Bandara, G., Gilfillan, A. M., Metcalfe, D. D., and Olivera, A. (2015). Estrogen increases the severity of anaphylaxis in female mice through enhanced endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression and nitric oxide production. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 135, 729–736. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.11. 003
- Impellizzeri, D., Di, P. R., Cordaro, M., Gugliandolo, E., Casili, G., Morittu, V. M., et al. (2016). Adelmidrol, a palmitoylethanolamide analogue, as a new pharmacological treatment for the management of acute and chronic inflammation. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 119, 27–41. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2016.09.001
- Jennings, S., Russell, N., Jennings, B., Slee, V., Sterling, L., Castells, M., et al. (2014). The mastocytosis society survey on mast cell disorders: patient experiences and perceptions. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. Pract. 2, 70–76. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2013. 09.004
- Jensen, K. B., Loitoile, R., Kosek, E., Petzke, F., Carville, S., Fransson, P., et al. (2012). Patients with fibromyalgia display less functional connectivity in the brain's pain inhibitory network. *Mol. Pain* 8:32. doi: 10.1186/1744-8069-8-32
- Jiang, N. M., Cowan, M., Moonah, S. N., and Petri, W. A. Jr. (2018). The impact of systemic inflammation on neurodevelopment. *Trends Mol. Med.* 24, 794–804. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2018.06.008
- Kadetoff, D., Lampa, J., Westman, M., Andersson, M., and Kosek, E. (2012). Evidence of central inflammation in fibromyalgia-increased cerebrospinal fluid interleukin-8 levels. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 242, 33–38. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim. 2011.10.013
- Kawikova, I., and Askenase, P. W. (2014). Diagnostic and therapeutic potentials of exosomes in CNS diseases. *Brain Res.* 1617, 63–71. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014. 09.070
- Kempuraj, D., Papadopoulou, N. G., Lytinas, M., Huang, M., Kandere-Grzybowska, K., Madhappan, B., et al. (2004). Corticotropin-releasing hormone and its structurally related urocortin are synthesized and secreted by human mast cells. *Endocrinology* 145, 43–48. doi: 10.1210/en.2003-0805
- Kempuraj, D., Tagen, M., Iliopoulou, B. P., Clemons, A., Vasiadi, M., Boucher, W., et al. (2008). Luteolin inhibits myelin basic protein-induced human mast cell activation and mast cell dependent stimulation of Jurkat T cells. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 155, 1076–1084. doi: 10.1038/bjp.2008.356
- Kenna, T. J., and Brown, M. A. (2013). The role of IL-17-secreting mast cells in inflammatory joint disease. Nat. Rev. Rheumatol. 9, 375–379. doi: 10.1038/ nrrheum.2012.205
- Koutsouras, G. W., Ramos, R. L., and Martinez, L. R. (2017). Role of microglia in fungal infections of the central nervous system. *Virulence* 8, 705–718. doi: 10.1080/21505594.2016.1261789
- Kovats, S. (2015). Estrogen receptors regulate innate immune cells and signaling pathways. *Cell Immunol.* 294, 63–69. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2015.01.018
- Lambracht-Hall, M., Dimitriadou, V., and Theoharides, T. C. (1990). Migration of mast cells in the developing rat brain. *Dev. Brain Res.* 56, 151–159. doi: 10.1016/0165-3806(90)90077-c

- Levi-Montalcini, R. (1987). The nerve growth factor 35 years later. Science 237, 1154–1162. doi: 10.1126/science.3306916
- Liu, Y., Ho, R. C., and Mak, A. (2012). The role of interleukin (IL)-17 in anxiety and depression of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Int. J. Rheum. Dis.* 15, 183–187. doi: 10.1111/j.1756-185X.2011.01673.x
- Lucas, H. J., Brauch, C. M., Settas, L., and Theoharides, T. C. (2006). Fibromyalgianew concepts of pathogenesis and treatment. *Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol.* 19, 5–10.
- Maren, S. (2017). Synapse-Specific encoding of fear memory in the amygdala. Neuron 95, 988–990. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.08.020
- Mastrangelo, F., Frydas, I., Ronconi, G., Kritas, S. K., Tettamanti, L., Caraffa, A., et al. (2018). Low-grade chronic inflammation mediated by mast cells in fibromyalgia: role of IL-37. J. Biol. Regul. Homeost Agents 32, 195–198.
- McBeth, J., and Mulvey, M. R. (2012). Fibromyalgia: mechanisms and potential impact of the ACR 2010 classification criteria. *Nat. Rev. Rheumatol.* 8, 108–116. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2011.216
- McLean, S. A., Williams, D. A., Stein, P. K., Harris, R. E., Lyden, A. K., Whalen, G., et al. (2006). Cerebrospinal fluid corticotropin-releasing factor concentration is associated with pain but not fatigue symptoms in patients with fibromyalgia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 31, 2776–2782. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp. 1301200
- McNeil, B. D., Pundir, P., Meeker, S., Han, L., Undem, B. J., Kulka, M., et al. (2015). Identification of a mast-cell-specific receptor crucial for pseudo-allergic drug reactions. *Nature* 519, 237–241. doi: 10.1038/nature14022
- Meng, X., Zhang, Y., Lao, L., Saito, R., Li, A., Backman, C. M., et al. (2013). Spinal interleukin-17 promotes thermal hyperalgesia and NMDA NR1 phosphorylation in an inflammatory pain rat model. *Pain* 154, 294–305. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2012.10.022
- Minerbi, A., Gonzalez, E., Brereton, N. J. B., Anjarkouchian, A., Dewar, K., Fitzcharles, M. A., et al. (2019). Altered microbiome composition in individuals with fibromyalgia. *Pain* doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001640 [Epub ahead of print].
- Morgan, J. T., Chana, G., Pardo, C. A., Achim, C., Semendeferi, K., Buckwalter, J., et al. (2010). Microglial activation and increased microglial density observed in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in autism. *Biol. Psychiatry* 68, 368–376. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.05.024
- Mukai, K., Tsai, M., Saito, H., and Galli, S. J. (2018). Mast cells as sources of cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors. *Immunol. Rev.* 282, 121–150. doi: 10.1111/imr.12634
- Nakae, S., Suto, H., Kakurai, M., Sedgwick, J. D., Tsai, M., and Galli, S. J. (2005). Mast cells enhance T cell activation: importance of mast cell-derived TNF. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 6467–6472. doi: 10.1073/pnas.05019 12102
- Nakagawa, Y., and Chiba, K. (2016). Involvement of neuroinflammation during brain development in social cognitive deficits in autism spectrum disorder and schizophrenia. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 358, 504–515. doi: 10.1124/jpet.116. 234476
- Nugraha, B., Korallus, C., Kielstein, H., and Gutenbrunner, C. (2013). CD3+CD56+natural killer T cells in fibromyalgia syndrome patients: association with the intensity of depression. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* 31, S9-S15.
- Olszewski, M. B., Groot, A. J., Dastych, J., and Knol, E. F. (2007). TNF trafficking to human mast cell granules: mature chain-dependent endocytosis. *J. Immunol.* 178, 5701–5709. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.9.5701
- Orsolini, L., Sarchione, F., Vellante, F., Fornaro, M., Matarazzo, I., Martinotti, G., et al. (2018). Protein-C reactive as biomarker predictor of schizophrenia phases of illness? A systematic review. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* 16, 583–606. doi: 10.2174/1570159X16666180119144538
- Ottosson, A., and Edvinsson, L. (1997). Release of histamine from dural mast cells by substance P and calcitonin gene-related peptide. *Cephalalgia* 17, 166–174. doi: 10.1046/j.1468-2982.1997.1703166.x
- Pang, X., Cotreau-Bibbo, M. M., Sant, G. R., and Theoharides, T. C. (1995). Bladder mast cell expression of high affinity estrogen receptors in patients with interstitial cystitis. *Br. J. Urol.* 75, 154–161. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410x.1995. tb07303.x
- Pennisi, M., Crupi, R., Di, P. R., Ontario, M. L., Bella, R., Calabrese, E. J., et al. (2017). Inflammasomes, hormesis, and antioxidants in neuroinflammation: role
of NRLP3 in Alzheimer disease. J. Neurosci. Res. 95, 1360–1372. doi: 10.1002/ jnr.23986

- Pernambuco, A. P., Schetino, L. P., Alvim, C. C., Murad, C. M., Viana, R. S., Carvalho, L. S., et al. (2013). Increased levels of IL-17A in patients with fibromyalgia. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* 31, S60–S63.
- Petra, A. I., Tsilioni, I., Taracanova, A., Katsarou-Katsari, A., and Theoharides, T. C. (2018). Interleukin 33 and interleukin 4 regulate interleukin 31 gene expression and secretion from human laboratory of allergic diseases 2 mast cells stimulated by substance P and/or immunoglobulin E. Allergy Asthma Proc. 39, 153–160. doi: 10.2500/aap.2018.38.4105
- Pollack, S. (2014). Mast cells in fibromyalgia. Clin. Exp. Rheumatol. 33(1 Suppl. 88):S140.
- Rafiee, Z. A., Falahatian, M., and Alsahebfosoul, F. (2018). Serum levels of histamine and diamine oxidase in multiple sclerosis. *Am. J. Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 7, 100–105.
- Ransohoff, R. M., and Brown, M. A. (2012). Innate immunity in the central nervous system. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 1164–1171. doi: 10.1172/JCI58644
- Reu, P., Khosravi, A., Bernard, S., Mold, J. E., Salehpour, M., Alkass, K., et al. (2017). The lifespan and turnover of microglia in the human brain. *Cell Rep.* 20, 779–784. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.07.004
- Reus, G. Z., Fries, G. R., Stertz, L., Badawy, M., Passos, I. C., Barichello, T., et al. (2015). The role of inflammation and microglial activation in the pathophysiology of psychiatric disorders. *Neuroscience* 300, 141–154. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuroscience.2015.05.018
- Reynier-Rebuffel, A.-M., Mathiau, P., Callebert, J., Dimitriadou, V., Farjaudon, N., Kacem, K., et al. (1994). Substance P, calcitonin gene-related peptide, and capsaicin release serotonin from cerebrovascular mast cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 267, R1421–R1429.
- Ribatti, D. (2015). The crucial role of mast cells in blood-brain barrier alterations. *Exp. Cell Res.* 338, 119–125. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2015.05.013
- Rivera, J., Fierro, N. A., Olivera, A., and Suzuki, R. (2008). New insights on mast cell activation via the high affinity receptor for IgE. *Adv. Immunol.* 98, 85–120. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2776(08)00403-3
- Rodriguez-Pinto, I., Agmon-Levin, N., Howard, A., and Shoenfeld, Y. (2014). Fibromyalgia and cytokines. *Immunol. Lett.* 161, 200–203. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet. 2014.01.009
- Romero-Sanchez, C., Jaimes, D. A., Londono, J., De Avila, J., Castellanos, J. E., Bello, J. M., et al. (2011). Association between Th-17 cytokine profile and clinical features in patients with spondyloarthritis. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* 29, 828–834.
- Ross, R. L., Jones, K. D., Bennett, R. M., Ward, R. L., Druker, B. J., and Wood, L. J. (2010). Preliminary evidence of increased pain and elevated cytokines in fibromyalgia patients with defective growth hormone response to exercise. *Open Immunol. J.* 3, 9–18. doi: 10.2174/1874226201003010009
- Rottem, M., and Mekori, Y. A. (2005). Mast cells and autoimmunity. *Autoimmun. Rev.* 4, 21–27. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2004.05.001
- Russell, I. J. (1998). Advances in fibromyalgia: possible role for central neurochemicals. Am. J. Med. Sci. 315, 377–384. doi: 10.1016/s0002-9629(15) 40355-6
- Russell, I. J., and Larson, A. A. (2009). Neurophysiopathogenesis of fibromyalgia syndrome: a unified hypothesis. *Rheum. Dis. Clin. North Am.* 35, 421–435. doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2009.06.005
- Saghaei, E., Abbaszadeh, F., Naseri, K., Ghorbanpoor, S., Afhami, M., Haeri, A., et al. (2013). Estradiol attenuates spinal cord injury-induced pain by suppressing microglial activation in thalamic VPL nuclei of rats. *Neurosci. Res.* 75, 316–323. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2013.01.010
- Schmidt-Wilcke, T., and Clauw, D. J. (2011). Fibromyalgia: from pathophysiology to therapy. Nat. Rev. Rheumatol. 7, 518–527. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2011.98
- Scholzen, T. E., Steinhoff, M., Bonaccorsi, P., Klein, R., Amadesi, S., Geppetti, P., et al. (2001). Neutral endopeptidase terminates substance P-induced inflammation in allergic contact dermatitis. *J. Immunol.* 166, 1285–1291. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.2.1285
- Schweiger, V., Martini, A., Bellamoli, P., Donadello, K., Schievano, C., Del, B. G., et al. (2019). Ultramicronized palmitoylethanolamide (um-PEA) as addon treatment in fibromyalgia syndrome (FMS): retrospective observational study on 407 patients. CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets doi: 10.2174/ 1871527318666190227205359 [Epub ahead of print].

- Shemer, A., Erny, D., Jung, S., and Prinz, M. (2015). Microglia plasticity during health and disease: an immunological perspective. *Trends Immunol.* 36, 614– 624. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.08.003
- Silva-Freire, N., Mayado, A., Teodosio, C., Jara-Acevedo, M., Varez-Twose, I., Matito, A., et al. (2019). Bone marrow mast cell antibody-targetable cell surface protein expression profiles in systemic mastocytosis. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20:E552. doi: 10.3390/ijms20030552
- Skaper, S. D., Facci, L., Barbierato, M., Zusso, M., Bruschetta, G., Impellizzeri, D., et al. (2015). N-Palmitoylethanolamine and neuroinflammation: a novel therapeutic strategy of resolution. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 52, 1034–1042. doi: 10.1007/ s12035-015-9253-8
- Skaper, S. D., Facci, L., Fusco, M., la Valle, M. F., Zusso, M., Costa, B., et al. (2014a). Palmitoylethanolamide, a naturally occurring disease-modifying agent in neuropathic pain. *Inflammopharmacology* 22, 79–94. doi: 10.1007/s10787-013-0191-7
- Skaper, S. D., Facci, L., and Giusti, P. (2014b). Neuroinflammation, microglia and mast cells in the pathophysiology of neurocognitive disorders: a review. CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets 13, 1654–1666. doi: 10.2174/ 1871527313666141130224206
- Skaper, S. D., Facci, L., and Giusti, P. (2013). Glia and mast cells as targets for palmitoylethanolamide, an anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective lipid mediator. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 48, 340–352. doi: 10.1007/s12035-013-8487-6
- Skaper, S. D., Facci, L., Zusso, M., and Giusti, P. (2017). Neuroinflammation, mast cells, and glia: dangerous liaisons. *Neuroscientist* 23, 478–498. doi: 10.1177/ 1073858416687249
- Skaper, S. D., Giusti, P., and Facci, L. (2012). Microglia and mast cells: two tracks on the road to neuroinflammation. *FASEB J.* 26, 3103–3117. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-197194
- Skokos, D., Botros, H. G., Demeure, C., Morin, J., Peronet, R., Birkenmeier, G., et al. (2003). Mast cell-derived exosomes induce phenotypic and functional maturation of dendritic cells and elicit specific immune responses in vivo. *J. Immunol.* 170, 3037–3045. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.6.3037
- Skokos, D., Goubran-Botros, H., Roa, M., and Mecheri, S. (2002). Immunoregulatory properties of mast cell-derived exosomes. *Mol. Immunol.* 38, 1359–1362. doi: 10.1016/s0161-5890(02)00088-3
- Staud, R. (2011). Brain imaging in fibromyalgia syndrome. Clin. Exp. Rheumatol. 29, S109–S117.
- Staud, R., Vierck, C. J., Cannon, R. L., Mauderli, A. P., and Price, D. D. (2001). Abnormal sensitization and temporal summation of second pain (wind-up) in patients with fibromyalgia syndrome. *Pain* 91, 165–175. doi: 10.1016/s0304-3959(00)00432-2
- Suzuki, K., Sugihara, G., Ouchi, Y., Nakamura, K., Futatsubashi, M., Takebayashi, K., et al. (2013). Microglial activation in young adults with autism spectrum disorder. *JAMA Psychiatry* 70, 49–58.
- Takeda, S., Sato, N., and Morishita, R. (2014). Systemic inflammation, bloodbrain barrier vulnerability and cognitive/non-cognitive symptoms in Alzheimer disease: relevance to pathogenesis and therapy. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 6:171. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00171
- Taracanova, A., Alevizos, M., Karagkouni, A., Weng, Z., Norwitz, E., Conti, P., et al. (2017). SP and IL-33 together markedly enhance TNF synthesis and secretion from human mast cells mediated by the interaction of their receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, E4002–E4009. doi: 10.1073/pnas.15248 45114
- Taracanova, A., Tsilioni, I., Conti, P., Norwitz, E. R., Leeman, S. E., and Theoharides, T. C. (2018). Substance P and IL-33 administered together stimulate a marked secretion of IL-1beta from human mast cells, inhibited by methoxyluteolin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A* 115, E9381–E9390. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1810133115
- Theoharides, T. C. (1983). Mast cells and migraines. Perspect. Biol. Med. 26, 672-675. doi: 10.1353/pbm.1983.0028
- Theoharides, T. C. (1990). Mast cells: the immune gate to the brain. *Life Sci.* 46, 607–617. doi: 10.1016/0024-3205(90)90129-f
- Theoharides, T. C. (1996). Mast cell: a neuroimmunoendocrine master player. *Int. J. Tissue React.* 18, 1–21.
- Theoharides, T. C. (2013). Atopic conditions in search of pathogenesis and therapy. *Clin. Ther.* 35, 544–547. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2013.04.002

- Theoharides, T. C. (2017). Neuroendocrinology of mast cells: challenges and controversies. *Exp. Dermatol.* 26, 751–759. doi: 10.1111/exd.13288
- Theoharides, T. C., Alysandratos, K. D., Angelidou, A., Delivanis, D. A., Sismanopoulos, N., Zhang, B., et al. (2010a). Mast cells and inflammation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1822, 21–33.
- Theoharides, T. C., Zhang, B., Kempuraj, D., Tagen, M., Vasiadi, M., Angelidou, A., et al. (2010b). IL-33 augments substance P-induced VEGF secretion from human mast cells and is increased in psoriatic skin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 4448–4453. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1000803107
- Theoharides, T. C., Dimitriadou, V., Letourneau, R. J., Rozniecki, J. J., Vliagoftis, H., and Boucher, W. S. (1993). Synergistic action of estradiol and myelin basic protein on mast cell secretion and brain demyelination: changes resembling early stages of demyelination. *Neuroscience* 57, 861–871. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(93)90030-j
- Theoharides, T. C., Donelan, J., Kandere-Grzybowska, K., and Konstantinidou, A. (2005). The role of mast cells in migraine pathophysiology. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 49, 65–76. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2004.11.006
- Theoharides, T. C., and Kavalioti, M. (2018). Stress, inflammation and natural treatments. J. Biol. Regul. Homeost Agents 32, 1345–1347.
- Theoharides, T. C., Kempuraj, D., Tagen, M., Conti, P., and Kalogeromitros, D. (2007). Differential release of mast cell mediators and the pathogenesis of inflammation. *Immunol. Rev.* 217, 65–78. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065x.2007. 00519.x
- Theoharides, T. C., and Konstantinidou, A. (2007). Corticotropin-releasing hormone and the blood-brain-barrier. *Front. Biosci.* 12:1615–1628. doi: 10. 2741/2174
- Theoharides, T. C., Letourneau, R., Patra, P., Hesse, L., Pang, X., Boucher, W., et al. (1999). Stress-induced rat intestinal mast cell intragranular activation and inhibitory effect of sulfated proteoglycans. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 44, 875–935.
- Theoharides, T. C., Petra, A. I., Stewart, J. M., Tsilioni, I., Panagiotidou, S., and Akin, C. (2014). High serum corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) and bone marrow mast cell CRH receptor expression in a mastocytosis patient. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 134, 1197–1199. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.05.023
- Theoharides, T. C., Petra, A. I., Taracanova, A., Panagiotidou, S., and Conti, P. (2015a). Targeting IL-33 in autoimmunity and inflammation. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 354, 24–31. doi: 10.1124/jpet.114.222505
- Theoharides, T. C., Stewart, J. M., Hatziagelaki, E., and Kolaitis, G. (2015b). Brain "fog," inflammation and obesity: key aspects of neuropsychiatric disorders improved by luteolin. *Front. Neurosci.* 9:225. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00225
- Theoharides, T. C., Tsilioni, I., Arbetman, L., Panagiotidou, S., Stewart, J. M., Gleason, R. M., et al. (2015c). Fibromyalgia, a syndrome in search of pathogenesis and therapy. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 355, 255–263.
- Theoharides, T. C., Valent, P., and Akin, C. (2015d). Mast cells, mastocytosis, and related disorders. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 373, 163–172. doi: 10.1056/nejmra1409760
- Theoharides, T. C., Stewart, J. M., and Tsilioni, I. (2017). Tolerability and benefit of a tetramethoxyluteolin-containing skin lotion. *Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol.* 30, 146–151. doi: 10.1177/0394632017707610
- Theoharides, T. C., and Tsilioni, I. (2018). Tetramethoxyluteolin for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* 18, 1872–1882. doi: 10.2174/1568026617666181119154247
- Theoharides, T. C., Tsilioni, I., and Ren, H. (2019). Recent advances in our understanding of mast cell activation - or should it be mast cell mediator disorders? *Expert. Rev. Clin. Immunol.* 15, 639–656. doi: 10.1080/1744666X. 2019.1596800
- Thonhoff, J. R., Simpson, E. P., and Appel, S. H. (2018). Neuroinflammatory mechanisms in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis pathogenesis. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 31, 635–639. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000599
- Torresani, C., Bellafiore, S., and De Panfilis, G. (2009). Chronic urticaria is usually associated with fibromyalgia syndrome. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 89, 389–392. doi: 10.2340/00015555-0653
- Tsilioni, I., Panagiotidou, S., and Theoharides, T. C. (2014). Exosomes in neurologic and psychiatric disorders. *Clin. Ther.* 36, 882–888. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2014. 05.005
- Tsilioni, I., Russell, I. J., Stewart, J. M., Gleason, R. M., and Theoharides, T. C. (2016). Neuropeptides CRH, SP, HK-1, and inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and TNF are increased in serum of patients with fibromyalgia syndrome,

implicating mast cells. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 356, 664–672. doi: 10.1124/jpet. 115.230060

- Tsilioni, I., and Theoharides, T. C. (2018). Extracellular vesicles are increased in the serum of children with autism spectrum disorder, contain mitochondrial DNA, and stimulate human microglia to secrete IL-1beta. *J. Neuroinflammation* 15:239. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1275-5
- Uceyler, N., Hauser, W., and Sommer, C. (2011). Systematic review with metaanalysis: cytokines in fibromyalgia syndrome. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 12:245. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-12-245
- Vargas, D. L., Nascimbene, C., Krishnan, C., Zimmerman, A. W., and Pardo, C. A. (2005). Neuroglial activation and neuroinflammation in the brain of patients with autism. *Ann. Neurol.* 57, 67–81. doi: 10.1002/ana.20315
- Wallon, C., Yang, P., Keita, A. V., Ericson, A. C., McKay, D. M., Sherman, P. M., et al. (2008). Corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH) regulates macromolecular permeability via mast cells in normal human colonic biopsies in vitro. *Gut* 57, 50–58. doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.117549
- Wang, W., Ji, P., Riopelle, R. J., and Dow, K. E. (2002). Functional expression of corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) receptor 1 in cultured rat microglia. *J. Neurochem.* 80, 287–294. doi: 10.1046/j.0022-3042.2001. 00687.x
- Wolfe, F., and Walitt, B. (2013). Culture, science and the changing nature of fibromyalgia. Nat. Rev. Rheumatol. 9, 751–755. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2013.96
- Woodman, I. (2013). Fibromyalgia: fibromyalgia-all in the brain? Nat. Rev. Rheumatol. 9:565. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2013.137
- Woolf, C. J. (2011). Central sensitization: implications for the diagnosis and treatment of pain. Pain 152, S2–S15. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2010.09.030
- Wu, Y., Dissing-Olesen, L., MacVicar, B. A., and Stevens, B. (2015). Microglia: dynamic mediators of synapse development and plasticity. *Trends Immunol.* 36, 605–613. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.08.008
- Xanthos, D. N., Gaderer, S., Drdla, R., Nuro, E., Abramova, A., Ellmeier, W., et al. (2011). Central nervous system mast cells in peripheral inflammatory nociception. *Mol. Pain* 7:42. doi: 10.1186/1744-8069-7-42
- Yunus, M. B. (2007). Fibromyalgia and overlapping disorders: the unifying concept of central sensitivity syndromes. *Semin. Arthritis Rheum.* 36, 339–356. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2006.12.009
- Zhang, B., Asadi, S., Weng, Z., Sismanopoulos, N., and Theoharides, T. C. (2012). Stimulated human mast cells secrete mitochondrial components that have autocrine and paracrine inflammatory actions. *PLoS One* 7:e49767. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0049767
- Zhang, S., Zeng, X., Yang, H., Hu, G., and He, S. (2012). Mast cell tryptase induces microglia activation via protease-activated receptor 2 signaling. *Cell Physiol. Biochem.* 29, 931–940. doi: 10.1159/000171029
- Zhang, Q., Raoof, M., Chen, Y., Sumi, Y., Sursal, T., Junger, W., et al. (2010). Circulating mitochondrial DAMPs cause inflammatory responses to injury. *Nature* 464, 104–107. doi: 10.1038/nature08780
- Zhang, X., Wang, Y., Dong, H., Xu, Y., and Zhang, S. (2016). Induction of microglial activation by mediators released from mast cells. *Cell Physiol. Biochem.* 38, 1520–1531. doi: 10.1159/000443093
- Zhang, Z., Cherryholmes, G., Mao, A., Marek, C., Longmate, J., Kalos, M., et al. (2008). High plasma levels of MCP-1 and eotaxin provide evidence for an immunological basis of fibromyalgia. *Exp. Biol. Med.* 233, 1171–1180. doi: 10.3181/0712-RM-328

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** TT is the inventor of US patents No. 7,906,153 and No. 8,268,365 for the treatment of neuroinflammatory conditions.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Theoharides, Tsilioni and Bawazeer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Mast Cells and Sensory Nerves Contribute to Neurogenic Inflammation and Pruritus in Chronic Skin Inflammation

#### Hanna Siiskonen\* and Ilkka Harvima\*

Department of Dermatology, Kuopio University Hospital and University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Theoharis Constantin Theoharides, Tufts University School of Medicine, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Elsa Fabbretti, University of Trieste, Italy Pio Conti, Università degli Studi G. d'Annunzio Chieti e Pescara, Italy

\*Correspondence:

Hanna Siiskonen hanna.siiskonen@kuh.fi Ilkka Harvima ilkka.harvima@kuh.fi

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Neuropathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience

Received: 15 November 2018 Accepted: 03 September 2019 Published: 18 September 2019

#### Citation:

Siiskonen H and Harvima I (2019) Mast Cells and Sensory Nerves Contribute to Neurogenic Inflammation and Pruritus in Chronic Skin Inflammation. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:422. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00422 The intimate interaction between mast cells and sensory nerves can be illustrated by the wheal and surrounding flare in an urticarial reaction in human skin. This reaction is typically associated with an intense itch at the reaction site. Upon activation, cutaneous mast cells release powerful mediators, such as histamine, tryptase, cytokines, and growth factors that can directly stimulate corresponding receptors on itch-mediating sensory nerves. These include, e.g., H1- and H4-receptors, proteaseactivated receptor-2, IL-31 receptor, and the high-affinity receptor of nerve growth factor (TrkA). On the other hand, sensory nerves can release neuropeptides, including substance P and vasoactive intestinal peptide, that are able to stimulate mast cells to release mediators leading to potentiation of the reciprocal interaction, inflammation, and itch. Even though mast cells are well recognized for their role in allergic skin whealing and urticaria, increasing evidence supports the reciprocal function between mast cells and sensory nerves in neurogenic inflammation in chronic skin diseases, such as psoriasis and atopic dermatitis, which are often characterized by distressing itch, and exacerbated by psychological stress. Increased morphological contacts between mast cells and sensory nerves in the lesional skin in psoriasis and atopic dermatitis as well as experimental models in mice and rats support the essential role for mast cellsensory nerve communication in consequent pruritus. Therefore, we summarize here the present literature pointing to a close association between mast cells and sensory nerves in pruritic skin diseases as well as review the essential supporting findings on pruritic models in mice and rats.

Keywords: mast cell, sensory neuron, itch, skin, pruritus

### INTRODUCTION

Itching is a very unpleasant sensation that may provoke scratching or the desire to scratch (Savin, 1998). Chronic itch has clinically been classified into 3 groups according to skin changes: (1) pruritus on primary diseased, inflamed skin; (2) pruritus on primary non-diseased, non-inflamed skin; and (3) pruritus with chronic secondary scratch lesions. Pruritus has also been

categorized based on underlying diseases as following: (1) dermatological diseases; (2) systemic diseases including diseases of pregnancy and drug-induced pruritus; (3) neurological diseases; (4) psychiatric/psychosomatic diseases; (5) mixed; and (6) others (Ständer et al., 2007b). Based on its duration, itch can be divided into acute (less than 6 weeks) and chronic (more than 6 weeks) (Azimi et al., 2016).

In the skin, the perception of itch originates from the combined action of nervous, cutaneous and inflammatory cells and substances released by them in the microenvironment. In humans, the nerves responsible for the perception of itch also react to stimuli of pain. There are two types of pruriceptors, specialized nerve fibers sensing itch: fastly conducting A-fibers and non-myelinated, slowly conducting C-fibers, which can be further subdivided based on their responsiveness to different chemical or physical stimuli [reviewed in detail in (LaMotte et al., 2014)].

The itch-specific peripheral sensory neurons may be a subgroup of nociceptive neurons. Subsets of mechanoinsensitive nociceptive C-fibers can respond to histamine resulting in the release neuropeptides, including substance P and calcitonin gene -related peptide (CGRP). Instead, the mechano/heat-sensitive nociceptors are not reactive to histamine, but show a response to a cowhage plant protease, leading to stinging itch, which is possibly mediated via protease-activated receptor-2 or -4 (PAR-2 or -4). This type of stinging itch resembles that in skin inflammatory diseases. Nevertheless, cutaneous nerves contain a range of different receptors and ion channels. Therefore, different combinations of receptors may produce a certain type of itch and/or pain sensation. In the spinal dorsal horn, gastrin-releasing peptideexpressing neurons participate in the transmission of itch (Albisetti et al., 2019). The sensing system is further complexed by excitatory interneurons, spinothalamic tract neurons and the central nervous system where these sensations are recognized (Baraniuk, 2012; LaMotte et al., 2014; Talagas et al., 2018). Furthermore, it is noteworthy that chronic inflammation in skin causes additional changes to the neural and proinflammatory cell network.

Free nerve endings in the epidermis are important for sensing itch. It has been proposed that there is a reciprocal synapticlike interaction between nerves and keratinocytes (Talagas et al., 2018). One possible mediator in this interaction is ß-endorphin, as keratinocytes expressing this mediator have been found around unmyelinated fibers that can be activated via µ-opioid receptor (Bigliardi-Qi et al., 2004). In fact, the whole complex of nerve fibers and the epidermal cells have been proposed to form the "itch receptor" (Greaves, 2010). The skin cells themselves express a wide array of mediators and their receptors involved in the perception of itch (Greaves, 2010). In addition to nerve fibers and epidermal cells, the cells of the immune system constitute yet another part in pruritus. In regard to cellular events in itching skin, mast cells are important players that are involved in neurogenic inflammation and its associated itch. In this review, the fundamental role of mast cells and sensory nerves in itch is discussed.

### ITCH-RELATED PROPERTIES OF MAST CELLS

Mast cells are important effector cells in allergic reactions and immunity [reviewed in Conti et al. (2017)], but they also contribute to carcinogenesis (Biswas et al., 2014; Hu et al., 2018; Saadalla et al., 2018). Mast cells are abundant in bodyenvironment interfaces in the skin and the gastrointestinal tract (Gurish and Austen, 2001) as well as present in the meninges of the central nervous system (Bo et al., 1992; Theoharides et al., 2005), and in the lung (Bradding et al., 2006). In the skin, mast cell numbers are highest in the upper dermis and their numbers are not affected by age or sex (Weber et al., 2003), but increase in response to various environmental stimuli as shown after ultraviolet radiation in human skin (Grimbaldeston et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2009), and after exposure to topical sensitizing agents in mice (Kitagaki et al., 1995; Tomimori et al., 2002). It is thus obvious that mast cells constitute an inherent component of itch.

Mast cells are fully loaded with preformed mediators or they produce newly-synthesized mediators, including proteases, histamine, lipid-derived mediators, cytokines, and chemokines which they release upon activation through a variety of mechanisms leading to degranulation, piecemeal degranulation, and/or mediator secretion without degranulation [reviewed in da Silva et al. (2014) and in Gupta and Harvima (2018)]. In type I hypersensitivity, mast cell degranulation is a fundamental event and involves crosslinking of an antigen with two IgE molecules bound to FcERI receptors (Owen et al., 2013). Mast cell activation has been studied especially in the context of urticaria. It is known that several factors such as infections, stress, certain foods, pseudoallergens, hormones, neuropeptides, and Th2 inflammation may prime mast cells [reviewed in Church et al. (2018)]. Also autoimmune mechanisms may lead to mast cell activation. In these cases, IgE recognizes dermisderived autoantigens, of which more than 200 are present in chronic spontaneous urticaria (Schmetzer et al., 2018). Another mechanism is the presence of IgG or IgM class antibodies against IgE (Gruber et al., 1988) or against its FcERI receptor (Hide et al., 1993). These autoantibodies may also target the eosinophils, which release mast-cell activating factors (Puccetti et al., 2005).

### ITCH-RELATED FACTORS RELEASED BY MAST CELLS

Mast cells release the contents of their secretory granules to their surroundings upon degranulation. Many of these granule mediators or mediators synthesized *de novo* (Harvima et al., 2014) participate in the development of itch.

#### Histamine and Its H1 and H4 Receptors

Histamine is the most important pruritogenic mediator of mast cells. Histamine has four receptors, namely H1-H4, of which H1 and H4 are important in pruritus. The function of these receptors in itch has been mainly studied in mouse models, and it has been shown that skin sensory neurons express H1,

H3 and H4 (Rossbach et al., 2011). In mouse models, H1antagonists have been effective in decreasing itch, which has been known already for decades (Sugimoto et al., 1998), although H4antagonists (Dunford et al., 2007; Yamaura et al., 2009) have proved to be more potent. Histamine acts also on Transient receptor potential vanilloid receptor-1 (TRPV-1) in sensory neurons (Shim et al., 2007). In keratinocytes, also TRPV-4 is a histaminergic pruriceptor (Chen et al., 2016).

#### **Tryptase and PAR-2**

Tryptase, one of the main proteinases secreted by mast cells, can induce pruritus in mice and its effects are inhibited by PAR-2 antibody or PAR-2 antagonist, showing that PAR-2 is involved in tryptase-induced pruritus (Ui et al., 2006). Involvement of tryptase and PAR-2 in itch has also been reported in a mouse model of atopic dermatitis (Zhu et al., 2015). In line with these data, non-lesional and lesional skin biopsies from patients with atopic dermatitis show PAR-2 in sensory nerves with closely located mast cells (Steinhoff et al., 2003).

#### IL-31 and Its Receptor IL-31RA

Interleukin-31 (IL-31) is important in the pruritus of atopic dermatitis (Sonkoly et al., 2006) and it also participates in the itch of cutaneous lymphoma (Nattkemper et al., 2016). IL-31 has been shown to increase the growth and sprouting of cutaneous sensory nerves (Feld et al., 2016), which express its receptor, IL-31RA (Cevikbas et al., 2014).

Interleukin-31 has been demonstrated to induce mild itch that appears slowly starting at 143 min after skin prick test, which is associated with a long-lasting erythema. By comparison, histamine induces immediate itch that starts within 5 min after skin prick test (Hawro et al., 2014). Human mast cells (Niyonsaba et al., 2010; Petra et al., 2018) and T-cells (Dillon et al., 2004) are sources of IL-31 in skin, thus participating in the development of itch. Moreover, mast cell-derived histamine in addition to IL-31 increase the secretion of brain-derived natriuretic peptide, which in turn affects dendritic cells and keratinocytes to produce cytokines and other mediators, leading to inflammation, and increased itch signaling (Meng et al., 2018).

#### Leukotrienes and Prostaglandins

Leukotrienes and prostaglandins are also involved in itch, but by different mechanism. When administered intradermally, leukotriene B4 induces itch while prostaglandin E2 does not (Andoh and Kuraishi, 1998). Leukotriene B4 is released from keratinocytes in response to PAR-2 receptor activation (Zhu et al., 2009) and it is involved in the itch-causing cascades of substance P (Andoh et al., 2001) and IL-31 (Andoh et al., 2017a). PAR-2 activation and leukotriene B4 release participate also in dermatophyte-induced itch (Andoh et al., 2014). In addition to producing leukotriene B4 by themselves (Satpathy et al., 2015), human, and murine mast cells also express leukotriene B4 receptors BLT1 and BLT2 (Lundeen et al., 2006). On the contrary, prostaglandin D2, also produced by mast cells themselves (Murakami et al., 1995), decreases histamine release from mast cells and inhibits scratching in a mouse model (Hashimoto et al., 2005). Thus, it seems

that mast cells release many mediators that also control their own function.

### **Neuropeptides and Mast Cell Activation**

There are several neuropeptides released by the sensory neurons in the skin, which then activate mast cells. Mast cells degranulate in response to nerve growth factor (NGF) and this signaling acts through TrkA tyrosine receptor (Horigome et al., 1993). Interestingly, mast cells can secrete NGF also by themselves suggesting an autocrine or paracrine mechanism (Nilsson et al., 1997).

The potency of substance P in degranulating mast cells and causing itchy wheals was found already decades ago (Hägermark et al., 1978). The effects of substance P on mast cells are mediated either through neurokinin-1 receptor (NK-1R) or Mas-related G protein coupled receptor-X2 (MRGPRX2) (Kulka et al., 2008; Subramanian et al., 2016). In the initial phases of topical therapy with calcineurin inhibitors pimecrolimus and tacrolimus, pruritus and burning is often present. These compounds have been shown to release substance P and CGRP from primary afferent nerve endings in murine skin, leading to mast cell degranulation and thus release of pruritogenic histamine, and tryptase (Ständer et al., 2007a). Mast cells degranulate rapidly in response to substance P resulting in wheal reaction in the skin (Huttunen et al., 1996; Yamaoka and Kawana, 2007). The ability of substance P to induce histamine release seems to appear only at high concentrations (Weidner et al., 2000). In line with this, substance P decreases mast cell recruitment and degranulation when used as a topical treatment in a murine model of atopic dermatitis (Choi et al., 2018), pointing to a concentration-dependent dual role of substance P.

Interestingly, stimulation of human mast cells with substance P and an IL-1 family member, IL-33, increase the secretion of proinflammatory TNF and IL-1ß and these responses are inhibited by a natural flavonoid, methoxyluteolin (Taracanova et al., 2017, 2018). A pure luteolin with Ashwagandha has been proposed as a relief to patients suffering from stress and inflammation-associated diseases (Theoharides and Kavalioti, 2018). This release of cytokines is potentially inhibited also by IL-37, another IL-1 family cytokine [reviewed in Caraffa et al. (2018), Tettamanti et al. (2018), Gallenga et al. (2019)]. The effect of substance P to release proinflammatory cytokines from mast cells points to a mechanism how mast cells participate in the neurogenic inflammation in psoriasis and atopic dermatitis as discussed below in more detail. Recently, Nakamura et al. (2019) reported increased levels of IL-33 in the stratum corneum of patients with atopic dermatitis. All these data emphasize the role of these cytokines in the context of neuroinflammation and itch, in which mast cells obviously participate.

Vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) is another potent neuropeptide to degranulate mast cells (Fjellner and Hägermark, 1981; Huttunen et al., 1996), a reaction mediated through VPAC2, and/or MRGPRX2 receptors on mast cells (Kulka et al., 2008; Subramanian et al., 2016). In addition, substance P and VIP have been found to stimulate human mast cells *in vitro*  conditions to release cytokines and chemokines, including TNF-  $\alpha$ , GM-CSF, IL-3, CCL2, CCL5, CXCL8, CXCL9, and CXCL10 (Kulka et al., 2008).

# MAST CELLS, SKIN DISEASES, AND ITCH

In a retrospective study conducted by Sommer et al. (2007), dermatological disease was the probable cause of the itch in 41,8 % of patients, while almost a similar number of cases (44,8 %) showed no apparent origin of the symptoms. The role of mast cells in the development of itch has been studied mostly in psoriasis, atopic dermatitis and urticaria. It is likely that the increased contacts between nerve fibers and mast cells often seen in these dermatoses constitute the morphological basis for itch chronicization during chronic skin inflammation. The current understanding of the role of mast cells and sensory nerves in itch in these and selected other pruritic dermatoses is discussed here next.

## Mast Cells, Sensory Nerves, and Itch in Psoriasis

Psoriasis, a common chronic inflammatory and scaly skin disease, is characterized by pruritus that affects 60–90% of the patients and can appear in different forms, such as stinging, pinching, tickling, crawling, burning or pain sensations (Szepietowski and Reich, 2016). On the other hand, psychosocial stress can exacerbate psoriasis in 40–80% of the patients (Basavaraj et al., 2011). Thus, pruritus and stress may be reciprocally interconnected factors in psoriasis.

Emotional stress is associated with the activation of a variety of neuro-immune-endocrine systems. For example, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis is activated and stress hormones are released, including corticotroping-releasing hormone (CRH), adrenocorticotropic hormone, and glucocorticoids. Interestingly, human skin has its own functional peripheral equivalent of the HPA axis. Furthermore, numerous other factors are activated in stress, such as  $\alpha$ -MSH, neuropeptides, neurotrophins and the sympathetic nervous system (Arck et al., 2006).

Several studies have previously shown that sensory nerve fibers and neuropeptides, including substance P, neurokinin A and VIP, are increased in the psoriatic lesion (Naukkarinen et al., 1989; Eedy et al., 1991; Amatya et al., 2011). Furthermore, the morphologic contacts between neurofilament<sup>+</sup> nerves and tryptase<sup>+</sup> mast cells are more frequent in psoriatic lesions than in non-lesional psoriatic skin or normal skin (Naukkarinen et al., 1991, 1993). Even the morphologic contacts between substance P<sup>+</sup> and CGRP<sup>+</sup> fibers and tryptase<sup>+</sup> mast cells, but not the contacts between VIP<sup>+</sup> fibers and tryptase<sup>+</sup> mast cells, have been found to be increased in the psoriatic lesion. Therefore, there is a morphologic basis for mast cell-neural interaction as well as neurogenic inflammation in psoriasis.

The increase in mast cell numbers, especially the  $MC_{TC}$ -type (tryptase<sup>+</sup> and chymase<sup>+</sup>) of mast cell, in the psoriatic lesion has been known for decades. However, in contrast to the resistant

tryptase, chymase is sensitive to the action of serum protease inhibitors, which may explain the finding that the enzyme activity of chymase is decreased in the psoriatic lesion (Harvima et al., 2008). The net outcome of the partial inactivation of chymase may be an uncontrolled and enhanced substance P-mediated neurogenic inflammation, as chymase degrades substance P and VIP, but tryptase degrades VIP and CGRP (Caughey et al., 1988; Franconi et al., 1989; Walls et al., 1992). Tryptase has the capability to cleave and activate the PAR-2 receptor. Therefore, the serine proteinase may not only activate the receptor on nerves and numerous proinflammatory cells but it may activate PAR-2 on mast cells themselves in a para- or autocrine fashion, as the percentage of tryptase<sup>+</sup> mast cells containing PAR-2 immunoreactivity is increased in the psoriatic lesion (Carvalho et al., 2010). Furthermore, the activation of PAR-2 sensitizes TRPV-1 leading to increased substance P and CGRP release (Amadesi et al., 2004) and TRPV-1 is expressed in substance P<sup>+</sup> fibers as well as in mast cells in human skin (Ständer et al., 2004).

In addition to neuropeptides, the emotional stress in psoriasis may transmit its signals to the skin through CRH and CRH-R1 receptor on mast cells as suggested previously (Harvima and Nilsson, 2012). This hypothesis is supported by a report that the immunostaining of CRH is increased in the epidermis, sweat glands, and hair follicles in the psoriatic lesion (Kim et al., 2007). In addition, we have analyzed the expression of CRH-R1 immunoreactivity in mast cells in psoriasis and found that the percentage of tryptase<sup>+</sup> mast cells expressing CRH-R1 is higher in the lesional than non-lesional skin of 8 psoriatic patients (Haimakainen S et al., unpublished results).

There are several studies that have investigated molecular differences in skin between pruritic and non-pruritic-type of psoriasis. For example, the pruritic-type of psoriasis is characterized by increased levels of substance P and nerve fibers; decreased levels substance P-degrading neutral endopeptidase; increased levels of NGF and/or its receptor TrkA (Nakamura et al., 2003; Chang et al., 2007; Amatya et al., 2011), decreased expression of semaphorin-3A (an axon-guidance molecule) (Taneda et al., 2011; Kou et al., 2012), and increased numbers of total and degranulated mast cells (Nakamura et al., 2003).

# Mast Cells, Sensory Nerves, and Itch in Atopic Dermatitis

Atopic dermatitis (AD) is a well-known chronic eczematous skin disease characterized by distressing pruritus that can be exacerbated by inflammatory mediators, sensory nerves, skin dryness, heat, sweat, and emotional stress (Suarez et al., 2012; Murota and Katayama, 2017).

Like in the case of psoriasis, mast cells and sensory nerves have been suggested to play a role in neurogenic inflammation and itch in AD. Regarding mast cells, there are similarities between these diseases. In the lesional atopic dermatitis skin, the number of tryptase<sup>+</sup> mast cells is increased slightly, but the activity of chymase is decreased (Järvikallio et al., 1997; Ilves and Harvima, 2015). Like in psoriasis, the possible explanation for the partial inactivation of chymase in AD is the presence of chymase inhibitors in mast cells (Saarinen et al., 2001). The reduced chymase activity means that the enzyme cannot degrade and control efficiently a variety of proinflammatory peptides and proteins, including IL-6, IL-13, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-4, IL-5, substance P, and VIP (Franconi et al., 1989; Tunon de Lara et al., 1994; Zhao et al., 2005).

This is relevant for the inflammation, as the percentage of mast cells expressing TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-4, IL-6, and CD30 ligand is increased in the lesional AD skin (Horsmanheimo et al., 1994; Ackermann and Harvima, 1998; Fischer et al., 2006; Ilves and Harvima, 2015). In addition, the severity of itching and tryptase<sup>+</sup> and IL-6<sup>+</sup> mast cells correlate inversely with the (pro)filaggrin immunostaining in the epidermis of AD skin (Ilves et al., 2015).

Like in the case of psoriasis, there is an increased sensory nerve density in the epidermis and dermis in AD lesions, which suggests an enhanced neurogenic inflammation (Tobin et al., 1992; Urashima and Mihara, 1998; Järvikallio et al., 2003; Tominaga et al., 2009; Kubanov et al., 2015). Previously, it has been demonstrated that there is an increased expression of NGF and amphiregulin in the epidermis, but decreased expression of nerve repulsion factors, semaphorin-3A and anosmin-1, in AD lesions, which can explain the increased nerve density in AD (Tominaga et al., 2009; Tominaga and Takamori, 2014; Kubanov et al., 2015). In addition, another explanation for the increased nerve density is the finding that the expression of NGF is elevated in mast cells in AD lesions, and mast cells can express the receptor of NGF, i.e., TrkA (Nilsson et al., 1997; Xiang and Nilsson, 2000; Groneberg et al., 2005). There are also other regulatory mechanisms between NGF and tryptase, as NGF treatment of mast cells in vitro can increase the expression of TrkA as well as the contents of tryptase and histamine (Groneberg et al., 2005), and tryptase can generate mature NGF from pro-NGF (Spinnler et al., 2011). These molecular interactions can explain, at least in part, the finding that the morphologic contacts between tryptase<sup>+</sup> mast cells and neurofilament<sup>+</sup> fibers are increased in AD lesions (Järvikallio et al., 2003).

Acute psychologic stress can result in marked changes in nerves, neuropeptides and mast cells. For example, the exposure of AD patients to acute Trier social stress test (TSST) associated with decreased NGF<sup>+</sup> and PGP9.5<sup>+</sup> fibers and decreased contacts between PGP9.5<sup>+</sup> fibers and tryptase<sup>+</sup> mast cells in AD lesions. However, in the non-lesional AD skin, these parameters increased, rather than decreased. Moreover, a positive correlation was observed between itch and mast cell-nerve fiber contacts in the non-lesional AD skin after TSST or lesional AD skin before TSST (Peters et al., 2014).

The classic histaminergic itch is mediated via H1-receptors on cutaneous sensory nerves, though H4-receptors on nerves can also be involved in pruritus (Ohsawa and Hirasawa, 2014). However, antihistamines usually are not effective in relieving distressing pruritus in chronic skin inflammation. The reason is the non-histaminergic itch that can be mediated through other distinct pathways. The PAR-2 activation on sensory fibers is one of them, as PAR-2<sup>+</sup> fibers are increased in AD lesions. Therefore, tryptase released from mast cells can activate PAR-2 on nerve fibers with subsequent release of substance P and CGRP and potentiation of neurogenic inflammation (Steinhoff et al., 2003; Kempkes et al., 2014). Interestingly, lichenified lesions of atopic dermatitis showed no staining for substance P or VIP nor degranulated mast cells, suggesting that other factors may contribute to pruritus in chronic, lichenified lesions (Urashima and Mihara, 1998).

Interleukin-31 can represent another pathway for nonhistaminergic itch in AD. This cytokine is derived from Th2 cells and mast cells. In the psoriatic and AD lesions, mast cells show increased levels of IL-31 immunoreactivity compared to normal skin (Niyonsaba et al., 2010). The expressions of the mRNA of IL-31 and its receptor IL-31RA are increased in AD, but not psoriatic, lesions. Furthermore, the receptor is located in small-diameter neurons of human dorsal root ganglia (Sonkoly et al., 2006; Cevikbas et al., 2014).

Interleukin-31 may not only induce slowly developing itch (Hawro et al., 2014), but it may also increase the elongation, branching and density of nerves in AD lesions (Feld et al., 2016).

## Mast Cells, Sensory Nerves, and Itch in Urticaria

Urticaria is a fundamentally mast cell-driven disease, in which pruritus is a key symptom in addition to wheals and/or angioedema (Zuberbier et al., 2018). In urticaria, it is the degranulation of mast cells and release of their mediators that cause the symptoms by activating sensory nerves and causing vasodilatation and plasma extravasation (Zuberbier et al., 2018). Although the details of mast cell activation in urticaria are not known yet, mast cells may be activated in urticaria by allergens/autoallergens or IgG antibodies against IgE or its receptor. In patients with chronic urticaria, more than 200 autoantigens reacting with IgE have been detected and of these, IL-24 is a common and functional autoantigen recognized by IgE antibodies (Schmetzer et al., 2018).

Interestingly, also a plethora of other agents are known to prime mast cells for further activation [reviewed in Church et al. (2018)]. Recently, a mouse model showed that Mrgprb2, the ortholog of the human MRGPRX2, and might be a mast cell-specific key receptor in pseudoallergic reactions (McNeil et al., 2015). This receptor is upregulated in the skin of patients with severe chronic urticaria (Fujisawa et al., 2014).

## Mast Cells, Sensory Nerves, and Itch in Selected Other Dermatoses

Prurigo nodularis (PN) is a typical example of an itchy dermatosis. The close contact of mast cells and nerve fibers in PN lesions was reported already 20 years ago by Liang et al. (1998). They also noticed that there are increased mast cell numbers in the lesions. There are several other pruritic skin diseases, in which the changes in mast cell numbers have been investigated and they definitely participate in the pathogenesis, although the exact details of their role in pruritus in these dermatoses is not clear yet. Mast cell numbers are increased already in the perilesional skin in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) and the numbers are further elevated in early and chronic lesions (van der Zee et al., 2012). In line with this finding, about 60 % of patients with HS report moderate or severe pruritus (Matusiak et al., 2018). Similarly, more than one third of patients

with basal cell carcinoma or squamous cell carcinoma report to have pruritus (Mills et al., 2012; Yosipovitch et al., 2014) and elevated mast cell numbers in both tumors have been reported (Diaconu et al., 2007; Haimakainen et al., 2017). The connection between mast cell numbers and itch is not so clear in melanoma, in which less patients report itch (Yosipovitch et al., 2014) and both increased (Toth-Jakatics et al., 2000; Ribatti et al., 2003a,b), and decreased (Biswas et al., 2014; Siiskonen et al., 2015; Rajabi et al., 2017) mast cell numbers have been reported. However, since the exact functions of mast cells in skin cancers are not known at the moment, also their role in itch remains unclear.

## Animal Models in Research on Mast Cells and Itch

The growing research performed in experimental animals has revealed that the molecular mechanisms of pruritus as well as the ligands and receptors involved in itch induction are more complex than thought, and it is beyond the scope if this review to describe them all.

Animal models to study pruritus have been mainly developed for AD. Subcutaneous capsaicin injections to neonatal rats causes long-lasting, pruritic skin changes with histopathological findings resembling AD, including increased mast cell number (Back et al., 2012). The Kyoto Fancy Rat Stock 4 is another rat model of AD showing spontaneous itchy dermatitis with increased transepidermal water loss and mast cell numbers (Kuramoto et al., 2015). The bile duct ligation rat model of liver disease has provided a good insight to neuroinflammation and itch. In these rats, PAR-2 receptors are activated and this potentiates the TRPV-1 channels (Belghiti et al., 2013). As discussed above, mast cell tryptase may activate PAR-2, pointing to a role for mast cells also in hepatic pruritus. Elevated tryptase and PAR-2 levels are also found in a mouse model with ovalbumininduced AD-like dermatitis (Zhu et al., 2015). Mast cells and sensory nerves can be found in apparent morphologic contact in the skin. For example, in a mouse model of hapten-induced AD, mast cells in the lesional skin express high levels of cell adhesion molecule-1 (CADM-1), a molecule that was found to enhance adhesion and communication between sensory nerves and mast cells in vitro (Hagiyama et al., 2013). Human mast cells have also been found to express CADM-1 that probably interacts with nectin-3 on nerves (Furuno et al., 2012; Moiseeva et al., 2013).



**FIGURE 1** A hypothetical model for the communication between mast cells (two mast cells shown in purple) and sensory nerves (shown in gray) in neurogenic inflammation in the skin. The neuroendocrine and neural systems are activated as a consequence of psychosocial stress. The signals traveling through C-fibers lead to the release of neuropeptides, substance P (SP) and vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), from C-fiber endings. The increased cutaneous blood flow conveys corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) to the developing inflammation. These neuroendocrine factors activate mast cells through the receptors NK-1R, VPAC2, MRGPRX2, and CRH-R1. Tryptase (Try), histamine (Hist), NGF, IL-31 released from mast cells activate their corresponding receptors PAR-2, H1R, TrkA, and IL-31 RA, respectively, on C-fibers. Furthermore, mast cells themselves are activated through PAR-2 and TrkA in an auto- or paracrine fashion. Mast cell-derived mediators activate C-fibers leading to the spread of signal, which can also take place through an axon reflex-related mechanism. NGF and IL-31 support the growth of C-fibers. Chymase released from mast cells is susceptible to the inactivation by serum protease inhibitors,  $\alpha_1$ -proteinase inhibitor ( $\alpha_1$ -PI) and  $\alpha_1$ -antichymotrypsin ( $\alpha_1$ -AC), resulting in inactivated chymase (iCNy) that cannot degrade and inactivate SP. PAR-2 can sensitize the capsaicin receptor (TRPV-1) in C-fibers enhancing SP and CGRP release. The intimate functional and morphologic communications between mast cells and C-fibers are further strengthened by the cell adhesion molecule-1 (CADM-1) on mast cells and nectin-3 on C-fibers. As a consequence of these multiple interactions, a feedforward loop is developed, which leads to increase in mast cells and C-fibers, development of vicious circle, and potentiation of neurogenic inflammation and itch.

The interaction between nerve fibers and mast cells can be affected by molecules leading to decreased itch and inflammation. In the NC/Nga mouse model of AD, dorsal skin lesions develop spontaneously. The treatment of these lesions with intracutaneous injections of semaphorin-3A, a nerve repulsion factor, for 5 days followed by biopsing on day 11 (Yamaguchi et al., 2008) revealed a significant reduction in the clinical skin score and scratching behavior, decrease in PGP9.5<sup>+</sup> nerve fibers in the epidermis, decrease in mast cell numbers, infiltrating CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, IL-4 production, and epidermal thickness (Yamaguchi et al., 2008). In addition, oral administration of chymase inhibitor has been shown to ameliorate dermatitis (Watanabe et al., 2007) as well as scratching behavior in these NC/Nga mice (Terakawa et al., 2008).

In pruritus, the neuroendocrine signals may travel from the central nervous system to periphery and vice versa. MacQueen et al. (1989) showed in 80's that rats exposed to both audiovisual cue and antigen injection were conditioned to mast cell protease II release after reexposure to the audiovisual cue only. A sonic stress for 24 h in mice can induce degranulation of mast cells, changes in endothelium, increase in substance P<sup>+</sup> fibers and their contacts with mast cells, and increase in the expression of NGF in skin mast cells (Peters et al., 2005, 2011; Pavlovic et al., 2008). Furthermore, skin mast cells in rats can be activated by stress induced by immobilization (Singh et al., 1999). In summary, there is compelling *in vivo*-evidence that show activation of mast cells induced by stress.

In an AD model induced by IL-13 in mice, the scratching behavior evoked by itch associated with increase in PGP9.5<sup>+</sup>,  $\mathrm{CGRP}^+\text{,}$  and  $\mathrm{TRPA}\text{-}1^+$  (transient receptor potential ankyrin (1) nerves, mast cells, and particularly in TRPA- $1^+$  mast cells. However, there was no increase in TRPV-1 in inflamed skin. In line with this, TRPA-1<sup>+</sup> mast cells and nerves and the contacts between them were increased in the lesional skin of patients with AD (Oh et al., 2013). Therefore, this study emphasizes the role of TRPA-1 in itch associated with skin inflammation. In contrast to this, itch evoked by intradermal injections of  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin in mouse skin is related, at least in part, to TRPV-1<sup>+</sup> primary sensory nerves (Andoh et al., 2017b). Furthermore, itch evoked by IL-31 injections in mice is related to both TRPV-1 and TRPA-1 using knockout mouse models (Cevikbas et al., 2014). In addition, itch induced in mice by lysophosphatidic acid-injections is related to both cation channels (Kittaka et al., 2017).

#### REFERENCES

- Ackermann, L., and Harvima, I. T. (1998). Mast cells of psoriatic and atopic dermatitis skin are positive for TNF-alpha and their degranulation is associated with expression of ICAM-1 in the epidermis. *Arch. Dermatol. Res.* 290, 353–359. doi: 10.1007/s004030050317
- Albisetti, G. W., Pagani, M., Platonova, E., Hosli, L., Johannssen, H. C., Fritschy, J. M., et al. (2019). Dorsal horn gastrin-releasing peptide expressing neurons transmit spinal itch but not pain signals. *J. Neurosci.* 39, 2238–2250. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2559-18. 2019
- Amadesi, S., Nie, J., Vergnolle, N., Cottrell, G. S., Grady, E. F., Trevisani, M., et al. (2004). Protease-activated receptor 2 sensitizes the capsaicin receptor transient

### CONCLUSION AND FUTURE CHALLENGES

Despite thorough and extensive research on mast cells during the past decades, these cells still remain to be an intriguing, complex cell type present in our body-environment interfaces. Although mast cells are physiologically meant to stay alert and to react to potentially noxious agents and conditions, their reactions may turn harmful. In several disorders, their functions seem to increase itch, which is not always beneficial to the host.

The complex functional and morphologic interaction between mast cells and sensory nerves is summarized and illustrated in Figure 1. Psychic stress can aggravate itch in several skin diseases. Although the mechanism is not clear in detail, the activation of the systemic HPA axis and/or its equivalent in the skin as well as the activation of neural response can play a role in activating the neurogenic inflammation in the skin. As a consequence, several neuroendocrine mediators, including CRH, substance P and NGF, are released to the circulation and/or are produced locally in the skin. These mediators lead to activation of mast cells and release of their proinflammatory mediators that modify the inflammation of the skin disorder, often increasing itch. The mechanisms are complex owing to the intimate reciprocal communication between mast cells and sensory nerves resulting in increase in mast cell numbers and nerve fibers, development of a vicious circle, and exacerbation of neurogenic inflammation and pruritus.

Future research should aim at further elucidating the details of mast cell biology in different physiological and pathological skin conditions in humans. Here, it will be important to focus on the association of psychic stress with mast cell-neural functions in patients with psoriasis or atopic dermatitis under standardized stress conditions. We should also aim at more indepth understanding of mast cell heterogeneity and recruitment to the skin and how these may affect mast cell-neural responses in chronic pruritic disorders. In addition, the inhibitors of mast cell mediators or drugs preventing mast cell activation (Harvima et al., 2014) may provide new therapeutic options to treat distressing itch and thereby improve the quality of life of patients.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

Both authors wrote and edited the text.

receptor potential vanilloid receptor 1 to induce hyperalgesia. J. Neurosci. 24, 4300–4312. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5679-03.2004

- Amatya, B., El-Nour, H., Holst, M., Theodorsson, E., and Nordlind, K. (2011). Expression of tachykinins and their receptors in plaque psoriasis with pruritus. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 164, 1023–1029. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2011.10241.x
- Andoh, T., Harada, A., and Kuraishi, Y. (2017a). Involvement of leukotriene B4 released from keratinocytes in itch-associated response to intradermal interleukin-31 in mice. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 97, 922–927. doi: 10.2340/ 00015555-2697
- Andoh, T., Maki, T., Li, S., and Uta, D. (2017b). beta2-Microglobulin elicits itchrelated responses in mice through the direct activation of primary afferent neurons expressing transient receptor potential vanilloid 1. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 810, 134–140. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2017.07.007

- Andoh, T., Katsube, N., Maruyama, M., and Kuraishi, Y. (2001). Involvement of leukotriene B(4) in substance P-induced itch-associated response in mice. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 117, 1621–1626. doi: 10.1046/j.0022-202x.2001.01585.x
- Andoh, T., and Kuraishi, Y. (1998). Intradermal leukotriene B4, but not prostaglandin E2, induces itch-associated responses in mice. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 353, 93–96. doi: 10.1016/S0014-2999(98)00440-3
- Andoh, T., Takayama, Y., and Kuraishi, Y. (2014). Involvement of leukotriene B4 in dermatophyte-related itch in mice. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 66, 699–703. doi: 10.1016/j.pharep.2014.01.003
- Arck, P. C., Slominski, A., Theoharides, T. C., Peters, E. M., and Paus, R. (2006). Neuroimmunology of stress: skin takes center stage. J. Invest. Dermatol. 126, 1697–1704. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5700104
- Azimi, E., Xia, J., and Lerner, E. A. (2016). Peripheral mechanisms of itch. Curr. Probl. Dermatol. 50, 18–23. doi: 10.1159/000446012
- Back, S. K., Jeong, K. Y., Li, C., Lee, J., Lee, S. B., and Na, H. S. (2012). Chronically relapsing pruritic dermatitis in the rats treated as neonate with capsaicin; a potential rat model of human atopic dermatitis. *J. Dermatol. Sci.* 67, 111–119. doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2012.05.006
- Baraniuk, J. N. (2012). Rise of the sensors: nociception and pruritus. Curr. Allergy Asthma Rep. 12, 104–114. doi: 10.1007/s11882-012-0245-8
- Basavaraj, K. H., Navya, M. A., and Rashmi, R. (2011). Stress and quality of life in psoriasis: an update. *Int. J. Dermatol.* 50, 783–792. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-4632. 2010.04844.x
- Belghiti, M., Estevez-Herrera, J., Gimenez-Garzo, C., Gonzalez-Usano, A., Montoliu, C., Ferrer-Montiel, A., et al. (2013). Potentiation of the transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 channel contributes to pruritogenesis in a rat model of liver disease. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 9675–9685. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113. 455162
- Bigliardi-Qi, M., Sumanovski, L. T., Buchner, S., Rufli, T., and Bigliardi, P. L. (2004). Mu-opiate receptor and Beta-endorphin expression in nerve endings and keratinocytes in human skin. *Dermatology* 209, 183–189. doi: 10.1159/ 000079887
- Biswas, A., Richards, J. E., Massaro, J., and Mahalingam, M. (2014). Mast cells in cutaneous tumors: innocent bystander or maestro conductor? *Int. J. Dermatol.* 53, 806–811. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-4632.2012.05745.x
- Bo, L., Mork, S. J., and Nyland, H. (1992). An immunohistochemical study of mononuclear cells in meningiomas. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 18, 548–558. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2990.1992.tb00825.x
- Bradding, P., Walls, A. F., and Holgate, S. T. (2006). The role of the mast cell in the pathophysiology of asthma. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 117, 1277–1284. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2006.02.039
- Caraffa, A., Conti, C., D Ovidio, C., Gallenga, C. E., Tettamanti, L., Mastrangelo, F., et al. (2018). New concepts in neuroinflammation: mast cells pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine mediators. *J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents* 32, 449–454.
- Carvalho, R. F., Nilsson, G., and Harvima, I. T. (2010). Increased mast cell expression of PAR-2 in skin inflammatory diseases and release of IL-8 upon PAR-2 activation. *Exp. Dermatol.* 19, 117–122. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0625.2009. 00998.x
- Caughey, G. H., Leidig, F., Viro, N. F., and Nadel, J. A. (1988). Substance P and vasoactive intestinal peptide degradation by mast cell tryptase and chymase. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 244, 133–137.
- Cevikbas, F., Wang, X., Akiyama, T., Kempkes, C., Savinko, T., Antal, A., et al. (2014). A sensory neuron-expressed IL-31 receptor mediates T helper celldependent itch: involvement of TRPV1 and TRPA. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 133, 448–460. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.10.048
- Chang, S. E., Han, S. S., Jung, H. J., and Choi, J. H. (2007). Neuropeptides and their receptors in psoriatic skin in relation to pruritus. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 156, 1272–1277. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2007.07935.x
- Chen, Y., Fang, Q., Wang, Z., Zhang, J. Y., MacLeod, A. S., Hall, R. P., et al. (2016). Transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 ion channel functions as a pruriceptor in epidermal keratinocytes to evoke histaminergic itch. *J. Biol. Chem.* 291, 10252–10262. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.716464
- Choi, H., Kim, D. J., Nam, S., Lim, S., Hwang, J. S., Park, K. S., et al. (2018). Manifestation of atopic dermatitis-like skin in TNCB-induced NC/Nga mice is ameliorated by topical treatment of substance P, possibly through blockade of allergic inflammation. *Exp. Dermatol.* 27, 396–402. doi: 10.1111/exd.13421

- Church, M. K., Kolkhir, P., Metz, M., and Maurer, M. (2018). The role and relevance of mast cells in urticaria. *Immunol. Rev.* 282, 232–247. doi: 10.1111/imr.12632
- Conti, P., Caraffa, A., Kritas, S. K., Ronconi, G., Lessiani, G., Toniato, E., et al. (2017). Mast cell, pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory: Jekyll and Hyde, the story continues. J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents 31, 263–267.
- da Silva, E. Z., Jamur, M. C., and Oliver, C. (2014). Mast cell function: a new vision of an old cell. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 62, 698–738. doi: 10.1369/ 0022155414545334
- Diaconu, N. C., Kaminska, R., Naukkarinen, A., Harvima, R. J., and Harvima, I. T. (2007). The increase in tryptase- and chymase-positive mast cells is associated with partial inactivation of chymase and increase in protease inhibitors in basal cell carcinoma. J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 21, 908–915. doi: 10.1111/j. 1468-3083.2006.02100.x
- Dillon, S. R., Sprecher, C., Hammond, A., Bilsborough, J., Rosenfeld-Franklin, M., Presnell, S. R., et al. (2004). Interleukin 31, a cytokine produced by activated T cells, induces dermatitis in mice. *Nat. Immunol.* 5, 752–760. doi: 10.1038/ ni1084
- Dunford, P. J., Williams, K. N., Desai, P. J., Karlsson, L., McQueen, D., and Thurmond, R. L. (2007). Histamine H4 receptor antagonists are superior to traditional antihistamines in the attenuation of experimental pruritus. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 119, 176–183. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2006.08.034
- Eedy, D. J., Johnston, C. F., Shaw, C., and Buchanan, K. D. (1991). Neuropeptides in psoriasis: an immunocytochemical and radioimmunoassay study. J. Invest. Dermatol. 96, 434–438. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12469898
- Feld, M., Garcia, R., Buddenkotte, J., Katayama, S., Lewis, K., Muirhead, G., et al. (2016). The pruritus- and TH2-associated cytokine IL-31 promotes growth of sensory nerves. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 138, 500.e24–508.e24. doi: 10.1016/j. jaci.2016.02.020
- Fischer, M., Harvima, I. T., Carvalho, R. F., Moller, C., Naukkarinen, A., Enblad, G., et al. (2006). Mast cell CD30 ligand is upregulated in cutaneous inflammation and mediates degranulation-independent chemokine secretion. *J. Clin. Invest.* 116, 2748–2756. doi: 10.1172/JCI24274
- Fjellner, B., and Hägermark, O. (1981). Studies on pruritogenic and histaminereleasing effects of some putative peptide neurotransmitters. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 61, 245–250.
- Franconi, G. M., Graf, P. D., Lazarus, S. C., Nadel, J. A., and Caughey, G. H. (1989). Mast cell tryptase and chymase reverse airway smooth muscle relaxation induced by vasoactive intestinal peptide in the ferret. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 248, 947–951.
- Fujisawa, D., Kashiwakura, J., Kita, H., Kikukawa, Y., Fujitani, Y., Sasaki-Sakamoto, T., et al. (2014). Expression of Mas-related gene X2 on mast cells is upregulated in the skin of patients with severe chronic urticaria. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 134, 622.e9–633.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.05.004
- Furuno, T., Hagiyama, M., Sekimura, M., Okamoto, K., Suzuki, R., Ito, A., et al. (2012). Cell adhesion molecule 1 (CADM1) on mast cells promotes interaction with dorsal root ganglion neurites by heterophilic binding to nectin. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 250, 50–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2012.05.016
- Gallenga, C. E., Pandolfi, F., Caraffa, A., Kritas, S. K., Ronconi, G., Toniato, E., et al.
  (2019). Interleukin-1 family cytokines and mast cells: activation and inhibition.
  J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents 33, 1–6.
- Greaves, M. W. (2010). Pathogenesis and treatment of pruritus. *Curr. Allergy Asthma Rep.* 10, 236–242. doi: 10.1007/s11882-010-0117-z
- Grimbaldeston, M. A., Simpson, A., Finlay-Jones, J. J., and Hart, P. H. (2003). The effect of ultraviolet radiation exposure on the prevalence of mast cells in human skin. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 148, 300–306. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.2003.05113.x
- Groneberg, D. A., Serowka, F., Peckenschneider, N., Artuc, M., Grutzkau, A., Fischer, A., et al. (2005). Gene expression and regulation of nerve growth factor in atopic dermatitis mast cells and the human mast cell line. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 161, 87–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2004.12.019
- Gruber, B. L., Baeza, M. L., Marchese, M. J., Agnello, V., and Kaplan, A. P. (1988). Prevalence and functional role of anti-IgE autoantibodies in urticarial syndromes. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 90, 213–217. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747. ep12462239
- Gupta, K., and Harvima, I. T. (2018). Mast cell-neural interactions contribute to pain and itch. *Immunol. Rev.* 282, 168–187. doi: 10.1111/imr.12622
- Gurish, M. F., and Austen, K. F. (2001). The diverse roles of mast cells. J. Exp. Med. 194, F1–F5.

- Hägermark, O., Hökfelt, T., and Pernow, B. (1978). Flare and itch induced by substance P in human skin. J. Invest. Dermatol. 71, 233–235. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12515092
- Hagiyama, M., Inoue, T., Furuno, T., Iino, T., Itami, S., Nakanishi, M., et al. (2013). Increased expression of cell adhesion molecule 1 by mast cells as a cause of enhanced nerve-mast cell interaction in a hapten-induced mouse model of atopic dermatitis. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 168, 771–778. doi: 10.1111/bjd.12108
- Haimakainen, S., Kaukinen, A. P., Suttle, M. M., Pelkonen, J., and Harvima, I. T. (2017). CD40 ligand is increased in mast cells in psoriasis and actinic keratosis but less so in epithelial skin carcinomas. *Cancer Invest.* 35, 143–151. doi: 10.1080/07357907.2017.1289216
- Harvima, I. T., Levi-Schaffer, F., Draber, P., Friedman, S., Polakovicova, I., Gibbs, B. F., et al. (2014). Molecular targets on mast cells and basophils for novel therapies. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 134, 530–544. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.03. 007
- Harvima, I. T., and Nilsson, G. (2012). Stress, the neuroendocrine system and mast cells: current understanding of their role in psoriasis. *Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol.* 8, 235–241. doi: 10.1586/eci.12.1
- Harvima, I. T., Nilsson, G., Suttle, M. M., and Naukkarinen, A. (2008). Is there a role for mast cells in psoriasis? *Arch. Dermatol. Res.* 300, 461–478. doi: 10.1007/ s00403-008-0874-x
- Hashimoto, Y., Arai, I., Tanaka, M., and Nakaike, S. (2005). Prostaglandin D2 inhibits IgE-mediated scratching by suppressing histamine release from mast cells. J. Pharmacol. Sci. 98, 90–93. doi: 10.1254/jphs.sc0040209
- Hawro, T., Saluja, R., Weller, K., Altrichter, S., Metz, M., and Maurer, M. (2014). Interleukin-31 does not induce immediate itch in atopic dermatitis patients and healthy controls after skin challenge. *Allergy* 69, 113–117. doi: 10.1111/all. 12316
- Hide, M., Francis, D. M., Grattan, C. E., Hakimi, J., Kochan, J. P., and Greaves, M. W. (1993). Autoantibodies against the high-affinity IgE receptor as a cause of histamine release in chronic urticaria. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 328, 1599–1604. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199306033282204
- Horigome, K., Pryor, J. C., Bullock, E. D., and Johnson, E. M. Jr. (1993). Mediator release from mast cells by nerve growth factor. Neurotrophin specificity and receptor mediation. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 14881–14887.
- Horsmanheimo, L., Harvima, I. T., Järvikallio, A., Harvima, R. J., Naukkarinen, A., and Horsmanheimo, M. (1994). Mast cells are one major source of interleukin-4 in atopic dermatitis. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 131, 348–353. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133. 1994.tb08522.x
- Hu, G., Wang, S., and Cheng, P. (2018). Tumor-infiltrating tryptase(+) mast cells predict unfavorable clinical outcome in solid tumors. *Int. J. Cancer* 142, 813–821. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31099
- Huttunen, M., Harvima, I. T., Ackermann, L., Harvima, R. J., Naukkarinen, A., and Horsmanheimo, M. (1996). Neuropeptide- and capsaicin-induced histamine release in skin monitored with the microdialysis technique. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 76, 205–209.
- Ilves, T., and Harvima, I. T. (2015). Decrease in chymase activity is associated with increase in IL-6 expression in mast cells in atopic dermatitis. Acta Derm. Venereol. 95, 411–416. doi: 10.2340/00015555-1979
- Ilves, T., Tiitu, V., Suttle, M. M., Saarinen, J. V., and Harvima, I. T. (2015). Epidermal expression of filaggrin/profilaggrin is decreased in atopic dermatitis: reverse association with mast cell tryptase and IL-6 but not with clinical severity. *Dermatitis* 26, 260–267. doi: 10.1097/DER.00000000000 00143
- Järvikallio, A., Harvima, I. T., and Naukkarinen, A. (2003). Mast cells, nerves and neuropeptides in atopic dermatitis and nummular eczema. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 295, 2–7. doi: 10.1007/s00403-002-0378-z
- Järvikallio, A., Naukkarinen, A., Harvima, I. T., Aalto, M. L., and Horsmanheimo, M. (1997). Quantitative analysis of tryptase- and chymase-containing mast cells in atopic dermatitis and nummular eczema. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 136, 871–877. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.1997.tb03927.x
- Kempkes, C., Buddenkotte, J., Cevikbas, F., Buhl, T., and Steinhoff, M. (2014). "Role of PAR-2 in neuroimmune communication and itch," in *Itch: Mechanisms and Treatment*, eds E. Carstens and T. Akiyama (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press).
- Kim, J. E., Cho, D. H., Kim, H. S., Kim, H. J., Lee, J. Y., Cho, B. K., et al. (2007). Expression of the corticotropin-releasing hormone-proopiomelanocortin axis in the various clinical types of psoriasis. *Exp. Dermatol.* 16, 104–109. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0625.2006.00509.x

- Kim, M. S., Kim, Y. K., Lee, D. H., Seo, J. E., Cho, K. H., Eun, H. C., et al. (2009). Acute exposure of human skin to ultraviolet or infrared radiation or heat stimuli increases mast cell numbers and tryptase expression in human skin in vivo. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 160, 393–402. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2008.08838.x
- Kitagaki, H., Fujisawa, S., Watanabe, K., Hayakawa, K., and Shiohara, T. (1995). Immediate-type hypersensitivity response followed by a late reaction is induced by repeated epicutaneous application of contact sensitizing agents in mice. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 105, 749–755. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12325538
- Kittaka, H., Uchida, K., Fukuta, N., and Tominaga, M. (2017). Lysophosphatidic acid-induced itch is mediated by signalling of LPA5 receptor, phospholipase D and TRPA1/TRPV. J. Physiol. 595, 2681–2698. doi: 10.1113/JP273961
- Kou, K., Nakamura, F., Aihara, M., Chen, H., Seto, K., Komori-Yamaguchi, J., et al. (2012). Decreased expression of semaphorin-3A, a neurite-collapsing factor, is associated with itch in psoriatic skin. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 92, 521–528. doi: 10.2340/00015555-1350
- Kubanov, A. A., Katunina, O. R., and Chikin, V. V. (2015). Expression of neuropeptides, neurotrophins, and neurotransmitters in the skin of patients with atopic dermatitis and psoriasis. *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.* 159, 318–322. doi: 10.1007/s10517-015-2951-4
- Kulka, M., Sheen, C. H., Tancowny, B. P., Grammer, L. C., and Schleimer, R. P. (2008). Neuropeptides activate human mast cell degranulation and chemokine production. *Immunology* 123, 398–410. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02705.x
- Kuramoto, T., Yokoe, M., Tanaka, D., Yuri, A., Nishitani, A., Higuchi, Y., et al. (2015). Atopic dermatitis-like skin lesions with IgE hyperproduction and pruritus in KFRS4/Kyo rats. J. Dermatol. Sci. 80, 116–123. doi: 10.1016/j. jdermsci.2015.09.005
- LaMotte, R. H., Dong, X., and Ringkamp, M. (2014). Sensory neurons and circuits mediating itch. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 15, 19–31. doi: 10.1038/nrn3641
- Liang, Y., Marcusson, J. A., Jacobi, H. H., Haak-Frendscho, M., and Johansson, O. (1998). Histamine-containing mast cells and their relationship to NGFrimmunoreactive nerves in prurigo nodularis: a reappraisal. *J. Cutan. Pathol.* 25, 189–198. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0560.1998.tb01718.x
- Lundeen, K. A., Sun, B., Karlsson, L., and Fourie, A. M. (2006). Leukotriene B4 receptors BLT1 and BLT2: expression and function in human and murine mast cells. *J. Immunol.* 177, 3439–3447. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.5.3439
- MacQueen, G., Marshall, J., Perdue, M., Siegel, S., and Bienenstock, J. (1989). Pavlovian conditioning of rat mucosal mast cells to secrete rat mast cell protease II. Science 243, 83–85. doi: 10.1126/science.2911721
- Matusiak, L., Szczech, J., Kaaz, K., Lelonek, E., and Szepietowski, J. C. (2018). Clinical characteristics of pruritus and pain in patients with Hidradenitis Suppurativa. Acta Derm. Venereol. 98, 191–194. doi: 10.2340/00015555-2815
- McNeil, B. D., Pundir, P., Meeker, S., Han, L., Undem, B. J., Kulka, M., et al. (2015). Identification of a mast-cell-specific receptor crucial for pseudo-allergic drug reactions. *Nature* 519, 237–241. doi: 10.1038/nature14022
- Meng, J., Moriyama, M., Feld, M., Buddenkotte, J., Buhl, T., Szollosi, A., et al. (2018). New mechanism underlying IL-31-induced atopic dermatitis. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 141, 1677.e8–1689.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.12.1002
- Mills, K. C., Kwatra, S. G., Feneran, A. N., Pearce, D. J., Williford, P. M., D'Agostino, R. B., et al. (2012). Itch and pain in nonmelanoma skin cancer: pain as an important feature of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma. *Arch. Dermatol.* 148, 1422–1423. doi: 10.1001/archdermatol.2012.3104
- Moiseeva, E. P., Roach, K. M., Leyland, M. L., and Bradding, P. (2013). CADM1 is a key receptor mediating human mast cell adhesion to human lung fibroblasts and airway smooth muscle cells. *PLoS One* 8:e61579. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0061579
- Murakami, M., Matsumoto, R., Urade, Y., Austen, K. F., and Arm, J. P. (1995). c-kit ligand mediates increased expression of cytosolic phospholipase A2, prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase-1, and hematopoietic prostaglandin D2 synthase and increased IgE-dependent prostaglandin D2 generation in immature mouse mast cells. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 3239–3246. doi: 10.1074/jbc. 270.7.3239
- Murota, H., and Katayama, I. (2017). Exacerbating factors of itch in atopic dermatitis. *Allergol. Int.* 66, 8–13. doi: 10.1016/j.alit.2016.10.005
- Nakamura, M., Toyoda, M., and Morohashi, M. (2003). Pruritogenic mediators in psoriasis vulgaris: comparative evaluation of itch-associated cutaneous factors. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 149, 718–730. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.2003.05586.x
- Nakamura, N., Tamagawa-Mineoka, R., Yasuike, R., Masuda, K., Matsunaka, H., Murakami, Y., et al. (2019). Stratum corneum interleukin-33 expressions

correlate with the degree of lichenification and pruritus in atopic dermatitis lesions. *Clin. Immunol.* 201, 1–3. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2019.02.006

- Nattkemper, L. A., Martinez-Escala, M. E., Gelman, A. B., Singer, E. M., Rook, A. H., Guitart, J., et al. (2016). Cutaneous T-cell Lymphoma and Pruritus: the expression of IL-31 and its receptors in the skin. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 96, 894–898. doi: 10.2340/00015555-2417
- Naukkarinen, A., Harvima, I., Paukkonen, K., Aalto, M. L., and Horsmanheimo, M. (1993). Immunohistochemical analysis of sensory nerves and neuropeptides, and their contacts with mast cells in developing and mature psoriatic lesions. *Arch. Dermatol. Res.* 285, 341–346. doi: 10.1007/bf00371834
- Naukkarinen, A., Harvima, I. T., Aalto, M. L., Harvima, R. J., and Horsmanheimo, M. (1991). Quantitative analysis of contact sites between mast cells and sensory nerves in cutaneous psoriasis and lichen planus based on a histochemical double staining technique. *Arch. Dermatol. Res.* 283, 433–437. doi: 10.1007/ bf00371778
- Naukkarinen, A., Nickoloff, B. J., and Farber, E. M. (1989). Quantification of cutaneous sensory nerves and their substance P content in psoriasis. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 92, 126–129. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep13071340
- Nilsson, G., Forsberg-Nilsson, K., Xiang, Z., Hallböök, F., Nilsson, K., and Metcalfe, D. D. (1997). Human mast cells express functional TrkA and are a source of nerve growth factor. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 27, 2295–2301. doi: 10.1002/eji. 1830270925
- Niyonsaba, F., Ushio, H., Hara, M., Yokoi, H., Tominaga, M., Takamori, K., et al. (2010). Antimicrobial peptides human beta-defensins and cathelicidin LL-37 induce the secretion of a pruritogenic cytokine IL-31 by human mast cells. *J. Immunol.* 184, 3526–3534. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900712
- Oh, M. H., Oh, S. Y., Lu, J., Lou, H., Myers, A. C., Zhu, Z., et al. (2013). TRPA1dependent pruritus in IL-13-induced chronic atopic dermatitis. *J. Immunol.* 191, 5371–5382. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300300
- Ohsawa, Y., and Hirasawa, N. (2014). The role of histamine H1 and H4 receptors in atopic dermatitis: from basic research to clinical study. *Allergol. Int.* 63, 533–542. doi: 10.2332/allergolint.13-RA-0675
- Owen, J., Punt, J., and Stranford, S. (eds) (2013). *Kuby Immunology*, 7th Edn. New York, NY: Freeman W. H. & Company.
- Pavlovic, S., Daniltchenko, M., Tobin, D. J., Hagen, E., Hunt, S. P., Klapp, B. F., et al. (2008). Further exploring the brain-skin connection: stress worsens dermatitis via substance P-dependent neurogenic inflammation in mice. J. Invest. Dermatol. 128, 434–446. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5701079
- Peters, E. M., Kuhlmei, A., Tobin, D. J., Muller-Rover, S., Klapp, B. F., and Arck, P. C. (2005). Stress exposure modulates peptidergic innervation and degranulates mast cells in murine skin. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 19, 252–262. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2004.08.005
- Peters, E. M., Liezmann, C., Spatz, K., Daniltchenko, M., Joachim, R., Gimenez-Rivera, A., et al. (2011). Nerve growth factor partially recovers inflamed skin from stress-induced worsening in allergic inflammation. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 131, 735–743. doi: 10.1038/jid.2010.317
- Peters, E. M., Michenko, A., Kupfer, J., Kummer, W., Wiegand, S., Niemeier, V., et al. (2014). Mental stress in atopic dermatitis–neuronal plasticity and the cholinergic system are affected in atopic dermatitis and in response to acute experimental mental stress in a randomized controlled pilot study. *PLoS One* 9:e113552. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0113552
- Petra, A. I., Tsilioni, I., Taracanova, A., Katsarou-Katsari, A., and Theoharides, T. C. (2018). Interleukin 33 and interleukin 4 regulate interleukin 31 gene expression and secretion from human laboratory of allergic diseases 2 mast cells stimulated by substance P and/or immunoglobulin E. *Allergy Asthma Proc.* 39, 153–160. doi: 10.2500/aap.2018.38.4105
- Puccetti, A., Bason, C., Simeoni, S., Millo, E., Tinazzi, E., Beri, R., et al. (2005). In chronic idiopathic urticaria autoantibodies against Fc epsilonRII/CD23 induce histamine release via eosinophil activation. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 35, 1599–1607. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2005.02380.x
- Rajabi, P., Bagheri, A., and Hani, M. (2017). Intratumoral and peritumoral mast cells in malignant melanoma: an immunohistochemical study. *Adv. Biomed. Res.* 6:39. doi: 10.4103/2277-9175.204592
- Ribatti, D., Ennas, M. G., Vacca, A., Ferreli, F., Nico, B., Orru, S., et al. (2003a). Tumor vascularity and tryptase-positive mast cells correlate with a poor prognosis in melanoma. *Eur. J. Clin. Invest.* 33, 420–425. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2362.2003.01152.x

- Ribatti, D., Vacca, A., Ria, R., Marzullo, A., Nico, B., Filotico, R., et al. (2003b). Neovascularisation, expression of fibroblast growth factor-2, and mast cells with tryptase activity increase simultaneously with pathological progression in human malignant melanoma. *Eur. J. Cancer* 39, 666–674. doi: 10.1016/s0959-8049(02)00150-8
- Rossbach, K., Nassenstein, C., Gschwandtner, M., Schnell, D., Sander, K., Seifert, R., et al. (2011). Histamine H1, H3 and H4 receptors are involved in pruritus. *Neuroscience* 190, 89–102. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.06.002
- Saadalla, A. M., Osman, A., Gurish, M. F., Dennis, K. L., Blatner, N. R., Pezeshki, A., et al. (2018). Mast cells promote small bowel cancer in a tumor stage-specific and cytokine-dependent manner. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, 1588–1592. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1716804115
- Saarinen, J. V., Harvima, R. J., Naukkarinen, A., Horsmanheimo, M., and Harvima, I. T. (2001). The release of histamine is associated with the inactivation of mast cell chymase during immediate allergic wheal reaction in the skin. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 31, 593–601. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2222.2001.01030.x
- Satpathy, S. R., Jala, V. R., Bodduluri, S. R., Krishnan, E., Hegde, B., Hoyle, G. W., et al. (2015). Crystalline silica-induced leukotriene B4-dependent inflammation promotes lung tumour growth. *Nat. Commun.* 6:7064. doi: 10. 1038/ncomms8064
- Savin, J. A. (1998). How should we define itching? J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 39, 268–269. doi: 10.1016/s0190-9622(98)70087-8
- Schmetzer, O., Lakin, E., Topal, F. A., Preusse, P., Freier, D., Church, M. K., et al. (2018). IL-24 is a common and specific autoantigen of IgE in patients with chronic spontaneous urticaria. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 142, 876–882. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.10.035
- Shim, W. S., Tak, M. H., Lee, M. H., Kim, M., Kim, M., Koo, J. Y., et al. (2007). TRPV1 mediates histamine-induced itching via the activation of phospholipase A2 and 12-lipoxygenase. J. Neurosci. 27, 2331–2337. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 4643-06.2007
- Siiskonen, H., Poukka, M., Bykachev, A., Tyynelä-Korhonen, K., Sironen, R., Pasonen-Seppänen, S., et al. (2015). Low numbers of tryptase+ and chymase+ mast cells associated with reduced survival and advanced tumor stage in melanoma. *Melanoma Res.* 25, 479–485. doi: 10.1097/CMR.000000000000192
- Singh, L. K., Pang, X., Alexacos, N., Letourneau, R., and Theoharides, T. C. (1999). Acute immobilization stress triggers skin mast cell degranulation via corticotropin releasing hormone, neurotensin, and substance P: a link to neurogenic skin disorders. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 13, 225–239. doi: 10.1006/brbi. 1998.0541
- Sommer, F., Hensen, P., Bockenholt, B., Metze, D., Luger, T. A., and Ständer, S. (2007). Underlying diseases and co-factors in patients with severe chronic pruritus: a 3-year retrospective study. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 87, 510–516. doi: 10.2340/00015555-0320
- Sonkoly, E., Muller, A., Lauerma, A. I., Pivarcsi, A., Soto, H., Kemeny, L., et al. (2006). IL-31: a new link between T cells and pruritus in atopic skin inflammation. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 117, 411–417. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005. 10.033
- Spinnler, K., Frohlich, T., Arnold, G. J., Kunz, L., and Mayerhofer, A. (2011). Human tryptase cleaves pro-nerve growth factor (pro-NGF): hints of local, mast cell-dependent regulation of NGF/pro-NGF action. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 31707–31713. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.233486
- Ständer, S., Moormann, C., Schumacher, M., Buddenkotte, J., Artuc, M., Shpacovitch, V., et al. (2004). Expression of vanilloid receptor subtype 1 in cutaneous sensory nerve fibers, mast cells, and epithelial cells of appendage structures. *Exp. Dermatol.* 13, 129–139. doi: 10.1111/j.0906-6705.2004.0178.x
- Ständer, S., Ständer, H., Seeliger, S., Luger, T. A., and Steinhoff, M. (2007a). Topical pimecrolimus and tacrolimus transiently induce neuropeptide release and mast cell degranulation in murine skin. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 156, 1020–1026. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2007.07813.x
- Ständer, S., Weisshaar, E., Mettang, T., Szepietowski, J. C., Carstens, E., Ikoma, A., et al. (2007b). Clinical classification of itch: a position paper of the International Forum for the Study of Itch. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 87, 291–294. doi: 10.2340/ 00015555-0305
- Steinhoff, M., Neisius, U., Ikoma, A., Fartasch, M., Heyer, G., Skov, P. S., et al. (2003). Proteinase-activated receptor-2 mediates itch: a novel pathway for pruritus in human skin. J. Neurosci. 23, 6176–6180. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 23-15-06176.2003

- Suarez, A. L., Feramisco, J. D., Koo, J., and Steinhoff, M. (2012). Psychoneuroimmunology of psychological stress and atopic dermatitis: pathophysiologic and therapeutic updates. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 92, 7–15. doi: 10.2340/00015555-1188
- Subramanian, H., Gupta, K., and Ali, H. (2016). Roles of Mas-related G proteincoupled receptor X2 on mast cell-mediated host defense, pseudoallergic drug reactions, and chronic inflammatory diseases. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 138, 700–710. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.04.051
- Sugimoto, Y., Umakoshi, K., Nojiri, N., and Kamei, C. (1998). Effects of histamine H1 receptor antagonists on compound 48/80-induced scratching behavior in mice. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 351, 1–5. doi: 10.1016/s0014-2999(98)00288-x
- Szepietowski, J. C., and Reich, A. (2016). Pruritus in psoriasis: an update. *Eur. J. Pain* 20, 41–46. doi: 10.1002/ejp.768
- Talagas, M., Lebonvallet, N., Leschiera, R., Marcorelles, P., and Misery, L. (2018). What about physical contacts between epidermal keratinocytes and sensory neurons? *Exp. Dermatol.* 27, 9–13. doi: 10.1111/exd.13411
- Taneda, K., Tominaga, M., Negi, O., Tengara, S., Kamo, A., Ogawa, H., et al. (2011). Evaluation of epidermal nerve density and opioid receptor levels in psoriatic itch. Br. J. Dermatol. 165, 277–284. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2011.10347.x
- Taracanova, A., Alevizos, M., Karagkouni, A., Weng, Z., Norwitz, E., Conti, P., et al. (2017). SP and IL-33 together markedly enhance TNF synthesis and secretion from human mast cells mediated by the interaction of their receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, E4002–E4009. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1524845114
- Taracanova, A., Tsilioni, I., Conti, P., Norwitz, E. R., Leeman, S. E., and Theoharides, T. C. (2018). Substance P and IL-33 administered together stimulate a marked secretion of IL-1beta from human mast cells, inhibited by methoxyluteolin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, E9381–E9390. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1810133115
- Terakawa, M., Fujieda, Y., Tomimori, Y., Muto, T., Tanaka, T., Maruoka, H., et al. (2008). Oral chymase inhibitor SUN13834 ameliorates skin inflammation as well as pruritus in mouse model for atopic dermatitis. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 601, 186–191. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2008.10.040
- Tettamanti, L., Kritas, S. K., Gallenga, C. E., D'Ovidio, C., Mastrangelo, F., Ronconi, G., et al. (2018). IL-33 mediates allergy through mast cell activation: potential inhibitory effect of certain cytokines. J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents 32, 1061– 1065.
- Theoharides, T. C., Donelan, J., Kandere-Grzybowska, K., and Konstantinidou, A. (2005). The role of mast cells in migraine pathophysiology. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 49, 65–76. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2004.11.006
- Theoharides, T. C., and Kavalioti, M. (2018). Stress, inflammation and natural treatments. J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents 32, 1345–1347.
- Tobin, D., Nabarro, G., Baart de la Faille, H., van Vloten, W. A., van der Putte, S. C., and Schuurman, H. J. (1992). Increased number of immunoreactive nerve fibers in atopic dermatitis. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 90, 613–622. doi: 10.1097/01206501-199306000-00026
- Tomimori, Y., Muto, T., Fukami, H., Saito, K., Horikawa, C., Tsuruoka, N., et al. (2002). Mast cell chymase regulates dermal mast cell number in mice. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 290, 1478–1482. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.2002.6365
- Tominaga, M., and Takamori, K. (2014). Itch and nerve fibers with special reference to atopic dermatitis: therapeutic implications. J. Dermatol. 41, 205–212. doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.12317
- Tominaga, M., Tengara, S., Kamo, A., Ogawa, H., and Takamori, K. (2009). Psoralen-ultraviolet A therapy alters epidermal Sema3A and NGF levels and modulates epidermal innervation in atopic dermatitis. J. Dermatol. Sci. 55, 40–46. doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2009. 03.007
- Toth-Jakatics, R., Jimi, S., Takebayashi, S., and Kawamoto, N. (2000). Cutaneous malignant melanoma: correlation between neovascularization and peritumor accumulation of mast cells overexpressing vascular endothelial growth factor. *Hum. Pathol.* 31, 955–960. doi: 10.1053/hupa.2000.16658
- Tunon de Lara, J. M., Okayama, Y., McEuen, A. R., Heusser, C. H., Church, M. K., and Walls, A. F. (1994). Release and inactivation of interleukin-4 by mast cells. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 725, 50–58.
- Ui, H., Andoh, T., Lee, J. B., Nojima, H., and Kuraishi, Y. (2006). Potent pruritogenic action of tryptase mediated by PAR-2 receptor and its involvement in anti-pruritic effect of nafamostat mesilate in mice. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 530, 172–178. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2005.11.021

- Urashima, R., and Mihara, M. (1998). Cutaneous nerves in atopic dermatitis. A histological, immunohistochemical and electron microscopic study. *Virchows Arch.* 432, 363–370. doi: 10.1007/s004280050179
- van der Zee, H. H., de Ruiter, L., Boer, J., van den Broecke, D. G., den Hollander, J. C., Laman, J. D., et al. (2012). Alterations in leucocyte subsets and histomorphology in normal-appearing perilesional skin and early and chronic hidradenitis suppurativa lesions. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 166, 98–106. doi: 10.1111/j. 1365-2133.2011.10643.x
- Walls, A. F., Brain, S. D., Desai, A., Jose, P. J., Hawkings, E., Church, M. K., et al. (1992). Human mast cell tryptase attenuates the vasodilator activity of calcitonin gene-related peptide. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 43, 1243–1248. doi: 10. 1016/0006-2952(92)90498-8
- Watanabe, N., Tomimori, Y., Terakawa, M., Ishiwata, K., Wada, A., Muto, T., et al. (2007). Oral administration of chymase inhibitor improves dermatitis in NC/Nga mice. J. Invest. Dermatol. 127, 971–973. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5700708
- Weber, A., Knop, J., and Maurer, M. (2003). Pattern analysis of human cutaneous mast cell populations by total body surface mapping. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 148, 224–228. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.2003.05090.x
- Weidner, C., Klede, M., Rukwied, R., Lischetzki, G., Neisius, U., Skov, P. S., et al. (2000). Acute effects of substance P and calcitonin gene-related peptide in human skin-a microdialysis study. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 115, 1015–1020. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.2000.00142.x
- Xiang, Z., and Nilsson, G. (2000). IgE receptor-mediated release of nerve growth factor by mast cells. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 30, 1379–1386. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2222. 2000.00906.x
- Yamaguchi, J., Nakamura, F., Aihara, M., Yamashita, N., Usui, H., Hida, T., et al. (2008). Semaphorin3A alleviates skin lesions and scratching behavior in NC/Nga mice, an atopic dermatitis model. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 128, 2842–2849. doi: 10.1038/jid.2008.150
- Yamaoka, J., and Kawana, S. (2007). Rapid changes in substance P signaling and neutral endopeptidase induced by skin-scratching stimulation in mice. J. Dermatol. Sci. 48, 123–132. doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2007.06.007
- Yamaura, K., Oda, M., Suwa, E., Suzuki, M., Sato, H., and Ueno, K. (2009). Expression of histamine H4 receptor in human epidermal tissues and attenuation of experimental pruritus using H4 receptor antagonist. *J. Toxicol. Sci.* 34, 427–431. doi: 10.2131/jts.34.427
- Yosipovitch, G., Mills, K. C., Nattkemper, L. A., Feneran, A., Tey, H. L., Lowenthal, B. M., et al. (2014). Association of pain and itch with depth of invasion and inflammatory cell constitution in skin cancer: results of a large clinicopathologic study. JAMA Dermatol. 150, 1160–1166. doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2014.895
- Zhao, W., Oskeritzian, C. A., Pozez, A. L., and Schwartz, L. B. (2005). Cytokine production by skin-derived mast cells: endogenous proteases are responsible for degradation of cytokines. J. Immunol. 175, 2635–2642. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 175.4.2635
- Zhu, Y., Pan, W. H., Wang, X. R., Liu, Y., Chen, M., Xu, X. G., et al. (2015). Tryptase and protease-activated receptor-2 stimulate scratching behavior in a murine model of ovalbumin-induced atopic-like dermatitis. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 28, 507–512. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2015.04.047
- Zhu, Y., Wang, X. R., Peng, C., Xu, J. G., Liu, Y. X., Wu, L., et al. (2009). Induction of leukotriene B(4) and prostaglandin E(2) release from keratinocytes by protease-activated receptor-2-activating peptide in ICR mice. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 9, 1332–1336. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2009.08.006
- Zuberbier, T., Aberer, W., Asero, R., Abdul Latiff, A. H., Baker, D., Ballmer-Weber, B., et al. (2018). The EAACI/GA(2)LEN/EDF/WAO guideline for the definition, classification, diagnosis and management of urticaria. *Allergy* 73, 1393–1414. doi: 10.1111/all.13397

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Siiskonen and Harvima. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

